
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Date Wednesday 17 March 2021 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held 
remotely via Microsoft Teams 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the public and press 
 
1. Public questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2021  (Pages 5 - 14) 

3. Declarations of interest   

Key Decision: 
 
4. Leisure Transformation & New Build Site Selection Update - 

Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth [Key Decision: REG/02/21]  (Pages 15 - 550) 

Ordinary Decisions: 
 
5. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 - Period to 31 

December 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings - Report of Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 551 - 602) 

6. Quarter Three, 2020/21 Performance Management Report  - 
Report of Interim Corporate Director of Resources                      
(Pages 603 - 682) 

7. Annual Review of the Constitution - Report of Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer  (Pages 683 - 750) 

8. County Durham Health and Social Care Integration update - 
Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services  
(Pages 751 - 776) 

9. Climate Change Emergency Response Plan - Year 1 Update - 
Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate 
Change  (Pages 777 - 822) 



10. Woodland Management Overview and Tree Planting 
Opportunities with Young People - Joint Report of Corporate 
Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change and Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People's Services                            
(Pages 823 - 830) 

11. Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan - Joint Report 
of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth and 
Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change  
(Pages 831 - 878) 

12. County Durham Housing Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans - 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth  (Pages 879 - 980) 

13. Agnes Street, Stanley - Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order - 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth  (Pages 981 - 1020) 

14. Towns and Villages Place Shaping -  Approach to Regeneration 
of Buildings and Land - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth  (Pages 1021 - 1076) 

15. Council Homes Delivery - Purchase of Affordable Housing units 
at Gilesgate - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth  (Pages 1077 - 1086) 

16. Covid Recovery and Town Centre Parking Charges - Report of 
Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth  
(Pages 1087 - 1100) 

17. Economic Recovery and Prosperity: Levelling up and Investment 
for County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth  (Pages 1101 - 1120) 

18. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

19. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
20. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
9 March 2021 



 
 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council) together with Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Patterson, K Shaw, B Stephens and 
A Surtees 

 
 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET 
 

At a remote meeting of Cabinet held on Wednesday 10 February 2021 
at 9.30 am 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair 
 

Cabinet Members  
Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Napier, A Patterson,       
K Shaw, B Stephens and A Surtees  
 
Also in Attendance: 
Councillors A Shield, J Shuttleworth, O Temple and M Wilkes  

 
1. Public Questions  
 

There were no public questions. 

  
 2. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 13 January 2021 were 
confirmed as a correct record and will be signed by the Chair.  

 

3. Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest.  
 

4. Towns and Villages Investment Plan [Key Decision: REG/01/21] 
 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth which provided an update on the 
Towns and Villages programme.  The report sought agreement to the 
Towns and Villages Investment Plan and an additional £5 million 
investment to support the COVID-19 recovery priorities and provide each 
Area Action Partnership with a budget to deliver local priorities raised by 
communities (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Prior to asking a question on the plan, Councillor Wilkes, local member 
for Framwellgate and Newton Hall division, thanked Cabinet members 
and officers for their hard work throughout a very difficult year.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Referring to the scheme planned for Framwellgate Moor, Councillor 
Wilkes asked Cabinet to confirm the amount of investment, how the 
money will be spent, and, whether the date of 2022 is the date the work 
will be completed by, or, the date by which the scheme is expected to 
have been designed by. 
 
Councillor Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and 
Economic Growth, thanked Cllr Wilkes for his question and explained the 
plan aims to ensure that towns and villages are assisted to recover from 
the challenges experienced over the last ten months, particularly the 
most deprived communities. The Council will continue to develop an 
evidence base and realign budgets to maximise communities and use the 
extra money to ensure delivery against the greatest need, with £300,000 
allocated to each Area Action Partnership to determine how it is spent.  
Public consultation events held in October and November 2020 resulted 
in over 1,000 comments which identified a range of issues that the 
Council will tackle, using existing budgets, or, work with partners to focus 
on areas that require assistance. The additional £25 million allocated 
includes a core allocation of £2,750,000 for the neighbourhood parades 
project, to help drive these improvements forward. 
 
Councillor Wilkes requested further clarification as to when the 
Framwellgate Moor scheme will go forward and he asked Councillor 
Marshall if he would be willing to work with him, to progress this matter on 
behalf of the residents of Framwellgate Moor.  Councillor Marshall agreed 
to arrange a meeting with Councillor Wilkes to discuss local priorities. 
 
Councillor Shield, local member for Leadgate and Medomsley division, 
echoed Councillor Wilkes’ sentiments and thanked all Cabinet members 
and officers for their collaborative work during this unprecedented time.  
Councillor Shield requested clarification on the rationale for determining 
the differences in the allocation of planned capital investment across 
County Durham in 2021-25.  He remarked on the proposed capital 
investment in the Derwent Valley which equates to an investment per 
head of population of £147, the second lowest investment per head of 
population across the whole of County Durham.  By comparison, the 
planned investment into other Area Action Partnership areas, for example 
Durham and Bishop Auckland/Shildon equates to more than £3,800 per 
head of population. He commented that the disparity in the planned 
investment is unjustifiable.  He observed that much has been made of the 
challenge for the Conservative government to level-up the country, and 
he asked Cabinet when, does it propose, to start levelling up the county. 
 
 
 

Page 6



Councillor Marshall thanked Councillor Shield for his question.  He 
responded that the Towns and Villages Investment Plan ensures the 
Council can identify issues and priorities raised by communities, and 
tackle them in a coordinated way. The programme is designed to ensure 
partners work consistently, ensuring investments maximise the outcomes 
for residents.  Key to its success is working in partnership, realigning 
existing budgets to resolve local issues, and, using the additional 
£25 million identified to aim to level-up County Durham.  The Council will 
continue to identify more investment across the county, whether through 
the Council working proactively with social housing providers to ensure 
the right housing is located in the right places, or, through investment in 
town centres, assisting hospitality and retailers.  He emphasised the 
importance of collaborative work across the county, to ensure levels of 
investment from government.  Councillor Marshall concluded by saying it 
is his belief that the approach adopted is national best practice, providing 
extra bespoke support at a time when it is needed. 
 
In moving the report, Councillor Marshall thanked the team for the 
community and partner engagement work and for bringing forward the 
plan.  He highlighted that the Council has continued to prioritise 
regeneration over the past ten years, despite enormous financial 
pressures brought about by austerity and the loss of the regional funding 
streams.  He expressed pride at bringing forward the £25 million 
investment plan including the additional £5 million to regenerate 
communities hit hardest by the pandemic and he referred to the 
significant monies already committed.  He provided assurance that the 
Council will continue to work with Area Action Partnerships to find 
solutions to challenges identified by communities, and, to assist long term 
recovery from the pandemic through ensuring priorities meet the needs of 
local people.  
 
Councillor Marshall outlined some of the significant regeneration which is 
currently underway and referred to opportunities to improve connectivity, 
tourism and rural communities.  He added the Council recognises the 
importance of local neighbourhood retail areas and the reliance on local 
businesses, particularly during the pandemic.  He also spoke of the 
consultations with residents during Area Action Partnership meetings 
which identified the impact that empty and derelict buildings have on 
pride within communities, saying that work will continue to address these 
issues.   
 
Seconding the report, Councillor Shaw, Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Housing and Assets, commented that the consultation events heard 
reports from residents on some unsuitable housing conditions throughout 
the county.   

Page 7



He remarked that the Town and Villages Investment Plan supports 
projects to tackle this and will make a significant contribution to improving 
housing conditions and access to quality housing. 
 
He referred to initiatives such as the significant investment at Horden, the 
Selective Licensing Scheme, which aims to raise standards in the private 
rented sector, work to address empty homes through the Housing 
Opportunities Fund, and, the Green Homes fuel efficiency programme.   
 
Councillor Patterson, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and Rural 
Issues, thanked all those involved in bringing forward the plan.  She 
observed that the plan recognises that all towns and villages across the 
county have different issues and priorities, with accessibility and 
affordability often being the biggest barriers.  Work with the Area Action 
Partnerships will ensure resources are targeted and that communities are 
at the heart of decision making.  
 
The Chair spoke of his pleasure at attending all the Area Action 
Partnership consultation events held during October and November, 
adding he was pleased to see the enhanced budget for each area, to 
focus on their key issues, with a number of strands cross-cutting all areas 
of the county.  He thanked all those who participated in the events and 
encouraged further engagement over forthcoming months.   
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

5. Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Revenue 
and Capital Budget 2021/22 [Key Decision: CORP/R/20/02] 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources which provided comprehensive financial information to enable 
Cabinet to agree the 2021/22 balanced revenue budget, details of 
significant investments in key front line services, an outline Medium Term 
Financial Plan MTFP(11) 2021/22 to 2024/25 and a fully funded capital 
programme (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Shuttleworth spoke of previous cost estimates for the removal 
of asbestos and demolition of County Hall and the cost of the demolition 
of the former highways laboratory, and, referring to the capital 
programme for 2022/23 he asked if the £500,000 demolition costs for 
County Hall included the removal of asbestos. 
 
 

Page 8



Councillor Napier, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
thanked Cllr Shuttleworth for his question.  He responded that the original 
outline business case for the new HQ, demonstrated that remaining on 
the Aykley Heads site and investing in improving County Hall to meet 
modern requirements was the most expensive option, with an estimated 
capital cost of £76.5 million and would also have inhibited the ability to 
open up the site as a strategic employment site.  He confirmed that the 
£500,000 included in the capital budget for 2022/23 is not the full 
demolition budget and it covers the initial preparatory work required for 
the demolition of County Hall only. There will be an additional budget 
provision required in 2023/24, which will be considered as part of 
MTFP12 and next year’s budget report.  The total estimated budget 
provision required for the demolition of County Hall, including the removal 
of asbestos, is approximately £5 million. 
 
Moving the report, Councillor Napier commended officers for the 
comprehensive report, noting the Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources comments that the report had been prepared against a 
backdrop of uncertainty as the Council awaits the publication of the 
comprehensive spending review and the impact of the fair funding review.  
 
He pointed out that the Council has endeavoured to continue to support 
those most vulnerable, despite austerity and the more recent challenges 
caused by the pandemic.  By the end of the MTFP planning period 
forecast cuts are estimated at approximately £290 million with the loss of 
approximately 3,000 posts.  He added the decision to protect front line 
services, together with strong financial management has enabled the 
Council to rise to these challenges despite disproportionate cuts and he 
raised concern as to how the government will seek to redress public 
finances in the future, fearing further funding cuts to local government, 
with the greatest burden falling on local authorities such as Durham.  
 
Councillor Napier stated that government figures show the core spending 
power per dwelling for Durham County Council is below the national 
average.  Durham is the 48th most deprived local authority area in the 
county out of the 151 upper tier authorities.  He commented that Durham 
should be funded above the national average, which would provide £45 
million of additional funding. 
 
He highlighted that the finances have been managed prudently and 
efficiently, which was testament to all officers of the Council and he  
commended the proposals within the report, adding that it is vital that 
Cabinet and Council are mindful of the uncertainty that exists beyond the 
next financial year, when making budget decisions. 
 

Page 9



The Chair referred to proposals for continued growth in front line 
services, additional investment in priority areas and help for those most in 
need.  He commented on the capital programme which continues to grow 
and he added that he was pleased to see the additional £5 million to the 
Towns and Villages Investment Plan, with residents in Area Action 
Partnerships involved in decision making on how to spend their budgets.  
He spoke of the outstanding model of local decision making the Area 
Action Partnerships had been over the past decade.  He thanked all 
those who had been involved throughout this time, saying he was looking 
forward to their work continuing. 
 
He remarked that the proposed lower than expected council tax increase 
reflects the robust state of the Council’s finances, despite the challenges.  
He commented that the fact that the Council is not one of those in 
financial difficulty is due to the efforts of all staff and he paid tribute to 
Councillor Napier for all his work over the past decade which has ensured 
the Council is in a strong financial position for the future. 

 
Councillor Gunn, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s 
Services, thanked the Portfolio Holder for Finance, the former Corporate 
Director of Resources and the Interim Corporate Director of Resources 
for their outstanding work to balance the budget and praised the 
extremely effective financial management which had taken place over ten 
years of relentless budget cuts.   
 
Resolved: 
 
Upon a recorded vote being taken Cabinet unanimously agreed to 
recommend to full Council, approval of the recommendations set out in 
the report. 
 

6. School Admission Arrangements Academic Year 2022/23 
 [Key Decision No. CYPS/09/2020] 
 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services which sought approval of the proposed 
admission arrangements and oversubscription criteria for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Schools for the 2022/23 academic year (for copy 
see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn referred to the proposal to amend the tie-breaker in the 
Council’s published over subscription criteria and that the majority of 
consultees who did not support the proposal were parents who felt that 
they would have greater difficulty in getting a place at Park View school 
than they do currently.   

Page 10



Councillor Gunn explained that the proposed changes to the 
oversubscription criteria would have no impact on parents who wish for 
their children to attend Park View school.   
 
Cabinet noted that Durham regularly achieves in excess of 95% of pupils 
receiving their first preference of primary and secondary school which 
exceeds the first preference percentage of other councils regionally and 
nationally.  

  
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

7. Proposal to amalgamate Durham Community Business College 
and Fyndoune Community College into a single secondary 
school on the site of Durham Community Business College 
from 12 April 2021 [Key Decision: CYPS/01/2021] 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services which sought approval to amalgamate 
Durham Community Business College and Fyndoune Community College 
into a single secondary school on the site of Durham Community 
Business College from 12 April 2021, taking account of the Local 
Authority’s duties as prescribed in the Education and Inspections Act 
2006 to secure sufficient places and to ensure good outcomes for all 
children and young people in the local area (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn endorsed the proposal as the best way of improving 
education outcomes for the pupils and she added that she was pleased 
to see that the Council will work with the community to find a sustainable 
approach for the Fyndoune site. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved. 

 

8. Proposal to enlarge Elemore Hall School from 1 September 
2021 and to close Windlestone School as a registered school 
on 31 August 2021 [Key Decision: CYPS/02/2021]  
 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services which sought approval to enlarge Elemore 
Hall School from 1 September 2021 and to close Windlestone School as 
a registered school on 31 August 2021. 
 

Page 11



The proposal took account of the Local Authority’s duties as prescribed in 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, to secure sufficient places and 
to ensure good outcomes for all children and young people in the local 
area (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councill Gunn highlighted the continued use of both sites in order that 
students currently attending each site will continue to be educated on a 
site which is familiar to them.  Seconding the report, Councillor Hovvels 
stated the proposal will ensure pupils’ education is not disrupted.   
 
Resolved: 

 

 That the recommendation in the report be approved. 
  

9. A Corporate Environmental Statement, Management System 
and Governance  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change which set out a statement of 
environmental ambitions for the County Council and requested approval 
of the adoption of a nationally recognised environmental management 
system and accreditation.  The report also requested that Cabinet 
consider strategic governance arrangements that will help lead in the 
corporate coordination of environmental activity in fulfilment of these 
ambitions, especially those linked to climate change (for copy see file of 
minutes). 
 
Councillor Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and 
Partnerships, spoke of the Council’s strong track record in environmental 
performance and he added that the proposals in the report build on this 
success.  Councillor Hovvels remarked that the proposals ensure that 
environmental commitments are incorporated into the Council’s core 
values and reinforce its commitment to tackle climate change.  
 
Resolved: 

 
 That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

10. Council Homes Build Programme – Phase 1  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth which provided an overview of the 
arrangements that have been put in place to support the development of 
500 new Council homes over the next five years and sought authorisation 
to begin the first phase of the Durham County Council, New Council 
Home Build Programme (for copy see file of minutes). 

Page 12



 
Councillor Shaw spoke of the Council’s commitment to support local 
communities and local businesses, through the build process and supply 
chains, which will create opportunities for employment.  He referred to the 
strong demand for homes suitable for the elderly in the seven sites 
identified and highlighted that the build will concentrate, where possible, 
on homes to meet the needs of the elderly as a priority.   
 
Councillor Marshall highlighted the plan includes opportunities for young 
people to gain new skills and employment and commented on the added 
social value these developments will create.  
 
Councillor Hovvels stressed the importance of access to good quality 
housing on wellbeing and health and expressed pleasure that the report 
addresses the demand for houses suitable for older persons.  She 
thanked all those involved in the work undertaken to date. 

 
Resolved: 

 
 That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

 

11. Update on Commercial Headleases  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth and Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources which provided an update on commercial headleases 
previously approved by Cabinet under the council’s Property Investment 
Strategy (for copy see file of minutes). 

 
Councillor Temple thanked Cabinet for the opportunity to follow up his 
motion to Council, requesting that a report be provided to Cabinet.   
He stated he was pleased to see that the Milburngate development is 
forecast to pay the Council a higher net rental income than the lease 
payment the Council will have to pay on to the commercial investor, with 
which it has contracted.  He added that the need for such updated 
modelling is a reminder that the investment is not without risk and 
stressed the importance that the performance of such major investments 
is monitored regularly by Cabinet and information is made available to all 
Councillors.  Councillor Temple asked the Portfolio Holder for Finance to 
outline how, and how often, Cabinet will monitor the ongoing financial 
performance of each of these headleases against their expected 
outcomes over the coming decades. 
 
 
 

Page 13



Councillor Napier thanked Councillor Temple for his question, saying he 
also welcomed the latest updated modelling for the Milburngate 
development which indicates a surplus position across the life of the 
headlease.  He emphasised that is not the sole purpose of the deal.   
 
Councillor Napier referred to the management arrangements 
underpinning the property investment strategy which state that any 
variation from budgeted performance will be reported as part of the 
quarterly forecast of outturn reports to Cabinet and Scrutiny, and, that if 
performance is lower than originally forecast, considerations will be given 
to opportunities to improve performance.  Active management of the 
portfolio on a day to day basis will be undertaken by the Council’s 
Corporate Property and Land and Finance teams, in line with the 
proposed Corporate Landlord model. 
 
Councillor Marshall commented that the report shows the Council is a 
progressive Council, prepared to take well-managed risks to drive the 
economy.  He explained that the covenant and headlease on the 
properties at Freeman’s Reach helped to regenerate the city and retain 
hundreds of jobs.  Opportunities will continue and the Council will support 
schemes for the benefit of residents whilst continuing to manage risks.  
These schemes will create much needed jobs and provide income from 
business rates. 
 
Councillor Napier highlighted the Council’s strong track record of prudent 
financial management adding that the property investment strategy 
focuses on regeneration, job creation and job retention.  He pointed out 
that all headlease arrangements taken by the Council to date are forecast 
to return a surplus for the Council and they have allowed the retention 
and creation of jobs, and, he gave assurance that the Council will 
continue to monitor the financial performance of each headlease in the 
future.  

 
Resolved: 

 
 That the report be noted. 

 
 

Page 14



 

 

Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Leisure Transformation & New Build 

Site Selection Update 

Key Decision REG/02/21 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

 This report provides an update on the leisure transformation programme 
approved by Cabinet in January 2020.  The report sets out a high-level 
update on the progress to date on all aspects of the programme and 
next steps and timescales for the full development of the programme. 

 The report seeks approval of the three preferred sites for the new build 
leisure centres for; Seaham, Chester-le-Street and Bishop Auckland, 
following which further detailed feasibility studies will be completed. 

Executive Summary 

 Since the previous report was presented to Cabinet in January 2020, 
considerable progress with the leisure transformation programme has 
been made, despite the impact and implications of Covid 19. 

 The investment in these facilities will provide significant opportunities for 
wider place-based benefits. 

 The leisure transformation programme will support economic recovery 
from the Covid-19 pandemic, as well as providing a platform to develop 
health, social and community capital and a major opportunity to 
contribute to Council’s commitment to environmental sustainability and 
a low carbon future. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 The leisure transformation programme needs to be considered in the 
context of the Council’s wider investment across the county.  With an 
investment of this scale, it is important that there is alignment with the 
wider place based initiatives in place, including the principles of multi-
agency service provision through the emerging County Durham 
Together plan, the Towns and Villages Strategy, the Transport Plan and 
the Climate Emergency Response Plan. 

 To achieve the maximum health and wellbeing benefits from the leisure 
transformation programme and the new build element of this 
programme, it is important that the Council: 

(a) considers activity beyond the footprint of the buildings, taking into 
account outdoor facilities, active transport and community activity; 

(b) acknowledge that the leisure centre transformation strategy is one 
component of a wider leisure strategy that will be developed 
during 2021 and delivered thereafter; 

(c) considers innovation in content planning and delivery alongside 
infrastructure and facility mix; and 

(d) takes account of the health impacts of Covid-19. 

 The options appraisal for the three new leisure centre builds have been 
assessed against this strategic context.  The assessment process has 
involved five inter-related elements: 

(a) a technical assessment to appraise the physical viability of the 
various sites.  This was undertaken in partnership with specialist 
leisure consultants, Alliance Leisure; 

(b) the views from the public engagement exercise – where a 
comprehensive consultation and engagement programme has 
been undertaken to seek views on site location and facility options 
for the new sites as well as seeking the early view on the wider 
facilities included in the broader programme.  This included 
presentations to and engagement with all 14 Area Action 
Partnerships; 

(c) a health impact assessment, led by a licensed public health 
practitioner within the Council in order to robustly assess the 
health and well-being attributes of the various options; 

(d) an equality impact assessment, to identify and assess any 
potential impacts on any of the protected characteristics; and 

Page 16



(e) a strategic place-based review by officers across the Council, 
enabling additional outcomes and benefits to be identified and 
fully taken into account. 

 Given the significance of wider regeneration opportunities and role that 
investment will play in our economic recovery from the Covid-19 
pandemic, the strategic place-based review has influenced the 
Council’s willingness to consider innovative or bespoke approaches in 
each location.  As a result, the proposals in each location build on the 
local context of the place and will achieve greater impact than a new 
leisure centre alone would be expected to deliver. 

 The assessments have been completed across a shortlist of nine 
potential sites for the proposed three new build leisure centres. 

 The following preferred options are proposed for each of the three new 
locations, with further detailed analysis set out in the report: 

(a) New Build Site for Seaham - the analysis carried out illustrates 
that a hybrid approach in Seaham at the St John’s Square and 
existing site will produce significant regeneration benefits, as well 
as additional health outcomes from the proximity of aligned 
services and improved outdoor spaces; 

(b) New Build for Chester Le Street – the selection of the former 
Civic Centre site ensures that there will be ample space for the 
development and associated parking, while further sport and 
leisure opportunities are developed at the Riverside; 

(c) New Build Site for Bishop Auckland - the recommendation for 
Tindale Crescent will support regeneration in that locality while 
the proposed Woodhouse Close community hub plan will develop 
new facilities co-designed with local people on the existing site. 

 All three preferred sites allow the current sites to continue to operate 
during the new build construction period ensuring no disruption for 
leisure users during the construction phase. 

 Robust financial appraisal is an important aspect of this programme.  
The original budget estimates were developed in 2018/19, in advance of 
detailed site surveys and design work that enables an updated forecast 
of construction cost to be provided.  The updated capital estimates have 
been impacted by the following factors: 

(a) Widened scope and offer - widening the scope of the investment 
to respond to the aspirations of the programme and building in 
additional facilities to drive enhanced regeneration outcomes; 

Page 17



(b) Meeting environmental objectives - The increased scope 
ensures the project can meet the highest standards to deliver low 
emission buildings and other low carbon measures, to meet the 
best environmental outcomes. 

 In addition, some costs have risen as a result of the outcome of site 
surveys, initial design work and the impact of inflation over the relevant 
period.  The capital forecast identified in the January 2020 Cabinet 
report indicated an investment requirement of £62.8 million, with  
£38 million being funded on a self-financing basis from the forecast 
additional net income generated from the improved facilities with the 
remainder being funded from prudential borrowing.  The current capital 
forecast for the programme has risen to £77 million and will require an 
additional £14.2 million of prudential borrowing to fund the programme. 

 Although Covid-19 has impacted leisure centre income in the short 
term, analysis by sector bodies such as UK Active for the longer term 
future of leisure provision provides confidence that the additional net 
income forecast from the improved facilities in the January 2020 
Cabinet report will still be achieved. 

 Capital and revenue forecasts will continue to be updated with a final 
budget position to be reported to Cabinet in Autumn 2021.  The capital 
forecasts at that point will be influenced by detailed design work and will 
be subject to a final review of physical and financial viability. 

 Taken collectively the proposed site options, wider programme 
progress, economic recovery, regeneration benefits and affordability 
assessments set out a strong programme that will realise significantly 
improved outcomes across the county. 

Recommendations 

 Cabinet is recommended to:  

(a) note the updates on the programme and indicative financial 
position, with a further report to be presented to Cabinet in 
Autumn 2021, to finalise the revenue and capital forecasts; 

(b) agree to support the three preferred sites for the new build leisure 
centres, subject to further due diligence and feasibility work as 
follows: 

(i) Seaham: St Johns Square with community and outdoor 
facilities on the existing site; 

(ii) Chester-le-Street: Former Civic Centre Site; 

Page 18



(iii) Bishop Auckland: Land adjacent to Bishop Auckland 
Football Club (Tindale Crescent); 

(c) approve the production of a feasibility study for the redevelopment 
of the Woodhouse Close site as a community hub scheme, to 
include potential for new or relocated facilities for the area and a 
targeted programme for skills and education.  Any revenue or 
capital costs arising from this feasibility study to be considered as 
part of the development of MTFP(12) and subject to a separate 
report; 

(d) note the need to review the impact of the revised programme 
upon the Council’s VAT partial exemption position with this being 
considered fully in the autumn 2021 report to Cabinet; 

(e) note the wider programme updates in the report and the 
commitment to producing a broader leisure strategy in 2021 that 
delivers an integrated approach to the range of programmes 
facilities, assets and amenities that provide a leisure offer. 

 

  

Page 19



Background 

Context 

 In January 2020, Cabinet agreed to a set of recommendations for an 
ambitious Leisure Transformation Programme. 

 It was recommended that a further report on new build options be 
presented to Cabinet once the advanced feasibility work was 
completed, to include a health impact assessment and details of 
consultation. 

 The January 2020 report set out a scope, which focussed on 
transforming leisure centre venues in order to support health outcomes 
in the wider population while improving the financial resilience of 
Council leisure centres.  The programme would be part funded via 
additional net income generated from the improved facilities and part 
funded by prudential borrowing. 

 The current leisure stock varies in age and quality.  Facilities like 
Freemans Quay in Durham City are relatively new, having been built in 
2008.  However, the majority are much older and in generally poor 
condition, with Woodhouse Close Leisure Centre in Bishop Auckland 
being more than 50 years old. 

 Some of the facilities have benefitted from significant investment over 
the course of the last few years, however, the current estimated 
maintenance backlog across the estate is in excess of £7 million.  Uplift 
of specification for modern build regulations, carbon reduction or for 
branding and any re-purposing of facilities to meet current demand is 
not included in these figures.  Therefore, the true investment need is 
considerably higher. 

 Environmental sustainability and low carbon opportunities have been 
considered as part of the technical assessments for site selection for 
the three new builds included in this report.  They are costed as a 
percentage of the overall capital cost at this stage.  These opportunities 
will be further developed at the design stage, ensuring our commitments 
to carbon reduction are intrinsic to the new builds and to any 
redevelopment of the other sites. 

 The Council’s investment in leisure facilities is a vital part of the health 
and wellbeing offer across the county, it is important however to note 
that the Council’s leisure facilities are a component of a wider 
infrastructure that includes cycling, walking, playing pitches and wider 
sports and community facilities.  It is also important to note that not all of 
the leisure offer comes from the Council.  For example in Crook; Crook 
Community Leisure Centre has successfully provided a high standard of 

Page 20



community facility, comprising a fitness and outdoor sporting offer.  The 
Council continues to work to enable communities like Crook to develop 
leisure, sport and wellbeing activities and facilities to meet local 
aspirations. 

 The Council will develop an integrated leisure strategy in 2021 to be 
delivered thereafter.  The approach will draw together the varied offer 
for leisure, including active travel cycling and walking, parks and playing 
pitches. 

Impact of Covid 

 The coronavirus pandemic has affected the progress of the programme 
since March 2020, both on the Council’s capacity and others working on 
the project.  The lockdowns and restrictions have also made it more 
difficult to perform essential surveys and site visits to progress site 
feasibilities. 

 The restrictions which have been in force since March 2020 have had a 
significant impact on the leisure sector as a whole, the first and second 
lockdowns resulted in the closure of venues and the full loss of business 
for a period of over six months during the current financial year.  The 
estimated loss of leisure centre income this year is £8.3 million, though 
this loss of revenue has been offset by savings on premises costs and 
from recovering staff costs through the furlough scheme, with net costs 
being covered by Covid-19 funding provided by Government, including 
the Sales, Fees and Charges Income Guarantee Scheme. 

 Usage of the centres is expected to rapidly recover once leisure centres 
reopen and social distancing measures are relaxed or removed as the 
vaccination programme is fully rolled out. 

 Work is ongoing to review and update business assumptions across all 
aspects of the programme.  Assumptions for the new sites cannot be 
completed until site selections and facility mix are confirmed.  Early 
indications are that the latent customer demand, competitor position 
and likely state of market resumption have remained in line with the 
assumptions which were previously made. 

 Modelling by UK Active shows that nationally levels of recovery to pre-
Covid levels of business are estimated between 83%-85% within 6 - 8 
months of restrictions being lifted.  The recovery position in County 
Durham appeared to mirror the national picture, with approximately 
80%-87% of customers returning after the first lockdown ended. 

 Given the projections on business recovery, the associated timeline and 
the fact that the transformation schemes will fall outside of the initial 
recovery period, there is reasonable confidence that the programme 

Page 21



should continue in line with the original assumptions.  Analysis by sector 
bodies such as UK Active for the longer-term future of leisure provision 
provides confidence that the additional net income forecast from the 
improved facilities in the January 2020 Cabinet report will be achieved. 

New builds and site location options appraisal 

 The initial phase identified 23 sites for consideration;14 were shortlisted 
and 9 progressed onto the advanced feasibility stage: 

(a) Seaham; the existing site, the Dock top site and the St John’s 
Square site; 

(b) Chester-le-Street; the existing site, the former Civic Centre site 
and the Riverside site; 

(c) Bishop Auckland; the existing site, land adjacent to Bishop 
Auckland football club (Tindale Crescent site) and the Bishop 
Auckland College site. 

 Following the initial long list of proposals, the assessment process has 
involved five inter-related elements, explained below: 

A. Selection process: Technical Appraisal 

 At this stage in the development of the sites, high level site analysis is 
undertaken and considers factors such as existing access, site 
conditions, and space.  This is not a detailed survey of all conditions as 
this is for the next stage once a preferred option is agreed. 

 The assessment process has utilised professional advice from within 
the Council alongside the advice of Alliance Leisure, specialist leisure 
consultants which the Council has engaged for its leisure expertise and 
in particular its experience with other leisure transformation 
programmes. 

 As identified in Government guidance for better business cases, a rating 
system has been employed using a weighted Red, Amber and Green 
(RAG) ratings to differentiate and score various critical factors; the full 
details of which can be seen in Appendix 5. 

 The technical assessment helps to identify issues that influence the 
preferred location and also identify issues that would need to be 
addressed as part of more detailed appraisals for a preferred option. 

B. Selection process: Public Engagement 

 The public consultation and engagement is divided into two phases.  In 
the first phase the focus was primarily related to site locations, though 

Page 22



there was an opportunity for respondents to comment on initial 
proposals for facility mix across all sites.as well as respond to health 
and physical activity questions.  The full consultation report is available 
at Appendix 6.  The second phase will be engagement around the 
findings of the equality impact assessment and the health impact 
assessment, along with details of the facility mix. 

 The site consultation was delivered internally via the Council 
consultation website and wider engagement was delivered through an 
external website.  Both web-based consultation and engagements were 
complemented by a whole range of other feedback opportunities and 
forums.  This included presentations to elected members, presentation 
to all the 14 area action partnership boards, contact with town and 
parish councils for Seaham, Bishop Auckland and Chester-le-Street, 
and a range of special interest groups across the county. 

 As part of the phase one consultation all existing leisure centre users 
were also contacted and encouraged to provide their feedback.  This 
was complemented by several social media feeds which attracted lively 
commentary. 

 A total of 2,632 responses were received on both websites used to 
gather comments.  Of the total responses, 58.9% were from current 
leisure or 1life members.  However, the 1,549 member responses 
equate to approximately 5% of 30,000 pre-Covid leisure memberships, 
therefore a significant number of members did not offer a view at this 
time. 

 Feedback has been captured and can be viewed in full at Appendix 6. 

 Respondents were asked to consider the site proposals individually, 
and for each location indicate the likely impact on their attendance. 

 In addition, the wider consultation on health and physical activity and 
the facility mix preferences has provided key information to inform the 
next stages of design which will form the basis of the next phase of 
engagement. 

C. Selection Process: Health Impact Assessment 

 A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) has been completed and is included 
in Appendix 4.  The assessment has been conducted on the current 
stage of the project, focussing on site selection and was led by a 
licensed public health practitioner within the Council in order to robustly 
assess the health and well-being attributes of the options. 

 The common themes identified from the HIA includes: ensuring that 
health benefits are maximised, increasing use of active travel and 

Page 23



reducing road congestion, ensuring positive change of appearance of 
an area as a result of new development; an increase in physical activity 
and mental wellbeing, ensuring the disruption to service users is 
minimised during the construction phase; and minimising the impact of 
noise and air pollution due to construction work. 

 A range of recommendations for each site based on the health impacts 
identified to help mitigate any negative risks and enhance any positive 
opportunities are identified within Appendix 4. 

 Once site selection is confirmed the Equalities Impact Assessment and 
HIA will be further developed to maximise positive impact across the 
whole programme. 

D. The Equalities Impact Assessment 

 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been conducted and is 
attached at Appendix 3.  The assessment has been conducted on the 
current stage of the project, focussing on site selection. 

 The EIA identifies three key characteristics which are likely to be 
impacted most by the current decision on site selection; age, specifically 
those young people who are old enough to access services themselves, 
but who are not yet able to drive, those who are older and who may no 
longer drive or who rely on public transport, similarly disabled 
customers who again may rely on public transport to access facilities 
and services. 

 The EIA outlined that new facilities could particularly impact on disabled 
people.  As a result, it is recommended that once sites are confirmed, 
the Council should work with relevant groups and stakeholders to 
ensure that disabled persons’ needs are built into the designs. 

E. Selection Process: Strategic Place Review 

 A key consideration underpinning the Leisure Transformation 
Programme is that the Council maximises its investment in order to 
support place-based economic and community growth.  On that basis, a 
strategic place-based review has been applied to site selection, 
alongside the technical assessment data, health and equalities impact 
assessments and outcomes from the public consultation. 

 The strategic place review ensures that the selection processes are 
applied to and take account of the unique and specific circumstances in 
each place and its community. 

Page 24



 Relevant documents were reviewed including Towns and Villages 
Strategy, County Durham Plan, and appropriate regeneration 
masterplans, alongside appropriate expertise from across the Council. 

 Consideration of document review and officer expertise outlined above 
formed the Strategic Place-Based Review.  It is important to highlight 
that this review has considered the interaction of decisions by taking 
into account the possibility for re-use of sites vacated and the wider 
investment master plans for the locations selected. 

Site selections 

Seaham 

 The substantial place-based wider regeneration factors relevant to 
Seaham were key to the proposed recommendation, alongside the 
outcome of the technical appraisal, HIA, equality impact assessment 
and consultation feedback. 

 The weighted scores in the technical appraisal (Appendix 5) identified 
key benefits in the existing site including good transport links, car 
parking and proximity to residential areas, alongside potential tourism 
benefits at Dock Top and regeneration benefits at St Johns Square. 

 The public consultation illustrated a leaning towards the existing site in 
terms of the impact of site location, though it should be borne in mind 
that most respondents are current members or casual users of the 
existing facilities. 

 Respondents to the consultation were also given the opportunity to 
provide any other comments on the site location proposals, the 
following are the key themes of that qualitative feedback: 

(a)  the desire for a pool was key mentioned in 40% of responses; 

(b) parking across the town expressed as a concern; 

(c) the limited space available at the existing site to accommodate a 
leisure centre, pool and outdoor facilities; 

(d) concerns over what happens to the existing site if an alternate site 
is chosen, with a desire clearly expressed to retain outdoor green 
space and an objection to housing development; 

(e) outdated and poor facilities currently; 

(f) a town centre location considered to be good as a community hub 
and to help tourism; and the ability to combine visits to a leisure 
centre with trips to the high street was welcomed; and 

Page 25



(g) it was recognised that a town centre location would support local 
business. 

 The Strategic Place Based Review identified a strong consideration for 
the St John’s Square site as a key central location and that improving its 
amenity and animation with a new leisure facility would significantly 
contribute to the vibrancy of the town. 

 Considerable social and physical regeneration benefits could be 
realised through a leisure development, the proximity to the library, 
primary care centre and other Council facilities provides a strong 
platform for community and social regeneration. 

 The health impact assessment identified the importance of maintaining 
outdoor and green space in Seaham, ensuring that public transport use 
supports the reduction of traffic congestion on our roads and that 
walking and cycling are supported and promoted through an active 
transport plan.  This is particularly relevant to the existing site with 
outdoor pitches and facilities. 

 The HIA also identified the risk to access to physical activity during the 
construction period if the existing site were selected.  This was noted as 
a risk in each location in relation to existing sites. 

 When the site options appraisal was originally undertaken each site was 
considered on its own merits based on how it would deliver a 
standalone facility.  However, it became apparent through the strategic 
place review that there was a unique opportunity in Seaham to develop 
a dual site at the existing site and at St Johns Square.  The 
development of a dual site facility affords an opportunity to maximise 
broader regeneration opportunities and collectively creates a whole that 
is significantly greater than the sum of its parts. 

 A hybrid option with a dual site allows for development of an outdoor-
focussed centre with changing facilities primarily for club and 
community use on the existing site, with a new centre at St John’s 
Square.  This option maximises the considerable regeneration benefits 
outlined above while optimising the outdoor, active transport and health 
benefits identified in the Health Impact Assessment. 

 It is recognised that this option does not appear directly aligned with the 
outcomes of the consultation that expressed a preference for the 
existing site.  A dual option became apparent as a result of the strategic 
review, therefore specific views on this weren’t sought.  However, there 
are four factors that provide confidence to support the conclusion set 
out in paragraph 73: 

Page 26



(a) the existing site footprint will be maintained for community use 
and potentially can offer an even greater range of outdoor sport 
and activity, along with some indoor facilities; 

(b) it is anticipated that the regeneration of Seaham town centre will 
benefit significantly from the redevelopment of St Johns Square 
as a leisure site.  The wider health and social benefits that would 
ensue are entirely congruent with the aims of the programme; 

(c) while there was a strong response to the consultation, 95% of the 
Council’s leisure centre members didn’t give their views.  It is 
anticipated that in the next stage the engagement will involve a 
higher number of members as the facility mix and design is 
developed; 

(d) many of the negative consultation comments for the St John’s 
Square site related to car parking which would be addressed if 
the site were developed for this use. 

 Car parking displacement would be a key issue with both the 
development of St Johns Square site as a standalone facility or as part 
of the development of a dual site.  This was a key issue identified in 
both the technical assessment and the public consultation as car 
parking is an ongoing challenge in the town centre due to a lack of a 
central main car park. 

 Seaham Town Centre has been the focus, along with many high 
streets, for regeneration over the previous 10 years.  The town centre is 
not alone in regard to the need to consolidate floor space, provide 
alternative uses and make the centre more attractive to the residents 
and visitors to the area.  The leisure transformation provides an 
opportunity to assist in providing alternative uses, however it also 
provides the catalyst for a much wider opportunity. 

 In looking at the current car parking provision, the land at St Johns 
Square provides limited appeal for users of the centre, whilst underused 
and derelict land at Green Street provides the prospect of a much 
improved gateway and enhanced aesthetic for the centre as well as 
consolidating a more accessible parking provision for the town. 

 An appropriate car parking solution is critical to the success of the 
scheme and without it alternative options may have to be considered. 

 The Council is committed to delivering suitable car parking as part of a 
comprehensive plan for the town centre and will explore all options as 
part of its acquisitions strategy in assembling the necessary land 
required. 

Page 27



 Recommendation conclusion: preferred option is St Johns Square 
with enhanced community, club and outdoor facilities at the 
existing site subject to resolution of car parking facilities at St 
Johns Square. 

Chester-le-Street 

 The technical assessment, public engagement and consultation, health 
impact assessment, equality impact assessment and strategic place 
review had congruent results which all favoured the former Civic Centre 
Site as the preferred option, with some redevelopment of the existing 
site alongside this. 

 The weighted scores in the technical assessment at Appendix 5 
identified support for the former Civic Centre site. 

 The public consultation equally illustrated a leaning towards the former 
Civic Centre site in terms of the impact of site location, with a marked 
disinclination to attend the Riverside site. 

 Respondents were also given the opportunity to provide any other 
feedback they would like to on the site location proposals, the following 
are the key themes of that qualitative feedback: 

(a) the existing site is too small already and not easily accessible; 

(b) parking concerns for the existing site; 

(c) parking concerns across the whole town; 

(d) not closing facilities when the works take place; 

(e) public transport is a concern for the Riverside locations; 

(f) traffic and congestion concerns around the Civic Centre site; and 

(g) effect on surrounding residential properties when construction 
takes place, particularly the Civic Centre site. 

 The Health Impact Assessment identified primarily positive impacts in 
utilising the former Civic Centre site, related to good accessibility and 
the continuation of service at the existing site during the construction 
phase. 

 Conversely, the HIA process identified primarily negative impacts for 
existing site and Riverside Park.  These included the loss of facilities 
during the construction period at the existing site and the loss of green 
space if the Riverside site were selected. 

Page 28



 This site selection process was notable for analogous issues identified 
across technical, consultation and health assessments, drawing out a 
clear preference for the former Civic Centre site because of 
accessibility, continued service at the existing site during construction 
and both parking and co-location benefits due to the size of the site. 

 While further work is required, there are initial plans to develop a sports 
hub model at the Riverside site as outlined in para 101.  This model 
would retain green/outdoor space at the Riverside site and active travel 
options. 

 Although there will be a loss of a potential capital receipt from the sale 
of the former Civic Centre site, this could be partially offset by the 
generation of a capital receipt from the release of the current site. 

 Recommendation conclusion: Preferred option the former Civic 
Centre site, with associated proposals to come forward for the 
Riverside site in Autumn 2021. 

Bishop Auckland 

 The consideration regarding Bishop Auckland took into account 
technical, public engagement and consultation, equalities impact 
assessment, health impact assessment and Strategic Place Based 
Review factors.  Similar to Seaham, the substantial place-based wider 
regeneration factors relevant to Bishop Auckland were key to the 
proposed recommendation. 

 Public consultation for Bishop Auckland identified perhaps the greatest 
range of responses.  Whilst the survey was not designed to understand 
the responses in detail, it is plausible to conclude that this is due to 
each site offering distinctly different opportunities.  Similar to the 
consultation outcomes in relation to Seaham and Chester-le-Street, 
most respondents were existing members or casual users of the current 
Woodhouse Close site. 

 Respondents were also given the opportunity to provide open 
comments on the site location proposals, the following are the key 
themes of that qualitative feedback: 

(a) concerns over parking provision generally; 

(b) traffic congestion concerns at the Tindale Crescent and College 
sites; 

(c) access to Tindale Crescent site for public transport or 
pedestrians; 

(d) proximity of the existing site to local users and housing areas; 

Page 29



(e) concerns of loss of green spaces if the college fields are lost to 
accommodate a new build; 

(f) opportunity for a larger and more contemporary leisure centre at 
Tindale Crescent and the ability to combine leisure and retail 
visits. 

 The Health Impact Assessment for this location reflects two key issues 
evident in both the technical assessment and public consultation: 
accessibility by public transport or active transport if Tindale Crescent 
was selected and the impact on one of the most challenged 
neighbourhoods if the leisure centre moves from Woodhouse Close. 

 The strategic place review identified regeneration benefits of siting the 
new leisure centre at Tindale Crescent, releasing the Woodhouse Close 
site for development that specifically addresses the community needs 
and structural challenges of the Woodhouse Close estate area. 

 Like most of our larger leisure centres, Bishop Auckland has a reach 
beyond its immediate vicinity.  The membership base for the current 
facility in Bishop Auckland attracts 51% of its customers from the 
immediate Bishop Auckland area, but 49% come from outside that 
boundary including Shildon, the wider dales and further afield. 

 While a dual leisure centre site was briefly considered, the regeneration 
opportunities and broader context including outdoor facilities are 
different to Seaham where the dual site proposal seeks to maximise 
town centre regeneration, rather than the community infrastructure 
regeneration of the Woodhouse Close estate area. 

 Sitting to the South West of the Town Centre and Woodhouse Close, 
the Tindale Crescent site is adjacent to the Bishop Auckland football 
club ground and abuts the out of town retail area.  While outside the 
Future High Street Fund area, Tindale Crescent also sits within the 
Stronger Towns programme. 

 Proposals exist to improve junction capacity to three key points around 
Tindale Crescent through the Stronger Town Fund improving traffic flow 
and accessibility, while a further proposal seeks to improve walking and 
cycling links across and into the town including from nearby St Helens 
and West Auckland settlements. 

 Should the Stronger Town Fund bid not be approved or there is 
insufficient resources provided through the Fund, consideration will 
need to be given to addressing active travel infrastructure as identified 
in the HIA and this would need to be built into the proposals. 

Page 30



 While the junction proposals would have a beneficial impact on traffic 
flow, they are not essential due to the location of the leisure centre.  
Therefore, there is no mitigation required if the junction schemes don’t 
go ahead. 

 There are considerable benefits to the proximity and potential 
partnership with Bishop Auckland Football Club.  This aligns with 
football foundation strategy as well as ensuring outdoor facilities that 
contribute to providing a comprehensive offer suited to a post-Covid 
environment.  This is also highlighted in the HIA. 

 Sitting alongside a cluster of public and community uses, the leisure 
centre and library are located in an area which has been identified as a 
potential investment area by Believe, a local housing registered 
provider, which has aspirations for development of new dwellings of 
mixed type and tenure across the wider Woodhouse Close area. 

 The cluster of public uses at Woodhouse Close (which also includes NE 
Ambulance Service, core NHS facility, and the Police) has also led to 
considerations of opportunities for colocations through the One Public 
Estates Programme.  Support for feasibility for colocation and property 
rationalisation exists in this area and the public services located at 
Woodhouse Close meet regularly to review property and operational 
requirements. 

 Land released through colocations would typically contribute to new 
housing numbers although the prominence of the site and relative 
proximity to the town centre may encourage specialist (older persons) 
residential use alongside reconfigured public / community service 
delivery. 

 Current programme investment options include a demand for a youth 
employment hub in conjunction with Job Centre Plus and aspirations for 
a community arts facility to support the local creative sector.  Co-
locating the library within any proposed developments of this nature 
would further support the regeneration of the area. 

 A community hub model based on the collective investment and co-
locations set out above could realise significant impact if co-designed 
and developed in full partnership with the community. 

 This approach aligns with best practice in community development and 
with the emerging ambitions of the County Durham Together approach.  
A feasibility for the development of a community hub proposition, co-
produced with the community of Woodhouse Close will act as a 
pathfinder project for place-based community centred regeneration and 
will be subject to a further report. 

Page 31



 The health impact assessment sets out a number of recommendations 
if Tindale is selected including working closely with the Council’s anti-
poverty strategy and maximising access for communities to the west, 
such as Shildon, through a range of programmes such as Borrow a Bike 
scheme.  These recommendations will be taken forward if this site is 
selected. 

 This community-centred approach to regeneration utilising community 
development best practice on Woodhouse Close site is likely to have a 
beneficial impact beyond that which a new leisure centre could provide, 
while anti-poverty and active transport plans will ensure that the 
relocated leisure is as accessible as possible. 

104 Recommendation conclusion: The preferred site location is 

Tindale Crescent, with the feasibility of a development of a 

Woodhouse Close Community Hub, giving clear priority to the 

redevelopment of this site to meet the future needs of the local 

community. 

Wider Programme Updates 

 The report to Cabinet in January 2020 included proposals to invest in 
the facilities that would not be subject to a new build, addressing both 
the underlying maintenance and condition backlogs, whilst taking the 
opportunity to re-purpose and improve the service offer.  Work is 
ongoing in this regard, however, an update on that work completed to 
date is set out below: 

(a) a feasibility report has been concluded for Teesdale Leisure 
Centre on a range of aspects to improve the customer 
environment and address several maintenance concerns; 

(b) for Consett Leisure Centre, the focus has been on addressing the 
latent defect issues with the pool and technical assessments 
have been carried out by specialist contractors; 

(c) Wolsingham Leisure Centre has had some works completed 
since its return as a directly managed Council leisure venue on 1 
September 2020; 

(d) Newton Aycliffe Leisure Centre has a range of maintenance and 
customer environment improvements planned; 

(e) the in-house teams have progressed the initial design proposals 
for Spennymoor Leisure Centre.  Alliance Leisure and its team of 
external contractors have also progressed initial designs for the 
Peterlee, Abbey and Louisa Leisure Centres.  Designs at 

Page 32



Freemans Quay will be progressed once future partnership 
arrangements are confirmed; 

(f) some elements of work at Shildon Leisure Centre have already 
been completed, with improvements made to the athletics track 
and supporting facilities.  This work progressed early in order to 
take advantage of external funding available.  An options analysis 
is underway for the wider leisure site; 

(g) initial plans for Meadowfield Leisure Centre are still to be 
developed and will be further developed in the next stage of work.  
However, outline considerations suggest the improved use of the 
sports hall space and a need to refurbish outdoor changing 
facilities which are in a poor state of repair.  Such investment will 
improve the offer and therefore bring about benefits for both the 
indoor and outdoor facilities. 

 As part of the consideration of the site for new build in Chester-le-
Street, it is considered that there is a significant opportunity to develop 
the Riverside site as a sports hub that could provide community and 
commercial benefit, alongside appropriate partners.  This approach will 
be further explored and presented in the next programme update in 
Autumn 2021. 

 As the Riverside site was included in the options appraisal as the 
location for the new leisure centre in Chester-le-Street, it was deemed  
inappropriate to invest in design proposals until the site selection 
decision is made as part of this report. 

 In January 2020 the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth and the Corporate Director of Resources were given delegated 
authority to negotiate a contract buy out with CLUK in order to achieve a 
wholly Council-operated management arrangements.  Initial 
negotiations took place in the first months of the pandemic and a 
settlement couldn’t be reached.  Negotiations will resume as the sector 
stabilises and appropriate financial assumptions can be made. 

 As part of the consultation, a range of additional feedback was provided 
which does not directly relate to the current programme but was 
nonetheless captured and officers will give due consideration to these 
points as the programme develops, the key points noted being: 

(a) some support for an ice rink to be reintroduced in Durham city; 

(b) support for ten-pin bowling facilities to be developed; 

(c) a request for swimming facilities to be provided in Crook; 

Page 33



(d) a request for the Consett Swimming pool to re-open; 

(e) support for and working with local communities and other leisure 
providers to ensure the leisure transformation work impacts on 
the widest possible audience. 

Financial Update 

 The January 2020 Cabinet report identified a forecast capital investment 
requirement of £62.8 million to transform leisure centre provision and 
build three new centres. 

 The original Leisure Centre capital forecasts were based upon GIFA 
(Gross Internal Floor Area) calculations presented in 2018 as part of 
initial feasibility work.  It is appropriate to update these figures to reflect 
the latest feasibility work that has been completed and to update 
estimates to reflect the latest estimates of build costs as well as co-
location costs. 

With the support of Alliance Leisure, the design proposals have been 
developed further, taking into account the construction of three Core+2 
leisure centres and the co-location opportunities that have been 
identified.  The revised forecast for the capital cost of the programme is 
now £78.2 million.  The table below illustrates the revised costs 
compared to the position presented in January 2020  

Scheme January 2020 

£m 

Current (Feb 2021) 

£m 

Difference 

£m 

New Builds 48.0 58.9 +10.9 

Refurbishments 9.5 12.2 2.7 

Refreshes 0.5 1.1 +0.6 

Developments / 
Riverside 

4.8 4.8 0 

    

TOTAL 62.8 77 +14.2 

 
 Inflation is factored using the BCIS % per quarter standard rate  

 As designs and feasibility studies have progressed and site surveys 
undertaken, specifics which would not have been apparent in the 
original desk top based assessment have come to light. 

Page 34



 For the new builds, the original cost assumptions were based on the 
basic Sport England Core+2 model at two locations with the third being 
a more basic pool and health club model.  The core+2 model is a 
benchmarked standard for swimming pool-based leisure centres. 

 A major element of the increase in cost is due to the parity of the 
facilities for each potential new build, with all three now working to the 
Sport England Core+2 model. 

 The new build leisure centre brief now includes proposals to meet 
BREEAM Excellent as a core consideration in order to support the 
Council’s wider aspirations for carbon reduction.  This was not 
specifically factored into the original capital estimates and has added 
£1.973 million to the capital estimates previously reported. 

 Once the sites have been selected, there are opportunities to develop 
further carbon reduction schemes that will contribute to our climate 
response plan and highlight our commitment to a low carbon future.  
While these are likely to be on an invest to save basis, a number of 
external funding streams are available to support environmental and 
sustainable design. 

 The increase in cost is also in part due to the inclusion of certain 
building condition / capitalised maintenance issues, which for the 
refurbishment sites has added £0.350 million to the previous estimates.  
It should also be noted that the new build facilities will address circa 
£4.5 million of backlog capitalised maintenance issues which the 
Council would otherwise need to fund. 

 The original proposals identified that an overall net revenue saving of 
£1.63 million was achievable from the initial investment and that this 
could be used to finance £38 million of prudential borrowing. 

 As identified earlier, although the impact of Covid-19 has had a 
dramatic effect on the leisure sector, the outlook for business recovery 
and the fundamental propensity for exercise, sport and physical activity 
remain positive.  The initial business plan has been reviewed and this 
has identified that the level of income growth in the original plans has 
remained in line with the initial assumptions and may in some cases 
have even increased. 

 It is therefore still anticipated that £38 million of the forecast capital cost 
will still be self-financed from the net £1.6 million of annual revenue 
savings.  This will leave a forecast £40.2 million capital budget to be 
financed from prudential borrowing.  A capital budget of £39.2 million 
has been approved in MTFP(10) and MTFP(11).  The remaining 
forecast capital cost will be included in development of MTFP(12) and 
MTFP(13). 

Page 35



 The prudential borrowing costs that are not financed on a self-funding 
basis through income generation are estimated at circa £4 million, an 
increase of circa £1.4 million from the position reported previously.  
These costs will need to be accommodated in future MTFP and budget 
planning rounds. 

123 Until the sites for the new builds are confirmed and the brief for the new 
builds remodelling and refurbishments is finalised the capital costs 
cannot be fixed.  Therefore, a range of fully costed proposals with 
enhanced options and sustainability with all the associated benefits will 
be presented to Cabinet in Autumn 2021. 

VAT Partial Exemption 

 The January 2020 Cabinet report referenced the requirement for 
consideration to be given to the likely impact of the Leisure Programme 
upon the Council’s VAT Partial Exemption (PE) position.  Based upon 
the previous forecast of capital spend of £62.8 million, the Council had 
received agreement from HMRC to utilise a 7 year averaging 
methodology to ensure the council could stay below the 5% PE limit. 

 The increase in forecast costs will require a revision to the PE forecast 
which will also require detail on the likely phasing of expenditure.  It is 
probable that even with the 7 year averaging flexibility that the 5% limit 
may be exceeded.  This will need to be considered as part of the 
development of the autumn 2021 Cabinet report where alternate 
solutions may need to be considered. 

Next Steps 

 Subject to Cabinet approval of the three preferred sites for the new 
builds, the next steps for the programme will be to: 

(a) progress with detailed new build designs; 

(b) progress the designs for the refresh and refurbishment locations; 

(c) consider options for next steps at Shildon and Meadowfield; 

(d) develop a feasibility for the Riverside proposals (should the 

Riverside site not be chosen as the location for the new leisure 

centre); 

(e) progress plans and undertake feasibility studies for a community 

hub at Woodhouse Close; 

(f) undertake further public and stakeholder engagement; 

Page 36



(g) develop and design the facilities mix for each site; and 

(h) consider the full costs and income generation potential of the 

scheme and present a fully costed proposal to cabinet in Autumn 

2021. 

Background papers 

None. 

Other useful documents 

None. 

Author(s) 

Alison Clark Tel: 03000 264550 

Susan Robinson Tel: 03000 267332 

  

Page 37



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council has the power under s19 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to provide, and charge for, such 

recreational facilities as are outlined within the report. 

Where relevant, the proposals in the report will require appropriate planning 
approval, which will include further consideration of transport and 
environmental considerations.  The Council may also be required to 
purchase/acquire land to facilitate the proposed new developments.  These 
will be considered further and addressed as appropriate in the report to be 
presented to Cabinet in Autumn 2021. 

Finance 

The report identifies a need for capital investment, with a proportion of that 

being funded on a self-financing basis through prudential borrowing.  Due to 

increases in costs, to deliver the original scheme, funding of approximately 

£77 million would be required – a £14.2 million increase on the original 

estimates.  Further enhancement options are available which would increase 

costs but would also likely achieve substantially greater benefits and further 

increases in income. 

In order to progress the schemes from their current design stage and present 

Cabinet with greater cost certainty later this year, up to £1 million will need to 

be committed at risk from the existing project budgets. 

Cabinet has already delegated responsibility for this element of the 

programme to the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth 

in consultation with the Corporate Director of Resources.  The procurement 

and progress of the next stage of design will be managed through the leisure 

transformation executive programme board. 

The increase in forecast costs will require a revision to the Partial Exemption 

forecast which will also require detail on the likely phasing of expenditure.  It is 

probable that even with the 7-year averaging flexibility that the 5% limit may 

be exceeded.  This will need to be considered as part of the development of 

the autumn 2021 Cabinet report where alternate solutions may need to be 

considered. 

  

Page 38



Consultation 

This report, at Appendix 6 details the key feedback and information gathered 
during the consultation and engagement activities around site selection and 
proposed county wide activity/facility mix.  The details in this report cover 
phase 1 of an identified two-phase consultation and engagement process, as 
well as a range of engagement activities which will last for the life of the 
programme. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The programme identified in this report will have a positive impact on the 
Council’s equality duty.  This report covers the key implications of the current 
stage of the programme, which is focussed primarily on the location of new 
build leisure centres in Seaham, Bishop Auckland and Chester-le-Street. 

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been conducted and is attached 
at Appendix 3.  This has been prepared alongside a Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA), specifically around the decision of site location.  A broader 
EIA and HIA will be completed and remain under review Theon the overall 
programme as the project progresses. 

The initial EIA identifies that three key characteristics which are likely to be 
impacted most by the current decision on site selection; age, specifically those 
young people who are old enough to access services themselves, but who are 
not yet able to drive.  Those who are older and who may no longer drive or 
who rely on public transport, similarly disabled customers who again may rely 
on public transport to access facilities and services. 

The EIA outlined that new facilities could particularly impact on Disabled 
people.  As a result, its recommended that once sites are confirmed, the 
Council should work with relevant groups and stakeholders to ensure that 
disabled persons’ needs are built into the designs. 

Climate Change 

This report focusses on site selection and although a sustainability 
assessment has been conducted to inform the technical site appraisal, further 
low carbon and other environmental sustainability measures can be 
considered at the design stage.  However, the costs of attaining BREEAM and 
BREEAM Excellent has been included within the current cost proposals.  
Further enhancement options are possible across all the schemes and these 
are to be explored. 

Human Rights 

None. 

  

Page 39



Crime and Disorder 

The programme will have a positive impact on crime and disorder.  There is 

expected to be positive social value impacts across a number of dimensions. 

Including crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

Although not directly referenced in this report, the programme does have the 

potential to create an increase FTE in order to deliver the improvements 

identified across the leisure centre venues.  This is all wrapped into financial 

considerations across the programme and subject to further detailed work. 

Accommodation 

The outcome of this report may lead to co-locations of other services in a 
number of locations depending on the site chosen.  There will be no change to 
the number of leisure facilities but may lead to a reduction in other council 
buildings. 

Risk 

There are a number of programme level risks identified as there are with any 
significant programme of this nature.  One of the key risks noted is the 
revenue risks associated with any invest to save initiative.  The programme 
team has engaged the specialist services of a leisure transformation / leisure 
sector specialist to support the Council.   

Other risks relate to the potential for capital costs to increase further as 
detailed design and feasibility work is progressed over the coming months.  
Environmental sustainability and low carbon opportunities are costed as a 
percentage of the overall capital cost at this stage.  These opportunities will be 
further developed at the design stage, ensuring our commitments to carbon 
reduction are intrinsic to the new builds and to any redevelopment of the other 
sites.  In addition, the increase in forecast costs will require a revision to the 
Partial Exemption forecast, where it is probable that even with the seven-year 
averaging flexibility that the 5% limit may be exceeded.  This will need to be 
considered as part of the development of the autumn 2021 Cabinet report 
where alternate solutions may need to be considered. 

There are challenges with car parking displacement with both the 
development of St Johns Square site as a standalone facility or as part of the 
development of a dual site.  There is a potential solution to resolve the car 
parking situation, which would both mitigate the displacement and the wider 
and ongoing parking challenges and work is presently ongoing to explore this 
option.  A resolution to this issue is a critical factor in the acceptability of this 
location and should it not be possible to resolve this matter alternative options 
may have to be considered for Seaham. 

Page 40



In terms of Bishop Auckland, mitigation  of the impact on the community in 
and around Woodhouse Close from a relocation of the Leisure Centre to 
Tindale Crescent comes in the form of a commitment to the production of a 
feasibility study for the redevelopment of the Woodhouse Close site working in 
partnership with the local community to develop an appropriate scheme 
including the potential for new facilities for the area and targeted programmes 
for skills and education. 

Procurement 

All procurement in relation to this programme will be undertaken under the 

Council’s contract procurement rules and with advice of the corporate 

procurement team. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 2:  Programme Governance Arrangements 

Purpose of the Appendix 

1 This appendix details governance arrangements for decision making in 
relation to the Leisure Centre Transformation programme. It also 
includes delegated responsibilities and expectations for each level 
within the reporting model. 

2 By following this governance, the progress of the programme will be 
monitored and any deviations from the plan, risks or issues will be 
identified and addressed in a timely manner. 

Governance model 

3 The following is a diagram of the reporting structure: 

 

 

Key Roles and Responsibilities 

The Executive Programme Board 

4 The Board has the responsibility for the overall success of the 
programme.  

CMT

Programme 
Sponsor - Amy 

Harhoff

Executive 
Programme Board

Strategic 
Oversight Group

Operational 
Delivery

Individual Project 
Teams

Design & 
Construction

Alliance Design 
Teams

Internal DCC 
Teams

Health Impact 
Comms and 
Engagement

Low Carbon

Programme 
Assurance

Alliance Leisure  
Consultants

Page 43



 

5 Its main functions are to: 

(a) provide constructive challenge to the projects within the 
programme and its outputs including member presentations, 
public consultation document etc to ensure they will deliver the 
intended outcomes; 

(b) agree solutions for any excepts, issues, strategic risks or cross 
cutting issues; 

(c) report progress to Cabinet, CMT, CMT Transformation and 
Transformation Board seeking approvals as appropriate; 

(d) make any decisions regarding resources and the approved 
budget and ensure that Council staff have sufficient capacity and 
understanding of the programme/project to fulfil their role; 

(e) ensure buy-in for the programme/project at all levels by promoting 
a change culture across the Authority and achieve the associated 
benefits; 

6 The Executive Programme Board members comprise the following 
Officers: 

(a) Amy Harhoff, Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth - 
Chair 

(b) Alison Clark, Head of Culture, Sport and Tourism, Project 
Executive - Vice Chair 

(c) Ben Kelsey, Leisure Transformation Programme Manager 

(d) Susan Robinson, Head of Corporate Property and Land, Project 
Executive 

(e) Chris Woodcock, PH Strategic Manager 

(f) Andy Palmer, Head of Transformation  

(g) Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community 
Engagement 

(h) Jeff Garfoot, Head of Finance and Commercial Services 

(i) Michelle Atkinson, Head of Comms and Marketing 

(j) Nigel Dodds, Strategic Manager – Culture and Sport 

(k) Richard Crane, Head of Education and skills 

Page 44



 

(l) Stuart Timmis, Head of Planning and Assets 

(m) James Etherington, Deputy Monitoring Officer 

(n) Abbie McQuillan, Senior Project Manager, Programme Assurance 

7 Virtual meetings will take place on a 4 weekly basis. At each meeting, it 
is expected that the Strategic Oversight group (and any relevant 
workstream project managers) will provide an update on the progress 
against plans made in that period in the form of a highlight report. ;They 
will also highlight any key changes in risk, financial spend and 
communications.; Any issue which arises requiring urgent attention 
between meetings, will be noted and rectified where possible, by the 
Sponsor. 

The Strategic Oversight Group 

8 This group has the responsibility to review progress of each of the 
workstreams and ensure that any interdependencies and overarching 
risks are highlighted. ;This group is responsible for the day to day 
decision making within the programme. 

9 The group will: 

(a) make strategic decisions in relation to the desired direction of 
travel for Leisure Centre Transformation; 

(b) receive highlight reports for each of the workstreams on a 4 
weekly basis and provide assurance on the progress to the 
Executive Programme Board; 

(c) act as the overarching monitoring group to drive the progress of 
the transformation programme and to provide update reports to 
the executive programme board on a 4 weekly basis; 

(d) develop and monitor the overarching programme plan and risk 
register; 

(e) identify and remedy barriers to progressing any element of the 
programme and/or its workstreams; 

(f) prepare reports and presentations for decision making and/or 
consultation and engagement with Members, special interest 
groups, leisure members or the general public. 

10 The Strategic Oversight Group members comprises the following 
Officers:  

Page 45



 

(a) Alison Clark, Head of Culture, Sport and Tourism Project 
Executive - Chair 

(b) Susan Robinson, Head of Corporate Property and Land, Project 
Executive 

(c) Sarah Shaw, Senior Project Manager (Design & Construction 
lead) 

(d) Ben Kelsey, Leisure Transformation Programme Manager 

(e) Abbie McQuillan, Senior Project Manager (Comms & 
Engagement lead / Programme Assurance) 

Occasional attendees as and when required for updates 

(f) Su Lewis, Strategic Manager SID (Operational Delivery) 

(g) Chris Woodcock, Strategic Manager (Health Impact) 

11 Virtual meetings will take place on a weekly basis, until the Cabinet 
report is agreed in March 2021, after this time the frequency will be 
reviewed. ;At each meeting, it is expected that the Strategic Oversight 
group will review updates/highlight reports received from each 
workstream and prepare a programme level update for the board.  N.B. 
Highlight reports from workstreams need only be submitted on a 4 
weekly basis unless there is an issue/decision required where it can be 
submitted more frequently. 

Other Roles and Responsibilities 

Sponsor 

12 The Sponsor has overall responsibility for the successful delivery of the 
outcomes of the programme.  The Sponsor is the Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth and will: 

(a) deliver or delegate any presentations/reports through the 
democratic process; 

(b) make any decisions regarding resources and the budget and 
ensure that Council staff have sufficient capacity and 
understanding of the programme/project to fulfil their role; 

(c) carry out any conflict resolution at a strategic level; 

(d) chair executive programme board meetings; 

Page 46



 

(e) provide strategic direction and reinforce the vision of the 
programme/project and how this links strategically with the 
Council’s vision. 

Project Executive 

13 The Executive will provide strategic direction and reinforce the vision for 
the programme and how this links to the Council’s vision.  The Project 
Executive is a shared role between the Head of Culture, Sport and 
Tourism and the Head of Corporate Property and Land. 

14 The main responsibilities are to: 

(a) provide direction to the Programme Manager and the Strategic 
oversight group; 

(b) make delegated decisions on behalf of the Sponsor where 
appropriate; 

(c) ensure the anticipated outcomes and benefits remain the focus of 
the programme; 

(d) escalate any exceptions/issues to the Sponsor/Portfolio folder as 
necessary. 

Programme Manager 

15 The Programme Manager has responsibility for managing the 
programme, across all of the various workstream areas.  The 
Programme Manager must liaise with each of the workstream project 
managers to ensure the successful planning and management of the 
overall programme and that any interdependencies are recognised and 
managed.  The main responsibilities will be to: 

(a) produce a programme plan and support each workstream of the 
project to effectively plan and managed. This will include the 
appropriate programme and project management documentation 
including plans, risks and coordination across these; 

(b) identify all programme level risks derived from each workstream 
and ensure these are effectively managed by the relevant 
managers; 

(c) hold the programme documentation for programme scope and 
benefits realisation; 

(d) manage the programme across the governance arrangements 
and ensuring reporting and effective communications across the 

Page 47



 

programme governance structure as well as up and down the 
identified reporting lines; 

(e) manage dependencies across the programme of projects; 

(f) provide leadership across the programme in line with the direction 
of the strategic oversight group; 

(g) ensure effective communication across all workstream of the 
programme and into other Council department’s and 
stakeholders. 

Programme Assurance 

16 Programme assurance has the responsibility for advising the 
Programme Manager and Strategic Oversight Group in planning and 
project management across the overall programme. 

17 The main responsibilities will be to: 

(a) advise on the development of all appropriate programme 
management documentation including the programme plan, risk 
register and the co-ordination of communications in support of 
these documents; 

(b) liaise appropriately with the Workstream Leads, to ensure the 
projects within the programme are delivered on-time and within 
budget and highlight interdependencies where identified as a 
barrier; 

(c) provide independent constructive challenge to service specific 
documentation in order to represent the user; 

(d) ensure that there is complete and transparent communication 
between all relevant teams at the Council; 

(e) act as Project Assurance on behalf of the Strategic Oversight 
Group for workstreams which are causing concern. 

Workstream Project Managers 

18 The Workstream Project Managers are responsible for the successful 
management and delivery of an assigned element of the programme.   

19 Workstream Project Managers are: 

(a) Design & Build – Sarah Shaw 

(b) Operational Delivery – Su Lewis 

Page 48



 

(c) Health Impact Group – Chris Woodcock 

(d) Communications and Engagement – Abbie McQuillan 

(e) Low Carbon – Stephen McDonald 

20 The main responsibilities are to: 

(a) plan for delivery in line with the programme plan; 

(b) produce 4 weekly highlight reports for the Strategic Oversight 
Group; 

(c) chair meetings of the workstream as appropriate, on at least a 4 
weekly basis; 

(d) co-ordinate and manage the workstream members to deliver the 
intended outcomes and highlight to the Strategic Oversight Group 
where additional resources are required; 

(e) ensure that any risks or issues are identified with possible 
solutions identified. 

Workstream Members 

21 Team members are responsible for the delivery of their element of the 
project including: 

(a) ensuring representative views and needs from different areas are 
accounted for; 

(b) developing information to feed into consultations, HIA’s/ EIA’s or 
any other appropriate assessments; 

(c) Completing tasks as identified by the workstream project 
managers. 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 3: Equalities Impact Assessment: Site Selection 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the keyways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 

 

Regeneration Economy and Growth; 

Culture, Sport & Tourism 

Corporate Property & Land 

 

Lead Officer 

 

Ben Kelsey 

Title 

 

Leisure Centre Transformation  

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 

 

10 February 2021 

Start Date 

 

January 2020 

Review Date 

 

January 2021 

Review Date April 2021 

Page 51



 

 

Review Date June 2021 

 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as 
appropriate (a copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

 

 

The Proposal is the transformation of Durham county council leisure centres, 
including the new build replacement of facilities in Chester-le-Street, Seaham and 
Bishop Auckland. 

 

The project will modernise the existing leisure stock addressing building condition 
issues and updating the activity programmes with new activities and revised 
programmes. 

 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, 
specific clients/service users): 

 

Durham County residents 

Durham County Council members and officers 

Service users (current and future) 

Schools and colleges 

Special interest groups 

Clubs and other organisations (particularly those who hire current facilities) 

AAPs 

 

 

Page 52



 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 

 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Age 

 

? Y 

Disability 

 

? Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  

(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 

 

? Y 

Race (ethnicity) 

 

? Y 

Religion or Belief 

 

N Y 

Sex (gender) 

 

? Y 

Sexual orientation 

 

N Y 

Transgender 

 

N Y 

 

Page 53



 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record 
full details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

In most cases the leisure venues are being improved or in some cases new 
facilities being built as well as taking the opportunity to address some building 
condition issues, this will likely improve the overall ability of the leisure services to 
provide access and cater for all groups. 

 

Given that the leisure centre location may change, there is the possibility that 
young people who cannot drive independently may suffer if the chosen location is 
less accessible by pedestrian routes and/or public transport. There is also an issue 
that older people and/or those with disabilities may find access more difficult if the 
location changes and travel distances from bus stops / the quality of public 
transport services or the topography of routes from bus stops to the venues is less 
easily travelled. However, people closer to a new site location may find any newly 
located provision more convenient than previously. 

 

There will be a negative impact during construction phase due to a temporary 
withdrawal / disruption of services. This potentially impacts all users but could 
have a disproportionate negative affect for younger and disabled people. 

 

The land adjacent to the football club at Tindale Crescent, Bishop Auckland is 
currently used as a temporary stop over site for Gypsy, Roma, and Travellers 
(GRT) during the month of May. Any leisure centre development in this location 
would mean that another GRT site location would have to be identified. 

 

 

Please also note appendix 1 site equalities impact overview 

 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

Page 54



 

Enhanced leisure provision via the new build of three leisure centres is positive to 
all. New builds will meet higher accessibility standards which is positive for 
disabled people. This is also likely to be particularly beneficial in terms of age 
(younger and young working age families) as well as disability where there are 
more barriers (cost/choice/access) to using alternative leisure provision in the 
private sector for these groups. As a public provider of leisure services, provision 
can be tailored to meet the needs of particular groups and this is potentially 
beneficial in terms of age, disability, sex and religious belief.   

 

Consultation and engagement will ensure that all residents of Durham can feed 
into the proposals. This includes consultation on the site selection to gather 
feedback on the impacts of each proposed site location from different groups. 
Where relevant, specific groups such as Disability Partnership, will be included. 
This impact assessment has been updated in the evidence section below and in 
section two with relevant customer data and consultation analysis.  

 

 

 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  

Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight 
any gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. 
Record greater detail and analysis in the following section of this 
assessment. 

 

Please note appendix 1 site equalities impact overview 

 

Baseline data on current leisure centre users 

Roughly 3% of our customers are aged between 75 – 96 and 12% are aged 
between 8 – 15 and might reasonably expect to attend services without an adult. 
Although we don’t collect information on member accounts regarding disability 
status, from surveys and other data we have collected, we can estimate that we 
have circa 10% of our members who identify as having a disability. 

 

Page 55



 

Age profile breakdown: 

Age group Number  Percentage 

0-15 7418 22% 

16-24 5225 16% 

25-34 5193 16% 

35-44 4438 14% 

45-54 4131 13% 

55+ 5751 17% 

Undisclosed 562 2% 

Total 32718 100% 

 

 

Technical work has been completed around planning, highways, access, 
transport and a range of other metrics from a range of sources to enable the site 
selection to be fully informed. The technical appraisal includes consultation with 
building control and initial planning pre-applications to ensure each site 
assessment is fully sited on all key notes and considerations.  

 

Consultation feedback Summary 

• There were 2559 respondents to the consultation and engagement surveys, 
709 responses to the consultation regarding site selection and 1850 on the 
engagement covering facility and activity mix. 

• There was an even distribution from both male and female respondents 
across both surveys 

• Although there were responses across all age groups, there was a lower 
response rate from those aged between 0-15 and those aged 75+. 

• 12% of respondents identified as having a disability 

• Swimming came through strongly as a key activity for families and 
especially for disabled customers as a means of physical activity which is 
accessible and less intensive. All three of the new leisure facilities will 
include pool provision and associated access considerations such as 
appropriate changing provision and suitable aids such as poolside hoists 
will be appropriately addressed. 

• Public transport came out very low in the surveys with a very small 
percentage of customers using public transport. However, there was 
anecdotal evidence within the qualitative responses which indicated 

Page 56



 

residents are particularly aware of the need for public transport provision. 
The Tindale site at Bishop Auckland and the Riverside site in Chester-le-
street came across very strongly with public transport and accessibility 
concerns. 

 

Next steps 

• Dedicated consultation with groups representing protected characteristics 
will ensure the project is reviewed by a cross section of key user groups. 
Focussed sessions with Disability Partnership, and a special focus around 
young people and families should ensure that these groups are well 
considered, despite the lower response from these areas in the wider 
consultation and engagement exercise. 

• Engagement through the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller SW Durham forum 
meetings 

• The proposed leisure centre sites are all being assessed against a range of 
metrics to ensure that the venues are built in the right places to ensure fair 
and equitable access. 

• Mainstream leisure activities, whilst still very important, do not necessarily 
ensure provision for the widest cross section of users, the proposals to 
include new activities will ensure broader coverage and increase 
opportunities for physical activity and health. 

• The current condition of the present facilities at Bishop Auckland, Chester-
le-Street and Seaham is poor, which can be discouraging to users. The 
buildings are not necessarily ideal for access by all, rebuilding these offers 
the opportunity to address this generally, but also in terms of the activities 
on offer and the access to them. 

• Building new facilities affords the opportunity to bring these up to date with 
new regulations and standards, for example to ensure changing places 
changing provision within the scope of works. 

 

Given the low level of response to the phase 1 consultation and engagement 
surveys from young people and those aged 75+ further focused work in these 
areas will be required. From the consultations it is clear the activity mix has a big 
family focus and although this came through strongly in consultation with other 
groups such as the area action partnership boards, this was not directly evident in 
the consultation findings.  

 

Therefore, as part of phase 2 consultation and onwards through the life of the 
project it is planned to deliver localised sites specific engagement as well as a 
range of focus groups with key area, especially focussing on the older generation, 
young people and families. 

 

Page 57



 

Once detailed designs are completed, this assessment will be revisited and 
specific reviews of accessibility to the new venues at the chosen locations and the 
new activities will be considered. 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 

 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 

 

Yes 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

 

 

N/A 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: B. Kelsey 

 

 

Date: November 2020 

Updated 10 December 
2020 

Service equality representative sign off: M. Gallagher 

Equality and Diversity Team Leader 

 

Date: November 2020 

Updated 10 December 
2020 

 

If carrying out a full assessment, please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 58

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions 
on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

Independent transport to the 
new facilities may be an 
issue, depending on location 
– particularly for younger 
customers. 

 

The quality and proximity of 
public transport routes / bus 
stops may be a limiting 
factor for older people. 

 

However, people closer to a 
new site location may find 
any newly located provision 
more convenient than 
previously. 

 

New leisure offer will be 
designed to meet the needs 
of users in both the physical 
building design and the 
range of services, activities 
on offer.  Upgraded facilities 
will result in more people 
accessing services which 
better meet their needs. 

 

Concerns noted in public 
consultation responses 
regarding the accessibility of 
sites via public transport 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New builds will meet higher 
accessibility standards which 
is positive. The concept of 
inclusive design considers 

 

Detailed 
exploration of 
transport 
infrastructure to 
identify this within 
the site appraisal 
as a key factor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ensure that all 
feedback captured 
is used within the 
development of 
designs once site 

Page 59



 

 

Ongoing engagement and 
future consultation 
opportunities will ensure 
feedback from the residents 
of Durham, covering all 
protected characteristics. 
Focussed sessions will be 
offered for younger and 
older age groups. 

 

There will be a negative 
impact during construction 
phase due to a temporary 
withdrawal of services. This 
impacts all users but could 
potentially have a 
disproportionate negative for 
younger/older people. 

 

 

how all groups of people use 
a building and future proofs a 
building aiming to ensure 
building design is as inclusive 
as possible.   

 

Although there were 
consultation responses 
across all age groups, there 
was a lower response rate 
from those aged between 0-
15 and those aged 75+. 

 

selection has been 
confirmed. 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

The quality and proximity of 
public transport routes / bus 
stops may be a limiting 
factor for people with 
disabilities. 

 

 

However, people closer to a 
new site location may find 
any newly located provision 

 

Concerns noted in public 
consultation responses 
regarding the accessibility of 
sites via public transport. 

 

12% of respondents identified 
as having a disability 

 

 

 

Detailed 
exploration of 
transport 
infrastructure to 
identify this within 
the site appraisal. 

 

 

Programme in the 
completion of 
accessibility audits 

Page 60



 

more convenient than 
previously. 

 

 

 

 

New leisure offer will be 
designed to meet the needs 
of users in both the physical 
building design and the 
range of services, activities 
on offer.  Upgraded facilities 
will result in more people 
accessing services which 
better meet their needs. 

 

 

Ongoing engagement and 
future consultation 
opportunities will ensure 
feedback from the residents 
of Durham, covering all 
protected characteristics. 
Focussed sessions via 
Disability Partnership will 
allow for specific 
consultation with disability 
groups.  

 

 

There will be a negative 
impact during construction 
phase due to a temporary 
withdrawal of services. This 
impacts all users but could 
potentially have a 
disproportionate negative for 
disabled people. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New builds will meet higher 
accessibility standards which 
is positive. E.g. As part of Part 
M building reg, it is now 
compulsory to include a 
changing place facility. 

 

The concept of inclusive 
design considers how all 
groups of people use a 
building and future proofs a 
building aiming to ensure 
building design is as inclusive 
as possible.   

Good practice design 
guidelines will be followed 
where possible e.g. Sport 
England and Swim England. 

 

 

 

 

 

as design work 
progresses. 

 

 

 

Ensure that all 
feedback captured 
is used within the 
development of 
designs once site 
selection has been 
confirmed. 

 

Specific 
engagement with 
Disability 
Partnership. 

Page 61



 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

No specific comments were 
raised during the consultation. 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The site adjacent to Bishop 
Auckland Football club 
(Tindale Crescent) is 
currently used as a 
temporary Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller stop over 
location during May. Should 
the new Leisure Centre be 
built in this location, an 
alternate stop over site 
would need to be identified. 

 

Initial consideration has taken 
place through the councils 
GRT meetings and options for 
alternate site locations are to 
be identified.  

Should the Tindale 
site be used as a 
new build location, 
alternate suitable 
GRT temporary 
site options to be 
identified via 
engagement with 
SW Durham forum. 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

Page 62



 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 No specific comments were 
raised during the consultation. 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

There was an even 
distribution from both male 
and female respondents 
across both surveys. 

 

No gender specific comments 
were raised during the 
consultation. 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

No specific comments were 
raised during the consultation. 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Page 63



 

 

 

No specific comments were 
raised during the consultation. 

 

 

 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, 
both positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 

 

Positive. 

• Improvements to the physical environment which will improve general 
access to the leisure centres and activities / services. 

• The concept of inclusive design considers how all groups of people use a 
building and future proofs a building aiming to ensure building design is as 
inclusive as possible.  Part M building reg will ensure a building meets 
minimum access standards such as inclusion of a changing place. Good 
practice design guidelines will be followed where possible e.g. Sport 
England and Swim England, to ensure enhanced accessibility. 

• New builds will allow the chance to re-shape the activity / facility mix in a 
way that is less practical when refurbishing existing sites. Therefore, 
allowing greater flexibility to the range of services on offer. 

• Accessibility audits, particularly for new build facilities will ensure the 
designs maximise the opportunity to promote accessibility. 

 

Negative. 

• Potential that location and its proximity to public transport infrastructure may 
limit accessibility for some (age and disability), although it could improve for 
others 

• There will be a negative impact during construction phase due to a 
temporary withdrawal of services. This potentially impacts all users but 
could have a disproportionate negative for younger and disabled people. 

• Loss of current GRT temporary stop over site at Tindale Crescent if that 
location is chosen. Resulting in an alternate location being required. 

 

 

Page 64



 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so 
how? 

 

• The consultation and engagement will provide opportunities for feedback by 
all residents. 

• The formation of key focus groups will allow the sharing of feedback and 
input from a wide range of special interest areas. 

• As work progresses there will be the chance to deliver walk-rounds and on-
site sessions with key focus groups, which in itself is a chance to bring 
people into facilities and promote access and inclusion. 
 
 

 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action 
appear? 

Detailed exploration of 
public transport 
infrastructure to support 
site appraisal. 

 

B. Kelsey December 2021 The leisure 
transformation 
programme plan. 

Accessibility input into 
the designs for the new 
builds 

S. Shaw January 2021 – 
July 2021 

The leisure 
transformation 
programme plan. 

 

Phase 1 of consultation 
and engagement 

 

A. McQuillan December 2021 The leisure 
transformation 
programme plan. 

 

Phase 2 consultation and 
engagement 

 

A. McQuillan Summer 2021 The leisure 
transformation 
programme plan. 

 

Page 65



 

Engagement with GRT 
meetings to identify 
potentially suitable 
alternate locations for the 
temporary stop over site 
at Tindale Crescent. (if 
this site is chosen) 

S. Shaw Feb 21 and as 
required 
thereafter 

The leisure 
transformation 
programme plan. 

 

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 

N 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 

Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

January 2021 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: B. Kelsey 

 

 

Date: 10.02.21 

Service equality representative sign off: M. Gallagher 

 

 

Date: 10.02.21 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 66

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 – Site Equalities Impact Overview 

The below table identifies what, if any, negative impacts there may be on any protected characteristics. 

Site Age Disability Marriage & 

 civil 
partnership 

Pregnancy 
&  

Maternity 

Race 
(ethnicity) 

Religion 
or  

Belief  

Sex 
(gender) 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Transgender 

Bishop 
Auckland: 
Existing Site 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

Bishop 
Auckland: 
College site 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

Bishop 
Auckland 
Tindale Site 

 

Y Y N N Y N N N N 

Chester-le-
Street: 
Existing site 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

P
age 67



 

Chester-le-
Street: Civic 
site 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

Chester-le-
Street: 
Riverside 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

Seaham: 
Existing site 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

Seaham: 
Dock Top 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

Seaham: St 
John’s 

 

Y Y N N N N N N N 

P
age 68



 

Appendix 1 – Site Equalities Impact Overview – Cont’d 

Age 

Different age groups may be impacted both positively and negatively due to site 

location and we will support equitable access through the pedestrian and public 

transport infrastructure as well as key considerations such as sustainable travel 

plans and encouraging active travel. It will also be important that programming for 

activities in the next stage of work following site selection is considerate of travel 

implications to mitigate any adverse impact for younger and older groups. Through 

improvement to the built facility as well as to travel opportunities generally, there is 

likely to also be many positives. 

 

Disability 

Like Age, access to the sites and consideration of all methods of transport 

infrastructure will be a key consideration. However, the improved accessibility of the 

new facilities themselves will also be a real positive. Although the location may have 

some negative impacts for some, the new facilities will be a positive for accessibility 

in that they can be built to ensure good access and comply with the required current 

standards. 

 

Race 

The only site where Race would be affected, would be the site adjacent to the 

football club, at Tindale Crescent in Bishop Auckland. The site is currently used as a 

Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller temporary stop over location and an alternate site would 

need to be found if the leisure centre was to be built on the Tindale location. 

 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 4: Health Impact Assessment 

 

Executive Summary 

Aim of the Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 

The aim of the HIA was to identify and assess both positive and negative 

health impacts of the proposed sites for a new leisure centre in Seaham, 

Bishop Auckland, and Chester le Street. 

Outcome of HIA  

To provide SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, time bound) 

recommendations based on HIA findings, where positive health impacts can 

be enhanced and the negative health impacts minimised, applicable to leisure 

centre site selection. 

Introduction 

In 2018, Durham County Council (DCC) undertook a review of its leisure 

centre provision with a view to transforming the offer, within the wider context 

of the existing physical activity infrastructure embedded in local communities.  

Five approaches to improvement were put forward, one of which included the 

replacement of leisure centre facilities at Bishop Auckland, Chester-Le-Street, 

and Seaham. 

The development of a new leisure centre will have a long-term legacy for an 

area and will offer potential health benefits for a variety of user groups. 

It was agreed that a HIA would be undertaken on each of the proposed new 

locations, to determine the maximum health gain opportunities and to ensure 

the transformed leisure offer would add value to the wider physical activity 

infrastructure. In total there were nine sites to consider across the three 

geographical locations. 

Health Impact Assessment 

A HIA assesses the overall direct and indirect effects of a policy, plan, or 

project (in this case the building of a leisure centre) on the health of a 

population.  It is a structured, solution-focused and action orientated approach 

to maximising the positive and minimising the negative impacts of new 

initiatives.  

Page 71



 

To help carry out the HIA process a multi-disciplinary steering group was 

formed. This group had membership from Spatial Policy, Culture Sport and 

Tourism, Public Health, Public Health Intelligence and Area Action 

Partnerships (AAP’s). 

A HIA is a six-step process involving the following stages: 

1. Screening - Determine whether a HIA is appropriate and required 

2. Scoping- Sets out the parameters of the HIA 

3. Identification- Collect data to develop a community/population profile 

and collect information to identify potential health impacts of the 

proposal 

4. Assessment- Critically assess the information collected during the 

identification stage in order to help prioritise health impacts 

5. Recommendations- Develop a set of SMART recommendations to 

enhance positive impacts and mitigate negative impacts. 

6. Evaluation and Monitoring- Evaluate the processes involved in the 

HIA and its impact, and follow up the HIA through monitoring a health 

impacts and relevant management plans 

Following screening, it was clear that all three proposed new sites will 

potentially have an impact on the health of local residents in these locations . 

It was concluded to move forward onto the scoping stage of the HIA process. 

During scoping, for each proposed development, the steering group discussed 

the policy implications and health outcomes, and these were prioritised into 

broad health impacts.  

In the identification stage, information was triangulated to help develop a 

better understanding of the local population using evidence, public feedback, 

and local health profiles. This information was used in the assessment stage, 

to critically assess the information collected during the identification stage in 

order to help prioritise health impacts. 

This executive summary highlights the recommendations detailed in the main 

HIA report, on how to mitigate identified negative health impacts and enhance 

the positive health impacts of developing a new leisure centre in three 

locations across County Durham. 

Recommendations 

A key outcome of the assessment stage was to develop a set of appropriate 

SMART recommendations for acting upon the findings of the assessment for 

each location and proposed site. For all three geographical locations and 

identified sites, a number of common themes were identified and applicable to 

each site. These consisted of both potential negative and positive impacts. 

Page 72



 

The common themes identified are : 

• Ensuring disruption to service users accessing leisure centre facilities, 

during the construction phase of redeveloping an existing site, is 

minimised.  

• Minimising the impact of noise and air pollution due to construction. 

• Increasing use of active travel for leisure centre users and reducing 

road congestion. 

• Ensure positive change of an appearance of an area as a result of the 

new development. 

• An increase in physical activity due to the location of the site. 

A number of SMART recommendations were suggested for each site in each 

geographical location, based on the health impacts identified by the steering 

group to help mitigate any negative risks to health and enhance any positive 

impacts. These recommendations are presented in the table below. A number 

of overall  key recommendations to be considered were put forward by the 

steering group . These can be found in appendix 7 of the report: 

Page 73



 

Chester le Street 

Existing Site Civic Centre Riverside Park 

Impact- Limited or no availability to facilities: 
Ensure that the current site continues to offer 
access to existing or alternative facilities to allow 
residents to be physically active whilst the new 
site is under construction. 

 

Impact- Noise and air quality impact due to 
construction : No construction including 
demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: 
Consider the outcome of the public consultation to 
determine which sites are likely to increase usage 
and the associate health benefits such as 
improved physical health, mental health, and 
social value. 

95% of respondents indicate that they would use 
the existing site more or the same to remain 
physically active.  

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: To 
maximise health impact consider how active travel 
can increase connectivity and be encouraged to 
enable leisure centre users and residents to use 

Impact- Noise and air quality impact due to 
construction : No construction including 
demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: 
Consider the outcome of the public 
consultation to determine which sites are likely 
to increase usage and the associate health 
benefits such as improved physical health, 
mental health, and social value. 

95% would use the existing site more or the 
same.  For Chester le Street, 93% of 
respondents stated that  they would use the 
civic centre more and 90% stating both sites 
would help them to remain physically active.   

 

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: To 
maximise health impact, consider how active 
travel can increase connectivity and be 
encouraged to enable leisure centre users and 
residents to use this form of transport to avoid 
increased car use, parking issues including 
congestion and pollution. 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: To ensure 
equitable access to the leisure centre links should be 
made to the DCC poverty action steering group to help 
make leisure centres across County Durham more 
accessible to people living in poverty.  This will help to 
engage with communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure 
centre. Ensure that the site selected enables equitable 
access ensuring that those of greatest health need and 
underrepresented of the community are supported to 
access the centre.   

 

Impact- Loss of Green Space: Enhance green 
infrastructure elsewhere, such as the existing site and this 
should be in line with open space needs assessment. 

 

Explore possible links to projects such as the DCC clean 
and green team planting trees across the county as part of 
the wider Forestry Commission's Urban Tree Challenge, a 
funded project to increase tree coverage in urban areas. 

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: To maximise 
health impact consider how active travel can increase 
connectivity and be encouraged to enable leisure centre 
users and residents to use this form of transport to avoid 
increased car use, parking issues including congestion 
and pollution. 

 

P
age 74



 

this form of transport to avoid increased car use, 
parking issues including congestion and pollution. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior 
to its opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly 
basis with relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should be 
designed in line with the Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Design Training delivered to DCC 
staff in December 2020. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan 
prior to its opening and to be reviewed on a 6-
monthly basis with relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should be 
designed in line with the Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020. 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with 
relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should be designed in 
line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design 
Training delivered to DCC staff in December 2020. 

 

 

 

Bishop Auckland 

Existing Site Bishop Auckland Football Club Bishop Auckland College 

Impact- Limited or no availability to facilities: 
Ensure that the current site continues to offer 
access to existing or alternative facilities to allow 
residents to be physically active whilst the new 
site is under construction. 

 

 

Impact- Noise and air quality impact due to 
construction : No construction including 
demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: 
To maximise health impact consider how 
active travel can increase connectivity and 
be encouraged to enable leisure centre 
users and residents to use this form of 
transport to avoid increased car use, 
parking issues including congestion and 
pollution. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel 
plan prior to its opening and to be reviewed 
on a 6-monthly basis with relevant DCC 
colleagues. 

 

Impact- Noise and air quality impact due to construction 
: No construction including demolition works shall take place 
until a Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

 

Impact- Change in appearance of an area: It is 
recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure 
transformation team commence a period of engagement 
work with communities, during the planning phase, to 
consider appearance of the new centre and how it can 
maximise positive improvements for the appearance of the 
local area. 

 

P
age 75



 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: 
Consider the outcome of the public consultation to 
determine which sites are likely to increase usage 
and the associate health benefits such as 
improved physical health, mental health, and 
social value. 90% of respondents stated that they 
would use the existing site the same amount or 
more with 86% stating it would help them remain 
physically active.  

 

Change in Socialisation/ Community 
Cohesion: 

There was concern that the loss of provision at 
the existing Bishop Auckland site would result in 
the loss of a community hub and negatively 
impact social cohesion if the site is moved 
elsewhere. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Design Training 
delivered to DCC staff in December 2020. 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity 
levels: To ensure equitable access to the 
leisure centre links should be made to the 
DCC poverty action steering group to help 
poverty proof leisure centres across County 
Durham.  This will help to engage with 
communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and 
attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site 
selected enables  equitable access 
ensuring that those of greatest health need 
and underrepresented of the community are 
supported to access the centre.   

 

Impact -Exposure to unhealthy foods: 
consideration could be given to healthy 
advertising policy in the area to restrict 
access and advertising of products high in 
fat, sugar, and salt. This could link to the 
standards in the DCC marketing and 
advertising policy. 

 

Impact- Change in appearance of an 
area: It is recommended that once a site is 
selected, the leisure transformation team 
commence a period of engagement work 
with communities, during the planning 
phase, to consider appearance of the new 
centre and how it can maximise positive 

Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, 
through the Design Review process, to ensure conformity 
with the policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and 
develop a high-quality design. 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: To ensure 
equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made 
to the DCC poverty action group to help make leisure centres 
across County Durham more accessible to people living in 
poverty.  This will help to engage with communities and 
groups that are less likely to be engaged in physical activity 
and attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site selected 
ensures equitable access ensuring that those of greatest 
health need and underrepresented of the community are 
supported to access the centre.   

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: To maximise 
health impact consider how active travel can increase 
connectivity and be encouraged to enable leisure centre 
users and residents to use this form of transport to avoid 
increased car use, parking issues including congestion and 
pollution. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with 
relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should be designed in line 
with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training 
delivered to DCC staff in December 2020. 

P
age 76



 

improvements for the appearance of the 
local area. 

 

Ensure early engagement with the Local 
Planning Authority, through the Design 
Review process, to ensure conformity with 
the policy requirements of the County 
Durham Plan and develop a high-quality 
design. 

 

Impact- Change in Accessibility: Links to 
borrow a bike scheme  to encourage more 
people to residents to attend from 
surrounding areas, such as Shildon.  This 
could  be supported by an ongoing 
communications and marketing campaign. 

 

 

 

Impact- Loss of Green Space: Enhance green 
infrastructure elsewhere, and this should be in line with the 
open space needs assessment. 

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: To maximise 
health impact consider how active travel can increase 
connectivity and be encouraged to enable leisure centre 
users and residents to use this form of transport to avoid 
increased car use, parking issues including congestion and 
pollution. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with 
relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should be designed in line 
with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training 
delivered to DCC staff in December 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 77



 

 

Seaham Leisure Centre 

Existing Site Dock Top St Johns Square 

Impact- Limited or no availability to facilities: 
Ensure that the current site continues to offer 
access to existing or alternative facilities to allow 
residents to be physically active whilst the new 
site is under construction. 

 

 

Impact- Noise and air quality impact due to 
construction : No construction including 
demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: 
Consider the outcome of the public consultation to 
determine which sites are likely to increase usage 
and the associate health benefits such as 
improved physical health, mental health, and 
social value. 93% of respondents indicated that 
they would use the centre more or the same with 
86% stating that it would help them to remain 
physically active 

 

Impact- Change in community cohesion: 
Improve community cohesion and preventing 

Impact- Change in appearance of an 
area: It is recommended that once a site is 
selected, the leisure transformation team 
commence a period of engagement work 
with communities, during the planning 
phase, to consider appearance of the new 
centre and how it can maximise positive 
improvements for the appearance of the 
local area. 

 

Ensure early engagement with the Local 
Planning Authority, through the Design 
Review process, to ensure conformity with 
the policy requirements of the County 
Durham Plan and develop a high-quality 
design. 

 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: 
To maximise health impact consider how 
active travel can increase connectivity and 
be encouraged to enable leisure centre 
users and residents to use this form of 
transport to avoid increased car use, 
parking issues including congestion and 
pollution. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel 
plan prior to its opening and to be reviewed 

Impact- Increased Traffic / Active Travel: To maximise 
health impact consider how active travel can increase 
connectivity and be encouraged to enable leisure centre 
users and residents to use this form of transport to avoid 
increased car use, parking issues including congestion and 
pollution. 

 

Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with 
relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should be designed in line 
with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training 
delivered to DCC staff in December 2020. 

 

Impact- Change in appearance of an area: It is 
recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure 
transformation team commence a period of engagement 
work with communities, during the planning phase, to 
consider appearance of the new centre and how it can 
maximise positive improvements for the appearance of the 
local area. 

 

Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, 
through the Design Review process, to ensure conformity 

P
age 78



 

social isolation with the development of a new 
leisure centre in the hub of community.   

 

on a 6-monthly basis with relevant DCC 
colleagues. 

 

Walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Design Training 
delivered to DCC staff in December 2020. 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity 
levels: To ensure equitable access to the 
leisure centre links should be made to the 
DCC poverty action steering group to help 
poverty proof leisure centres across County 
Durham.  This will help to engage with 
communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and 
attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site 
selected enables equitable access ensuring 
that those of greatest health need and 
underrepresented of the community are 
supported to access the centre.   

 

 

Impact- Noise and air quality impact due 
to construction : No construction including 
demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. 

 

with the policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and 
develop a high-quality design. 

 

 

Impact- Change in physical activity levels: To ensure 
equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made 
to the DCC poverty action steering group to help make 
leisure centres across County Durham more accessible to 
people living in poverty.  This will help to engage with 
communities and groups that are less likely to be engaged in 
physical activity and attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the 
site selected enables equitable access ensuring that those of 
greatest health need and underrepresented of the community 
are supported to access the centre.   

 

P
age 79



 

 

P
age 80



 

 

Next Steps 

It is advised that the recommendations outlined in this report are considered, 

acted upon, and monitored to assess the implementation and impact of the 

recommendations.  

Conclusion 
 
The HIA process has allowed the steering group to assess the health impacts 
of the different site locations for the proposed leisure centre developments.  
This will enable health considerations to be integrated into decision making, in 
line with the proposed recommendations, when selecting a site. The HIA 
process and recommendations will ensure that the health of the immediate 
communities is supported and enhanced, all of which support the County 
Vision of the people of County Durham living long independent lives, 
connected communities and more and better jobs. 

  

Page 81



 

 

Health Impact Assessment of Leisure Centre Transformation Site 
Selection 

 

Introduction 

The County Durham Vision 2035 contains three strategic ambitions to develop 
County Durham over the next 15 years: 

• more and better jobs 

• people live long and independent lives 

• connected communities  

Leisure Centre Transformation 

In 2018, Durham County Council (DCC) undertook a review of its leisure 
centre provision with a view to transforming the offer within the wider context 
of the existing physical activity infrastructure embedded in local communities. 
The transformation will work towards creating a healthier population, providing 
a higher quality offer for residents and be more cost effective in its delivery 
through increased footfall and better meeting the needs of families in County 
Durham. 

The work to date has identified the opportunity to maximise health gain and 
through a return on investment approach how to be more cost effective in 
delivery. Two core areas to focus on were identified: 

(a) introducing a range of new activities as well as building on existing 
ones to meet the diverse needs of families, across the life course, 
thus ensuring there is universal access for all as well as offering 
more targeted opportunities for the harder to reach segments of the 
population. 

(b)  raising service standard and quality across the offer to maintain use 
for existing service users and significantly increase new service use. 

Five approaches to improvement were put forward which included the 
replacement of Leisure Centres facilities at three current sites: 

•  Bishop Auckland ( Woodhouse Close) 

•  Chester-le-Street 

•  Seaham 

The five approaches to Leisure Centre Transformation can be found in 
appendix 1. 

It was proposed that the current layout, condition, and location of these 
centres requires consideration regarding the replacement of these facilities to 
maximise health and wellbeing benefits for the population of County Durham 
and the economic vibrancy of the leisure offer. 

Page 82



 

 

In support of this, it was agreed that a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) would 
be undertaken on the proposed new locations to determine the maximum 
health gain opportunities and to ensure the transformed leisure offer would be 
seen as adding value to the wider physical activity infrastructure and support 
the health of communities.   This is the first of two HIA’s which will be carried 
out as part of the leisure centre transformation programme. 

The sites: 

For each of the three geographical locations the proposed sites were put 
forward: 

Bishop Auckland 

 

• Option 1 - Existing site. DL14 6JX 

• Option 2 - Land adjacent to Bishop Auckland football Club (Tindale). 
SL14 9AE 

• Option 3 - Bishop Auckland College site. DL14 6JZ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



 

 

 

 

Chester le Street 

 

• Option 1 - Existing site. DH3 3QH 

• Option 2 - Civic site (site of the former civic centre), DH3 3UR 

• Option 3 - Riverside site (adjacent to Riverside Park). DH3 3SH 

 

Seaham 

 

• Option 1 - Existing site. SR7 8NP 

Page 84



 

 

• Option 2 - The Dock top. SR7 7EU 

• Option 3 - St John's Square. SR7 7JE 

 

What is a Health Impact Assessment? 

An individual’s health is influenced not only by health policies and strategies 
but is also largely dependent on factors outside the control of the healthcare 
sector. The wider determinants of health ,such as transport, housing, 
education, access to fresh food, social regeneration, education, leisure 
provision, and economic activity all have a significant impact on an individual’s 
health and wellbeing. 

A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a structured, solution-focused and 
action orientated approach to maximising the positive and minimising the 
negative impacts of new initiatives. This approach is not about supporting the 
removal of a policy or project but more about how positive additions or 
recommendations to the existing polices or projects could help deliver 
improved health outcomes to residents of communities. The selection of a 
policy for the HIA is not a reflection on its quality, but the opportunities it 
presents to further enhance the positive impacts upon communities and 
residents. It aims to reduce or eliminate health inequalities as well as  health 
and social inequities happening as part of a proposal.  

Assessing the health impacts of different policies and projects can further 
enhance the collaborations between health and relevant partners which 
subsequently helps to ensure that health considerations are integrated into the 
leisure centre transformation programme going forward.  

Health impacts are the overall effect, direct or indirect, of a policy on the 
health of population. An example of direct effects could be exposure to noise 
or pollutants, which may release in the air or water. It also considers indirect 
influence on health such as access to green space. 

A HIA considers the impact directly upon disease and also considers the 
social determinants of health which impact our residents, unequally, across 
County Durham. By considering these social determinants, a HIA can support 
the development of healthy public policy or in this case support leisure centre 
transformation across County Durham. 

A HIA is an established approach with a strong evidence base of positive 
outcomes in policy development. Recent local high-profile examples include 
the HIA for the County Durham Plan  and the recently completed HIA  for 
health inequalities during Covid-19 across County Durham. 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 

 

Aim of the HIA 

To identify and assess both positive and negative health impacts of the 3 
proposed sites for a new leisure centre in Seaham, Bishop Auckland, and 
Chester le Street. 

 

Context of the Health Impact Assessment 

Evidence shows that physical activity is good for physical and mental health 
through the life course as shown in the diagram below. For example, evidence 
demonstrates that physical activity lowers the risk of developing many long-
term conditions, such as heart disease, type 2 diabetes, stroke, and some 
cancers.  Physical activity can also help improve learning attainment, boost 
self-esteem, mood, sleep quality and energy, as well as reducing your risk of 
stress, depression, dementia, and Alzheimer's disease.   

 

Figure 1:Reduced health risks associated with physical activity 

Across County Durham not enough of our residents are taking part in physical 
activity that supports physical and mental health and wellbeing.  For example, 
only 58.1% of adults, aged between 18-64 years, achieve the recommended 
physical activity guidelines of an average of achieving 150 minutes within a 
week as set out by the Chief Medical officer. Therefore over 40% of adults are 
not doing enough physical activity to maximise health benefits.  However,  
there are opportunities  to address physical inactivity for all to help, maximise 
the individual, health , social, wellbeing and wider benefits of taking part in 
physical activity. 

Page 86



 

 

 

The Health Impact Assessment Process 

To help carry out the HIA  process a multi-disciplinary steering group was 
formed. This group had membership from Spatial Policy, Culture Sport and 
Tourism, Public Health, and Public Health Intelligence and the AAP’s. The 
terms of reference are included in appendix 2. 

The group members were responsible for the delivery of the HIA of the 
Leisure transformation programme site selection for County Durham across 
the three geographical locations which worked to improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes for residents.  

The purpose of the group was to plan and deliver agreed actions to ensure 
that the six steps of the HIA  on the leisure transformation programme were 
completed comprehensively and in a timely fashion. The following set of 
principles were followed: 

• A holistic definition of health and wellbeing is adopted (physical and 
mental health)  

• Ensure preventing ill-health (primary prevention) and creating 
conditions for good health is given a priority.  

• Aim to develop positive working relationships across service 
groupings and support the development of HIA skills amongst 
members 

• Ensure meaningful engagement and participation of our communities 

• Promoting HIA as a product to add value to other key policies and 
plans in the future 

A HIA is a six-step process involving the following stages: 

1. Screening 

2. Scoping 

3. Identification 

4. Assessment 

5. Decision Making and Recommendations 

6. Evaluation and Follow Up 

 

Screening 

The first stage of a HIA is screening. This determines whether a HIA is 
required so that resources, time, and effort are targeted appropriately. The 
task and finish group completed a two-stage screening exercise. Screening of 
the proposals involves a consideration of whether a proposal will have a direct 

Page 87



 

 

impact on the health or via wider determinant of health including social 
conditions and community cohesion. 

All three  venues were screened using a rapid screen using a screening tool 
on each of the geographical locations and proposed sites. They were 
assessed against possible impacts upon the social determinants of health and 
impact upon health equity, based on the detail provided for each centre 
proposal.  

The second step covered a more detailed screen of the leisure centre 
transformation proposals. This screening step allowed for a more detailed 
evaluation which covered issues around size and scale of the initiative, overall 
possible impact, impact upon the community, priority within the organisation, 
nature of the evidence base and potential to make recommendations 
associated with the proposals for each centre.  

Appendix 3 provides an example of the screening tool used by the steering 
group. 

Screening took place for all three geographical locations and the three 
proposed new build sites.  Where possible this screening took place in 
partnership with another member from the steering group.  

 

Screening Results 

Following screening, the three-leisure centre geographical locations( Chester 
le Street, Seaham, and Bishop Auckland) were identified to move forward onto 
the next stage of the HIA process. It was apparent that all three proposed  
sites will have an impact on the health of local residents in these sites.  
Following screening, it was agreed by the group that that all three new build 
locations and sites would be grouped together. Whilst their impact may be 
geographically specific, the evidence base from which the potential impacts 
would be identified and the possible recommendations, would be the same 
based on the proposals.   

Following screening, the next step  was to move onto the scoping of the 
proposed refurbishments and new centre builds and potential relocation.  

 

Scoping 

The scoping process begins to assess the policy in detail, specify the health 
impact to be assessed, develop the work plan to ensure delivery and identify 
the possible evidence required to help inform the recommendations. It 
involves planning and designing the HIA, including setting out the parameters. 
The scoping stage is very similar to creating a working hypothesis and 
requires critical thinking to consider the possible health impacts. For each 
proposed development at each centre, the steering group discussed the policy 
implications and health outcomes, and these were prioritised into broad health 

Page 88



 

 

impacts. These associations were mapped across the other identified health 
determinants and health outcomes for each centre. 

The key element of this stage was to identify which impacts will be assessed 
and setting the scope of the evidence to be gathered to help answer whether 
the proposals would have an impact on the health of the local population.  The 
health impacts chosen were influenced by the site proposal itself and also any 
gaps within the proposal that could have potential impacts on the health of 
local residents.  

There are generally four levels of a HIA, as shown in figure 2 below. A 
decision based on choosing the type of HIA to do is based resource, capacity, 
time, the scale of the proposal and size of potential impacts. Given the scale 
and potential impact of the proposals alongside the time and capacity, the 
steering group decided that a rapid HIA was the agreed approach to be taken. 

 

 

Figure 2: Indicative level of depth of an HIA ( Source: Health Impact 
Assessment: A Practical Guide, 2007.) 

 

For each site location, the steering group discussed the health  implications 
and health outcomes and these were prioritised into broad health impacts.  
These have been mapped across the other identified health determinants and 
health outcomes.  These outcomes have been mapped in a driver diagram, 
which can be found in appendix 4.  

Within the scoping of the sites in the three geographical areas ,several policy 
high level policy outcomes in which could be influenced by the development of 
a new leisure centre .  The three high level policy outcomes which the group 
decided would have a potential impact on health were change in the 
availability to a centre, change in local infrastructure and a change in physical 
activity.  As shown in appendix 4 , it was acknowledged by the steering group 
that it was possible to scope an impact on many health determinants as a 
result of a new centre being developed.  These included determinants such as 
change in community cohesion, change in active travel/  travel patterns, 

Page 89



 

 

change in environmental conditions e.g. air, noise, change in physical activity 
and change in the appearance of an area.  From this, the group hypothesised 
the potential health outcomes for individuals such as effect on long term 
conditions, mental health, obesity, social isolation, and health inequalities. 

From the scoping undertaken by the group a number of broad research 
questions were developed which could help to understand the health impact 
for each leisure centre site put forward. 

During scoping, no judgement was made about whether the impact is positive 
or negative, only that it is plausible that a change will occur as a result of the 
policy.  

 

Identification 

The next stage of the HIA was identification.  The purpose of this stage is to 
develop an understanding of the community and local population that are 
likely to be affected by the proposal.  Through the collection of information to 
identify the potential health impacts of building a leisure centre on each site. 

For the purposes of this HIA, to help get a greater understanding of the 
possible impact of the proposed site location, data was collected from three 
sources to help develop a better understanding of the local population.  These 
were. 

1. Collection of evidence from literature sources that would be useful to 
help answer the research questions identified during scoping. 

2. Using data to develop a health profile of the local communities where 
the new leisure centre sites were proposed. 

3. Public feedback- a public survey was conducted to help gather 
qualitative and quantitative feedback to gather feedback around the 
proposed site locations and the impacts. 

Through collection of this data, it would be used in combination to help answer 
the research questions through using the sources the sources of data to get a 
better of understanding of the impact of the proposals. 

For the purpose of this HIA, the steering group members were split into three 
groups, with each group concentrating on of the three components identified 
above. 

 

Evidence collection 

Multiple literature sources were reviewed by the group responsible for 
collecting written evidence. These secondary sources of information were 
collated from a range of sources including peer reviewed journal articles, 
national policy documents and previous other HIA or impact assessments. 
This has included searching literature reviews, umbrella reviews, systematic 

Page 90



 

 

reviews, and grey literature (these are reports or policy documents which 
contain relevant information but not found with peer reviewed academic 
literature).  

A number of searches were done to develop a collection of evidence to help 
answer the research questions based on the policy outcomes, health 
determinants and health outcomes outlined in the driver diagram (appendix 4). 
As shown within appendix 5, it is possible to see the extent of the evidence 
search and the evidence that was collated as part of this process. , This 
evidence would allow the steering group to judge the overall quality of the 
evidence in the next stage of the HIA process. 

 

Health Profile 

For each of the three geographical locations (Bishop Auckland, Seaham and 
Chester le Street) a health profile for the expected catchment area (MSOA 
area) was created by the public health intelligence team and covered key 
information surrounding demographics, health status, lifestyle indicators and 
some other key health determinants. The catchment area for of a leisure 
centre in each location was agreed between the steering group on the 
expected area.  To support this, for each area, a map was also created to 
show the location of current members in relation to the centres which included 
a predicted 10-minute walking time zone.  An example of a health profile, the 
member map and the population profile can be found within in appendix 6.   

 

Public Consultation 

A period of consultation took place between the 11th of November and the 6th 
of December 2020 to seek views and opinions of the public in regard to site 
selections in the three geographical locations.  Within this process, gathering 
information about the potential health benefits of participating in leisure activity 
took place. A survey, comprising of a number of qualitative and quantitative 
questions, was developed and available on the DCC website for members of 
the public to complete.  The survey covered factors such as accessibility, 
parking, location, visibility, and transport links.  It contained a number of 
questions which could help in gathering information for answering the health 
impacts linked to the scoping.   

From analysis of the survey a number of key themes were identified from the 
qualitative responses and were collated relevant to health determinants and 
outcomes identified in the scoping phase. This qualitative primary feedback 
also allowed for an assessment of the possible health impacts highlighted by 
the community themselves. Indeed, there were some health impacts identified 
such as the impact on air quality, safety linked to traffic congestion and the 
potential for reduced physical activity levels.   This qualitative information adds 
depth to the HIA as it represents community experience, knowledge and the 
perceptions of residents and stakeholders with more localised knowledge. 

Page 91



 

 

This may be especially important when assessing social factors which may be 
difficult to portray in a traditional health profile.  

During the identification process the scoping pathway documents were 
amended. This was to reflect the continual learning from the identification 
process to ensure that the remaining health impacts were those that 
resonated with the community, with the available evidence and with the health 
profile of County Durham. This triangulation process gave the HIA steering 
group confidence that given the rapid nature of the HIA, the most appropriate 
and relevant impacts were being assessed.  

 

Assessment 

The next stage of the HIA  was to critically assess the information collected 
during the identification stage in order to help prioritise health impacts and 
develop a set of initial recommendations to enhance the positive impacts and 
mitigate the negative impacts.  

This combination of data sources, from secondary data to create local 
catchment health profiles for each site location, the evidence, and the public 
consultation feedback, can be triangulated to allow for the assessment of the 
policies. An assessment meeting took place in December 2020. All members 
of the steering group attended to ensure key partners engaged in the process. 

The assessment meeting started by reintroducing the steering group to an 
overview of the Leisure Centre transformation project and the proposed sites,  
the determinants of health and the concept of health inequalities so that all 
participants agreed in the purpose. 

For the purposes of the assessment, the steering group was divided into three 
groups and each group focussed on one location and carried out an 
assessment for the three possible sites for that particular geographical 
location.  

An assessment matrix was developed for use within the session based on the 
following assessment criteria: 

• Site:- the site of development being reviewed as part of the Health 
Impact Assessment. 

• Heath determinants – the policy outcome which may impact upon an 
individual’s health status 

• Possible impacts – the consequence of the of the determinant (health 
outcome) 

• Source of information – a judgement on the literature source and 
quality (to be agreed on the day of assessment) 

o Weak 
o Medium 
o Strong 

 

Page 92



 

 

 

 

• Nature of impact –impacts can be both positive or negative or the 
nature of the impact maybe unclear 

o Positive 
o Negative 
o Unclear 

• Likelihood of impact – A judgement made on how likely the impact is 
to occur based on the evidence provided 

o None  
o Speculative -some chance of an impact, no official evidence  

however, the impact is still worth noting  
o Probable - likely or plausibly could impact upon the population’s 

health, some evidence to back this up  
o Definitive -clearly defined research and evidence showing the 

impact to be true or indisputable 
• Duration of impact – (approximate time that the health impact will 

continue to affect the community after the implementation of the 
proposal) 

o Short term = 1 (up to 1 year) 
o Medium term = 2 (between 1-3 years) 
o Long term = 3 (3 years and above)  

• Who is impacted – the population who is likely to be impacted by the 
policy outcome: 

o All residents 
o Children and Young People 
o Adults 
o Older Adults 
o Families 
o Immediate residents  
o Future residents 

• Magnitude of impact – size of impact dependent on the size of and 
risk to the local population 

o Large 
o Medium 
o Small 
o Negligible 

• Is it fair – consideration of equity and assessment of the  impacts on 
groups , communities and specific populations affected by the 
proposal? 

 

The full assessment matrix, which was developed during the assessment 
session and in subsequent meetings with the steering group, is shown below 
with a summary of the prioritised health impacts based on agreement by the 
group: 

Page 93



 

 

Bishop Auckland: 

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude 
of Impact Is it fair? 

1 BA College Local infrastructure 
Increased traffic - 
Noise/pollution Strong Negative Definitive 

medium 
term Local residents Medium Yes 

2 BA College PA activity levels 
Increase in physical 
activity levels Weak Positive Speculative 

Short 
term Current users Low  Yes 

3 BA College Options of physical activity 

Change in 
accessibility (Active 
travel) Medium Positive Speculative 

medium 
term Current and possible future users Low  Yes 

                      

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude 
of Impact Is it fair? 

1 BAFC Local infrastructure Increased traffic Medium Negative Probable 
medium 
term Immediate residents Low Yes 

2 BAFC PA activity levels 

Decrease in activity 
levels (due to 
access) Weak Negative Speculative 

medium 
term Community Medium No 

3 BAFC Options of physical activity 
Change in 
accessibility Weak Unclear Speculative 

Short 
term     Yes 

                      

 Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude 
of Impact Is it fair? 

1 Current site Local infrastructure Noise/pollution Strong Negative Probable 
medium 
term Immediate community Medium No 

2 Current site PA activity levels Reduction in activity Strong Negative Definitive 
medium 
term Current members/community Large No 

3 Current site Options of physical activity 
No facilities 
(swimming pool etc) Strong Negative Definitive 

medium 
term Current members/community Large No 

 

Seaham 

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude of 
Impact Is it fair? 

1 
Seaham 
(existing site) Change in physical activity levels 

Levels of excess weight, 
physical and mental 
wellbeing  Medium Positive Probable long term All residents Large Yes 

2 
Seaham 
(existing site) Change in community cohesion 

Mental health and social 
isolation Medium Positive Probable long term All residents  Large Yes  

P
age 94



 

 

3 
Seaham 
(existing site) 

Change in accessibility to leisure 
centre 

Maintaining current levels 
of activity  Weak Unclear Definitive 

medium 
term Existing members  Low Yes 

  
Seaham 
(existing site) Change in local infrastructure  

Noise / pollution / Increase 
in respiratory diseases Medium  Negative  probable  

Medium 
term  

Residents living in the close 
proximity to the building  Medium  Yes 

                     

 Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude of 
Impact Is it fair? 

1 Dock Top Change in appearance of area Mental health  Weak Negative Speculative long term All residents Low No  

2 Dock Top Change in travel / traffic  
Increase in respiratory 
diseases Medium  Negative probable  Long term  all residents  Medium  Yes 

3 Dock Top Change in accessibility 
Increase in health 
inequalities Medium  Negative  probable  Long term  

Those without access to transport 
/ more vulnerable groups such as 
elderly, young people without 
access to transport / low income 
families  Medium  No  

 4 Dock Top Change in local infrastructure  
Noise / pollution / Increase 
in respiratory diseases Medium  Negative  probable  

Medium 
term  

Residents living in the close 
proximity to the building  Medium  Yes 

 5 Dock Top Change in environment  Loss of green space - Medium  Negative  Definitive 
Medium 
term  All  Medium  Yes 

            

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude of 
Impact Is it fair? 

1 
St Johns 
Square Increase in active travel Levels of excess weight Medium Positive Speculative long term All residents Medium Yes 

2 
St Johns 
Square Change in appearance of area Mental Health   Medium Unclear Speculative long term All residents  Low 

Unsure - local 
residents lose 
access to green 
space  

3 
St Johns 
Square Change in accessibility 

Increase in health 
inequalities / healthy life 
expectancy  Weak Negative Speculative long term All residents  Medium 

No - not a 
central 
location and 
not as 
accessible  

 

Chester le Street  

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude of 
Impact Is it fair? P

age 95



 

 

1 

Chester le 
Street Existing 
Site 

Reduced availability to Leisure 
Centre (due to building work) 

 physical and mental 
wellbeing, social benefit Strong Negative Definitive 

medium 
term All residents Medium Yes 

2 

Chester le 
Street Existing 
Site 

Change in environmental 
conditions associated with 
construction Noise and air quality Medium Negative Probable 

medium 
term Immediate residents Medium No 

3 

Chester le 
Street Existing 
Site 

Change in Physical Activity 
Levels 

 physical and mental 
wellbeing, social isolation Strong Positive Speculative long term Members and potential members Medium Unknown 

4 

Chester le 
Street Existing 
Site Change in Travel Patterns 

Air quality, safety, physical 
activity levels Strong Negative Speculative long term Immediate residents and members Medium Unknown 

 

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude of 
Impact Is it fair? 

1 Civic Centre Access to Leisure Centre 
 physical and mental 
wellbeing, social benefit Strong Positive Probable long term All residents and existing members Medium Yes 

2 Civic Centre 

Change in environmental 
conditions due to construction 
phase Noise and air quality Medium Negative Probable Short term Immediate residents Medium No 

3 Civic Centre 
Change in Physical Activity 
Levels 

 physical and mental 
wellbeing, social isolation Strong Positive Speculative long term Members and potential members Medium Unknown 

4 Civic Centre Change in Travel Patterns 
Air quality, safety, physical 
activity levels Strong Positive Speculative long term Immediate residents and members Medium 

Positive 
benefits for 
C&YP and 
older adults 
(use bus more) 
but negative to 
immediate 
residents due 
to increased 
traffic. 

           

  Site Health Determinant Possible Impact 
Source of 

Information 

Nature 
of 

Impact 
Likelihood 
of Impact 

Duration 
of Impact Who is impacted 

Magnitude of 
Impact Is it fair? 

P
age 96



 

 

1 Riverside Park Access to Leisure Centre 
 physical and mental 
wellbeing , social benefit Strong Negative Probable long term 

 existing members and potential 
members Medium 

No ( non-car 
users and 
safety for 
children and 
young people) 

2 Riverside Park 
Change in environmental 
conditions 

Loss of Green Space and 
possible flood risk Medium Negative Definitive long term 

Visitors to Park, immediate 
residents, wildlife, other users e.g. 
parkrun Medium No 

3 Riverside Park 
Change in Physical Activity 
Levels 

 physical and mental 
wellbeing , social isolation Strong Negative Speculative long term Members and potential members Medium Unknown 

4 Riverside Park Change in Travel Patterns 
Air quality, safety, physical 
activity levels Strong Negative Probable long term Immediate residents and members Medium 

No- impact 
non-car 
drivers, 
immediate 
residents, 
members, and 
potential 
members 

 

 

P
age 97



 

 

Recommendations matrix 

As part of the assessment session and in a subsequent meetings, steering 
group members began to formulate a set of suggested recommendations. The 
recommendations focussed on both positive  and negative health impacts 
identified during the assessment process.  This was to ensure that positive 
impacts were enhanced, and the negative impacts mitigated.  

For all three sites, a number of common themes were identified and applicable 
to each site. These were a mix of  both potential negative and positive 
impacts. 

The common themes identified which were based around enhancing health 
impacts and retaining are : 

• Ensuring disruption to service users accessing leisure centre facilities, 
during the construction phase of redeveloping an existing site, is 
minimised.  

• Minimising the impact of noise and air pollution due to construction. 

• Increasing use of active travel for leisure centre users and reducing 
road congestion. 

• Ensure positive change of an appearance of an area as a result of the 
new development. 

• An increase in physical activity due to the location. 

Following review of the health impacts a number of key health impacts were 
identified in the each of the geographical locations and individual sites.  For 
these health impacts, standard recommendations were agreed by the group 
as shown in the matrix below. A summary of all the recommendations can be 
found in appendix 7. 

 

  

Page 98



 

 

Recommendations for Chester le Street 

Existing Site 

  Site 
Health 

Determinant Possible Impact Recommendations Recommendations 

1 

Chester 
le Street 
Existing 
Site 

Reduced 
availability to 
Leisure Centre 
(due to 
building work) 

 physical and 
mental 
wellbeing , 
social benefit 

Ensure that the current site continues to offer access to existing or alternative facilities to 
allow residents to be physically active whilst the new site is under construction.  Allowing 
access to all other DCC leisure centres so users can visit all other council venues as well as 
offering free or subsidised transportation should be considered.  Consideration should 
also be given to subsidised membership fees if a centre has to fully close for any duration.   
A full list of alternative options should be collated and communicated to both members 
and non-members in the local area. 

Consideration should be given to a communications plan in the 
lead up, during and after the construction phase to keep 
members and non-members informed of alternative facilities, 
timescales, and any major changes.  

2 

Chester 
le Street 
Existing 
Site 

Change in 
environmental 
conditions 
associated 
with 
construction 

Noise and air 
quality 

No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction 
Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority ( see appendix 8 for full details and considerations of a CMP). It is 
important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding 
operational hours for construction 

3 

Chester 
le Street 
Existing 
Site 

Change in 
Physical 
Activity Levels 

 physical and 
mental 
wellbeing , 
social isolation 

Consider the outcome of the public consultation to determine which sites are likely to 
increase usage and the associate health benefits such as improved physical health, mental 
health, and social value. 
95% would use the existing site more or the same.  

4 

Chester 
le Street 
Existing 
Site 

Change in 
Travel Patterns 

Air quality, 
safety, physical 
activity levels 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel 
and a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning 
is used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure 
should be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training 
delivered to DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as 
Transport, to ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. 

The centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its opening 
and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant DCC 
colleagues. Where possible link to the local walking and cycling 
infrastructure plans (LCWIP) locally and the align to the current 
County Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the 
development of the physical activity strategy for County Durham.  
To encourage more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a 
Bike’ scheme could be considered around each of the sites as well 
as safe cycle storage. 

 

Civic Centre 

  Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations Recommendations 

1 
Civic 
Centre 

Access to 
Leisure Centre 

 physical and 
mental 
wellbeing , 
social benefit 

Consider the outcome of the public consultation to determine which sites are likely to 
increase usage and the associate health benefits such as improved physical health, mental 
health, and social value. 
For the Civic Centre, 93% of respondents stated that  they would use the civic centre more 
and 90% stating both sites would help them to remain physically active.      

2 
Civic 
Centre 

Change in 
environmental 
conditions due 
to construction 
phase 

Noise and air 
quality 

No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction 
Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority ( see appendix 8 for full details and considerations of a CMP). It is 
important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding 
operational hours for construction. 

P
age 99



 

 

3 
Civic 
Centre 

Change in 
Physical 
Activity Levels 

 physical and 
mental 
wellbeing , 
social isolation 

Consider outcome of the public consultation to determine which sites are likely to increase 
usage. 

Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and 
knowledge of the centre such as third sector organisations, 
schools, colleges, and workplaces 

4 
Civic 
Centre 

Change in 
Travel Patterns 

Air quality, 
safety, physical 
activity levels 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel and 
a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning is 
used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to 
ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. 

The centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its opening 
and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant DCC 
colleagues. Where possible link to the local walking and cycling 
infrastructure plans (LCWIP) locally and the align to the current 
County Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the 
development of the physical activity strategy for County Durham.  
To encourage more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a 
Bike’ scheme could be considered around each of the sites as well 
as safe cycle storage. 

 

Riverside Park 

  Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations Recommendations 

1 
Riverside 
Park 

Access to 
Leisure Centre 

 physical and 
mental 
wellbeing , 
social benefit 

 To ensure equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made to the DCC poverty 
action group to help make leisure centres across County Durham more accessible to people 
living in poverty.  This will help to engage with communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site selected 
ensures equitable access ensuring that those of greatest health need and 
underrepresented of the community are supported to access the centre 

Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and 
knowledge of the centre such as third sector organisations, 
schools, colleges, and workplaces.  This could be supported by an 
engagement strategy (including marketing and comms plan) 
including links to current assets such as community champions , 
County Durham Together and existing schemes.  For example, 
consider recommending to all businesses in the vicinity to take 
part in the Better Health at Work Award. 

2 
Riverside 
Park 

Change in 
environmental 
conditions 

Loss of Green 
Space. 

Enhance green infrastructure, such as the existing site and this should be in line with the 
open space need assessment. 

Ensure proposals link with DCC priorities to support health and 
climate change for example increasing the amount of green and 
blue space.  Links could include projects such as the DCC clean 
and green team planting trees across the county as part of the 
wider Forestry Commission's Urban Tree Challenge, a funded 
project to increase tree coverage in urban areas. 

3 
Riverside 
Park 

Change in 
Physical 
Activity Levels 

 physical and 
mental 
wellbeing , 
social isolation 

Ensure that the site selected allows the greatest proportion of the community to access the 
centre. 

Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and 
knowledge of the centre such as third sector organisations, 
schools, colleges, and workplaces.  This could be supported by an 
engagement strategy (including marketing and comms plan) 
including links to current assets such as community champions , 
County Durham Together and existing schemes.  For example, 
consider recommending to all businesses in the vicinity to take 
part in the Better Health at Work Award. 

4 
Riverside 
Park 

Change in 
Travel Patterns 

Air quality, 
safety, physical 
activity levels 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel and 
a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning is 
used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to 

The centre to implement a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant 
DCC colleagues. Where possible link to the local walking and 
cycling infrastructure plans (LCWIP) locally and the align to the 
current County Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the 
development of the physical activity strategy for County Durham.  

P
age 100



 

 

ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. Consider appropriate traffic calming 
measures and any new roads should be designed to ease potential traffic congestion. 

To encourage more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a 
Bike’ scheme could be considered around each of the sites as well 
as safe cycle storage 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations for Seaham 

Existing Site 

  Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations  Recommendations  

1 

Seaham 
(existing 
site) 

Change in 
physical 
activity levels 

Levels of 
excess weight, 
physical and 
mental 
wellbeing  

 Ensure that the current site continues to offer access to existing or alternative facilities to 
allow residents to be physically active whilst the new site is under construction. A full list of 
alternative options should be collated and communicated to both members and non-
members in the local area. Allowing access to all other DCC leisure centres so users can visit 
all other council venues as well as offering free or subsidised transportation should be 
considered.  Consideration should also be given to subsidised membership fees if a centre 
has to fully close for any duration.   A full list of alternative options should be collated and 
communicated to both members and non-members in the local area. 

Consideration should be given to a communications plan in the 
lead up, during and after the construction phase to keep 
members and non-members informed of alternative facilities, 
timescales, and any major changes.  

2 

Seaham 
(existing 
site) 

Change in 
community 
cohesion 

Mental health 
and social 
isolation 

Improving community cohesion and preventing social isolation with the development of a 
new leisure centre in the hub of community.    

P
age 101



 

 

3 

Seaham 
(existing 
site) 

Change in 
accessibility to 
leisure centre 

Maintaining 
current levels 
of activity  

 To ensure equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made to the DCC poverty 
action group to help make leisure centres across County Durham more accessible to people 
living in poverty.  This will help to engage with communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site ensures 
equitable access ensuring that those of greatest health need and underrepresented of the 
community are supported to access the centre  

4 

Seaham 
(existing 
site) 

Change in local 
infrastructure  

Noise / 
pollution / 
Increase in 
respiratory 
diseases 

No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction 
Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority ( see appendix 8 for full details and considerations of a CMP). It is 
important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding 
operational hours for construction 

 

Dock Top 

 Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations  Recommendations  

1 
Dock 
Top 

Change in 
appearance of 
area Mental health  

 It is recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure transformation team commence 
a period of engagement work with communities during the planning phase to consider 
appearance of the new centre and how it can maximise positive improvements for the 
appearance of the local area. 

Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, 
through the Design Review process, to ensure conformity with the 
policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and develop a 
high-quality design. 

2 
Dock 
Top 

Change in 
travel / traffic  

Increase in 
respiratory 
diseases 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel and 
a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning is 
used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to 
ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. 

The centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its opening 
and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant DCC 
colleagues. Align to the current County Durham walking and 
cycling strategy as well the development of the physical activity 
strategy for County Durham.  To encourage more people to cycle, 
the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a Bike’ scheme could be considered 
around each of the sites as well as safe cycle storage. 

3 
Dock 
Top 

Change in 
accessibility 

Increase in 
health 
inequalities 

 
To ensure equitable access to the leisure centre, consider looking at affordability and 
pricing (with agreed review timescales) particularly for the communities and groups that 
are less likely to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure centre.   

4 
Dock 
Top 

Change in local 
infrastructure  

Noise / 
pollution / 
Increase in 
respiratory 
diseases 

No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction 
Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority ( see appendix 8 for full details and considerations of a CMP). It is 
important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding 
operational hours for construction 

5 
Dock 
Top 

Change in 
environment  

Loss of green 
space - 

Enhance green infrastructure elsewhere, such as the existing site and this is reflected open 
space needs assessment. Ensure proposals link with DCC priorities to support health and 
climate change for example increasing the amount of green and blue space.  Links could 
include projects such as the DCC clean and green team planting trees across the county as 
part of the wider Forestry Commission's Urban Tree Challenge, a funded project to increase 
tree coverage in urban areas. 

Ensure proposals link with DCC priorities to support health and 
climate change for example increasing the amount of green and 
blue space 

 

St Johns Square 

  Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations  Recommendations 

P
age 102



 

 

1 
St Johns 
Square 

Increase in 
active travel 

Levels of 
excess weight 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel and 
a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning is 
used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to 
ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. 

The centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its opening 
and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant DCC 
colleagues. Align to the current County Durham walking and 
cycling strategy as well the development of the physical activity 
strategy for County Durham.  To encourage more people to cycle, 
the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a Bike’ scheme could be considered 
around each of the sites as well as safe cycle storage. 

2 
St Johns 
Square 

Change in 
appearance of 
area Mental Health   

It is recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure transformation team commence 
a period of engagement work with communities during the planning phase to consider 
appearance of the new centre and how it can maximise positive improvements for the 
appearance of the local area. 

Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, 
through the Design Review process, to ensure conformity with the 
policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and develop a 
high-quality design. 

3 
St Johns 
Square 

Change in 
accessibility 

Increase in 
health 
inequalities / 
healthy life 
expectancy  

To ensure equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made to the DCC poverty 
action group to help make leisure centres across County Durham more accessible to people 
living in poverty.  This will help to engage with communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site selected 
ensures equitable access ensuring that those of greatest health need and 
underrepresented of the community are supported to access the centre.    

 

Bishop Auckland 

Existing Site 

  Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations  Recommendations 

1 
Current 
site 

Local 
infrastructure Noise/pollution 

No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction 
Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority ( see appendix 8 for full details and considerations of a CMP). It is 
important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding 
operational hours for construction 

2 
Current 
site 

PA activity 
levels 

Reduction in 
activity 

Consider the outcome of the public consultation to determine which sites are likely to 
increase usage and the associate health benefits such as improved physical health, mental 
health and social value 90% of respondents stated that they would use the existing site the 
same amount or more with 86% stating it would help them remain physically active.  
 
There was concern that the loss of provision at the existing Bishop Auckland site would 
result in the loss of a community hub and negatively impact social cohesion if the site is 
moved elsewhere. 

Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and 
knowledge of the centre such as third sector organisations, 
schools, colleges, and workplaces.  This could be supported by an 
engagement strategy (including marketing and comms plan) 
including links to current assets such as community champions , 
County Durham Together and existing schemes.  For example, 
consider recommending to all businesses in the vicinity to take 
part in the Better Health at Work Award. 

3 
Current 
site 

Options of 
physical 
activity 

No facilities 
(swimming 
pool etc) 

· Ensure that the current site continues to offer access to existing or alternative facilities to 
allow residents to be physically active whilst the new site is under construction. A full list of 
alternative options should be collated and communicated to both members and non-
members in the local area. Allowing access to all other DCC leisure centres so users can visit 
all other council venues as well as offering free or subsidised transportation should be 
considered.  Consideration should also be given to subsidised membership fees if a centre 
has to fully close for any duration.   A full list of alternative options should be collated and 
communicated to both members and non-members in the local area. 

Consideration should be given to a communications plan in the 
lead up, during and after the construction phase to keep 
members and non-members informed of alternative facilities, 
timescales, and any major changes.  

 

 

P
age 103



 

 

 

 

 

Bishop Auckland College 

 Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations Recommendations 

1 
BA 
College 

Local 
infrastructure 

Increased 
traffic - 
Noise/pollution 

Any new roads should be designed to ease potential traffic congestion and the associated 
levels of air and noise pollution. 

The centre to implement a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant 
DCC colleagues. Consider alignment to the current County 
Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the development of 
the physical activity strategy for County Durham.  To encourage 
more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a Bike’ scheme 
could be considered around each of the sites as well as safe cycle 
storage 

     

Change in 
appearance 

It is recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure transformation team commence 
a period of engagement work with communities during the planning phase to consider 
appearance of the new centre and how it can maximise positive improvements for the 
appearance of the local area. 

Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, 
through the Design Review process, to ensure conformity with 
the policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and develop a 
high-quality design. 

     

Noise building 
process 

No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction 
Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority ( see appendix 8 for full details and considerations of a CMP). It is 
important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding 
operational hours for construction. 

2 
BA 
College 

PA activity 
levels 

Increase in 
physical 
activity levels 

Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and knowledge of the centre 
including working closer with Education colleagues to ensure throughput . Consider the 
development of  sporting village/hub which could be aligned to college. 

Ensure that the site selected allows the greatest proportion of the 
community to access the centre 

3 
BA 
College 

Options of 
physical 
activity 

Change in 
accessibility 
(Active travel) 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel and 
a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning is 
used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to 
ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. Consider appropriate traffic calming 
measures and any new roads should be designed to ease potential traffic congestion. 

The centre to implement a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant 
DCC colleagues. Consider alignment to the current County 
Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the development of 
the physical activity strategy for County Durham.  To encourage 
more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a Bike’ scheme 
could be considered around each of the sites as well as safe cycle 
storage 

      
Change 
socialisation 

Look into the development of a Community hub to support community cohesion and 
reduce social isolation.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 104



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bishop Auckland Football Club 

 

 Site 
Health 

Determinant 
Possible 
Impact Recommendations Recommendations 

1 BAFC 
Local 
infrastructure 

Increased 
traffic 

 Improve and build safe walking and cycling infrastructure to support safe active travel and 
a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate lightning is 
used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage 
continued use and ensure associated benefits. All walking and cycling infrastructure should 
be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 
DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to 
ensure infrastructure good practice is adhered to. Consider appropriate traffic calming 
measures and any new roads should be designed to ease potential traffic congestion. 

The centre to implement a sustainable travel plan prior to its 
opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with relevant 
DCC colleagues. Consider alignment to the current County 
Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the development of 
the physical activity strategy for County Durham.  To encourage 
more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a Bike’ scheme 
could be considered around each of the sites as well as safe 
cycle storage 

   

Local 
infrastructure 

Accessibility 
(Shildon) 

Links to borrow a bike scheme  to encourage more people to residents to attend from 
surrounding areas, such as Shildon.  This could  be supported by an ongoing comms and 
marketing campaign. 

Consider transportation Support  for any relevant community 
groups. 

   

Local 
infrastructure 

Exposure to 
unhealthy 
foods 

Due to the close proximity of fast-food outlets close by to the proposed site, consideration could be given 
healthy advertising policy in the area to restrict access and advertising of products high in fat, sugar, and salt. 
This could link to the standards in the DCC marketing and advertising policy.   

   

Local 
infrastructure 

Appearance 
(mental 
health) 

It is recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure transformation team commence 
a period of engagement work with communities during the planning phase to consider 
appearance of the new centre and how it can maximise positive improvements for the 
appearance of the local area. 

 Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, 
through the Design Review process, to ensure conformity with 
the policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and develop 
a high-quality design. 

2 BAFC 
PA activity 
levels 

Decrease in 
activity levels 
(due to access) 

Ensure that the site selected allows the greatest proportion of the community to access the 
centre. 

 Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and 
knowledge of the centre such as third sector organisations, 
schools, colleges, and workplaces.  This could be supported by 
an engagement strategy (including marketing and comms plan) 
including links to current assets such as community champions , 
County Durham Together and existing schemes.  For example, 
consider recommending to all businesses in the vicinity to take 
part in the Better Health at Work Award. 

3 BAFC 

Options of 
physical 
activity 

Change in 
accessibility 

To ensure equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made to the DCC poverty 
action group to help make leisure centres across County Durham more accessible to people 
living in poverty.  This will help to engage with communities and groups that are less likely 
to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure centre. Ensure that the site selected  

P
age 105



 

 

ensures equitable access ensuring that those of greatest health need and 
underrepresented of the community are supported to access the centre.    

P
age 106



 

 

Assessment overview: 

The assessment process is reported below to highlight how the data sources 
were combined to inform the recommendations. 

 

Chester le Street 

 

Existing Site 

Questions 

Would reducing availability to Leisure Centre (due to building work) have an 
impact on physical and mental wellbeing and social benefit? 

Would a change in environmental conditions associated with construction 
impact on noise and air quality levels? 

Would a change in physical activity levels bought about more people 
accessing the leisure centre impact on physical and mental wellbeing and 
social isolation? 

Would a change in travel patterns impact on air quality, safety, physical 
activity levels of the local area? 

 

Public Representation 

Physical activity prevalence- Based on the feedback from the public survey, it 
was highlighted that members and non-members indicated that they would 
use the centre  more by 21% and 35% respectively. In addition, over 90% of 
respondents said the existing site would help then to reman physically active.  

Travel patterns- 65% of respondents said they would use a car to travel to the 
existing site if it was refurbished. 

Loss of provision- Whilst there was support for the existing site to be used, the 
majority of respondents expressed concern that there would be a loss of 
provision during the construction phase and there needed to be more car 
parking provided at this site. 

 

Health Profile 

Chester le Street has a 20% lower average compared to the rest of County 
Durham for the following: 

• COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 
• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

Overall, Chester le Street is in line with the County Durham average for levels 
for many health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular 

Page 107



 

 

disease prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young 
people. 

 

Evidence 

Availability to facilities 

• Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have 
been identified as having a potentially negative impact on walking and 
cycling and social engagement. Mixed land use developments that 
prioritise access to schools, recreational centres and social amenities 
may increase physical activity among children, adolescents, and older 
adults. The provision of local amenities may improve mobility and social 
engagement among older adults (Public Health England, 2018) 

• Evidence has shown that when those in  deprived areas lose  leisure 
facilities, it would result in people not using the new facilities 3 miles 
away. It was considered too far to walk, and a car journey was not 
considered. (Rosimini, C. 2003) 

Air Quality & Noise 

• There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 
particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss ( WHO, 2018) 

• During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times ( London Borough 
of Barnet, 2018) 

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

 

 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

Page 108



 

 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Travel Patterns/ Active Travel 

• Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy and promoting mental wellbeing ( NICE, 2012). 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction( Public 
Health England 2017). 

 

Recommendations 

• Ensuring alternative provision if the centre is closed or limited. Ensure 
substitute activities with full access.  Identifying an alternative local 
community or DCC facilities for people to access. 

• No development including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority 

• Consider building on site in line with proposed plans 

• Improve and build walking and cycling infrastructure to support active 
travel. Consider incentives to encourage active travel e.g. park and 
stride.  improve ‘liveability’ of streets in immediately local area, including 
traffic calming measures 

Page 109



 

 

 

Civic Centre 

 

Questions 

Would a change in environmental conditions associated with construction 
impact on noise and air quality levels? 

Would a change in physical activity levels bought about more people 
accessing the leisure centre impact on physical and mental wellbeing and 
social isolation? 

Would a change in travel patterns impact on air quality, safety, physical 
activity levels of the local area? 

 

Public Representation 

Physical activity prevalence- Based on the feedback from the public survey, it 
was highlighted that 53% of all respondents said they would use the centre 
more.  

The majority of respondents felt that relocating the leisure centre to this site 
would allow the existing site to “remain open during construction of any new 
buildings”, it would mean the centre was “more visible” to residents and more 
accessible as it has “the best public transport routes”.  Some respondents also 
highlighted that it could have knock on benefits due to the site’s proximity to 
the town centre.  Over 90% of respondents said the civic centre would help 
then to remain physically active and help their physical health & wellbeing and 
mental health. 

43% of current members said they would use the civic centre more 

Travel patterns- 56% of respondents said they would use a car to travel to the 
existing site if it was refurbished. There were some concerns that the site 
would increase traffic on Newcastle Road and exacerbate parking issues in 
the area. 39% of people would use active travel to get to the civic centre site. 

 

Health Profile 

Chester le Street has a 20% lower average compared to the rest of County 
Durham for the following: 

• COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 
• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

Overall, Chester le Street is in line with the County Durham average for levels 
for many health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular 
disease prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young 
people. 

Page 110



 

 

 

Evidence 

Air Quality & Noise 

• There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 
particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss ( WHO, 2018) 

• During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times ( London Borough 
of Barnet, 2018) 

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Page 111



 

 

Travel Patterns 

• Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy and promoting mental wellbeing ( NICE, 2012). 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction( Public 
Health England 2017). 

 

Recommendations 

• No development including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority 

• Consider building on site in line with proposed plans 

• Ensure walking and cycling infrastructure to support active travel is 
enhanced. Think about linking plans to LCWIP plans for Chester le 
Street. Think about incentives to encourage active travel e.g. promotion 
of good access by public transport, safe cycle parking and walking 
routes.   

 

Riverside Park 

 

Questions 

Would a loss in green space due to site build have an impact on physical 
activity levels and mental health? 

Would a change in physical activity levels bought about more people 
accessing the leisure centre impact on physical and mental wellbeing and 
social isolation? 

Would a change in travel patterns impact on air quality, safety, physical 
activity levels of the local area? 

 

 

Public Representation 

Page 112



 

 

Although some people felt that locating the new facilities at Riverside would 
create “a great fitness hub”, the majority of respondents were concerned 
about accessing the leisure facilities at peak times, such as when “when the 
cricket was on”, during events or during the summer months when the park 
was already very busy. 

Physical activity prevalence- 34% of respondents said that they would use the 
centre less if it was situated at Riverside Park.  

Travel patterns- 69% of respondents said they would use a car to travel to the 
existing site if it was refurbished.  This was the highest use of car for all 3 
sites. 

 

Health Profile 

Chester le Street has a 20% lower average compared to the rest of County 
Durham for the following: 

• COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 
• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

Overall, Chester le Street is in line with the County Durham average for levels 
for many health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular 
disease prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young 
people. 

 

Evidence 

Access to Green Space 

In adults, there is an association between nature in the urban environment 
and positive emotions – evidence also shows links between a greener living 
environment and higher life satisfaction and reduced mental distress, and 
strong evidence of improved self-rated mental health and reported stress ( 
Public Health England, 2020). 

Use of green spaces is associated with a decrease in health complaints, 
improved blood pressure and cholesterol levels, reduced stress, improved 
general health perceptions and a greater ability to face problems ( The Kings 
Fund , 2018). 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 

Page 113



 

 

improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Travel Patterns 

• Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy and promoting mental wellbeing ( NICE, 2012). 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction( Public 
Health England 2017). 

 

Recommendations 

Consider an engagement strategy to increase  the use of centre by members 
and non-members. 

Enhance green infrastructure elsewhere if the site is built at Riverside Park.  
For example, considering building on the existing site and  ensure that green 
space is in incorporated to the centre design. 

 

As a high percentage of respondents said they would not use the centre as 
much as the other options, consider an engagement strategy to increase the   
use of centre by members and non-members. ( consider one of the other 
centres) 

Ensure walking and cycling infrastructure to support active travel is enhanced. 
Think about linking plans to LCWIP plans for Chester le Street. Consider  
incentives to encourage active travel e.g. promotion of good access by public 
transport, safe cycle parking and walking routes. 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

 

Bishop Auckland 

 

Existing Site 

Questions 

Would a change in the local infrastructure impact on noise and pollution 
levels? 

Would there an impact in physical activity levels as a result of the rebuilding of 
the existing site? 

How would the options of physical activity available to people during the 
centre build?  For example, no access to the swimming pool. 

 

Public Representation 

Physical activity prevalence- There are concerns over the loss of the site and 
access to the facility for the construction period.  A third of respondents said 
they would use a redeveloped existing more. 86% of respondents said that the 
existing site would help them to remain physically active. 

Travel patterns-. It is seen as a central location and a convenient site to 
access with good public transport as well as accessibility via cycling and 
walking. Results from the public survey indicated that 45% of respondents 
said they would use active travel to get to the current site if it is redeveloped. 

Social Value- The existing site would allow 75% of respondents to feel part of 
the community and to socialise compared to 50% for the other 2 sites. 

 

Health Profile 

Bishop Auckland has 20% lower average compared to the rest of County 
Durham for the following: 

• Dementia: QOF prevalence (all ages) 

• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally.  This is higher 
than CD average of 50% 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally  for deprivation 
affecting  children ( IDACI). This is higher than CD average of 52%. 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally  for deprivation 
affecting older people  . (IDAOPI). This is higher than CD average of 41%. 

Overall, Bishop Auckland is in line with the County Durham average for levels 
for many health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular 
disease prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young 
people. 

Page 115



 

 

 

Evidence 

Availability to facilities 

• Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have 
been identified as having a potentially negative impact on walking and 
cycling and social engagement. Mixed land use developments that 
prioritise access to schools, recreational centres and social amenities 
may increase physical activity among children, adolescents, and older 
adults. The provision of local amenities may improve mobility and social 
engagement among older adults ( Public Health England, 2018) 

• Evidence has shown that when those in deprived areas lose  access to 
leisure facilities, it would result in people not using the new facilities 3 
miles away. It was considered too far to walk, and a car journey was not 
considered. (Rosimini, C. 2003) 

Air Quality & Noise 

• There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 
particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss ( WHO, 2018) 

• During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times ( London Borough 
of Barnet, 2018) 

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 

Page 116



 

 

quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

 

Recommendations 

• No construction including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority ( see appendix 8 for 
full details and considerations of a CMP). It is important that these 
construction management plans are enforced and will require 
monitoring by the DCC Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing 
basis. 

• Ensure that the site selected allows the greatest proportion of the 
community to access the centre.  Link to local organisations and 
partners to increase use and knowledge of the centre such as third 
sector organisations, schools, colleges, and workplaces.  This could be 
supported by an engagement strategy (including marketing and comms 
plan) including links to current assets such as community champions , 
County Durham Together and existing schemes.  For example, consider 
recommending to all businesses in the vicinity to take part in the Better 
Health at Work Award. 

• Ensure that the current site continues to offer access to existing or 
alternative facilities to allow residents to be physically active whilst the 
new site is under construction. A full list of alternative options should be 
collated and communicated to both members and non-members in the 
local area. Consideration should be given to a communications plan in 
the lead up, during and after the construction phase to keep members 
and non-members informed of alternative facilities, timescales, and any 
major changes. 

 

Bishop Auckland College 

 

Page 117



 

 

Questions 

Would a change in Local infrastructure impact through the leisure centre 
development have an impact on traffic levels and pollution? 

Would a change in Local infrastructure impact through the leisure centre 
development have an impact during the building process on noise and air 
quality as well as a change in appearance of the area? 

Will the development on a leisure centre at this site have an impact on 
Physical  activity levels? 

Will the development of the leisure centre at this site have an impact on the 
number of users using active travel? 

 

Public Representation 

Physical activity levels- 33% of non-member responses said that they would 
use the centre more with 15% of current members using it more. However, 
25% of current members said that they would use it less. 

Travel patterns-.There was concern from the public in regard to the  potential 
traffic congestion it may cause, particularly as there are two busy secondary 
schools and a college next to the proposed site. Although it is walking 
distance for some , it is felt the access via public transport isn’t as good 

Loss of Green Space- There is concern from the public in regard to the loss of 
green space and outdoor facilities if the leisure centre is built  

 

Health Profile 

Bishop Auckland has 20% lower average compared to the rest of County 
Durham for the following: 

• Dementia: QOF prevalence (all ages) 

• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally.  This is higher 
than CD average of 50% 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally  for deprivation 
affecting  children ( IDACI). This is higher than CD average of 52%. 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally  for deprivation 
affecting older people  . (IDAOPI). This is higher than CD average of 41%. 

Overall, Bishop Auckland is in line with the County Durham average for levels 
for many health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular 
disease prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young 
people. 

Evidence 

Page 118



 

 

Air Quality & Noise 

• There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 
particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss ( WHO, 2018) 

• During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times ( London Borough 
of Barnet, 2018) 

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Loss of Green Space 

• In adults, there is an association between nature in the urban 
environment and positive emotions – evidence also shows links 

Page 119



 

 

between a greener living environment and higher life satisfaction and 
reduced mental distress, and strong evidence of improved self-rated 
mental health and reported stress ( PHE, 2020). 

• Use of green spaces is associated with a decrease in health complaints, 
improved blood pressure and cholesterol levels, reduced stress, 
improved general health perceptions and a greater ability to face 
problems ( Kings Fund, 2018) 

 

Recommendations 

• Improve transport infrastructure to reduce reliance on cars and ensure 
that walking and cycling infrastructure to support active travel is 
enhanced including cycle storage. 

• Ensure the leisure centre fits with the local design of the community  

• No development including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.   

• There should be consideration to work closer with Education colleagues 
from the college to ensure throughput and builds to create a facility that 
would be used by the college staff, students, and visitors.  

 

Bishop Auckland Football Club 

 

Questions 

Would the building of a leisure centre in this area have an impact on the 
amount of traffic in the area? 

Would the building of a leisure centre have an impact on accessibility for 
residents outside of Bishop Auckland? 

Would a change in Local infrastructure impact through the development of the 
leisure centre have an impact on the mental health of the immediate 
community? 

Will the development on a leisure centre at this site have an impact on 
Physical  activity levels and the associated physical and mental health 
benefits? 

Will the development of the leisure centre at this site have an impact on the 
number of users using active travel? 

 

Public Representation 

Page 120



 

 

Physical activity levels- Public feedback stated it may increase accessibility to 
those living in areas surrounding Bishop Auckland. Feedback also showed 
that 41% of non-member responses stated that they would use the BAFC site 
more although 43% of current members said they would use it less. 

Travel patterns-. It may increase accessibility to those living in areas 
surrounding Bishop Auckland. There were concerns around increased 
congestion in the areas around the proposed site. 77% of respondents said 
they would travel to the Bishop Auckland FC (BAFC) site by car with only 20% 
using active travel. 

 

Health Profile 

Bishop Auckland has 20% lower average compared to the rest of County 
Durham for the following: 

• Dementia: QOF prevalence (all ages) 

• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally.  This is higher 
than CD average of 50% 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally  for deprivation 
affecting  children ( IDACI). This is higher than CD average of 52%. 

71% of the MSOA’s are in the 30% most deprived nationally  for deprivation 
affecting older people  . (IDAOPI). This is higher than CD average of 41%. 

Overall, Bishop Auckland is in line with the County Durham average for levels 
for many health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular 
disease prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young 
people. 

 

Evidence 

Air Quality  

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

Page 121



 

 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion ( 
Public Health England, 2017). 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Accessibility 

• Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have 
been identified as having a potentially negative impact on walking and 
cycling and social engagement. Mixed land use developments that 
prioritise access to schools, recreational centres and social amenities 
may increase physical activity among children, adolescents, and older 
adults. The provision of local amenities may improve mobility and social 
engagement among older adults ( Public Health England, 2018) 

• Evidence has shown that those in deprived areas when a losing leisure 
facilities would result in people not using the new facilities 3 miles away. 
It was considered too far to walk and a car journey was not considered. 
(Rosimini, C. 2003) 

• Authors of several articles have identified proximity to exercise facilities 
as an environmental characteristic encouraging nearby residents to be 
physically active, and affects the decision to exercise, and less likely to 
drop out in supervised activity programmes ( Dudley Metropolitan 
Borough Council, 2014). 

Obesity 

• Inactivity or sedentary behaviour is associated with poor health at all 
ages. Sedentary behaviour is not simply a lack of physical activity, as 
people can achieve recommended levels of physical activity but spend 
large amounts of the remaining time sedentary. The association 

Page 122



 

 

between inactivity and poor health has been found to be independent of 
the level of overall physical activity. Even among individuals who are 
active at the recommended levels, spending large amounts of time 
sedentary may increase risk of some adverse health outcomes ( Public 
Health England, 2016). 

Recommendations 

• Improve transport infrastructure to reduce reliance on cars and ensure 
that walking and cycling infrastructure to support active travel is 
enhanced including cycle storage.  Ensure there is links to the ‘Borrow a 
Bike’ scheme which is currently running in Shildon and link to any 
expansion of the scheme. 

• The new centre must fit with local community design and appearance of 
the areas, whilst considering how it can also improve it.  

• Consider promotion of the leisure centre to the retail and business park 
close by to the proposed site and encourage attendance from the local 
business park.  This could be linked to the Better Health at Work award 

• Due to the close proximity of fast-food outlets close by to the proposed 
site, consideration could be given healthy advertising policy in the area 
to restrict access and advertising of products high in fat, sugar, and salt. 

 

Seaham (Existing site) 

 

Questions 

Would reducing availability to Leisure Centre (due to building work) have an 
impact on physical levels during the construction phase? 

Would a change in environmental conditions associated with construction 
impact on noise and air quality levels? 

Would a change in physical activity levels bought about more people 
accessing the leisure centre impact on community cohesion and social 
isolation?  

 

Public Representation 

Physical activity prevalence-Over 90% of all respondents said developing the 
current site will help them to remain physically active, help with their mental 
health and to socialise.  The largest increase in use reported in the public 
survey came from keeping the site the same with nearly seven in ten stating it 
would do so. In general, respondents feel that the present site offers much 
more opportunity for multi-use development 

Page 123



 

 

Community Cohesion- Feedback was received that the current site is in 
central location with plenty of room for development.  Feedback included that 
it was central within the community and has better parking facilities and a safe 
environment. 

Traffic- Respondents state that moving the site from the existing site would 
cause issues with parking and traffic congestion in the local area. 

. 

Health Profile 

Seaham has 20% higher average compared to the rest of County Durham for 
the following: 

• COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 

• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

• Osteoporosis: QOF prevalence (50+) 

25% of the population aged 60 receive income support, income-based job 
seekers allowance, pension credit or child tax credit claimants aged 60 and 
over and their partners. (IDAOPI). This is lower than CD average of 27%. 

Overall, Seaham is in line with the County Durham average for levels for many 
health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular disease 
prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young people. 

 

Evidence 

Availability to facilities 

• Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have 
been identified as having a potentially negative impact on walking and 
cycling and social engagement. Mixed land use developments that 
prioritise access to schools, recreational centres and social amenities 
may increase physical activity among children, adolescents, and older 
adults. The provision of local amenities may improve mobility and social 
engagement among older adults ( Public Health England, 2018) 

• Evidence has shown that when those in  deprived areas lose access to 
leisure facilities, it would result in people not using the new facilities 3 
miles away. It was considered too far to walk, and a car journey was not 
considered. (Rosimini, C. 2003) 

 

 

Air Quality & Noise 

• There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 

Page 124



 

 

particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss ( WHO, 2018) 

• During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times ( London Borough 
of Barnet, 2018) 

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Travel Patterns/ Active Travel 

• Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy and promoting mental wellbeing ( NICE, 2012). 

Page 125



 

 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction( Public 
Health England 2017). 

Community Cohesion 

For cohesion, sport and culture can bring different people together and 
build strong relationships and community spirit through involvement in 
shared interests and pleasure. They can also be used to tackle conflict 
and reduce anti-social behaviour.  Participation in sport and increased 
social capital are linked at national and individual level – those who 
participate in sports are more likely to vote, contact a politician, sign a 
petition, have higher levels of social trust and life satisfaction 
(Department for Communities and Local Government. (2009). 

The evidence review found that sport and physical activity can lead to 
social and community development through: 

• building stronger communities by bringing people from different 
backgrounds together via participating, volunteering and spectating 

• improving community links, levels of cohesion and social capital 

• improving residents’ sense of belonging in an area 

• feeling more connected to your neighbourhood or community 

• increasing levels of social trust (Sport England, 2020). 

 

Social Isolation 

Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now emerging 
evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to improving social 
functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation (Department of 
Health and Social Care. (2019). 

 

Recommendations 

• Ensure that the current site continues to offer access to existing 
facilities to promote physical activity whilst new site is under 
construction. Provide a wide range of facilities and activities on offer to 
ensure accessibility  

• Focus on the development of community cohesion and preventing 
social isolation with the development of a new leisure centre in the hub 
of community.  

Page 126



 

 

• No development including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority Main road 
infrastructure is in place, consider new road layout to enable more 
access without causing too much disruption 

 

Dock Top Site 

 

Questions 

Would a change in environmental conditions associated with construction 
impact on noise and air quality levels? 

Would a change in the appearance of an area due to the building of leisure 
centre impact on mental health of local residents? 

Will a potential increase in traffic around the area due to the leisure build 
impact on air quality and respiratory health? 

Would a change in physical activity levels bought about more people 
accessing the leisure centre impact on community cohesion and social 
isolation?  

Will the loss of Green Space impact the community’s health and wellbeing? 

 

Public Representation 

Physical activity prevalence- A third of current members said that they would 
use the leisure centre less if it was rebuilt at the Dock Top site. 

Traffic- Feedback from the public survey was that the site  is not centrally 
located and will have reduced parking facilities which may  cause increased 
congestion in that part of the town.  Other feedback indicated that relocating to 
the centre to the dock top would result in over half of respondents travelling by 
car. 

Green Space- It is a smaller site and will have reduced space for facility 
development with the potential of taking away  

 

Health Profile 

Seaham has 20% higher average compared to the rest of County Durham for 
the following: 

• COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 

• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

• Osteoporosis: QOF prevalence (50+) 

Page 127



 

 

25% of the population aged 60 receive income support, income-based job 
seekers allowance, pension credit or child tax credit claimants aged 60 and 
over and their partners. (IDAOPI). This is lower than CD average of 27%. 

Overall, Seaham is in line with the County Durham average for levels for many 
health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular disease 
prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young people. 

 

Evidence 

Availability to facilities 

• Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have 
been identified as having a potentially negative impact on walking and 
cycling and social engagement. Mixed land use developments that 
prioritise access to schools, recreational centres and social amenities 
may increase physical activity among children, adolescents, and older 
adults. The provision of local amenities may improve mobility and social 
engagement among older adults ( Public Health England, 2018) 

• Evidence has shown that those in deprived areas when a losing leisure 
facilities would result in people not using the new facilities 3 miles away. 
It was considered too far to walk and a car journey was not considered. 
(Rosimini, C. 2003) 

Air Quality & Noise 

• There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 
particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss ( WHO, 2018) 

• During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times ( London Borough 
of Barnet, 2018) 

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

Page 128



 

 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Travel Patterns/ Active Travel 

• Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy and promoting mental wellbeing ( NICE, 2012). 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction( Public 
Health England 2017). 

 

Green Space 

In adults, there is an association between nature in the urban environment 
and positive emotions – evidence also shows links between a greener living 
environment and higher life satisfaction and reduced mental distress, and 
strong evidence of improved self-rated mental health and reported stress ( 
Public Health England, 2020). 

Green spaces may provide health benefits through being linked to better 
sleep, improved immunity, greater social interaction, and physical activity.    
Less green space in a living environment is associated with a greater risk of 

Page 129



 

 

anxiety and depression, feelings of loneliness and perceived shortage of 
social support.    People living in urban areas with larger amounts of green 
space show significantly lower mental distress and higher well-being ( Sport 
and Recreation Alliance , 2017). 

 

Recommendations 

Consider how the site could include outdoor, open space facilities to ensure 
residents are able to access green space - potential links to other areas. Work 
with communities to develop this  

No development including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority Main road infrastructure is in place, 
consider new road layout to enable more access without causing too much 
disruption 

Ensure walking and cycling infrastructure to support active travel is enhanced. 
Think about incentives to encourage active travel e.g. promotion of good 
access by public transport, safe cycle parking and walking routes. 

The new centre must fit with local community design and appearance of the 
areas, whilst considering how it can also improve it.  

Provide a wide range of affordable facilities to ensure a large proportion of the 
community can access the centre. Consider cost of transport / parking at the 
site 

 

St Johns Square 

 

Questions 

Would building a leisure centre at this location have an impact on health 
inequalities and ensure equitable access for residents? 

Would a change in the appearance of an area due to the building of leisure 
centre impact on mental health of local residents? 

Would an increase in the use of active travel to get to the leisure have an 
impact on excess weight? 

 

 

 

 

Public Representation 

Page 130



 

 

Physical activity prevalence- Only 69% of respondents, which was the lowest 
out of all three sites, agreed that this site would help them to remain physically 
active. 

Traffic- Respondents state that moving the site would cause issues with 
parking and traffic congestion in the local area.  This may have a potential 
impact on air quality. 

Active travel - Over half of respondents said they would use active travel to 
get to St John’s square 

Green Space- There was concern from the public that building at this site may 
cause the loss of some green space. 

 

Health Profile 

Seaham has 20% higher average compared to the rest of County Durham for 
the following: 

• COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 

• Learning disability: QOF prevalence 

• Osteoporosis: QOF prevalence (50+) 

25% of the population aged 60 receive income support, income-based job 
seekers allowance, pension credit or child tax credit claimants aged 60 and 
over and their partners. (IDAOPI). This is lower than CD average of 27%. 

Overall, Seaham is in line with the County Durham average for levels for many 
health indicators including life expectancy (at birth), Cardiovascular disease 
prevalence, adult obesity and excess weight for children and young people. 

 

Evidence 

Air Quality  

• Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality ( PHE ,2018). 

• Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport (Annear et al, 2014) 

 

 

Benefits of Physical Activity 

Page 131



 

 

• Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression (World Health 
Organisation, 2020). 

• Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social isolation 
(Department of Health and Social Care,2019). 

• Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). 

Travel Patterns/ Active Travel 

• Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy and promoting mental wellbeing ( NICE, 2012). 

• An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction( Public 
Health England 2017). 

 

Green Space 

In adults, there is an association between nature in the urban environment 
and positive emotions – evidence also shows links between a greener living 
environment and higher life satisfaction and reduced mental distress, and 
strong evidence of improved self-rated mental health and reported stress ( 
Public Health England, 2020). 

Green spaces may provide health benefits through being linked to better 
sleep, improved immunity, greater social interaction, and physical activity.    
Less green space in a living environment is associated with a greater risk of 
anxiety and depression, feelings of loneliness and perceived shortage of 
social support.    People living in urban areas with larger amounts of green 
space show significantly lower mental distress and higher well-being ( Sport 
and Recreation Alliance , 2017). 

Page 132



 

 

 

Recommendations 

No development including demolition works shall take place until a 
Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority Main road infrastructure is in place, 
consider new road layout to enable more access without causing too much 
disruption 

The new centre must fit with local community design and appearance of the 
areas, whilst considering how it can also improve it.  

Provide a wide range of affordable facilities to ensure a large proportion of the 
community can access the centre. Consider cost of transport / parking at the 
site 

Ensure walking and cycling infrastructure to support active travel is enhanced. 
Think about incentives to encourage active travel e.g. promotion of good 
access by public transport, safe cycle parking and walking routes. 

Monitoring 

The recommendations in this HIA must be considered once a site is selected 
for each geographical location at Seaham, Chester le Street and Bishop 
Auckland.  From the recommendations outlined in this document, periodic 
monitoring is paramount to ensure that the health of the wider and immediate 
community is supported.  Throughout the duration of the site development, the  
steering group and relevant partners are recommended to re-group and 
assess the implementation and impact of the recommendations.  

 

Conclusion 

Assessing the health impacts of the proposed locations and different sites and 
collaborations between the steering group partners has helped to ensure that 
health considerations are integrated into the final site selection of the leisure 
centre. This will ensure that health benefits are realised when considering a 
site for a new leisure centre in Seaham, Chester le Street and Bishop 
Auckland. 

Although the HIA process has proposed recommendations for each site have 
been put forward ( as outlined in this report), the general recommendations 
outlined in appendix 7 should be considered to help support health of the 
communities in the three geographical locations. 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 133



 

 

 

a) Approach 1: Refreshing the existing offer: This would take place in four 
of the existing leisure centres:  

• Consett  

• Newton Aycliffe  

• Wolsingham  

• Teesdale 

 

(b) Approach 2: Refurbishment / new installations: Five of the current 
leisure centres are to be refurbished and / or change their programme to 
introduce new activities. The five being:  

 

(c) Approach 3: The replacement of Leisure Centres facilities. This would 
impact on three current sites:  

Whilst Consett is a new centre and Newton Aycliffe has been recently 
refurbished, there are opportunities to refresh the offer and attract different 
and additional residents to access the opportunities available. Wolsingham is 
to be transferred into Culture, Sport & Tourism management in September 
2020 and will require some refresh work, whilst Teesdale would benefit from a 
refreshed ‘look and feel’ along with the introduction of the Thrive branding 
throughout the centre.  

• Abbey  

• Freemans Quay 

• Louisa Centre  

• Peterlee  

• Spennymoor.  

 

These centres will require a range of works from the installation of new 
equipment to substantial refurbishment to accommodate new and/or additional 
activities.  

• Woodhouse Close  

• Chester-le-Street  

• Seaham.  

 

Page 134



 

 

 

(d) Approach 4: Retain a leisure offer and create greater links with other 
services and the community: Two leisure centres would benefit from this 
approach:  

 

(e) Approach 5: A partnership development. One leisure centre has the 
opportunity to become part of another organisation’s infrastructure:  

The current layout, condition and location of these centres requires 
consideration regarding the replacement of these facilities to maximise health 
and wellbeing benefits for the population of County Durham and the economic 
vibrancy of the leisure offer.  

Health impact assessments (HIA) would be undertaken on each of the 
proposed new locations to determine the maximum health gain opportunities 
and to ensure the transformed leisure offer would be seen as adding value to 
the wider physical activity infrastructure.  

• Meadowfield  

• Shildon.  

 

There are opportunities to either expand service offers within these buildings 
and develop closer links with the community. This would make the buildings 
more viable from a cost effectiveness perspective and increase footfall due to 
the co-location of services and greater community involvement.  

•  Riverside.  

 

To work in partnership with Durham County Football Association and other 
key users would improve opportunities for the population to gain access to 
increased coaching opportunities and increase uptake in the use of facilities 
overall.  

  

Page 135



 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Terms of Reference  

Leisure Transformation Programme - Health Impact Assessment 
Steering Group 

 

Aim 

The group members will be responsible for the delivery of the Health Impact 
Assessment ( HIA) of the Leisure transformation programme for County 
Durham which will work to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for 
residents and further build the leisure economy.  

  

Remit 

The group will plan and deliver agreed actions to ensure that the six steps of a 
Health Impact Assessment on the leisure transformation programme are 
completed comprehensively and on time. The following set of principles will be 
adopted: 

• A holistic definition of health and wellbeing is adopted (physical and 
mental health)  

• Ensure preventing ill-health (primary prevention) and creating 
conditions for good health is given a priority.  

• Aim to develop positive working relationships across service 
groupings and support the development of HIA skills amongst 
members 

• Ensure meaningful engagement and participation of our communities 

• Promoting HIA as a product to add value to other key policies and 
plans in the future 

 

Objectives 

• To undertake a HIA on each of the proposed new leisure centre 
locations to determine the maximum health gain opportunities and to 
enhance opportunities for positive health impacts and reduce negative 
impacts via the leisure transformation programme. 

• To determine what impact the transformed leisure offer would have on 
the wider physical activity infrastructure  

Page 136



 

 

• Ensure that there is comprehensive consideration of health inequalities 
throughout the leisure transformation HIA process. 

• Determine the impact of the proposed leisure transformation 
programme has on environmental and socio-economic benefits for 
County Durham including reduction of health inequalities. 

• Deliver a set of clear recommendations to the Leisure Transformation 
Programme Board. 

The steering group will work to complete the following stages of the leisure 
transformation HIA: 

 

1. Scoping & Screening - Establish the relevance of leisure 
transformation to health, the process for undertaking the HIA and 
identify the key issues and important health impacts. 

2. Assessment – Identify and describe potential impacts (positive and 
negative) for the wider population and individual communities and 
groups for County Durham. 

3. Reporting and recommendations - Present findings with 
recommendations ( if appropriate)to mitigate any negative impacts on 
health as well as any suggestions for improvement. 

4. Decision Making - Assessment of the quality of evidence used in the 
HIA, how the recommendations have been implemented and whether 
any negative impacts on health (after mitigation) are acceptable.  

5. Monitoring and Evaluation- Full evaluation of the leisure 
transformation programme HIA to include Evaluation of the proposal, 
the health impact,  the process, and any lessons learnt which will impact 
future HIA’s. 

 

Membership 

Membership of the group will consist of representation within Durham County 
Council from: 

• Public Health 

• Culture Sport & Tourism 

• Area Action Partnerships 

• Spatial Policy Team 

• Research and Intelligence 

 

Where permanent members feel that expertise or topic specific knowledge is 
required, experts may be invited to sit on group for a limited period. 

Page 137



 

 

Members are expected to act as a two-way conduit for information and 
actions. 

Working arrangements  

• All permanent members will be given protected time from their 
line managers to deliver against their designated tasks 
• Group meetings will be at least fortnightly and weekly when 
required 
• Each meeting will consider an action log against the agreed work 
plans 
• The action log will form the agenda and will be circulated two 
working days before the meeting 
• If members are not able to attend, a fully briefed representative 
will attend on their behalf 
• The group will be chaired by Chris Woodcock, Public Health 
Strategic Manager.  A vice chair is to be nominated following the first 
meeting. 

 

Accountability arrangements 

• The Leisure Transformation Programme HIA steering group will 
be accountable to the Leisure Transformation Programme board. 
• Reports will be submitted in a timely manner to the Leisure 
Transformation Programme Board to meet the deadlines agreed in the 
HIA scoping report. 

 

Date agreed: 13th August 2020 

 

  

Page 138



 

 

 

Appendix 3 

 

  

Page 139



 

 

Appendix 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 140



 

 

Appendix 5 
 

Policy Outcome: Change in Local Infrastructure 

Access/ Proximity to Facilities 

Gold Standard 

1. Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have 
been identified as having a potentially negative impact on walking and 
cycling and social engagement. Mixed land use developments that 
prioritise access to schools, recreational centres and social amenities 
may increase physical activity among children, adolescents, and older 
adults. The provision of local amenities may improve mobility and social 
engagement among older adults 

Other sources of evidence 

2. Improving access to leisure facilities is likely to lead to greater mobility 
of the population, as well as improving health, mental and physical 
wellbeing. 

3. Literature review- authors of several articles have identified proximity to 
exercise facilities as an environmental characteristic encouraging 
nearby residents to be physically active, and affects the decision to 
exercise, and less likely to drop out in supervised activity programmes. 

4. Evidence has shown that those in deprived areas when a losing leisure 
facilities would result in people not using the new facilities 3 miles away. 
It was considered too far to walk and a car journey was not considered. 

5. Proximity and easy access to community assets can motivate 
individuals to engage in activities that can reduce social isolation.   

 

References 

1. Spatial planning for health: an evidence resource for planning and 
designing healthier places Public Health England ( 2018) 
http://eprints.uwe.ac.uk/31390/1/ 

2. MOTT Macdonald Limited South Wales Metro - Rapid Health Impact 
Assessment," 2017: 
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20I
mpact%20A assessment_2.pdf   

3. Health impact assessment of the proposed closure of Brierley Hill 
leisure centre (2004).Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 

4. Rosimini, C. (2003) Benefits of Swimming Training for Children and 
Adolescents with asthma. Unsystematic literature review & algorithm for 
exercise prescription cited in a health impact assessment of the 

Page 141

http://eprints.uwe.ac.uk/31390/1/
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20Impact%20A
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20Impact%20A


 

 

proposed closure of Brierley Hill leisure centre (2004). Dudley 
Metropolitan Borough Council 

5. A Prospective Health Impact Assessment of the proposed new leisure 
facilities to replace existing Church Farm leisure centre in East Barnet 
ward of the London Borough of Barnet (2015) 

  

Page 142



 

 

Mental Health 

Gold standard: 

1. Physical activity had positive mental health outcomes for children and 
youth, specifically for reduction in depression/depressive symptoms and 
improvements in physical self-concept, a self-esteem sub-domain.PA 
appears to be an effective intervention for reducing 
depression/depressive symptoms and improving physical self-
perceptions 

2. Physical activity has benefits for mental health, delays the onset of 
dementia, and can contribute to general well-being.  It also improves 
quality of life in adults with major clinical depression. 

Other sources of information 

3. Access to sports and leisure centre will provide opportunities to improve 
health and wellbeing of carers and individuals living with a mental health 
conditions. 

4. There is strong evidence that exercise has a positive impact in reducing 
the stress, anxiety, and depression. 

5. When you exercise it releases ‘feel good’ chemicals called endorphins 
in our brain. It also affects chemicals called ‘dopamine’ and ‘serotonin’ 
which are related to depression and anxiety.  Exercise can help brain 
cells to grow. In your body, regular exercise makes your heart, muscles, 
and bones stronger and work better. Activity can help you feel more in 
control which helps when you are worried or stressed. You can even 
make new friends and have fun when you exercise with other people. 

6. Green spaces may provide health benefits through being linked to 
better sleep, improved immunity, greater social interaction, and physical 
activity.  There are trends in reduced hospital admissions for mental 
illness associated with more green space, even after controlling for 
levels of deprivation and population density.  Less green space in a 
living environment is associated with a greater risk of anxiety and 
depression, feelings of loneliness and perceived shortage of social 
support.  Contact with nature has been linked to a number of mental 
health benefits, including improved mood and reduced stress, anxiety, 
and severity of children’s symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity 
disorder (ADHD).  People living in urban areas with larger amounts of 
green space show significantly lower mental distress and higher well-
being. 

7. Sensitivity analyses revealed large or moderate to large antidepressant 
effects for AE (I2 ≤ 30%) among trials with lower risk of bias, trials with 
short-term interventions (up to 4 weeks), and trials involving individual 
preferences for exercise. Subgroup analyses revealed comparable 
effects for AE across various settings and delivery formats, and in both 
outpatients and inpatients regardless symptom severity. 

Page 143



 

 

8. 6 reviews examining depression (n = 16), anxiety (n = 2), and self-
esteem (n = 14). Half of the eligible reviews were considered to be of 
low or critically low quality (n = 13). PA had positive mental health 
outcomes for children and youth, specifically for reduction in 
depression/depressive symptoms and improvements in physical self-
concept, a self-esteem sub-domain.PA appears to be an effective 
intervention for reducing depression/depressive symptoms and 
improving physical self-perceptions. 

9. Low PA was associated with increased odds for more severe SCC 
(Subjective Cognitive Complaints) in middle-aged and older adults in 
Low and Middle Income Countries (LMICs) Given the particularly rapid 
increase in dementia in LMICs, more longitudinal research is warranted 
from this setting to understand the utility of PA promotion in the 
prevention of cognitive impairment. 

 

References 

1. Physical activity and depression, anxiety, and self-esteem in children 
and youth: An umbrella systematic review. Mental Health and Physical 
Activity 
Volume 16, March 2019, Pages 66-79 

2. World Health Organisation. (2020). Guidelines on physical activity and 
sedentary behaviour. 
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/978924001512
8-eng.pdf 

3. A Prospective Health Impact Assessment of the proposed new leisure 
facilities to replace existing Church Farm leisure centre in East Barnet 
ward of the London Borough of Barnet (LBB) (2015) 

4. Takács J (2014)- Regular physical activity and mental health. The role 
of exercise in the prevention of, and intervention in depressive 
disorders. 

5. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Physical Activity and Mental Health 
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/healthadvice/treatmentswellbeing/physicalacti
vity.aspx 

6. Sport and Recreation Alliance. 2017. Reconomics Plus. 
https://www.sportandrecreation.org.uk/pages/reconomics-plus 

7. Morres ID, Hatzigeorgiadis A, Stathi A et al. Aerobic exercise for adult 
patients with major depressive disorder in mental health services: a 
systematic review and meta‐analysis. Depress Anxiety. 2019;36(1):39-
53. 

8. Physical activity and depression, anxiety, and self-esteem in children 
and youth: An umbrella systematic review. Mental Health and Physical 
Activity. Volume 16, March 2019, Pages 66-79 

Page 144

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/healthadvice/treatmentswellbeing/physicalactivity.aspx
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/healthadvice/treatmentswellbeing/physicalactivity.aspx
https://www.sportandrecreation.org.uk/pages/reconomics-plus


 

 

9. Exercise and Nutrition in Persons with Dementia Review Article Volume 
21, Issue 10, p1415-1422.E6, October 01, 2020. Physical Activity and 
Exercise in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia: An Umbrella 
Review of Intervention and Observational Studies" 

  

Page 145



 

 

Noise 

Gold standard 

1. There is a strong evidence that exposure to high levels of noise (as 
expected during the construction time) has a negative health impact. In 
particular noise causes annoyance and sleep disturbance and in severe 
cases can lead to hypertension, ischemic heart disease and even 
hearing loss. 

Other Source Evidence 

2. During the construction phase of leisure centre development, noise is 
likely to increase which can affect people living or working next to or 
near the site. There is also added risk that even after the construction 
phase is completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to 
local area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, 
air pollution and traffic congestion during peak times. 

References 

1. World Health Organisation. Environmental Noise Guidelines for the 
European Region, 2018. 

2. A Prospective Health Impact Assessment of the proposed new leisure 
facilities to replace existing Church Farm leisure centre in East Barnet 
ward of the London Borough of Barnet (LBB) (2015) 

  

Page 146



 

 

Air Quality 

Gold Standard 

1. Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure to air 
pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term 
exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also 
cause a range of health impacts, including effects on lung function, 
exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 
hospital admissions and mortality. 

2. An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion 

3. Perception of air pollution appears to constitute a barrier to participating 
in outdoor physical activity and active transport. 

4. Road transport accounts for 31% of nitrogen oxides (NOx), 19.5% 
ofPM2.5 and 18% of PM10 UK emissions 

5. A review by the World Health Organization concludes that long-term 
exposure to air pollution reduces life expectancy by increasing deaths 
from lung, heart, and circulatory conditions. 

Other Source of Evidence 

6. The construction of new leisure centre will cause increased dust and 
pollutants emitted from the building process and traffic. The provision of 
multiple car park spaces to the new site may increase traffic flow in the 
area and ultimately affect air quality. Once the construction phase is 
completed, a new leisure centre may increase the traffic flow to local 
area (more people travelling via cars) and hence generate noise, air 
pollution and traffic congestion during peak times. 

 

References 

1. PHE Guidance, Health Matters: Air Pollution 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-
pollution/health-matters-air-pollution 

2. Public Health England, "Spatial Planning for Health An evidence 
resource for planning and designing healthier places," 2017 

3. Annear et al ( 2014) Environmental influences on healthy and active 
ageing: a systematic review. Ageing and Society 34(04):590-622 

4. NICE and Public Health England, “Air pollution: outdoor air quality and 
Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70/resources/air-pollution-outdoor-
air-quality-and-health-pdf-1837627509445  

Page 147

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70/resources/air-pollution-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-pdf-1837627509445
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70/resources/air-pollution-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-pdf-1837627509445


 

 

5. Joint air quality unit , “UK plan for tacking roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations an overview,” [Online]. Available: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/633269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf  

6. A Prospective Health Impact Assessment of the proposed new leisure 
facilities to replace existing Church Farm leisure centre in East Barnet 
ward of the London Borough of Barnet (LBB) (2015) 

  

Page 148

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/633269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf


 

 

Access to Green Space 

Gold Standard 

1. In adults, there is an association between nature in the urban 
environment and positive emotions – evidence also shows links 
between a greener living environment and higher life satisfaction and 
reduced mental distress, and strong evidence of improved self-rated 
mental health and reported stress. 

Other Sources of Evidence 

2. Use of green spaces is associated with a decrease in health complaints, 
improved blood pressure and cholesterol levels, reduced stress, 
improved general health perceptions and a greater ability to face 
problems 

3. The likelihood of being physically active may be up to three times higher 
in residential environments that contain high levels of greenery, and the 
likelihood of being overweight or obese may be up to 40% less 

References 

1. Improving access to greenspace: A new review for 2020 .  Public Health 
England. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/904439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2
020_review.pdf 

2. The King's Fund, “Time to think differently,” 2018. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-
broader-determinants-health-parks-green-spaces.  

3. The institute of Public health in Ireland, “Health Impacts of the Built 
Environment a review,” 2006. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.publichealth.ie/files/file/Health_Impacts_of_the_Built_Enviro
nment_A_Review.pdf. 

  

Page 149

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health-parks-green-spaces
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health-parks-green-spaces


 

 

Active Travel 

Gold Standard 

1. Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their 
overall level of physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. 
These include: Reducing the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, obesity, and type 2 diabetes. Keeping the musculoskeletal 
system healthy. Promoting mental wellbeing.  

2. An increase in active travel can also help to reduce car travel, leading to 
reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. 
Reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of people of all 
ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction. 

3. Traffic calming measures, including speed humps, speed tables, 
cushions, and roundabouts, are associated with increased walking 
behaviour and a reduced risk of pedestrian injury 

4. An increase in walking or cycling can also help to reduce car travel, 
leading to reductions in air pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and 
congestion, reduce road danger and noise. Increase the number of 
people of all ages who are out on the streets, making public spaces 
seem more welcoming and providing opportunities for social interaction. 

 

Other Sources of Evidence 

5. Evidence has shown that those in deprived areas when a losing leisure 
facilities would result in people not using the new facilities 3 miles away. 
It was considered too far to walk and a car journey was not considered.  

 

References 

1. NICE, "Physical activity: walking and cycling - Public health guideline 
[PH41]," 2012. 

2. Public Health England, "Spatial Planning for Health An evidence 
resource for planning and designing healthier places," 2017 

3. Public Health England, "Spatial Planning for Health An evidence 
resource for planning and designing healthier places," 2017 

4. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/chapter/1-
recommendations#benefits-of-walking-and-cycling 

5. Rosimini, C. (2003) Benefits of Swimming Training for Children and 
Adolescents with asthma. Unsystematic literature review & algorithm for 
exercise prescription cited in a health impact assessment of the 
proposed closure of Brierley Hill leisure centre (2004). 

Page 150

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/chapter/1-recommendations#benefits-of-walking-and-cycling
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/chapter/1-recommendations#benefits-of-walking-and-cycling


 

 

Social Isolation 

Gold Standard Evidence 

1. Regular physical activity contributes to the key determinants of healthy 
ageing including opportunities for social interaction. There is now 
emerging evidence that increasing physical activity contributes to 
improving social functioning and reducing loneliness and social 
isolation. 

Other Sources of Evidence 

2. Over half of disabled people (53%) report of feeling lonely. Common 
barriers to reducing social isolation were problems with mobility and 
being able to get to community facilities 

3. Proximity and easy access to community assets can motivate 
individuals to engage in activities that can reduce social isolation.  
Community facilities can be particularly important in promoting social 
inclusion as well as offering a range of valuable services. If a community 
facility is proposed to be lost, its impact on the community should be 
considered. 

4. Improving neighbourhood walkability, and access to recreational and 
non-recreational destination (such as grocery stores, schools, and other 
amenities) can also impact positively upon social interaction among 
older adults. 

5. Improving access to leisure facilities  is likely to lead to greater mobility 
of the population, as well as improving health, mental and physical 
wellbeing. The Institute of Public Policy Research (IPPR) estimates that 
nationally, almost one in five over 75-year olds say that they ‘felt lonely 
much of the time during the last week’. The report also suggests that 
more than one million older people feel trapped in their own home.61 
Furthermore, a report by disability charity, Sense, found that over half of 
disabled people (53%) report of feeling lonely. Common barriers to 
reducing social isolation were problems with mobility and being able to 
get to community facilities 

References 

1. Department of Health and Social Care. (2019). UK Chief Medical 
Officers' Physical Activity Guidelines. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-
activity-guidelines.pdf 

2. MOTT Macdonald Limited South Wales Metro - Rapid Health Impact 
Assessment," 2017: 
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20I
mpact%20A assessment_2.pdf   

Page 151



 

 

3. A Prospective Health Impact Assessment of the proposed new leisure 
facilities to replace existing Church Farm leisure centre in East Barnet 
ward of the London Borough of Barnet (LBB) (2015) 

4. South Tyneside Physical Activity Strategy :2019-2022. 
file:///C:/Users/philip.ray/Downloads/South_Tyneside_Physical_Activity_
Strategy_2019%20(8).pdf  

5. South Wales Metro - Rapid Health Impact Assessment 2017 
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20I
mpact%20Assessment  

  

Page 152

file:///C:/Users/philip.ray/Downloads/South_Tyneside_Physical_Activity_Strategy_2019%20(8).pdf
file:///C:/Users/philip.ray/Downloads/South_Tyneside_Physical_Activity_Strategy_2019%20(8).pdf
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20Impact%20Assessment
https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20Impact%20Assessment


 

 

Frailty 

Gold Standard Evidence 

1. Regular physical activity effectively helps older adults improve or delay 
the loss of physical function and mobility while reducing the risk of fall-
related injuries. These important public health benefits underscore the 
importance of physical activity among older adults, especially those 
living with declining physical function and chronic health conditions. 

2. In older adults, physical activity confers benefits for the following health 
outcomes: improved all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease 
mortality, incident hypertension, incident site-specific cancers, incident 
type-2 diabetes, mental health (reduced symptoms of anxiety and 
depression), cognitive health, and sleep; measures of adiposity may 
also improve. In older adults, physical activity helps prevent falls and 
falls-related injuries and declines in bone health and functional ability. 

Other Sources of Evidence 

3. Frailty is more prevalent among older adults who exhibit insufficient 
levels of physical activity combined with a great amount of time spent in 
sedentary behaviour, even when adjusted for sociodemographic factors 

References 

1. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333535404_Physical_Activity_
Injurious_Falls_and_Physical_Function_in_Aging_An_Umbrella_Revie
w  

2. World Health Organisation. (2020). Guidelines on physical activity and 
sedentary behaviour. 
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/978924001512
8-eng.pdf 

3. da Silva, V.D., Tribess, S., Meneguci, J. et al. Association between 
frailty and the combination of physical activity level and sedentary 
behaviour in older adults. BMC Public Health 19, 709 (2019). 
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7062-0 

  

Page 153

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333535404_Physical_Activity_Injurious_Falls_and_Physical_Function_in_Aging_An_Umbrella_Review
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333535404_Physical_Activity_Injurious_Falls_and_Physical_Function_in_Aging_An_Umbrella_Review
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333535404_Physical_Activity_Injurious_Falls_and_Physical_Function_in_Aging_An_Umbrella_Review
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf


 

 

Community Cohesion 

Gold Standard Evidence 

1. For cohesion, sport and culture can bring different people together and 
build strong relationships and community spirit through involvement in 
shared interests and pleasure. They can also be used to tackle conflict 
and reduce anti-social behaviour.  Participation in sport and increased 
social capital are linked at national and individual level – those who 
participate in sports are more likely to vote, contact a politician, sign a 
petition, have higher levels of social trust and life satisfaction.  

2. The evidence review found that sport and physical activity can lead to 
social and community development through: 

• building stronger communities by bringing people from different 
backgrounds together via participating, volunteering and spectating 

• improving community links, levels of cohesion and social capital 

• improving residents’ sense of belonging in an area 

• feeling more connected to your neighbourhood or community 

• increasing levels of social trust 

3. People are more likely to be active if it is seen as ‘normal’, and if their 
friends and peers are also active. Large, community-wide campaigns 
have been effective in increasing physical activity, but only when 
supported by local level community activities. 

Other Sources of Evidence 

4. Both an individual's extent of social inclusion and the contextual effect 
of the overall level of social cohesion in his or her community are 
positively associated with physical activity. These findings indicate that 
improvements in an individual's sense of cohesion in the local 
community and the overall level of social cohesion of that community 
could both be associated with increases in physical activity 

References 

1. Department for Communities and Local Government. (2009). Guidance 
for local authorities on how to mainstream community cohesion into 
other services. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/7619/1303527.pdf 

2. Sport England’s Sport Outcomes Evidence Review  ( 2020) 
https://www.sportengland.org/know-your-audience/demographic-
knowledge  

3. Public Health England. 2014. Everybody active, every day 

Page 154

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7619/1303527.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7619/1303527.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/know-your-audience/demographic-knowledge
https://www.sportengland.org/know-your-audience/demographic-knowledge


 

 

4. Calvin Yip, Sisira Sarma, Piotr Wilk,The association between social 
cohesion and physical activity in Canada: A multilevel analysis,SSM - 
Population Health, Volume 2, 2016,Pages 718-723 

  

  

Page 155



 

 

Long Term conditions 

Gold Standard Evidence 

1. Evidence shows that regular physical activity can help prevent or 
manage many common conditions such as type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease. It also helps keep symptoms under control, 
prevent additional conditions from developing, and reduce 
inequalities.61% of people with long-term conditions and 68% of people 
with multimorbidity are not content with their physical activity levels and 
wish to be more active. ( PHE, 2020). Both exercise and physical 
activity are seen as “not for people like me” amongst inactive 
participants with multiple long-term conditions. However, research has 
found that the majority of people with a long-term health condition want 
to be active." 

2. Physical activity can confer health benefits for adults and older adults 
living with the following chronic conditions: for cancer survivors – 
physical activity improves all-cause mortality, cancer-specific mortality, 
and risk of cancer recurrence or second primary cancer; for people 
living with hypertension – physical activity improves cardiovascular 
disease mortality, disease progression, physical function, health-related 
quality of life; for people living with type-2 diabetes – physical activity 
reduces rates of mortality from cardiovascular disease and indicators 
disease progression 

3. Regular physical activity is associated with a reduced risk of a range of 
diseases including some cancers and dementia. There is also evidence 
that it can help to prevent some and manage many common chronic 
conditions and diseases, many of which are on the rise and affecting 
people at an earlier age, such as: 

• some cancers 

• obesity 

• type 2 diabetes 

• cardiovascular diseases (CVD) including coronary heart disease 
and stroke 

• hypertension 

• osteoarthritis and lower back pain 

• mental health conditions including depression and anxiety 

• dementia 

• chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma 

• musculoskeletal (MSK) conditions 

Page 156



 

 

4. Physical activity is as good or better than treatment with drugs for many 
conditions, such as type 2 diabetes and lower back pain, and has a 
much lower risk of any harm. 

 

Other Sources of Evidence 

N/A 

References 

1. Public Health England. (2020). Health matters: physical activity - 
prevention and management of long-term conditions. 
https://publichealthengland.exposure.co/health-matters-physical-
activitynbsp  

2. World Health Organisation. (2020). Guidelines on physical activity and 
sedentary behaviour. 
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/978924001512
8-eng.pdf 

3. Public Health England. (2020). Health matters: physical activity - 
prevention and management of long-term conditions. 
https://publichealthengland.exposure.co/health-matters-physical-
activitynbsp  

 

 

  

Page 157

https://publichealthengland.exposure.co/health-matters-physical-activitynbsp
https://publichealthengland.exposure.co/health-matters-physical-activitynbsp
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf


 

 

Return on Investment 

Gold Standard 

N/A 

Other Source of Evidence 

1. When measured against costs of engagement and providing 
opportunities, for every £1 spent on community sport and physical 
activity, a return on investment (ROI) of £3.91 was created for 
individuals and society. 

References 

1. Sport England. (2020). Social and Economic Value of community sport 
and physical activity in England. 

 

  

Page 158



 

 

Obesity 

 

Gold Standard 

1. Inactivity or sedentary behaviour is associated with poor health at all 
ages. Sedentary behaviour is not simply a lack of physical activity, as 
people can achieve recommended levels of physical activity but spend 
large amounts of the remaining time sedentary. The association 
between inactivity and poor health has been found to be independent of 
the level of overall physical activity. Even among individuals who are 
active at the recommended levels, spending large amounts of time 
sedentary may increase risk of some adverse health outcomes. 

2. Data suggest a growing concern for the risk sedentary behaviour may 
have on the current and future health of children and adolescents, as 
well as adults. The main body of literature available has pursued the 
relationship between overweight and obesity and sedentary behaviour. 
A combination of electronic media use and screen time are thought to 
be related to obesity and other long-term health outcomes. 

3. Today, around two-thirds (63% of adults are above a healthy weight, 
and of these half are living with obesity. We have 1 in 3 children leaving 
primary school who are already overweight or living with obesity with 1 
in 5 living with obesity.  Obesity prevalence is highest amongst the most 
deprived groups in society. Children in the most deprived parts of the 
country are more than twice as likely to be obese as their peers living in 
the richest areas. This is sowing the seeds of adult diseases and health 
inequalities in early childhood.  Obesity is associated with reduced life 
expectancy. It is a risk factor for a range of chronic diseases, including 
cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, at least 12 kinds of cancer, 
liver and respiratory disease, and obesity can impact on mental health. 

4. A wealth of evidence shows that an active life is essential for physical 
and mental health and wellbeing. A number of diseases are currently on 
the increase and affecting people at an earlier age. They include cancer 
and diabetes, and conditions like obesity, hypertension, and depression. 
Regular physical activity can guard us against these. 

Other Sources of Evidence 

5. The increase in obesity epidemic is occurring against the background of 
continuous decline in the energy expenditure required for daily living. 
Increasing PA most certainly can create energy deficit through 
increased energy expenditure. For this reason, PA, and exercise hold 
potential as part of the solution for the ongoing obesity epidemic. 

6. The stats on levels of obesity in children paint mixed but worrying 
picture. 9% of children in England are obese by the ages of 4-5 and 
levels of obesity stay high as they get older – 24% of adults in England 
now classed as obese and a further 36% as overweight.  Children in the 

Page 159



 

 

most deprived areas of England are more than twice as likely to be 
obese. Among reception (age 4-5) children, 5.7% of those in the least 
deprived areas are obese compared with 12.0% of those in the most 
deprived areas.  By the time children in the most deprived areas reach 
year 6 (age 10-11) a quarter of them are obese, compared to 11.5% of 
children in the least deprived areas. 

References 

1. PHE. Physical inactivity: economic costs to NHS clinical commissioning 
groups. London: Public Health England; 2016 

2. Sedentary Behaviour and Obesity Expert Working Group (2010). 
Sedentary Behaviour and Obesity: Review of the Current Scientific 
Evidence. London: Department of Health. 

3. Department of Health and Social Care. Tackling obesity: empowering 
adults and children to live healthier lives. 2020. 

4. Public Health England. 2014. Everybody active, every day. An 
evidence-based approach to physical activity. 

5. Petri Wiklund, The role of physical activity and exercise in obesity and 
weight management: Time for critical appraisal, Journal of Sport and 
Health Science, Volume 5, Issue 2, 2016, Pages 151-154, ISSN 2095-
2546, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2016.04.001. 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2095254616300060" 

6. House of Commons Library.  Childhood obesity an inequality issue. 
2016. https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/childhood-obesity-an-
inequality-issue/ 

 

 

  

Page 160

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2016.04.001
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2095254616300060
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/childhood-obesity-an-inequality-issue/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/childhood-obesity-an-inequality-issue/


 

 

Appendix 6 

Health Profile 

  20% higher than County Durham Average 

  20% lower than County Durham Average 

 

    Seaham 
County 
Durham 

Area 
Population 34,100 530,094 

Number of MSOAs 4 66 

IMD - MSOAs in 
30% most 
deprived 

nationally 

Overall 50% 33 

IDACI 50% 34 

IDAOPI 25% 27 

Life expectancy 

Life expectancy at birth, (upper age band 90+) 
(female) 81.1 81.3 

Life expectancy at birth, (upper age band 90+) 
(Male) 78.0 78.1 

GP registers 

% reporting a long-term mental health 
problem 15.6 14.1 

% reporting a long-term MSK problem 24.1 24.1 

% with a long-standing health condition 61.2 60.1 

Asthma: QOF prevalence (all ages) 7.2 7.3 

Cancer: QOF prevalence (all ages) 3.5 3.4 

CHD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 5.1 4.5 

COPD: QOF prevalence (all ages) 4.2 3.1 

CVD-PP: QOF prevalence (30-74) 1.2 1.4 

Dementia: QOF prevalence (all ages) 1.0 0.9 

Depression: QOF incidence (18+) - new 
diagnosis 2.0 1.8 

Diabetes: QOF prevalence (17+) 8.5 8.1 

Estimated smoking prevalence (QOF) 18.7 16.4 

Hypertension: QOF prevalence (all ages) 18.2 17.0 

Learning disability: QOF prevalence 1.2 0.7 

Page 161



 

 

Mental Health: QOF prevalence (all ages) 1.1 1.0 

Obesity: QOF prevalence (18+) 17.5 15.4 

Osteoporosis: QOF prevalence (50+) 1.2 0.8 

Older people Living alone 19.5 19.4 

Childhood obesity 
(NCMP) (3-year 

average) 

Children with excess weight Reception 23.1 24.6 

Children with excess weight Year 6 37.9 37.4 

Obese children Reception Year 10.4 10.7 

Obese children Year 6 24.4 22.6 

 

 

 

 

Population Profile  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



 

 

Location of existing members 

 

  

Page 163



 

 

Appendix 7 

Summary of recommendations 

Impact Recommendation 

Limited or 

no 

availability 

to facilities 

• Ensure that the current site continues to offer access to existing or alternative facilities to allow residents to be 

physically active whilst the new site is under construction.  Allowing access to all other DCC leisure centres so 

users can visit all other council venues as well as offering free or subsidised transportation should be considered.  

Consideration should also be given to subsidised membership fees if a centre has to fully close for any duration.   

A full list of alternative options should be collated and communicated to both members and non-members in the 

local area. 

 

• Consideration should be given to a communications plan in the lead up, during and after the construction phase to 

keep members and non-members informed of alternative facilities, timescales, and any major changes.  

Noise and 

air quality 

impact due 

to 

construction 

• No construction including demolition works shall take place until a Construction Management Plan ( CMP) has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority ( see appendix 8 of the full report for full 

details and considerations of a CMP).  

 

• It is important that these construction management plans are enforced and will require monitoring by the DCC 

Planning Enforcement Team on an ongoing basis.  

 

• Planning approvals should include a standard condition regarding operational hours for construction as to 

minimise the impact to the community. 

Change in 

Physical 

• Consider the outcome of the public consultation to determine which sites are likely to increase usage and the 

associate health benefits such as improved physical health, mental health, and social value.  For Bishop Auckland, 

90% of respondents stated that they would use the existing site the same amount or more with 86% stating it 

would help them remain physically active. For Chester le Street respondents stated that  95% would use the 

P
age 164



 

 

Activity 

Levels 

existing site and 93% the civic centre more or the same with 90% stating both sites would help them to remain 

physically active.  For Seaham, respondents stated that  93% would use the centre more or the same with 86% 

stating that it would help them to remain physically active. 

• Ensure that the site selected ensures equitable access ensuring that those of greatest health need and 

underrepresented of the community are supported to access the centre.   

 

• Link to local organisations and partners to increase use and knowledge of the centre such as third sector 

organisations, schools, colleges, and workplaces.  This could be supported by an engagement strategy (including 

marketing and comms plan) including links to current assets such as community champions , County Durham 

Together and existing schemes.  For example, consider recommending to all businesses in the vicinity to take part 

in the Better Health at Work Award. 

 

• To ensure equitable access to the leisure centre links should be made to the DCC poverty action group to help 

poverty proof leisure centres across County Durham.  This will help to engage with communities and groups that 

are less likely to be engaged in physical activity and attend a leisure centre. 

Increased 

Traffic / 

Active 

Travel 

• To maximise health impact, consider how active travel can increase connectivity and be encouraged to enable 

leisure centre users and residents to use this form of transport to avoid increased car use, parking issues including 

congestion and pollution. This can be done by improving and building safe walking and cycling infrastructure to 

support safe active travel and a desirable mode of transport.  Ensure appropriate signage and appropriate 

lightning is used and ensure regular maintenance is carried out on the infrastructure to encourage continued use 

to ensure associated benefits. 

 

• Each centre to have a sustainable travel plan prior to its opening and to be reviewed on a 6-monthly basis with 

relevant DCC colleagues. 

 

P
age 165



 

 

• Infrastructure should be in line with ‘Gear Change, the government's new plan for cycling and walking.  Establish 

whether any funding from government for infrastructure could be used /applied for. Funding from Government will 

now require local highway schemes to deliver or improve cycling infrastructure following the Government's new 

Local Transport Note (LTN) 1/20 Cycle Infrastructure Design guidance. Therefore, all walking and cycling 

infrastructure should be designed in line with the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Design Training delivered to 

DCC staff in December 2020.  Work with relevant colleagues in DCC, such as Transport, to ensure infrastructure 

good practice is adhered to. 

 

• Any new roads should be designed to ease potential traffic congestion and the associated levels of air and noise 

pollution. 

 

• Where possible link to the local walking and cycling infrastructure plans (LCWIP) locally and the align to the 

current County Durham walking and cycling strategy as well the development of the physical activity strategy for 

County Durham.  To encourage more people to cycle, the roll out of the ‘ Borrow a Bike’ scheme could be 

considered around each of the sites as well as safe cycle storage.  

Change in 

appearance 

of an area 

• It is recommended that once a site is selected, the leisure transformation team commence a period of engagement 

work with communities, during the planning phase, to consider appearance of the new centre and how it can 

maximise positive improvements for the appearance of the local area. 

 

• Ensure early engagement with the Local Planning Authority, through the Design Review process, to ensure 

conformity with the policy requirements of the County Durham Plan and develop a high-quality design. 

 

• Ensure proposals link with DCC priorities to support health and climate change for example maximising the 

amount of green and blue space.  Explore possible links to projects such as the DCC clean and green team 

P
age 166



 

 

planting trees across the county as part of the wider Forestry Commission's Urban Tree Challenge, a funded 

project to increase tree coverage in urban areas. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 167



 

98 
 

Appendix 8 

Construction Management Plan 

The Construction Management Plan shall include as a minimum but not 
necessarily be restricted to the following:  

• A Dust Action Plan including measures to control the emission of 
dust and dirt during construction.  

• Full specification and details of all non-road mobile machinery 
(NRMM) so as to inform their potential air pollution emissions.  

• Details of methods and means of noise reduction.  

• Where construction involves penetrative piling, details of methods 
for piling of foundations including measures to suppress any 
associated noise and vibration.  

• Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material 
migrating onto the highway from construction vehicles (inclusive of 
wheel washing).  

• Designation, layout and design of construction access and egress 
points.  

• Details for the provision of directional signage (on and off site).  

• Details of contractor’s compounds, materials storage, and other 
storage arrangements, including cranes and plant, equipment, and 
related temporary infrastructure.  

• Details of provision for all site operatives for the loading and 
unloading of plant, machinery, and materials.  

• Details of provision for all site operatives, including visitors and 
construction vehicles for parking and turning within the site during 
the construction period.  

• Routing agreements for construction traffic.  

• Details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding 
including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate.  

• Site Waste Management - inclusive of a waste audit and scheme 
for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing of waste resulting 
from demolition and construction works.  

• Detail of measures for liaison with the local community and 
procedures to deal with any complaints received.  

• Details/commitment to ensure that the annual average daily 
demolition/construction vehicular trips will not exceed 25 HDV 
movements per day over the demolition/construction period in its 
entirety.  

The Construction Management Plan shall have regard to BS 5228 Noise and 
Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites during the planning and 
implementation of site activities and operations. The approved Construction 
Management Plan shall also be adhered to throughout the construction period 

Page 168



 

99 
 

and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction works. 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 5:  High Level Technical Appraisal  

Technical Assessment Purpose and Methodology used 

1 In order to determine, from a technical perspective the most suitable site 
for the development of a new leisure centre, a technical assessment was 
carried out on each potential site.   

2 This technical assessment represents a high-level site options appraisal 
and encompassed a number of factors which are considered to be key in 
determining whether a site is suitable for development for a leisure 
facility.   

3 The process undertaken as part of the technical assessment was in two 
stages.  In the first instance Alliance Leisure prepared a site options 
appraisal for each site. This included an assessment of a number of 
factors including: 

(a) Surrounding uses; 

(b) Heritage and Conservation; 

(c) Footprint and Ownership; 

(d) Microclimate; 

(e) Accessibility and Transport links; 

(f) Transport Analysis; 

(g) Site Constraints; 

(h) Opportunities afforded by site development; 

(i) Test fit: an assessment of whether the different size of centres could 
be accommodated on the site. 

4 These factors were then further refined by into a scoring matrix which 
although still at a high level included an additional layer of granularity.  
The areas set out in the Table 1 below were considered separately and 
scored out of 10.  These scores were then totalled to provide a score for 
each site, the maximum score obtainable for each site was 180.   

5 Table 1 

1. Footprint: can the site accommodate the proposal 

Page 171



 

2.Location: is the site central within the community? 

3.Parking: can sufficient parking be accommodated on the site? 

4.Accessibility: is the site easily accessible by cars/bikes/pedestrians? 

5.Visibility: is the site visible from key points? 

6.Opportunities: any unique opportunities available through development? 

7. Topography: any fundamental constraint regarding topography? 

8.Natural environment: any fundamental constraints regarding the natural 
environment? 

9.Heritage: any fundamental constraints regrading heritage? 

10. Ownership is the site currently owned by DCC? 

11. Land: are there any specific land issues affecting the site 

12.Regeneration and development: would development of the site bring 
about any opportunities 

13.Transport: are there good transport links 

14.Leisure: 

15.Wellbeing 

16.Buildability: does the development of the site bring any particular 
challenges 

17.Affordability: any specific costs 

18. Programme: Any site-specific risks to the programme 

6 This information was then subjected to a more detailed review, challenge 
and refinement involving officers within the council.  This was to test 
feasibility having regard to the programme aims and objectives and 
based on more detailed site-specific knowledge.   

 

7 This process involved scoring out of 5 a number of key criteria.  The 
criteria were weighted on a scale of 1 to 5 based on experience from 
previous capital investment decisions, with subsequent testing and 
moderation of the matrix to ensure that the resulting output represented 
“common sense”.  Details of the criteria and weightings used are shown 
in Table 2 below: 

Page 172



 

8 Table 2 

9 When determining the appropriate weighting to be applied to each factor, 
careful consideration was given to ensure that areas weren’t missed or 
indeed double counted.  For example, when considering the weighting 
applied to ‘low carbon/sustainability it can be seen from the table above 
that this only received a weighting of 1.  Low carbon and sustainability 
are both high priorities for the council.   

 

10 As part of the technical appraisal the council’s low carbon team 

independently prepared a detailed sustainability assessment for each 

site.  It was found on reviewing these that many of the criteria used had 

already been scored under other headings within the technical appraisal.  

Examples include transport accessibility, proximity to residential areas, 

co-location opportunities and conservation. It was considered that leaving 

these as individually scored areas provided a more refined approach and 

gave greater importance, through the scoring and weighting used, to the 

Weighting 1 Weighting 2 Weighting 3 Weighting 4 

Capital receipt 

loss/regen 

opportunities 

Ecology  Contamination Ownership 

Trees Special façade 

treatments  

Flooding Size and topography  

Visibility Temporary 

accommodation 

required e.g. site 

cabins  

HRA Highways 

Views out Construction impact Heritage Parking (planning 

requirement) 

Programme – layer 

of works (consider 

bats etc) 

Build location Conservation Proximity to town  

Low 

carbon/Sustainability 

Public Rights of Way Archaeology  Proximity to residential 

areas  

  Footpaths/Cycleways Sequential assessment 

required 

  Public transport links  Stacking  

  Utilities Maintaining service 

provision (so members 

remain) 

  Existing pitches & co-

location 

Affordability 

  Poverty proofing Programme 

  Wellbeing/inclusion/co

mmunity 

cohesion/social value 

 

Page 173



 

low carbon agenda than simply placing a single collective score on this 

area.  

 

11 Table 3 below sets out in more detail what was considered within each of 

the criteria as well as how the criteria was grouped against 10 main 

headings.  The numbers in brackets reflect the weighting applied to each 

of the areas assessed.    

 

Page 174



 

Land  

Ownership (4) • Is the land owned by DCC? 

Capital receipt/Regen opportunities (1) • Can any existing sites be sold if the scheme progress? 

• Are there any other regen opportunities? 
Contamination (3) • Is there a requirement for a contaminated land condition? 

• Is there known contamination on the site 

• Are there any other underground known risks such as coal workings etc 
Size and topography (4) • Is the size large enough for the proposed development? 

• Is the topography of the site acceptable for the development? 
Flooding (3) • Are there any flooding issues with the site? 

Effects on natural environment  

HRA (A Habitats Regulations Assessment) (3) • Is a HRA Assessment required for this site? 

Heritage (3) • Are there any known heritage assets near the site? 

• There are non-designated heritage assets – these are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas, or 
landscapes identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions 
because of their heritage interest but which do not meet the criteria for designated heritage assets. 

• Designated heritage assets - The purpose of designating heritage assets is to ensure that the 
significance and character of the asset in question is protected through the planning system, to ensure 
they are passed on to future generations. 

Conservation (3) • Is the site within a conservation area 

• Does the site affect a Conservation area 

Trees (1) • Are there mature trees on the site 

• Will any trees need protection during the work? 

• Will there be a requirement to remove any trees during the development? 
Ecology (2) • Will any ecological surveys/appraisals be required before work can commence on the development? 

P
age 175



 

12 Table 3 

Archaeology (3) • Are there any areas of archaeological interest on or near the site? 

• Is there a risk that any investigation work is required before the scheme commences? 

• Is there a risk that the work could be halted on site due to archaeologic discoveries? 

P
age 176



 

 

Infrastructure  

Footpaths/Cycleways (3) • Are there existing footpath and cycleways to the site? 

• Can improvements be made to these as part of the work? 

• Is there enough space on and around the site to make these improvements? 
Public transport links (3) • Are there good public transport links to the site? 

• Are there a number of bus stops near to the site? 
Highways (4) • Are any highways improvements required to the site? 

• Will these be acceptable to the planning authority? 

• Are any further traffic surveys required? 
Parking (4) • Is there enough parking on the site already? 

• Is there space on the site for enough parking? 

• Can any areas of parking lost to the development be re-provided on the site? 

• Are there alterative locations identified to move areas of parking to if none of the above are possible? 
Public Rights of Way (2) • Are there PROW on this site? 

• Are they affected by the development? 
Utilities (3) • How close are existing public utilities to the site? 

• Are there any utilities on the site that would require a diversion? 

• Is there likely to be a loss of service to the surrounding buildings as a result of the work? 
Proximity  

Visibility (1) • Can the new development be seen from main roads? 

Proximity to town (4) • How close is the development to the centre of town? 

• Are the facilities and services nearby? 
Proximity to residential areas (4) • How close is the development to residential areas? 

Sequential assessment required (4) • Is a planning sequential assessment required as part of the planning process? 

Design/planning  

Stacking (4) • Is the site large enough to build a single storey building? 

• Will scale and massing affect surrounding area? 
Special façade treatments (2) • Is the building façade close to any other buildings which may be impacted? 

• Is the building in a location where façade treatments need to withstand the elements? 
Views out (1) • Are there any views out from the building? 

P
age 177



 

 

Buildability  

Maintaining service provision (4) 

 

• Can the existing facility(s) remain open during the build so that building users do not go elsewhere? 

Temporary accommodation required (2) • If not the above, is any temporary accommodation required such a cabin? 

• Will the temporary facility put users off? 

• Or is relocation required to another location? 
Construction impact (2) • How will the construction period affect the local community? 

Programme/layers of work (1) • Are there many layers to the programme or is it relatively simple? 
 

Build location (2) • How difficult will the build process be for the contractor?    

Affordability   

Affordability (4) • How does the current cost compare with the original base cost estimates?  

• Note: Extra Over options excluded from scoring 
Programme (4) • How does the length of the programme compare to the other sites? 

Leisure  

Co – location opportunities (3) • Is there an opportunity to co locate the Leisure Centre with other complimentary building uses? 

• Examples include other leisure facilities, libraries, or other public buildings. 
Outdoor facilities (3) • Is there space on the site for outdoor facilities? 

Social values   

Inclusion (3) • Proximity to work with other complimentary services 

Poverty proofing (3) • Equality of access for those who don’t travel by car 

Energy/carbon opportunities  

Low carbon/sustainability (1) • Based on sustainability assessment 

P
age 178



 

 

13 A summary from the detailed assessment for each site, based on the 

criteria above is set out in the following pages along with further detailed 

explanation of the information behind the conclusions reached for each 

site.   

 

14 It should be noted that at this stage in any site selection process the 

conclusions reached are based on factual information available, 

preliminary site investigations and through discussions with the various 

technical teams.  It is not, at this stage in any site selection process 

normal practice to carry out extensive and costly site investigations for 

each site.  This exercise will be carried out once a preferred site has 

been selected.  This will allow further refinement of the information 

currently available on the preferred site and assist in quantifying some of 

the unknown elements.  

 

15 As with any technical appraisal at this stage in a project there is a degree 

of subjectiveness that needs to be applied by the technical team.  

16 Table 4 Seaham summary assessment  

SEAHAM SITE Existing Dock Top St John Square 

Land 71 46 61 

Natural environment 74 50 60 

Infrastructure 82 57 74 

Proximity 60 57 53 

Design/planning 31 18 15 

Buildability 52 40 47 

Affordability 40 28 24 

Leisure 27 21 21 

Social value 30 24 30 

Energy/Carbon 

opportunities 

4 2 2 

TOTAL 471/505 345/505 387/505 

 

Page 179



 

 

 

17 The following tables are colour coded for ease of reference:  The colour 

coding reflects the allocation of points to each area.  

 5 points 

 4 points 

 3 points 

 2 points 

 1 point 

 

18 Table 5 Seaham detailed technical assessment 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

Land    

Ownership (4) Site is owned by DCC  

 

 

                                20 

Not all of the site that 

would be required is 

owned by DCC  

                                 8 

Site is owned by DCC 

 

 

20 

Capital 

receipts/regeneration 

opportunities (1) 

The existing site, given 

its size and location 

within proximity to 

other large residential 

areas would be ideal 

for residential 

development. 

 

 

 

 

                                  4 

Possible claw back 

issues from previous 

developments on this 

site. 

Good site to support 

visitor and tourism 

aspiration.  However 

current lack of car 

parking makes this 

more challenging.  

                                  2 

Existing site suitable 

for housing but 

dependant on whether 

pitches have to remain 

Beneficial to support 

the development of the 

high street and 

surrounding areas as 

part of the visitor 

attractions  

5 

Contamination (3) There is no 

requirement for a 

contaminated land 

condition however, SI 

would be required. 

 

 

 

 

Being previously 

developed land, Made 

Ground will exist on 

site and there is the 

potential for some land 

contamination. Given 

the proposal the risks 

are considered 

low/moderate, 

depending on the 

Being previously 

developed, Made 

Ground will exist on 

site and there is the 

potential for some land 

contamination and the 

requirement for ground 

gas protection 

measures.  A land 

contamination 

Page 180



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                12 

depth of the Made 

Ground, A land 

contamination 

condition would be 

required should this 

progress as the 

preferred site.  

                                  9 

condition would be 

required should this 

progress as preferred 

site.  

 

 

 

9 

Size and topography 

(4) 

Flat site which can 

accommodate all 

building options. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                20 

The site is tight for a 

development of this 

size with some 

aspects being 

extremely narrow. The 

site also slopes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                12 

There are reservations 

about a development 

of this size on this site 

within the town centre. 

Site is constrained in 

terms of space. It is 

the smallest site of the 

three and is 

constrained by 

development on all 

sides. 

12 

Flooding (3) N/A as not on or 

adjacent to flood plain. 

                                15 

N/A as not on or 

adjacent to flood plain. 

                                15 

N/A as not on or 

adjacent to flood plain. 

15 

Totals for land 71 46 61 

Effects on natural 

environment 

   

HRA Habitat 

Regulations 

Assessment (3) 

The site would likely 

be screened out from 

requiring HRA 

Appropriate 

Assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

An HRA Appropriate 

Assessment would be 

required due to 

proximity of SPA.  The 

site is located within 

the 6km of the Durham 

heritage Coast.  In line 

with Policy 42, any 

development proposal 

within the buffer must 

assess and mitigate 

against any negative 

impacts of 

development on the 

protected sites along 

the coast.  Considered 

a leisure centre use 

would be acceptable 

The site would likely 

be screened out from 

requiring HRA 

Appropriate 

Assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

 

 

                                15 

as no residential use is 

proposed.   

                                 9 

 

 

15 

Heritage (3) There is a potential 

impact on the setting 

of schedules 

monument Dalden 

Tower.  Boundary 

treatment to be 

considered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                15 

Detracts from the 

setting of the various 

heritage assets 

including, the Grade 

11 listed former Police 

station, Grade 11 

listed War Memorial 

and Grade 11 listed 

statue of the Marquess 

of Londonderry. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                  9 

There are several 

designated and non-

designated heritage 

assets near the site.  A 

large structure on the 

site has the potential 

to detrimentally impact 

on the setting of the 

designated heritage 

assets. 

Any proposal would 

have to consider the 

Volunteer Arms Public 

House, which is a non-

designated heritage 

asset. 

The site appears to 

have been intended to 

serve as a ‘civic 

square’ but is now 

used for car parking.  

The CMP suggests 

terraced reinstatement 

along the northern 

boundary of the site to 

reinforce the 

appreciation of the 

‘square’.  The creation 

of a large structure 

would go against 

these 

recommendations.  

 

6 

Conservation (3) Site is outside the 

setting of Seaham 

Conservation Area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A substantial building 

in this location is likely 

to have a negative 

impact on the 

character and 

appearance of the 

conservation area as 

well as detract from 

the setting of the 

various heritage 

assets. Furthermore, 

Seaham Conservation 

Area lies immediately 

to the north. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                15 

development on this 

site as proposed 

would neither sustain 

nor enhance the 

conservation area.  

Consideration should 

be given to the 

recommendations 

within the 

Conservation 

Management Plan if 

development is to be 

pursued on this site.  

The construction of a 

substantial leisure 

centre building in this 

location which has 

potential to be 

unavoidably block like 

in appearance would 

have a negative 

impact on the 

character and 

appearance of the 

conservation area.  

                                  6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 

Trees (1) Some tree removal 

likely for new access.  

Any development 

should seek to 

minimise tree loss in 

the creation of a new 

access. 

                                  4 

Not considered to be 

any implications. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                  5 

No trees 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 

Ecology (2) At this stage it is 

considered that there 

would be no impact.  

 

 

 

 

10  

Considered that a 

geological appraisal of 

the whole site would 

be required. 

 

 

 

6 

As this is an existing 

car park site it is not 

considered that there 

would be no impact on 

ecology and no need 

to carry out ecology 

surveys.  

10 

Archaeology (3) No impact 

15 

No impact 

15 

No impact 

15 

Page 183



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

Totals for natural 

environment 

74 50 60 

Infrastructure    

Footpaths/Cycleways 

(3) 

Offer opportunities to 

improve footpath 

connections to 

Deneside Park and the 

surrounding residential 

properties.  There 

should be provision for 

pedestrian and cycle 

access at the existing 

access and through 

the adjacent subway.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 

The constrained 

nature of the site 

leaves little space to 

accommodate 

improved footways 

and access routes.  To 

further encourage 

active travel and meet 

requirements of Policy 

21 detailed 

development 

proposals should 

make provision for 

cyclists, through 

designated cycle 

parking and storage 

areas and relevant 

infrastructure.  It 

should be noted that 

the road is busy.  This 

is a consideration for 

both pedestrians 

crossing the road to 

access town centre 

and for traffic. 

3 

Existing are in place 

and no change. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15 

Public Transport links 

(3) 

Good transport links, 

with 7 bus stops in 

proximity.  Walking 

possible from 

residential area.  A 

large proportion of 

customers are able to 

reach the site within 

10 mins on public 

transport.   

                                15  

The site is easily 

accessible by public 

transport.  There are 6 

bus stops in local 

proximity.  

 

 

 

 

 

                               15 

Good public transport 

links within the town 

centre.  There are 5 

bus stops within local 

proximity.  

 

 

 

 

 

15 

Highways (4) New vehicular access 

could work but at a 

cost.  There would be 

no pedestrian access 

here but will remain to 

the north of the site.  

It should be noted that 

the road is busy.  This 

is a consideration for 

both pedestrians 

crossing the road to 

the centre and for 

traffic management.        

As existing 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

16 12 20 

Parking (4) No adverse parking 

comments, site large 

enough for leisure 

centre provision. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                20 

Parking in Seaham 

would be badly 

affected by the loss of 

current informal 

parking on the site 

with no obvious place 

to displace current 

demand.  Although the 

site is in a highly 

sustainable location 

the development 

would result in the 

displacement of a 

significant volume of 

car parking with a very 

high daily demand 

from users – 

replacement parking 

would need to be 

provided.  Parking 

control would be 

required as existing 

users would be likely 

to continue to use the 

leisure centre car 

parking provided.  A 

new access would 

also be required.  

Further more detailed 

investigations are 

required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 

Although in a highly 

accessible and 

sustainable location, 

the development 

would require 

displacement of a 

significant volume of 

existing parking 

provision within an 

existing car park. 

Replacement of this 

car parking area would 

be required as without 

it there would be a 

significant detrimental 

impact on residential 

amenity.  The site 

could not provide a 

suitable level of on-site 

parking to meet the 

development 

requirements.  Any 

proposal for the 

development of this 

site will need to 

include parking to 

replace what is 

already on St John’s 

Square and the 

additional spaces 

required for the leisure 

centre.   

Further more detailed 

investigations are 

required to include 

investigation into 

suitability of alternative 

sites to provide 

replacement car 

parking provision. 

8 

Public Rights of Way 

(2) 

None affected. 

10 

None affected. 

10 

None affected. 

10 

Utilities (3) There are no known 

issues on this site. 

There are no known 

issues on this site. 

There is a main sewer 

running through the 

Page 185



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

There would be a 

requirement for 

sustainable drainage 

systems which would 

be considered through 

design of the scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 

There would be a 

requirement for 

sustainable drainage 

systems which would 

be considered through 

design of the scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 

site which is shown on 

NWL utilities plans. 

There is also an 

electric cupboard 

shown on the site. 

More detailed 

investigations are 

required. 

As with other sites 

there would be a 

requirement for 

sustainable drainage 

through design of the 

scheme. 

6 

Total for 

Infrastructure 

82 57 74 

Proximity    

Visibility (1) Not a visible location, 

however moving the 

building nearer the 

road will help. 

 

                                  4 

A landmark building 

could be created in 

this location.  The site 

offers great visibility 

and presence. 

                                 5 

The site is not easily 

visible, due to the 

surrounding properties 

and no view out.  

 

1 

Proximity to town (4) Although not in the 

town centre, there is 

good access to 

existing facilities and 

services.  The site is 

located on an out of 

centre location, 

therefore less 

preferable from a town 

centre standpoint.  

However, it should not 

be rules out for this 

reason.  

                                16 

Next to the hight street 

and shopping centre 

beachfront.  There are 

numerous facilities 

and services within 

proximity of the site.  

The site is close to the 

main town centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

                               20 

There are numerous 

facilities and services 

within proximity of the 

site, and it is close to 

the town centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 

Proximity to residential 

areas (4) 

The existing site is 

fully accessible, being 

within proximity to the 

residential area.  

 

 

In terms of 

accessibility, the site is 

further from the 

resident population 

than the existing 

facility.  The site is 

In terms of 

accessibility the site is 

further from the 

resident population 

than the existing 

facility.  

Page 186



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

 

 

                                20 

detached from the 

local population. 

                                12 

 

 

12 

Sequential 

assessment 

requirements (4) 

In terms of the 

sequential test 

required in CDP Policy 

9 and Part 7 of the 

NPPF, it is not 

considered that one 

would be required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                20 

The site lies within the 

boundary of Seaham 

town centre and is 

preferable in terms of 

the NPPF and CDF 

Policy 9’s town centre 

first approach for main 

town centre uses.  

Locating the new 

leisure centre within 

the town centre would 

also help protect it 

vitality and viability by 

helping to diversify it 

sues to move away 

from a reliance on 

retail.  

                                20 

The site lies within the 

boundary of Seaham 

town centre and would 

be preferable in terms 

of the NPPF and CDP 

Policy 9’s town centre 

first approach for main 

town centre uses. 

Locating the new 

leisure centre within 

the town centre would 

also help protect its 

vitality and viability by 

helping to diversify its 

uses to move away 

from a reliance on 

retail. 

20  

Totals for proximity 60 57 53 

Design/planning    

Stacking (4) Building would not 

need to be stacked. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 

The second and third 

options for the new 

build leisure centre 

would be too large for 

the site without 

needing to stack the 

building and so would 

result in a mass 

considerably larger 

than the surrounding 

context.  A leisure 

centre with multiple 

storeys would block 

views and potentially 

have negative impacts 

on the surrounding 

areas, given the site’s 

prominent position of 

the coast.  

8 

Likely to be stacked. 

Issues around the 

scale and massing of 

a multi-storey leisure 

centre building.  

Difficult to 

accommodate a 

building of the scale 

envisaged without a 

loss of scale and 

quality of the public 

real and the setting of 

adjacent buildings 

currently adjacent to 

an open civic square. 

 

 

 

 

8 

Page 187



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

Special façade 

treatments (2) 

Not considered to 

require any special 

treatment. 

 

 

                                10 

Marine environment – 

higher specification of 

materials to consider. 

 

6 

Residential streets 

look onto the site – 

consideration to 

façade treatments and 

height of building. 

6 

Views out (1) Potential for views 

across playing fields. 

 

4 

Potential industrial 

outlook, although 

could be pleasant 

overlooking frontage. 

4 

No views out, site is 

surrounded. 

 

1 

Total 

design/planning 

31 18 15 

Buildability    

Maintaining service 

provision (4) 

Existing venue can 

remain in operation 

when the new build is 

taking place. 

                                20 

Existing venue can 

remain in operation 

when the new build is 

taking place. 

                                20 

Existing venue can 

remain in operation 

when the new build is 

taking place. 

20 

Temporary 

accommodation 

required (2) 

There is no 

requirement for any 

temporary facilities. 

                               10 

Relocation of the Sure 

start will be required. 

 

6 

There is no 

requirement for any 

temporary facilities. 

10 

Construction impact 

(2) 

Consideration would 

need to be given to 

noise/dust/light/odour 

and impact upon 

residential amenity.  

Appropriate 

assessments in 

relation to air quality 

would be required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                  8 

Consideration would 

need to be given to 

noise/dust/light/odour 

and impact upon 

residential amenity.  

Appropriate 

assessments in 

relation to air quality 

would be required.  

Closet residential 

properties to the north 

at Marques Point.  

Careful consideration 

would need to be 

given to the design of 

the proposals and the 

impacts upon its 

surroundings.  

                                  6 

Consideration would 

need to be given to 

noise/dust/light/odour 

and impact upon 

residential amenity.  

Appropriate 

assessments in 

relation to air quality 

would be required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 

Page 188



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

Programme/layers of 

work (1) 

Demolition of existing 

leisure centre.        

New access road. 

New build leisure 

centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

4 

Demolition of existing 

leisure centre 

Demolition of 

Surestart,  Relocation 

of Surestart,               

New build leisure 

centre.                             

New build changing 

facility on existing site 

for pitches.             

2 

Demolition of existing 

building to be 

included.                 

New build changing 

facility on existing site. 

New build leisure 

centre. 

 

 

 

3 

Build location (2) No issues – new 

entrance to the 

building will create 

separate site access 

road. 

 

10 

Challenging location 

for major build. 

 

 

 

 

6 

Challenging location 

for major build, plus 

site would struggle to 

receive major pool 

related deliveries 

(chemicals/gas). 

6  

Totals for 

Buildability 

52 40 47 

Affordability and 

programme 

   

Affordability (4) Provisional allowance 

made for improved 

connections to 

Deneside Park. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 

Pitches will have to 

remain on existing site 

at Seaham, where 

changing facilities will 

need to be provided. 

Sure start to relocate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16 

Additional design and 

build considerations 

for parking which 

would require further 

consideration and 

assessment.  May 

result in buildability 

challenges if existing 

parking required to 

remain for existing 

facility.  This could 

result in multi storey 

car parking or leisure 

facility on multi levels,  

12 

Programme (4) Minimal risk 

adjustment to base 

programme for core 

facility mix. 

 

 

Moderate risk 

adjustment to base 

cost/programme for 

facility mix. 

 

 

Additional design and 

build consideration for 

parking which would 

require further 

consideration and 

assessment and may 

result in programme 

extension. 

Page 189



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

                                20                                 12 12 

Totals for 

Affordability 

40 28 24 

Leisure    

Co-location 

opportunities (3) 

The library is already 

near the leisure 

centre. Obvious co-

location with outdoor 

facilities on a single 

site is preferable and 

more operationally 

viable. 

                                12  

Good opportunity to 

interface with water 

sport provision. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                15 

There are several 

complimentary 

buildings surrounding 

the site. 

 

 

 

 

15 

Outdoor provision (3) The site can easily 

accommodate the 

required playing pitch 

provision and makes 

operational sense to 

utilise shared 

infrastructure to deliver 

services at a single 

location. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                15 

The site is too small to 

accommodate a build 

option that includes 

playing pitch provision 

and it is operationally 

less viable and cost 

effective to consider 

operating across two 

separate locations (i.e. 

if pitches remain on 

the existing site at 

Seaham, where 

changing facility will 

need to be provided). 

                                  6 

The site is too small to 

accommodate a build 

option that includes 

playing pitch provision 

and it is operationally 

less viable and cost 

effective to consider 

operating across two 

separate locations (i.e. 

if pitches remain on 

the existing site at 

Seaham, where 

changing facility will 

need to be provided). 

6  

Totals for Leisure 27 21 21 

Social Value    

Inclusion (3) Proximity to key areas 

of deprivation and low 

socio-economic 

groups makes the 

potential for health 

impact and social 

return on investment 

much higher. 

 

 

 

 

 

The placement of the 

leisure centre in this 

location may displace 

already established 

family based services 

and provision due to 

the loss or effect on 

the one -point centre.  

Tis site may also have 

an adverse effect on 

other community 

provision suppressing 

rather than 

Site has proximity with 

other services which 

offer good 

opportunities for wider 

working and inclusion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 190



 

 

 Existing Site Seaham Dock Top St John’s Square 

 

 

                                15 

complimenting the 

water sports centre.  

                                  9 

 

 

15 

Poverty proofing (3) Good transport and 

proximity to housing 

and pedestrian links 

mean the site will 

impact less on low 

income families in 

terms of poverty 

proofing access. 

                                15 

Good transport and 

proximity to housing 

and pedestrian links 

mean the site will 

impact less on low 

income families in 

terms of poverty 

proofing access. 

                                15 

Good transport and 

proximity to local 

services and 

pedestrian links mean 

the site will impact less 

on low income families 

in terms of poverty 

proofing access. 

15 

Totals for Social 

value 

30 24 30 

Energy/carbon 

opportunities 

   

Low 

carbon/sustainability 

(1) 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken and rated 

as good. 

                                  4 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken and rated 

as poor. 

                                  2 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken and rated 

as poor. 

2 

Totals for 

Energy/Carbon 

opportunities 

4 2 2 

Overall Totals 471/505 345/505 387/505 

 

  

Page 191



 

 

19 Table 6 Chester-Le-Street Assessment Summary  

CHESTER-LE-STREET 

SITE 

Existing Civic Riverside 

Land 58 69 58 

Natural environment 48 60 51 

Infrastructure 70 85 77 

Proximity 54 64 33 

Design/planning 34 33 35 

Buildability 26 51 51 

Affordability 32 32 28 

Leisure 15 24 27 

Social value 21 30 21 

Energy/Carbon 

opportunities 

3 4 2 

TOTAL 361/505 452/505 383/505 

 

20 Table 7 Chester-le-Street Detailed Technical Assessment 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

Land    

Ownership (4) Site is owned by DCC     
  
 
 
                                          20 

Site is owned by DCC 
 
 
 

20 

The site is owned by 
DCC but mine and 
minerals owned by 
church 
                                       12 

Capital receipt/regen 

opportunities (1) 

If the building is located 
here, the Civic Centre site 
could be sold for housing 
or retail. 
 
                                                                                     
 
                                              

5 

If the existing site is 
vacated, this land could 
be sold for housing.  If 
the library site is vacant 
this could also be sold, 
or the building could be 
offered up for an 
alternative use. 

5 

Using this site, other 
DCC sites could be 
developed or represent 
significant 
capital receipts.  
 

                                                                    
 

5 

Page 192



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

Contamination (3) The site is considered 
suitable for the proposed 
use in terms of land 
contamination. However, 
further investigation work 
is required to determine 
extent. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                             9 

Contamination - 
Asbestos and PAH 
contamination on site, 
Gas risk is amber and 
monitoring wells 
proposed for further 
investigation, A 
remediation strategy 
will be required, and a 
land contamination 
condition would be 
required.   
                                         9 

There is no requirement 
for a contaminated land 
condition. However, 
further investigation 
work is required to 
determine extent. 

                                                                   
 
 
 
 

 
                                   9 

Size and topography 

(4) 

Tight site and the 

topography of the site is a 

cause for concern as the 

current facility sits in a dip 

but could be used in the 

design to alleviate some 

costs.  Proposal could 

include an under-croft 

parking or pool tank. 

  

                                            12 

This is a large site and 

can accommodate all 

build options. 

If the leisure centre is 

built here, potential 

development 

opportunities would 

remain to the rear of 

the site.   

                                                           

20 

The site is large and can 

easily accommodate 

all build options, the 

site presents a very 

good opportunity for a 

Leisure Hub of 

significant standing. 

 

                                                                 

 

20 

Flooding (3) Flood plain to the north of 

the site.   

                                           12 

No issue. 

                                                            

15 

Flooding territory on 

the east. 

12                                                                  

Totals for land 58 69 58 

Effects on natural 

environment 

   

HRA (A Habitats 

Regulations 

Assessment) (3) 

The site would likely be 
screened out from 
requiring HRA Appropriate 

Assessment N/A 
                                      

15 
                            

The site would likely be 
screened out from 
requiring HRA 
Appropriate Assessment 
N/A     
                                   15 

The site would likely be 
screened out from 
requiring HRA 
Appropriate Assessment 
N/A   

                                 15 

Heritage (3) Within the setting of high-
status designated heritage 
assets, including scheduled 
monument (Roman Fort) 

There will be limited 
impact on the setting of 
designated heritage 
assets. 

Grade II listed 
registered Park and 
Garden to eastern 
boundary – Lumley 

Page 193



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

to the west and Grade I 
listed Church of St. 
Cuthbert.  
                                             9 

                                                            
 
 

15 

Castle.  Lumley Castle is 
also Grade II listed in its 
own right.                           
 9 

Conservation (3) Site is in a sensitive 
location being within the 
setting Chester le Street 
Conservation Area. There 
is the potential for 
enhancement, but this 
could be a challenge.  
 
 
 
 
 
                                              9 

The site is within the 
setting of the 
conservation area 
however there is 
extensive development 
around the site which 
would limit any 
potential impact on the 
setting.  Design quality 
is key to a successful 
scheme in this location. 
 
                                       12 

Conservation Area to 
the northwest of the 
site albeit at a distance. 
Some adverse effect on 
open AHLV landscape 
likely from development 
of large building though 
seen in visual 
association with 
pavilion style buildings 
to north and residential 
areas to the west  
                                         9 

Archaeology (3) Significant work around 

Chester-Le-Street has 

shown archaeological 

remains outside of the 

Scheduled area, so this 

area has very high 

archaeological potential.  

Pre-determination 

evaluation required as 

potential for nationally 

significant remains to be 

encountered.  This site 

would likely require 

significant archaeological 

works. 

 

                                              6 

Roman remains found 

to the south of the site.  

It is likely that they may 

extend into the site and 

would be impacted by 

the proposed 

development.  

Archaeology work 

would be required 

however the scope of 

this would be 

dependent on the 

scheme of works 

chosen. 

 

                                                         

9 

Archaeological interest 

on this site, due to 

records in the HER 

relating to roman and 

medieval finds, and 

potential cropmarks.  

However, work at the 

site may well have 

affected these remains 

and depending on the 

exact proposals there 

may not be an issue.  

Desk based assessment 

required to determine if 

any archaeological 

impact.   

                                                                   

9 

Trees (1) There are mature trees on 

or surrounding the site 

requiring appropriate 

surveys, assessment, and 

protection.  

 

                                             3 

There are mature trees 

on or surrounding the 

site requiring 

appropriate surveys, 

assessment, and 

protection. 

                                                             

3 

Any construction near 

trees would require 

appropriate surveys, 

assessment, and 

protection. 

 

                                                                   

3 

Page 194



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

Ecology (2) Any impacts on existing 
buildings will need to be 
supported by a bat risk 
assessment alongside any 
recommended activity 
surveys.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                              6 

Any impacts on existing 
buildings will need to be 
supported by a bat risk 
assessment alongside 
any recommended 
activity surveys.   
Biodiversity net gains 
expected, impacts are 
likely to be low given 
the nature of habitats 
on site. 
 

                                                             
 

6 

Any impacts on existing 
buildings will need to be 
supported by a bat risk 
assessment alongside 
any recommended 
activity surveys.   
Bat risk assessments 
and preliminary 
ecological survey 
required.  Biodiversity 
net gains expected, 
impacts on biodiversity 
likely to be low. 

                                                                   
6 

Totals for natural 

environment 

48 60 51 

Infrastructure    

Footpaths/Cycleways 

(3) 
Not well linked to main 
pedestrian routes.  There 
is a small footpath which 
links to the town centre. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                            9 

Good opportunity for 
footfall and access on 
foot. New pedestrian 
route proposed to link 
to residential areas 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                                            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

The major roads( A167) 
represent a significant 
barrier, as such travel to 
the site would largely 
be by car, this presents 
significant challenges 
for poverty proofing 
leisure and the options 
for inclusion.Significant 
and costly 
improvements 
in infrastructure would 
be needed to 
ensure there was an 
easily accessible route 
to the site for 
pedestrians and 
consideration 
of engagement with 
public 
transport provision. 

                                                                 
6 

Public transport links 

(3) 

This is a good location in 
terms of facilities, services, 
and public transport links.    
 
 
 

The site is well served 
by public transport 
along Newcastle Road 
 
 

                                                            

The site is not too badly 
served by 
public transport, but the 
frequency and route 
options are fewer to 

Page 195



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

 
 
 
                                            15 

 
 
 

15 

this site than other 
sites. 

                                                                   
9 

Highways (4) The existing site would be 

acceptable from a 

highway’s perspective but 

a signing strategy for the 

development would be 

required to improve its 

connectivity to the town 

centre and residential 

areas further afield. 

             

                                                                                         

16 

A traffic survey may be 

required.  Pick Tree 

layout (signalised 

junction) may have 

limited capacity  

 

 

 

 

                                                           

16 

Good transport links, 

Next to A688 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 

20 

Parking (4) Limited current parking.  
Parking review of town 
centre underway by 
Highways.  Some concerns 
that would need to be 
addressed with regard to 
the parking layout on site 
due to proximity to 
attractive POS of Burn 
Green. 
However, maybe an 
opportunity to wrap all 
existing uses on the site 
together and improve 
town parking issue 
                                            12 

Parking facilities already 
exist but would need 
extending.  Acceptable 
existing vehicle access. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                       20 

Parking for the site 
could be shared with 
cricket club on schedule 
basis, issue on match 
days and other 
scheduled events.  
However, there is space 
on the site to 
accommodate 
additional parking. 

 
 
 
 
                                                                 

20 

Public Rights of Way 

(2) 
Impact on PROWs would 

need to be considered. 

                                                                                  

   6 

PROW on site but 

unlikely to be impacted 

upon 

                                                           

10 

Not believed to be any 

issues 

 

                                                                 

10 

Utilities (3) There would be a 

requirement for 

sustainable drainage 

systems which would be 

There would be a 

requirement for 

sustainable drainage 

systems which would be 

There would be a 

requirement for 

sustainable drainage 

systems which would be 

Page 196



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

considered through design 

of the scheme. 

                                                                                  

12 

considered through 

design of the scheme. 

                                                           

12 

considered through 

design of the scheme. 

                                                                 

12 

Totals for 

infrastructure 

70 85 77 

Proximity    

Visibility (1) Not a prominent site 

                                                                                    

2 

Prominent site 

                                                                

4 

Prominent site  

                                                                 

5 

Proximity to town (4) The existing site is close to 

the town centre and near 

the station 

                                                                                  

20 

The site is fully 

accessible, being 

centrally located within 

the town.   

                                                           

20 

Site situated outside 

town centre. 

 

                                                                   

8 

Proximity to 

residential areas (4) 
Slightly isolated from 

residential - rely on public 

transport or cars 

                                                                                 

12 

It is near residential 

areas to the north of 

the town centre. 

 

                                      20 

Away from residential 

properties 

 

 

                                         8 

Sequential assessment 

requires (4) 
The site is outside the 
designated town centre 
boundary for Chester-Le-
Street, however, as is the 
site of the existing leisure 
facility the site is 
previously developed land 
and could be viewed as a 
like for like replacement.  
The Chester-Le-Street 
masterplan has a range of 
projects identified for 
sustainable transport 
zones through the town 
and the proposal could 
seek to link up with some 
of those to improve the 
sustainable access of the 

It is not considered that 
a sequential assessment 
as referred to in the 
County Durham Plan 
Policy 9 and Part 7 of 
the NPPF would be 
required.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The site is outside the 
designated town centre 
boundary for Chester-
Le-Street; however it 
could be considered as 
being an existing leisure 
facility on the outer 
edge and as highlighted 
in the masterplan has 
an existing sustainable 
access, with projects in 
the pipeline for further 
improvements. A 
sequential assessment 
as referred to in the 
County Durham Plan 
Policy 9 and Part 7 of 

Page 197



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

site.  In terms of the 
sequential test required by 
the County Durham Plan 
Policy 9 and Part 7 of the 
NPPF, it is not considered 
that one would be 
required.                                             
                                            20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                       20 

the NPPF would be 
required.   
 

                                                                 
 
 
 

12 

Totals for proximity 54 64 33 

Design/planning    

Stacking (4) Although a tight site 

stacking should not be 

required 

                                                                                  

20 

Stacking will not be 

required 

 

                                                           

20 

Stacking will not be 

required 

 

                                                                 

20 

Special façade 

treatments (2) 
Not believed that any 

special treatment would 

be required. 

                                                                              

10 

Not believed that any 

special treatment would 

be required.  

 

10 

Not believed that any 

special treatment would 

be required.  

                                                                 

10 

Views out (1) There are views out across 
open space 
 
                                                                  

                                                                                     
4 

There are views out 
from the site and it may 
be possible to see 
Lumley Castle at a 
distance 

              3 

There are views out to 
Lumley Castle and 
surroundings 
                                                            

                                                                 
5 

Total design/planning 34 33 35 

Buildability    

Maintaining service 

provision (4) 

 

Loss of revenue during 

build of new/ 

refurbishment – unless a 

new location was utilised, 

allowing the existing site 

to remain in operation. 

Existing site can remain 

open during work  

 

 

Existing site would not 

need to close during 

the build. 

 

 

 

Page 198



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

                                                                                    

8 

                                                                                    

20 

                                                             

20 

Temporary 

accommodation 

required (2) 

Temporary facilities 

required for gym as the 

existing facility would be 

demolished before new 

one built. 

                                                                                    

2 

No temporary work is 

required 

 

 

 

                                                           

10 

No temporary work is 

required 

                                                                 

 

 

 

10 

Construction impact 

(2) 

Consideration would need 
to be given to 
noise/dust/light/odour 
and impact upon 
residential amenity.  The 
site is in proximity to the 
declared Air Quality 
Management Area Chester 
le Street and appropriate 
assessments in relation to 
air quality would be 
required. 

                                                                                    
8 

Consideration would 
need to be given to 
noise/dust/light/odour 
and impact upon 
residential amenity.  
The site is in proximity 
to the declared Air 
Quality Management 
Area Chester le Street 
and appropriate 
assessments in relation 
to air quality would be 
required. 

                                     8 

Consideration would 
need to be given to 
noise/dust/light/odour 
and impact upon 
residential amenity.  
The site is in proximity 
to the declared Air 
Quality Management 
Area Chester le Street 
and appropriate 
assessments in relation 
to air quality would be 
required. 
                                        8 

Programme/layers of 

work (1) 

Demolition of leisure 

centre 

Condition survey work to 

library 

Temp gym required.  If 

insufficient space could 

consider Riverside site. 

Dovetail scheme with 

highways project looking 

at town centre parking 

generally 

New build 

                                                                                  

2 

Demolition of existing 

leisure centre  

New build footprint of 

library. 

New build leisure centre 

Disposal of Library 

building and land 

                                                              

 

 

 

 

3 

Demolition of existing 

leisure centre. 

Demolition of pavilion is 

an option 

Condition survey work 

should be included to 

library. 

New build  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                   

3 

Page 199



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

Build location (2) Other highways work in 

the town centre to 

consider  

 

                                                                                    

6 

Library demolition to be 

included and 

contamination issues to 

address  

                                                           

10 

Existing pavilion courts 

and cricket nets to be 

considered  

             
                                                     

10 

Totals for Buildability 26 51 51 

Affordability    

Affordability (4) Car parking under review 

and may need to dovetail 

with any proposals under 

this project.  Extra 

allowance on externals 

affecting  

 

                                            20 

library demolition to 

include  

 

 

 

 

                                                           

20 

Flood risk to consider, 

consider cost for 

removal of pavilion  

 

 

 

                                                                

16 

Programme (4) Moderate risk allowance 

to BASE cost/programme 

for facility mix  

 

 

                                                                                 

12 

Moderate to significant 

risk adjustment to base 

cost/programme for 

facilities mix  

                                                            

 

12 

Moderate risk 

adjustment to base 

cost/programme for 

facility mix.  

Consideration for 

removal of pavilion  

                                       12 

Totals for 

affordability and 

programme 

32 32 28 

Leisure and Wellbeing    

Co-location 

opportunities (3) 

The site would not suit the 
colocation of the library 
compared to the current 
library location.  However, 
proximity to One Point 
Hub offers some 
opportunities. 

Good opportunity to 
collocate library service. 
Proximity to health 
centre. 
 
  

 
 

This site would offer an 
excellent regional 
sporting hub approach 
as an option and aid 
with rationalising built 
assets in Chester-Le-
Street. Library 
colocation would not be 

Page 200



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

                                                                                 
 
                                              6 

 
 

5 

favourable at this 
location.  

12 
Outdoor provision (3) Site too small to 

accommodate outdoor 

provision.  This isn’t noted 

as a key strategic priority. 

 

 

9 

The site may be able to 

accommodate some 

external provision, but 

this is limited. 

                                        

 

 9 

Proximity to other 

services and outdoor 

activities would be very 

advantageous. 

                                                                  

 

15 

Totals for Leisure 15 24 27 

Social values    

Inclusion (3) Close to key residential 
areas but few shared 
services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 

The option for library 
colocation improves 
options around 
inclusion and proximity 
to town centre. 
 
 
 

                                                            
 
 
 

15 

The site is located 
adjacent to other 
leisure and sporting 
facilities.  Also, would 
offer enhanced 
pathways from grass 
roots to elite level 
participation.  It allows 
consolidation of Leisure 
facilities and 
partnership potential. 

                                                                 
15 

Poverty proofing (3) With good pedestrian and 
transport links as well as 
reasonable proximity to 
the town, this site is well 
placed to poverty proof 
leisure centre access. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                            12 

With good pedestrian 
and transport links as 
well as proximity to the 
town, this site is well 
placed to poverty proof 
leisure centre access. 
 

                                                            
 
 
 

15 

Due to the transport 
infrastructure being less 
frequent than other 
sites and main 
prevalence for travel by 
car to this location, it is 
not well place to offer 
the most inclusive and 
poverty proof service 
provision. 

                                                                  
6 

Totals for Social values 21 30 21 

Energy/carbon 

opportunities 

   

Page 201



 

 

 Existing Civic Riverside 

Low 

carbon/sustainability 

(1) 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken and rated as 

satisfactory. 

                                                                               

3 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken and rated 

as good  

                                                            

4 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken and rated 

as poor. 

                                                                        

2 

Totals for carbon 

opportunities 

3 4 2 

Totals  365/505 455/505 383/505 

 

21 Table 8 Bishop Auckland Assessment Summary 

BISHOP AUCKLAND 

SITE 

Existing Tindale 

Crescent  

College 

Land 67 69 57 

Natural environment 62 61 60 

Infrastructure 92 63 85 

Proximity 61 37 48 

Design/planning 30 33 32 

Buildability 31 53 43 

Affordability 32 20 32 

Leisure 27 24 27 

Social value 30 18 24 

Energy/Carbon 

opportunities 

5 1 3 

TOTAL 437/505 379/505 411/505 

 

  

Page 202



 

 

22 Table 9 Bishop Auckland detailed technical assessment 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

Land    

Ownership (4) Site owned by DCC  

 

                                                                          

 

 

 

 

20 

Owned by DCC but TSOA - 

temporary stop off area 

for travellers.  This is only 

a short-term 

arrangement however an 

alternative site would be 

needed.  

                                                          

20 

Site not in DCC 

ownership                                                                                            

 

                                                                           

 

 

 

8 

Capital receipt/regen 

opportunities (1) 

There are One Public 

Estate opportunities o 

tis site. Should this 

approach be taken 

then the site taken in 

its totality would still 

afford a remaining 

parcel of land for 

regen/housing 

development.                                                                

 

                                                                            

3 

Regeneration and 

housing masterplan 

options on the 

Woodhouse close site 

should it be vacated 

Focus for much 

redevelopment which sits 

along other uses e.g. 

football club - Leisure 

development would 

provide additional footfall 

5 

Regeneration and 

housing masterplan 

options on the 

Woodhouse close site 

should it be vacated 

                                                                      

 

 

                                                                            

5 

Contamination (3) The site would be 
suitable for the 
proposed used having 
regard to land 
contamination issue.  
An SI would still be 
required 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Potentially contaminated 
land – colliery. The site 
has an industrial history 
however has undergone 
remedial works. The site 
was left suitable for the 
ongoing development, 
but ground gas protection 
measures would need to 
be incorporated as a 
precautionary measure in 
any application.  
Further information 
obtained regarding mine 
shaft locations suggest 
that the location is north 
of the site to be 
developed. More detailed 

Site would be suitable 
for the proposed used 
having regard to land 
contamination issue. 
An SI would still be 
required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

 
 

                                                                         
9 

investigations will be 
required.   
 
                                           9 

 
 
 

9 

Size and topography 

(4) 

This site is large 

enough and is flat.  

                                    20 

This is a large site with 

flat topography. 

                                         20 

This site is large 

enough and is flat. 

                                   20 

Flooding (3) Not on flood plain.   

                                    15 

Not on flood plain.  

                                          15 

Not on flood plain. 

                                   15 

Totals for land 67 69 57 

Effects on natural 

environment 

   

HRA Habitat 

Regulations 

Assessment (3) 

Not required 

                                  15 

Not required 

                                         15 

Not required 

                                    15 

Heritage (3) There are several 

designated heritage 

assets in the vicinity of 

the site.  The site has a 

very tight boundary 

and a large structure 

of an inappropriate 

design could have a 

detrimental impact on 

the setting of St 

Mary’s RC Church but 

there are several 

options that can be 

considered, to reduce 

the impact. 

The church windows 

overlook the western 

part of the site, so this 

must remain as 

landscaping 

9 

The site is not within the 

setting of any designated 

or non-designated 

heritage assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                            

 

15 

No heritage assets are 

known within the site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                          

 

15 

Page 204



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

Conservation (3) From a design and 

conservation 

perspective, in Bishop 

Auckland the existing 

leisure centre site is 

preferred in terms of 

connections and 

accessibility  

                                    15 

 

From a design and 

conservation perspective, 

in Bishop Auckland the 

existing leisure centre site 

is preferred in terms of 

connections and 

accessibility 

                                                             

9 

From a design and 

conservation 

perspective, in Bishop 

Auckland the existing 

leisure centre site is 

preferred in terms of 

connections and 

accessibility 

                                      9 

Trees (1) In terms of impact 
upon trees Options 1 
and 3 not preferred as 
trees would be 
removed.  Option 2 
would require tree 
protection.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                      2 

In terms of impact upon 
trees, Option 1 appears 
feasible with the 
retention of the existing 
trees/vegetation.  There 
would be a requirement 
for some tree removal on 
the eastern boundary of 
the site with Options 2 
and 3 but could be 
mitigated through 
planting.  Need for tree 
protection 

                                        3 

A bat risk assessment 
of trees likely to be 
impacted.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                      
                                                                            
 

3 

Ecology (2) A Preliminary 

ecological appraisal 

(PEA) of the existing 

site required in 

advance of any 

demolition of the 

buildings, and in 

support of the 

application.  Possible 

further surveys may 

be identified as a 

result 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This site is likely to have 

priority species and 

habitats present, and 

therefore other sites in 

Bishop Auckland would 

be preferable in terms of 

likely ecological 

impacts/likely required 

compensation.  A 

Preliminary ecological 

appraisal (PEA) would be 

required and possible 

further surveys.  

Consideration would 

need to be given to net 

gain requirement 

considerations and 

possible offsite 

A Preliminary 

ecological appraisal 

(PEA) would be 

required Possible 

further surveys, net 

gain requirement 

considerations, 

possible offsite 

compensation for 

priority/BAP species 

may be required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

 

                                                                           

6 

compensation for 

priority/BAP species. 

                                                            

4 

 

                                                                         

6 

Archaeology (3) No archaeological 

objection 

 

 

 

 

15 

No archaeological 

objection 

                                                            

 

 

 

15 

Archaeological work 
adjacent to the 
proposed 
development site did 
not find any 
archaeological 
remains 

                                                                         
12 

Totals for natural 

environment 

62 61 60 

Infrastructure    

Footpaths/Cycleways 

(3) 
Preferred in terms of 
connections and 
accessibility. Existing 
in place  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                   15 

There are cycle linkages 
to town centre.  The 
location is inaccessible for 
pedestrians and would 
not be a suitable site. 
Improvements required 
to pedestrian route from 
Maude Terrace 
Maude Terrace is heavily 
trafficked route 

                                                             
6 

Existing in place 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                                                          
 
 
 

15 

Public transport links 

(3) 

This site is preferred in 
terms of connections 
and accessibility. All 
forms of sustainable 
transport links.    
There are bus stops 
within 200M. direct 
transport links 
throughout the 
weekdays and 
weekends.  
 
 
 
 

The location is 
inaccessible for public 
transport users 
Not near railway and bus 
stops are between 200-
800M depending on bus 
route. For some, there is 
no direct service and 
those who do have access 
to direct link, have 
potentially only 2 services 
per hour. The direct 
service does not operate 
before 8am or after 6pm 
on weekdays and does 

Accessible by 
sustainable transport 
modes. The site has 
access to public 
transport stops on the 
B6282.  
However, travel 
distance from closest 
stops to the 
destination are in 
excess of 400M up a 
steep bank. Not all 
services reach close 
proximity to the site, 
instead are directed 

Page 206



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                  15 

not operate on a Sunday. 
 
 

                                                              
 
 

6 

into the housing 
estate. Only 1 direct 
service operates 
directly past the site 
per hour. 

                                                                         
12 

Highways (4) Suitable vehicular 
access.  From a 
highways perspective 
this site would be 
suitable for a new 
leisure facility.  
 
 
 
     
 
 
 

                               20 
 

Consider traffic 
roundabouts (signalled 
one in particular) at 
Tindale, also peak time of 
use, Sat pm same as 
football. Will need to be a 
review of how the 
network copes with 
demand.  Retail area also 
busy Sat pm. 
Maude terrace is a 
heavily trafficked route 

                                                           
12 

As the site operates as 
an educational facility 
the highway B6282 is 
engineered to 
promote sustainable 
transport use.  
 
 
 
 
                                                                      
 
 
                                   20 

Parking (4) Appropriate level of 
existing on-site 
parking.   
                                   20 

There is plenty of land to 
accommodate parking 

 
                                         20 

Shared access/parking 
   

                                                                         
16 

Public Rights of Way 

(2) 
Not considered to be 

an issue.        

                                   10 

Not considered to be an 

issue.      

                                         10 

Not considered to be 

an issue. 

                                  10 

Utilities (3) There would be a 
requirement for 
sustainable drainage 
systems which would 
be considered through 
design of the scheme. 
 
 
                                    12 

No services currently on 
the site 
There would be a 
requirement for 
sustainable drainage 
systems which would be 
considered through 
design of the scheme. 
                                           9 

There would be a 
requirement for 
sustainable drainage 
systems which would 
be considered through 
design of the scheme. 
                                    

                                           
12 

Totals for 

infrastructure 

92 63 85 

 Existing Tindale FC College 

Proximity    

Page 207



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

Visibility (1) Current building on 

site is not particularly 

visible. New building 

would be located on 

corner and more 

visible.    

                                       5 

Visibility on the main 

road  

 

 

                                                             

5 

Visibility is reasonable 

 

 

                                                                            

4 

Proximity to town (4) The site is not located 

in the town centre but 

is central to the 

geographic placement 

of users from across 

the Bishop Auckland 

and Shildon area. 

                                                                         

16 

The site is on the edge of 

town.  Note it is closest to 

Shildon and furthest from 

Crook. 

                                                                                        

 

                                                           

12 

Further from 

connections, facilities 

and services than the 

existing leisure centre 

 

 

                                                                         

12 

Proximity to 

residential areas (4) 
Site is an established 

location for the leisure 

centre, so existing 

patrons would not be 

displaced to another 

site.  It is close to 

Woodhouse Estate 

                  20 

The site is located some 

distance from residential 

areas with poor 

accessibility.   

 

 

                                                             

8 

The site is in a 

reasonably sustainable 

location close to 

residential 

developments 

 

                                                                         

20 

Sequential 

assessment required 

(4) 

The site is outside of 
the designated town 
centre boundary for 
Bishop Auckland, and 
as such would be 
required to follow the 
approaches set out 
within the CDP Policy 
9 and Part 7 of the 
NPPF.  The existing 
leisure centre site is 
located closest to the 
town centre and 
would involve the 
replacement of the 
existing established 
facility in this location.  

The site is outside of the 
designated town centre 
boundary for Bishop 
Auckland, and as such 
would be required to 
follow the approaches set 
out within the CDP Policy 
9 and Part 7 of the NPPF.  
A sequential assessment 
would be required.  The 
site is sequentially 
inferior to the existing 
leisure centre site on 
account of being situated 
further away from the 
town centre and less 
accessible by sustainable 

The site is outside of 
the designated town 
centre boundary for 
Bishop Auckland, and 
as such would be 
required to follow the 
approaches set out 
within the CDP Policy 
9 and Part 7 of the 
NPPF.  A sequential 
assessment would be 
required.  The site is 
sequentially inferior to 
the existing leisure 
centre site on account 
of being situated 
further away from the 

Page 208



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

For this reason, it is 
considered that a 
sequential assessment 
would not be 
necessary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20 

modes of transport.  The 
land is allocated 
employment land under 
Policy 2 of the CDP. Its 
development for non-
employment uses would 
need to be justified, and 
the Policy criteria 
confirms what 
information would be 
needed.  Overall, whilst 
all 3 sites could 
potentially be justified for 
the development of a 
new leisure centre, it is 
felt that the 
redevelopment of the 
existing site performs the 
best in policy terms. 

                                                           
12 

town centre and less 
accessible by 
sustainable modes of 
transport.  Overall, 
whilst all 3 sites could 
potentially be justified 
for the development 
of a new leisure 
centre, it is felt that 
the redevelopment of 
the existing site 
performs the best in 
policy terms 
 
 
 
 

                                                                          
 
 

12 

Totals for proximity 61 37 48 

Design/planning    

Stacking (4) Not required 
 

20 

Not required 
                                                          

20 

Not required 
                                                                        

20 

Special façade 

treatments (2) 
Important 
considerations in 
terms of treatment to 
street frontages, 
particularly to the 
crossroads in the 
north-eastern corner 
of the site.   
 
                                      8 

Not considered there 
would be a need for any 
special considerations.   
 
 
                                                       

                                                            
 
 

10 

There are issues in 
relation to design of 
building and any 
proposal should 
respond to the existing 
college building and 
surrounding 
landscape.   
 
                                      8 

Views out (1) No significant aspect 

 

                                                                             

 

 

 

2 

Industrial building to 

north and east of site 

means that there are 

poor views. Although 

sympathetic site layout 

may offer some views. 

                                                             

3 

Although no 

significant views 

sympathetic site 

layout may offer open 

aspects. 

 

                                                                            

4 

Page 209



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

Total design/planning 30 33 32 

Buildability    

Maintaining service 

provision (4) 

 

Existing Leisure Centre 
and Library would be 
closed for duration of 
the project.   

8 

Existing site can remain 
open during the work 

                                                            
 

20 

Existing site can 
remain open during 
the work 
                                                                         
20 

Temporary 

accommodation 

required (2) 

Temporary facilities 

for a library and gym 

have been included 

                                                                           

6 

No temporary work 

required 

 

                                                           

10                                                      

Temporary relocation 

of nursery is required 

 

                                                                          

6 

Construction impact 

(2) 

Consideration would 
need to be given to 
noise/dust/light/odour 
and impact upon 
residential amenity.  
Appropriate 
assessments in 
relation to air quality 
would be required. 

                                                                            
8 

Consideration would 
need to be given to 
noise/dust/light/odour 
and impact upon 
residential amenity.  
Appropriate assessments 
in relation to air quality 
would be required. 

 
                                                             

8 

Consideration would 
need to be given to 
noise/dust/light/odour 
and impact upon 
residential amenity.  
Appropriate 
assessments in 
relation to air quality 
would be required. 

                                                        
8 

Programme/layers of 

work (1) 

Demolition of library 

Demolition of leisure 

centre 

New build footprint of 

library 

Temporary library 

Temporary gym 

New build 

                                                                             

 

3 

Demolition of existing 

leisure centre 

Condition survey work to 

library 

New build. 

 

 

 

                                                              

 

5 

Demolition of nursery 

Temporary relocation 

of nursery 

Demolition of existing 

leisure centre 

Relocation of nursery 

New build footprint of 

nursery 

New build 

                                                                           

3 

Page 210



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

Build location (2) Larger build options 

may require phasing. 

                                                                             

 

6 

No issues other than 

piling recommended and 

other contamination. 

                                                         

10 

Construction of new 

build on a live site. 

                                                                            

 

6 

Totals for Buildability 31 53 43 

Affordability and 

programme 

   

Affordability (4) Temporary facilities 

required for library 

 

 

 

 

                                                                         

12 

Potential contamination 

and mine risks 

   

 

 

 

                                                         

8 

Temporary relocation 

of nursery and 

construction of new 

build on a live site and 

cost of new build 

nursery 

                                                                         

12 

Programme (4) Minimal risk 
adjustment to base 
programme for core 
facility mix.  
Demolition of library 
ahead of new 
construction  

                                  20 

Moderate adjustments to 
base programme/cost for 
facilities mix  
                                                           

 
                                                            
 

12 

Minimal risk 
adjustment to base 
programme for core 
facilities mix.  Demo of 
nursery ahead of new 
construction  

 
                      20 

Totals for 

affordability and 

programme 

32 20 32 

Leisure and 

Wellbeing 

   

Co – location (3) Key consideration is 
the obvious colocation 
of the library which is 
already on the same 
site. There is 
opportunity for 
interface with the 
education 
establishments within 
this location. 

Not appropriate to co-
locate the library 
however, it there is 
potential for co-location 
with other sporting sites 
and facilities. There is 
obviously some good 
synergy to be had with 
the proximity of the 
football club although 
current provision and 

Key consideration is 
the colocation of the 
library which would 
still be possible albeit 
less preferable in this 
location. However, 
there are obvious 
benefits to the direct 
association with the 
college 
 

Page 211



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

One public estate 
model on existing site 
with police and other 
public services could 
be advantageous. 
                                                                          
 

15 

sporting pathways are 
already in place which 
would be strengthened 
slightly at this location. 

 
                                                           

9 

 
 

                                                                          
 
 
 

12 

Outdoor provision (3) Playing strategy does 
not identify outdoor 
provision as a strategic 
priority in this area.  
There maybe the 
opportunity to include 
outdoor space, 
although site is 
restricted. 

 12 

Playing strategy does not 
identify outdoor provision 
as a strategic priority in 
this area. There is the 
opportunity to include 
outdoor space. 

 
 
                                                          

15 

Playing strategy does 
not identify outdoor 
provision as a strategic 
priority in this area. 
There is the 
opportunity to include 
outdoor space. 

 
                                                                         

15 

Leisure totals 27 24 27 

Social Values    

Inclusion (3) The colocation of the 
library and proximity 
to education 
establishments 
provides the greatest 
opportunity to 
promote inclusion. 
                                                                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 

The less favourable 
location for the library 
and distance from other 
related services would 
also make this location 
less favourable for 
inclusion opportunities. 
                                                    

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                             
 
 

9 

The colocation of the 
library and proximity 
to education 
establishments 
provides the greatest 
opportunity to 
promote inclusion. 
This site is slightly 
further out from the 
town and away from 
key household areas 
so offers slightly less 
opportunity for 
inclusion, but the 
education link remains 
very strong. 

                                                                         
12 

Poverty proofing (3) Due to better 
transport 
infrastructure and 
proximity to key 
targets households 
this site offers the best 
opportunity to poverty 

The out of town location 
and less accessibility in 
terms of public transport 
make the location less 
favourable for poverty 
proofing, prevalence for 
car transportation affect 
this 

Due to better 
transport 
infrastructure and 
proximity to key 
targets households 
this site offers the best 
opportunity to poverty 

Page 212



 

 

 Existing Tindale FC  College 

proof leisure centre 
access. 

        15 

                                                             
9 

proof leisure centre 
access      
                                   12 

Totals for Social 

values 

30                                                        

18 

                                                                         

24 

Energy/carbon 

opportunities 

   

Low 

carbon/sustainability 

(1) 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken. This site is 

rated  

                                                                      

5 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken. This site is 

rated very poor. 

                                                 

1 

A sustainability 

assessment has been 

undertaken. This site is 

rated ok. 

                                                                              

3                                                                                               

Totals of carbon 

opportunities 

5 1 3 

Total Score 437/505 379/505 411/505 

 

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 6  Consultation and Engagement Feedback Report 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report sets out the findings from the Leisure Centre Transformation 
public engagement Phase 1. 

2 The engagement period for Phase 1 ran from 11th November to 6th 
December 2020. It took the form of: 

(a) Public consultation through the DCC website on the site selection 

options for Bishop Auckland, Chester-le-Street and Seaham 

(b) Public consultation on improved facilities and the health benefits 

of leisure activities through an external website hosted by TA6 

consultants 

(c) Meetings with AAP Boards throughout the consultation period 

(d) Facebook campaigns encouraging the general public to take part 

in surveys, however number comments were received directly 

through the site 

(e) Writing to all Town and Parish Councils within the vicinity of 

Chester le St, Bishop Auckland and Seaham to encourage them 

to participate in the public consultation 

(f) Writing to special interest groups to encourage them to participate 

in the public consultation.  

3 The whole of phase 1 was underpinned by an effective communications 
approach which saw all existing leisure centre users contacted and 
encouraged to provide their feedback, as well as several social media 
feeds which attracted lively commentary. 

4 A total of 2632 responses were received on both websites used to 
gather comments. Of the total responses, 58.9% were from current 
leisure or 1 life members. However, the 1549 member responses 
equate to approx 5% of circa 30,000 pre-covid leisure memberships. It 
is recognised how important it is to gather the views of the public, 
however it should be noted that a significant number of members did 
not offer a view at this time.  

5 This phase of engagement was primarily to focus on the site selection 
element of the programme however, a number of questions were also 
used to carry out a Health impact assessment for site selection. Phase 
2 will be focused on engagement and will be based around the facility 
and activity mix proposals specific to each site and this stage will 
commence when design proposals are at a more advanced level. 

Page 215



 

6 A summary is provided below from each of the forms of engagement for 
the three areas where a new build leisure centre has been proposed 
however detailed information relating to all responses can be found in 
the appendix to this report. 

General findings 

Site Selection survey 

7 There were 782 responses to the Leisure Transformation Location 
Impact Survey.  

8 Just under four in ten of these were from members of a leisure centre. 
The most responses came from members of the centre’s where we are 
proposing a new build: 

(a) Woodhouse Close: 118 responses 
(b) Chester-le-Street: 85 responses 
(c) Seaham: 55 responses.  

 
9 Over half (55%) were from residents who were notmembers. The most 

responses came from those whosmost likely centre is to become a new 
build: 

(a) Seaham: 134 responses 
(b) Woodhouse Close: 118 responses 
(c) Chester-le-Street: 103 responses. 

 
10 Given the focus was site selection for new leisure centre developments 

in Seaham, Bishop Auckland and Chester-Le-Street, it is unsurprising to 
note that the largest response rates came from residents in these areas 
– almost 88%. However, there were responses received from across 
the county. 

11 The following table illustrates the age range of the respondents. It is of 
note that there were very few responses from the under 18’s and over 
75’s therefore this needs to be addressed in the second phase of 
consultation through more targeted engagement. 

 Frequency Percent 

Under 18 3 1% 

18-24 20 4% 

25-34 86 15% 

35-44 139 25% 

45-54 127 23% 

55-64 116 21% 

65-74 54 10% 

75+ 15 3% 

Total 560 100% 

Page 216



 

 

12 From the respondents who chose to answer the question, 15% stated 
that they had a disability which is broadly in line with the current 
membership. Regarding gender, 63% were female, 37% were male in 
line with the membership levels.  

13 It is of interest that responses from non-members also indicated that 
43% said that although they were not members, they still visited one of 
the leisure centres at least weekly 

 
Member 

Non-
member 

Weekly or 
more 

88% 43% 

Less often 12% 57% 

Frequency 298 404 

 

External facilities mix survey provided by TA6 

14 This survey had questions mostly in relation to the possible new 
activities that may be available across the County. There were 1850 
responses in total. This was made up of 1250 members and 600 non-
members. 20% of those who are members, are members of Chester le 
Street and 18% were from Bishop Auckland. Only 5% of respondents 
were members of Seaham Leisure centre. 

Page 217



 

 

15 It is of interest to note that 68% of respondents were between the ages 
of 35-64, with less than 1% under 16 responding to the survey detailing 
a similar profile to the responses from the site selection survey. When 
comparing these figures to current levels of membership, it can be seen 
that representation from under 16’s and 75’s needs to be increased and 
this will be addressed through the use of focus groups in phase 2 of 
consultation. 

16 From the respondents who chose to answer the question, 13% stated 
that they had a disability which is broadly in line with the current 
membership. Regarding gender, 35% were female, 63% were male and 
2% preferred not to say. 

17 The questions were mostly to gather information for the health impact 
assessment in order to determine if the improved leisure offer across 
the county would encourage residents to partake in exercise more 
regularly and more often. 

AAP Meetings 
 
18 At AAP Meetings, the general comments for all site selections included: 

Page 218



 

(a) The importance of the public transport infrastructure; 

(b) Proximity to local villages to enable people to access facilities via 

public transport; 

(c)  new builds should be as environmentally sustainable as possible; 

(d) They should be affordability for families on lower incomes; 

(e) Capacity to support disability sport and physical activity . 

Facebook sites feedback 

19 The 59 Facebook comments across the sites are mostly in relation to 
facilities mix, pricing structures or suggestions to add to the leisure offer 
in County Durham. 

20 There were 2 comments that stated a preference for Chester le St Civic 
Centre site but no other sites were mentioned specifically. 

Site specific findings 

Seaham – site selection survey 
 
21 Responses for the current site outnumbered those of both the other 

potential sites: 

(a) Present: 189 
(b) Dock top: 87 
(c) St John’s Square: 70 

 
22 Transportation and access are obviously some of the key 

considerations when selecting a site for a leisure centre, the 
respondents were therefore encouraged to tell us how they might travel 
to the existing and proposed locations. The below table illustrates the 
travel preferences for each location individually as indicated by the 
respondents. 

Method of 
Transport 

Existing Site Dock Top St Johns Square 

Bicycle 3% 13% 7% 

Car 52% 54% 49% 

Public transport 2% 4% 0% 

Walk 43% 30% 44% 

 
 
23 Both the existing and St Johns square sites demonstrate a high 

propensity to walk to the location as well as have a lower reliance on 
using a car than for the Dock Top option. 

Page 219



 

24 Respondents were also asked to consider the site proposals 
individually, and for each location indicate if the placement of the leisure 
centre, on this site would result in them visiting more or less: 

 

 
 

 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Seaham leisure centre was to remain in this location? 
 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

25 

Positive: Enable outdoor activities 20 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 14 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 14 

Positive: Size will enable better facilities 12 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 9 

Eighteen responses with frequency<8 45 

Total 148 

 

68%

25%

7%

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing 
site at Seaham would it make you use the centre 

more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 220



 

 
 
 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Seaham leisure centre was to be in the Dock top site? 
 

 Frequency 

Negative: Struggle to park 10 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

8 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 8 

Sixteen responses with frequency<8 26 

Total 52 

 

 
 

56%

21%

23%

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the Dock Top 
site at Seaham would it make you use the centre 

more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

45%

30%

25%

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the St John's 
Square site at Seaham would it make you use the 

centre more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 221



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Seaham leisure centre was to be in the St John’s Square 
site? 
 

 Frequency 

Negative: Struggle to park 9 

Sixteen responses with 
frequency<8 

34 

Total 43 

 
 

Frequency Existing Site Dock Top St Johns Square 

More 68% 56% 45% 

About the same 25% 21% 30% 

Less 7% 23% 25% 

Net Gain 61% 33% 20% 

 

25 The age bracket over 65 indicated a preference for St Johns Square 
and Dock Top by stating that 100% would use the site more than they 
do currently at the existing location. 

26 Respondents indicated that for all three sites, there would be a 
significant increase in frequency of visiting, demonstrating that the 
public see all options as viable. 

27 When considering the comments made for site location, car parking is a 
key issue in the town. It has been noted that if the existing location was 
chosen, it could improve parking provision. At the existing site, it has 
also been noted that an advantage would be the outdoor provision not 
offered at other sites. The key disadvantage of the St John’s site of 
parking could be addressed through mitigating actions including the 
possibility of a split site across the Town. 

28 From the open questions in the survey, the following themes were 
noted: 

(a) A number of positive impacts were noted by remaining at the 
existing site; 

(b) The need for a pool comes across very clearly, with 
approximately 40% of responses mentioned the need for a 
swimming pool; 

(c) Parking across the town generally came across as a big concern. 
(d) The space at the existing site to accommodate the leisure centre, 

pool and outdoor facilities was mentioned a number of times; 

Page 222



 

(e) Concerns raised over what happens to the existing site if an 
alternate site is chosen, need to retain outdoor green space and 
don’t want to see more houses; 

(f) Current facilities are outdated and poor; 
(g) A town centre location would be good as a community hub and 

help tourism; 
(h) Tourism improvements if the dock top was used, but concerns the 

site feels way too small and concern about displaced parking. 
 
29 Some comments from current members in regards to the outdoor 

provision at the existing site: 

• “Seaham leisure centre is too small and limited for the area as the 
population of Seaham is growing year on year. It does not have a 
leisure centre that the entire community can access as the 
facilities doe not really cater for children and the lack of of food 
and beverage facilities mean people are unable to socialise 
afterwards. There are no adequate outdoor sports facilities in 
seaham and these are greatly needed to be able to promote team 
sports for men and women. A better indoor court for netball, the 
number one accessed female sport in this country would be 
greatly welcomed. The current road access to seaham leisure 
centre is also inadequate and often dangerous”. 

• “Seaham leisure centre needs to stay on the same site and have 
a swimming pool added. The site needs to have outdoor sports 
facilities, if the centre is moved then these will not be available” 

• “You have noted the need for outside facilities such as football 
pitches, have you also considered the need for outside 
netball/multi use courts. As a direct result of no outdoor courts 
being available in Seaham, Seaham netball club has had to 
relocate their training to Sunderland during COVID meaning 
some members have not been able to train, therefore adversely 
effecting the well being of Co Durham Residents” 

30 There were also some comments regarding the impacts of covid and 
the need for outdoor facilities – “Only the current site has external 
facilities” and “It should remain where it is especially since this 
pandemic leisure centres have close thru huge field had played and 
important role allowing outdoor fitness for many people in the 
community” 

31 The needs of the community were at the heart of a number of 
comments including “Implore the County Council to be forward thinking , 
shop around look at neighbouring facilities do not go for the cheapest 

Page 223



 

option look at innovation and what the population of Seaham needs to 
improve the health of this community” 

32 In terms of the qualitative feedback, the overwhelming comments were 
positive in general and committed to the need for a pool in Seaham. . 

Seaham – Facilities mix survey 

 

 

33 The results from this survey reflect the findings from the site selection 
survey which state that the most used form of transport to a leisure centre 
is by car followed by walking. The results demonstrate that very few users 
of leisure centres currently travel there by cycle or public transport. This 
is likely to be due to the current location of the centre. 

 

Page 224



 

 

 

Page 225



 

34 75% of current usage is either in the gym or for a fitness class. The 
overwhelming support for the proposal of swimming facilities should 
increase the usage of the centre significantly. It was noted from the 
responses that several clubs utilise the outdoor facilities for training and 
that this contributes to the leisure centre supporting the community 
which has been highlighted as a key consideration when selection a 
new site. 

 

35 The results from Q11 of the survey, show that the proposals to improve 
the leisure centre in Seaham would increase attendance by 91% and 
increase physical activity by 87% supporting proposals to offer a more 
modern improved centre. 

Page 226



 

36 An open question at the end of the survey gave participants the 
opportunity to leave comment on the leisure offer in general.  The below 
summaries the key points for Seaham: 

(a) Support for a new centre with swimming facilities; 

(b) Outdated facilities which aren’t fit for purpose or the residents of 

Seaham; 

(c) Preference to retain the playing fields on the existing site;  

(d) Access road to the existing centre is inadequate and often 

dangerous. 

37 There were no comments received in regards to Seaham at the AAP 
meetings or from engagement with Town and Parish Councils. 

38 The public were not consulted specifically regarding a combined/split 
site option in Seaham however when analysing the comments, it has 
been identified that the outdoor provision on the existing site is a major 
advantage and the current pandemic has highlighted the importance of 
this for wellbeing, community engagement and sports clubs. If these 
facilities were retained and expanded in addition to one of the other 
sites where indoor provision could be offered, this could offer improved 
parking and a centralised offer as well as the much wanted pool. 

 
Bishop Auckland – site selection survey 
 
39 Responses for the Bishop Auckland Football Club (Tindale) site 

outnumbered those of both the present site and the college site: 

(a) Present: 192 
(b) BAFC: 198 
(c) College: 151 
 

40 Transportation and access are obviously some of the key 
considerations when selecting a site for a leisure centre, the 
respondents were therefore encouraged to tell us how they might travel 
to the existing and proposed locations. The below table illustrates the 
travel preferences for each location individually as indicated by the 
respondents. 

 

 

 

Page 227



 

Method of 
Transport 

Existing Site Land adjacent to 
football club 

College site 

Bicycle 0% 4% 0% 

Car 45% 77% 59% 

Public transport 4% 2% 4% 

Walk 50% 16% 37% 

 

41 Both the existing and College sites demonstrate a high propensity to 
walk to the location as well as have a lower reliance on using a car than 
for the Football club site option. 

42 Two key statistics seem to come across from the responses in relation 
to transport, clearly respondents viewed the Tindale location as one 
which more than three quarters would need a car to access, it was also 
the one which shows the least proclivity for pedestrian use and public 
transport. 

43 Respondents were also asked to consider the site proposals 
individually, and for each location indicate if the placement of the leisure 
centre, on this site would result in them visiting more or less: 

 
 

 
 
 

32%

58%

10%

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing 
site at Bishop Auckland would it make you use the 

centre more or less?

More

About the same

Less

Page 228



 

 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to remain in this 
location? 
 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

38 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 23 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Positive: Create a community spirit 8 

Eighteen responses with frequency<8 56 

Total 134 

 

 
 

 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to be in the land 
adjacent to BAFC? 
 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

31 

Negative: Discourage use 24 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 15 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public 
transport) 

14 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 10 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 8 

Twenty-five responses with frequency<8 64 

Total 166 

 
 

43%

22%

35%

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land 
adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the centre 

more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 229



 

 

 
 

 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to relocate to the 
Bishop Auckland College site? 
 

 Frequency 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 20 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

16 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 10 

Negative: Discourage use 10 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public 
transport) 

8 

Nineteen responses with frequency<8 39 

Total 103 

 
44 It should be noted that responses indicate that both the existing and 

football club site options, should result in a net increase in the use of the 
centre. The football club site has also returned the greatest increase in 
people using the leisure centre more than they do currently (43%). 

  

22%

54%

24%

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop 
Auckland College site would it make you use the 

centre more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 230



 

 

Frequency 
Existing Site Land adjacent to 

football club 
College site 

More 32% 43% 22% 

About the same 58% 22% 54% 

Less 10% 35% 24% 

Net Gain/Loss 22% 8% -2% 

 

45 All age ranges indicated a strong preference for the football club site. In 
the 25 - 64 and 65+ age ranges, more than 44% and 41% respectively 
said it would encourage them to visit the leisure centre more. 

46 From the open questions in the survey, the following themes were 
noted: 

(a) A significant number of positive impacts were noted by remaining 
at the existing site, as opposed to the other two options which 
offered split responses which was often conflicting in regards to 
parking and accessibility; 

(b) Concerns over parking provision generally; 
(c) Loss of facilities to out of town locations; 
(d) A preference for something in the town or close to the town 

centre; 
(e) Traffic congestion concerns at the Tindale and College sites; 
(f) Access to Tindale site was a concern, particularly pedestrian 

access and public transport; 
(g) Proximity of the existing site to local users and housing areas; 
(h) Building at Tindale would bring the services into more direct 

competition with other gyms in that area; 
(i) Library co-location on the existing site, similar to Newton Aycliffe 

is a real positive; 
(j) Concerns of loss of green spaces if the college fields are lost to 

accommodate a new build. 
 

47 Some comments have been included below: 

• “To have a new leisure centre in Bishop Auckland would be great 
as although I live in Bishop Auckland I travel to Teesdale or 
Newton Aycliffe as the pool and leisure centre at Woodhouse 
Close is outdated and is not a very nice place to visit. The parking 
has also become a problem. I can only afford to go to Teesdale 

Page 231



 

once a week due to fuel costs so I would definitely visit more 
often at a new local leisure centre”. 

• “Would prefer a site away from original Woodhouse Close site 
then we could have a seemless changeover without losing 2 yrs 
of building time. The old one could stay open til new one ready”. 

• “I would fully support the proposed new development at Bishop 
Auckland in order to make the center a vibrant and inviting 
community hub”. 

• “Moving to Tindale will be easier for Dales people to access it 
too”. 

• “Great idea on the waste land next to Bishop afc”. 

48 The key themes of feedback in relation to the Bishop Auckland sites is 
that although there is support for a new, modern centre within the Town, 
there are concerns around parking provision, traffic and congestion at 
both the college and football club sites.  

 

  

Page 232



 

Bishop Auckland – Facilities mix survey 

 

49 The results from this survey reflect the findings from the site selection 
survey which state that the most used form of transport to a leisure 
centre is by car followed by walking. The results demonstrate that very 
few users of leisure centres currently travel there by cycle or public 
transport. This is likely to be due to the current location of the centre. 

Page 233



 

 

50 60% of current usage is for swimming at Bishop Auckland with fitness 
and gym usage accounting for 33% of the remaining. This indicates that 
these will be key features to focus on when designing the new centre. 

 

Page 234



 

 

 

51 The results from Q11 of the survey, show that the proposals to improve 
the leisure centre in Bishop Auckland would increase attendance by 
82% and increase physical activity by 84% supporting proposals to offer 
a more modern improved centre. 

52 An open question at the end of the survey gave participants the 
opportunity to leave comment on the leisure offer in general.  The below 
summarises the key points for Bishop Auckland: 

(a) It has been recognised that the central location supports the high 

street and a move to the football club site would remove this; 

Page 235



 

(b) Transport links are better for the current location and its easy to 

get to as on main bus route; 

(c) Leaving the centre on the existing site, allows for more walking 

and cycling routes; 

(d) Existing site has a loyal member base from the young to the 

elderly and feel a move would lose this loyalty. The leisure centre 

is the heart of the community and should stay where it is; 

(e) Important to have parking and accessibility; 

(f) Would like to avoid the temporary closure of the site while a new 

one is being built. 

Bishop Auckland – AAP Meetings 

53 Specifically, for the site selection at Bishop Auckland, they had the 
following comments: 

(a) The existing site is accessible and well used. It falls within one of 

the most deprived wards in the Country so benefits from this 

development; 

(b) The college site is opposed due to parking and traffic 

considerations; 

(c) The Football club ; – although it may be viable, it is currently 

being used as a Gypsy Roma Traveller site. Comments were also 

raised on its accessibility by public transport 

Bishop Auckland - Town and Parish Councils  

54 We received responses from only two of the town and parish councils 
that we wrote to. West Auckland Parish council, supporting the Tindale 
development, on the basis that it complements the other developments 
in the area. The second from Bishop Auckland Town Council, 
condemning the Tindale site due to congestion and traffic issues and 
fully supporting the existing site 

55 Both were very supportive of a new build and wanted to ensure that 
they could work with DCC to ensure it was successful and sustainable. 

Chester-le-Street – site selection survey 
 
56 Responses for the civic site outnumbered those of both of the other 

sites: 

(a) Present: 139 
(b) Civic site: 169 
(c) Riverside: 123 

 

Page 236



 

57 Transportation and access are obviously some of the key 
considerations when selecting a site for a leisure centre, the 
respondents were therefore encouraged to tell us how they might travel 
to the existing and proposed locations. The below table illustrates the 
travel preferences for each location individually as indicated by the 
respondents. 

Method of 
Transport 

Existing Site Civic  Riverside 

Bicycle 1% 4% 5% 

Car 66% 56% 69% 

Public transport 10% 8% 9% 

Walk 22% 31% 16% 

Other 1% 1% 1% 

 
 
58 The Civic site demonstrates a high propensity to walk to the location as 

well as have a lower reliance on using a car than for the other two 
options.  

59 Respondents were also asked to consider the site proposals 
individually, and for each location indicate if the placement of the leisure 
centre, on this site would result in them visiting more or less: 

 

 

25%

70%

5%

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing 
site would it make you use the centre more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 237



 

 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to remain in this 
location? 
 

 Frequency 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 26 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

22 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 8 

Fourteen responses with frequency<8 35 

Total 100 

 

 

 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to be in the former 
civic site? 
 
 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

43 

Positive: Increased use 12 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 8 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 8 

Fourteen responses with frequency<8 54 

Total 125 

 

53%40%

7%

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic 
site at Chester le St would it make you use the centre 

more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 238



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your 
business/organisation/club if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to relocate to the site 
adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park? 
 

 Frequency 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public 
transport) 

16 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public 
transport) 

9 

Negative: Struggle to park 9 

Twenty-two responses with frequency<8 53 

Total 87 

 

60 It should be noted that responses indicate that both the Civic and 
existing site options, should result in a net increase in the use of the 
centre.  

  

25%

41%

34%

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site 
adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park at Chester le St 

would it make you use the centre more or less?

More

About the
same

Less

Page 239



 

Frequency Existing Site Civic  Riverside 

More 25% 53% 25% 

About the same 70% 40% 41% 

Less 5% 7% 34% 

Net Gain 20% 46% -9% 

 

61 The largest increase in use came from moving to the Civic site, with 
over half of the responses (53%) saying they would use the leisure 
centre more, with a net increase of almost 50% from current usage at 
the existing site. 

62 The age bracket over 65 also indicated a strong preference for the civic 
site by stating that 100% would use the site the same or more than they 
do currently.  

63 From the open questions in the survey, the following themes were 
noted: 

(a) A significant number of positive or no impacts were noted by 
moving to the civic site. There was also a high number of positive 
impacts noted by staying at the current location although the 
disruption to service was noted. There were mostly negative 
impacts relating to inaccessibility and parking noted for the 
riverside site; 

(b) The existing site is too small already and not easily accessed; 
(c) Parking concerns for the existing site; 
(d) Parking concerns across the town as a whole; 
(e) Not closing facilities when the works take place; 
(f) Public transport is a concern for the Riverside locations; 
(g) Public transport seems to come across strongly for both the more 

town based locations; 
(h) Traffic and congestion concerns around the Civic site; 
(i) Effect on surrounding residential properties when construction 

takes place, particularly the Civic site but also noted for the 
existing site. 

 
64 Some specific comments in support of improvements at Chester le 

Street are included below: 

• “Chester le street needs this as we have no good facilities and 
people travel far to use them. Even as far as South Shields”. 

Page 240



 

• “Love the idea for Chester le Street as it could do with a more 
modern multi purpose building to help local people move on after 
the pandemic.”. 

• “Proposal looks great especially for families hope this will take off 
as in need of some boost to ch Le st” 

• “This is something I believe Chester le Street desperately needs. 
It would give the community such a boost and help bring people 
together again”. 

• “The facilities at Chester le street are poor and dated. I drive to 
hetton le hole, spenymoor and Washington to use the facilities 
there. Please bring Chester le streets facilities up to the standard 
of these as a minimum. Ideally surpass these to make sure they 
have longevity., I love my home town and want to use and 
support it”. 

• “These proposals sound amazing, as these leisure centres are 
focused on family, socialising, being fit well and healthy”. 

65 The resident’s responses for Chester-le-street once again showed a 
clear preference for travel by car, so again considerations will be 
needed around increasing sustainable travel. However, within Chester-
le-street there was a higher percentage of respondents indicating a 
preference for public transport, therefore a key consideration needs to 
be access to quality public transport infrastructure. 

66 Parking in the town generally and specific parking concerns at the 
existing site come across strongly in the qualitative feedback. Whilst it is 
clear from respondents that the riverside location was not a preference, 
the civic site responses indicate that there would be a much higher 
number of people visiting more than for the other options. Considering 
that more than half the overall respondents were non-members, this 
suggests that the propensity to attract new customers to the civic centre 
location is high, should the facilities be improved. 

67 The biggest concerns for the existing site was the size of the site and 
access restrictions, whereas the Civic site focused mainly on the impact 
of any construction upon nearby residential accommodation, something 
which would need careful thought in the event that the Civic site is 
chosen. 

 

 

 

Page 241



 

Chester le Street – facilities mix survey 

 

68 The results from this survey reflect the findings from the site selection 
survey which state that the most used form of transport to a leisure 
centre is by car followed by walking. This is likely due to the current 
location. 

 

Page 242



 

 

69 50% of current usage is for swimming at Chester le Street with fitness 
and gym usage accounting for 33% of the remaining. This indicates that 
these will be key features to focus on when designing the new centre 

Page 243



 

 

70 The responses from the survey indicated that the new proposals would 
encourage 89% of people to visit the leisure centre more often and 86% 
will be more physically active. 

71 An open question at the end of the survey gave participants the 
opportunity to leave comment on the leisure offer in general.  The below 
summaries the key points for Chester le Street: 

(a) General positive reaction to new build at Chester le Street; 

(b) Opinions favour both the existing and Civic Centre site; 

(c) Responses all highlight parking and accessibility as key 

considerations; 

(d) Importance of family swimming and variety of fitness classes 

identified; 

(e) The leisure centre is identified as a hub for the community. 

Page 244



 

Chester le Street - AAP Meetings 

72 For the site selection at Chester le Street, the AAP made the following 
comments: 

(a) If the old Civic Centre site is to be used as the new site then 

parking needs to be taken into consideration; 

(b) If the Riverside site is used as the new site then, once again, 

parking will need to be taken into consideration e.g. especially 

when there is a cricket match taking place; 

(c) It was noted that, the old Civic Centre site could be more 

accessible for bus routes however consideration for local 

residents would need to be taken into account; 

(d) It was noted that there is a lack of football pitches in the area and 

that this would need to be taken into consideration when 

considering the Riverside site. 

Summary and Conclusion 

73 Parking and accessibility comes across strongly as a key factor for 
consideration in all three towns, which is clearly shown by the 
preference for car transportation as the primary means by which 
respondents access the leisure facilities. Loss of facilities is mentioned 
but does not come across as a key theme of concern, albeit, it is 
mentioned most in relation to the existing leisure centre in Chester-le-
street, should the civic site become the chosen option. Again, although 
not coming through in the quantitative data as a key consideration, 
public transport and access to the facilities does come across strongly, 
and access requirements will need to be reviewed for all site options. 

74 From the public consultation response, taking into consideration the 
picture presented by the data and the qualitative responses with a focus 
on the future and addressing issues raised during the pandemic, it could 
be interpreted that the following sites are the preferences; 

(a) Seaham –although a 61% net gain in suggested use at the 
existing site is predicted, this is mainly attributed to the ability to 
provide outdoor provision. If this was maintained, the indoor 
centre could be provided at either of the other two sites as both 
suggest an increase in use of 33% at Dock Top and 20% at St 
Johns Square. St Johns Square could offer a slight advantage 
over the other site option due to a high propensity to walk to the 
location as well as have a lower reliance on using a car than for 
the Dock Top option. 

(b) Bishop Auckland – although by choosing the existing site, it is 
indicated that there could be a 22% net gain in suggested use, 

Page 245



 

there has been support for the Tindale site location in order to 
take advantage of the use of existing amenities as well as being 
more accessible to the Dales and taking advantage of waste land 
which could still result in a predicted 8% gain in suggested use. 

(c) Chester-le-street – with a 46% net gain in suggested use at the 
Civic Centre Site, it is suggested that the location move here to 
avoid disruption to service with space for car parking facilities 
which are at a premium in the town centre. 

Author(s) 

Ben Kelsey, Programme Manager Tel:  03000 260847 

Abbie McQuillan, Senior Project Manager Tel:  03000 264714 

  

Page 246



 

 

Below is the raw data which has been used to analyse public response to the 

leisure transformation engagement exercise from 11th November to 6th 

December 2020. 

DCC site selection survey 

Leisure Transformation Relocation Survey 2020 

 

Summary 

 

There were 782 responses to the Leisure Transformation Location Impact Survey. These responses 

are indicative only. 

 

Just under four in ten of these were from members of a leisure centre. The most responses came from 

members of the centres being rebuilt: 

• Woodhouse Close: 118 responses 

• Chester-le-Street: 85 responses 

• Seaham: 55 responses.  

 

Over half (55%) were from residents who weren’t members. The most responses came from those 

who’s most likely centre is to be rebuilt: 

• Seaham: 134 responses 

• Woodhouse Close: 118 responses 

• Chester-le-Street: 103 responses. 

 

Use of the centres differed by membership. Around nine in ten members were likely to use a centre 

weekly or more often, whilst this was under half for non-members. 

 

Members were also likely to do over half an hour of exercise or more a week, over nine in ten 

compared to around three quarters of non-members. 

 

Which of the following best applies? 

 Frequency Percent 

A member of a Durham County Council or 1Life leisure centre 299 39% 

A County Durham resident but not a member of a Durham 

County Council or 1Life leisure centre 

418 55% 

A local business 12 2% 

A local organisation or club 9 1% 

Other 27 4% 

Total 765 100% 

 

Which leisure centre do you use most often? 

 Frequency Percent 

Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex (Bishop Auckland) 118 40% 

Chester-le-Street Leisure Centre 85 29% 

Seaham Leisure Centre (operated by 1Life) 55 19% 

11 responses had <11 frequency 38 13% 

Appendix 1:  Raw Data 

Page 247



 

Total 296 100% 

 

If you were to use a leisure centre, which would you be most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Seaham Leisure Centre (operated by 1Life) 134 33% 

Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex (Bishop Auckland) 118 29% 

Chester-le-Street Leisure Centre 103 25% 

11 responses had <8 frequency 49 12% 

Total 404 100% 

 

 

 

On average how often do you visit the leisure centre? 

 Frequency Percent 

More than three visits per week 129 18% 

Two or three visits a week 189 27% 

Once a week 118 17% 

Less often 209 30% 

Never 57 8% 

Total 702 100% 

 

On average how often do you visit the leisure centre? 

 Member Non-member 

Weekly or more 88% 43% 

Less often 12% 57% 

Frequency 298 404 

 

On average, how much moderate intensity physical activity such as running, swimming, cycling 

or a brisk walk do you do per week? 

 Frequency Percent 

None 27 4% 

Up to 30 minutes 97 14% 

30-149 minutes 347 50% 

150+ minutes 229 33% 

Total 700 100% 

 

On average, how much moderate intensity physical activity such as running, swimming, cycling 

or a brisk walk do you do per week? 

 Member Non-member 

None 1% 6% 

Up to 30 minutes 6% 19% 

30-149 minutes 51% 49% 

150+ minutes 42% 26% 

Frequency 295 405 

 

Which site options do you wish to provide feedback on? 

 Frequency 

Seaham: Existing site 189 

Seaham: The Dock top 87 

Seaham: St John’s Square 70 

Bishop Auckland: Existing site 192 

Bishop Auckland: Land adjacent to Bishop Auckland Football Club 198 

Bishop Auckland: Bishop Auckland College site 151 

Page 248



 

Chester-le-Street: Existing site 139 

Chester-le-Street: Civic site 169 

Chester-le-Street: Riverside site 123 

 

 

  

Page 249



 

Seaham 

 

Responses for the current site outnumbered those of both the other potential sites: 

• Present: 189 

• Dock top: 87 

• St John’s Square: 70 

 

Each of the options had around half of the respondents saying they would drive the car to the leisure 

centre. The Dock top had just 30% saying they would walk to the centre, compared to 43% of the 

current centre and 44% of the St John’s Square options. 

 

The largest increased use came from keeping the site the same with nearly seven in ten stating it 

would do so. This compared to around half of the Dock top and St John’s Square options. 

 

Seaham: Remaining at the present location 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the present location which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 70 52% 

Walk 57 43% 

Bicycle 4 3% 

Public transport 3 2% 

Total 134 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 91 68% 

About the same 33 25% 

Less 10 7% 

Total 134 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 35 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 19 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 18 

Positive: Good parking facilities 13 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 9 

Positive: Access to open spaces/fields 8 

Nine responses with frequency<8 20 

Total 122 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 250



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Seaham leisure centre was to remain in this location? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 25 

Positive: Enable outdoor activities 20 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 14 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 14 

Positive: Size will enable better facilities 12 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 9 

Eighteen responses with frequency<8 45 

Total 148 

 

 

Seaham: Dock top site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the Dock top site which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 30 54% 

Walk 17 30% 

Bicycle 7 13% 

Public transport 2 4% 

Total 56 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Dock top site in Seaham would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 32 56% 

About the same 12 21% 

Less 13 23% 

Total 57 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 8 

Negative: Limited parking 8 

Fifteen responses with frequency<8 30 

Total 46 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Seaham leisure centre was to be in the Dock top site? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Struggle to park 10 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 8 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 8 

Sixteen responses with frequency<8 26 

Total 52 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 251



 

Seaham: St John’s Square site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the St John’s Square site which method of 

transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 21 49% 

Walk 19 44% 

Bicycle 3 7% 

Total 43 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 20 45% 

About the same 13 30% 

Less 11 25% 

Total 44 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Limited parking 10 

Thirteen responses with frequency<8 27 

Total 37 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Seaham leisure centre was to be in the St John’s Square site? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Struggle to park 9 

Sixteen responses with frequency<8 34 

Total 43 

 

  

Page 252



 

Bishop Auckland 

 

Responses for the Bishop Auckland Football Club (Tindale) site outnumbered those of both the 

present site and the college site: 

• Present: 192 

• BAFC: 198 

• College: 151 

 

The college and current options had around half of the respondents saying they would walk to the 

leisure centre, compared with under one in five for the BAFC option. Over three quarters said they 

would drive to the BAFC option. 

 

The largest increased use came from moving to BAFC, with over four in ten saying it would increase 

their use, with the present site being just over three in ten, and the college just over two in ten. 

 

 

Bishop Auckland: Remaining at the present location 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the present location which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Walk 72 50% 

Car 65 45% 

Public transport 6 4% 

Total 143 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 46 32% 

About the same 84 58% 

Less 14 10% 

Total 144 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 34 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 16 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 9 

Sixteen responses with frequency<8 35 

Total 94 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to remain in this location? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 38 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 23 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Create a community spirit 8 

Eighteen responses with frequency<8 56 

Total 134 

 

 

Page 253



 

Bishop Auckland: Land adjacent to BAFC 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the land adjacent to BAFC which method of 

transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 108 77% 

Walk 23 16% 

Bicycle 6 4% 

Public transport 3 2% 

Total 140 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 61 43% 

About the same 31 22% 

Less 49 35% 

Total 141 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 31 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 28 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 23 

Positive: Good parking facilities 8 

Negative: Requires a car 8 

Thirteen responses with frequency<8 34 

Total 132 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to be in the land adjacent to BAFC? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 31 

Negative: Discourage use 24 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 15 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 14 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 10 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 8 

Twenty-five responses with frequency<8 64 

Total 166 

 

 

Bishop Auckland: Relocating at the Bishop Auckland College site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the Bishop Auckland College site which method 

of transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 67 59% 

Walk 42 37% 

Public transport 4 4% 

Total 113 100% 

 

  

Page 254



 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 25 22% 

About the same 60 54% 

Less 27 24% 

Total 112 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 15 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 13 

Neutral: Virtually same location as present/same distance 11 

Fourteen responses with frequency<8 36 

Total 75 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to relocate to the Bishop Auckland College site? 

 Frequency 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 20 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 16 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 10 

Negative: Discourage use 10 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 8 

Nineteen responses with frequency<8 39 

Total 103 

 

 

  

Page 255



 

 

Chester-le-Street 

 

Responses for the civic site outnumbered those of both of the other sites: 

• Present: 139 

• Civic site: 169 

• Riverside: 123 

 

Each of the options had over half of the respondents saying they would drive the car to the leisure 

centre. The civic site had slightly more saying they would walk, with around one in three saying they 

would do so. 

 

The largest increased use came from moving to the civic site, with over half their responses saying 

this would increase their use. This numbered one in four for both the other options. 

 

 

Chester-le-Street: Remaining at the present location 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the present location which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 71 65% 

Walk 24 22% 

Public transport 11 10% 

Bicycle 2 2% 

Other 2 5% 

Total 110 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 27 25% 

About the same 77 70% 

Less 6 5% 

Total 110 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 13 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 12 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 11 

Thirteen responses with frequency<8 29 

Total 65 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to remain in this location? 

 Frequency 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 26 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 22 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 8 

Fourteen responses with frequency<8 35 

Total 100 

 

Page 256



 

Chester-le-Street: Relocating at the former civic site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the former civic site which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 78 56% 

Walk 44 31% 

Public transport 11 8% 

Bicycle 5 4% 

Other 1 1% 

Total 139 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 72 53% 

About the same 54 40% 

Less 10 7% 

Total 136 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 40 

Positive: Good parking facilities 15 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 9 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 8 

Fifteen responses with frequency<8 34 

Total 106 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to be in the former civic site? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 43 

Positive: Increased use 12 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 8 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 8 

Fourteen responses with frequency<8 54 

Total 125 

 

 

Chester-le-Street: Relocating to the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park 

which method of transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 59 69% 

Walk 14 16% 

Public transport 7 8% 

Bicycle 4 5% 

Other 1 1% 

Total 85 100% 

 

 

Page 257



 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 21 25% 

About the same 35 41% 

Less 29 34% 

Total 85 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 26 

Negative: Area/private facility used/situated there 8 

Eighteen responses with frequency<8 49 

Total 83 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to relocate to the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside 

Park? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 16 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 9 

Negative: Struggle to park 9 

Twenty-two responses with frequency<8 53 

Total 87 

 

 

 

  

Page 258



 

Full Results 

Format of response 

 Frequency Percent 

PC 175 22% 

Mobile 514 66% 

Tablet 93 12% 

Total 782 100% 

 

Which of the following best applies: 

 Frequency Percent 

A member of a Durham County Council or 1Life leisure centre 299 39% 

A County Durham resident but not a member of a Durham 

County Council or 1Life leisure centre 

418 55% 

A local business 12 2% 

A local organisation or club 9 1% 

Other 27 4% 

Total 765 100% 

 

If other, please specify. 

 Frequency 

Local councillor 5 

Former resident 2 

Local sports centre 2 

Parent of user 2 

Visitor 2 

Durham Thrive member 1 

Member of staff 1 

Retired 1 

Total 16 

 

What is the name of your local business, organisation or club? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 18 86% 

No response 3 14% 

Total 21 100% 

 

Which leisure centre do you use most often? 

 Frequency Percent 

Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex (Bishop Auckland) 118 40% 

Chester-le-Street Leisure Centre 85 29% 

Seaham Leisure Centre (operated by 1Life) 55 19% 

Newton Aycliffe Leisure Centre 10 3% 

Freeman's Quay Leisure Centre 6 2% 

Abbey Leisure Centre 4 1% 

Spennymoor Leisure Centre 3 1% 

Teesdale Leisure Centre (Barnard Castle) 3 1% 

The Louisa Centre (Stanley) 3 1% 

Consett Leisure Centre 2 1% 

Peterlee Leisure Centre (operated by 1Life) 2 1% 

Shildon-Sunnydale Leisure Centre 2 1% 

Wolsingham Leisure Centre 2 1% 

Meadowfield Leisure Centre 1 0% 

Total 296 100% 

Page 259



 

If you were to use a leisure centre, which would you be most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Seaham Leisure Centre (operated by 1Life) 134 33% 

Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex (Bishop Auckland) 118 29% 

Chester-le-Street Leisure Centre 103 25% 

Freeman's Quay Leisure Centre 7 2% 

Peterlee Leisure Centre (operated by 1Life) 7 2% 

Newton Aycliffe Leisure Centre 5 1% 

Riverside Leisure Complex (Chester-le-Street) 5 1% 

Teesdale Leisure Centre (Barnard Castle) 5 1% 

The Louisa Centre (Stanley) 5 1% 

Spennymoor Leisure Centre 4 1% 

Shildon-Sunnydale Leisure Centre 3 1% 

Wolsingham Leisure Centre 3 1% 

Abbey Leisure Centre 2 0% 

Consett Leisure Centre 2 0% 

Meadowfield Leisure Centre 1 0% 

Total 404 100% 

 

On average how often do you visit the leisure centre? 

 Frequency Percent 

More than three visits per week 129 18% 

Two or three visits a week 189 27% 

Once a week 118 17% 

Less often 209 30% 

Never 57 8% 

Total 702 100% 

 

On average how often do you visit the leisure centre? 

 Member Non-member 

Weekly or more 88% 43% 

Less often 12% 57% 

Frequency 298 404 

 

On average, how much moderate intensity physical activity such as running, swimming, cycling 

or a brisk walk do you do per week? 

 Frequency Percent 

None 27 4% 

Up to 30 minutes 97 14% 

30-149 minutes 347 50% 

150+ minutes 229 33% 

Total 700 100% 

 

On average, how much moderate intensity physical activity such as running, swimming, cycling 

or a brisk walk do you do per week? 

 Member Non-member 

None 1% 6% 

Up to 30 minutes 6% 19% 

30-149 minutes 51% 49% 

150+ minutes 42% 26% 

Frequency 295 405 

 

 

Page 260



 

Which site options do you wish to provide feedback on? 

 Frequency 

Seaham: Existing site 189 

Seaham: The Dock top 87 

Seaham: St John’s Square 70 

Bishop Auckland: Existing site 192 

Bishop Auckland: Land adjacent to Bishop Auckland Football Club 198 

Bishop Auckland: Bishop Auckland College site 151 

Chester-le-Street: Existing site 139 

Chester-le-Street: Civic site 169 

Chester-le-Street: Riverside site 123 

 

 

Seaham: Remaining at the present location 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the present location which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 70 52% 

Walk 57 43% 

Bicycle 4 3% 

Public transport 3 2% 

Total 134 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 91 68% 

About the same 33 25% 

Less 10 7% 

Total 134 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 35 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 19 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 18 

Positive: Good parking facilities 13 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 9 

Positive: Access to open spaces/fields 8 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 5 

Positive: Better classes/activities would increase use 4 

Negative: Limited parking 3 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 3 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 1 

Positive: Reduced congestion/less busy area 1 

Positive: Personal circumstances 1 

Negative: Area/private facility used/situated there 1 

Neutral: Depends upon offer 1 

Total 122 

 

 

 

Page 261



 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 76 58% 

Agree 49 37% 

Neither agree nor disagree 5 4% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 132 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 67 51% 

Agree 47 36% 

Neither agree nor disagree 16 12% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 132 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 63 48% 

Agree 37 28% 

Neither agree nor disagree 30 23% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 132 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 76 57% 

Agree 50 37% 

Neither agree nor disagree 6 4% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 134 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 79 59% 

Agree 47 35% 

Neither agree nor disagree 6 4% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 134 100% 

 

 

 

Page 262



 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 70 52% 

Agree 53 40% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 7% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 134 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 69 52% 

Agree 53 40% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 7% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 1 1% 

Total 133 100% 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Seaham leisure centre was to remain in this location? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 25 

Positive: Enable outdoor activities 20 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 14 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 14 

Positive: Size will enable better facilities 12 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 9 

Positive: Encourage family use 7 

Positive: Increased use 5 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 4 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 4 

Create a community spirit 4 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 3 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 3 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 3 

Positive: Activities for children/less ASB 2 

Positive: Improve team/club facilities 2 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 1 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 1 

Negative: Disagree with location/wouldn't use 1 

Positive: Improve aesthetics when exercising 1 

Positive: Improve safety 1 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 1 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 1 

Negative: Negative impact upon business 1 

Total 148 

 

 

 

 

Page 263



 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 42 83% 14% 2% 

Female 85 59% 31% 11% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 95% 94% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 90% 83% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 85% 70% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 95% 93% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 95% 93% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 95% 89% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 93% 91% 

Frequency 41-42 83-85 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 2 50% 50% 0% 

25-64 123 67% 25% 8% 

65+ 7 86% 14% 0% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 100% 94% 100% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 100% 86% 83% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 76% 83% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 100% 93% 100% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 100% 93% 100% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 100% 91% 100% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 100% 91% 100% 

Frequency 2 122-123 6-7 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 23 87% 9% 4% 

Not disabled 99 63% 29% 8% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 264



 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 91% 97% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 86% 88% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 82% 77% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 91% 97% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 91% 96% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 96% 92% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 86% 94% 

Frequency 22-23 98-99 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 77 66% 29% 5% 

Visit less often 57 70% 19% 11% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 97% 91% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 89% 82% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 79% 71% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 97% 89% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 97% 89% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 91% 93% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 94% 89% 

Frequency 76-77 55-57 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 41 54% 35% 7% 

Local non-member 85 75% 16% 8% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 100% 94% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 90% 86% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 78% 75% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 100% 93% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 100% 93% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 98% 91% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 98% 90% 

Frequency 40-41 83-5 

 

 

  

Page 265



 

Seaham: Dock top site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the Dock top site which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 30 54% 

Walk 17 30% 

Bicycle 7 13% 

Public transport 2 4% 

Total 56 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Dock top site in Seaham would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 32 56% 

About the same 12 21% 

Less 13 23% 

Total 57 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 8 

Negative: Limited parking 8 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 5 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 3 

Positive: Nicest area 3 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 3 

Negative: Plot too small 3 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 2 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 2 

Neutral: Depends upon offer 2 

Positive: Better classes/activities would increase use 1 

Positive: Safer 1 

Positive: Close to amenities/shops 1 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 1 

Negative: Disagree with location/wouldn't use 1 

Negative: No outdoor space 1 

Negative: Environmental issues/use brownfield land 1 

Total 46 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 22 41% 

Agree 20 37% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 13% 

Disagree 3 6% 

Strongly disagree 2 4% 

Total 54 100% 

 

 

 

 

Page 266



 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 21 38% 

Agree 19 34% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 20% 

Disagree 2 4% 

Strongly disagree 3 5% 

Total 56 100% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 20 36% 

Agree 15 27% 

Neither agree nor disagree 16 29% 

Disagree 1 2% 

Strongly disagree 3 5% 

Total 55 100% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 25 45% 

Agree 18 32% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 13% 

Disagree 3 5% 

Strongly disagree 3 5% 

Total 56 100% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 21 38% 

Agree 22 39% 

Neither agree nor disagree 5 9% 

Disagree 5 9% 

Strongly disagree 3 5% 

Total 56 100% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 20 36% 

Agree 22 39% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 13% 

Disagree 5 9% 

Strongly disagree 2 4% 

Total 56 100% 

 

 

 

 

Page 267



 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 20 37% 

Agree 17 31% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 20% 

Disagree 5 9% 

Strongly disagree 1 2% 

Total 54 100% 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Seaham leisure centre was to be in the Dock top site? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Struggle to park 10 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 8 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 8 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 3 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 3 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 3 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 3 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 2 

Negative: Unable to door outdoor activities 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Negative: Plot too small 1 

Positive: Improve aesthetics when exercising 1 

Positive: Improve safety 1 

Positive: Improve tourist/visitor numbers 1 

Positive: Size will enable better facilities 1 

Positive: Create a community spirit 1 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 1 

Negative: Generic negative 1 

Negative: Unable to combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 1 

Total 52 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the Dock top site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 22 59% 23% 18% 

Female 32 50% 22% 28% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 70% 81% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 71% 69% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 71% 55% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 76% 75% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 76% 75% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 71% 45% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 62% 70% 

Frequency 20-21 30-32 

 

Page 268



 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the Dock top site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 1 100% 0% 0% 

25-64 26 51% 24% 25% 

65+ 4 100% 0% 0% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 0% 78% 100% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 100% 72% 50% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 100% 63% 50% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 100% 74% 100% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 100% 74% 100% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 100% 72% 100% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 100% 65% 100% 

Frequency 1 48-50 3-4 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Dock top site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 13 69% 15% 15% 

Not disabled 40 50% 23% 28% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 83% 74% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 92% 62% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 77% 55% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 85% 72% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 92% 69% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 92% 67% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 77% 62% 

Frequency 12-13 37-39 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Dock top site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 38 66% 16% 18% 

Visit less often 19 37% 32% 32% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 269



 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 86% 63% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 78% 58% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 72% 47% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 86% 58% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 86% 58% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 84% 58% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 75% 56% 

Frequency 35-37 19 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Dock top site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 15 47% 20% 33% 

Local non-member 34 62% 18% 21% 

 

With the Dock top site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 71% 82% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 60% 76% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 60% 68% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 73% 79% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 73% 79% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 73% 76% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 67% 73% 

Frequency 14-15 33-34 

 

 

  

Page 270



 

Seaham: St John’s Square site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the St John’s Square site which method of 

transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 21 49% 

Walk 19 44% 

Bicycle 3 7% 

Total 43 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 20 45% 

About the same 13 30% 

Less 11 25% 

Total 44 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Limited parking 10 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 6 

Negative: Plot too small 4 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 3 

Negative: No outdoor space 3 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 2 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 2 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 1 

Positive: Regeneration of area 1 

Positive: Would increase membership 1 

Negative: Anti-social behaviour 1 

Negative: Against new building/aesthetics 1 

Negative: Safety an issue 1 

Negative: Not close to amenities/shops 1 

Total 37 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 14 32% 

Agree 16 36% 

Neither agree nor disagree 10 23% 

Disagree 2 5% 

Strongly disagree 2 5% 

Total 44 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 271



 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 12 27% 

Agree 13 30% 

Neither agree nor disagree 14 32% 

Disagree 4 9% 

Strongly disagree 1 2% 

Total 44 100% 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 11 25% 

Agree 11 25% 

Neither agree nor disagree 18 41% 

Disagree 3 7% 

Strongly disagree 1 2% 

Total 44 100% 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 15 34% 

Agree 14 32% 

Neither agree nor disagree 10 23% 

Disagree 4 9% 

Strongly disagree 1 2% 

Total 44 100% 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 14 32% 

Agree 15 34% 

Neither agree nor disagree 8 18% 

Disagree 7 16% 

Strongly disagree 0 0% 

Total 44 100% 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 14 32% 

Agree 14 32% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 20% 

Disagree 6 14% 

Strongly disagree 1 2% 

Total 44 100% 

 

 

 

 

Page 272



 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 12 27% 

Agree 15 34% 

Neither agree nor disagree 12 27% 

Disagree 4 9% 

Strongly disagree 1 2% 

Total 44 100% 

 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Seaham leisure centre was to be in the St John’s Square site? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Struggle to park 9 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 6 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 4 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 4 

Positive: Increased use 3 

Negative: Discourage use 3 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 2 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 2 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Negative: Plot too small 1 

Neutral: Needs pitches/4G 1 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 1 

Positive: Improve tourist/visitor numbers 1 

Positive: Enable outdoor activities 1 

Negative: Detrimental to health 1 

Negative: Generic negative 1 

Total 43 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 12 42% 42% 17% 

Female 30 43% 27% 30% 

 

With the St Johns Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 67% 70% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 50% 57% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 47% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 58% 70% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 67% 67% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 67% 63% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 67% 60% 

Frequency 12 30 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

Page 273



 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

25-64 40 40% 33% 28% 

65+ 4 100% 0% 0% 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 68% 75% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 58% 50% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 50% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 65% 75% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 65% 75% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 63% 75% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 60% 75% 

Frequency 40 4 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 6 67% 17% 17% 

Not disabled 36 39% 33% 28% 

 

With the St Johns Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 67% 67% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 83% 50% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 67% 44% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 67% 64% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 67% 64% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 67% 61% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 67% 58% 

Frequency 6 36 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 23 39% 30% 30% 

Visit less often 21 52% 29% 19% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 274



 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 78% 57% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 61% 52% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 52% 48% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 70% 62% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 74% 57% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 70% 57% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 61% 62% 

Frequency 23 21 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the St John’s Square site would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 10 20% 50% 30% 

Local non-member 29 52% 28% 21% 

 

With the St John’s Square site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 70% 72% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 50% 62% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 40% 55% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 60% 72% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 60% 72% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 60% 69% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 60% 62% 

Frequency 10 29 

 

 

Bishop Auckland: Remaining at the present location 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the present location which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Walk 72 50% 

Car 65 45% 

Public transport 6 4% 

Total 143 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 46 32% 

About the same 84 58% 

Less 14 10% 

Total 144 100% 

 

 

 

Page 275



 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 34 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 16 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 9 

Negative: Limited parking 5 

Positive: Good parking facilities 4 

Positive: Better classes/activities would increase use 4 

Negative: Disagree with location/wouldn't use 3 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 2 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 2 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 2 

Positive: Personal circumstances 2 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 2 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 2 

Neutral: Virtually same location as present/same distance 2 

Positive: Safer 1 

Positive: Reduced congestion/less busy area 1 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 1 

Negative: Safety an issue 1 

Negative: Not close to amenities/shops 1 

Total 94 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 77 55% 

Agree 44 31% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 9% 

Disagree 5 4% 

Strongly disagree 2 1% 

Total 141 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 62 44% 

Agree 40 28% 

Neither agree nor disagree 32 23% 

Disagree 5 4% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 142 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 49 37% 

Agree 33 25% 

Neither agree nor disagree 44 33% 

Disagree 5 4% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 134 100% 

 

Page 276



 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 76 53% 

Agree 47 33% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 9% 

Disagree 4 3% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 143 100% 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 77 54% 

Agree 41 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 19 13% 

Disagree 3 2% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 143 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 61 43% 

Agree 46 33% 

Neither agree nor disagree 27 19% 

Disagree 4 3% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 141 100% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 60 42% 

Agree 48 33% 

Neither agree nor disagree 30 21% 

Disagree 3 2% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 144 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to remain in this location? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 38 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 23 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Create a community spirit 8 

Positive: Increased use 7 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 6 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 5 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 5 

Negative: Struggle to park 5 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 4 

Positive: Encourage family use 4 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 3 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 3 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 3 

Positive: Improve safety 2 

Negative: Discourage use 2 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Positive: Nicest area 1 

Negative: Plot too small 1 

Positive: Activities for children/less ASB 1 

Neutral: Would feel engaged 1 

Total 134 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 51 22% 65% 14% 

Female 88 36% 57% 7% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 84% 87% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 71% 73% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 59% 64% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 82% 89% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 78% 85% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 74% 77% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 69% 78% 

Frequency 49-51 80-87 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 5 60% 40% 0% 

25-64 108 31% 61% 8% 

65+ 22 32% 59% 9% 

 

Page 278



 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 100% 84% 90% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 100% 74% 50% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 80% 66% 31% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 100% 84% 91% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 100% 80% 90% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 80% 72% 85% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 100% 71% 86% 

Frequency 4-5 105-108 16-22 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 22 45% 50% 5% 

Not disabled 112 29% 61% 10% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 82% 88% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 68% 75% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 60% 64% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 82% 88% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 77% 86% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 82% 75% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 82% 76% 

Frequency 20-22 104-112 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 107 30% 60% 10% 

Visit less often 35 40% 54% 6% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 91% 71% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 77% 56% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 62% 59% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 91% 74% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 87% 71% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 78% 70% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 78% 69% 

Frequency 100-107 32-35 

 

 

Page 279



 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 69 30% 64% 6% 

Local non-member 58 36% 50% 14% 

 

With the present location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 96% 81% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 76% 74% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 63% 67% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 96% 83% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 94% 77% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 87% 67% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 88% 67% 

Frequency 63-69 55-58 

 

 

Bishop Auckland: Land adjacent to BAFC 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the land adjacent to BAFC which method of 

transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 108 77% 

Walk 23 16% 

Bicycle 6 4% 

Public transport 3 2% 

Total 140 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 61 43% 

About the same 31 22% 

Less 49 35% 

Total 141 100% 

 

  

Page 280



 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 31 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 28 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 23 

Positive: Good parking facilities 8 

Negative: Requires a car 8 

Positive: Close to amenities/shops 7 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 5 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 3 

Positive: Safer 3 

Negative: Disagree with location/wouldn't use 3 

Negative: Safety an issue 3 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 2 

Positive: Regeneration of area 2 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Positive: Better classes/activities would increase use 1 

Positive: Reduced congestion/less busy area 1 

Negative: Limited parking 1 

Total 132 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 52 37% 

Agree 44 31% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 8% 

Disagree 17 12% 

Strongly disagree 16 11% 

Total 140 100% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 41 30% 

Agree 43 31% 

Neither agree nor disagree 15 11% 

Disagree 20 15% 

Strongly disagree 18 13% 

Total 137 100% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 35 26% 

Agree 31 23% 

Neither agree nor disagree 35 26% 

Disagree 14 11% 

Strongly disagree 18 14% 

Total 133 100% 

 

 

Page 281



 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 54 39% 

Agree 38 27% 

Neither agree nor disagree 12 9% 

Disagree 21 15% 

Strongly disagree 15 11% 

Total 140 100% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 52 37% 

Agree 40 28% 

Neither agree nor disagree 12 9% 

Disagree 21 15% 

Strongly disagree 16 11% 

Total 141 100% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 42 30% 

Agree 40 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 14% 

Disagree 22 16% 

Strongly disagree 15 11% 

Total 139 100% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 37 26% 

Agree 31 22% 

Neither agree nor disagree 29 21% 

Disagree 22 16% 

Strongly disagree 21 15% 

Total 140 100% 

 

  

Page 282



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to be in the land adjacent to BAFC? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 31 

Negative: Discourage use 24 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 15 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 14 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 10 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 8 

Negative: Negative impact upon town/degeneration 7 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 6 

Negative: Would require a car 6 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 4 

Positive: Increased use 4 

Positive: Encourage family use 4 

Positive: Improve safety 4 

Negative: Discourage family use 4 

Negative: Detrimental to health 3 

Positive: Activities for children/less ASB 2 

Positive: Improve team/club facilities 2 

Positive: Improve tourist/visitor numbers 2 

Negative: Detrimental for children/increased ASB 2 

Negative: Struggle to park 2 

Negative: Remove community spirit 2 

Positive: Nicest area 1 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 1 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 1 

Neutral: Needs pitches/4G 1 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 1 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 1 

Positive: Size will enable better facilities 1 

Positive: Create a community spirit 1 

Negative: Less safe 1 

Negative: Unable to combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 1 

Total 166 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 56 55% 18% 27% 

Female 83 36% 25% 39% 

 

  

Page 283



 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 73% 66% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 64% 61% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 56% 46% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 70% 63% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 70% 64% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 63% 57% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 52% 48% 

Frequency 55-56 76-83 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 5 60% 20% 20% 

25-64 114 44% 24% 32% 

65+ 17 41% 18% 41% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 80% 69% 71% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 80% 62% 62% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 60% 51% 46% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 60% 67% 65% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 80% 67% 65% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 80% 59% 56% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 60% 50% 41% 

Frequency 5 110-114 13-17 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 17 41% 29% 29% 

Not disabled 112 41% 22% 37% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 71% 67% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 65% 59% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 53% 48% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 71% 63% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 65% 65% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 76% 54% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 71% 43% 

Frequency 17 104-112 

 

  

Page 284



 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 100 38% 24% 38% 

Visit less often 39 54% 18% 28% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 68% 69% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 57% 71% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 48% 54% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 65% 67% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 64% 67% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 54% 69% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 43% 62% 

Frequency 94-100 37-39 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the land adjacent to BAFC would it make you use the 

centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 60 30% 27% 43% 

Local non-member 56 41% 23% 36% 

 

With the land adjacent to BAFC in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 63% 65% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 51% 64% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 42% 56% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 62% 61% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 62% 61% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 54% 60% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 47% 52% 

Frequency 55-60 54-56 

 

 

Bishop Auckland: Relocating at the Bishop Auckland College site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the Bishop Auckland College site which method 

of transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 67 59% 

Walk 42 37% 

Public transport 4 4% 

Total 113 100% 

 

  

Page 285



 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 25 22% 

About the same 60 54% 

Less 27 24% 

Total 112 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 15 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 13 

Neutral: Virtually same location as present/same distance 11 

Negative: Disagree with location/wouldn't use 5 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 5 

Negative: Requires a car 5 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 5 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 3 

Positive: Good parking facilities 2 

Positive: Personal circumstances 2 

Negative: Limited parking 2 

Negative: Would feel intimidated/too attached to school 2 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 1 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Positive: Safer 1 

Positive: Would increase membership 1 

Positive: Reduced congestion/less busy area 1 

Total 75 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 43 38% 

Agree 36 32% 

Neither agree nor disagree 17 15% 

Disagree 11 10% 

Strongly disagree 5 4% 

Total 112 100% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 31 28% 

Agree 33 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 29 26% 

Disagree 12 11% 

Strongly disagree 7 6% 

Total 112 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 286



 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 22 21% 

Agree 33 31% 

Neither agree nor disagree 36 34% 

Disagree 10 9% 

Strongly disagree 6 6% 

Total 107 100% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 39 35% 

Agree 41 36% 

Neither agree nor disagree 16 14% 

Disagree 12 11% 

Strongly disagree 5 4% 

Total 113 100% 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 37 33% 

Agree 38 34% 

Neither agree nor disagree 18 16% 

Disagree 12 11% 

Strongly disagree 6 5% 

Total 111 100% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 28 25% 

Agree 32 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 32 29% 

Disagree 12 11% 

Strongly disagree 6 5% 

Total 110 100% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 27 24% 

Agree 26 23% 

Neither agree nor disagree 37 33% 

Disagree 13 12% 

Strongly disagree 8 7% 

Total 111 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 287



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Bishop Auckland leisure centre was to relocate to the Bishop Auckland College site? 

 Frequency 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 20 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 16 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 10 

Negative: Discourage use 10 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 8 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 5 

Positive: Increased use 5 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 4 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 2 

Positive: Activities for children/less ASB 2 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 2 

Create a community spirit 2 

Negative: Detrimental to health 2 

Negative: Struggle to park 2 

Negative: School limitations (term-time/closed/too connected) 2 

Negative: Would require a car 2 

Negative: Environmental issues/on greenfield land 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 1 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 1 

Positive: Encourage family use 1 

Positive: Improve safety 1 

Positive: Improve tourist/visitor numbers 1 

Negative: Detrimental for children/increased ASB 1 

Total 103 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 43 28% 53% 19% 

Female 66 17% 56% 27% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 72% 70% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 58% 58% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 51% 52% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 72% 70% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 72% 65% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 58% 52% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 51% 46% 

Frequency 41-43 63-67 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 288



 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 4 50% 25% 25% 

25-64 82 20% 55% 26% 

65+ 21 24% 62% 14% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 50% 67% 90% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 50% 57% 63% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 53% 53% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 50% 68% 90% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 50% 64% 89% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 50% 49% 78% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 50% 45% 63% 

Frequency 4 81-84 17-21 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 15 20% 73% 7% 

Not disabled 88 19% 55% 26% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 88% 68% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 56% 59% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 52% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 88% 68% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 80% 67% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 87% 48% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 67% 46% 

Frequency 15-16 81-88 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 93 18% 57% 25% 

Visit less often 18 39% 39% 22% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 289



 

With on the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 74% 53% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 60% 42% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 52% 45% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 74% 53% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 71% 47% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 57% 47% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 49% 37% 

Frequency 86-93 19-20 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the Bishop Auckland College site would it make you use 

the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 61 15% 60% 25% 

Local non-member 40 33% 48% 20% 

 

With the Bishop Auckland College site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree 

building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 77% 64% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 56% 63% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 58% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 78% 63% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 76% 60% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 62% 44% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 51% 46% 

Frequency 56-60 39-40 

 

 

Chester-le-Street: Remaining at the present location 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the present location which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 71 65% 

Walk 24 22% 

Public transport 11 10% 

Bicycle 2 2% 

Other 2 5% 

Total 110 100% 

 

If other, please specify. 

 Frequency 

Motorcycle 1 

Total 1 

 

 

 

 

Page 290



 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 27 25% 

About the same 77 70% 

Less 6 5% 

Total 110 100% 

 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 13 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 12 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 11 

Negative: Limited parking 6 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 5 

Positive: Good parking facilities 3 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 3 

Positive: Better classes/activities would increase use 2 

Negative: Plot too small 2 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 2 

Positive: Access to open spaces/fields 1 

Positive: Safer 1 

Positive: Personal circumstances 1 

Negative: Would feel intimidated/too attached to school 1 

Neutral: Virtually same location as present/same distance 1 

Neutral: Needs COVID requirements 1 

Total 65 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 49 45% 

Agree 46 43% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 6% 

Disagree 3 3% 

Strongly disagree 3 3% 

Total 108 100% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 35 33% 

Agree 40 38% 

Neither agree nor disagree 22 21% 

Disagree 6 6% 

Strongly disagree 3 3% 

Total 106 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 291



 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 29 29% 

Agree 28 28% 

Neither agree nor disagree 35 35% 

Disagree 5 5% 

Strongly disagree 2 2% 

Total 99 100% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 50 46% 

Agree 50 46% 

Neither agree nor disagree 5 5% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 3 3% 

Total 109 100% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 50 46% 

Agree 46 43% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 6% 

Disagree 2 2% 

Strongly disagree 3 3% 

Total 108 100% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 36 33% 

Agree 40 37% 

Neither agree nor disagree 22 20% 

Disagree 7 6% 

Strongly disagree 3 3% 

Total 108 100% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 33 31% 

Agree 43 40% 

Neither agree nor disagree 22 20% 

Disagree 7 6% 

Strongly disagree 3 3% 

Total 108 100% 

 

 

 

 

Page 292



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to remain in this location? 

 Frequency 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 26 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 22 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 9 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 8 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 6 

Positive: Encourage family use 6 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 4 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 3 

Positive: Increased use 3 

Negative: Struggle to park 3 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 2 

Positive: Activities for children/less ASB 2 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 1 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 1 

Positive: Create a community spirit 1 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 1 

Negative: School limitations (term-time/closed/too connected) 1 

Negative: Less safe 1 

Total 100 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 32 34% 59% 6% 

Female 67 18% 78% 4% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 91% 88% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 75% 67% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 59% 56% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 91% 94% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 84% 93% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 75% 72% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 81% 64% 

Frequency 29-32 62-67 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 4 25% 75% 0% 

25-64 86 27% 67% 6% 

65+ 11 9% 91% 0% 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 293



 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 75% 91% 82% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 75% 71% 64% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 75% 59% 22% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 100% 94% 82% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 100% 91% 82% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 75% 71% 82% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 75% 70% 73% 

Frequency 4 79-86 9-11 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 9 33% 56% 11% 

Not disabled 85 24% 72% 5% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 89% 89% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 67% 70% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 56% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 78% 94% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 78% 91% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 67% 74% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 44% 74% 

Frequency 8-9 78-85 

 

 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 78 22% 73% 5% 

Visit less often 32 31% 63% 6% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 90% 84% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 67% 81% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 55% 64% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 94% 88% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 92% 81% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 73% 65% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 73% 65% 

Frequency 71-77 28-32 

 

 

Page 294



 

If the leisure centre was to be rebuilt on the existing site would it make you use the centre more 

or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 52 21% 73% 6% 

Local non-member 43 35% 63% 2% 

 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree rebuilding the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 94% 81% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 68% 76% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 68% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 96% 88% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 92% 86% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 75% 67% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 71% 70% 

Frequency 50-51 37-43 

 

 

Chester-le-Street: Relocating at the former civic site 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the former civic site which method of transport 

are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 78 56% 

Walk 44 31% 

Public transport 11 8% 

Bicycle 5 4% 

Other 1 1% 

Total 139 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 72 53% 

About the same 54 40% 

Less 10 7% 

Total 136 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 295



 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 40 

Positive: Good parking facilities 15 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 9 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 8 

Negative: Limited parking 7 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 5 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 3 

Positive: Better classes/activities would increase use 3 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 2 

Positive: Reduced congestion/less busy area 2 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 2 

Negative: Plot too small 2 

Negative: Requires a car 2 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 1 

Positive: Nicest area 1 

Positive: Safer 1 

Negative: Safety an issue 1 

Negative: Environmental issues/use brownfield land 1 

Neutral: Virtually same location as present/same distance 1 

Total 106 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 65 47% 

Agree 60 44% 

Neither agree nor disagree 6 4% 

Disagree 3 2% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 137 100% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 49 36% 

Agree 58 43% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 15% 

Disagree 6 4% 

Strongly disagree 2 2% 

Total 135 100% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 37 28% 

Agree 39 30% 

Neither agree nor disagree 49 38% 

Disagree 2 2% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 130 100% 

 

Page 296



 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 64 46% 

Agree 62 45% 

Neither agree nor disagree 8 6% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 138 100% 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 64 47% 

Agree 61 45% 

Neither agree nor disagree 8 6% 

Disagree 1 1% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 137 100% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 50 36% 

Agree 54 39% 

Neither agree nor disagree 24 18% 

Disagree 6 4% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 137 100% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 43 32% 

Agree 57 42% 

Neither agree nor disagree 26 19% 

Disagree 7 5% 

Strongly disagree 3 2% 

Total 136 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 297



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to be in the former civic site? 

 Frequency 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 43 

Positive: Increased use 12 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 8 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 8 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 7 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 7 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 6 

Negative: No facilities whilst rebuilding 5 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 5 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 5 

Negative: Struggle to park 5 

Positive: Encourage family use 4 

Positive: Improve safety 3 

Negative: Discourage use 2 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 2 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 1 

Negative: Limited parking 1 

Negative: Plot too small 1 

Total 125 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 46 57% 35% 9% 

Female 80 51% 41% 8% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 89% 92% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 80% 77% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 56% 56% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 89% 92% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 89% 92% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 76% 76% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 73% 72% 

Frequency 43-45 78-83 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 5 60% 20% 20% 

25-64 107 53% 38% 8% 

65+ 17 53% 47% 0% 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 298



 

With the present site location in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the 

centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 80% 90% 100% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 60% 79% 80% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 40% 60% 38% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 80% 91% 94% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 80% 91% 94% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 80% 75% 88% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 60% 73% 75% 

Frequency 5 105-110 13-16 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 9 67% 33% 0% 

Not disabled 113 54% 38% 8% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 90% 92% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 90% 77% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 67% 57% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 90% 93% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 90% 92% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 80% 79% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 90% 74% 

Frequency 9-10 107-113 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 84 43% 46% 11% 

Visit less often 52 69% 29% 2% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 93% 88% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 72% 90% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 56% 62% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 93% 89% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 91% 92% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 74% 79% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 73% 75% 

Frequency 80-85 50-53 

 

 

 

Page 299



 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the former civic site would it make you use the centre 

more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 54 43% 46% 11% 

Local non-member 67 61% 36% 3% 

 

With the former civic site in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree building the centre 

there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 96% 91% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 77% 87% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 53% 65% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 94% 93% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 94% 94% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 78% 78% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 72% 80% 

Frequency 51-54 63-67 

 

 

Chester-le-Street: Relocating to the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park 

 

If you were to use the proposed leisure centre at the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park 

which method of transport are you most likely to use? 

 Frequency Percent 

Car 59 69% 

Walk 14 16% 

Public transport 7 8% 

Bicycle 4 5% 

Other 1 1% 

Total 85 100% 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency Percent 

More 21 25% 

About the same 35 41% 

Less 29 34% 

Total 85 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 300



 

Why do you feel this to be the case? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Inaccessible/out of way/poor public transport 26 

Negative: Area/private facility used/situated there 8 

Negative: Limited parking 7 

Negative: Safety an issue 7 

Positive: Accessible/local/public transport 6 

Negative: Increased congestion/congested area/area too busy 5 

Positive: Good parking facilities 3 

Negative: Disagree with location/wouldn't use 3 

Positive: Improved facilities/old facilities poor 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 2 

Positive: Close to amenities/shops 2 

Negative: Environmental issues/use brownfield land 2 

Neutral: Already use/limited change 2 

Neutral: Virtually same location as present/same distance 2 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 1 

Positive: Nicest area 1 

Positive: Large plot to build upon 1 

Positive: Location awareness/familiarity 1 

Positive: Reduced congestion/less busy area 1 

Negative: Not close to amenities/shops 1 

Total 83 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will allow you to remain physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 34 40% 

Agree 28 33% 

Neither agree nor disagree 5 6% 

Disagree 13 15% 

Strongly disagree 5 6% 

Total 85 100% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will encourage your family to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 25 29% 

Agree 22 26% 

Neither agree nor disagree 18 21% 

Disagree 14 16% 

Strongly disagree 6 7% 

Total 85 100% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park n in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will encourage your children to be physically active? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 23 29% 

Agree 16 20% 

Neither agree nor disagree 24 30% 

Disagree 9 11% 

Strongly disagree 7 9% 

Total 79 100% 

Page 301



 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 35 41% 

Agree 25 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 11% 

Disagree 10 12% 

Strongly disagree 6 7% 

Total 85 100% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will help your mental health and wellbeing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 33 38% 

Agree 27 31% 

Neither agree nor disagree 10 12% 

Disagree 10 12% 

Strongly disagree 6 7% 

Total 86 100% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 23 27% 

Agree 25 30% 

Neither agree nor disagree 19 23% 

Disagree 11 13% 

Strongly disagree 6 7% 

Total 84 100% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will allow you to feel part of the local community? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 21 25% 

Agree 25 30% 

Neither agree nor disagree 18 21% 

Disagree 11 13% 

Strongly disagree 9 11% 

Total 84 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 302



 

What do you feel would be the impact upon you, your family or your business/organisation/club 

if the Chester-le-Street leisure centre was to relocate to the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside 

Park? 

 Frequency 

Negative: Inaccessible (time, distance, money, public transport) 16 

Positive: More accessible (time/distance/money/public transport) 9 

Negative: Struggle to park 9 

Neutral: No change/impact/same level of use 7 

Negative: Increased congestion/busyness 7 

Negative: Discourage use 5 

Negative: Environmental issues/on greenfield land 5 

Positive: Generic positive/large impact 3 

Positive: Reduce congestion/improve parking 3 

Positive: Improve health/activity levels 3 

Negative: Would require a car 3 

Positive: Will improve area/regeneration/stop decline 2 

Positive: Increased use 2 

Negative: Less safe 2 

Positive: Swimming pool would increase use 1 

Positive: Preferred option/would use/generic positive 1 

Negative: Area/private facility used/situated there 1 

Positive: Activities for children/less ASB 1 

Positive: Encourage family use 1 

Positive: Combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 1 

Positive: Enable outdoor activities 1 

Negative: Discourage family use 1 

Negative: Negative impact upon town/degeneration 1 

Negative: Unable to combine visit (social/local businesses/amenities) 1 

Negative: Loss of other recreational facilities 1 

Total 87 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Male 23 30% 48% 22% 

Female 57 25% 37% 39% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Male Female 

…allow you to remain physically active? 87% 68% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 57% 54% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 45% 51% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 83% 66% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 87% 66% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 78% 50% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 78% 45% 

Frequency 22-23 53-58 

 

 

 

Page 303



 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Under 25 5 60% 20% 20% 

25-64 71 25% 41% 34% 

65+ 5 0% 60% 40% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Under 25 25-64 65+ 

…allow you to remain physically active? 60% 76% 60% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 60% 58% 20% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 40% 53% 0% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 60% 72% 60% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 60% 72% 60% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 60% 59% 60% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 40% 56% 60% 

Frequency 5 66-72 4-5 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Disabled 8 38% 25% 38% 

Not disabled 69 26% 45% 29% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Disabled Not disabled 

…allow you to remain physically active? 78% 76% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 67% 57% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 63% 50% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 78% 72% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 67% 74% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 56% 63% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 56% 58% 

Frequency 8-9 64-69 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Visit weekly or more 53 19% 53% 28% 

Visit less often 32 34% 22% 44% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 304



 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Visit weekly or more Visit less often 

…allow you to remain physically active? 81% 59% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 58% 52% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 50% 48% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 81% 53% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 79% 55% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 62% 50% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 63% 41% 

Frequency 48-53 31-33 

 

If the leisure centre was to be built on the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park e would it 

make you use the centre more or less? 

 Frequency More About the same Less 

Local member 36 11% 58% 31% 

Local non-member 35 34% 20% 46% 

 

With the site adjacent to DCCC and Riverside Park in mind, to what extent do you agree or 

disagree building the centre there will… 

 Agreement levels (%) 

Local member Local non-member 

…allow you to remain physically active? 83% 63% 

…encourage your family to be physically active? 57% 51% 

…encourage your children to be physically active? 46% 48% 

…support your overall physical health and wellbeing? 78% 62% 

…help your mental health and wellbeing? 78% 60% 

…allow you to take part in social activities or to socialise? 58% 56% 

…allow you to feel part of the local community? 57% 51% 

Frequency 35-36 31-35 

 

Do you have any other comments regarding the proposed locations of the leisure centres in 

County Durham? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 296 38% 

No response 486 62% 

Total 782 100% 

 

Are you: 

 Frequency Percent 

Male 206 37% 

Female 346 63% 

Prefer to self-describe 1 0% 

Total 553 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



 

What is your age? 

 Frequency Percent 

Under 18 3 1% 

18-24 20 4% 

25-34 86 15% 

35-44 139 25% 

45-54 127 23% 

55-64 116 21% 

65-74 54 10% 

75+ 15 3% 

Total 560 100% 

 

Do you consider yourself to have a disability? 

 Frequency Percent 

Yes 77 15% 

No 451 85% 

Total 528 100% 

 

What is your religion or belief? 

 Frequency Percent 

Christian 344 70% 

None 141 29% 

Humanist 1 0% 

Muslim 1 0% 

Spiritualist 1 0% 

Total 488 100% 

 

How would you describe your sexual orientation? 

 Frequency Percent 

Heterosexual/straight 479 97% 

Gay or lesbian 12 2% 

Bisexual 5 1% 

Total 496 100% 

 

What is your ethnicity? 

 Frequency Percent 

White 508 98% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 3 1% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups 3 1% 

Member of the Gypsy Roma or Traveller community 1 0% 

Other ethnic group 1 0% 

Total 516 100% 

 

 

Page 306



 

AAP feedback 

Date and time and AAP AAP co-ordinator Leisure Officers Key feedback 

11/11/20 @ 1pm - Stanley Daniel O'Brian 
Alison Clark/Ben 

Kelsey  

Key comments included:  the outdoor exercise in 
Chester park is great and would love to see 
something like that for Stanley. Not keen to have 
extra competition for the high street i.e. nail bars. 
Master Planning for Stanley, considering how the 
plaza and area around the leisure centre can become 
a leisure and culture quarter for Stanely… there are 
other facilities and services in the surrounding area 
that all compliment one another. 

11/11/20 @ 3pm - Teesdale Adam White 
Alison Clark/Ben 

Kelsey  

Key comments included: Consideration of a 50m 
pool in the county. Changing rooms at Teesdale are 
in a really poor condition and well overdue 
investment. There was also a question around how 
this would be financed and Jeff Garfoot answered 
these. 

11/11/20 @ 6pm - East 
Durham 

John Murphy 
Alison Clark/Susan 

Robinson/Ben 
Kelsey  

No comments made 

P
age 307



 

12/11/20 @ 4pm - Bishop 
Auckland and Shildon 

Andrew Walker 
Alison Clark / Su 

Lewis 

Questions included: what are the plans for Shildon 
Leisure Centre? It was confirmed that No plans are 
being made for Shildon until there is a confirmed 
decision on the future of the school. In regards to 
site location: WHC is accessible and well-used by all 
age groups; Strongly opposes the College site due to 
parking and traffic issues already experienced; 
Tindale Crescent is viable but is currently used as a 
temporary site for visiting Gypsy-Roma groups and 
people would have to drive to access, and we 
shouldn’t be encouraging people to drive. Also, 
could we have a 10 pin bowling alley in any new 
leisure centre as there is nothing like that now. 
Existing site is the best site but my colleagues say I 
would say that because it is in my ward. However, 
WHC is one of the most deprived wards in the 
country. Wherever the new leisure centre is built, it 
needs to be on a public transport route. However, I 
would prefer WHC site.  

12/11/20 @ 6pm - Three 
Towns 

Sandy Denney 
Alison Clark / Su 

Lewis 

Questions were asked in regards to a swimming 
facility at Crook. Key comments were: interested in 
where the Bishop Auckland pool will be located. Key 
thing is access from Hunswick and Willington. There 
are equality issues on this. Site has to be about the 
public transport infrastructure. How did we arrive at 
these site locations and not others such as Newgate? 
Explaination of methodology given 

P
age 308



 

18/11/20 @ 2pm - Durham Craig Morgan 
Alison Clark/ Susan 

Robinson/ Nigel 
Dodd 

The questions asked/comments were: The provision 
of outdoor sport facilities, Better staff training for 
blind/disabled users of the leisure centres, The need 
to upgrade Abbey Leisure Centre, particularly the 
changing rooms and the centre’s peculiar opening 
hours, Issues around travelling to other leisure 
centres, Was usage taken into consideration as part 
of the consultation? 

19/11/20 @ 6pm - Weardale Angelina Maddison 
Ben Kelsey / Susan 
Robinson / Stephen 

Grundy 

Questions were asked in regards to improvements at 
Wolsingham - As DCC has taken on this facility, 
improvements are underway and were explained to 
the board. RECOMMENDATION: The Board were 
happy with the council’s approach to the Leisure 
Centre Transformation consultation. 

23/11/20 @ 9.30 - East 
Durham Rural Corridor 

Jane Bellis 
Alison Clark / Susan 

Robinson 

Comments raised regarding the gap in swimming 
provision within the County, changing facilities at 
Meadowfield and pricing structures - to be 
addressed through the consultation. Concerns were 
raised as to why the spend was going to Seaham and 
the methodology was explained. A question was also 
raised around the budget which was answered with 
current indicative agreed budget.  

P
age 309



 

23/11/20 @ 5pm, - CLS Michael Wilkes 
Alison Clark/ Susan 

Robinson/ Nigel 
Dodd 

Key points recorded were:  If the old Civic Centre site 
is to be used as the new site then parking needs to 
be taken into consideration.  If the Riverside site is 
used as the new site then, once again, parking will 
need to be taken into consideration e.g. especially 
when there is a cricket match taking place.  If using 
the current site, it was questioned if it will 
incorporate the land where the Youth Centre once 
stood?   
It was noted that, the old Civic Centre site could be 
more accessible for bus routes however 
consideration for local residents would need to be 
taken into account. It was noted that there is a lack 
of football pitches in the area and that this would 
need to be taken into consideration when 
considering the Riverside site 

P
age 310



 

24/11/20 @ 2pm - Great 
Aycliffe and Middridge 

Brian Riley 
Susan Robinson / 

Nigel Dodd (Alison 
Clark) 

The following comments were noted: there will be a 
wealth of historical data/information available linked 
to existing sites and this should be reviewed when 
considering future plans, e.g. what works well.  
Asked whether DCC will be reviewing post-COVID 
uptake figures when determining future provision.  
AC confirmed that there will be ongoing challenges 
posed by the pandemic and the continuing 
restrictions, adding that all previous 2019 market 
analysis will be compared with more recent data. 
Comments that he wouldn’t want to see potential 
conflict/dual provision with existing local services, 
e.g. bowling alleys. It was added that DCC should be 
mindful of the local economy when determining 
provision/services offered; the need to increase 
revenue shouldn’t lead to displacement of existing 
local providers. 

25/11/20 @ 1pm - Derwent 
Valley 

Corrine Walton 
Alison Clark / Susan 

Robinson / Sarah 
Shaw 

Questions asked around the re-opening of Consett 
swimming pool. Questions raised re how the 
programme will be financed. Comments included 
"Consett is old fashioned.  New builds have far more 
variety for all generations" 

P
age 311



 

25/11/20 @ 6pm Mid 
Durham 

Derek Snaith 
Alison Clark / Susan 

Robinson 

Highlighted a lack of family swimming provision. 
Comments also received on pricing, lack of changing 
facilities at Meadowfield which will be addressed in 
the second round of consultation. A question was 
raised around the spend at Seaham and the strategy 
was explained. A question was also asked in regards 
to finances and the current indicative budget agreed 
by Cabinet in Jan 2020 was explained. 

26/11/20 @ 6pm - 
Spennymoor 

Jason Turnough 
Alison Clark / Su 

Lewis 

Timescales for the consultation were outlined. Key 
comments on site selection included: Location needs 
to be as close to the local villages as possible to 
enable people to access the facilities via public 
transport.  
Suggestion to explore geothermal processes to 
ensure the building is as environmentally sustainable 
as possible.   
Public transport is paramount when considering all 
the options for the site of the building. 
Spennymoor Leisure Centre entrance needs to be 
relocated back to the original entrance and a budget 
to ensure the outside areas maintained on a regular 
basis is also required. The leisure centre also needs 
to be affordable for families and people on lower 
incomes. A range of disabled sports need to 
undertaken in the leisure centre.  

30/11/20 @ 5.30pm - Four 
Together P'ship 

Lee Copeland 
Alison Clark / Susan 

Robinson 

It was noted that the AAP supported the project 
however they expressed that DCC should focus on all 
areas not just the larger towns as some of the 

P
age 312



 

smaller villages had been affected by covid. There 
were concerns raised about the poor and therefore 
expensive transport links to these larger towns 
where the leisure centres currently exist. There was 
representation from sporting clubs which DCC will 
pick up at a later date.  

 

P
age 313



 

Facebook feedback 

Consett Leisure Centre Facebook –  

Please for goodness sake get the pool sorted. 

The dolphin centre in Darlington is brilliant, clean soft play, restaurant upstairs with nice 

food, good swimming pool, gym and sports halls. 

Just a swimming pool that can be used and the ability to pay for lessons online. I 

wouldn’t have thought that was too much to ask but in Consett it appears so. 

Classes that you can actually get booked on to! 

Soft play At Consett 

A creche. Please! 

A one that doesn't drop to bits would be nice. 

Would love a proper spin room 

Reinstate the swimming pool at Consett 

When is the swimming pool going to be fixed? Or is it a write off? 

Actually, this post has annoyed me quite a lot. How ridiculous asking if we would like to 

see a tenpin bowling alley when we don’t even have a swimming pool at the moment. 

This is utterly ridiculous. Please concentrate on fixing what actually matters before 

concerning yourself with what else you might do. Or is the intention of this to replace 

the pool ? 

Consett has lacked facilities for years and the new leasure centre has still not provided 

them,we should have a centre that is properly equipped with a sauna, steam room and 

jacuzzi, why were these not provided when the new leasure centre was built, yet again 

consett has been left behind. 

Definatley a bowling. Alley would be great to keep kids entertained one thing Consett 

hasn't got x 

The bowling is a great idea. Also the gym should go back how it used to be. A seperate 

hammer strength lifting room away from the cardio room 

More spinning bikes and classes would be good, thanks 

Extra spaces for the fitness classes please! 

Page 314



 

Drop of water in the pool would be a good start! 

Put the air conditioning on in the gym 

Swimming pool that u can swim in would be a good start.. 

Can we have some water in the swimming pool 

And able to use our membership in the way it’s ment to be and pay for ? 

 

Thrive Leisure Centre Facebook  

Investing in new spin bikes in the leisure centres would be amazing. And more Step 

classes at Consett Leisure Centre! The ‘old-fashioned’ is fashionable again! 

Larger area in both the Gym & Pool, would be a good idea, especially with new Covid 

restrictions 

 

Durham County Council Facebook 

Peterlee just keeps getting patched up with refurbs and moving stuff around to 

accommodate the gym. The gymnastics club has a set of c BC are they can’t use as the 

small sports hall with the more suitable wooden floor and anchor points in the floor was 

turned in to the gym. Leaving them to use a solid concrete floor in the large hall. The 

swimming pool is over 40 years old 

Some section off rooms for strongman type equipment. I would like to see squat racks, 

platforms, ropes and tyres and other items like that in a room totally apart from the main 

gym 

Would be lovely to have the sauna, steam rooms etc back. The ones is Stanley were 

great , how about some outdoor classes  

Build a one in the Gilesgate /Belmont/Carrville area for our residents. Build an Ice Rink 

Why only ten pin bowling at Peterlee? Would be fab for Chester Le Street . Cafe facilities 

(loved the cafe when I was younger). Hubby would like to see squat racks, leg press, bar 

bells, free weights, hack squats in gym facilities. Option to buy supplements, protein 

shakes etc 

Why are there no proposals for Meadowfield or Shildon? Does that mean that the 

January 'review' of those two centres will be telling us that they are closing? 

Meadowfield has been neglected for years compared to other centres. Freemans Quay is 

not an adequate substitute for Meadowfield because it is much more difficult to get to 

Page 315



 

and there is nowhere to park without spending a lot of extea money. Meadowfield is the 

only viable option in our area since Deerness Valley and Crook closed. 

How about an ice rink eh?!! 

Velodrome would be nice or even just a road racing circuit for younger riders to get 

experience 

A pool at consett ........ like the one that was pulled down would be good. Current 

facilities are like a paddling pool 

Feed the energy generated back to the grid, don’t just make any old gym and a proper 

Olympic length pool. Stop building paddling pools. 

Re build Chester le Street on the old Civic Centre Site Or next door to the Existing one on 

the site of the old Youth Centre. 

Re build an Ice Rink in Durham City and re claim Durham's status as an Ice Hockey Town. 

 

I may have missed it in the consultation but there didn’t appear to have been any 

opportunities to review the gym contracting arrangements or opening hours and days of 

facilities. 

Give Seaham a decent leisure centre and a swimming pool. It's a disgrace that a town 

that size has been so wilfully neglected by the County Council! 

Build an Olympic size pool, which you can actually swim in. 

Not litter it with stupid slides and kids water fountains! 

 

Give us our leisure centre and swimming pool back in crook! 

How about looking after all the neglected sports pitches that are around the villages, 

and stop allowing building on them 

Just more off road cycle ways would be great 

Dont need anymore leisure centers as poor people won't be able to afford to pay to go 

what about a place for homeless whoever put gets it will charge the earth for fees concil 

having a back hander 

rebuildd on civic ctr site and extra carparks for disabled parking. no loss of revinue from 

closing leasure ctr now existing whilst building going on. is it incorperating a new pool. 

Page 316



 

Return the running of the centres back to the public sector. Private contractors are just 

interested in profit profit profit to the detriment of the service they provide and the 

upkeep of the equipment 

Have your say what a laugh, you don't listen anyway to the people. Just for the record 

and by experience DCC its always a done deal so whats the point 

Waste of time they won't listen anyway. 

Hope it’s not the same clowns who built Consett pool and leisure centre 

Ice rink 

Ice rink 

Ice rink 

Or how about a pave cycle track 

Ice rink 100% 

Get consett pool sorted 

50m pool 

Water park 

Durham county council need to repair consett pool that is a disgrace 

Allowing contractors to do sub standard building goes back to the T D Smith & Poulson 

days 

 

If it’s going to be affordable leisure available to everyone with no contracts or hidden 

charges then I’m all for it 

 100% bring back the rink to durham 

Come on we are well over due for an ice rink.... 

#bringbacktherink 

 

Ice rink !!! 

Crook leisure facilities are a joke! 

Ice rink 

even more than an ice rink as you could put shows and gigs on! 

Page 317

https://www.facebook.com/hashtag/bringbacktherink?__eep__=6&__cft__%5b0%5d=AZX430HAlZkrCD7F-Pt5Stj0pQCN-XFDN0XOlBlS1x-BfqFDUc0iuvq4_lLRf89zYbcVbeOcS--OwC0bVcC72oJLEkigb65vav6LdOs0RbqbC39LN0xKSsEleJ5Xojr2Y-nQJtnqsEPEDdYssRgL0vez&__tn__=R%5d-R


 

All consultation qualitative responses 

 

  

P
age 318



 

Date Time Positive / 

Negative 

/ Neutral 

Category Area Member / 

Non-

Member 

Comments 

27/11/2020 12:05 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Non-

Member 

As usual, the places that already have facilities get 

new ones, and everybody else gets nothing 

26/11/2020 3:16 PM N/A No comment N/A Non-

Member 

No comment 

26/11/2020 12:23 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

Ferryhill was closed by the council as it was deemed 

uneconomical . It is now a much used successful 

leisure centre . 

26/11/2020 6:23 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

It would be nice to have an ice rink again bring ice 

hockey back  

26/11/2020 4:36 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I am a great believer in the idea of bringing back an 

ice rink to the city 

26/11/2020 4:23 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

Nothing for my home Town of Ferryhill , very 

disappointed  

26/11/2020 12:04 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

I think the wood house leisure centre should stay in 

the same place it’s at now 

25/11/2020 11:12 PM Negative General Ferryhill Non-

Member 

Pleeeeease improve Ferryhill 

P
age 319



 

25/11/2020 10:21PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Would be fantastic to 

 

Have a leisure centre and swimming pool in crook 

25/11/2020 09:31PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

No swimming, water activities any longer in Crook.  

 

Swimming pool etc demolished 2011 

 

Massive lack of provision for young and old in Crook 

 

Sports activities / timetabled activities would be an 

asset to Crook and massively improve community 

and residents lives 

 

SEN children & adults who struggle to travel would 

feel more independent being able to walk to facilities 

in Crook encourage mental well being and healthy 

lifestyles 

25/11/2020 8:59 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

We could do with a ice rink back in Durham. It was a 

great place for kids to hangout and families for a fun 

time  

25/11/2020 8:56 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Why can't we have a ice rink again something like 

billingham forum were they is something for 

everyone because ice skating is the same exercise as 

P
age 320



 

riding a bike, and gives the family something to enjoy 

and for the public to enjoy and have a laugh aswell 

as meeting new people. But instead we will get 

another leisure centre just like most of the local 

leisure centres, put a ice rink in and the public will 

travel from all over the land of county durham. 

25/11/2020 7:16 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

An ice rink would provide all of the benefits within 

this survey -social-fitness-all ages-the ice rink in 

Durham was a big part of my growing up and into 

my adult years until it’s closure the benefits of such a 

facility must be considered  

25/11/2020 6:26 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

ICE RINK 

25/11/2020 5:42 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Build an Ice rink! 

25/11/2020 5:34 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Family friendly group activities and sessions at 

reasonable prices - family swim sessions between 6 

and 8 at night !  

25/11/2020 5:28 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I think an ice rink would be beneficial and bring back 

revenue for durham. Ice hockey was a huge part of 

my life growing up and is something that I would 

P
age 321



 

love to get my children into. At the minute our 

nearest ice rink isn’t close enough to visit regularly  

25/11/2020 5:21 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Don’t waste this opportunity. An ice rink is a must. 

There is so much interest in one. Look how busy 

billingham gets. Please don’t just throw up another 

generic leisure 

 

Centre. Think big!! 

25/11/2020 5:12 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Would love to see an Ice Rink 

25/11/2020 5:07 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

DCC should undertake a feasibility study to look into 

providing an ice rink .  Ice Sports can and do provide 

an excellent outlet for wellness and fitness and with 

people in Durham travelling many miles to access 

other rinks in other areas of the country , I am sure 

the demand for an ice rink would be high.   Ice Sports 

continue to be some of the most supported indoor 

activities through both participation and spectating.  

You will know about the rich history of ice sports in 

Durham.  It's time to bring back an Ice Rink to the 

Durham area. 

P
age 322



 

25/11/2020 4:48 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I still think there is a massive audience for a Ice Rink 

in County Durham. I use both Billingham and Whitley 

Bay Ice Rinks on a regular basis and always see 

people I know from County Durham. I think would be 

a great opportunity for Durham County Council to 

fully investigate the possibility of a Ice Rink. 

25/11/2020 2:13 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I feel that the facilities in my town are non existent 

and see no plans to increase this? At the moment I 

am a member of CCL even though I am a member of 

Durham Constabulary and could get discount with 

Durham CC facilities they are simply too far away 

24/11/2020 4:34 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

Nothing in ferryhill to go to anymorw 

24/11/2020 2:13 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

We need an ice rink  

24/11/2020 1:21 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

Why discard Ferryhill Leisure, DCC provides nothing 

for Ferryhill. 

 

We deserve all the services other villages get. I have 

lived in Ferryhill for 5 years and think DCC have 

abandoned Ferryhill and used it as a dumping 

ground. Wake up. 

P
age 323



 

24/11/2020 9:40 AM N/A No comment N/A Non-

Member 

N/a 

24/11/2020 8:33 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

Our leisure centre was closed by the council. Ferryhill 

is always at the bottom of the pile when it comes to 

new facilities. The council tax we pay does not reflect 

the services we receive  

24/11/2020 6:37 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

I think the site at Riverside Chester le St is ideal for a 

new leisure centre as it would enhance and integrate 

with the facilities already there. 

 

I would also like to see a cycle hire facility at 

Riverside, this is a leisure activity without it feeling 

like exercise and perfect for an outdoor, fresh air 

activity. The walks, paths around the river area are 

perfectly placed for having various dedicated 3, 5, 10 

mile cycle routes.  

24/11/2020 6:04 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

We need Ferryhill to be in the program  

 

At one point it had one of the best gyms I have ever 

been too 

 

Since it’s closure I haven’t been to any other centre  

 

P
age 324



 

Please reconsider upgrading our facility. I would 

certainly use is a number of times per week 

23/11/2020 11:00 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Non-

Member 

You’re investing in some areas while closing and 

giving zero support to Ferryhill. 

 

This does not come as a surprise to me because 

Ferryhill is neglected in almost all positive decisions 

made by DCC - we are going backwards rapidly and 

you don’t appear to care or wish to arrest the slide. 

23/11/2020 3:20 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Its about time Crook had its own swimming pool, this 

would encourage children and adults to learn to 

swim and be more active.  My granddaughter has 

access to some great facilities and has learnt to be a 

very accomplished swimmer in Hinckley, Leicester.  If 

she had lived in Crook l could not see her having the 

same opportunities, so the County should offer these 

facilities in the centre of Crook. 

23/11/2020 1:54 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I think Ive made it perfectly clear - there are enough 

swimming pools, leisure facilities, gyms, private or 

council run, what we need is an ice rink .... an ice rink 

would be transformational - what you are proposing 

is just much of the same - and there is an abundance P
age 325



 

of this.   Be forward thinking ... ice skating for fun, for 

tournaments, ice hockey for sport and supporting - it 

has so much to offer the people of Durham ... we 

were a successful team before we could be again ... 

come on Durham CC ... be at the forefront of forward 

thinking ... we need this ... thank you 

20/11/2020 8:55 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

A swimming pool would be a fantastic and well 

overdue facility for Seaham 

20/11/2020 6:14 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

You took our leisure facilities away from Crook, 

support whay we have now to build to a bigger 

service available locally   

19/11/2020 6:10 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Time Seaham had swimming facilities open to all age 

group's  

19/11/2020 5:56 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham had 2 swimming clubs but now has none  

19/11/2020 4:18 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Seaham Non-

Member 

I don’t go to Seaham leisure centre as it doesn’t offer 

Les mills classes. I do Les mills on demand at home 

but I would love to go to live classes with other 

people. 

P
age 326



 

19/11/2020 3:13 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

There is no mention of Crook, Willington or Two Law 

in this document.  Crook Community Leisure have 

been a much needed asset to Crook and the 

surrounding area and should be given every help 

possible to expand on their current facilities.  It is also 

unfortunate that the swimming pool in Crook which 

was demolished in 2011 has not been replaced.  With 

high levels of poverty and unemployment in this area 

facilities closer to home which schools could use 

would mean children from disadvantaged families 

could be taught to swim or participate in other 

sports.   

19/11/2020 11:07 AM Positive Accessibility Seaham Non-

Member 

I would most certainly use a swimming pool if there 

were one in Seaham as travelling is difficult for me!  

19/11/2020 10:47 AM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

There doesn’t seem to be any plans for Crook. It 

would be good to have something in Crook for all 

generations for social and health reasons. We seem 

to have gone backwards instead of forward. 

19/11/2020 10:31 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Moving Seaham leisure centre would be beneficial to 

the businesses in the town centre and easier and 

safer to attend as more buses near by 

P
age 327



 

18/11/2020 9:20 PM Neutral Location of 

facilities 

General Non-

Member 

The location is ideal where it is already situated.  

Plenty of parking and central for the community.  

Plenty of land to expand and build a swimming pool.   

Should the DCC sell this and state they will build 

another in a different location I would be very 

unhappy at the waste of public money as I see from 

the plans that they are in places where little or no 

parking would be offered.  Where it is now is more 

than ideal.  I believe that the DCC should listen to the 

general public and leave it where it is.   

18/11/2020 6:27 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

No mention of crook in proposals.  Crook needs a 

swimming pool and also a 3G pitch to offer a wide 

variety of sports  

18/11/2020 3:32 PM Negative General Crook Non-

Member 

Does not include Crook, CO DURHAM !  

18/11/2020 11:56 AM Positive Engagement General Non-

Member 

Get it right this time be innovative  

17/11/2020 6:05 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

Taking time out of my busy day to travel further for 

leisure facilities has made it impossible to attend 

elsewhere. Local facilities were always well used & we 

miss them. Children really need to option for 

swimming locally as we have rivers nearby that have 

P
age 328



 

proved too popular with devastating results over last 

few years. 

16/11/2020 9:27 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook is in need of swimming baths after they 

demolished the previous one years ago  

15/11/2020 8:33 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

DCC have not taken into account that not everyone 

has a car, the cost of a visit to swim including travel 

on public transport for a family of 4 would be over 

£30. 

 

DCC do not cater for the poor or carbon footprint we 

should have facilities in Crook. DCC should support 

Crook Community Leisure to bring facilities back to 

Crook. DCC just dont care. 

14/11/2020 11:40 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

An ice rink would be food for exercise that is also fun 

and sociable 

14/11/2020 5:55 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

DCC total neglect of Crook and the immediate area. 

The closure of Glen Holme and the Spectrum 

impacted negatively on the towns of Crook and 

Willington.  

14/11/2020 10:25 AM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Seaham Non-

Member 

I do hope you have a swimming pool in Seaham as I 

think it will be well used and it would mean I would  

go and exercise more often P
age 329



 

14/11/2020 10:01 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Ice rink would be good  

13/11/2020 8:30 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Public swimming pool needed desperately in crook 

since the closure of glen holme  

13/11/2020 6:07 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

These proposals have totally overlooked Crook. The 

town swimming pool was knocked down with a 

promise that a new one would be built, are there any 

plans for this to happen? The current leisure facilities 

are disappointing fit the size of the town, with 

nothing that I’m aware of for children. 

13/11/2020 4:34 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook needs a swimming pool 

13/11/2020 3:59 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham needs improved leisure facilities including a 

swimming pool 

13/11/2020 3:45 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

seems a lot of activities for adventure type play, 

family activities which is good but means little in the 

way of traditional sport opportunities 

P
age 330



 

13/11/2020 12:58 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Leisure proposals should include basic surrounding 

provisions not just on one specific site location eg 

give clear open safe attractive walking and cycling 

routes to and around the proposals so that wider 

community benefits even if not specifically attending 

"class". Proposals should seriously think about how 

active travel should not just be 'encouraged' but 

actually provided for - the infrastructure needs to be 

in the surrounding community not just a 'building' 

with online 'travel information'. 

 

Seaham had swimming pool at seaham school until it 

was moved - there was space designed for 

community leisure as a later addition - this should 

still be a possibility. 

 

Swimming provision at dock top area could link well 

with existing and emerging leisure offer  

P
age 331



 

13/11/2020 12:28 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

There is no mention of Crook, Willington or Tow Law 

in the Leisure Transformation document 

 

 

 

There are no DCC facilities in Crook and i actively 

support the facilities at Crook Community Leisure 

 

 

 

It is too far to travel to any DCC leisure facilities 

 

 

 

The swimming pool in Crook was demolished in 2011 

and we need a swimming pool in Crook. Children are 

not meeting the curriculum for swimming as a large 

part f their time is spent in travelling. 

 

 

 

We need additional indoor facilities for sports, leisure 

and functions. 

 

 

P
age 332



 

 

We need a 3G facility in Crook to enable football, 

rugby and hockey to help meet the shortfall in 

County Durham 

 

  

 

Public transport is expensive and virtually non- 

existent at night 

 

  

 

The Peases West site is ideal to meet the needs of the 

Community  

 

 

 

If there was a swimming pool in crook I woukd take 

my son there currently we go swimming once every 

few month 

 

 

 

We take our son to football at consett as there are no 

P
age 333



 

age appropriate classes in crook and the indoor 

facilities could allow this provision  

13/11/2020 11:26 AM Negative Engagement Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Everyone would love an ice rink! No one wants 

another swimming pool etc, listen to the people. 

P
age 334



 

13/11/2020 10:42 AM Neutral Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Ice skating is a great way to keep fit and is fun. There 

is always something new to learn, so it helps keep the 

brain cells going as well.  Its something that whole 

families do together.  It is such a shame that there is 

no longer an ice rink in Durham especially as the ice 

hockey team were the best in the country.  There are 

already lots of gyms and swimming pools in the area. 

There is nothing unique or new about this.  An ice 

rink would be unique and many people would travel 

to it.  Ice hockey matched and figure skating 

competitions would bring many tourists to the area 

as well.  A lot of money could be made. 

13/11/2020 9:27 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

We need swimming facilities in Crook 

13/11/2020 9:02 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Non-

Member 

I feel more facilities need to be supported in other 

local towns before improvements to existing sites  

13/11/2020 9:02 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Better classes and a more accessible class timetable. 

All classes previously were 5pm or 8am which for a 

person working 9-5 just don't work. More classes into 

the early evening or earlier morning would be better 

and more of them rather than just the 1 on an 

evening as previously. 

P
age 335



 

13/11/2020  08:52 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

I think there is a gap in your plans I live in Crook and 

my parents always took me swimming there but it 

closed now I have my own child swimming is a an 

occasional treat as I don't drive and use public 

transport am a single parent trying to manage on a 

low wage cover childcare and work part time it is not 

easy and not having facilities where I live is very 

disappointing. I also feel as my child is at primary 

school in crook that the school could take advantage 

of the kids going swimming if the pool we lost was 

replaced  

13/11/2020 8:51 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook Community Leisure has the basis for expansion 

which must be taken advantage of. 

13/11/2020 8:37 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

I have looked at the proposal and they only appear 

to offer facilities in already existing centres and there 

appears to be no provision to have or support any 

facilities in either Crook or Willington so I feel a 

whole area is being overlooked many families in this 

deprived area would not be able to afford to travel to 

the facilities and therefore a whole geographic area is 

being neglected with obvious health and mental 

wellbeing consequences. We used to have a 

swimming pool in Crook which I used weekly and it 

was demolished. Swimming is an important gentle 

P
age 336



 

exercise that benefits all ages and I wonder why this 

has not been considered to replace the asset we lost 

13/11/2020 12:45 AM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

Of you move or build any new facilities to the 

suggested Tindale site you will have the whole town 

up in arms FACT 

 

Please look at some Bishop FB pages and read what 

the residents are commenting on Tindale site 

 

Regards 

12/11/2020 11:38 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Very sad that places who already have fa ilities are 

offered better services. We lost our swimming pool in 

crook years ago and nothing has replaced it 

12/11/2020 10:17 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

Why is crook not mentioned ? we have a fantastic 

facility but we need new bikes better parking and a 

swimming  

12/11/2020 9:21 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Swimming facilities needed in seaham 

P
age 337



 

12/11/2020 9:12 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

The leisure transformation programme should 

include community facilities. Crook Tow law and 

Willington haven’t been considered in these 

proposals. The people here voted for community 

leisure facilities and a swimming pool.  

12/11/2020 8:57 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I think that I may have mentioned that Crook has no 

facilities via Durham County Council. We used to 

have a great swimming pool and excersise classes 

etc. Please give us this back.  

12/11/2020 8:35 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

I would like to see a swimming pool in Crook. It 

would be great to take my little boy to swimming 

lessons and to get some exercise myself. 

12/11/2020 8:11 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

WE URGENTLY NEED LEISURE FACILITIES AND POOL 

IN CROOK 

12/11/2020 8:05 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

Please seriously consider Crook Community Leisure 

Centre for expansion so that local areas such as 

Howden-le-Wear, Crook, Wilmington and Tow Law 

have a great local leisure facility. Many people find 

that the current DCC facilities are too far away for 

them to travel and this may mean they don’t use the 

facilities. Public transport is very expensive for those 

on low incomes and non existent in the evenings.  

P
age 338



 

12/11/2020 7:34 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

Crook is one of the main towns in the County yet 

there are no DCC facilities since removing the leisure 

centre circa 10yrs ago. Those who need access can’t 

travel so far to other towns and defeats the object of 

living in a town. Children especially are missing out 

and it’s puts them at a disadvantage to other children 

living in /around other main towns.  

12/11/2020 7:23 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

It would be good to get an ice rink in Durham. The 

council can’t say that it won’t pay for itself, as you 

have all the universities, and there is getting more all 

the time. all the schools in Co Durham that could use 

it as part of there Curriculum. It has been done 

before on the outdoor rink in front of the gala 

before, as I was one of the organisers for the rink. It 

would be good if the council could look into it. I 

would be willing to help out if required to do a 

survey.  

 

Thanks  

 

Stephen chisholm 

 

steve.gc@hotmail.com 

P
age 339



 

12/11/2020 6:34 PM Positive Engagement Crook Non-

Member 

Actively support Crook Community Leisure  

12/11/2020 6:27 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Think you need to seriously think about where the 

leisure facilities will be in Seaham , dock top and St 

John's Square , will cause more parking problems in 

the town centre . Deneside is the perfect spot  

12/11/2020 6:01 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

There is no mention of Crook in the proposals even 

though an increase in leisure facilities are desperately 

needed in Crook. After the swimming pool was 

demolished, we lost a large swimming, exercise, and 

social space. The building of CCL has been a positive 

but it is not nearly large enough to accommodate 

what is needed (particularly highlighted now with the 

Covid-19 restrictions, the centre just isn't large 

enough to hold enough people). CCL also lacks a 

swimming pool, tea/coffee area and community 

centre space. The closest pool would be Woodhouse 

close in Bishop Auckland but transport links in the 

area are poor. 

12/11/2020 5:34 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham needs a swimming pool in current location 

P
age 340



 

12/11/2020 5:31 PM Negative Infrastructure Crook Non-

Member 

Crook CCL is too small to put in a swimming pool 

and does not have the adequate parking facilities.  

12/11/2020 4:56 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

It excludes everyone in outlying areas which is a 

disgrace and discriminatory 

12/11/2020 4:49 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

I can't believe they will widen access because they 

will remain inaccessible for people from outlying 

areas 

12/11/2020 4:44 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham has been crying out for a pool for decades 

now, after closure of the pit pond, murton and the 

school pool. We stopped using peterlee pool about 

6yrs ago or more as it was a disgusting, dirty, smelly 

place to use and peep holes where hooks had been 

removed.  

12/11/2020 4:42 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

I think the council needs to acknowledge that not 

everyone wants to be forced into fitness and 

wellbeing groups..we want ordinary activities like 

swimming  

12/11/2020 4:36 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

It excludes everyone from outlying areas  

12/11/2020 4:32 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

They are all aimed at large centres of population. 

Council closed all local swimming pools. Nothing to 

replace them. People should be able to choose from 

P
age 341



 

a variety of activities and not all geared to formal 

assessment of fitness or wellbeing as these are 

personal choices not council business 

12/11/2020 4:28 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Could an ice rink please be part of the transformation 

12/11/2020 4:26 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Hearing the proposals and the possibility  of having 

swimming returning to crook has really boosted my 

mood. We really miss our pool, shame our children 

have never been able to access it  

12/11/2020 4:25 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

They need to address the problems of access faced 

by people in outlying villages,,Quebec, Esh, Langley 

Park, etc 

12/11/2020 4:19 PM Negative Infrastructure Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham centre needs knocking down, rebuilding and 

activities and exercises for elderly residents. 

12/11/2020 4:18 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

These proposals are no use for people in more rural 

areas so how will the council ensure equality of 

access and opportunity where cycling and walking 

are impossible and government wants to ban petrol 

and diesel vehicles by 2030 or do people living in 

outlying areas not matter?? 

P
age 342



 

12/11/2020 4:05 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

We lost our swimming baths in Crook and the 

facilities on offer are too far away for those using 

public transport.  

12/11/2020 4:04 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

General Non-

Member 

The area needs something to look forward  too,  

12/11/2020 3:53 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

Need better services in Crook 

12/11/2020 3:51 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham needs a swimming pool 

12/11/2020 3:48 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I notice that there are no proposals for the area of 

Crook ,Willlington and Towlaw  

12/11/2020 3:35 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

Leisure needs to be available to all and at the 

moment it is not. E.G government and council.very 

anti cars but no alternative for many people with no 

bus service and far too dangerous to cycle or walk 

e.g. You try walking from Esh to C onsett 

12/11/2020 3:24 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Whilst the current outline plans are very welcome, it 

would be good to see dance and creative arts 

activities (and facilities for these) being considered 

where space allows. 

P
age 343



 

12/11/2020 3:16 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Non-

Member 

For too long out rural community has suffered from 

the removal of facilities to improve health for elderly. 

12/11/2020 3:05 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Desperately need a swimming pool in Seaham. Surely 

the population warrants it 

12/11/2020 2:28 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

These are great for what Durham has but im 

concerned about rural locations , and the lack of 

facilities for deprived families who havent got their 

own transport, a normal family day out to swim, is a 

rather expensive fun persuit. transport and admission 

for 2+2 children in many areas approx about £32-00 

plus time factor and snacks not included, many 

disadvantaged families in  crook area  

12/11/2020 2:25 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook community leisure centre would hugely benefit  

12/11/2020 2:01 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

There is no provision for Crook. I’m not keen to have 

facilities at Crook Community Leisure if it means 

house building. The town deserves good facilities 

within walking distance for the majority. 

12/11/2020 1:56 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

DCC seem to have forgotten where Crook, Tow Law 

or Willington are located - once again DCC are happy 

to make money from new housing via poll tax but fail 

P
age 344



 

to offer new residents any new facilities - those 

provided are run by CCL but are too small 

12/11/2020 12:46 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Services need to be more tailored. E.g. someone 

talking through goals, what you want to achieve.  

12/11/2020 12:33 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

I have travelled to Washington many times to use 

their badminton facilities and it's really easy to book 

and pay online and just turn up 

12/11/2020 12:25 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I can’t believe for the council tax we pay and the size 

of the town crook does not have a council based 

lesiure centre. 

12/11/2020 12:23 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Swimming pool in seaham needed  

12/11/2020 12:22 PM Positive Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

I would love a swimming facility in crook where 

peases west is. I feel like it is needed for where I live 

as it’s close by and easy to get to.  

12/11/2020 11:14 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

Crook needs access to a pool. The facilities in the 

surrounding areas are inaccessible for a wide section 

of our community. Children’s standards are slipping 

and below what other children are achieving in areas 

with better access to a pool. We are being left behind 

and overlooked by these plans.  P
age 345



 

12/11/2020 11:07 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

Please consider Crook in proposals, we had our 

amazing leisure centre ruthlessly demolished 10 years 

ago, it is too far to travel to the nearest decent 

swimming facilities with my children which means 

they are missing out on essential physical activity.  

12/11/2020 10:55 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook is always overlooked and the council need to 

put a new decent swimming pool in this area for the 

kids you complain about antisocial behaviour but 

take away any activity or place to go for the children 

of the area.expanding peace’s west would be a better 

option than travelling as this is local for a lot of 

people  

12/11/2020 10:54 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

When I was a member of the gym, I had no 

complaints about the facilities/equipment but my 

membership was a waste when I could not access the 

facilities without staff being available to assist me. My 

time is precious and I could not carry on attending 

on the off chance that staff would be available, even 

at very quiet times such as first thing in the morning. 

I would rather the investment went into staff 

availability and training. 

12/11/2020 10:54 AM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

Swimming is my family's preferred exercise, we don't 

do it as often as we would like because we have to 

P
age 346



 

travel. It appeals to all ages, disabilities, fitness levels 

etc. 

12/11/2020 10:25 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

How about an ice rink. 

12/11/2020 10:20 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

I FIND IT RATHER INCONSIDERATE THAT THE PLANS 

EXCLUDE SO MANY PEOPLE IN OUTLYING VILLAGES 

AND THAT THE COUNCIL NEEDS TO ADDRESS THE 

ISSUE OF PROVIDING SUITABLE LEISURE FOR OLDER 

PEOPLE (OVER 50) AND THOSE WHO ARE NOT 

OBSESSED WITH FOOTBALL AND FITNESS (FITNESS 

COACHES ARE NEVER OCCUPATIONALLY 

COMPETENT TO ADDRESS THE UNDERLYING 

MEDICAL NEEDS OF USERS); WELLNESS IS OF 

LIMITED USE...TOO MUCH REPETITIVE PREACHING 

AND DOGMA 

12/11/2020 9:46 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Facilities Desperately needed in Crook 

12/11/2020 9:41 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Whatever is decided will not assuage the annoyance 

of Crook residents following the closure and 

demolition of Crook baths. Terry Collins commented 

at the time that it is sometimes necessary to make 

hard decisions. Making a decision based purely on 

spreadsheet data was easy, the hard decision would 

P
age 347



 

have been to keep Crook baths open or at least 

mothball them until the 'better' times. It is surprising 

that DCC are looking at investment in leisure at this 

time. Even if a replacement pool was built in Crook it 

would probably be out of town and not as easily 

accessible to schools and residents. 

12/11/2020 8:43 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I think it is disgraceful that an ice rink is still not 

under any consideration. This used to be the 

backbone of social and fitness activity in Durham.   

12/11/2020 8:14 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook is the forgotten part of County Durham yet big 

plans for building more houses yet not many facilities 

for residents in the area. Crook had a good 

Swimming Pool which was demolished and it has 

taken a charity organisation to provide fitness 

facilities at Peases West in Crook through Crook 

Community Leisure. This is an ideal location in my 

opinion to locate a swimming pool. I would urge 

Durham County Council to consider this or is Crook 

just becoming a commuter town full of take away's, 

hairdressers and supermarkets with limited leisure 

facilities.  

12/11/2020 5:51 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

Please include providing a pool in Crook with ability 

to provide fitness programmes e.g. water aerobics 

P
age 348



 

and water based activity to support rehabilitation 

programmes for Long term conditions. 

12/11/2020 5:48 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

Crook needs a swimming pool as a lot of people 

can't travel to out of town centres 

12/11/2020 1:32 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook desperately needs a swimming pool. The loss 

of the swimming pool from the crook area has had a 

profound effect on the health and well-being of local 

people. A badminton court would be nice as well. 

11/11/2020 11:36 PM Negative Engagement General Non-

Member 

Lacking in detailed information.  Your so-called 

consultation seems designed to merely tick some 

boxes without any real attempt at community 

involvement.  Disgraceful  

11/11/2020 11:02 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Non-

Member 

Without access to a swimming pool I wouldn’t pay or 

use the facility 

11/11/2020 10:51 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

 

 

There is no mention of Crook Willington or Tow Law 

in the Leisure Transformation document 

 

There are no DCC facilities in Crook and it is too far 

to travel to any DCC leisure facilities.  

 P
age 349



 

The swimming pool in Crook was demolished in 2011 

and we need a swimming pool. Children are not 

meeting the curriculum for swimming as a large part 

of their time is spent in travelling. 

 

We need additional indoor facilities for sports, leisure 

and functions for example badminton courts.  

 

Public transport to get to facilities further a field is 

expensive and virtually non- existent at night. Plus I 

don't particularly feel safe travelling.  

 

The Peases West site is ideal to meet the needs of the 

Community and should be invested in and expanded.  

11/11/2020 10:42 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook has been left with no swimming pool for years. 

DCC are providing absolutely nothing leisure wise in 

our town. 

11/11/2020 10:30 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

I would like to see a sensory room within the centre 

11/11/2020 10:23 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Non-

Member 

It would be a massive help to have some form of 

sensory room available within the centre as it would 

help my disabled daughter and others similar within 

the community 

P
age 350



 

11/11/2020 9:54 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Weardale Non-

Member 

Definite lack of swimming pools in weardale area  

11/11/2020 9:44 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Would love to see a swimming pool and associated 

facilities in Crook 

11/11/2020 9:39 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

The addition of an ice tink would be very welcoming, 

brilliant way to keep fit, socialise, compete 

11/11/2020 9:34 PM Negative Engagement Crook Non-

Member 

Crook has such a large and growing population. To 

expect Crook, Willington, the dales to access Bishop 

Auckland or spennymoor or Consett for swimming 

seems optimistic. The distribution of services doesn’t 

seem to be very fair.  

 

I still can not believe what happened to our 

swimming pool in Crook and I’ve am reminded of it 

on a daily basis when I see the flattened ground 

where it once stood. 

 

The proposals do not include the residents of Crook. 

I’m really very disappointed. I also don’t have any 

confidence that any notice will be taken regarding 

my comments.  

P
age 351



 

11/11/2020 9:32 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I think a swimming pool in the crook area would be 

brilliant for me and my family after the last one was 

unduly closed and demolished 10 years ago  

11/11/2020 8:54 PM Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

Chester le street needs this as we have no good 

facilities and people travel far to use them. Even as 

far as South Shields  

11/11/2020 8:41 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

PLEASE BRING A SWIMMING POOL BACK TO 

CROOK! 

11/11/2020 8:41 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook has been missing a swimming pool to long it 

would be good for our kids and school to have local 

access to one 

11/11/2020 8:33 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook lost it's pool and a popular gym in 2011. Years 

later it was replaced with a crap private gym at the 

expense of other established local groups like Crook 

Athletics and Junior Football clubs. Leaving the town 

even worse off than before. Stop running Crook 

down with crap housing, importing 

druggies/pedophiles and removal of services. Give 

Crook back it's pool, that you should never have 

given away in the first place. You can find money for 

a new HQ.... 

P
age 352



 

11/11/2020 8:28 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Would be good to include an ice rink 

11/11/2020 8:24 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I would really like access to a pool on Crook 

11/11/2020 8:04 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Would love a swimming pool in crook 

11/11/2020 8:04 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Please build an ice rink 

11/11/2020 8:03 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

Love the idea for Chester le Street as it could do with 

a more modern multi purpose building to help local 

people move on after the pandemic. There would 

have to be plenty of free or cheap parking on site to 

make this work. 

11/11/2020 7:56 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

Please include crook community Leisure in your plans 

for a pool, we need one and the centre also hosts 

community events  

11/11/2020 7:53 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

an ice rink would be greatly received in Durham. May 

be in joint partnership with the university's as 

well.This could be built at the maidcastle site and 

powered by hydro power from the river  

P
age 353



 

11/11/2020 7:51 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Durham needs an ice rink. 

11/11/2020 7:50 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

We need a swimming pool in Crook. The population 

were annoyed when the old one was pulled down 

and are furious that promises to replace it never 

came to fruition. We feel cheated. 

11/11/2020 7:21 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Possibility of an ice rink that could be run on reusable 

energy and also in conjunction with a swimming 

pool. 

11/11/2020 7:20 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

DCC should be working with Crook Community 

Leisure and other Charitable/ Community 

Organisations to bring swimming pool, 3G pitch and 

indoor facilities to Crook, For the size of Crook more 

leisure facilities should be provided, if DCC cannot 

provide them then they need to proactively support 

other ventures. DCC should not be block competition 

they should embrace it 

11/11/2020 7:13 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Durham has been crying out for a new ice rink. It is a 

superb fitness facility greatly missed, please wake up 

to this. 

11/11/2020 6:59 PM Negative Finance General Non-

Member 

Feels like a waste of public funds 

P
age 354



 

11/11/2020 6:53 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

An ice rink to be included 

11/11/2020 6:50 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

Proposal looks great especially for families hope this 

will take off as in need of some boost to ch Le st  

11/11/2020 6:43 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

It sickens people in Crook that other areas are 

getting further investment when a town the size of 

Crook has no decent leisure facilities, particulalry a 

pool, thanks to DCC 

11/11/2020 6:42 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Non-

Member 

We would welcome swimming in our local leisure 

centre for health well being children and fun activity  

11/11/2020 6:34 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

An ice rink would be of great benefit to Durham and 

fill a void that has been in the heart of the city since 

1996. The revival of ice hockey in Durham could 

inspire a lot more people to get active and really 

generate a community buzz  

11/11/2020 6:26 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Please can Crook have a swimming pool and leisure 

centre back 

11/11/2020 6:22 PM Negative General Crook Non-

Member 

Include Crook  

P
age 355



 

11/11/2020 6:21 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

I feel we really need a swimming pool back in Crook, 

my children are missing the opportunity to gain 

water confidence and life long skills 

11/11/2020 6:14 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I would like to see the council develop an ice rink 

which would be well used by local communities and 

families  

11/11/2020 6:10 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I would like to see swimming brought back to Crook. 

Our leisure centre was the only one to close in the 

last proposals and is sorely missed 

11/11/2020 6:06 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

DCC needs to think about people living in the rural 

areas. DCC needs to work with Charities and 

Community Groups to provide facilities for everyone. 

Work with organisations such as Crook Community 

Leisure who have aspirations for significant additional 

facilities.   

11/11/2020 6:03 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I was lucky enough to spend my youth at Durham Ice 

Rink. I took my children there and they also enjoyed 

skating and watching Ice Hockey. It saddens me that 

my grandchildren have not had the same opportunity 

to enjoy such a healthy enjoyable pasttime. Durham 

lost it's heart for young people when the Ice Rink was 

P
age 356



 

lost. Please put the heart back into our city for our 

young people and give them an Ice Rink. 

11/11/2020 6:02 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Would prefer to have an ice rink back in the town. It 

was such a big part of my childhood and today's 

children in Durham are missing out. 

11/11/2020 6:01 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

An ice rink in Durham would be an amazing facility to 

have. It would be used and loved by all ages. 

11/11/2020 5:58 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

It feels like a more modern version of current 

services, rather than thinking about new types of 

facility/ activity e.g. ice skating / hockey 

11/11/2020 5:56 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Please build a swimming pool in Crook.  

11/11/2020 5:52 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham is expanse rapidly. Thousands of homes are 

being built. We need a new leisure centre and 

especially a swimming pool!  

11/11/2020 5:39 PM Negative Engagement General Non-

Member 

Doesnt seem to be clear on the facilities that are 

going to be for each area .  

11/11/2020 5:36 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

We would like to see more services in crook inc a 

swimmin pool 

P
age 357



 

11/11/2020 5:32 PM Negative General Crook Non-

Member 

CROOK!!!  

11/11/2020 5:21 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

It would be a great benefit to the residents of Crook, 

particularly the children if we were to have a 

swimming pool. For many it is too expensive to pay 

to travel pay to use the facilities. 

11/11/2020 5:19 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

please get a swimming center back in crook as we all 

need one back there as there are people of all age 

who miss and want it back but cant travel far because 

of transport/medical reasons. also the schools in 

crook would use it for the kids to learn how to swim. 

11/11/2020 5:17 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

We need a pool in Crook, we have an excellent centre 

with great staff and they are wanting to develop a 

pool  

11/11/2020 5:07 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

I would be very interested in being able to practice 

archery 

11/11/2020 4:39 PM Negative General Crook Non-

Member 

Don’t forget about Crook Town 

11/11/2020 4:23 PM Negative Engagement Crook Non-

Member 

I think it's about time that DCC actually listened to it's 

Residents & reintroduced Leisure Facilities in 

Crook..... DCC seems Hellbent on spending in Durham 

City & Seaham (which is obviously an upcoming area 

P
age 358



 

in their eyes)..... The COUNTY covers more than these 

two areas & as Residents we feel "Forgotten About"  

11/11/2020 4:21 PM Negative Finance Crook Non-

Member 

The whole project stinks, the people of willington and 

crook shared a decent swimming pool but the 

corruption council decided to knock it down in hope 

of selling the land, we are the land that the council 

forgot.  

11/11/2020 4:19 PM Negative Finance Crook Non-

Member 

Can we have the pool back in Crook please 

 

Can you find out where CCL spent £500k putting an 

extension up at the athletics track at Peases West. 

11/11/2020 4:16 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham would be much improved by a new leisure 

facility and service. Would be good if there were 

activities where people of different interests abilities 

and ages could use center at the same time (families) 

Must be affordable. Consider a loyalty scheme  

11/11/2020 4:10 PM Negative Infrastructure General Non-

Member 

Close all Germ breeding carbon producing leisure 

centres and spend the money on outdoor parks cycle 

tracks cycle lanes  roads , out door exercise parks for 

adults like they have in Spain . 

11/11/2020 4:02 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

As I said earlier Crook and the surrounding area have 

no swimming facilities we desperately need them my P
age 359



 

closest is Wolsingham which is a school pool and 

is'nt open often! 

11/11/2020 3:49 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook Town is not included yet again for any leisure 

improvements. Town desperately needs a proper 

leisure centre and swimming pool considering the 

perfectly good one we had which offered loads of 

activities was knocked down. 

 

 

 

A 4g pitch would also be beneficial to the town and 

surrounding areas.  

11/11/2020 3:45 PM Positive Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

Really good but need some in crook area for easier 

access  

11/11/2020 3:28 PM Negative Engagement General Non-

Member 

Any development needs to be professional and 

accountable to the local community - a professional 

company or a locally driven group (like a 

membership CIO) but not by a group like CCL which 

is unaccountable and has trustees with a poor record 

of performance and who do not live locally. 

11/11/2020 3:08 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Crook swimming pool was demolished and nothing 

built in it's place. Willington Spectrum was ran down. 

P
age 360



 

We need a swimming pool in the Crook and 

Willington area and council run leisure facilities.  

11/11/2020 3:06 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

I believe that my local town Crook, should have 

access to swimming facilities within the town. A 

swimming pool would allow infants and school 

children to access these facilities without having to 

travel elsewhere, which can be difficult to people 

without a car. Elderly people should also also be able 

to access swimming as it's one of the best forms of 

exercise for them due to the low impact nature of the 

exercise. It would have a massive impact on mental 

wellbeing as well as physical wellbeing which is 

highly beneficial especially with the current situation 

regarding covid 

11/11/2020 3:04 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

I wish Crook was included in the proposals. Having a 

swimming pool in the town will be a great addition 

after a lot of years without one.  

11/11/2020 2:49 PM Negative General Weardale Non-

Member 

apart from wolsingham having a spring clean 

..nothing for Upper Weardale  

11/11/2020 2:44 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

Rebuild Crook swimming bath and leisure centre, 

mostly to accommodate children fitness and well 

being which is sadly lacking in my town  

P
age 361



 

11/11/2020 2:42 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Non-

Member 

This fails to provide any adequate swimming facilities 

to local residents in Crook. How are the children and 

those with a pack of transport who live in the town 

supposed to access this facility without incurring 

additional costs associated with travelling? 

 

Once again were focussing on giving other areas all 

new facilities yet we’ve failed to replace what was 

wrongfully removed from Crook. 

11/11/2020 2:33 PM Neutral General Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham 

11/11/2020 2:30 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

If it is not too late could a new build be in Bishop 

Auckland town centre. We need to attract people into 

the town like Darlington and Spennymoor  

11/11/2020 2:29 PM Negative Engagement General Non-

Member 

Should of been done years ago as promised  

11/11/2020 2:29 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Crook Non-

Member 

It needs to be for all activities and inclusive for all 

different types of people...not just fitness.. we need 

activities for the disabled and families and a 

swimming pool in crook  so that if disabled people 

want to do some gentle exercise its easier for them 

to do it in swimming pools. 

P
age 362



 

11/11/2020 2:24 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

Swimming facilities in Crook are sorely missed and 

desperatley needed. Personally being morbidly obese 

and suffering mental health problems I have a need 

for swimming exercise very close to home. 

11/11/2020 2:12 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

Need a swimming pool in crook 

11/11/2020 1:50 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Non-

Member 

crook town needs a swimming pool since it was 

knocked down we have no where for kids to swim 

and enjoy saturdays and family time that is close to 

home.  

11/11/2020 1:37 PM Positive Infrastructure Crook Non-

Member 

Crook is central to a large area with transport links 

that would bring people to a leisure centre in the 

town 

11/11/2020 12:37 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

The Council took away our Leisure Centre and is now 

proposing to build and refurbish them all across the 

County except in our area.  Absolute disgrace.  Not 

enough leisure in Crook yet we have 10 thousand 

people here.  Not enough football pitches and no 3g 

pitches in our area. 

P
age 363



 

27/11/2020 4:41 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Stanley Member Please have decent coffee. Not coffee that you press 

a button on a machine that is rank. Proper barister 

coffee would be great. Also cakes from local 

suppliers. Not mass produced cakes in plastic bags. 

The Louisa centre food is Terrible if I am honest. Not 

in fitting with the image of a lesuire centre. The 

atmosphere and decors/table chairs is bland and not 

inspiring or comfy at all. Also more wellness things 

like steam rooms or spa areas would be amazing and 

I would love to buy a spa membership. It would be 

great. Also more engaging kids swimming things 

would be good Esther than a bland square pool.  

27/11/2020 12:45 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Member I endorse any investment in local leisure centre 

provision as an optimal way of improving wellbeing 

and fitness in the community, where the benefits 

have the potential to save on other societal budgets 

and enhance, in diverse ways, lives and living. 

27/11/2020 6:48 AM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member This is something I believe Chester le Street 

desperarely needs. It would give the community such 

a boost and help bring people together again. 

26/11/2020 6:25 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Consett Member It is such a shame that Consett leisure centre needs 

work done already and is having a huge negative 

impact on access to activities now.  I am looking 

P
age 364



 

forward to it reopening and hope to spend more 

time swimming myself and as a family.  

26/11/2020 1:33 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Durham.once over had a brilliant ice rink would 

durham County Council not consider adding a new 

ice rink. Our nearest one is 35mins away north or 

40mins south from Durham.  

 

 

 

A new icerink would see skaters like myself kids have 

a new lease of life  

 

A new way to exercise and excuse for new club 

training hockey figure skating children and adult 

classes.  

 

Durham lost a rink and gutted the skaters please 

would you consider building a new one bring 

something old back. For a new generation of kids to 

learn.  

26/11/2020 1:04 PM Negative Infrastructure Teesdale Member I hope that the plans for Teesdale LC include a 

complete overhaul of the changing facilities and 

poolside showers which have been an absolute 

disgrace for a number of years.  Comments and 

P
age 365



 

complaints made using the official forms have been 

ignored.  The current Thrive App and website 

booking systems are barely fit for purpose I trust this 

is because they were developed in haste during the 

lockdown period.  Going forward I trust more robust, 

accessible and professional systems will be rolled 

out? 

26/11/2020 9:44 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member We need a ice rink 

26/11/2020 9:42 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member So long as Woodhouse Close retains its 25 metre 

pool I'll be very happy. I would also use family swim 

sessions to bring my grandchildren too 

25/11/2020 11:43 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Need to reduce the cost of activities so I can afford to 

attend more 

25/11/2020 9:49 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member Abbey leisure centre desperately needs better 

opening hours and provisions for children, not just a 

few crappy bits of soft play!! 

25/11/2020 8:34 PM Neutral Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Ice rink  

P
age 366



 

25/11/2020 8:14 PM Negative Finance General Member Seen all these ideas for the county leisure centres 

20+ years ago, since then the county has wasted 

money, restructured, made good staff redundant, 

recycled programmes and schemes badly until 

they’ve failed, let facilities rot, then spent money 

paying poor contractors and now come up with some 

ideas for leisure that a nursery group could of 

dreamed up. 

25/11/2020 8:14 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member More classes available at consett  

 

Fairer booking system at consett  

 

0 

25/11/2020 7:46 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham Member Abbey Leisure Centre needs more flexible opening 

hours to accommodate work-life balance in the 

community. It also needs improvement in the weights 

room (more barbells) ect. Functional room has 

changed for the worse due to covid as it’s no longer 

functional, due to machines being layed across the 

open floor. This needs to revert back to original 

layout in the long term and developing.  

25/11/2020 7:24 PM Neutral Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member Hopefully The Abbey will not be neglected! 

P
age 367



 

25/11/2020 7:09 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Please have full printed timetables available in 

centres as well as on booking system 

25/11/2020 7:06 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Shildon Member All this is a waste of time cos shildon is closing 

anyway and i won't be going anywhere else  

25/11/2020 6:57 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Durham is absolutely crying out for an ice rink and if 

run correctly it could make a huge profit for the 

council!!  

25/11/2020 6:45 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I think the pool at Woodhouse should be built on the 

existing sight, incorporate the library, it’s easily 

accessible and on bus routes 

25/11/2020 6:36 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Consett needs a proper spin room with better bikes 

that do not keep failing  

25/11/2020 6:31 PM Negative Engagement Consett Member It’s very disappointing we have not received updates 

on current plan to address issues at consett leisure 

centre. Is there a public inquiry into the poor build. 

25/11/2020 6:29 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Would like to see an ice rink in Durham close to the 

centre and more activities for families.  And 

opportunities for beginners to learn new sports. 

25/11/2020 6:26 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Consett Member Bowling would be a great place for everyone to 

socialise and spend time as a family. As we don't 

have a bowling area close by it would be a great 

P
age 368



 

advantage to consett area and keep people of all 

ages entertained fingers crossed we get an alley 🤞 

25/11/2020 6:19 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Consett Member I'm Consett we do not have bowling closest is 

metrocentre half hour away.. A play area would also 

be good but we do have one ther in area so I opt for 

bowling area mostly this will also keep kids off the 

streets more and lower anti social behaviour with 

something to do...  

25/11/2020 6:15 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Fitness classes in the water have advanced so much 

in recent months yet Consett hasn’t invested in this. I 

would love to see an investment  in Water based 

classes as I have joint problems and could access 

some really good activities. 

25/11/2020 5:35 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member We want an ice rink to return to durham to watch 

competitive ice hockey  

25/11/2020 5:28 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member An ice rink would be valuable for the local 

community 

25/11/2020 5:01 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Durham area needs an ice rink  

25/11/2020 4:52 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member More diverse facilities are required such as an ice rink 

than more of what is currently available.  P
age 369



 

25/11/2020 3:49 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member Travel time means as a family we can’t do as much as 

we would like for as long . Crook no longer has any 

services and if this changed as a family we would 

definitely visit any swimming / activities on a regular 

basis. 

25/11/2020 2:18 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Member It is a very exciting prospect to have access to a pool 

etc within the town for both myself and my children 

and would most certainly benefit physical and mental 

health. 

24/11/2020 9:36 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Ferryhill Member I would like to know why Ferryhill Leisure Centre is 

not in the plans, we pay the highest council tax in the 

area but have the least amenities.  We have a part 

time library, no manned Police station and no Leisure 

Centre to speak off, disgraceful DCC 

24/11/2020 8:47 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Mum and baby activities 

24/11/2020 2:29 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Had great difficulty using the Thrive app during 

recent weeks when attempting to book family swim 

sessions. really value the opportunities for family 

swimming activities. If the app could be developed / 

kept up to date that would be great.  

P
age 370



 

24/11/2020 9:35 AM Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member The facilities at Chester le street are poor and dated. I 

drive to hetton le hole, spenymoor and Washington 

to use the facilities there. Please bring Chester le 

streets facilities up to the standard of these as a 

minimum. Ideally surpass these to make sure they 

have longevity., I love my home town and want to 

use and support it. 

24/11/2020 8:27 AM Positive General General Member After 2020 any improvements would be amazing. 

24/11/2020 8:06 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member Could we have a pool which is an attraction. We 

travel to waves in tynenouth fir the wave pool and 

slide. If we had similar facilities it would attract 

people to visit the area and then stay fir lunch or visit 

the park.  

24/11/2020 8:05 AM Negative Finance Ferryhill Member I live in Ferryhill a few years ago DCC said they didn't 

have the money to keep it going.A few people ran it 

indepentantly.Money should be given to them by 

DCC to help them run it, if you don't do already do 

this.In Ferryhill we pay about the fifth largest council 

tax in Co Durham but get overlooked all the 

time.Places eg Spennymoor, and Seaham have 

already have had large sums of money invested in 

them eg Spennymoor new housing.I haven't got a car 

P
age 371



 

and bus fare is not cheap and we at Ferryhill should 

have invested into our leisure centre. 

24/11/2020 7:55 AM Positive Infrastructure General Member It would be great to see the Leisure centre upgraded 

and brought into the 21st-century I’ve seen a fair few 

changes over the years  and it would be great to see 

the true community values in our area the Facilities 

could be amazing. I look forward to the next 

adventure and how it’s transformed x  

24/11/2020 7:44 AM Negative Finance Ferryhill Member Could you please explain why you divested yourself 

of Ferryhill Leisure Centre because you said there was 

no money to keep it open? 

 

Now, money has been found to improve the other 

leisure centres whilst Ferryhill continues to get 

NOTHING. 

24/11/2020 6:28 AM Negative General Ferryhill Member Why is Ferryhill always left in the dark,  

24/11/2020 5:39 AM Negative General Ferryhill Member Disappointed Ferryhill by passed again 

24/11/2020 12:07 AM Negative General Ferryhill Member DCC have failed the people of Ferryhill. You should 

be ashamed  

P
age 372



 

23/11/2020 11:00 PM Negative Finance Ferryhill Member Ferryhill citizens pay high Council Tax and should be 

not discriminated by lack of funds in having access to 

leisure centre in their own town, this is not 

acceptable.  

23/11/2020 10:53 PM Negative Finance Ferryhill Member Why on the hell of this earth are you not including 

ferryhill leisure centre as this labor counsil doesn't 

put anything to ferryhill and we pay more tax and 

don't get anything in return  

23/11/2020 6:14 PM N/A No comment N/A Member N/a 

23/11/2020 3:34 PM Positive Infrastructure Stanley Member It is good to see there is an on going transformation 

programme . It should be an ongoing programme  in 

the Louisa centre which would allow standards to 

remain at a high level . 

23/11/2020 1:29 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member Improve steam Room and build Sauna. 

23/11/2020 1:12 PM Negative Finance Shildon Member wishfull thinking that there will be any improvement 

at  

 

shildon especially the swimming baths that were 

promised 50 years ago and which many of the 

 

residents of shildon paid into a fund for including 

many of my own family P
age 373



 

23/11/2020 1:04 PM Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member My experience as a mum taking her kids to 

swimming lessons is that the experience is very 

uncomfortable especially at the small pool end, 

cramped and hot with no air flow. It is really difficult 

to manage small children in that area. I would much 

prefer a cafe arrangement and if my younger child 

could go in a small soft play while waiting for the 

older child to have their lesson or if one child could 

do homework and have a drink at a safe cafe table 

while waiting for the the other that would be ideal. 

We left in fact partly for this reason and now attend 

Bannatynes so that we can use the cafe and use the 

waiting time better. Because of this actually I am 

aware that at certain times the traffic around the 

Riverside/Bannatynes becomes extremely congested 

when you try to leave the site, and as it is further 

from the town more people would have to use cars 

than at the current site especially in winter, so I would 

definitely not suggest you put the new leisure centre 

there (not sure if this is the correct area in which to 

put this comment.) 

23/11/2020 10:31 AM Negative Infrastructure General Member Any refurbishment or upgrade should be a key 

opportunity to reduce the emissions at leisure 

centres, particularly for heating, including heating 

pools. Not seen much in this consultation about how 

P
age 374



 

you would make the council's leisure services lower 

emission. 

23/11/2020 8:40 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member I think it is a must to keep any new leisure facilities in 

the town. Walking to the center is beneficial and also 

cuts down vehicle use.  

23/11/2020 7:46 AM Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Member please renovate Woodhouse Close and please 

remove the horrid enormous mural of the swimmer, 

it looks like a tampon ad from the 1970s 

21/11/2020 10:49 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member Swimming pool would be fantastic at Crook again. 

Save my family traveling to Spennymoor ! 

21/11/2020 10:44 PM Positive General Seaham Member Please invest in the good people of seaham, this will 

in turn encourage them to try out the new facilities 

and fall in love with fitness again.  

21/11/2020 10:40 PM Positive General General Member Really hope it goes ahead 

20/11/2020 9:03 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Seaham needs a swimming pool x 

20/11/2020 2:28 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member The local running group meets there (not during 

Covid obviously) but this is great that they offer this, 

would be good to meet there for local walks too 

P
age 375



 

20/11/2020 2:27 PM Negative Accessibility Seaham Member Seaham needs a swimming facility the number of 

children in Seaham who don’t have access outside of 

school is so wrong especially when they live so close 

to the sea which is dangerous  

 

It’s time that swimming was brought back to the 

locality no matter the cost now parents have to use 

transport to travel to Tyne and Wear or peterlee 

which is a good ride by car longer by public transport  

20/11/2020 2:15 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member Looking at the proposals the only thing that strikes 

me is what seems to be a lack of viewing facilities for 

the pools.   I'm hoping that provision was there but 

that it just wasn't shown.  At swimming lessons for 

the younger ones it is just as important that they can 

see a parent/carer is there just feel 

safe/reassured/encouraged.  Other than that the new 

proposals look excellent.  There are more activities 

being considered than I would have anticipated.  :-) 

19/11/2020 8:19 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member a hydro pool would be beneficial 

19/11/2020 8:05 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member there is no mention of repairs or replacement to the 

sauna or the steam room 

P
age 376



 

19/11/2020 3:09 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Looking forward to seeing updated equipment in the 

cardio gym and weights area.  

19/11/2020 2:05 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member SEAHAM NEEDS A SWIMMING POOL - WE WERE 

PROMISED ONE OVER 30 YEARS AGO! SEAHAM IS A 

MUCH BIGGER TOWN NOW & A POOL WOULD BE 

WELL USED. 

19/11/2020 1:15 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Seaham has been crying out for a new swimming 

pool for as long as I can remember. Various petitions 

and campaigns over the years and still no pool.  

 

This would be a huge boost to the people in this area 

and benefits across all age groups. On the design of 

it I think a 6/8 lane 25 metre pool would be ideal. 

Also you could add a kids pool and a kids play area. 

🤞this comes to fruition  

19/11/2020 11:17 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Spennymoor Member Spennymoor gym needs another squat rack. For a lot 

of people now, especially girls, the goal isn’t to be as 

slim as possible by doing cardio. We want to lift 

weights and squat heavy things, but that isn’t always 

possible when you’re trying to use the 1 squat rack 

that is always occupied. Times are changing and I 

think that’s something that needs looking into.  

P
age 377



 

19/11/2020 10:26 AM Negative Location of 

facilities 

General Member Location of leisure center could be better.  

19/11/2020 9:53 AM Negative Infrastructure Shildon Member It would be nice to see improvements/ 

refurbishments to Shildon Sunnydale Leisure Centre. 

It's looking very dated and in need of updating. 

18/11/2020 8:01 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Member CCL is not mentioned in any proposals. And as a 

current member of both CCL and Woodhouse it is an 

absolute shame it visit two separate gyms just at 

access my closest leisure centre just to access a 

swimming pool. The crook swimming pool was 

knocked down and there were many discussions and 

proposals of a new swimming pool that had not been 

followed on. Having seen the new proposal for a 

swimming pool for CCL, it will be a great opportunity 

for children and families that are not able to 

commute to a swimming pool and is a short distance 

from there home. As well as local schools that can 

have better access to this provision. It would be a 

great success and for a local member like myself that 

visits CCL regularly. This would open up a fantastic 

range of benefits and opportunities for the local 

community. In which we have waited some time for.  

P
age 378



 

18/11/2020 6:49 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member We have a fantastic group of instructor's within our 

center's unfortunately they are very limited as to 

what classes they can run due to resources...  We had 

a fantastic running track that was part of our Monday 

class will we be getting a replacement track?  

 

Early morning and afternoon classes are extremely 

popular at Stanley can we have this in Chester le 

street?   

 

Larger rooms so capacity can be increased? 

 

Please please do NOT replace instructors with pre-

recorded on line trash! It is imperative we keep face 

to face as they ensure users are safely carrying out 

exercise ie repositioning posture, improving 

technique, supporting, encouraging they are the 

nucleus of our center's  

 

Also the types of classes at Chester le street need a 

tweek far too much spin!!! 

18/11/2020 6:45 PM Positive Accessibility General Member I've answered the questionnaire pre covid restrictions 

on attendance etc.  I would hope that any 

improvements could be made with as little 

interruption to existing facilities as possible bearing 

P
age 379



 

in mind the restricted access we've had in 2020 and 

the restricted access we had to the pool in 2019 due  

to extensive refurbishment. 

18/11/2020 6:41 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Prefer the Bishop Auckland site moved to the College 

proposal 

18/11/2020 5:31 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member All the changes are welcomed and its nice to see 

investment. Ive answered with Abbey as my main 

center but i use stanley and chesterlestreet regularly 

too for different classes. I think definately review the 

programmes and find which sessions are regularly 

full eg tidal at stanley is always a scrap to get on, and 

there is difficulty for other sessions. I would like to 

see more rehab/ gentle sessions available across the 

region and on an evening - these will be good to 

encourage those with low fitness and for those who 

are still recovering from injury. I think you have an 

important role to get people moving, this is going to 

be especially important once we get through the 

pandemic. At chesterlestreet i would like you to keep 

a big pool size and open from 7am every day. Please 

pay particular attention to access as not everyone can 

use those thin metal ladders to get in. For abbey i like 

how it has been spaced out for covid but the 

sauna/steam/change rooms are definately in need of 

P
age 380



 

refurb. I think you should review the opening times 

for Abbey. I think stanley is okay apart from looking 

at numbers on some classes and the staff there are 

brilliant. I would like to learn about weight lifting 

using free weights and would like a beginners course 

in that and start some walking clubs from the centers. 

18/11/2020 5:03 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member I’m a member at Abbey LC. Great place and fantastic 

friendly staff. I would like more fitness classes during 

the day especially spinning.  

18/11/2020 5:00 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Free parking needed at all sites.  

18/11/2020 4:37 PM Negative General Crook Member I am a member at crook gym and it is not on the list. 

Why? (I've to choose another gym which I do not 

attend)It's a great community gym 

18/11/2020 3:10 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member No mention of Crook! I currently have to drive to 

meadowfield leisure centre when I could walk to a 

venue in crook. We lost our sports facilities nearly 10 

years ago and they have never been replaced. Very 

P
age 381



 

sad for Crook that they have been completely left out 

of DCC plans again. 

18/11/2020 9:52 AM Positive Accessibility General Member I would like to see extended hours - facilities opening 

earlier in the morning and on bank holidays 

18/11/2020 8:56 AM Negative Infrastructure General Member Family changing rooms are a must, when you have a 

small child having both mam and dad in the 

changing rooms would be helpfull. Also more family 

changing facilities. I attend swimming lessons with 

my small child. Sometimes there could be 10 babies 

in the class with only 3 changing rooms available with 

baby change facilities. Also a small chair in family 

changing rooms to safely and securely sit 

baby/toddler in once dressed. Baby pool in particular 

should be warmer. Have you considered under floor 

heating in changing rooms. Somewhere to safely 

secure prams/pushchairs too.  

17/11/2020 11:55 AM Negative Infrastructure Spennymoor Member I would welcome individual shower cubicles at 

Spennymoor LC so that I can have a proper shower 

(without swimming costume) after swimming. 

17/11/2020 10:12 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Dont want virtual class prefer an instructor  

P
age 382



 

17/11/2020 6:16 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Would use other sites to increase visits if aquafit 

classes more readily available. 

 

Use other swimming pools post Covid restrictions. 

 

Bring younger family members to improved pool  

 

& Centre facilities in particular Chester-le-Street as 

closest to home. 

16/11/2020 8:08 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Opening hours on a morning and evening are too 

short by about half an hour. Weekend closing at 5 

and no opening on bank holidays makes family 

activity difficult 

16/11/2020 7:55 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I want the new leisure to stay where they 

 

Currently are in Woodhouse Close which is 

convenient to me and my family. 

16/11/2020 6:00 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member  New centres need to be close enough for those who 

do not drive but also have adequate parking facilities 

for those who do need to use a car. Particular  

attention to be considered for those who need 

disabled spaces. 

P
age 383



 

16/11/2020 5:24 PM Negative Accessibility Peterlee Member The proposals would be good, but any exciting 

activities/ facilities shouldn’t be effected whilst new 

things are being done/ built. This is because last time 

Peter lees got upgraded many of the facilities were 

close for very long periods of time and this was bad 

for members  

16/11/2020 4:45 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member I would like to think that the facilities would stay 

close to the town centre. 

16/11/2020 4:32 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I have always been impressed by the Woodhouse 

leisure facilities although the social side of leisure 

disappeared when the cafeteria closed.The sauna and 

steam room was of great benefit to this elderly user. 

The new centre should be sited as near to the 

original as possible. 

16/11/2020 2:57 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Please proceed with seaham plans for the new centre 

asap, it is long overdue and we are all desperate to 

get new, efficient, well run facilities as the existing 

building is long passed its end of life! The pool will 

be a massive benefit, it's quite unbelievable a town of 

this size doesn't have swimming facilities already, this 

will make a huge improvement to the residents of 

seaham hurrah!  

P
age 384



 

16/11/2020 2:39 PM Positive Infrastructure Seaham Member Please improve seaham gym 

16/11/2020 1:21 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Peterlee Member After lockdown open peterlee pool its a disgrace that 

its been shut for 7 months.  Ive had to travel to Tyne 

and wear to swim at Hetton which has been open 

and get my child in pool who has missed valuable 

training time in pool. 

Improvements for this establishment would be to get 

rid of 1life and find a company that knows how to 

implement projected changes.   

Changes should include more choices of classes such 

as returning Bodypump and consider putting on 

Bodycombat and similar classes.  The equipment and 

setting is good quality just needs to be managed 

better. 

More support should be offered to Swim club, the 

team and teaching offered to children to learn to 

swim. 

16/11/2020 1:13 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Peterlee Member Peterlee Leisure Centre could do with more exercise 

machines and workout area.  

 

Compared to other gyms around the area, they are 

lacking in certain resistant machines.  

P
age 385



 

16/11/2020 10:32 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member Need one in crook or local community  

16/11/2020 7:33 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Consett needs new spin bikes and lots more of them. 

I haven’t been able to get into a class due to capacity 

since the reopening of the centre. Spin classes was 

the main reason I joined. No other gym in the area 

does spin.  

15/11/2020 10:37 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Please include adequate changing facilities for babies 

and children - think about how many are likely to be 

attending a class at any one time and ensure enough 

will be available. Also, a warm pool for little ones. 

Most of them are too cold! 

15/11/2020 6:54 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I request that my centre,Bishop Auckland,remains in 

its present location.Its accessibility far outweighs the 

other sites. 

15/11/2020 12:25 PM Positive General General Member  think this a good idea and I like the proposals 

15/11/2020 10:15 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Teesdale Member It is the trained staff who make any transformation 

possible.A personal thank you to all the staff at 

Teesdale Leisure Centre who have supported myself 

and others to be able to use the pool to swim and 

attend the gym. I have felt totally safe and social 

P
age 386



 

distancing has been maintained in a polite , caring 

and professional way.  

15/11/2020 8:12 AM Positive Accessibility General Member Under current Covid restrictions I have been able to 

swim almost daily using the online lane swim 

booking service. I was planning to cancel my 

membership prior to this as getting a lane swim was 

unachievable after work some nights due to 

lessons/classes using lanes and remaining pool area 

too busy to get a good swim if you are of a 

reasonable swimming standard. I would rather walk 

to my local pool but will cancel if this situation 

reoccurs after Covid restrictions are lifted.  

14/11/2020 9:49 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member I think it should be left on the same site the other 

sites would not have the playing fields and we would 

lose valuable parking in an already very busy town 

centre  

14/11/2020 6:33 PM Negative Accessibility General Member It would be better to be able to book your visit times 

and keep them on a monthly basis and give priority 

to those that stick to their booking times  

14/11/2020 5:17 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member ICE RINK OR ROLLER RINK WOULD BE WELCOME 

P
age 387



 

14/11/2020 3:29 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Chester Le Street definitely needs a bigger fitness 

class area 

 

Really hope that after lockdown yoga can resume 

there with space for all participants as it was always 

fully booked 

 

Likewise really hope that Pilates, functional training 

and stretch and tone classes continue ideally in the 

evenings as well as during the daytime so that 

everyone has fair access to them 

 

Well done to Chester Le Street and Abbey Sports 

centre for the brilliant way in which they kept things 

running safely after lockdown 1 and before lockdown 

2 

14/11/2020 3:06 PM Positive Infrastructure Durham Member I think any plans for refurbishing or new builds 

should be checked by a qualified Access Consultant A 

changing facility should be included in every center  

 

Durham city Access for All Group should be included 

in any consultation 

14/11/2020 2:19 PM Positive Accessibility General Member The smaller pool where children could play would be 

a in high demand so children become accustomed to 

P
age 388



 

water and play independently giving them 

confidence  

14/11/2020 1:41 PM Positive Engagement General Member It is hard to judge what difference it will make to me 

without details of the exact plan for the leisure centre 

I use. Any improvement to buildings and services 

provided would be good for the community. 

14/11/2020 1:24 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Consett fitness studio too small and too hot and use 

of sports hall during term time not satisfactory  

14/11/2020 1:01 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member There is nothing proposed for the Crook area. If there 

was we would use the facilties more often as it would 

reduce our travel time by an hour. It's the travel time 

on week days that s the problem, adding an hour 

onto an hours activity due to travel is the problem. 

We used to go to Spennymoor but it was even longer 

to get to than Bishop Auckland, which we now go to 

on weekend, but if the kids have swimming classes 

on a weekday, different days too, it impacts the week 

massively. Crook used to have pool and I don't see 

why it does not any more. It's clear with the 

availability of swimming classes at Bishop that this is 

not sufficient for the area so having an extra pool 

would be if it everyone in the Co. Durham.  

P
age 389



 

14/11/2020 12:48 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member I do not use Abbey, but it was the only way I could 

access this survey.  I actually use Crook Community 

Leisure but it is not on your list.  Which is a shame 

because they already have good outside track and 

football facilities, fitness classes and a gym.  An 

addition of a swimming pool would be an excellent 

facility for this area and would add another 

dimension to the excellent facilities offered by this 

club for people in the surrounding area 

14/11/2020 12:23 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Would be good to have dance based fitness classes 

to music e.g Zumba, and also more daytime Pilates 

and yoga classes. 

14/11/2020 12:07 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member It's great to hear about the proposals but I notice 

that there's no mention of Crook, Willington and Tow 

Law areas. There are no DCC facilities in Crook, my 

home town, so, since it opened, I have been using, 

and actively support, the facilities at Crook 

Community Leisure, a smashing little centre, without 

which we would have had no facilities in Crook for 

many years. If I were to use any of the other centres, I 

would have to allow additional time for travelling  

thus making them unviable. Also, since the swimming 

pool at Glenholme Park was demolished in 2011, 

there has been great need for a pool in Crook, not 

P
age 390



 

just for leisure activities but also to meet the needs of 

the National Curriculum in  providing swimming 

lessons for school children. The addition of a 

swimming pool would greatly enhance the 

opportunities currently on offer for both young and 

old alike. The Peases West site would seem to be an 

ideal location for this. Fingers crossed! Thank you for 

listening. 

14/11/2020 10:48 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Re: Bishop Auckland, my option is for Tindale football 

site/area 

14/11/2020 10:43 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member Newton Aycliffe has a great gym and is a large 

building. What about indoor short tennis and table 

tennis? Preferably with organised groups and clubs 

say for older members of the community 

14/11/2020 10:10 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member We need another swimming pool in Crook as it was 

taken away so shocking and shameful time to put 

that right.  

14/11/2020 10:09 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Member I live in Crook and we are desperate for a swimming 

pool   , for children and adults as we have not had 

this facility for years as our last one was closed and 

children need this facility as well as adults for health 

P
age 391



 

fitness and some people cannot afford to travel to 

other swimming pool facilities 

14/11/2020 9:11 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Member Please don’t move seaham leisure centre 

14/11/2020 9:07 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member The new leisure centre should be sited as near as the 

existing site and avoid being placed further out of 

town. 

14/11/2020 8:59 AM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

General Member Imperative....Masks MUST be worn in the gym...There 

are lots of students use the gym facility and they are 

asymptomatic but will still be carrying the 

virus...Weight training would not be impeded by the 

wearing of masks.I wear one to protect them....I 

would like to think that they would reciprocate the 

sentiment...but obviously they just don't think or care. 

14/11/2020 8:56 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member There is no mention of Crook, Wellington or Tow Law 

in the proposals. 

 

There are no DCC facilities in Crook and i actively 

support the facilities in Crook. I only go to the DCC 

facilities in Bishop to swim. 

 

The swimming pool in Crook was demolished in 2011 

for no apparent reason and we need a swimming 

P
age 392



 

pool in Crook. 

 

We need additional indoor facilities for sports, leisure 

and functions in Crook. 

 

We need a 3G facility in Crook to enable football, 

rugby and hockey to meet the shortfall in County 

Durham. 

 

We don’t have any running facilities in Crook. 

 

The Peases West site in Crook is ideal to meet the 

needs of the Crook community and needs to be 

developed more. A swimming pool was originally set 

out in the Crook Community Leisure plan and needs 

to be implemented as soon as possible.  

14/11/2020 8:35 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member Should keep original site makes sense 

13/11/2020 8:59 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member Please bring the swimming pool back to Crook. It was 

taken away and it shouldn’t have been. It was 

promised to be reply and it hasn’t been. This town 

needs one.   

P
age 393



 

13/11/2020 8:45 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member Still like use reception to book if internet not working 

and cancel at short notice 

 

The proposed ideas are positive and hope that the 

current rules of being able to use other centre 

continues as been very beneficial to be able to access 

other centre and meet other people and try different 

classes  

 

The range of classes need to increase in frequency 

and taster sessions need to be introduced  

 

The possibility of a climbing wall would be 

advantageous along with a steam or sauna at either 

Consett or Louisa  

 

Health aspect could be wider to incorporate beauty 

physio massage to help generate income   

 

Reception area and waiting area  at Consett needs to 

be looked at as not able to cater for the number of 

people using the centre  

 

We love using Meadowfield and Abbey LC and so 

hope this aspect is to continue .... 

P
age 394



 

 

The ideas re the rooms is positive one thing is the air 

con and the age of some of the equipment as the 

spin class at Consett bikes are quite old and not as 

smooth as they are at meadow field or abbey...so 

whilst money remains an issue it is important that the 

priority is given to good equipment. 

 

The council have offered a fabulous service during 

Covid pandemic and we both love attending and will 

continue in the future and look forward to seeing 

what changes and developments actually come to 

fruition  

P
age 395



 

13/11/2020 7:37 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member There is no mention of Crook, Willington or Tow Law 

in the new transformation programme. There used to 

be a swimming pool in Crook which was extremely 

popular in the local community until it was 

demolished. As the swimming pool was demolished it 

means people such as myself have to travel much 

further to have access swimming pool and other 

fitness facilities- this also applies to primary schools 

as they have to travel much further when attending 

school swimming lessons which eats into their 

swimming time. These areas (Crook,Willington and 

Tow Law) deserve to have easy access to local fitness 

facilities (4G pitch, swimming pool, larger gym 

facility) the lack of them reduces participation greatly 

as transport is extremely expensive and inconvenient. 

The Peases West site in Crook where the current 

small Crook Community Lesiure Gym is situated is 

more than ideal for development. Please take into 

consideration the fitness and health related needs of 

the people in Crook, Willington and Tow Law and the 

inconvenience of the lack of local facilities.  

13/11/2020 6:37 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Shildon Member I’m just hoping that shildon gets as many upgrades 

as the others.  

P
age 396



 

13/11/2020 6:11 PM Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Member To have a new leisure centre in Bishop Auckland 

would be great as although I live in Bishop Auckland I 

travel to Teesdale or Newton Aycliffe as the pool and 

leisure centre at Woodhouse Close is outdated and is 

not a very nice place to visit. The parking has also 

become a problem. I can only afford to go to 

Teesdale once a week due to fuel costs so I would 

definitely visit more often at a new local leisure 

centre.  

13/11/2020 5:58 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

General Member It would be more beneficial to upgrade the current 

centre as it's central with easy access. Moving it to 

the football club area will pose a problem for those 

using public transport. 

13/11/2020 5:12 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Please consider increasing disabled only swimming 

days/times at your centres. I am an amputee with lots 

of skin grafts and would only use the disabled times 

which are poor atm. 

P
age 397



 

13/11/2020 3:13 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member There is no mention of online classes throughout 

these proposals.  If the current situation continues or 

if there cultural changes in relation to working from 

home are permanent, people will (and are re-

organising) their lives around working from home. 

For me and lots of my friends, this will include online 

classes.   

 

 

 

https://www.facebook.com/GoForthFW/  <<This 

organisation has won awards in the community for 

online classes.  If there are reasons why online classes 

cannot be delivered by the council service, then they 

could be delivered by another organisation with 

financial support.   

 

 

 

Online classes is a big gap in service from the council 

at the moment. 

13/11/2020 2:13 PM Neutral Accessibility General Member The prices need to be reasonable as times are hard 

and families are struggling 

P
age 398



 

13/11/2020 1:15 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Some different and better weight machines, more 

floor workout space and free weights for deadlifting 

would be nice.  

13/11/2020 12:49 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I think the leisure centre should remain at 

woodhouse close as moving it to tindale would be a 

disaster . The traffic is already bad there and this 

would be worse. Woodhouse close is handy as it is 

on a main bus route.  

13/11/2020 12:36 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Provide more variety of fitness classes and aqua 

classes 

13/11/2020 11:57 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member As well as improving the service and programmes 

offered, improvements needs to be made from a 

delivery aspect also.  The environment in which we 

choose to take part in the leisure activities has a 

massive impact on our enjoyment also.  Ensuring 

good customer service as well as a clean and safe 

environment is not something that I believe is offered 

at Newton Aycliffe Leisure centre in particular.  

Especially when compared to other leisure centres in 

the area, such as Spennymoor.  Maybe a more 

corporate sharing of good practice is required. 

P
age 399



 

13/11/2020 10:28 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Seaham leisure centre is too small and limited for the 

area as the population of Seaham is growing year on 

year. It does not have a leisure centre that the entire 

community can access as the facilities doe not really 

cater for children and the lack of of food and 

beverage facilities mean people are unable to 

socialise afterwards. There are no adequate outdoor 

sports facilities in seaham and these are greatly 

needed to be able to promote team sports for men 

and women. A better indoor court for netball, the 

number one accessed female sport in this country 

would be greatly welcomed. The current road access 

to seaham leisure centre is also inadequate and often 

dangerous.  

13/11/2020 9:57 AM Negative Accessibility General Member I engage with the leisure center in two main ways: 

 

1. Swimming lessons for my kids, when I'm hanging 

around the waiting area and might be persuaded to 

buy a cup of tea 

 

2. My fencing class, for which we use the sports hall 

(outside of COVID-19 times, anyway). 

 

 

 

P
age 400



 

I might also be tempted to swim lanes at the leisure 

center, but it's a bit too expensive for me to want to 

do it often. 

13/11/2020 9:56 AM Positive Accessibility Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member It would be good to add an ice rink as the region's 

other rinks are too far away. 

13/11/2020 9:15 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Member The proposals look great but there needs to be 

consideration for wider areas. Such as Crook and the 

dales area. The closest provision is Bishop Auckland 

and for the people who cannot drive public transport 

is limited and non existent on an evening.  

13/11/2020 9:12 AM Negative Accessibility General Member For the last few years, Freeman’s Quay and Chester-

le-Street swimming pools have been closed and 

difficult to access for long periods of times. I wish 

they just stayed open! I would use sauna every time 

after my swim (on a cold day even before) but it has 

not been always available and when available the 

temperature has not been very hot. My younger one 

turns 16 next year - finally he is able to join the rest 

of us in sauna (stupid restriction in my opinion)! 

P
age 401



 

13/11/2020 8:55 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Member Centre should be built on current Deneside site 

plenty of land for New Centre  and outdoor 4g 

football pitches  

13/11/2020 12:55 AM Positive Infrastructure General Member Access to all with adequate parking facilities 

12/11/2020 10:32 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Member The county already has loads of high quality soft 

plays in private hands.  We don't need soft play from 

you.  What we need from you are decent sporting 

facilities so please invest in swimming, gyms, and 

courts.  In particular can we have some public tennis 

courts please; there are hardly any in the county.  If 

you want to provide more family friendly activities 

then what about a roller rink or ice rink?  We have 

enough soft plays and coffee bars already! Could you 

support the outdoor lido at Stanhope or use a lido to 

regenerate the East of the county eg at Seaham?  

There is increasing evidence of the benefit of outdoor 

swimming. 

12/11/2020 8:41 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Please have more exercise classes in a large room 

similar to the size of your Riverside facility. 

 

Also an outdoor running track the same as at your 

Riverside facility. I am referring to the new Chester le 

Street facility. 

P
age 402



 

12/11/2020 8:31 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Currently happy with the swimming provision and 

would like to see this remain 

12/11/2020 8:27 PM Neutral Engagement General Member Marketing and publicity is vital to ensure everyone 

are aware of whats on offer, not only online but, a 

hard copy that is colourful, informative and easy to 

understand 

12/11/2020 7:56 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member I would like more  indoor netball courts And outdoor 

safe surface courts with floodlights  

12/11/2020 7:36 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member The survey does not mention squash which 

disappoints me , we run a club from Consett which 

has 4 teams in the Northumbria leagues, Durham CC 

do not promote this international game which is 

reflected in the total lack of mention in the survey! 

12/11/2020 7:23 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Member We need a swimming pool in Crook. It is so 

important for fitness for adults and children. Also it is 

so good to spend time together as a family. It would 

be well used by members of the community. 

Swimming lessons are so important for children to be 

able to safely navigate water.  

12/11/2020 7:22 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

General Member My visit would depend on the location and I feel the 

move would mean you loose votes and the centre is 

fine were it is i know I won't vote for you of its moved  P
age 403



 

12/11/2020 7:17 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Member I sincerely hope Seaham county councillors start to 

listen to the residents of Seaham. No one wants a 

relocation of this facility and one wants more houses 

built! Schools are full to bursting point, as are gp’s 

and dentists rebuilt our leisure centre at it’s current 

location labour is running a high risk of losing voters 

in Seaham due to the house building if they relocate 

this leisure a major will likely sway 

12/11/2020 6:46 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Prior to lockdown I was mainly doing Pilates/Yoga 

classes. As these are not available at Woodhouse 

Close I have returned to swimming and very much 

enjoy the lane swims. I hope to continue with these in 

the future. Please do not overlook adult needs when 

planning new pools. 

12/11/2020 6:42 PM Negative General Crook Member I think Crook community leisure  centre should be 

apart off this list too 

12/11/2020 5:44 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Being able to do classes in more than one venue has 

helped to increase access & provide greater flexibility  

12/11/2020 4:55 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Need to review and restructure staff who take classes. 

Huge difference in quality of teaching. Are they ever 

monitored? Punctuality in starting and ending class. 

In some cases, very poor.  

P
age 404



 

12/11/2020 4:05 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Seaham Member I think it’s about time seaham had a swimming pool. 

Swimming gives so many benefits not to the healthy 

people put also people with health conditions it’s 

proven swimming helps a lot of people  

12/11/2020 3:58 PM Negative Accessibility Consett Member When will Consett swimming pool be open as it has 

been closed for works for a long period 

12/11/2020 3:38 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Member Keep leisure centre seaham at current site  

12/11/2020 3:34 PM Neutral Engagement General Member More detail needed  

12/11/2020 3:20 PM Negative Finance Crook Member There was supposed to be a swimming pool at 

Peases West sports center, why are you building 

house on this land and not a swimming pool as was 

proposed ,the money was available so where is it now 

? 

12/11/2020 3:20 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Stanley Member As a member of the Louisa centre in Stanley I feel it is 

lacking in strength and conditioning equipment, to 

the point where I have considered using other gyms. 

Kettlebells, battle ropes plyo boxes etc are in most 

gyms these days apart from Stanley.  

12/11/2020 3:15 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Current issues with tiered fitness memberships, as I 

pay for Level 1, but now the restrictions on sites have 

been lifted others can now use facilities at my centre 

P
age 405



 

for less. I would like to see a fitness class only 

membership where you can access classes across all 

sites but not the gym at a reduced price.  

12/11/2020 3:08 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member There is a significant capability gap from a swimming 

perspective in the crook/willington/Tow Law region. 

DCC should be investing with appropriate partners 

(CCL in crook) to find a good value means to fulfil 

community need for leisure activities and particularly 

swimming. 

12/11/2020 2:39 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Member I live in seaham but use peterlee due to the 

swimming pool. I’d rather keep seaham centre where 

it is and add in a pool. Nowhere to park in the other 

sites that are under consultantation and no outdoor 

sports pitches 

12/11/2020 2:30 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Spennymoor Member Better time management for sessions at Spennymoor. 

Sessions were always cut short and had paid a lot of 

money.  

12/11/2020 2:08 PM Positive Infrastructure Seaham Member Seaham leisure centre needs to stay on the same site 

and have a swimming pool added. The site needs to 

have outdoor sports facilities, if the centre is moved 

then these will not be available  

P
age 406



 

12/11/2020 1:46 PM Positive Infrastructure Seaham Member Can you please include a sauna/steam room suite at 

the new Seaham leisure centre. 

12/11/2020 1:35 PM Negative Finance General Member The centre I use is run by a private company and its 

no good you giving these a new facility to take all the 

money they make and not spend any back into it  

12/11/2020 1:23 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Swimming pool and and classes availability very 

important .  

 

Often for swimming in my local area too many club 

times so pool not open to the public for keeping fit.  

 

Timetable should accommodate those working 

typical hours.  

12/11/2020 1:09 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member Steam room needs to be repaired at Newton Aycliffe 

Leisure Centre.  It was broken a long time before 

covid hit and has not been listed as being on repair 

list.  No money available apparently.  Now it seems 

there is money.  Please use some to make permanent 

repair to the steam room and sauna at Newton 

Aycliffe.  You have lost quite a lot of members due to 

lack of those facilities. 

P
age 407



 

12/11/2020 12:43 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member  There is no mention of Crook, Willington or Tow Law 

in the Leisure Transformation document 

• There are no DCC facilities in Crook we actively 

support the facilities at Crook Community Leisure 

• It is too far to travel to any DCC leisure facilities 

• The swimming pool in Crook was demolished in 

2011 and we need a swimming pool in Crook. 

Children are not meeting the curriculum for 

swimming as a large part f their time is spent in 

travelling. 

• We need additional indoor facilities for sports, 

leisure and functions. 

• We need a 3G facility in Crook to enable football, 

rugby and hockey to help meet the shortfall in 

County Durham  

• Public transport is expensive and virtually non- 

existent at night  

• The Peases West site is ideal to meet the needs of 

the Community   

12/11/2020 12:34 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member I don’t use equipment but prefer classes which tend 

to be lower in variety and availability at all centres 

P
age 408



 

12/11/2020 12:25 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Peterlee Member Peterlee is a town which has very poor local 

amenities for families always need to travel to do 

anything. Active play and ten pin bowling and the 

access of food will be a fantastic service for peterlee 

and would take full advantage when looking after my 

grandchildren as they are different ages so would be 

something for us, all to do. The more you can put 

into the centre for families the better in my opinion 

and it will make plenty of money as, well for the area  

12/11/2020 11:54 AM Negative Accessibility Weardale Member Might be helpful if the facilities at wolsingham (eg 

the pool) were actually reopened. Having to travel in 

a car for 30mins to nearest pool is not acceptable 

provision. This influenced the low frequency of 

visiting that I chose 

12/11/2020 11:50 AM Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Fully supportive of the new developments. As much 

as I love using Woodhouse Close at present and the 

pool water clarity is exceptional there is a need to 

replace and ageing facility 

12/11/2020 11:44 AM Positive Accessibility Consett Member Please can you reopen the swimming pool at Consett 

leisure centre as soon as possible.  

12/11/2020 11:36 AM Positive Accessibility Crook Member Strong consideration needs to be given to Crook due 

to the lack of facilities and it’s on the edge of the dale 

P
age 409



 

where a lot of residents would come to Crook and 

use this.  

12/11/2020 11:24 AM Positive Engagement General Member Could you consider 'rewards programme' eg ten 

swims gets you a free spa session etc 

12/11/2020 11:22 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Please do not turn the swimming pool into a play 

centre. I like lane swimming and often it has in the 

past been too busy with all the students. 

12/11/2020 10:52 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Hope it’s as good as the current Chester-le-Street 

centre 

12/11/2020 10:52 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Could the council not consider an ice rink in the 

transformation? Seeing how busy the ice rinks are at 

Billingham and Whitley Bay there is definitely 

demand for it and it is an excellent form of fitness.  

12/11/2020 10:51 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Increase staffing levels 

12/11/2020 10:26 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member There needs to be more classes available on an 

evening and Saturday mornings as most I can't 

attend as I am at work (most classes are daytime or 

5pm). Also  spinning and crossfit-type classes would 

be beneficial. There are currently not many classes 

aimed at 20-30 year olds with full time jobs.  

P
age 410



 

12/11/2020 10:22 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Would prefer a site away from original Woodhouse 

Close site then we could have a seemless changeover 

without losing 2 yrs of building time. The old one 

could stay open til new one ready.  

12/11/2020 10:21 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Would like to see more holistic approach to our 

fitness - more well being activities and spa like 

facilities  

12/11/2020 10:19 AM Negative Accessibility Shildon Member Shildon Leisure Centre needs more classes accessible 

for those in full time employment 

12/11/2020 10:18 AM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Consett Member PLEASE REOPEN CONSETT SWIMMING URGENTLY IT 

IS IMPACTING UPON MY HEALTH AND MENTAL 

HEALTH NOT BEING ABLE TO SWIM THERE...  

12/11/2020 9:57 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Durham Needs and ice Rink again. 

 

 

 

Why has this been overlooked? 

 

 

 

If you wish to reply to the question please email 

wshepherd84@gmail.com 

P
age 411



 

12/11/2020 9:52 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Re Consett : The current seating area to view 

swimming is poor , it would be better to have the 

café and seating overlooking the pool similar to 

Stanley arrangements. Also , in terms of swimming 

lessons- having the parents wait to collect the kids at 

the bottom of the pool where the shower area is a 

nightmare , people need to be told to wait in cubicle 

areas. Also would like to see a formal area for 

changing shoes like they have at Prudhoe waterworld 

as the current arrangements lead to people blocking 

the entrance into the changing rooms and put 

people off taking their shoes off or dumping shoes at 

entrance.  

 

Re the gym : Prior to covid the new young lifestyles 

arrangements led to regular gym members not being 

able to use equipment as the gym was really 

overcrowded at particularly busy times for people 

finishing work. It would be better if on a weekday 

that times for kids could avoid the 5pm - 7pm busy 

adult time.  Also witnessed a lack of supervision of 

kids using equipment jumping on and off treadmills 

and larking about etc, this led to me considering 

cancelling my membership and lots of people I talked 

P
age 412



 

to said the same. Going forward I hope this is 

reviewed. 

12/11/2020 9:33 AM Negative Accessibility Peterlee Member Very positive proposals. I have an issue however it 

isn't entirely linked to "re-vamping" the centres 

however it is linked to access to the facilities. I live in 

Shotton Colliery and when I go to the gym (5+ Times 

a week) I am having to travel to 

Spennymoor/Durham despite there being a leisure 

centre in Peterlee. This is down to Peterlee gym being 

1Life as opposed to Thrive and this is very 

inconvenient as with my membership I am unable to 

access my local leisure centre - are there any plans to 

bring this in-house/amend membership permissions? 

Thanks in advance. 

P
age 413



 

12/11/2020 9:26 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member I have not seen anything too trending for fitness in 

Consett’s proposals such as partial 24hour service or 

boxing station or HITT area set up with auto timers 

etc. Looking at some private leisure services may help 

to understand the modern day gym facilities as it’s 

way more than cardio machines, kettle bells, weights 

and weight machines.  

12/11/2020 9:20 AM Negative Accessibility Peterlee Member Currently Peterlee does not offer swimming only 

membership nor does it offer concessions.  If the 

proposals are to encourage a variety of users & 

engagement from the local community then cheaper 

swimming options should be considered. This would 

benefit families & promote how important swimming 

is for health & saving lives. 

12/11/2020 9:10 AM Positive Accessibility General Member They look good. Please ensure everything opens at 

the same time rather than stages as it can be 

disappointing. Please ensure accessibility for 

everyone 

12/11/2020 8:49 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member As a grandparent who swims alone and with 

grandchildren I love the proposals but there needs to 

be a balance. I would therefore prefer a regular 

programme of dedicated and separate slots for adult 

lane swimming and family fun session as this 

P
age 414



 

enhances the swim experience. Appreciate this has 

been introduced to cater for covid restrictions but it 

works well and needs to continue long term. Thanks 

12/11/2020 8:48 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member Crook needs a swimming pool 

12/11/2020 8:25 AM Positive Infrastructure Consett Member Please consider adding a running track at Consett 

12/11/2020 8:23 AM Negative Infrastructure Durham Member I will not renew my membership if there is no sauna 

and steam room this package would not be 

appealing as i like to use it after my workouts and 

would have to leave if these facilities are not booked 

into the package and all modern gyms have these 

facilities Abbey does not want second best we want 

the best. 

12/11/2020 8:09 AM Positive Infrastructure General Member More lanes in the pool, new pool 

12/11/2020 7:42 AM Positive Infrastructure Meadowfield Member Would be interested in meadowfield sports centre 

improvements. Stopped attending Freeman's quay 

due to problems parking when car park was built on. 

Meadowfield is easier to park and free.  

12/11/2020 7:41 AM Neutral Finance General Member Unclear why the large amount of investment is 

required when funding is likely to reduce and so may 

close services in the future P
age 415



 

12/11/2020 7:39 AM Positive General General Member Brilliant idea and definitely needed 

12/11/2020 7:25 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member This survey was irrelevant to my particular 

circumstances and I imagine it will be to many other 

members too.  There is no doubt the facilities need to 

be kept to a decent standard but that won't 

encourage me to go more.  I would go less if they 

deteriorate any further (not been at all since 

Lockdown 1).  The tech element of the gym equ't, the 

door locking mechanism, the TV are the items that 

are an issue im my gym, DCC needs to listen to and 

respond to the requests of the management of my 

leisure centre in a timely manner.  

12/11/2020 6:47 AM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member The Newton Aycliffe LC need better care and 

cleaning. Visit Ashington LC to see how this can be 

done. I would like to cycle to the LC but there us no 

secure cycle storage. A cycle rake in reception where 

a lock could be applied would be ideal. 

12/11/2020 6:47 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member More fitness classes across your facilities which start 

early morning from 6am. I have to work from 7.30 so 

it would be ideal if there were early morning classes I 

could attend prior to work. This would make me use 

the facilities more, probably even grab breakfast 

there on my way out. Also more strength classes 

P
age 416



 

using weights and possibly a TRX (rope training) class 

would be excellent. 

12/11/2020 12:45 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Member We live in Tow Law, the availability and timetable for 

public transport to all of the proposed venues mean 

we would be able to access very little however if 

services were available in Crook again we would use 

them a lot.  

12/11/2020 12:25 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member For freemans Quay, could we have three more racks 

for barbell exercises please? The racks normally have 

a wait at busy times and there are generally plenty of 

empty treadmills. 

 

In addition, could you reinstall the heavy bag for 

boxing (ideally two). I really missed it when you 

reopened after lockdown. 

 

People could bring their own gloves so covid 

wouldn't be a worry. 

12/11/2020 12:13 AM Negative Infrastructure General Member Absolutely need somewhere to eat whilst waiting for 

children's lessons. And also for children to be able to 

sit and do there homework especially if you have 

more then one child swimming. Changing facilities P
age 417



 

suitable for young infants/ babies where you can 

fasten baby in whilst you get dresses etc. It can be 

really tricky if your on your own  

12/11/2020 12:05 AM Negative Accessibility Crook Member It’s not acceptable for the people of Crook to have no 

access to a swimming pool. Public transport is 

appalling and access to the nearest swimming pool 

makes it costly for low income families. The children 

of this town, older residents and other community 

members deserve the same investment you are 

making in other areas of the County.  

11/11/2020 11:55 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Seaham Member I was previously a member of Seaham gym but 

expensive for what was actually available. 

Small gym and classes  so busy on an evening . No 

swimming pool. 

11/11/2020 11:05 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Ice rink, outdoor floodlit multisport courts & more 

swimming baths needed please 

11/11/2020 10:57 PM Negative Engagement General Member There's not a great deal of detail, so I couldn't answer 

yes to questions asking whether they would affect my 

use of the facilities 

11/11/2020 10:57 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Could tai chi classes be introduced?? 

P
age 418



 

11/11/2020 10:54 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member I am totally disgusted that Durham County Council 

will not be supporting squash . You should be 

ashamed  

11/11/2020 10:53 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Build an Ice rink 😚  

11/11/2020 10:42 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member I would hope to see more yoga pilates classes on an 

evening for people that cannot attend during the day 

also pilates classes of a higher level 

11/11/2020 10:39 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member I hope you use calmer colour schemes than in the 

videos, all those dark clashing colours made it look 

unwelcoming. 

 

I hope you take the opportunity to build in renewable 

energy such as solar panels heat pumps and gym 

equipment which uses human energy to generate 

electricity and water pump play equipment which 

children could power manually or with their legs. 

 

The most important thing will be to keep the facilities 

clean & hygienic e.g. making people shower and walk 

through a foot bath before swimming, and cleaning 

the changing facilities several times during the day, 

and separating shoe-wearing areas from bare feet P
age 419



 

areas e.g. center parcs one-way swimming changing 

rooms. 

11/11/2020 10:31 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member I would like to see a facility back in Crook I miss the 

old swimming pool & leisure facilities & would use 

them more as closer to home as I have to travel to 

use the leisure & swimming facilities. Crook is a 

growing Town & needs its own leisure facilities would 

benefit the whole & surrounding communities.  

11/11/2020 10:26 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member I would love a swimming pool for my Grandchildren 

and badminton facilities  

11/11/2020 10:14 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member A sauna or steam room in one of the North West 

Durham facilities would be welcome  

11/11/2020 10:03 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Spennymoor Member There is a re-emerging inline hockey scene in the 

north east that was once big. We’d like facilities to be 

more accepting of our sport, as we have had a poor 

experience with Spennymoor. 

11/11/2020 10:00 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Would like to see a variety of services in the area, 

there's no ice rink locally which is disappointing  

P
age 420



 

11/11/2020 9:57 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Member I am 77 and feel my gym helps me to feel worthwhile 

and it keeps me active 

11/11/2020 9:55 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Hope class sizes improve.  Would also like to see 

more classes on weekends. Thank you 

11/11/2020 9:53 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member I would like more specific exercise classes designed 

for myself as I have a long term health condition and 

the classes at present are not suitable for me. Though 

I think I am physically fit for my age there are not 

cardiovascular or strength classes suitable for me .  

11/11/2020 9:50 PM N/A No comment N/A Member N/A 

11/11/2020 9:46 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Parking should be free when using the facilities  

11/11/2020 9:45 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Hi, Durham is a Hockey town, we play hockey. Our 

dads played hockey and our grandads played hockey. 

Our kids aren't and thats sad. There is so much 

opportunity for a rink and or a roller rink in Durham 

attached to a leisure centre. I am part of a roller club 

thats over 30 years old, Durham Destroyers, who had 

a massive kids club and all ages playing hockey. 

There's a roller rink in Rotherham that has leagues 

and national tournaments etc... there is definitely a 

need for it and it would be something amazing for 

kids to get interested in and play. Ice hockey is still P
age 421



 

huge in the North East with so many rec hockey 

teams and only 2 rinks. We have a Durham Dragons 

team and they play like many others out of 

Billingham. There's figure skating and shops thats 

cater to these sports. The business ethic is brilliant 

and ran correctly could really bring in alot of money 

for the economy. Please consider this... call me i have 

so many ideas for a rink/roller rink/shops/party 

facilities. 

11/11/2020 9:42 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Sounds great, and long overdue, particularly Chester 

le street etc.  

 

Love the idea of Tag, more classes with lighting etc 

and well-being services (specialisms such as physio, 

sport massage and biomechanics would be fantastic).  

11/11/2020 9:39 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member very good staff 

11/11/2020 9:21 PM Positive Accessibility Durham Member As long as freeman’s gets more weight machine and 

less 6th formers and students who don’t understand 

social distancing in I’m happy 

11/11/2020 9:16 PM Positive Finance General Member It's great to see the council investing in leisure 

P
age 422



 

11/11/2020 9:13 PM Negative Accessibility General Member This has been DESPERATELY needed for YEARS now. 

Why should we have to travel when we can have the 

facilities on our doorstep!!! Our children are missing 

out in this area. We are just as important as 

Bp.Auckland. And Spennymoor. Very unfair on them. 

11/11/2020 9:12 PM Positive Accessibility General Member The booking system for the gym has been really 

motivating. Once booked for the following morning 

you feel accountable and this has helped me stay 

motivated to go every morning before work since 

reopening.  

 

It also helps.to know how busy the gym will be as I 

feel self conscious when there are too many people 

so I'm able to choose the quieter times 

11/11/2020 9:12 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Member Durham council does not provide tennis courts. I've 

lived in six local authority areas all others have  

P
age 423



 

11/11/2020 9:06 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member For Abbey LC  

 

 

 

Could we have a bigger weights room with more 

equipment and space.  

 

 

 

Could we have a larger cardio room with more 

modern equipment e.g some watt bikes and another 

SKI Erg and air bike/assault bike.  

 

 

 

Could we have some more dumbbells and another 

set of cables available so people can do free weights.  

 

 

 

Could we have a larger functional room both for 

classes as well as individuals or group activities.  

 

 

 

P
age 424



 

It would be good if we had an app that connected to 

the machines so we could monitor time spent, 

calories burned, distance covered etc... like they have 

in other gyms like Banatynes.  

11/11/2020 9:02 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member I think it is needed, we need a good leisure centre 

and it about time  

11/11/2020 8:46 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member We need our swimming pool and leisure facilities 

reinstated in crook. I used to attend 3 times a week 

before it closed. Now we have to travel to bishop 

Auckland so only go once a week and the facilities 

are in worse shape than crook was before it closed. It 

is even more vital in these times that we have our 

own facilities in crook. It should have never been 

closed in the first place it was well used. It was a 

disgrace. 

P
age 425



 

11/11/2020 8:43 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Durham needs an Ice Rink, we need to attract people 

into the centre as retail is going to need help. So an 

Ice Rink is such a community place and covers such a 

wide age group plus if we got back to Ice Hockey snd 

Figure Skating would be somewhere for the older 

community to go and spectate as well as the families. 

11/11/2020 8:42 PM Negative Infrastructure Teesdale Member You don’t mention showers and changing rooms. The 

changing facilities at Teesdale LC are a disgrace. 

11/11/2020 8:34 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Would love to have a swimming facility at Seaham  

11/11/2020 8:31 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member More family based programme needed and children 

activities so it can work with both adults and children 

fitting in there fitness into our busy lifestyles of 

working and school I.e if my son could be doing an 

activity while I am on the gym as well as activities we 

could do together for all child ages groups 

11/11/2020 8:25 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member The proposals look good.  It will be nice to have 

modern facilities for the family.  

11/11/2020 8:24 PM Positive Infrastructure Consett Member Get a sauna and steam room in Consett. 

 

 

 

P
age 426



 

Look at discount for Civil Service workers as local 

government and emergency services are in the same 

government schedule.  

11/11/2020 8:23 PM Negative Accessibility General Member The cost of using the facilities is a key factor in usage. 

I'm retired and cycle outdoors ... 250miles per month 

... would use the centres more during the winter if 

there was a low off-peak rate. 

11/11/2020 8:21 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member Please consider building a new centre in crook. I grew 

up there, learnt to swim there, competed there, and 

progressed to a national standard. This allowed me 

to get a scholarship throughout university, meet my 

now wife, begin my career and finally relocate back 

to county durham. Without a leisure centre in crook I 

wouldn't have been able to do this. By discounting 

crook from future locations you are limiting access to 

such opportunities for the next generation. Happy to 

discuss my experiences further - please contact me 

on 07746227743 (Philip Hodgson)  

11/11/2020 8:20 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member More general access to running tracks  

11/11/2020 8:10 PM Negative Infrastructure Consett Member The viewing area in consett leisure Centre needs 

changed, it is so bad when watching your child and if 

P
age 427



 

they are in the big pool you can’t see, needs changed 

so parents can watch there children  

11/11/2020 8:09 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member Keep the sauna and steam room please 

11/11/2020 8:06 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Reasonable prices would help us return more often 

as a family. 

11/11/2020 8:05 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Bring the ice rink back to Durham. The town has 

never been the same since it closed down. There are 

3 cinemas! Give the children somewhere to socialise 

and meet their friends. 

11/11/2020 8:01 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Stanley Member Improve/expand on the snooker/pool tables. At 

Stanley, don’t have gym equipment facing the soft 

play area 

11/11/2020 8:00 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member It would be preferable to me for swimming facilities 

to be be provided in Crook where I live. I support the 

rebuild in Bishop Auckland but prefer to use the 

better facilities at Freeman's Quay, Durham currently. 

Having less far to travel would be ideal, as there is a 

shortage of swimming provision in the Crook area. 

11/11/2020 7:55 PM Negative Infrastructure Durham Member I won’t be returning to abbey leisure centre until the 

sauna and steam issues are resolved. I’ve been a 

customer for about 18 years and even worked there 

many years ago. 

P
age 428



 

I know use the raddison in Durham for the sauna, 

steam and jacuzzi. 

11/11/2020 7:55 PM Positive General General Member All looking ok. 

11/11/2020 7:48 PM Negative Accessibility General Member More variety of fitness classes are definitely required 

as well as a greater number of classes. It is extremely 

difficult to get booked on to some of the classes. And 

they are often fully booked a full week in advance. 

 

There needs to be a combined gym and fitness class 

pass as it is far too expensive to do both.  

11/11/2020 7:46 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member I currently use both Meadowfield and Abbey Leisure 

centres as well as attending fitness classes elsewhere. 

The new programme looks very attractive and would 

encourage me to use the centres more including time 

with my grandchildren  

11/11/2020 7:45 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Bowling at consett would be amazing. We have 

nothing like this locally and I’d be happy to book my 

children’s parties there if you did also more water 

activities like a slide and splash park would be 

amazing! And a much NEEDED improvement to the 

centre and to consett  

P
age 429



 

11/11/2020 7:42 PM Positive Accessibility Crook Member I would love to have a swimming pool back in crook 

saving me travel time and using my car  

11/11/2020 7:41 PM Positive General General Member The sooner the better. 

11/11/2020 7:37 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member I attend the netball club in Seaham, which is a female 

only club which encourages women's well being, 

fitness, camaraderie and empowerment. One of 

things we have had difficulty with during the 

pandemic is finding outdoor facilities to use, 

therefore outside courts would be a fabulous 

addition to your facilities. Our club plays in a league, 

which again struggles at times to get good quality 

outdoor facilities, therefore this could be an excellent 

source of revenue.  

11/11/2020 7:35 PM Positive General General Member I've quite enjoyed having access to other gyms and 

look forward to seeing the changes at the different 

sites  

11/11/2020 7:34 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member 1. I hope that on line access does not replace the 

presence of staff at the leisure centre to help the 

public access service. 

 

2 Which of the improved offer will be included within 

membership subscription? ie at no extra cost 

 

P
age 430



 

3 Is it wise that the Council offer the sale of 

'supplements' to members and public. Should there 

not be health advice accompanying the sale of 

supplements as they can have negative effects on 

health. 

11/11/2020 7:33 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member Local would be good 

11/11/2020 7:24 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member The strength fitness classes need more equipment  

11/11/2020 7:21 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I would fully support the proposed new development 

at Bishop Auckland in order to make the center a 

vibrant and inviting community hub.  

11/11/2020 7:19 PM Negative Infrastructure Shildon Member Yet again Shildon has been left out! We see leisure 

centres in Aycliffe and Spennymoor under constant 

improvements over the years and yet Shildon has had 

nothing, in fact the settees that were purchased for 

shildon numerous years ago were removed and taken 

to spennymoor! We have seen the comprehensive 

school closed due to a lack of investment and update 

how long before the leisure centre follows 

P
age 431



 

11/11/2020 7:19 PM Negative Infrastructure Meadowfield Member  It happy Meadowfeild has been left out again. Says 

we will look at it later! Never been updates in the 

centre for years 

11/11/2020 7:11 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member I think there should be a meeting with all members in 

the hall at Abbey sports centre to talk to someone 

who is making these changes and tell us what is 

going on. There should be training facilities for all 

ages. There should be a free weights section. 

Dumbells from. 2.5 kg all the way to 60kg dumbells 

etc.. Dip station etc. Could make the hall the gym as 

not many things go on in that hall, just my opinion. 

Thank you. 👍  

11/11/2020 7:08 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member It’s well overdue and it will be so good to have up to 

date facilities  

11/11/2020 7:06 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Need more variety in fitness classes like ropes tyres 

etc also more 45min to 1hr classes 

11/11/2020 7:04 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Would like to see more aqua fit groups on an 

evening.  

11/11/2020 6:58 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Need to add disabled young people’s activities  

P
age 432



 

11/11/2020 6:52 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member I would utilise leisure centres more frequently if they 

were closer to me. There is no swimming pool at 

crook and it is difficult to get to other pools in the 

area at times when they are available. Why are there 

no plans to have a pool at crook? 

11/11/2020 6:42 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member We need a swimming pool in Crook once again 

11/11/2020 6:41 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member You've mentioned the sauna/steam facilities - newton 

aycliffe has a great set up but these are often out of 

service 

11/11/2020 6:31 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member I would like to see more spinning classes on at 

consett as its always full , or even have 2 classes on at 

the same time or have it in the big hall down stairs 

where more bikes could go in 

 

More bikes are needed 

 

Working bikes as there are a few some that keep 

coming out that are faulty  

11/11/2020 6:29 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Meadowfield Member It is noted that my centre at Meadowfield does not as 

yet have any details of updates to the centre. It really 

needs updated equipment to compete with the gyms 

in the area a short drive away. 

P
age 433



 

 

The equipment is outdated, you need more power 

cages, barbells, strength machines etc 

11/11/2020 6:22 PM Neutral Accessibility General Member I would rather be able to walk to my leisure centre  

11/11/2020 6:16 PM Negative Infrastructure Consett Member I was bitterly disappointed by the removal of the 

sauna at CONSETT leisure centre and the 

introduction of the smaller pool. Instead of getting 

upgraded facilities we got a down grade, in my 

opinion. This has been compounded by the closure 

of the swimming pool due to I believe structural 

defects which beggars believe in a new building . I 

honestly think that the council have let the people of 

CONSETT down with this white elephant upgrade of 

facilities and think that somebody needs to tell the 

people of Consett what is happening about their 

sports centre and why we are in the state we are in.  

11/11/2020 6:15 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member The pool should be at a warm temperature as 

currently it is cool especially for classes with children.  

 

Also more activity for children in general- such as a 

toddler time class - weekly. 

P
age 434



 

11/11/2020 6:15 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Member Leave the leasure centre were itvus we don't need 

more houses in Seaham yous are ruining the town 

with all these money making plans  

11/11/2020 6:15 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member I believe it would be much beneficial within the gym 

to have more cable machines with a wide range of 

cable attachments. Also equipment and machines 

that are not currently featured among the current 

range of machines at my Newton aycliffe site e.g sissy 

squat, cable row, fixed/pre weighted barbells, calve 

machine, weight assisted dip/pull up machine etc.  

11/11/2020 6:15 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member 6am lane swims please  

11/11/2020 6:06 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member The changing facilities on the lower level are in 

serious need of modernisation. 

 

 

 

The sports hall flooring would benefit more sports if 

it were wooden or polished concrete, not the blue 

rubber 

11/11/2020 6:05 PM Positive Infrastructure Peterlee Member It would be great to see investment in Peterlee, long 

overdue. My concerns would be around parking here 

P
age 435



 

with the additional activities. Parking needs to be a 

big part of consultation  

11/11/2020 6:03 PM Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Member These proposals sound amazing, as these leisure 

centres are focused on family, socialising, being fit 

well and healthy. Good affordable price packages 

need to be offered and car parking needs to be high 

on the list to make it a good place to visit, car 

parking is a huge issue in Chester le street and 

sometimes puts me off entering the leisure centre, 

also the cost of car parking should be free but maybe 

limited to stop people parking who is not using the 

facilities. These places do offer a huge range of 

services and affordability needs to be fair to allow 

everyone to visit and make use of the service. It 

would be really good to have local places for kids 

families and anyone looking to keep fit and healthy 

be back for good 

11/11/2020 6:02 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Meadowfield Member Meadowfeild Leisure Centre needs to be heavily 

updated and refurbished, the equipment is very 

outdated and does not compete with the equipment 

in other local gyms. The centre does not cater for 

activitys such as CrossFit, Olympic weightlifting, 

proper bodybuilding and strength training or 

P
age 436



 

functional training. It only appeals to middle-elderly 

aged people. 

11/11/2020 6:01 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Need to have more metafit classes on a lunchtime  

11/11/2020 5:59 PM Negative Accessibility General Member I think the sports centre needs to adjust gym 

operating hours from 6am like other gyms in the area 

. Also need to stop the 50 min time limit. Other gyms 

don’t have them during these difficult times . I’m 

considering leaving if it’s not sorted soon . 

11/11/2020 5:59 PM Negative Infrastructure Durham Member At abbey it is essential that we should have the gym 

modernised (more cardio machines and definitely 

more weight resistance machines) We need a new 

sauna & steam room. It would also be fantastic if 

there were to be a cafe at abbey selling healthy meals 

and healthy smoothies/protein shakes.  

 

 

 

This would not only motivate myself to workout more 

often but also ensure a healthy mind state knowing 

that my local gym can cater for all my needs rather 

P
age 437



 

than having to travel far in a car to gym which 

provides the things i need. 

11/11/2020 5:58 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Chester-Le-street is fantastic centre very friendly staff 

always on hand to help with anything, always clean & 

tidy, I have used this centre for 47 years , it is a big 

part of the community for old & young. 

11/11/2020 5:56 PM Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member Please consider improvements to the Chester le 

Street skatepark as well. It is a very popular spot and 

is often overcrowded and could do with some 

maintenance  

11/11/2020 5:55 PM Negative Accessibility Meadowfield Member Please look at the opening times for Meadowfield 

gym, first slot available is 8.30 which means most 

people can't go before work, school or college.  

11/11/2020 5:54 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member New changing rooms and a wooden floor in the 

courts  

11/11/2020 5:51 PM Positive Engagement General Member The idea that individuals are responsible for their 

own physical and general well being through good 

health and fitness ought to be more intensely 

P
age 438



 

promoted. Not to take this responsibility is selfish 

and socially irresponsible behaviour.  

11/11/2020 5:49 PM Negative Infrastructure Seaham Member You have noted the need for outside facilities such as 

football pitches, have you also considered the need 

for outside netball/multi use courts. As a direct result 

of no outdoor courts being available in Seaham, 

Seaham netball club has had to relocate their training 

to Sunderland during COVID meaning some 

members have not been able to train, therefore 

adversely effecting the well being of Co Durham 

Residents  

11/11/2020 5:49 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member It would be great to have a bigger variety of fitness 

classes  

11/11/2020 5:47 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member More diverse range of fitness classes. Perhaps rotate 

the trainers so the classes are not so predictable 

11/11/2020 5:44 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member Fitness studios need to suit the activities, although I 

appreciate they need to be multifunctional, care and 

consideration needs to be taken in there design. 

11/11/2020 5:43 PM Negative Accessibility General Member So far my group have found the booking site for 

swimming activities difficult to use or access. Success 

is intermittent. Person to person better 

P
age 439



 

11/11/2020 5:42 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member Please do not neglect strength facilities. The current 

range of equipment at Freeman's Quay has an over-

provision of cardio equipment. There are large 

numbers of treadmills, which are never *all* in full 

use, while the two Squat Racks (which are of poor 

quality) are always busy and often have queues of 

people waiting to use them. 

11/11/2020 5:42 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Make sure that the equipment is well maintained and 

that it is replaced more frequently as the current 

provision is looking tired and old 

11/11/2020 5:42 PM Negative General General Member Can't come soon enough!!!!!!! 

11/11/2020 5:40 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Trying to reset my password is a total nightmare 

when trying to book a swim session!! It’s made me 

not go🥺 

11/11/2020 5:39 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Not sure what the alterations are at the gyms I use I 

think there should be an option of membership 

covering all sites and both aqua and dry,especially for 

older people 

11/11/2020 5:37 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member I have a busy varied fitness program which is why I 

am unlikely to increase my fitness. I would use the 

cafe it it was pleasant and provided healthy snacks. 

P
age 440



 

May I suggest a visit to Ashington  leisure centre 

their cafe is excellent  

11/11/2020 5:36 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Please put on more classes and less metafit!  

11/11/2020 5:35 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Gym could do with some improvements - a proper 

lat pull down and cable rower would be a massive 

improvement. 

11/11/2020 5:34 PM Positive Accessibility General Member I like booking my sessions on line. Limited class and 

swimming sessions is good for me. 

11/11/2020 5:31 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member We are desperate for  a swimming pool in Crook, 

Wolsingham pool is awful as is Bishop Auckland. 

11/11/2020 5:31 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member The sports halls wood benefit from moving back to a 

lower friction, harder surface like wood. Changing 

facilities are decrepit and need a revamp. 

11/11/2020 5:29 PM Positive Accessibility Durham Member I attend the Abbey sports centre, it would be great if 

opening hours could be extended to be open earlier 

in the morning and on Sundays. 

 

It would be great to have more classes available 

earlier on weekdays too, as I really enjoy Spin at 

8.15am on Tuesday and Fridays, as well as increased 

variety of classes such as Body Balance, body combat, 

P
age 441



 

dance style classes etc. 

 

Perhaps an extension to the building to have more 

studios for classes would help with this!  

P
age 442



 

11/11/2020 5:28 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member There is a vast growth in the population to the south 

of Durham in bowburn and coxhoe, as such instead 

of building replacement facilities you should redirect 

the effort towards making more access especially for 

those with limited transport.  For the next year the 

simple closure of the elvet bridge highlights a serious 

access issue for south Durham.  I personally only ever 

used the yoga and Pilates classes and these were 

often over subscribed so once again i would say i 

would prefer  greater access to classes for older 

people. Water aerobics , tai chi, yoga at a range of 

levels with more health condition levels. I'm not sure 

if expanding access for old crunchies is fully 

represented but we are moving ,demographically , 

towards an ageing population and i dont yhink 

Durham cc have really ever considered this in an 

appropriate way.  You will pay when les mills classes 

are in some locations , in particular body balance , 

but not in others. There needs as we move forward to 

look at health far more holistically.  I find Durham 

quite narrow minded in attitude to health of older or 

disabled persons , i being both , and you would 

rather improve infrastructure than the quality of the 

provisions you make.  With this last year to look at 

have your plans seriously considered the P
age 443



 

ramifications for social mental health issues. If you 

are going to get the best out of investment i would 

encourage you to identify larger class sizes more 

social distancing and add into the mix more work to 

encourage socialization.  There should for example 

be a greater  emphasis on running classes that marry 

together so that there is opportunity to go from a 

pilates class into yoga into tai chi or some kind of 

flow class with lunches or beverage offers to make 

the experience whole.   I also believe that you need 

to employ an older persons ambassador and provide 

opportunities to combine activities with physio type 

activities,  therapies and utilise the students at new 

college to give experience and practice . The centres 

need to be reimagined making them places that can 

encapsulate the spirit of health and creativity.  There 

should be art therapy or expressive arts courses as 

well as leisure centres   to become more heart and 

soul of communities.  If one looks at Durham it has 

become a sad tatty city , devoid of life creativity and 

purpose. All the shops are empty or closed they serve 

no community hub . Think outside these concrete 

boxes and make the centres into art galleries , 

creativity centres, places to visit not just for a swim 

but as a place central to the life of an area.  Once of 

P
age 444



 

course there was access with parking but since the 

central parking hub in Durham has now been sold off 

you have , in.part , cut off many opportunities .  

Centres need to engage better with local schools and 

colleges and enable our new life post covid to find 

central places lively with all sorts of activities , health 

,craft, artistic, , socially diverse activities , U3A, and all 

sorts of events. One could easily miss completely that 

we have a university in Durham and it too should be 

made to  contribute more to the life in and around 

durham.  Durham cc seem always to 

decompartmentalise everything which is narrow 

minded and has created a city that has no soul.    

P
age 445



 

11/11/2020 5:24 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member I really like the fact they are trying to offer something 

for all of the family which feels like a return to the 

leisure centres I remember in my younger years. I 

would like to see fitness activities that can be done as 

part of all of the family. Also the possible 

introduction of a family Thrive card. With this it 

would be good to receive offers and promotions and 

possible discounts in the eating areas.  

11/11/2020 5:21 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member The downstairs changing rooms need refurbished 

and the rubber floor in the sports hall would be 

better as a wooden sports floored sports hall. We 

find the rubber floor causes more injuries the 

wooden floors. 

11/11/2020 5:17 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Please get some natural lighting via windows put in 

to the sports halls - they feel just dreadful with those 

yellow lights.  Natural lighting is proven to be much 

more beneficial for mental and physical health and it 

is a leisure centre! 

11/11/2020 5:13 PM Negative Accessibility General Member In addition you need to make it easier to book 

classes. The Thrive app isn’t very efficient and it’s very 

slow to respond to your booking!  

P
age 446



 

11/11/2020 5:11 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Maybe not about proposals, but the swimming 

programme and more lane swims and times during 

coving restriction has improved my opportunity to 

use facilities   thanks 

11/11/2020 5:11 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Member As a diabetic, I need to take care of myself so find the 

proposals very encouraging. 

11/11/2020 5:10 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member We need better facilities in crook have to travel to 

get any useful leisure facilities as ccl is useless and 

expensive 

 

We need a pool back 

11/11/2020 5:02 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member I feel having all the big weights together puts people 

off as everyone stands around & it’s intimidating.   

11/11/2020 5:00 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Would need to improve on current app - won’t work 

and despite several contacts to DCC can’t be fixed?!  

11/11/2020 4:55 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Have more family sessions available.  

11/11/2020 4:52 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Swimming pool needs to be longer  

11/11/2020 4:52 PM Negative Finance General Member It would be nice if the clubs hiring the facilities were 

also helped. Price increase have more than doubled 

and NO help has been given to clubs to 

P
age 447



 

accommodate this. Clubs could help bring in custom, 

parents spending or using facility while children are 

in club. Help, support or a structure to help clubs to 

encourage new members from the council / leisure 

centres would be good. This doesn't happen at the 

moment clubs feel let down.  

11/11/2020 4:52 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Excellent proposals to make county Durham residents 

proud. Families often travel to other authorities for 

provision.  

11/11/2020 4:51 PM Positive General Chester-le-

Street 

Member Chester le street leisure centre is the centre of the 

community and a hub for children and adults to 

come together. It is an amazing place for children's 

parties and both my children learned to swim here. It 

is heartening to see that money is going to be 

invested here as it will be money well spent 

11/11/2020 4:49 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Special needs activities are needed. The council took 

holiday club away from my daughters special needs 

school so where can children with disabilities go 

now? Staff who are qualified to work with special 

needs children are also a necessity. 

P
age 448



 

11/11/2020 4:46 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Hopefully the centres will still be accessible during 

transformation or closed for the shortest time 

possible to maintain health and well-being of clients. 

11/11/2020 4:46 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Centres will still be accessible during transformation 

or closed for the shortest time possible to 

help.maintain heath and wellbeing  

11/11/2020 4:43 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Teesdale Member Teesdale Leisure Centre is an important part of the 

community. I would like to see an increase in the 

number of Pilates classes on offer and also Yoga. I 

think it would be of benefit to hold weight loss 

classes and offer support there. Running for 

beginners. Mental well-being support - meditation 

classes, etc. 

11/11/2020 4:39 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member I would like more strength classes available at 

Consett  

11/11/2020 4:35 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member Very much welcome the proposed investments 

across the county and particularly at my local centre 

(Abbey) which is a excellent local facility. 

P
age 449



 

11/11/2020 4:35 PM Negative Accessibility Stanley Member Please restore a yoga class or two at my local Louisa 

Centre, I am sure Paul Rathbone would teach there if 

asked if Jacqui Buggion is no longer going to teach 

yoga there. Please add an extra yoga class at Consett. 

The online booking needs improvement. It is not in 

the interest of anyone’s well being to be so stressed 

trying to make bookings online. This is true for yoga 

classes. People were setting alarms for 5 am to get 

booked on. More recently we were told it was going 

to be 7 am. Then along came lockdown 2. I 

purchased membership in January, paid a lump sum 

in one go. I feel I should get priority for having paid 

up front.  

11/11/2020 4:31 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member With Newton Aycliffe  updating And fixing the 

showers ,sauna and steam room  and updating the 

area outside the sauna and steam room better 

seating options, perhaps a water machine to.  

 

In the swimming change rooms  a swimsuit dryer 

would be great along with better hairdryers as well 

11/11/2020 4:29 PM Negative Engagement General Member Listen to feedback from service users 

P
age 450



 

11/11/2020 4:29 PM Negative Infrastructure Durham Member Abbey Leisure Centre Needs to retain and modernise 

sauna and steam to make this transformation 

appealing to all ages apart from children obviously 

this is an exciting opportunity for Abbey to get more 

users in the building if it does not have sauna and 

steam I know loads who said they will leave and join 

Radisson hotel as that has both and word of mouth 

thats where I here people join  

11/11/2020 4:28 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I would only use the services if Bishop Auckland stays 

in the current place, or in town, not moved out to 

west Auckland. 

11/11/2020 4:27 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Meadowfield Member Please do not close Meadowfield as rumoured  

11/11/2020 4:26 PM Positive Accessibility General Member All my queries are answered in the above.   Evening 

access is going to become important as I am shortly 

returning to work. 

11/11/2020 4:24 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member We need a swimming pool back in crook to allow the 

10000+ residents closer facilities and reduce the CA 

bon imprint of having to travel out of the area 

11/11/2020 4:23 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member I feel the proposals once again are shocking. Crook 

lost its swimming pool some years ago and the gym. 

The pool should never have been shut and was a P
age 451



 

huge part of the town. The gym and the pool were 

key for the residents. Crook is getting no money 

spent on it and the only gym is a private run gym 

which is very small and although ok does not cater 

for everything. Crook needs investment so all can 

benefit from it.  

11/11/2020 4:22 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Haven’t been able to use the facilities during Covid or 

since re opening due to restrictions with taking 

children along. I think this all needs exploring as was 

same prior to Covid and limits community 

participation massively. I’ve tried to raise this lots of 

times. My little one is missing the swimming also. Be 

good if access is available and equitable for all 

11/11/2020 4:21 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member More provision needs to be made for safe and secure 

bicycle storage at all of the County's leisure centres 

11/11/2020 4:19 PM Negative Infrastructure Durham Member Better showered and bathroom as abbey centre are 

very poor with no privacy and are not that clean 

11/11/2020 4:18 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member We definately need the upgrade as 

activities,changing / showering facilities poor .Hope 

this all happens soon .Pleased there are going to be 

more for children  

P
age 452



 

11/11/2020 4:14 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I think that Woodhouse Close Leisure Centre should 

remain in it’s current position as it is central for 

people to get to. 

11/11/2020 4:12 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Use of multiple leisure centres has worked really well 

during 2020, I would like this to continue. Earlier 

fitness classes and gym opening times would be 

beneficial to attend before work, current opening 

times are too late for this, 6am would be better. 

Booking system is much improved now. 

11/11/2020 4:12 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Spennymoor Member It doesn't really outline fully the swimming pool plans 

for spennymoor, but this pool is not really designed 

for adult swimming therefor the times allocated for 

this usually get overcrowded in the deeper section of 

the pool and not adaptable to lane swimming. A 

dedicated adult pool would benefit the elderly who 

swim in the mornings and I'm sure would encourage 

workers to attend prior to work without hassle. Also 

adult sessions throughout the morning and lunch 

breaks would make adult swimming more flexible  

11/11/2020 4:10 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Consett Member I used to LOVE the sauna and steam at Belle Vue in 

Consett, and was so sad when it wasn't replaced in 

the new centre. I would definitely use this service at 

least once a week if it was available! Plus all the P
age 453



 

family/kids stuff looks great as does the clubbercise 

style dark rooms. I'm really excited about this! 

Obviously won't use any of it until after covid though!  

11/11/2020 4:07 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Crook Member As we have had no swimming in crook in 10 years it 

is very important for me to access a pool for exercise 

due to health condition as recommended by my 

doctor 

11/11/2020 4:05 PM Negative Accessibility Consett Member keeping in mind Consett closure of the pools l hope 

you are keeping funds available to implement re-

opening of our recently built   transformed facilities 

very soon ..  

11/11/2020 4:05 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member Would love to see additional aquafit classes. You 

need to train more staff to deliver them.  

11/11/2020 4:04 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Would love to see yoga, Pilates and dance Zuma 

classes fort over 50s.  

11/11/2020 4:01 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Leisure facilities should have been available before 

now. 

11/11/2020 3:55 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member The air conditioning can be adjusted depending on 

the temperature/time of year. The gym area is always 

attended by a member of staff.  

P
age 454



 

11/11/2020 3:53 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

General Member The current locations seem to have very little 

flexibility on how the space can be used so this needs 

to key in designing future facilities. I would also 

expect to see a lot more use of interaction with 

current technology. 

11/11/2020 3:53 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member More classes for over 65 years  

11/11/2020 3:49 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member It's exciting new development for my local area and 

encourage my family to access them. 

11/11/2020 3:45 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Weardale Member Disappointed that Durham Leisure are not bringing 

the climbing wall at Wolsingham back into the 

community fold as it was intended. Wolsingham pool 

desperately requires an upgrade. 

11/11/2020 3:44 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Member Pleasing to think that the provision of a cafe area is 

being considered which would encourage more 

social interaction which is essential for the older 

users, better the gym have the trade than others. 

11/11/2020 3:42 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member I would like to see the centre more community-based 

based?,with good and sensible bar. Social functions 

could be offered the new centre,those wanting the 

social event would pay for the event.I'm fact staff 

P
age 455



 

could be employed to organise events (not Fitness 

trainers) 

11/11/2020 3:39 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member A designated spin studio with a dark room and loud 

music would be a huge draw and would encourage 

to me to attend more frequently. Also having a 

second designated studio for classess would be really 

good, as prior to lock down classes were held in the 

squash court or small hall which did not have a great 

vibe! However it would be a shame to lose the 

climbing walls!  

11/11/2020 3:38 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Only item I would say is missing is provision for 

cyclist currently no place to safely leave a cycle, I 

would cycle to gym if there was 

11/11/2020 3:38 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

General Member My son is a boxer. It would be really useful for him to 

have access to the gym facilities. Running machines 

etc. As on dark nights he would use these more 

frequently. Atm there is very limited access to gym 

facilities for children under 16 when child obesity is 

on the rise and starting early would encourage 

children to continue to keep fit as they get older. The 

longer it’s left for children to be able to use gym 

facilities then the harder it is for them to get into the 

P
age 456



 

habit of keeping fit and healthy and encourages 

gaming and computing. 

11/11/2020 3:36 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member Crook would be my preferred access to leisure 

services. It is lacking a pool which would provide 

much needed low impact exercise. I personally would 

use a pool at least 5 days per week. 

11/11/2020 3:34 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member We love the leisure centre down the street from 

where we live but if it means better facilities we 

would totally support the move to tindale 

11/11/2020 3:33 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Think the proposals to the centres is very much 

needed and will encourage more people in the 

community to use the facilities rather than go to 

other privately owned leisure venues. 

11/11/2020 3:33 PM Negative Accessibility Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member More access to the pool would be good, its poor just 

now in aycliffe if you work  

11/11/2020 3:33 PM Negative Engagement General Member MUST Inform other members if a member has 

informed staff if tested positive for COVID-19 

through track trace or phone!! 

P
age 457



 

11/11/2020 3:27 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member It would be good to invest money in increasing the 

number and type of classes offered as at the moment 

there aren’t many classes on the timetable at 

Freeman’s Quay for those who work during the day.  

11/11/2020 3:26 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member We need a swimming pool.at Abbey leisure as  

freeman's Quay is packed with students all of the 

time. We need pool time and space for lane 

swimming and any play swim.should have separate 

pool..adults stopped using pools as so packed with 

students and its the best way to recover from injury. 

11/11/2020 3:26 PM Negative Accessibility General Member A simple to use App is what’s needed. (Not the 

difficult web version you have now). The App can 

show activities, availability, opening times, etc. The 

App could also measure attendance or include fitness 

programmes and activity trackers  

11/11/2020 3:21 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Meadowfield Member I'd far rather see an improvement in class availability 

on evenings during which I can attend, plus improved 

or maintained gym cardio equipment or keeping as 

current with little financial increase.  I consider the 

centre to be a gym, not a social club offering tea and 

cakes etc.  Although socialising with classmates is a 

significant part of the appeal of meadowfield centre. 

P
age 458



 

11/11/2020 3:16 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member For woodhouse close I would choose option 1 or 

three for the site, either the existing site or near 

bishop college, as tindale traffic is horrendous at the 

best of times, I would be put off attending if the 

centre was moved there!  

11/11/2020 3:13 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Disable facilities should be improved. 

 

Hair dryers ESSENTIAL aid to health and well being as 

going out like drowned rat not a great look 

discourages the young in particular from using  

11/11/2020 3:12 PM Negative Infrastructure Meadowfield Member Looking at Spennymoor with a swimming pool, lovely 

gym, huge hall with stage and special lighting, 

Meadowfield looks very poor. Freeman's Quay wasn't 

built that long ago, had a refurbish very recently and 

there is no parking. Why does the council invest 

again in FQ? MLC needs an update urgently plus 

additional classes, ie Zumba, BLT, Combat, or attack 

on an evening or Saturday morning, when people 

who pay full memberships, have a chance to exercise.  

11/11/2020 3:12 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Member I believe it's of prime importance to the health and 

wellbeing of County Durham residents that all should 

have a local leisure centre. Keep up the good work. 

P
age 459



 

11/11/2020 3:11 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member would like to retain squash at chester le st 

11/11/2020 3:10 PM N/A No comment N/A Member Nothing I can think of. 

11/11/2020 3:06 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Be nice to see something more for the elderly to 

come and meet/have a meal deal etc  

11/11/2020 3:05 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member If it means facilities to help the older person keep fit 

are improved I'm all for it 

11/11/2020 3:03 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Organised classes of exercise will of interest if 

available 

11/11/2020 2:57 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member Most essential services required in Newton Aycliffe 

are cleaner toilet facilities and servicing of lockers in 

ladies changing area. 

11/11/2020 2:56 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member The Steam Room to be repaired at Newton Aycliffe 

11/11/2020 2:56 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member It's a shame you will not upgrade the showers at the 

swimming pool aycliffe site. This is the only 

swimming pool I know with out proper showers 

11/11/2020 2:56 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Consett Member Consett leisure centre gym is too small maybe move 

cardio downstairs and expand weight/strength 

equipment to the upper section. At peak times the 

P
age 460



 

gym gets very crowded this would be a very welcome 

expansion by all members. Also consultation in the 

exact new equipment to members would be good. 

11/11/2020 2:55 PM Negative Infrastructure Newton 

Aycliffe 

Member NALC gym is fine but the changing facilities and 

shower area need a lot of work - the air conditioning 

in the men’s changing room never works  

11/11/2020 2:53 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Durham Member Are you going to expand Freeman's Quay pool to be 

a 50 metre one? 

11/11/2020 2:52 PM Positive Accessibility Durham Member Freeman's Quay has been brilliantly organised during 

COVID-19, well done DCC.  I haven't answered 

question 11 positively because the information about 

what is planned for Freeman's Quay didn't make me 

think I would be affected unless of course the 'play' 

equipment means much less lane swimming. 

11/11/2020 2:52 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Booking system for pool works well and should 

continue.  

11/11/2020 2:50 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Teesdale Member More detail on what classes when please. I work 

during the day, so there's no yoga and one Pilates 

class available at Teesdale. Also the gym needs more 

space for free weights and for floor exercises and 

stretches. 

P
age 461



 

11/11/2020 2:48 PM Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member for the chester-le-stree centre, be great if the gym 

was kitted out with propper wheelchair accessible 

equipment and the location had good close parking 

for disabled, the current one is always short of 

parking spaces. 

11/11/2020 2:48 PM Negative Infrastructure Shildon Member Only interested in what the plans are for Shildon 

Leisure Centre. Certainly, the car parking 

arrangements for football players/supporters. Who 

continually park on Middridge Lane, as opposed to 

the parking facilities provided. 

11/11/2020 2:47 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Water stations provided, encourage multi-use water 

bottles i.e. no water for sale inside the centre. Keep 

up the excellent cleaning down of machines by 

members & staff alike.  

11/11/2020 2:47 PM Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member Don’t need to change much at Chester-le-street it’s 

nice as is just needs modernising a little bit  

11/11/2020 2:44 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Costs must be realistic and very competitive.  Exercise 

machines must be quickly repaired when broken.  

11/11/2020 2:42 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Spennymoor Member It would be nice to have a leisure centre, but we’re 

have you been for the last 9 months? You stopped 

the children swimming and adults all swimming 

P
age 462



 

lessons. Stoped the activities in Spennymoor ie like 

taekwondo and other children’s activities  

11/11/2020 2:42 PM Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member Chester-le-Street can only benefit from a rebuild. The 

rooms for classes like spin or boot camp are way too 

small as is the gym.  There need to be more evening 

classes for working people. I would absolutely go 

more often if this was available as the leisure centre is 

placed locally for me. The swimming pool is ok but 

again there are hardly any options for adults/ families 

to swim in the evenings because lanes are taken for 

swim club or classes.  

11/11/2020 2:42 PM Positive Accessibility General Member As a parent trying to teach my children to swim is 

important. Child parent swimming should be allowed 

to continue during the pandemic and beyond. Not all 

parents want or can afford lessons for children. 

11/11/2020 2:41 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Wider availability for certain sessions for full time 

workers. I work 8 till 4.30 and struggle to make 

fitness classes which interest me or cannot go 

swimming on the days I want due to timetable issues.  

11/11/2020 2:39 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Teesdale Member Teesdale LC needs a larger free weight area. Currently 

they have one weight bench, ONE! So only one 

customer can do any exercises requiring a bench. 

Also the current barbell has a maximum of 30kg. I 

P
age 463



 

signed up expecting to be able to access to standard 

gym equipment, only to find that I can't do my 

workout because someone else is using the bench 

and the barbell is too light. Absolute let down. 

11/11/2020 2:39 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Dont raise the lane hire. It will kill small clubs like 

swimming and water polo.  

 

Please don't throw away community clubs for the 

sake of "harmonisation" 

11/11/2020 2:38 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Ironically the covid measures resulted in a much 

improved swimming experience in enforcing lane 

discipline and stopping large groups drifting around 

chatting  

11/11/2020 2:37 PM Negative Accessibility Spennymoor Member Spennymoor gym upper floor needs extending And 

making bigger.  A more cheaper exclusive “ 

spennymoor gym only “ price needs to be brought 

out. Heavily over priced 

11/11/2020 2:37 PM Negative Infrastructure Consett Member Consent Leisure Centre needs to have a sauna and 

steam room. Also updated weights machines and 

more variation  

11/11/2020 2:36 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Peterlee Member It is really positive to see the east of County Durham 

(Peterlee and Seaham) being prioritised for 

P
age 464



 

investment. As a resident of East Durham myself, I 

think people will be really grateful for new facilities 

and opportunities being presented to them.  

11/11/2020 2:35 PM Negative Accessibility General Member The current Thrive app is useless for booking 

anything.  Needs a total revamp and be more user 

friendly especially to the ‘silver surfers’ 

11/11/2020 2:35 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member I think the gym should be extended, it's a very small 

space for people to work out in. 

11/11/2020 2:33 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member After the closure of Glenhome and being a resident 

of crook Its been very disapinting that swimming has 

meant travelling to bishop and seeing a gradual 

declibe of the condition of that building has not been 

great. I hope you contuinue to offer pool services 

there as I fear I would stop swimming 5 times a week 

if i had to travel further  

11/11/2020 2:31 PM Negative Accessibility General Member I mainly use the center for yoga, the cpassnis always 

full and it is hard to book. I think the xenter would 

benefit from different yoga times and lots more 

sessions  

11/11/2020 2:31 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Dont use harlands for gym memberships, they are 

extremely hard to get intouch with,a nightmare to 

deal with and treat you with no respect, having the P
age 465



 

gym linked with such a company with a terrible trust 

pilot review all with the same issues are putting 

people of joining and staying with the gym, cannot 

fault gym staff at all purely harlands who collect 

payments. 

11/11/2020 2:05 PM Neutral Accessibility Crook Member I am in favour of the proposals as long as the 

provisions are accessible to all. The gym equipment 

allows for wheelchair users. Adequate changing and 

WC facilities for disabled users.  

 

 

 

Separately I believe there should be facilities 

considered for Crook town. As a town that is 

expanding the demand and need is there. 

11/11/2020 1:53 PM Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Member We vhave our swimming lessons at Consett or 

Stanlye but never family swim. we meet many other 

families from our children's school at Haven Point in 

South Shields - we pay to park there, eat there and 

swim there. If the family swimming offer was similar 

we would definitely do that within Durham. We're in 

Derwentside so ChesterLeStreet would be great for 

us but we'd also be happy to travel to Seaham etc for 

P
age 466



 

this. We generally go at least twice a month (pre 

lockdown). 

11/11/2020 1:39 PM Negative Accessibility Crook Member Why is there no consideration for any fitness facilities 

in Crook or Wear Dale.  It cost a fortune running back 

and forward in the car to get to classes, swimming, 

gym it seriously limits the amount of activities I can 

attend because of travel costs and time  

06/12/2020 3:23 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Earlier times. Due to covid I’m unable to use gym as 

opening time has changed from 7am to 7.30am. 

Would like gym to be open from 6am/6.30am at 

latest during weekdays  

06/12/2020 11:59 AM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member B/A pool needs to be built locally ,(Tech site) .. Town 

will die even more if centre moves to Tindale area. 

Keep things local, Less use of cars/better 4 

environment too. 

06/12/2020 7:21 AM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Please remember not all people have online access 

but should still be fully included in ability to book by 

phone. Please keep Woodhouse where it is. The 

traffic around the football stadium is already 

horrendous. And where is the space and parking 

availability at the college? P
age 467



 

 

When the schools are open the congestion there is 

atrocious. The current leisure centre is on convenient 

bus routes and is accessible on foot from the station. 

It is also far enough away from other facilities for the 

car park to be adequate. If you move to the 

suggested sites, the car park will be used by others 

for other purposes. 

05/12/2020 8:20 PM Neutral Engagement General Member please can you send me one out in the post or as an 

email. 

05/12/2020 7:36 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I've said it all. Leave Woodhouse swimming baths 

where it is just modify it get cafe back..... people used 

to go there even if not using pool gym, food food in 

Bishop.  Bring back 6 weeks school leave activities. 

That brought money in...... (sorry) u lot thick or 

something  

05/12/2020 7:30 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member I would prefer to remain at the existing site 

05/12/2020 6:55 PM N/A No comment N/A Member Nil 

05/12/2020 6:48 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I prefer the leisure centre at Woodhouse Close to 

remain at the existing site or move to Bishop 

Auckland College. 

P
age 468



 

05/12/2020 5:44 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member Location is most important for me so I can walk or 

cycle to the Woodhouse Close leisure centre  

05/12/2020 1:50 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Do not fix parts that are not broken and do not offer 

activities that you cannot provide parking for  

05/12/2020 1:35 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member I like a lot of people are worried about a location 

change.woodhouse LC has a loyal member base from 

youngsters to the elderly and  a location change 

would see a lot of people leave .this lesuire centre is 

in the heart of the community and should stay where 

it is 

05/12/2020 1:09 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member it would be ggod for the whole community in  bishop 

auckland 

04/12/2020 4:19 PM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

General Member I work within the Leisure Centre in a room hire I have 

heard of the proposed plans to the leisure by word 

going around and people inspecting the place so 

consultation really hasn't happened its just going 

ahead anyway, I support people with Mental 

health,disabilities, etc to improve their physical & 

mental health by exercise by using the room hire, this 

saves money to the government reduces medication 

encourages people back into community being able 

to access Volunteering and job opportunities, so now 

the proposed plans will get rid of our room and the 

P
age 469



 

negative impact that will do to people accessing our 

service in our local community  

04/12/2020 10:00 AM Negative Benefit of 

provision 

Peterlee Member I work in Mental health and Physical Activity, to 

improve the local community and I am based at 

Peterlee Leisure center, we hire a room, now we have 

heard through the Grapevine our Room /Office is to 

be Knocked down and there is no space for us at the 

Leisure center, We get referrals from local GPs and 

improve the mental health and Physical health of 

these Patients, this will be a sad loss to us and to the 

local Community, we have worked out of the Leisure 

centers at Seaham and Peterlee for over 12 years 

now. This will make a dramatic downturn to the 

community's mental and Physical health, and Put 

added pressure on the Local GPs. over the years we 

have saved over 2.4million in GP resources, 

medication and time, also getting people back to 

employment, working with the job center, police, 

drug and alcohol agencies, SHAME on the Durham 

County Council for not making Provisions for a most 

needed service especially now as our customer base 

is going to rise dramatically due to Covid 19 and the 

P
age 470



 

economic downturn. 

 

If you require any further information please contact 

me John Ber on 07910234171 or 

johnber@hotmail.co.uk 

02/12/2020 10:24 PM Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member Great idea for kids slides and splash zone in small 

pool as I travel to South Shields just to use these 

facilities, as there is nothing but a pool in Chester le 

street for my little boy and it’s to deep for him, would 

definitely visit center more often with these proposals 

in place.  

02/12/2020 12:09 PM Neutral Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Chester le Street Leisure Centre has recently been 

refurbished.  Why the desire to build a replacement? 

01/12/2020 9:26 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Bluetooth cardio machines would be good. Most 

people have smart watches now to connect to  

01/12/2020 8:05 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Weardale Member At Wolsingham Gym greater area for free weights 

would be a great improvement at the moment only 

two stations available. Additional area for exercises 

such as TRX and battle ropes would be a good 

P
age 471



 

addition, also space for stretching exercises such as 

'the farmers walk' would be beneficial. Access to the 

existing climbing wall would make good use use of 

the current amenities as part of the gym membership 

also. 

01/12/2020 5:58 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member I think Durham could extend its facilities, with a 

bowling alley and an ice rink.  

01/12/2020 5:54 PM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Spennymoor Member More swimming availability at Spennymoor during 

weekday, cleaner facilities that don't look run down, 

more children activities  

01/12/2020 5:38 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Use common sense in & around the centre as in 

space available for customers and spectators. Easy 

access and layout for all aged people to access as 

well as parking spaces. Don't clutter the centres with 

wasted space and advertising 

01/12/2020 8:20 AM Positive Infrastructure General Member It would be great to have a 50m pool that can be 

changed into 2 x 25m 2m depth - 0.1pools by the use 

of booms and movable floors this will allow children 

activities to take place in one section and classes, 

clubs, lessons ect in the other pool  

30/11/2020 8:50 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Daughter is in the swim club and need roped lanes to 

enable swim club to continue using the centre.  

P
age 472



 

Spectator seats.  Suitable to hold swim galas also.  

Which would make money for the centre through 

entrance fees and increase of use of cafe.   

30/11/2020 3:49 PM N/A No comment N/A Member Nothing to add  

30/11/2020 3:00 PM Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member The old civic centre site in Chester le Street should 

not be considered. There is a serious parking issue for 

residents of Newcastle Road caused by inconsiderate 

parking by Police personnel. Although a new leisure 

centre on the old civic centre site might have a paid 

car park users would avoid this & park on the 

footway along Newcastle Road causing more 

problems for residents trying to access their 

properties. I was a regular user of the current 

swimming pool in CLS until Covid struck & I am 

aware that the changing facilities there were 

upgraded to a very good standard 2 or 3 years ago. It 

would seem to be a serious waste of public money if 

these were demolished & rebuilt on a new site. The 

pool area seems excellent to me so any upgrading of 

other facilities would be best done around this. 

30/11/2020 2:12 PM N/A No comment N/A Member N/A 

30/11/2020 12:54 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Very dated carpet, wet room tiling and shower area.  

P
age 473



 

30/11/2020 12:18 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member we would love to see a new leisure centre and 

swimming pool in Chester le Street, it would be a 

huge advantage to the local community and would 

be well supported. 

30/11/2020 10:09 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member I would love to have an ice rink in Durham again. 

Children are getting interested in ice sports again 

30/11/2020 9:42 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Member It seems clear from the increased amount of lane 

swimming being available during the in-between 

lockdown period (rather than the general kids free-

for-all) and it's significant take-up that this has been 

greatly appreciated. Previously, during the day the 

only available time for lane swimming at Woodhouse 

Close has been lunchtime and serious swimmers were 

generally discouraged at other times. However, 

having now been able to swim over a range of times 

during the day and having seen the increased 

attendence by serious swimmers at all of these times 

it seems clear that there is a great demand for proper 

lane swimming over more than just 1 or two lanes. 

30/11/2020 1:02 AM Positive Infrastructure General Member Lets build a new centre 

29/11/2020 11:36 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member Nice warm with family shower and change rooms all 

in one  

P
age 474



 

29/11/2020 11:00 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Wide variety of Fitness classes needed at reasonable 

evening times  and throughout weekend  

29/11/2020 1:055 PM Negative Infrastructure Seaham Member Seaham needs a whole new outlook on heath and 

fitness. The centre is well overdue a rebuild with 

modern facilities, a pool, better fitness classes and 

sauna/steam and shower/changing facilities. 

29/11/2020 10:14 PM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Substantial changes required at Chester Le street 

with greater parking, relocation required 

29/11/2020 10:07 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Must have full size swimming pool with lanes 

29/11/2020 9:56 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Must have full size swimming pool with lanes 

P
age 475



 

29/11/2020 8:45 PM Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Member For me the main issue is cost. I am currently not a 

member of the council leisure centre as I do not feel 

there is an affordable membership for me and my 

family, especially when I consider the services and 

aesthetics of the place.  

 

 

 

There is no family membership option or one that 

gives you enough of a discount. I am in a family with 

one person working and one not. We are not entitled 

to benefits and so the cost of membership is just to 

high. Scenario's like this need to be taken into 

consideration when pricing.  

 

 

 

Family changing rooms in a communal area (not 

within the male or female changing rooms) is key. 

Bishop Auckland's family changing rooms are within 

the gender changing rooms. So a family of four either 

have to split or one parent take the kids to get them 

changed for a swim. I have two daughters under the 

age of five and my wife and I always had to split with 

one child each to get changed. We always visited 

P
age 476



 

with one bag with everyones stuff. So we would 

always have to mess about before hand to seperate 

clothes and find two sets of change for two different 

lockers. Very annoying, especially when trying to get 

dressed after and someone may have something you 

require for yourself or the child. Much easier if the 

family rooms were in a communal family area to 

make life that bit easier for all. 

 

 

 

Annoyingly there is no mention of providing services 

to Crook. Bishop Auckland is the centre I have to use. 

It would be great to be able to travel a short distance 

to Crook or even cycle there rather than drive to the 

other end of Bishop Auckland. Crook has sufficient 

space and population to warrant a leisure centre that 

would thrive. An option could be to partner with 

Crook Community Leisure to develop the site further 

and build a bigger gym. A swimming pool could 

easily be incorporated too. Then subsidising the 

membership fees would encourage locals to utilise 

the centre a lot more and make it a true hub for the 

town and outlying villages like mine. The centre has 

great space to then push team sports for all ages. P
age 477



 

 

 

 

Finally, I noticed comments on disabled parking bays 

but none for parent and child spaces or spaces being 

slightly bigger so than in supermarkets to make 

getting in and out of vehicles easier, especially with 

kids. Also there was no mention of including electric 

charging point spaces. I feel with any new leisure 

centre builds or redevelopments a fair amount of 

parking spaces should be offered to electric vehicles, 

especially with 2030 in mind. As their is bound to be 

an increase in the use of electric cars. I have a PHEV 

and would love to know that I can visit the leisure 

centre and plug in if needs be, meaning that the fact I 

have to use my car is at least in full electric. If this is 

added to your plans, and with the potential increase 

in EV's there should be some plan/way of informing a 

leisure centre user of when their vehicle is charged so 

that they can move it for someone else to plug in.  

P
age 478



 

29/11/2020 8:42 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member Think the idea is vital to give a boost the town centre 

and attract more visitors from outside the area. Old 

civic centre would be a great place to develop.  

29/11/2020 8:31 PM Positive Accessibility General Member Use of App to include contactless bookings and 

payments?  

 

App could also give reminders / updates on events or 

closures 

29/11/2020 8:02 PM Positive Finance General Member I would be interested in purchasing a lifefitness 

crosstrainer, treadmill if renewing.  

29/11/2020 7:29 PM Positive Infrastructure Durham Member Swimming access to 50m pool would be great for 

Durham and attract revenue from potential galas / 

events.  

29/11/2020 7:09 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member The Civic Centre site is the best location 

29/11/2020 7:05 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member I hope that more indoor and floodlit netball facilities 

will be included. It’s the fastest growing female sport 

in the country and we need more facilities across the 

county. 

29/11/2020 6:21 PM Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Member Full access to disabled customers and those with 

mobility issues necessary. Warmer main swimming P
age 479



 

pool at Chester-le-Street. At times it has been so cold 

hands and feet have virtually lost circulation!  

29/11/2020 6:18 PM Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Member I strongly agree with many members that the current 

Chester le street facilities should remain open during 

construction of any new buildings. The Civic site is 

ideal, the staff need to remain in work especially after 

the year we have all have 

29/11/2020 6:05 PM Negative Infrastructure General Member Would like to see adequate parking facilities  

29/11/2020 5:40 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member We are really excited about the proposal to build new 

and improved leisure facilities in Chester Le Street, it 

will be a huge success. 

29/11/2020 5:40 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Seaham needs a swimming pool 

29/11/2020 5:31 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member My son is part of Chester le street swimming club 

and I would love for the pool to remain as good as it 

can be for the children to remain local and represent 

Chester le street in all its galas. I feel proud to live in 

Chester le street so don’t want to lose the 25/50m 

pool and for it to just be a leisure pool... slides and 

activities would be a plus but not instead of. Our kids 

love the swim and compete and we have some 

P
age 480



 

amazing swimmers at the club. Thanks and good luck 

x 

29/11/2020 5:30 PM Positive General Chester-le-

Street 

Member It would be great for Chester le Street residents 

29/11/2020 5:25 PM Negative Accessibility General Member Make it cheap so all can use  

29/11/2020 5:13 PM Positive Infrastructure General Member Please can you consider a UV pool that is just for 

Lane swimming.  Then have kids swimming area 

separate.  Changing rooms should be poolside and 

not across a corridor.   

29/11/2020 5:13 PM N/A No comment N/A Member Na 

29/11/2020 5:07 PM N/A No comment N/A Member None 

29/11/2020 4:52 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Member Seaham needs a swimming pool. 

29/11/2020 4:47 PM Positive Benefit of 

provision 

General Member All of these proposals are much needed and much 

welcomed. The last 9 months have only proven more 

how important to both physical and mental wellbeing 

access to high quality pools and fitness centres is... 

without them so many people are lost. Don’t 

underestimate how much these new or updated P
age 481



 

facilities will be used. Put as much into the spaces as 

you can. Give the public as much access as possible 

to as many facilities as your funds will allow.  

29/11/2020 4:35 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Good to make refreshments available. 

29/11/2020 4:27 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member Will squash courts be included?  

29/11/2020 4:24 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Build on the civic centre land. 

29/11/2020 3:59 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Use the old civic centre site in Chester le Street, 

perfect place for new leisure centre 

29/11/2020 3:25 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member It would be great to have affordable offers for youth 

groups like Girlguiding to bring their groups to do 

certain activities, to fit with badges etc. These types 

of groups would love to be involved more with the 

centres including anything we can do to help with 

pictures for the buildings etc.  

P
age 482



 

29/11/2020 3:07 PM Negative Infrastructure Meadowfield Member I answered no to the questions about whether the 

proposals would make me use facilities more because 

none of the proposals appear to apply to 

Meadowfield.  Having air conditioning at 

Meadowfield would allow me to use the gym in hot 

weather (which I cannot currently manage if it's too 

hot as the heat makes me dizzy, which then makes 

using cardio equipment unsafe).  Some of the 

equipment at Meadowfield needs updating and it 

would be useful to have a third reclining bike.  There 

are only 2 and often they are both in use.  There are a 

couple of exercise bikes where you can move the 

resistance level up, but cannot move it back down 

again as part of a cool down.  There is no glute 

machine at Meadowfield. Parking is really important. I 

switched my membership from Freemans Quay to 

Meadowfield because Freemans Quay was so difficult 

to get to (infrequent bus service into Durham and 

nowhere to park if I drove - closure of Sands car park 

meant that I was going in and then having to go 

home again because both Walkergate and Prince 

Bishops car parks were full).  It is great that 

Meadowfield has free parking as it makes access 

much easier and makes the centre more affordable to 

use.  It is a shame that there is no swimming pool at P
age 483



 

Meadowfield as I used to use both when I was a 

member of Freemans Quay.  

29/11/2020 3:01 PM Negative Infrastructure Teesdale Member Could you please remove the charge for lockers at 

Teesdale - you need a locker, leaving belongings in 

the changing room isn’t safe. You don’t have to pay 

at Spennymoor so why should you at Teesdale? Also, 

mixed showers on the swimming side are not 

suitable, especially if you need a proper shower 

before going to work. Having a facility where there is 

a bench with mirror and good lighting (for putting on 

makeup) and with sockets (for straighteners etc 

which is very common on the continent) in female 

change would also make it easier to use the facilities 

before work or at lunchtime. I have to time swimming 

to fit after work because it’s too much of a hassle 

getting ready for work after. Make it easier for people 

P
age 484



 

who are working to use the facilities and more might 

come. 

29/11/2020 2:55 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Member Leisure centre needs to stay where it is as easy to get 

too. Any further away then will struggle to get to the 

centre 

29/11/2020 2:34 PM N/A No comment N/A Member None 

29/11/2020 2:13 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member In my opinion the pool is key, the size is perfect for 

Chester le street, and the way it’s used is traditional 

and very friendly, in a north east way. I doubt any one 

here wants a faceless London style technology 

approach, adding activities is brilliant, but staff and 

pool are what we Turn up for   

29/11/2020 1:15 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Member If possible some good unusual fitness classes other 

then the usual culprits. Such as pole fitness, aqua 

pole , boogie bounce on the trampolines, skinny pigs 

? Bungee fitness ? Something different something to 

entice people in :)  

P
age 485



 

29/11/2020 11:33 AM Negative Infrastructure Peterlee Member Could we please have air con in the gym at Peterlee? 

In summer it is very close!  

29/11/2020 11:14 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Spennymoor Member Would be FANTASTIC to have a full size astroturf 

pitch in the Spennymoor area.  

29/11/2020 10:37 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Consett Member Consett has no bowling and very little access for 

wellness and activities for older children- proposals 

sound amazing but unsure where it would all go! 

Desperate for pool to come back ! 

29/11/2020 10:31 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Please include an ice rink in Durham 

29/11/2020 9:58 AM Positive General General Member Great news to hear let's crack on with the 

improvements  

29/11/2020 9:53 AM Negative Provision of 

activity 

Meadowfield Member Need more variety at Meadowfield 

29/11/2020 9:34 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Member I currently live in Crook & therefore have to travel out 

of town for swimming. Crooks swimming pool was 

demolished years ago but I feel it would be really 

beneficial for the town to rebuild another one, there 

is a lot of desire for one within the local community. 

My partner is also a football coach (children) but has 

to hold his football sessions of out town as there are 

no 3G pitches to rent in Crook. There is huge demand 

P
age 486



 

for children’s football in this town & I feel Crook & 

the community would benefit hugely from this. 

Health & well being is extremely important & at the 

fore front of people’s mind at the moment so 

ensuring crook has the same opportunities available 

as other towns in the region would be a great start to 

get people on a healthy track to a new healthier 

lifestyle  

29/11/2020 9:03 AM N/A No comment N/A Member N/a 

29/11/2020 8:59 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Consett Member Consett baths is imperative  

29/11/2020 08:37 Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member Such a shame you haven’t consider building an ice 

facility for children to enjoy family skating, junior ice 

hockey and figure skating.  Go see the enjoyment, 

fun and happiness that Billingham Forum brings to 

the people who visit... a real community of people 

being active!  We need the in Durham! 

29/11/2020 8:23 AM Negative Infrastructure Teesdale Member I do not think enough is proposed for Teesdale. It is 

an area with very little gym/pool provision and so is 

highly used, but the condition and standards in the 

changing room is extremely poor. We pay the same 

P
age 487



 

membership as other Durham leisure centres but the 

centre is very below par on the hygiene front.  

29/11/2020 8:22 AM Negative Infrastructure Teesdale Member Teasdale gym is dated and shabby, needs really 

doing up 

29/11/2020 8:19 AM Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Member Well done for looking to upgrade facilities in Chester 

le Street  

29/11/2020 8:19 AM Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Member Parking and access is a real problem at chester-le-

street. Would be better moving it to purpose built 

site with sufficient parking etc. Current site isn’t 

suitable 

28/11/2020 10:58 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Consett Member A ten pin bowling area would be great for Consett, 

however, it appears there won’t be one there.  

 

It’s also disappointing to know that the pool at 

Consett is not able to open.  

28/11/2020 3:02 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member The one main activity which Durham City really lacks 

snd was one we excelled in and produced the best 

teams snd individuals in the country is an ICE RINK 

not only for Figure skating and ice hockey, social 

skating for young snd old is key. I am 70 and since 

Durham closed I have had to visit Telford, Whitley 

Bay, Billingham, Milton Keynes for pure exercise, 

P
age 488



 

skating is better for our knees than running at this 

age. I started at Durham in 1959 and a great 

environment to keep all ages fit. Please consider this. 

There are many perfect sites for this. Thank you. 

28/11/2020 9:40 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Member When i was younger we had the ice rink in Durham 

where we wouod frequent several times a week and 

watch and play ice hockey. It was a great place to 

meet new friends and excercise whilst having fun. 

This would, i feel, be more benficial to encouraging 

activity as we have plenty of gyms already.  

06/12/2020 4:34 PM Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

I would like Woodhouse Close Leisure to stray where 

it is but with improved disabled parking exclusively 

for use of blue badge holders and not for all and 

sundry which has been the case in the past. 

P
age 489



 

06/12/2020 1:37 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

For the Bishop Auckland facility: 

- I hope there will be a sports hall (I know there are 

local schools that have facilities but that is not the 

same).  

 

- My organisation would be interested in renting an 

office space within the new leisure centre on a long 

term basis? 

 

- Premier Education would be interested in running 

adult and children's activities and holiday camps at 

the new facilities. 

 

- Ensure there is a classroom and office space 

available for hire. (Companies can then run 

training/staff days at the facility, so classroom based 

first then have a physical activity). 

 

Trevor Smith 

07775 456800 

tsmith@premier-education.com 

06/12/2020 10:51 AM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Non-

Member 

Should knock old one down and build a brand new 

one there or somewhere else.  

P
age 490



 

06/12/2020 9:28 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

An ice rink would be great 

05/12/2020 4:19 PM Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

I have strong opinions that the facility should be 

available to everyone and therefore should be 

accessible via public transport. The present site at 

Bishop Auckland fits that criteria as buses stop there 

from most of the local towns from where people 

would wish to travel for leisure facilities. This would 

encourage those on lower income who do not own a 

car. The present site is also within walking distance 

from the whole town area of Bp A. It is also not far 

from the railway station. 

 

This facility is to be for a very wide population and 

mist be conveniently situated. Sorry I do not know 

very much about the other areas of the County so 

cannot comment on that. 

05/12/2020 2:22 PM Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Non-

Member 

 Make the changing rooms family friendly and 

provided enough adequate free parking for the use 

of the Woodhouse Close Centre 

05/12/2020 1:37 PM Positive Infrastructure General Non-

Member 

Hope the swimming pool will be full size and not a 

play pool 

P
age 491



 

05/12/2020 11:16 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Would love to see badminton/ soft tennis courts  

04/12/2020 7:59 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

DCC has neglected areas like Crook. It as if people in 

this area are not important as there is no mention at 

all of Crook, Willington or Tow Law. This is dreadful. 

We are an area of high deprivation and the Council 

do not care  

04/12/2020 5:28 PM Positive Location of 

facilities 

General Non-

Member 

Needs to be central 

03/12/2020 7:08 PM Negative Engagement General Non-

Member 

Give information or signpost to where the full report 

or indeed the rationale for justification to spend so 

much money on leisure when the Council say they 

cannot afford services for vulnerable persons. 

Furthermore if questions are not relevant why say 

must be answered unless it is to attain the answer 

you want 

30/11/2020 9:24 PM Negative Engagement Crook Non-

Member 

DCC must start to listen to the people of Crook. They 

have let us down badly 

30/11/2020 9:02 PM Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

Good ch le st is a great place to live in the N.East but 

needs a investment in an affordable high standard 

Gym Swimming Baths community hub with large 

affordable parking Riverside 

P
age 492



 

30/11/2020 12:35 PM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Non-

Member 

• There is no mention of Crook, Willington or Tow 

Law in the Leisure Transformation document 

 

• There are no DCC facilities in Crook we actively 

support the facilities at Crook Community Leisure 

 

• It is too far to travel to any DCC leisure facilities 

 

• The swimming pool in Crook was demolished in 

2011 and we need a swimming pool in Crook. 

Children are not meeting the curriculum for 

swimming as a large part f their time is spent in 

travelling. 

 

• We need additional indoor facilities for sports, 

leisure and functions. 

 

• We need a 3G facility in Crook to enable football, 

rugby and hockey to help meet the shortfall in 

County Durham  

 

• Public transport is expensive and virtually non- 

existent at night  

 

P
age 493



 

• The Peases West site is ideal to meet the needs of 

the Community   

30/11/2020 2:19 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Durham Non-

Member 

I think the west side of Durham is currently lacking 

any fitness facilities. The closest option is Durham 

City. Somewhere such as Bearpark, Langley Park 

would be great.  

29/11/2020 10:53 PM Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

I moved to Chester le street about 6 years ago and 

visited the swimming pool. I remember thinking how 

tired and uninviting it looked, not much parking too. 

Very pleased that the council is considering building  

new one.  

29/11/2020 10:24 PM Positive Accessibility General Non-

Member 

I will look forward to start using facilities again once 

they're finished 

29/11/2020 9:47 PM Neutral General General Non-

Member 

Are they going ahead? 

P
age 494



 

29/11/2020 9:36 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Non-

Member 

If a pool was provided for Seaham it would be a huge 

success 

29/11/2020 6:01 PM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Non-

Member 

Ten pin bowling would be fab for Chester Le Street . 

Cafe facilities (loved the cafe when I was younger). 

Hubby would like to see squat racks, leg press, bar 

bells, free weights, hack squats in gym facilities. 

Option to buy supplements,  protein shakes etc 

29/11/2020 5:14 PM Positive Infrastructure General Non-

Member 

Jacuzzi and sauna would be nice too.  

29/11/2020 5:02 PM Negative Engagement Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

I was told interest in an ice rink would have to be 

proven. The petition which was started recieved 

nesrly 3000 signatures . Anyone at the council taking 

any notice of its residents ?  

29/11/2020 2:51 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

Really need an accessible leisure centre with parking 

and on bus route   

29/11/2020 2:48 PM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

I am very overweight and often get injured 

exercising. If there was a safe, encouraging, 

understanding way to use services I would.  

29/11/2020 1:52 PM Positive Infrastructure General Non-

Member 

Good car parking facilities needed too 

P
age 495



 

29/11/2020 1:21 PM Negative Engagement General Non-

Member 

It would be lovely to be able to view the proposed 

changes to each centre rather than just a general - 

increase activities offered,  

 

To know whether it would or wouldn’t benefit each 

person as it sounds like it would be of benefit but if 

all the classes or activities were not suitable or what 

we are interested in then you can’t really get a true 

picture of how it would benefit people (I’m looking 

mainly at abbey sports centre)  

29/11/2020 12:52 PM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Exciting possibilities. What about follow-ups per site? 

e.g. Barnard Castle (exercise-facility [macines, 

weights] is tiny) 

29/11/2020 12:47 PM Negative General Stanley Non-

Member 

Why is Stanley not included.  Gateshead councils 

leisure provision far exceeds that of Durham. 

29/11/2020 11:33 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

I'd definitely use the facilities if Ice hockey was one of 

the activities 

29/11/2020 11:15 AM Positive Provision of 

activity 

General Non-

Member 

Would love to have women only sessions too as I am 

currently a member of a ladies only gym  

P
age 496



 

29/11/2020 10:57 AM Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Durham (Ice 

Rink) 

Non-

Member 

Durham really needs an ice rink! Skating is a sport 

that all almost ages can participate in socially or in a 

class based environment. There's a skating show on 

ITV every year which attracts 5/6 million audience 

average a year and sells skating an attractive activity. 

Ice hockey also remains extremely popular. PLEASE 

BUILD A RINK! Durham deserves to have a rink 

again!! Bellingham and Whitley Bay are so far away - 

there's a huge catchment area that coils potentially 

use a rink in County Durham. 

29/11/2020 9:49 AM Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Non-

Member 

As stated I live in a town where you chose to stop 

supporting fitness. Locals have kept it going but 

support to provide more services would be good 

29/11/2020 9:33 AM Negative Accessibility General Non-

Member 

I feel that more use should be made of adjoining 

community centres to encourage more community 

participation and socialising  

29/11/2020 9:29 AM Negative Accessibility Durham Non-

Member 

Please improve Abbey leisure centre.it needs a major 

update and better opening times. I would then use it 

but not prepared to travel further and freeman’s quay 

just brings difficulties with parking, traffic etc 

29/11/2020 7:34 AM Negative General Crook Non-

Member 

Crook needs to be included in these plans. 

P
age 497



 

28/11/2020 1:53 PM Negative Accessibility Seaham Non-

Member 

Seaham is my local leisure centre and is in rapid 

decline. I spend an awful lot of money travelling out 

of town for gym/fitness facilities and family  activities 

as does my husband. There are currently no leisure 

facilities in the town that I would spend my money 

on. I travel into Sunderland daily and frequently use 

their leisure facilities and swimming pools for my 

children’s swimming lessons. I would not travel to 

nearby Peterlee to use theirs. 

N/A N/A Negative Engagement Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Concentrate on lower socioeconomic areas and less 

on suburban middle class. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown 50m pool ? 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I’m happy with any location 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Either leave it where it is OR use civic site. Stop taking 

the park! 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown As long as they provide the same facilities and have 

adequate car parking all three sites are the same to 

me. 

P
age 498



 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The current site for Woodhouse Close Leisure centre 

is ideal.  If it moved to Tindale you would potentially 

lose a lot of members to OneGym or Grants Gym.  

Moving it to the college - would this mean building 

on the existing college fields? This would be a real 

shame as there are not many green spaces left in 

Bishop Auckland for residents to enjoy. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown Don’t attend those site so have no opinion on 

refurbishments 

N/A N/A Neutral Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Would keeping the centre on the present site entail 

demolition of current centre before new centre is 

constructed? 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The Bishop Auckland College site, is adjacent to 2 

large secondary schools.  Traffic is a large problem in 

that area especially on peak school drop off and pick 

up times.  Building a leisure centre in this location 

would increase traffic build up. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Ensure parking at whichever site is limited to leisure 

centre users. Consider users travelling from further 

afield and ensure ample parking is included. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Good location 

P
age 499



 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Presumably building at the present site could 

proceed without the need to close the centre. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown My preference would be the college site. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The Tindale Crescent location is in a much better 

location and assume better parking facilities also. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale is the worst place to relocate the leisure 

centre in my opinion 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I believe the Riverside site it too far removed from 

the town centre; the 2 other locations still allow close 

access to the town 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Site Easy to access via car but not public transport. 

Possible increased traffic around local cut throughs. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Whichever location is chosen it is important not to 

have any significant gap between access to a facility 

within the town 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown no 

P
age 500



 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Please be ambitious and modern re the architecture. 

The civic centre was not a bland building and tis is a 

great opportunity to put the town back on the map.. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale Crescent is not as accessible aas the other 2 

sites especially for young people after their 

school/college day is over. The new leisure centre 

should be central to the town, not located on the 

outskirts. Think of it as being part of educational as 

well as physical benefits 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown Not really. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Just leave it where it is and as it is but with new 

equipment. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown The riverside is not as accessible to all as the other 

two 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown What would the space of the current leisure centre be 

used for? The old youth club building (now 

demolished) was just grassed over when this could 

have been made into parking. Not using the leisure 

centre site for something else would be a waste of 

the space P
age 501



 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown While either the existing or the college sites are vastly 

superior to the tindale wilderness retail park. 

N/A N/A Negative Engagement Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Regarding the existing Chester Le Street site.  My 

mam recently moved to Chester Le Street.  I 

mentioned going to the pool one day, she didn’t 

even know Chester had a pool. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Cricket ground location too far from bus route 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Brown field sites should be used, not new land and 

the question of congestion on a main arterial route 

needs to be considered 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I would greatly prefer investment in the current site, 

or investment in the town centre, rather than taking 

out of the town 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown All of the three sites would be suitable for a leisure 

centre and we would easily be able to access all three 

sites. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Surely the existing sites are best as they are where a 

leisure centre is currently based. 

P
age 502



 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I do not think there should be any more 

development of the riverside. I think that if leisure 

classes clashed with a cricket match the traffic would 

be horrible, and might put people off going to the 

pool. Also the car parking fees are always increased 

for cricket matches, and other events which would 

also put people off going.  I personally would prefer 

the leisure centre to stay where it is, there is parking, 

though more would be useful, and it is far enough 

from the front street that the car park doesn’t get full 

of shoppers or people dropping off/ picking up 

children from school.  I think using the site of the old 

civic centre might be ok, but am not sure about 

parking and traffic around the site. If the car parking 

charges for the eventual site a prohibitive I think that 

will definitely put people off attending the leisure 

centre at all, as lower paid and pensioners will be 

priced out of attendance 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Option to stay at existing by far the best! Library to 

be included like Aycliffe.  Staff at Woodhouse are fab 

it has got got a nice homely atmosphere. 

P
age 503



 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown The old Civic Centre site is centrally located but is 

surrounded by residential properties. Would these 

people want a leisure Centre and the associated 

traffic and possible noise on there doorstep? There is 

also senior accommodation adjacent to the site. The 

Riverside site is to my mind only suitable for people 

who would drive there due to its fairly secluded 

position. Anyone walking or using public transport 

would have to cross the extremely busy A167. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Options 1 & 2 are central CLS locations with good 

transport links so should be easily accessible by all 

members. Option 3 is somewhat further away so 

could be restrictive to members who don’t drive. 

Options 1 & 2 also enjoy close proximity to the local 

schools. My preferred choice would be to maintain 

the current location with the only concern being what 

happens in the interim whilst the site is being 

rebuilt/regenerated. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I think that central locations are more 

favourable.Riverside  is less accessible from a safety 

point of view for children who are old enough to use 

facilities without supervision but who would have 

some dangerous roads to cross. 

P
age 504



 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Parking and routes to the centres being via busy 

roads at peak times 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Moving this out of town would be a poor decision. 

The proposed area of football club is already 

congested and the local communities would lose a 

facility which offers something where there isn’t 

much. There are already private gyms near the 

tindale area which would also be affected. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Would preferred the riverside park option, or at a 

push the existing site but definitely not on the former 

Civic Centre site.  Access is bad and all surrounding 

roads too busy as it is. 

N/A N/A Negative Finance Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I do wonder where the money is coming from given 

the difficult economic situation we are presently in. 

N/A N/A Positive General Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Please take a long term view and adopt proposals 

with longevity. I can remember the present site from 

new when I was a child and attended regularly, I  

took my children there and they attended through 

school and now use it (pre Covid) even more as 

someone now retired. 

N/A N/A Neutral Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Locations are less relevant than when they would be 

open P
age 505



 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Make sure there is enough parking. Just because you 

think we will walk, bicycle or take public transport we 

are all busy people and run out of time. Parking is a 

huge factor, don't mess this up like you have at the 

new new venue propose in Durham to house the 

archives. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown Pick the location in Seaham that has room for a 

swimming pool! 

N/A N/A Positive Provision of 

activity 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Excellent staff 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Crook Unknown The council seems to continually invest money in the 

same places, all if these facilities are too far away for 

me and my family and friends to easily access there 

should be a leisure centre rebuilt in crook, our centre 

was demolished when there was deemed not enough 

money and was the only leisure centre in the country 

to be forcibly closed against the wishes of the 

residents there for should be first in the list fir new 

leisure facilities. There has been nothing done with 

the old site and the park has been left to rack and 

ruin. It is a blur time money was invested to improve 

the leisure facilities for crook bring the only only 

town where they were taken away and replaced with 

P
age 506



 

nothing, a forgotten town. For the Heath and well-

being being, including mental health if our citizens 

it’s is vital we get some support as other leisure 

facilities are too far away to access. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale crescent would be less easily accessible for 

me. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown I have a question more than a comment. Why is it 

becoming an option of moving the location even in 

discussion? The land already has enough space to 

accommodate many facilities in a newer hopefully 

bigger building. I hope this is not yet again same old 

same old free up land for building houses. Seaham 

does not need more housing. It needs a swimming 

pool and state of the art leisure facilities to offer 

more to tourist in the area. My son has a talent for 

sports running being one of them why not provide 

these facilities and at a very central location to the 

WHOLE of Seaham not just Seaham harbour. 

P
age 507



 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Unknown We really need some local facilities for crook and 

people living further up into weardale 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Parking should be free for users. Slides must be 

included to attract children to learn to swim.  Site 

must be open late as in 10.30 each day. Moving it 

outside of Chester le street will mean those living in 

Lumley etc will have even further to travel. The only 

place acceptable to me would be the riverside 

complex. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Existing location is on main bus route so everyone 

can access it easily. Been at the collage may put 

people off going. And near the football club is not as 

acessable and gets conjested now 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Plenty  of land for possible swimming pool and 

outdoor  sports 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown A dual carriageway is needed to lead up from the 

brewers fayre 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Either modernisation of old building or building new 

would benefit our community 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Looking forward to a new Centre 

P
age 508



 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale is too far out and far too busy. A new leisure 

centre needs to be where it is easily accessible to 

people from all walks of life 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown none 

N/A N/A Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Would be brilliant to have a range of fitness classes 

all in one venue at various times of the day and also 

at weekends/evenings for people at work. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Keep it where it is 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Please please please don’t move the gym to tindale 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown At the present site, parking would be less likely to be 

used by shoppers 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown I think the current site is the best of the three, DCC 

need to consider having swimming pool facility 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown In line with Covid-19 guidelines, we need outside 

courts in order for us to be able to play netball so it is 

imperative that we have an outdoor space to train 

P
age 509



 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I hope that you make the facility big enough to allow 

classes to be carried out in social distanced measures 

and that you also develop the old site (if you opt to 

move to a new site) into outdoor recreational 

facilities like football pitches, all weather pitches 

(where outdoor classes can be carried out) and 

maybe even a well lit running track that is available 

for community use during the darker months when 

outdoor running can be more dangerous 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Looking forward to getting a new leisure centre...just 

need the cinema sorting to compliment this 

investment in leisure facilities in the town 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Our preferred location would be the existing site. Our 

family, who are all gym members and regular users, 

feel that the riverside option is less viable due to 

conflicting issues that would arise due to the cricket 

ground, pub, and private  gym crating congestion. It 

is also less accessible for us by foot and we’d suggest 

for a number of other town dwellers. There is also a 

potential conflict with local residents who have issues 

with visitors to the park and ground parking in their 

streets. 

P
age 510



 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown The best option is the existing Seaham site due to its 

central location and abundance of room to provide 

more facilities and ample car parking. 

N/A N/A Positive Finance Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown As above. There has already been investment in the 

current sit so surely it would make more sense to 

keep investing money in this unless the building is 

becoming financially unviable? 

N/A N/A Positive Provision of 

activity 

Seaham Unknown Would be great to see a sensory room within the 

centre 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Peterlee Unknown Peterlee is the main town and yet only half heated 

improvements have been made.   It is a more 

popukated area and needs more regeration 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The plot opposite the football club is too far out the 

way for those who don't drive or take public 

transport. The site on the Collage grounds would 

take over the fields used for sport and leisure by the 

local community, it is not on a busy bus route and 

would be used by the collage for lessons, would 

there be enough classes avaliable for the general 

public at all times?? 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Unknown How about one in Crook? 

P
age 511



 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown For me it's present location is perfect 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown the traffic especially at the tindal site is horrible as is. 

And the area by the college at school times is also 

horrific 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Convenient for public transport and town centre. 

Easily accessible for residents of Chester Le Street. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The location I have selected is on my work commute. 

I wouldn’t use it in the other proposed location due 

to volume of traffic at the time I would be travelling 

to it. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Consider that not everyone can drive. Public 

transport links will be a key issue for me to be able to 

access facilities designed to help and inspire good 

physical and mental health, please let everyone be 

able to enjoy the vision. 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown leisure centres should be considered in any area with 

high population density to support health and 

wellbeing of the community. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown If you decided on site 2 or 3 you would have to 

ensure bus services were improved 

P
age 512



 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I think it needs to be kept in town for accessibility for 

people who dont drive 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Although remaining on the current site I think is the 

best option, a new site would allow the use of the 

centre while new build takes place. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown We need to keep leisure facilities in the town, not 

move yet more to out of town Tindale. College site 

offers more scope than current site. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Only the current site has external facilities and also 

moving to either of the proposed sites  will 

negatively impact on already stretched parking 

around the toen centre 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Seaham Unknown It should remain where it is especially since this 

pandemic leisure centres have close thru huge field 

had played and important role allowing outdoor 

fitness for many people in the community 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Please, include in any leisure centre in Bishop 

Auckland a real swimming pool, similar the the 

present one, not something with waves and slides. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown It seems daft to move to a location with no field or 

space to have a swimming pool P
age 513



 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown Personally I have no issue with any of the proposed 

sites so it would be interesting to see what proposals 

are in the pipeline for the existing site. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown The centres need adequate parking 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown If the leisure centre were to move to any of the other 

proposed sites, parking would be an issue. It should 

stay where it is for this reason 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown I want Seaham to have a swimming pool again 

please. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown Why move there is enough land to build new centre 

on 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

General Unknown We need more activities in the areas ice rink, 

swimming sauna ect at reasonable prices 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown Other sites raise issues such as parking, seafront 

congestion and closures on event days. The current 

site is large with ample parking and keeps the whole 

of Seaham developed rather than jut the sea front. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown There is already 2 gyms in the harbour! Leave the 

leisure centre where it is! Seaham is bigger than just 

the harbour! Spread the facilities about the town 

P
age 514



 

instead of being obsessed with getting everything 

near the front! Think of the local people for a change! 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Leave it where it is , parking etc would be a 

nightmare if moved 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Traffic at the college is horrendous now that would 

be a nightmare.  Tindale seems to be getting 

everything at the expense of the Town, if it goes 

there I wouldn't go as it is too far to walk and im 

disabled. 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Yes we desperately need a swimming pool 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Seaham Unknown We need a swimming pool as this activity can help all 

seaham residents young old and disabled 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Unknown Crook has no DCC Leisure facilities, apart from CCL 

which has minimum facilities. Crook would greatly 

benefit from a swimming pool and other facilities 

which would encourage the residents to take part in 

a healthier lifestyle. We had a swimming pool which 

closed on 2011 which was greatly used by the 

community and myself, the closure had a big impact 

on the town and left us with nothing for years. Our 

public transport is poor and can be difficult for us to P
age 515



 

travel to other facilities especially of an evening and 

weekends. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown The deneside location is ideal with plenty of space to 

work with moving it down the harbour area will not 

work in our opinion with the limited space 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown a more suitable location and better facilities would 

attract more of a range of users 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Crook Unknown There is no point building new leisure centres in 

locations that already have these facilities. Crook has 

no DCC facilities and hasnt done since 2011, this has 

left the local children without the facilities to be able 

to learn essential life skills in swimming. Ma y local 

residence do not have the ability to travel to the 

nearest pools and rely on public transport which is 

poor in this area, especially on evening gas and 

weekends when most families will be using the 

facilities. I believe that DCC need to look into 

locations which lack facilities rather than replacing 

what is already there. 

P
age 516



 

N/A N/A Neutral Infrastructure Seaham Unknown if you move it what going to happen to the land , will 

you be building house on to it 

N/A N/A Neutral Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Swimming pool plans to go ahead? 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown KEEP IT WHERE IT IS!! LET THE HARBOUR HAVE ITS 

SHOPS AND HOSPITALITY VENUES. KEEP OUR 

LEISURE CENTRE IN AN IDEAL AREA WHERE THERE 

ARE  BIG FIELDS, FUNNILY ENOUGH IDEAL FOR 

OUTDOOR SPORTING ACTIVITIES. NICE SIZED CAR 

PARK. THE SPACE IS THERE IF YOU EVER WANTED TO 

EXTEND. 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Seaham defiantly need improved facilities which are 

easily accessible. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Seaham Unknown Existing site seaham swimming pool would be great 

as I have two autistic children and it would be so 

much easier to take them swimming if we had one in 

the area and in the existing centre 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown The proposed other locations are not realistic venues 

for a leisure centre I feel. Especially considering the 

football fields & pitches in the current locations. 

P
age 517



 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown Deneside leisure centre needs to be rebuild where it 

is now not down the harbour. It would be a tragic 

loss to Seaham if it was moved i would start protest 

to stop this. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown If the leisure was to move anyone else in seaham it 

would be a down size, the site it is on now is perfect 

to redesign the leisure club on the grass adding to 

the facilities. We do not want to lose a facility and the 

land that comes with it for housing 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Regarding Seaham Leisure Centre proposals. Due 

purely to the space needed for parking I think the 

current site would be the better option. However just 

to throw an idea into the process. When using the 

existing site, as part of the development what about 

moving the entrance from The Avenue, where there 

are road calming humps/narrowing and residential 

house walls/gardens to the more open Graham Way 

using a T junction & traffic lights. This may also help 

minimize any complaints from Avenue residents 

during the ongoing renovation/building work 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Other sites are unsuitable for large leisure centre 

facility, sports pitches and parking. Seafront area is 

P
age 518



 

busy enough without adding more traffic both 

footfall and cars 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown as long as a swimming pool was added I dont mind 

which site it would be at 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown i have never found any problems with the current 

location 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Seaham Unknown Seaham need the leisure center to remain where its 

current location is as it is central, and has good 

sirrounding area for outdoor activities, a pool would 

be a great facility to have for people of all ages 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Should have a swimming pool 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown The Civic centre site , if not used for the Leisure 

Centre would be ripe for development or housing 

N/A N/A Neutral Engagement Seaham Unknown When I be contacted considering I live in Frances st 

and the only building next to the land 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Parking and further congestion in Seaham if 

alternative sites usef 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown There is space at the existing site for a swimming 

pool which will benefit greatly since the old high P
age 519



 

school was knocked down and the new high school 

does not have a swimming pool  a local swimming 

pool to learn. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown It is essential that there is plenty of parking and near 

the centre of Bishop Auckland and definitely not near 

the retail park. The siting of which has done much 

damage to the Town. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Don't move it to the dick top or st John's square. 

Parking is very limited with the things already there. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Seaham leisure centre is outdated and has been 

totally neglected for the 30 years I have used it. It 

deserves to be refurbed and possibly extended with a 

much needed swimming pool. 

N/A N/A Neutral Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Are they easily accessible by publuc transport? 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Keep it where it is, masses of space there, parking, 

fields for outdoor activities, needs a complete 

overhaul, this should have been updated years ago. 

Sunderland facilities are 100% better and we pay the 

most council tax in the country. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Opting for the dock top or St John’s Square sites 

would have an awful impact in terms of congestion 

P
age 520



 

and parking. The town centre area is already too busy 

in those respects. 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Swimming pool facility would be great 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure General Unknown No need to move just improve!!!! 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Not keen on the Tindale site. Everything seems to be 

going to Tindale, at the moment. The College site is 

more difficult for many people to get to. 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The college would be the next best option, moving it 

to tindale would be a terrible idea, the congestion 

there is already awful. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Moving the site would cause more problems for 

parking especially on a weekend when Seaham front 

is getting busier with visitors and there’d be not 

grounds for sport 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown We need a swimming pool 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Seaham needs a swimming pool 

P
age 521



 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Don't move the leisure centre to somewhere there is 

already limited parking and congestion. It would 

benefit everyone more to leave it where it is and 

actually turn it into a leisure centre! 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Present location is fit for purpose, could do with free 

parking to reduce costs and increase inclusivity so all 

can use the services 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown The present site offers much more opportunity for 

multi use development. The other options offer a 

much smaller space for facilities and also parking. I 

think Seaham really needs a swimming pool 

alongside the opportunity for other wellbeing and 

fitness activities. I think this is a great opportunity to 

get the offer right. It would be madness to build 

something that offered less than what is currently 

available. The current site is a good location and 

provides the space necessary to accommodate all 

interests. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I feel that where it is now is not large enough for a 

larger centre, also the car park is used by other 

people not using the centre and would have to be 

made much larger. 

P
age 522



 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I presume there was no other suitable sites in Bishop 

Auckland. A site nearer to Newgate Street might have 

put something back into that end of town 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Not ideal ...no car parking or space to build an ideal 

gym for the seaham community 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Crook Unknown Can there be and expansion of the CCL site at Crook? 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown I feel the 2 other locations are not well suited. The 

spaces dont provide much outdoor space and 

parking in the harbour area is already bad enough 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Would be a good site to place new facility, there is 

already a gym at riverside and a new leisure centre 

may create conflict, plus during the summer the 

riverside site become extremely busy and congested 

this would add to the issue. If the site was where the 

civic centre was there is no other large venues to 

create congestion. The exciting site is too small as 

parking facilities don’t meet demand. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown The proposed locations could in my opinion be used 

for more tourist/hospitality for Seaham. The spaces 

presented do not seem big enough to support sports 

fields or expansion and could be restrictive for 

parking. Although ideally people could walk/bus P
age 523



 

most of us use facilities before/after work so parking 

os essential. The proposed sites are already heavily 

congested with traffic on summers days, organised 

events and weekend boot-sales so they would cause 

further problems with traffic along the seafront and 

surrounding areas. The current site is well known to 

Seaham and has never been an issue. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Current site has enough space for facilities needed 

and traffic parking this is the better option. Seaham 

needs swimming facilities. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown I know that one of the proposed areas near the new 

library is often getting vandalised, trees were planted 

and ripped out, the car park does fill up and vehicles 

end up parking in front of peoples homes and the 

new leisure centre would only add to the traffic. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown no 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Seaham needs a swimming pool. We are a huge town 

to be missing such a basic health need 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown My first preference is option 1 the existing site where 

there is most space for building and parking without 

increasing traffic problems in the centre of town and 

particularly along the sea front, North Terrace. I 

P
age 524



 

would strongly object to option 2, the dock top car 

park, as this would have an extremely negative effect 

by increasing traffic and parking demand and further 

reducing safety and enjoyment for pedestrians and 

residents. 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I would prefer any new build to be in the town centre 

- to help attract more people into the heart of the 

town. 

N/A N/A Neutral Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Query how increase in playing fields and outdoor 

spaces can be provided in seahams town centre 

locations 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I think the most important thing when considering 

rebuilding verses new location is the loss of facilities 

during a rebuild. Many people will struggle - or not 

bother - to use alternative facilities during the 

rebuilding. This is detrimental to the well-being of 

people in County Durham. 

N/A N/A Negative Engagement Seaham Unknown There needs to be more information shared before I 

can comment 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Moving it to the college site will still enable those 

who use public transport to keep their travel 

arrangements the same P
age 525



 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Car parking has been a problem, but can be 

improved with planning. 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Seaham needs a swimming pool 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Yes. Why not buy or use some of the vacant 

shopping space in the town centre?  It would 

regenerate a pretty dire area, increase footfall so 

supporting businesses in the town and possibly 

encourage more shops to open. It would have less 

traffic impact as Woodhouse Lane and Tindale are 

starting to becoming choked. Just makes no sense to 

me to put it out of town or in the suburbs. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Engagement Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Well it will be already decided to move it , this is a 

waste of time 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown We need to keep services local and stop removing 

them to other places as it’s slowly killing of the town 

and that’s unacceptable 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale crescent is already too busy with cars 

P
age 526



 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Why move this facility it is central to the area and 

would present people having to travel to the other 

aeas proposed to access these facilities 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I feel that the complex is in a prime location for 

public where they walk bike bus or drive as it’s on the 

main route to the town 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale is too congested. Roads need upgrading 

before more is built on that land. Why waste money 

purchasing new land when you already have some 

available. 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Seaham Unknown There needs to be a swimming pool so I don't have 

to travel to Durham or Sunderland using harmful fuel 

and emissions 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I would no longer use it if it moved. One gym would 

become the closest and I would attend there instead 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Other considered sites are ridiculous they is not 

enough parking for those that do drive the other 

sites are already suffering from heavy tourist traffic, 

there is no playing fields at the other purposed sites. 

The leisure centre is for the community of Seaham 

hence why it should remain where it is 

P
age 527



 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Pool for seaham a must 

N/A N/A Negative Provision of 

activity 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown There's a need for short tennis and racketball facilities 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The only other concern is parking at current one it is 

could be made better and bigger 

N/A N/A Neutral Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown The same location would hopefully give residents 

hope to eventually have the promised swimming 

pool. Sadly, people will see the location as a negative 

thing as Deneside is deemed ' not the best of areas' . 

I personally pay for a private gym. 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown How could you possibly have sports pitches in St. 

John’s square and the dock tops? 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown It’s appalling to site the leisure centre at Tindale , it’s 

current location if rebuilt would need improved 

parking and college is still walking distance from all 

the local schools 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Free parking 

P
age 528



 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Please give us a pool in seaham. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Keep the centre on the same site that it's on at 

present  as it is a large area and has lots of room for 

outdoor sports as well as indoor. There are less and 

less areas with playing fields in the town as more and 

more houses are being built in every part of the town 

(without additional amenities such as schools,  

doctors, etc being provided to go with them.). 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Crook Unknown There should be provision for a swimming pool in 

Crook. Public transport and the cost involved are 

prohibitive for Families. DCC are doing everything 

they can to remove Labour from power in County 

Durham 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Could also include much need toilet facilities to the 

sea front area 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I don’t use public transport to travel to the leisure 

centre but I don’t think the college or Tindale 

proposed sites are suitable positions for people who 

do there are too far out of the centre of Bishop 

Auckland and not on a main bus route 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Seaham Unknown The town centre is the hub of the community P
age 529



 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown The other proposed site have not enough space for 

outdoor activities and or parking, would mean more 

traffic around already busy areas 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown s 

N/A N/A Neutral Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown Why move there is enough land to build new centre 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Teesdale Unknown Very annoying that Barnard Castle does not appear 

high on the priority list yet their facilities, particularly 

the gym is dreadful, too small, over crowded, too 

expensive, communal showers visible at corridor with 

opening hours too restrictive. There needs to be a 

new build leisure facility 2-3 stories high, multi use 

facility, cafe, library, CAP included with opening hours 

24/7 or at least 4am to allow commuters and shift 

workers to use the facilities. Durham County Council 

always overlooks Barnard Castle with no significant 

investment in the town for 11years. 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Durham Unknown Please consider putting something between Durham 

and East Durham!  Freeman's Quay is always busy or 

doing a swimming gala and Peterlee is our next 

nearest one btu I have never been due to not 

knowing where it was previously. 

P
age 530



 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown the tindale one needs proper cycle lanes and 

footpaths to allow safe journeys to and from. Traffic 

is hugely busy round there in all directions, and the 

temptation of KFC/ McDonalds is huge as well. 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Swimming pool and more morning classes would be 

ideal 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown If moved it will be to a smaller area with more around 

it there fore making it harder to park. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Riverside is already congested with car parking with 

the park and cricket ground; the roads and 

roundabout could not cope with additional traffic 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Do not want the leisure centre to be moved to 

Tindale 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Prefer Woodhouse 1 and college 2nd 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown This is the most central location for community 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Makes sense as it’s just waste land at the minute 

P
age 531



 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Why move something so pivotal to mental and 

physical well-being which is in a central location to 

somewhere where it is further out the way and harder 

to access? 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Current Woodhouse Close location is the most 

convenient for me. Tindale could have traffic 

problems. College would be okay. 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Would be a great location 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown please keep them in busy areas bot out of town aites 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Bring facilities in line with modern changes. Bishop 

Auckland used to be the home of South West 

Durham and needs to come back 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown If a long awaited swimming pool is coming, any site 

would be fine for me. 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown It would improve the aesthetics of the area. 

P
age 532



 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown The current site in my view is in a prime position. It is 

well located within the community with great links to 

major roads. It is housed in a substantial site with lots 

of outdoor space which is used to help max and has 

the potential for so much more. It is easily accessible 

without causing further problems on an already 

congested seafront. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Bishop fc a d current site are too small and parking 

would be and is a big problem. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Seaham Unknown Present site is central for Seaham residents and in 

decent walking distance for most people.No parking 

places at other site’s or room for outdoor outdoor  

pitchers also not central for people 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown If moved to tindale it’s removing assets from town. 

Roads at tindale don’t cope with current traffic for 

shopping causing road blockinh 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Would much prefer the site to be former civic centre. 

Current site is not visible and riverside is too far out 

of town and doesn't really feel part of community. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Keep them at the heart of the communities that use 

them 

P
age 533



 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown The centre is fine where it is, 

N/A N/A Negative Engagement Ferryhill Unknown Durham council again sticks two fingers up to the 

people of Ferryhill! 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown More central like the original one 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Would prefer any refurbishment in current location or 

new location most beneficial to improving prospects 

of high street traders rather thsn Tindale Crescent 

site 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Need swimming pool 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown It would be great to see a public pool in Seaham, we 

have enough residents surely to warrant one 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Could you add public toilets to the site,desperately 

need toilets on the sea front so would keep even 

more people happy 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I feel that the other two locations would have a 

disadvantage due to parking restrictions and traffic 

congestions 

P
age 534



 

N/A N/A Positive Engagement Seaham Unknown Implore the County Council to be forward thinking , 

shop around look at neighbouring facilities do not go 

for the cheapest option look at innovation and what 

the population of Seaham  needs to improve the 

health of this community 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Please do not build at Riverside. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown We need to keep things central for all bishop 

Auckland and the traffic up near the football stadium 

is already very busy and the site near college would 

be atrocious at school times as it already is 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown We should be keeping leisure activities in the 

Cockton Hill/Newgate Street vicinity not taking it 

away 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Would like to have a swimming pool at least a 25 

metre one 

N/A N/A Positive General General Unknown I have only considered the 2 centres I know and use 

and have commented on these 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Please can the new facilities still have the swimming 

pool as this would be a big loss if this was not the 

case. P
age 535



 

N/A N/A Positive Provision of 

activity 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Would be good to have rooms that are suitable for 

small keep fit classes, good size swimming pool, 

adult only classes 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I would be very disappointed if it was built at Tindale. 

Not everybody drives and lots of people like to 

combine walking and doing the exercise as well. The 

traffic due to lots of cars is bad enough now with all 

the shops(when we are out of lockdown that is !) It 

would be too far for me to walk both ways after 

doing a mile of swimming(64 lengths)   I would be 

very sad and my mental health would probably 

suffer.Please don't do it ! 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown it will also improve the area given that this is just a 

waste land currently 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Durham Unknown Yes we need a pool in Abbey and that venue would 

be used much more, Freemans Quay is full of 

students and CLS means a car journey or bus.  Many 

people only use the pool as it helps with age defects 

and disablitlies and also to support and repair injury. 

The elderrly and infirm can easily use a swimmig pool 

and it has a social aspect also for all. If there is a 

seperate children's pool then that generates family 

P
age 536



 

time without interupting lane swimming and water 

based excercises 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown Seaham needs its own Swimming Pool 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Make public toilet on the top docks site you’ll make a 

lot more people happier, 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

General Unknown The sooner these facilities are built the better 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown A 3g pitch alongside the leisure center would be 

ideal for our town. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Moving to Tindale will be easier for Dales people to 

access it too. 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown It will have a positive impact on the local area 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale is far too busy as it is without putting 

something else there! 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Great idea on the waste land next to Bishop afc 

instead of letting gypsies stay there P
age 537



 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Riverside location creates a great fitness hub rather 

than two sites across the town. 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The existing site is other best site because of it being 

central in the town. The college site will spoil the 

green spaces and feel this area has already been 

developed enough and Tindale is a complete mess 

for traffic flow and just does not seem th correct 

place for this kind of development 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I am a member of the local rowing club and we are in 

negotiation with the local authority to build an 

extension in the car park adjacent to the rowing club. 

the leisure centre, if relocated would be a negative 

impact on the rowing club access. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Any where near the county cricket ground,  has 

parking problems now, so when there is a game or 

function on, members will not be able to use / 

accessmthe facilities easily 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I think a new fresh centre is what we need with 

adequate parking and cycle pods 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The area of the college centre would be no different 

to get to than where the centre is now. 

P
age 538



 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown County Durham 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown This is the best option available to my local residents 

and it would mean that the facility could continue to 

operate until the new facility opens. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Moving the Chester-le-Street centre to the Civic site, 

Option 2, would be very detrimental to me and other 

local residents and I object strongly to this. I live 

close by (Newcastle Road) and already suffer badly 

from people parking all day on the pavement outside 

my house (mostly staff from the Police Station, who 

aren't prepared to pay £1 to park all day on the Civic 

Centre site). Leisure centre users too would look to 

park here to avoid parking charges. Not only does it 

make me feel that I'm living in the middle of a car 

park, but driving into and out of my drive is 

dangerous as parked cars obscure the view of traffic 

on the busy main road. Please rule out Option 2, it's 

just not appropriate in this residential area. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Lovely as a riverside location would be, in the 

summer this area is already packed with people 

visiting the park and riverside walks. This is 

P
age 539



 

exacerbated by times when the cricket is on. A site 

slightly out of the town centre would be better. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown There's nothing stopping Chester-le-Street leisure 

centre remaining swimming pool and squash only 

with the gym and other sports facilities on the new 

site, Chester-le-Street is a hotbed of grassroots 

football for children an indoor sports hall would be a 

huge asset. 

N/A N/A Positive Provision of 

activity 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Lots of activities and youth facilities for children to 

attend regularly. 

N/A N/A Negative Availability 

of facilities 

Seaham Unknown The other locations would mean smaller leasure 

centre, no outdoor space. Seaham needs the outdoor 

space to encourage team sports and also needs a 

swimming pool as the only one we had has been 

demolished! 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale presents the best option for both the people 

of Shildon and Bishop Auckland 

N/A N/A Positive Location of 

facilities 

Seaham Unknown The existing location is in the heart of the community 

and out door space available is not available at the 

other sites. Also if it was moved then houses are 

likely to be built. I feel with other housing sites siting 

empty like the station road site and the building of 

P
age 540



 

the garden village. The centre will be needed and will 

be best located where it is. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Seaham Unknown The leisure centre needs to stay where it is. Would 

cause more traffic chaos if move to other sites that 

are proposed its in a perfect location now just open 

up the Graham way in to site build swimming pool 

ice rink improve pitches have a least one 4g pitch for 

sports all Yrlocal kids teams can take advantage of. 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I oppose using the existing site as it would mean a 

long period of time with no local facilities available 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown The riverside is developed enough and should stay as 

a green area. Civic centre site will provide plenty of 

parking which is an issue for the current site. And 

also allow the current pool to be used while the new 

site is built. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Why spoil the riverside when massive land at civic 

centre and parking 

N/A N/A Negative Finance Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Riverside had too much money thrown at it 

P
age 541



 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Parking and accessibility are important as my son is a 

blue badge holder 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tin dale is too busy. People in the town have nothing 

everything is being moved to travel by car. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown To build on new site means current leisu7centre can 

remain open and in use till new one is ready! 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Riverside site. There is nowhere left to place this 

without change of use to land. Civic centre siite 

Newcastle road cannot cope with the extra traffic. 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown There must not be a period when there is no leisure 

centre provision. If the new building at the WC site 

can be built whilst the old one is open then this site is 

fine but if not then the site must be elsewhere. There 

must be significant parking at all sites. All of the sites 

could also do with better traffic management. 

N/A N/A Positive Availability 

of facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I think local residents to the old civic centre site 

would be much happier to have leisure facilities than 

housing, bail hostel or other building suggestions 

that have been made. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown It makes more sense to use a current building site 

then dig up green fields. 

P
age 542



 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Riverside location already to busy and not very 

accessable to walk to 

N/A N/A Positive Benefit of 

provision 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown This site would help the town or the site in vicinity of 

the existing swimming pool with in the town 

perimeter 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Hopefully more space at the chosen site and that it's 

space is used smartly.  I think access and parking is 

and must!! These are to be considered as well as 

efficiency of space inside the building that there is 

enough room for spectators.  The interior of the 

building also needs to be well planned -no big dead 

spots & storage of all equipment is a must .  Again 

which site has more space is a MUST ! 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown No 

N/A N/A Negative Location of 

facilities 

Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Riverside is not ideal 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown need more parking near the leisure centre, this is the 

biggest problem with the existing site. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown It would be very accessible to use for everyone in a 

great location. 

P
age 543



 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown Centre around existing town centre so easy access 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown If the existing site is used then it will not be possible 

to use the facilities there.  Therefore it would be 

necessary to travel to other locations by public 

transport which is likely to prove difficult. The 

Riverside site is not well served for public transport. 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Seaham Unknown Other sites are unsuitable ,leave it where it is ! Leave 

the green space for all residents to use including non 

residents , do not build more houses on , seaham is 

saturated with new houses ,the roads cant cope . 

N/A N/A N/A No comment N/A Unknown sasa 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Need to carefully consider traffic and parking in each 

location as otherwise people will avoid. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown By using Civic Centre more people would see it, acess 

is easy and shops may get more customers so it 

would hep everybody 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The best location for the town  leisure centre is 

exactly where it is. It just needs improving 

N/A N/A Neutral Infrastructure Shildon Unknown Whilst commenting on the placement of the leisure 

centre, this does not detract from sustaining and 

P
age 544



 

improving facilities at the Shildon Leisure Centre for 

the community. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The present one is the most convenient for public 

transport as it has limited public transfer and taxis 

would be very expensive to either place 

N/A N/A Negative Finance Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown leisure servises are for the community not an excuse 

for develpers to make money on the back of the rape 

of servises from the bishop auckland community 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The proposed location to another site would only 

increase the parking problems . The present site has 

worked well for years and I cannot think of any 

reason to change it. 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The only site that does not  increase traffic problems 

is the present Bishop Auckland site. Demolish Police 

Station and old courts move Leisure centre their and 

knockdown and redevelop old pool lesure centre 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Bishop Auckland leisure centre should remain at its 

present site because moving it next to the college 

would increase parking problems on that part of 

Woodhouse Lane which is littered with parked cars 

every day 

P
age 545



 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Please make the pools accessible like the example 

pool with steps in and out 

N/A N/A Negative Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown I do not agree with locating it at the Tindale site as 

there is far to much traffic congestion there 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown As above my main concern is a good quality 25 

metre swimming pool  for lane swimming and good 

gym facilities 

N/A N/A Positive Infrastructure Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown The current site, has excellent bus services, and is 

surrounded by housing.  The other sites have bad bus 

services, & are well away from where the people live. 

N/A N/A Negative Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown Tindale will need transport to get to it. Already 

congested. 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Bishop 

Auckland 

Unknown College location would be better than Football club 

as too far out of town 

N/A N/A Positive Accessibility Chester-le-

Street 

Unknown I believe it is best place for site, it would be a good 

use of the old civic centre space rather than housing. 

Also had the best public transport routes - our 

children would like use the main bus route in the 

future. Would also bring more people traffic to the 

high street which is clearly needed. 

 

P
age 546



 

Full analysis from TA6 facilities mix survey 

 
 
 
 
 

Durham 

Transformation Consultation Survey - FULL REPORT.pdf
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 547



 

 

 

 

  

Page 548



 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 549



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 550



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

 Forecast of Revenue and Capital 

Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 31 

December 2020 and Update on Progress 

towards achieving MTFP(10) savings 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) 

Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with information on the: 

(a) updated forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2020/21, based 
on the position to 31 December 2020; 

(b) updated forecast for the council tax and business rates collection 
fund position at 31 March 2021, based on the position to 31 
December 2020; 

(c) updated forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit 
and general reserves in 2020/21 and the estimated balances to 
be held at 31 March 2021. 

2 To seek approval of the revised capital programme, other budget 
adjustments, proposed sums treated as outside of the cash limit in year 
and write off deficit schools balances as a result of academy 
conversions. 

3 To provide Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings in 2020/21. 

Page 551

Agenda Item 5



Executive summary 

4 Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council, its partners, local 
businesses and local communities have together been working 
tirelessly to respond to the pandemic and to put plans in place for the 
restoration and recovery of services post-pandemic. 

5 The financial impact of COVID-19 in 2020/21 is significant and complex, 
which makes forecasting the council’s outturn position even more 
challenging than usual.  

6 What is even more uncertain is the long term impacts of the pandemic 
on the councils finances beyond 2020/21, particularly in the context of 
the longer term financial outlook for the council, as set out in the 
MTFP(11) and 2021/22 to 2024/25 Budget Report to County Council on 
24 February 2021. 

7 In the last year the council has had to implement national support 
schemes at short notice such as the Business Rates Grants Support 
Scheme(s); the Council Tax Hardship Support Schemes; Test and 
Trace Payments; the Winter Support Payments Scheme; Infection 
Control Schemes; and Contain Outbreak Management schemes as well 
as dealing with and implementing a range of supplier relief schemes 
and addressing increased demand for support to vulnerable households 
whilst trying to accommodate new ways of working itself in response to 
the pandemic. 

8 Since the previous forecast of outturn report to Cabinet in November 
2020 there have been two further national lockdown periods, with the 
current national lockdown extending across the whole of quarter 4. The 
national lockdowns periods have impacted significantly on the forecasts 
previously prepared.   

9 It is forecast that service grouping budgets will overspend by £43.973 
million. This overspend position arises from additional expenditure and 
loss of income associated with the COVID-19 outbreak of £64.597 
million, offset by COVID-19 related underspends of £16.066 million.  

10 In addition, in year collection of Council Tax and Business Rates is 
significantly below budgeted levels – through a combination of 
increased incidence of Council Tax Reduction and reduced payments 
as residents and businesses themselves cope with the economic 
shocks the pandemic has had. Council Tax and Busines Rates 
collection at the end of quarter three are forecast to be £10 million less 
than at the same stage in 2019/20. Although some of these outstanding 
sums are expected to be collected over time it is forecast at this stage 
that there will be an in year deficit on the collection fund of £5.2 million 
after provision for bad and doubtful debts.  

Page 552



11 The government has provided four non ringfenced tranches of funding 
for local authorities for the additional costs incurred as a result of 
COVID-19. This funding is allocated based upon formulae determined 
by the government and to date the council has received £45.6 million. 
Of this, £1.1 million was utilised to cover costs incurred in 2019/20, 
which has left £44.5 million of funding available to be applied in 
2020/21.  

12 The council has submitted the first two returns for support under the 
government’s Income Guarantee Scheme, which requires councils to 
bear the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after which the 
government will provide a grant for 75% of subsequent losses. The first 
claim, totalling £3.7 million, has been paid and the council now awaits 
confirmation of the second claim, totalling £2.7 million.  It is estimated 
that the council will be able to claim circa £8 million from the scheme 
across the whole of 2020/21 given the subsequent reintroduction and 
extension of the national lockdowns since the quarter two report was 
developed.   

13 The government has indicated that the financial impact of any 2020/21 
in year Collection Fund deficit for council tax and business rates must 
be spread over three years. Across the three years 2021/22 to 2023/24, 
the government will provide 75% grant support for the 2020/21 in year 
deficit position, although the assessment of loss for council tax does not 
provide coverage for non collection below the council 99% forecast 
collection rate.  

14 After taking into account additional Section 31 grant received for 
extended business rate reliefs, the council is forecasting its share of the 
in year 2020/21 Business Rates Collection Fund deficit to be £4.5 
million.  

15 After taking into account the impact of the second and third national 
lockdowns, updated estimates of cost, lost income and additional 
government funding subsequently received, it is forecast that the 
council 2020/21 budget will be underspent by £9.228 million, 
representing 2.11% of the net expenditure budget of £437.355 million.  

16 The impact of the second and third lockdowns and the subsequent 
additional funding from government were not factored into the previous 
forecasts. In addition, COVID-19 has impacted on normal business as 
usual expenditure. There has been delayed recruitment, savings 
against mileage and other costs as a result of large proportions of staff 
working from home and savings in operational building costs amongst 
other areas. In addition, care costs linked to hospital discharges during 
the period March 2020 to August 2020 are being met by the Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group under temporary national funding 

Page 553



arrangements via NHS England. These cases are being treated as 
Continuing Health Care under the Discharge to Assess regime until 
such time as they are properly assessed so costs that would otherwise 
be normally met by the Council are being recovered from the CCG. This 
arrangement is temporary and will not be a recurrent base budget 
impact and helps offset the significant supplier relief and support being 
provided to care providers.  

17 The forecasts included in this report are still subject to some 
uncertainty. There are a wide range of assumptions that have been 
made in relation to expenditure and income over the remainder of the 
financial year and the uncertainty that exists with regards to the impact 
of COVID-19 restrictions that will apply across the  quarter four. 

18 This uncertainty extends into 2021/22, where the council will face 
further challenges and budget pressures in relation to the continuing 
response to the pandemic and the restoration of services and 
supporting the post-pandemic recovery.  

19 There is some funding that has been made available next year to help 
with these challenges, but it is far from certain whether this will be 
sufficient at this stage. There will potentially be a range of interventions 
required by the council and ongoing impacts post pandemic that will 
have as yet unquantified financial pressures. The Cash Limit and 
General Reserves will potentially be required to meet shortfalls in the 
funding that will be available. 

20 In terms of service grouping cash limits, the projected revenue outturn is 
a forecast cash limit underspend of £5.613 million (1.28%). The cash 
limit position excludes COVID-19 related issues which are considered to 
be outside of the control of service groupings and have been managed 
corporately The costs associated with COVID-19 have been offset 
against government grant support provided.  

21 In terms of sums outside the cash limit there is a forecast underspend of 
£3.615 million which is forecast to result in an increase in the General 
Reserve from £23.9 million to £27.6 million. This position will be kept 
under careful review, especially in relation to the possibility of additional 
costs and loss of income linked to the ongoing impact of COVID-19.  

22 Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves) 
are forecast to reduce by £14.195 million in 2020/21, from £204.697 
million to £190.502 million. The end of year reserves forecast is partially 
inflated due to the carry forward into 2021/22 of specific COVID-19 
grant support received in 2020/21 such as the Contain Outbreak 
Management funding where planned expenditure will be incurred in 
2021/22. 

Page 554



23 A review of all reserves has enabled the realignment of £10 million of 
cash limit and earmarked reserves enabling the investment of 
earmarked reserves in council priorities. This includes £5 million 
transfer into the Towns and Villages Reserve supporting additional 
investment factored into MTFP(11) and the 2021/22 budget agreed by 
Council on 24 February 2021.   

24 The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one 
given the significant financial uncertainties facing local government 
beyond 2021/22. The MTFP(11) report to County Council on 24 
February 2021 highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council with 
a forecast savings shortfall of £36 million over the 2022/23 to 2024/25 
period, with the delivery of further savings becoming ever more 
challenging to achieve.  

25 The updated projected capital outturn is £139.511 million. 

26 For MTFP(10), to the end of quarter three, the council has delivered 
savings totalling £7.403 million which is 92% of the £8.010 million target 
for the year.  By 31 March 2021, since 2011, the council will have 
delivered over £241 million in savings. 

Recommendations 

27 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(a) note the council’s overall financial position for 2020/21 and the 
uncertainty associated with the outturn forecast resulting from the 
continuing impact of COVID-19 as set out in the report; 

(b) agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval as 
set out in the report; 

(c) agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments outlined in the 
report; 

(d) note the forecast use of earmarked reserves in year; 

(e) note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and 
general reserves; 

(f) note the additional costs and income loss faced as a result of 
COVID-19 which is offset by additional grant funding provided by 
government; 

(g) approve the write off of deficit schools balances as a result of 
academy conversions; 

Page 555



(h) note the position on the capital programme and the Collection 
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates and the 
treatment of the in year deficit across the next three years; 

(i) note the amount of savings delivered during quarter three of the 
MTFP(10) period. 

 

  

Page 556



Background 

28 In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed the 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which incorporates the revenue 
and capital budgets for 2020/21, on 26 February 2020. 

29 The constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to 
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly 
basis. 

30 This report provides an updated forecast of the revenue and capital 
outturn for 2020/21, based upon expenditure and income up to 31 
December 2020. It includes details relating to the General Fund 
revenue and capital budgets 2020/21, the Collection Funds for Council 
Tax and Business Rates and details relating to the Dedicated Schools 
Grant funding blocks, including maintained schools. This is the third 
report on forecast financial performance against the 2020/21 budgets 
this financial year. 

31 This report also provides an update on the delivery of MTFP(10) 
savings. The planned MTFP(10) savings were agreed by Council in 
February 2020 with a savings target of more than £8 million for 2020/21. 
This brings the overall savings target for the period from 2011/12 to 
2020/21 to circa £241 million. Significant progress has been made 
towards achieving these savings. 

COVID-19 - Context 

32 Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council, its partners, local 
businesses and local communities have together been working 
tirelessly to respond to the pandemic and to put plans in place for the 
restoration and recovery of services post-pandemic. 

33 The financial impact of COVID-19 in 2020/21 is significant and complex 
which makes forecasting the council’s outturn position even more 
challenging than usual.  

34 What is even more uncertain is the long term impacts of the pandemic 
on the councils finances beyond 2020/21, particularly in the context of 
the longer term financial outlook for the council, as set out in the 
MTFP(11) and 2021/22 to 2024/25 Budget Report to County Council on 
24 February 2021. 

35 In the last year the council has had to implement national support 
schemes at short notice such as the Business Rates Grants Support 
Scheme(s); the Council Tax Hardship Support Schemes; Test and 
Trace Payments; the Winter Support Payments Scheme; Infection 
Control Schemes; and Contain Outbreak Management schemes as well 
as dealing with and implementing a range of supplier relief schemes 

Page 557



and addressing increased demand for support to vulnerable households 
whilst trying to accommodate new ways of working itself in response to 
the pandemic. 

36 In 2021/22 the council will face further challenges and budget pressures 
in relation to the continuing response to the pandemic and the 
restoration of services and supporting the post-pandemic recovery.  

37 There is some funding that has been made available next year to help 
with these challenges, but it is far from certain whether this will be 
sufficient at this stage. There will potentially be a range of interventions 
required by the council and ongoing impacts post pandemic that will 
have as yet unquantified financial pressures. The Cash Limit and 
General Reserves will potentially be required to meet shortfalls in the 
funding that will be available. 

38 Since the previous forecast of outturn report to Cabinet in November 
2020 there have been two further national lockdown periods, with the 
current national lockdown extending across the whole of quarter 4. 
These national lockdowns have impacted significantly on the forecasts 
previously prepared.  

39 In addition, COVID-19 has impacted on normal business as usual 
expenditure. There has been delayed recruitment, savings against 
mileage and other costs as a result of large proportions of staff working 
from home and savings in operational building costs amongst other 
areas. In addition, care costs linked to hospital discharges between 
March 2020 and August 2020 are being met by the Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group under temporary national funding arrangements 
via NHS England. These cases are being treated as Continuing Health 
Care under the Discharge to Assess regime until such time as they are 
properly assessed so costs that would otherwise be met by the Council 
are being recovered from the CCG. This arrangement is temporary and 
will not be a recurrent base budget impact and helps offset the 
significant supplier relief and support being provided to care providers.  

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 31 December 
2020 

40 The following table compares the forecast of outturn with the revised 
budget.  Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3. 

41 The following adjustments have been made to the original budget 
agreed by Council on 26 February 2020: 

(a) agreed budget transfers between service groupings; 

Page 558



(b) additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet 
consideration and recommended approval); 

(c) planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (please 
refer to Appendix 4). 

 

Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

 

42 The above table identifies a forecast underspend of £9.228 million 
which would contribute to an increase in General and Cash Limit 
Reserves. This takes into account the impact of the second and third 
national lockdowns. The forecast cash limit underspend is £5.613 
million (1.28%), whereas the forecast General Fund underspend is 
£3.615 million. The cash limit position excludes the impact of COVID-19  
which is being managed corporately.  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 129,627 116,233 126,808 10,575

Chief Executive's Office 1,823 1,632 1,675 43

Children and Young People's Services 123,877 129,643 137,086 7,443

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 108,622 111,681 124,162 12,481

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 52,770 44,440 53,758 9,318

Resources 25,705 23,861 26,669 2,808

Cash Limit Position 442,424 427,490 470,158 42,668

Contingencies 8,155 21 1,338 1,317

Corporate Costs 4,498 1,536 1,524 -12

NET COST OF SERVICES 455,077 429,047 473,020 43,973

Capital charges -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 0

Interest and Investment income -2,900 -2,900 -2,650 250

Interest payable and similar charges 36,614 60,285 60,285 0

Levies 15,991 15,991 15,996 5

Net Expenditure 439,714 437,355 481,583 44,228

Funded By:

Council tax -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 0

Use of earmarked reserves -7,700 -7,606 -7,606 0

COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 1-use of earmarked reserves 0 0 -17,521 -17,521

COVID-19 Support Grant tranches 2-4 0 0 -27,081 -27,081

COVID-19 Income Guarantee Grant 0 0 -7,965 -7,965

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 0

Business Rates -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 0

Top up grant -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 0

Revenue Support Grant -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 0

New Homes Bonus -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 0

Section 31 Grant -11,713 -11,713 -12,602 -889

Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 0

Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve -1,954 311 5,924 5,613

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 3,615 3,615
 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0

Original 

Budget 

2020/21

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

Page 559



43 The total net underspend of £9.228 million represents 2.11% of the net 
expenditure budget of £437.355 million.  

44 The forecast position at this stage necessarily includes a number of 
assumptions in relation to costs and lost income resulting from COVID-
19 across quarter four. In 2020/21 the council has forecast the receipt of 
£8 million in compensation for lost income through the Sales, Fees and 
Charges Income Guarantee Scheme, to assist with managing the 
financial position in 2020/21. This position will be reviewed at year end 
based upon the final claim being made and approved by government. 

45 The council is forecasting an in year deficit on the Collection Fund of 
£5.394 million, mainly as a result of the impact of COVID-19 , especially 
the increase in claims for Local Council Tax Reduction. The impact of 
COVID-19 upon the Collection Fund will continue to be monitored to 
determine the final outturn position.  

46 The local government final finance settlement for 2021/22 has 
confirmed that the 2020/21 in year Collection Fund deficits must be 
spread over three years with 75% government grant being provided.  
The method of calculation of the grant will not result in 75% of actual 
losses being recovered as there is still an assumption on council tax 
that 99% of all council tax will be recovered which is unlikely. This grant 
will be applied over the next three years in line with the spreading of the 
2020/21 in year collection fund deficit over the same period as fully 
detailed later in the report. The full detail on this arrangement is 
included in the MTFP(11) budget report to Full Council on 24 February 
2021.   

47 Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from, or 
transferred to, general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be 
outside of service grouping cash limits.  

Service 
Grouping 

Proposal Amount 
£ million 

REG Concessionary Fares -0.153 

NCC Set up costs of the Collaborative Waste 
Contract 

0.615 

NCC Winter Maintenance Overspend 1.317 

TOTAL  1.779 

 

48 After adjusting the budgets and reserves as detailed above, the forecast 
outturn for cash limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised 
in the following table. 

Page 560



 

49 The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one 
given the significant financial uncertainties facing local government 
beyond 2021/22. The MTFP(11) report to County Council on 24 
February 2021 highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council with 
a forecast savings shortfall of £36 million over the 2022/23 to 2024/25 
period, with the delivery of further savings becoming ever more 
challenging to achieve. In addition, whilst additional COVID-19 grant 
has been provided for 2021/22 with the Sales, Fees and Charges 
Income Guarantee Scheme also still be in place until 30 June 2021, the 
ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon both the national finances and the 
councils budget are uncertain at this point.  

50 With this in mind there is a heightened risk that funding will be restricted 
for some public services in the future which could require the council to 
identify and deliver significant additional savings in the future. 

51 The table above highlights that CYPS are forecast to have a deficit cash 
limit reserve of £1.879 million at the end of 2020/21. Consideration will 
need to be given at final outturn as to how this deficit cash limit reserve 
position is addressed. In previous years the deficit at year end has been 
cleared by a transfer from General Fund reserves. 

Review of Earmarked Reserves 

52 A review of all earmarked reserves has taken place during quarter 
three, which considered the pressures identified in the MTFP(11) report 
presented to Cabinet on 10 February 2021 and County Council on 24 
February 2021. Consequently, there has been a reallocation of £10 
million to the earmarked reserves set out in the following table: 

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit

Adult and Health Services -8.354 1.867 -3.948 -10.435

Chief Executive's Office 0.000 -0.126 -0.089 -0.215

Children and Young People's Services 0.000 1.879 1.879

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 0.000 -0.197 -1.206 -1.403

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 0.000 -0.164 -1.761 -1.925

Resources -2.758 -0.113 0.087 0.747 -2.037

Former Regeneration and Local Services -0.329 0.329

Former Transformation and Partnerships -0.318 0.318

Total Cash Limit Reserve -11.759 0.047 1.954 -4.378 -14.136

General Reserve -23.950 0.000 0.000 -3.615 -27.565

Type of Reserve Opening 

Balance as at 

1 April 2020

Reallocation of 

former REAL 

and T&P Cash 

Limits

Budgeted 

use at

1 April 2020

Movement 

during

2020/21

2020/21 

Forecast 

of Outturn 

Page 561



Addition to Reserve £ million   
      

Towns and Villages Regeneration Reserve 5.000   

ER/VR Reserve 2.000   

Schools Reserve 2.000   

Cultural Programme Reserve 0.500   

Winter Maintenance Reserve 0.500   

  10.000   

      
53 The £10 million has been transferred from the following service cash 

limit and earmarked reserves:  

Reserve £ million 

AHS cash limit 2.000 

Resources cash limit 1.500 

Adult Social Care reserve 2.000 

CYPS earmarked reserves 0.500 

NCC earmarked reserves 0.250 

REG earmarked reserves 0.500 

Resources earmarked reserves 0.500 

Business Support reserve 0.750 

Equal Pay reserve 0.500 

Housing Benefit Subsidy reserve 0.750 

Insurance reserve 0.500 

Procurement reserve 0.250 

  10.000 

 
COVID-19 Impact 

54 The council has faced significant additional unbudgeted costs in relation 
to the outbreak and significant loss of income. The full impact over 
quarter four continues to be uncertain and will be dependent on 
government announcements with regards to ongoing local or national 
restrictions.  The major areas of forecast additional cost and loss of 
income are as follows: 

(a) Adult Social Care Provider Support £16.5 million – it is 
forecast that during 2020/21 additional financial support above 
the contracted provision of circa £16.5 million will have been paid 
to providers. This support includes a temporary 10% uplift in fees 
and targeted support being given to residential care homes where 
occupancy levels have dropped significantly and is in addition to 
support provided through the governments Infection Control 
Fund; 

Page 562



(b) PPE £1.8 million – the council has purchased stocks of PPE for 
utilisation across a range of settings; 

(c) Waste Disposal and Refuse Collection £7.9 million – a range 
of additional costs have been incurred such as increased waste 
tonnages, garden waste pick ups over weekends and on 
Mondays and the costs associated with reopening household 
waste recycling centres and operating them safely, including 
social distancing measures and traffic management of queues; 

(d) In house Highways and Buildings teams £2.5 million – during 
late March, April and May teams were in lockdown and not 
generating income. In addition, for a period after the teams 
restarted work in many areas the costs of materials have 
increased; 

(e) AAP and Member Neighbourhood Budgets £2.3 million – an 
additional £0.1 million has been provided to each of the fourteen 
AAPs whilst Members are also able to invest their Members 
Neighbourhood capital allocation on revenue in the current year;  

(f) Leisure Income £8.5 million – the closure of facilities and the 
likely reduced income once reopened is expected to have a 
significant impact upon forecast income levels; 

(g) Car Park Income £1.6 million – the closure and reduced volume 
of traffic in town centres has reduced income levels; 

(h) Theatres £2.6 million – theatres have been closed all year and 
there continues to be uncertainty as to when our theatres will 
reopen; 

(i) Planning Fees and Building Control £0.2 million – reduced 
volume of submissions during lockdown; 

(j) Aycliffe Secure £2.4 million – reduced income due to social 
distancing requirements resulting in reduced occupancy within 
the facility; 

(k) Business Support Grants £5 million – a package of support 
has been developed to support current businesses to enable 
them to stabilise and continue to grow. It is forecast that up to £2 
million could be expended in 2020/21 with the remainder invested 
in 2021/22; 

(l) Free School Meals Support £1 million - support via food 
vouchers has been provided for October half term. 

 

Page 563



55 It is forecast that service grouping budgets will overspend by £43.973 
million. This overspend position arises from additional expenditure and 
loss of income associated with the COVID-19 outbreak of £64.597 
million, offset by COVID-19 underspends of £16.066 million.  

56 In addition, in year collection of Council Tax and Business Rates is 
significantly below budgeted levels – through a combination of 
increased incidence of Council Tax Reduction and reduced payments 
as residents and businesses themselves cope with the economic 
shocks the pandemic has had. Council Tax and Busines Rates 
collection at the end of quarter three are forecast to be £10 million less 
than at the same stage in 2019/20. Although some of these outstanding 
sums are expected to be collected over time it is forecast at this stage 
that there will be an in year deficit on the collection fund of £5.2 million 
after provision for bad and doubtful debts.  

57 The government has provided four tranches of funding for local 
authorities for additional costs incurred as a result of COVID-19. This 
funding is allocated based upon formulae and to date the council has 
received £45.6 million. Of this, £1.1 million was to cover costs incurred 
in 2019/20. This leaves funding available of £44.5 million to be utilised 
in 2020/21.  

58 The government has introduced an ‘Income Guarantee Scheme’ to 
provide financial support for lost sales, fees and charges income. The 
details of the scheme were published on 23 August 2020. The scheme 
requires councils to bear the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after 
which the government will provide a grant for 75% of subsequent 
losses. A number of areas of income loss such as commercial income 
and rental income are not covered by the scheme. In addition, any 
underspends generated in the areas in question must be utilised to 
offset any lost income. 

59 The council will be required to submit three returns for support under 
the Income Guarantee Scheme. The first return for the period to 31 July 
2020 was  submitted on 2 October 2020 for a total of £3.7 million, for 
which payment has been received.  The second return was submitted in 
December 2020 for a further £2.6 million. Confirmation is awaited for 
the second submission.  It is estimated that the council may be able to 
claim circa £8 million from the Income Guarantee Scheme across the 
whole of 2020/21 given the subsequent reintroduction of the national 
lockdowns since the quarter two report was developed, although this is 
subject to further work and the extent of the claims that are made and 
paid.   

60 The forecast position on COVID-19 costs and income losses will 
continue to be closely monitored.  

Page 564



 

Cash Limit Position 

61 The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are 
detailed below. It is important to note that the cash limit positions 
exclude all COVID-19 related issues which are outside the control of 
budget managers. 

Adult and Health Services (AHS) 

62 The 2020/21 updated projected outturn for AHS is a cash limit 
underspend of £3.457 million, representing circa 3% of the total budget 
for AHS. This compares with an AHS cash limit underspend at quarter 
two of £3.198 million. 

63 The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside 
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the 
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions 
to earmarked reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure, savings and 
loss of income has also been excluded from the cash limit outturn. 

64 The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management 
of activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash 
limit.  The outturn position is accounted for as follows: 

(a) careful management and control of vacant posts and supplies 
and services budgets across the service, together with 
uncommitted budgets, results in an estimated net under budget 
position for the year of £2.006 million, offset by a £2 million 
contribution to corporate reserves; 

(b) net spend on adult care packages is £3.451 million under budget. 
This area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the 
ongoing impact of COVID-19 as well as ongoing demographic 
and procedural/operational changes, including the emergency 
funding arrangements that have applied in the current year in 
relation to continuing health care and hospital discharges and 
admission avoidance.  

significant MTFP savings have been taken over recent years in 
adult care package budgets, as the service has sought to 
consistently and robustly apply eligibility criteria, and as more 
residents have sought to receive care in their own home.  

the outturn position includes underspends that have been 
generated as a result of reductions in occupancy of residential 
and nursing care homes due to COVID-19 which have been 
reinvested in sustainability payments to providers, pending a 

Page 565



strategic review of the overall market planned over the coming 
months. Any net underspend on packages linked to occupancy 
reductions has been treated as outside the cash limit and treated 
as a COVID-19 underspend; 

(c) net expenditure on Public Health related activity is in line with 
grant allocations. 

65 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service has estimated 
£21.086 million of additional costs and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £7.054 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is £14.032 million which will be met corporately by utilising 
central government grants. 

66 In addition, a net £11.955 million relating to contributions to and from 
reserves and contingencies has been excluded from the cash limit 
outturn forecasts, details as follows: 

(a) use of £0.144 million Adult Social Care reserve to fund temporary 
staffing arrangement; 

(b) contribution of £1.134 million to Public Health reserves for Public 
Health projects falling into 2021/22; 

(c) contribution to the AHS cash limit reserve of £2.583 million, 
relating to a contribution to corporate reserves of £2 million and a 
contribution of £0.583 million for future Adult Services projects;  

(d) use of £0.099 million of the corporate ER/VR reserve to fund 
redundancy payments; and  

(e) contribution to the Control Outbreak Monitoring Fund Reserve 
£8.481 million, representing funding received in 2020/21 where 
spending commitments will extend into 2021/22. 

67 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the 
transfers to/from reserves in year, the estimated cash limit reserve to be 
carried forward for AHS is forecast to be £10.435 million. 

Chief Executive’s Office (CEO) 

68 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 is a cash limit underspend of 
£0.105 million for the year after taking account of the forecast use of 
reserves and items outside the cash limit. This compares with a cash 
limit underspend at quarter two of £65,000. 

Page 566



69 The forecast underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity across the service to try and remain within the 
cash limit. The projected underspend is accounted as follows:  

(a) Communications and Marketing is forecast to be under budget by 
£68,000, primarily due to a managed underspend on employee 
costs of £13,000 and a forecast underspend on supplies and 
services of £57,000. There are also other minor variances in this 
service area; 

(b) Service Management is forecast to be under budget by £37,000, 
due to a managed underspend on employee costs amounting to 
£37,000. 

70 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, a net £0.148 million of 
additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 has been 
excluded from the outturn.  COVID-19 related expenditure, savings and 
loss of income has also been excluded from the cash limit outturn. 

71 In addition, circa £0.352 million of costs relating to contributions to and 
from reserves and cash limits have been excluded from the outturn, 
details as follows: 

(a) £11,000 transfer from reserves in respect of the Promoting 
Durham campaign; and 

(b) £0.363 million to the Powered by People Reserve to fund a new 
initiative to assist with the post COVID-19 recovery plans for the 
county next year. 

72 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items 
proposed to be treated as outside the cash limit and transfers from the 
Cash Limit to fund activity in the year, the total cash limit reserve 
forecasted to be carried forward for the service at 31 March 2021 is 
£0.215 million. 

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) 

73 The updated forecast of outturn for CYPS is a cash limit overspend of 
£1.879 million in 2020/21, representing circa 1.51% of the total budget 
for the service. The cash limit overspend forecast at quarter two was 
£1.544 million.  

74 The projection excludes forecast use of/ contributions to earmarked 
reserves and items outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs 
which are met from corporate reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure, 
savings and loss of income have also been excluded from the cash limit 
outturn.  

Page 567



75 The updated position factors in forecast overspends within Education of 
£1.132 million and Children’s Services of £6.311 million, with further 
details provided below: 

(a) within the Education Service the forecast overspend of £1.132 
million includes £1.163 million forecast overspend on Home to 
School Transport, a forecasted shortfall in school and academy 
SLA income of £0.549 million, £0.414 million shortfall on Day 
Care Nursery income, £0.265 million shortfall on Durham 
Leadership Centre lettings income, £0.296 million shortfall in 
training course income across Support and Development and 
Performance & Standards and loss of recharge income £51,000. 
Savings within the services are a £0.242 million underspend 
related to Pension Liability savings,  £0.256 million  saving in 
School swimming SLA related to savings in staff costs, venue hire 
and contribution to school pool costs. There is an estimate £0.227 
million saving from Early Years Sustainability and £0.881 million 
underspend related to the early achievement of 2021/22  savings;  

(b) Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care and Early Help & 
Intervention) is forecast to be a net £6.311 million over budget for 
the year. The Service is forecasting an overspend of £ 4.873 
million related to the forecast cost of looked after children’s 
placements  (which have increased to circa 960 children) and a 
forecast reduction in income £2.435 million  from the sale of beds 
in the Secure Centre  offset by £0.779 million savings on external 
adoption fees and £0.218 million on young people placed on 
remand; 

(c) the direct financial impact of COVID-19 is estimated at £5.564 
million, mainly related to a forecast shortfall in income from the 
sale of beds in the Aycliffe Secure Centre to other local 
authorities and additional staffing and children’s placement costs 
in Children’s Social Care. 

76 The pressure on the budget in children’s social care has been evident 
for a number of years, as the number of children in the care system has 
increased significantly and their needs have continued to become more 
complex. There are now 960 looked after children, compared to an 
average of 877 in 2019/20. This budget was increased by £5.5 million in 
2018/19 and by a further £6.5 million in 2019/20 to cover the escalating 
care costs, as well as additional costs for staffing in order to meet the 
expected challenges and pressures identified in 2019/20. The 2020/21 
budget also includes an additional increase for placement costs of 
£3.417 million. 

Page 568



77 The 2020/21 budgets also include additional budget growth of £3.2 
million to recognise the financial pressures being experienced in 
delivering home to school transport, which has seen costs increase by 
54% over the last two years.  

78 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£7.525 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £1.961 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is therefore £5.564 million, and this will be covered 
corporately by utilising Central Government grants. 

79 The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £0.382 
million contribution to reserves. Transfers to and from earmarked 
reserves, cash limits and contingencies have been applied to finance 
the following items: 

(a) £71,000 use of Tackling Troubled Families Reserve linked to 
temporary posts in the current financial year; 

(b) £58,000 use of Extended Personal Advisor Reserve to cover the 
costs of temporary posts in the current financial year;  

(c) £0.114 million use of Emotional Well Being Reserve to fund a 
forecast shortfall in income in the current financial year; 

(d) £0.558 million contribution to the Secure Services Reserve mainly 
from savings from vacancies; 

(e) £0.100 million use of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 
reserve for Durham Enable; 

(f) £59,000 use of Early Years Sustainability reserve linked to Early 
Years Professional Development Programme spend; 

(g) £0.750 million contribution to Durham Enable Reserves to fund 
staff costs on the project for the next 3 years; 

(h) £38,000 contribution to Engagement with Young People 
Reserves due to the delayed start of the project; 

(i) £20,000 contribution to Durham Learning Resources Reserve 
from additional income achieved to go towards future investment 
in resources; 

(j) £0.591 million use of Adult Learning Reserve to cover the cost of 
third-party payments to delivery partners; 

(k) £9,000 contribution to Education from School Reserves to cover 
Whitworth Park Academy historic petty cash. 

Page 569



80 In 2019/20, £6.217 million was transferred from general reserves to the 
CYPS cash limit reserve to prevent the service having a deficit reserve 
balance carried forward at 31 March 2020 and to balance the CYPS 
cash limit reserve to zero. Taking the forecast outturn position into 
account, there is a forecast £1.879 million deficit cash limit position at 
year end. Consideration will need to be given at final outturn as to how 
to address this issue. 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (NCC) 

81 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21, based on the position to 31 
December 2020, is an underspend of £1.206 million, which compares 
with the position forecast at quarter two of a cash limit break-even 
position.  

82 The updated forecast takes into account the forecast use of earmarked 
reserves and excludes items treated as outside the cash limit, including 
COVID-19 related expenditure, savings and loss of income.  

83 The main reasons accounting for the cash limit outturn position are as 
follows: 

(a) Environmental Services is forecast to underspend by £27,000. 
There are overspends relating to pay re-gradings for Refuse 
Collection drivers of £0.206 million and Neighbourhood Wardens of 
£0.188 million, while income at the Joint Stocks landfill site has 
underachieved by £0.350 million for power generation.  

These overspends have been offset by savings resulting from 
delays in implementing two new refuse collection rounds (£0.330 
million), and delays in appointing new Neighbourhood Wardens 
(£0.199 million).  The service received full year budget growth in 
2020/21 for the new refuse rounds and the additional 
Neighbourhood Wardens, meaning that the delays in 
implementation are producing one-off underspends in the current 
year.  

In addition, there is a £96,000 underspend on power generation 
equipment maintenance and £0.156 million underspend in vacant 
posts within the service; 

(b) Technical Services is forecast to be underspent by £0.906 million. 
The main reasons for this are: employee savings of £0.354 million 
due to vacancies in Strategic Highways, a £0.254 million 
underspend on electricity, and additional income of £0.308 million 
from permit income and other fees and charges. There is also an 
overspend of £1.317 million on Winter Maintenance due to the low 
temperatures in January that necessitated a high level of activity, 
however this is being treated as outside the cash limit; 

Page 570



(c) Partnerships & Community Engagement is forecast to underspend 
by £48,000.  This is mainly due to a managed underspend in 
Supplies and Services, that will be utilised in 2021/22 for a delayed 
MTFP saving; 

(d) Consumer Protection is forecast to underspend by £0.226 million.  
There are a number of vacant posts that are producing an 
underspend of £0.375 million along with an underspend in general 
supplies budgets of £40,000.  However, this is partially offset by an 
overspend on staff re-gradings (£0.111 million) and £78,000 under 
achieved licensing income. 

84 In arriving at the cash limit position, COVID-19 related expenditure and 
lost income of £13.795 million, offset by COVID-19 related savings of 
£108,000 have been excluded from the forecasts. COVID-19 related 
costs are being treated corporately and offset by Government funding. 

85 In addition, a number of contributions to and from reserves and 
contingencies have been factored into the outturn. These only have a 
net effect of £8,000 overall but the major items are: 

(a) £0.352 million net contribution to reserves relating to Clean & 
Green, Highways and Environmental Management; 

(b) £0.270 million contribution to reserves relating to the procurement 
of future waste contracts; and 

(c) £0.614 million drawdown from Corporate Contingencies to fund 
further set up costs for the Teesside Waste Project. 

86 Taking the projected outturn position into account and planned use of 
the cash limit reserve in year, the forecasted cash limit reserve to be 
carried forward for Neighbourhoods & Climate Change is £1.403 million. 

Regeneration, Economy and Growth (REG) 

87 The updated forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21, based on the 
position to 31 December 2020, is a cash limit underspend of £1.761 
million, which compares with the forecast at quarter two of a cash limit 
underspend of £1.032 million. 

88 The updated forecasts take into account the forecast use of / 
contributions to earmarked reserves and items outside the cash limit 
such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves. 
COVID-19 related expenditure, savings and loss of income has also 
been excluded from the cash limit outturn. 

Page 571



89 The forecast outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity across REG to remain within the cash limit.  The 
main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows: 

(a) Culture & Sport is forecast to be underspent by £0.127 million.  
This results from an underspend of £0.481 million across Locality 
Delivery offset by an overspend of £0.342 million relating to the 
former Leisureworks Service. There are also a number of other 
minor variances across the service;  

(b) Business Durham is forecast to be £0.387 million underspent. This 
relates to underspending within Business Space of £0.598 million 
due to the service achieving higher than budgeted levels of income 
and savings in Corporate employee costs (£0.106 million) and 
Innovation and Marketing (£42,000), offset by an overspend in 
Operations (£0.359 million); 

An additional sum of £0.500 million has been included in the 
forecast spend in respect of grant support for businesses. This is to 
safeguard jobs and facilitate economic recovery. The funding for 
this work is included in the £17.227 million additional costs, and 
lost income relating to COVID-19 shown below; 

(c) Transport and Contracted services is forecast to be £0.203 million 
underspent.  This is mainly due to an underspend in Traffic due to 
an increase in enforcement and advertising income (£0.193 million) 
and other minor variances across the service; 

(d) Development and Housing is forecast to be underspent by £0.543 
million. This relates to underspends in Housing Solutions of £0.454 
million and in Planning Development of £0.254 million, offset by a 
projected overspend in Economic Development of £0.142 million. 
There were also a number of other minor overspends across the 
service; 

(e) Corporate Property and Land is forecast to be £0.394 million 
underspent, mainly resulting from an underspend of £0.174 million 
relating to an insurance claim for fire damage at Dale View 
Caravan Park, unbudgeted rental income in Assets of £75,000 and 
overachievement of income of £0.148 million for capital and 
revenue projects in Construction Programme Project Management 
Unit (CPPMU) . Building Services construction and repairs / 
maintenance teams are currently forecasting a break-even position. 
There were also a number of other minor variances across the 
service.  

In order to mitigate workload shortages arising from the COVID-19 
pandemic, an additional sum of £1.2 million has been included in 

Page 572



the forecast spend in respect repairs and maintenance. The 
funding for this work is included in the £17.227 million additional 
costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 shown below. 

90 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£17.227 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-
19 and £6.148 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net 
COVID-19 impact is therefore £11.079 million, and this will be covered 
corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever possible. 

91 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, a net £10.425 million relating 
to use of / contributions to earmarked reserves and cash limits has been 
excluded from the outturn. The major items being: 

(a) Net £0.698 million transferred to reserves by Development and 
Housing mainly in respect of social housing (£0.500 million), 
homelessness reduction (0.329 million) and Towns improvement 
(£0.250 million) and Jade Estate (£0.242 million), offset by the 
use of reserves to support the welfare assistance programme 
(£0.122 million) and the commercialisation strategy (£99,000) and 
employability service (£30,000) and £0.300 million from the 
planning reserve in respect of the reprovision of sports facilities; 

(b) £8.5 million from a short term investment budget was transferred 
to reserves for use in 2021/22 by Culture, Sport & Tourism. 
£0.146 million was also transferred to reserves in respect of 
externally funded schemes to be funded over more than one 
year; 

(c) £93,000 use of reserves relating to Transport and Contracted 
Services relating to provision of occupational therapy for Care 
Connect clients and of traffic cameras in Strategic Traffic; 

(d) £1.174 million transferred to reserves mainly in respect of 
regeneration initiatives (£0.400 million), building defects (£0.493 
million), and IT improvements (£0.275 million). 

92 Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash 
limit reserve to be carried forward for Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth is £1.925 million. 

Resources 

93 The 2020/21 forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit 
underspend of £0.963 million after taking account of the forecast use of/ 
contributions to earmarked reserves and items outside the cash limit 
such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves. 
COVID-19 related expenditure, savings and loss of income has also 

Page 573



been excluded from the cash limit outturn. The cash limit underspend at 
quarter two was £0.374 million. 

94 The forecast is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity across the service to try and remain within the 
cash limit. The projected under budget position is the net effect of the 
following items: 

(a) Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be 
under budget by £0.128 million, with managed overspending in 
Occupational Health of £28,000 offset by a forecast underspend 
in Health and Safety of £0.108 million, Strategic Finance of 
£35,000 and Financial Systems of £12,000 and a number of other 
minor variances in this service area; 

(b) Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be under 
budget by £0.504 million, primarily due to managed underspends 
on employee costs of £0.332 million, additional income of £0.337 
million linked to additional government grant in Revenues and 
Benefits. There are also a number of other minor variances in this 
service area. Payroll and Employee Services is forecasting to be 
over budget by £0.127 million mainly due to unachievable income 
of £50,000 and a managed overspend on employees costs of 
£87,000, offset by a managed underspend on supplies and 
services costs of £10,000. Financial Management is forecasting to 
be over budget by £40,000 mainly due to a forecast of 
unachievable income of £70,000, offset by a managed 
underspend on employee costs of £27,000 and a number of other 
minor variances in this service area; 

(c) Digital and Customer Services is forecast to be over budget by 
£25,000. There is a managed underspend of £0.364 million on 
employee costs and transport costs of £41,000. These have been 
offset by a forecast overspend of £0.100 million on supplies and 
services and £34,000 due to unachievable income. Provision has 
also been made for Direct Revenue Funding of three ICT capital 
projects to the value of £0.300 million. There are also a number of 
other minor variances in this service area; 

(d) Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be under 
budget by £50,000, comprising of a managed underspend of 
£4,000 on employee related expenditure, a £5,000 overspend on 
supplies and services offset by £51,000 of additional income; 

(e) Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be under budget by 
£0.241 million. This includes a £75,000 managed underspend on 
employee related expenditure, a £0.118 million overspend on 

Page 574



supplies and services and a £10,000 overspend on premises 
related costs. This net overspend has been offset by a forecast 
underspend of £0.294 million in respect of additional income;  

(f) People and Talent Management is forecast to be under budget by 
£14,000, which includes a £36,000 managed underspend on 
employee related expenditure and an £35,000 overspend on 
supplies and services. The service is also forecasting an 
overachievement of income of £13,000;  

(g) Strategy is forecast to be under budget by £4,000, due to a 
managed overspend on employee related costs of £4,000, which 
has been more than offset by a forecast underspend of £8,000 on 
supplies and services; 

(h) Transformation is forecast to be under budget by £50,000, due to 
a managed overspend on employee costs of £70,000 and an 
overachievement of income amounting to £0.120 million; 

(i) There are no material variances in Service Management. 

95 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£4.560 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and £0.789 million of COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-
19 impact is therefore £3.771 million, and this will be covered 
corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever possible. 

96 The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £3.374 
million of contributions to / from reserves, cash limits and contingencies 
have been applied to finance the following items: 

(a) £12,000 transfer from the Corporate Commercialisation Reserve 
to support a temporary post in the CYPS Finance Team; 

(b) £0.700 million from the ER/VR Reserve to fund the cost of early 
retirements/voluntary redundancies; 

(c) £1.521 million to the Business Support Reserve in respect of the 
forecast underspend on the unitised Business Support Function in 
lieu of future MTFP savings; 

(d) £39,000 transfer to the HR Reserve to fund training and 
development initiatives;  

(e) £65,000 to the ICT Reserve to support ICT developments; 

(f) £73,000 transfer to the SFO Trading Reserve from additional 
income received to help fund future finance system 
developments; 

Page 575



(g) £0.354 million transfer to the Corporate Procurement Reserve 
which will be used to finance various procurement initiatives; 

(h) £34,000 to the Transformation Programme Reserve. The 
contribution reflects the forecast underspend in 2020/21 
associated with the Transformation Team; 

(i) £2.000 million of Additional Restriction Grant Funding has been 
transferred to the Business Recovery Grant Scheme Reserve to 
support County Durham businesses to recover from the impact of 
COVID-19 in order to safeguard jobs and facilitate economic 
recovery. 

97 Taking the outturn position into account including items outside the cash 
limit and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit 
reserve to be carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £2.037 
million. 

Corporate Costs 

98 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 for Resources - Centrally 
Administered Costs is a cash limit underspend of £0.262 million. This 
takes into account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit such as 
the use of / contribution to earmarked reserves. The cash limit 
underspend at quarter two was £0.196 million. 

99 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring 
£0.250 million of additional costs and lost income relating to COVID-19 
and no COVID-19 related underspends.  The net COVID-19 impact is 
therefore £0.250 million, and this will be covered corporately by utilising 
Central Government grants wherever possible. 

100 The forecast cash limit outturn shown is the position after a £2.5 million 
contribution to a Council Tax Hardship Reserve to deliver financial 
support, including reduced council tax bills and increased Welfare 
Assistance, to economically vulnerable residents next year. 

101 The forecast outturn position reflects reduced expenditure on payment 
card fees of £79,000, corporate subscriptions of £21,000, expenses 
associated with raising loans of £42,000 and legal expenses of £27,000. 
In addition, there is a projected overachievement of income from de-
minimis capital receipts of £0.103 million arising from the sale of assets. 
There are also a few other minor variances in this service area. 

Page 576



Central Budgets 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing 

102 There is a revised budget of £60.285 million for these costs - an 
increase of £0.097 million from the £60.188 million at quarter two, to 
account for an indexed increase in the costs of the lease for the first 
phase of the office developments at Freeman’s Reach. The forecast 
outturn position is expected to be in line with the revised budget. 

Interest and Investment Income 

103 The forecast income of £2.650 million is £0.250 million less than the 
£2.900 million budget.  The forecast shortfall reflects reduced 
investment returns as interest rates achievable on short term 
investments have reduced significantly. This economic downturn is also 
reflected in lower than expected income from dividends. 

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast 

104 Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted 
future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school 
earmarked reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2020, the 
forecast movement on reserves during the year and the forecast closing 
balance as at 31 March 2021.   

105 A summary of the latest forecast of council reserves (excluding school 
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total 
earmarked and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £14.195 
million in 2020/21, from £204.697 million to £190.502 million. The end of 
year reserves forecast is partially inflated due to the carry forward into 
2021/22 of specific COVID-19 grant support such as Outbreak 
Management funding. The movement in earmarked reserves is 
explained in the service grouping commentaries.  This utilisation is to be 
expected as these funds are applied to the expenditure for which they 
were earmarked. 

 

Earmarked Cash Limit Total

£ million £ million £ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2020 -192.938 -11.759 -204.697

Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked 

Reserves
16.572 -2.377 14.195

Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 31 March 

2021
-176.366 -14.136 -190.502

Page 577



Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools 

106 The council currently maintains 205 schools, including nursery, primary, 
secondary, special schools and a single Alternative Provision (AP) 
school.  The AP school is for pupils who have been permanently 
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion.  

107 The original budget for 2020/21 for these 205 maintained schools was 
£282 million, funded by income of £71 million, formula funding budget 
shares of £203 million (from central government funding), and a 
budgeted £8 million use of accumulated schools’ reserves.  The table 
below summarises the schools’ initial budgets. 
 

  
Nursery 

Alternative 
Provision 

Primary Secondary Special 
Original 
Annual 
Budget 

(£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) 

Employees  4.463  3.387  157.171  34.230  25.824  225.076  

Premises  0.275  0.169  9.749  2.515  1.077  13.785  

Transport  0.002  0.843  0.417  0.430  0.297  1.988  

Supplies and Services  0.525  2.051  30.097  5.938  2.830  41.441  

Income  (3.862) (0.673) (48.053) (14.054) (4.911) (71.553) 

Net expenditure 1.404  5.776  149.380  29.059  25.118  210.737  

Budget share (1.064) (5.776) (144.129) (29.084) (22.848) (202.901) 

Contribution to/(from) reserves (0.340) 
                  

-   
(5.251) 0.025  (2.270) (7.836) 

Balance at 31 Mar 20 0.937  -    17.839  (2.426) 2.772  19.122  

Balance at 31 Mar 21 0.598  -    12.588  (2.401) 0.502  11.286  

 
 

108 The table below summarises the current forecast outturn for these 
schools. 

  
Nursery 

Alternative 
Provision 

Primary Secondary Special 
Original 
Annual 
Budget 

(£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) (£ million) 

Employees  4.500  3.102  158.673  34.226  24.978  225.478  

Premises  0.337  0.199  10.285  2.600  1.032  14.453  

Transport  0.001  0.706  0.325  0.373  0.253  1.657  

Supplies and Services  0.416  2.497  28.530  5.856  2.613  39.911  

Income  (3.954) (0.675) (52.177) (14.891) (4.504) (76.201) 

Net expenditure 1.300  5.828  145.636  28.163  24.372  205.299  

Budget share (1.064) (5.776) (144.253) (29.108) (22.848) (203.050) 

Contribution to/(from) reserves (0.235) (0.052) (1.383) 0.945  (1.524) (2.250) 

Balance at 31 Mar 20 0.937  -                      17.839  (2.426) 2.772  19.122  

Balance at 31 Mar 21 0.701  (0.052) 16.456  (1.481) 1.248  16.872  

 

 

Page 578



109 The current forecasts indicate a use of £2.25 million of accumulated 
schools’ reserves this year. This is significantly less than the budgeted 
use of balances, which is consistent with the cautious approach 
adopted by schools over recent years. 

110 This year’s outturn will be significantly affected by the COVID-19 related 
closures and changes to ways of working when schools have been 
operation. Accordingly, there is an increased degree of uncertainty 
about the final outturn.  

111 Eight schools were given approval to set deficit budgets where planned 
expenditure during 2020/21 would result in a deficit balance at 31 March 
2021 (known as a licensed deficit). Three of these schools have 
subsequently converted to academies during the course of 2020/21 and 
are excluded from the figures provided. The remaining five schools 
budgeted positions are summarised in the table below. 

 

School Name  Phase  Balance 
at 31 

March 
2020 

Planned 
in-year 
use of 

reserves 

Licensed 
deficit at 
31 March 

2021 

Latest 
Forecast 
in-year 
Use of 

Reserves 
 

Latest 
Forecast 
Position 

at 31 
March 
2021 

(£ 
million) 

(£ 
million) 

(£ 
million) 

(£ 
million) 

(£ 
million) 

Ferryhill Station Primary (0.023) (0.009) (0.032) (0.009) (0.032) 

St. Thomas More RC Primary (0.025) (0.078) (0.103) (0.065) (0.090)  

Wellfield Secondary (3.406) 0.222  (3.184) 0.163  (3.243) 

The Durham Federation Secondary (0.414) (0.381) (0.795) (0.407) (0.821) 

Windlestone Special 0.326 (0.628) (0.302) (0.473) (0.147) 

 

112 Ferryhill Station is now sharing a headteacher with another school and 
is working on staffing changes to enable it to balance its budget in 
future years.  

113 St Thomas More’s forms part of a federation with St Josephs and the 
future of both schools is being discussed with the Roman Catholic 
Diocese. Both of these schools are expected to convert to join the 
Bishop Wilkinson Multi-Academy Trust as part of the planned 
conversion of all remaining maintained Roman Catholic schools over 
the coming eighteen months to various RC Multi Academy Trusts.  

114 St Thomas More faces significant challenges in terms of its pupil 
numbers and there are some not insignificant capital investments 
required in the building that will need to be addressed by the Bishop 
Wilkinson Multi-Academy Trust going forward. To facilitate the early 
transfer of these schools and to limit the councils exposure to further 

Page 579



costs the accumulated deficit will need to be written off at the point of 
transfer. 

115 Wellfield and the Durham Federation are currently forecast to exceed its 
licensed deficit and the School funding Team will work with these school 
to identify further savings. 

116 Windlestone will amalgamate with Elemore Hall school in September 
2021. In the meantime the school has made savings against its original 
budget and is expected to have a deficit well within its licensed deficit. 

117 In terms of the three schools with licenced deficits that have converted 
in year (Tanfield, Wolsingham and St Bedes) the estimated write off of 
these deficits totals £4.700 million and these costs will charged against 
the earmarked reserve set aside to meet such costs.  

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block 

118 The quarter three financial forecasts for the centrally retained DSG 
budgets show an overspend of £1.994 million against a total budget of 
£61.766 million to year end, which represents a 3% overspend.  
 

DSG Block 
Budget  
£ million 

Outturn 
£ million 

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend  
£ million 

Schools de-delegated 0.562 0.665 0.103 

High Needs 27.006 28.983 1.977 

Early Years 31.489 31.403 (0.086) 

Central Schools Services 2.709 2.709 0 

TOTAL 61.766 63.760 1.994 

 

119 The forecast overspend position relates to spending against the High 
Needs Block (HNB), which is forecast to overspend by £1.977 million.  

120 There has been a significant increase in requests for top up funding 
across all education phases and the data relating to support plans 
beginning in September 2020 has been reflected in the SEND 
management system. The forecast is based on this data.  

121 It is difficult to project the future pattern of expenditure for top up funding 
following the impact of COVID-19 the ongoing uncertainty around 
school closures. 

Page 580



122 There is a forecast underspend for placements for post-16 students 
across the FE and Independent sector. Expenditure in this area has 
increased from the previous year but at a lower rate than anticipated in 
the budget planning. 

123 All areas of HNB expenditure will be kept under close review in light of 
COVID-19 issues, with particular attention on the impact of schools 
returning where it is possible we will see an upward trend in the volume 
of requests for additional support for high needs pupils. 

124 The impact of the current forecast on the DSG reserves position is 
shown in the following table:  
 

DSG Reserves 

High 
Needs 
Block 

£ million 

Early 
Years 
Block 

£ million 

Schools 
Block 

£ million 

Total 
DSG 

£ million 

Balance as at 1 April 2019 (2.728) 1.370 1.009 (0.348) 

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2019/20 (8.598) (0.095) (0.365) (9.058) 

Contribution from general reserves 5.600 0 0 5.600 

Balance as at 1 April 2020 (5.726) 1.275 0.644 (3.806) 

Early Years adjustment 2019/20 0 0.097 0 0.097 

Forecast Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2020/21 (1.977) 0.086 (0.103) (1.994) 

Forecast balance as at 31 March 2021 (7.703) 1.458 0.541 (5.703) 

 

125 The overall DSG reserve was in deficit of £3.806 million at the start of 
the financial year as a result of the accumulated deficit position in 
relation to the high needs block and the deficit is set to increase further 
this year. 

126 A five-year plan for high needs block funding and expenditure, including 
recovery of the accumulated deficit by the end of the five-year period, 
was approved by Cabinet in January 2020. An updated version of the 
plan was reported to Cabinet in July 2020. 

127 Following a funding announcement from Government on 20 July 2020, 
further information is now available about HNB funding levels in 
2021/22. The provisional position for Durham is better than forecast in 
the previous version of the five-year plan and the process of updating 
the plan to reflect this change, as well as the revised forecast outturn 
position for 20/21, is underway. 

128 Legislation came into force in November 2020 which means that, where 
a local authority has a deficit in respect of its schools budget for a 
financial year beginning on 1 April 2020, 2021 or 2022, the authority: 

Page 581



(a) must not charge to a revenue account an amount in respect of 
that deficit; and  

(b) must charge the amount of the deficit to an account established, 
charged and used solely for the purpose of recognising deficits in 
respect of its schools budget.   

129 This means that the council can no longer hold a deficit earmarked DSG 
reserve and must instead transfer any DSG deficit balance to a new 
account (in unusable reserves).  Therefore it is anticipated that at 
outturn the HNB deficit balance, which is currently forecast to be 
£7.703m, will be transferred out of earmarked reserves and held in the 
new unusable reserve, whilst the five-year plan continues to recover the 
accumulated deficit. 

Capital 

Background 

130 The original budget of £168.856 million was revised at both quarter one 
and quarter two, with the revised budget of £145.755 million being 
approved by Cabinet on 18 November 2020 as part of the Quarter 2 
Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21. Details of the 
original and revised budget are shown in the table below.   

131 The council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG)  closely 
monitors the capital programme has since considered further revisions 
to the capital programme, taking into account additional resources 
received by the authority and further requests for reprofiling as Service 
Management Teams continue to monitor and review their capital 
schemes especially in light of delays associated with the impact of 
COVID-19. 

Current Position 

132 The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval 
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the actual capital 
spend as at 31 December 2020. 

Page 582



Service Grouping Original 
Budget 
2020/21  

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

 Quarter 2 

Amendments 
recommended 
by MOWG post 

Quarter 2 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

 Quarter 3 

Actual 
Spend to 

31 
December 

2020 

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million 

Adult and Health 
Services 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Children and Young 
People's Services 

31.945 25.845 -2.868 22.977 12.676 

Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

43.270 40.094 3.619 43.713 24.237 

Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth 

85.435 74.019 -4.808 69.211 42.097 

Resources 8.206 5.797 -2.187 3.610 2.480 

TOTAL 168.856 145.755 -6.244 139.511 81.490 

 

133 Since the revised 2020/21 budget was agreed in November 2020, 
MOWG has considered a number of variations to the capital programme 
which are a result of additions and reductions in resources received by 
the council and reprofiling of budgets over future years. Variations of 
note are as follows: 

Additions and Reductions 

(c) CYPS – the service will utilise the following additional funding: 

(i) Children’s Services – Children’s Care – £0.450 million for 
the acquisition of a new property to replace Tow Law 
Children’s Home, financed from capital contingencies.  

(ii) Education – Early Years – £0.631 million DfE grant for a 
School Nurseries Capital Fund scheme at West Cornforth 
Primary. 

(d) NCC – the service will utilise the following additional funding as 
follows:  

(i) Environmental Services £0.338 million OLEV grant from 
DfT for the On-Street Residential Electric Vehicle 
Chargepoint scheme and £28,000 for Council Vehicle 
Electric Charging points, financed from direct revenue 
funding.  £0.125 million for Installation of Play Equipment at 
Allensford, financed from a ringfenced capital receipt.     

Page 583



(ii) Technical - £7.786 million grant from DfT was added to the 
Pothole Fund budget for allocation to individual schemes. 

(e) REG – the service has the following additions and reductions: 

(i) Development and Housing – grant of £0.750 million from 
MHCLG for Bishop Auckland Towns Fund (Accelerated 
Funding). A sum of £0.500 million for Chapter Homes, 
financed from loan repayments which are treated as capital 
receipts.  A sum of £68,530 for the Financial Assistance 
Policy – Equity Loans scheme, financed from the repayment 
of past equity loans.  The Aykley Heads Plot C budget has 
been increased by £0.110 million in 2020/21 and £5.465 
million in 2021/22, funded by DCC – self-financing.  Grant of 
£1.392 million from BEIS for Green Homes – Phase 1 and 
£0.350 million grant from MHCLG / Homes England for 
Wheatley Hill NSAP (Next Steps Accommodation 
Programme).  

(ii) Business Durham – £0.157 million for Netpark Café, 
funded by DCC – self-financing. 

(iii) Culture and Sport - £2.128 million for Weardale Railway 
financed from capital contingencies, with £1.260 million 
being profiled in 2020/21.  The Durham University 
contribution to the Millennium Place Cultural Hub scheme 
has been reduced by £10,000 and funding of £50,000 added 
from reserves. 

(iv) Transport and Contracted Services – £0.180 million for the 
Junction 60 A1(M) / Bradbury Services scheme, financed by 
£30,000 grant from Highways England, £75,000 contribution 
from Tees Valley Combined Authority and £75,000 from 
reserves. 

(f) Resources - £1.461 million grant for the Durham History Centre 
from the ERDF and £0.520 million grant from BDUK for the Digital 
Durham Top Up Scheme, both profiled in 2021/22. 

134 Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming 
and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the 
following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2020/21: 

(a) CYPS – £4.109 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 into 
2021/22 and 2022/23.  £0.940 million of this relates to school 
devolved capital budgets at various schools across the county. 
Other significant amounts include £0.578 million for Spennymoor 
new build primary school, £0.734 million for the new build primary 
school at Bowburn, £0.450 million for Tow Law children’s home 

Page 584



replacement and £0.343 million for the replacement children’s 
home for 9 Cedar Drive; 

(b) NCC - £4.728 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 into 
2021/22.  This includes £1.233 million for SLERP2 street lighting 
replacement schemes, £0.991 million for New Elvet Bridge,  and 
£0.200 million for Crimdon Coastal Hub; 

(c) REG - £9.801 million (net) has been re-profiled from 2020/21 
across the period from 2021/22 to 2023/24.  Re-profiling from 
2020/21 into 2021/22 includes £2.334 million for the new Council 
headquarters, in line with a revised schedule from Kier.  Other 
significant amounts re-profiled from 2020/21 include £1.500 
million for the Finance Durham Investment Fund, £1.000 million of 
the Disabled Facilities Grant budget and £1.000 million for the 
Office Accommodation project, with £0.960 million going into 
2022/23 and £40,000 into 2023/24.  £1.885 million of the Chapter 
Homes budget has been re-profiled from 2021/22 into 2020/21 to 
reflect the latest forecast of loan and equity payment 
requirements.  Budget of £1.584 million from 2020/21 and £3.564 
million from 2021/22 for Beamish Museum Redevelopment has 
been re-profiled into 2022/23 and 2023/24.  Newton Aycliffe 
Housing Infrastructure Fund budget of £50,000 in 2020/21 and 
£3.245 million in 2021/22 has been re-profiled into 2022/23 and 
2023/24 due to a delay in the appointment of planning 
consultants.  The budget for Durham Bus Station and North Road 
Development has been re-profiled to move £0.200 million from 
2020/21 and £1.300 million from 2021/22 into 2022/23 due to 
delays to demolition of the existing bus station.  Budget of £0.355 
million from 2020/21 and £1.603 million from 2021/22 has been 
re-profiled into 2022/23 for the Stonebridge Park and Ride 
scheme.  The budget for Horden (Peterlee) Railway Station has 
been re-profiled to transfer £0.362 million from 2020/21 and 
£1.138 million from 2021/22 into 2022/23, and for the A19/A1018 
Seaton Lane Junction scheme £80,000 from 2020/21 and £0.920 
million from 2021/22 has been re-profiled into 2022/23;      

(d) Resources - £2.187 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 
into 2021/22.  Significant amounts include £0.560 million for 
Digital Durham schemes, £0.434 million for End User Equipment 
Replacement, £0.200 million for the ICT Performance 
Management System, £0.200 million for Middleware Software – 
Enterprise Application Integration and £0.180 million for the ICT 
Service Desk Replacement scheme.  £0.260 million of the 
Durham History Centre budget has been re-profiled from 2020/21 
to 2021/22 due to a delay in awarding the main contract.     

Page 585



Capital Financing 

135 The following table summarises the recommended financing of the 
revised capital programme: 

Financed By: Original 
Budget 
2020/21 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21  

Quarter 2 

Amendments 
recommende
d by MOWG 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21  

Quarter 3 

£ million £ million £ million £ million 

Grants and Contributions 44.010 45.357 9.665 55.022 

Revenue and Reserves 36.321 37.344 -7.443 29.901 

Capital Receipts 11.325 7.866 -1.221 6.645 

Borrowing 77.200 55.189 -7.246 47.943 

TOTAL 168.856 145.755 -6.245 139.511 

 

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds 

Council Tax 

136 Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed 
by the Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s 
Revenues and Customs (HMRC). Exemptions, reliefs and discounts are 
awarded dependent upon the state of the property, its use and 
occupiers’ personal circumstances.  

137 The in year collection rate at 31 December 2020 was 79.12%, which is 
4.59% points below the same position in 2019/20, reflecting the impact 
of COVID-19, and the cessation of recovery action for unpaid Council 
Tax.   

138 The council is providing support to those impacted by COVID-19 
through Hardship payments of up to £300 for those in receipt of council 
tax support who are still left with a bill to pay, with £3.818 million having 
been awarded to 31 December.    

139 During quarter three the collections team have been proactively calling 
residents in arrears who have not yet engaged following the receipt of 
this information to discuss their situation and see what further help and 
assistance we can give them. On 12 February 2021, the Corporate 
Director of Resources took a delegated decision to reinstate formal 
recovery action up to and including final demand. 

140 The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter three for the current 
and last two financial years, are detailed below: 

Page 586



Billing Year Position at 31 December 

Each Year % 

2020/21 79.12 

2019/20 83.71 

2018/19 84.15 

 

141 The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount 
collectable from Council Tax payers in the long run, rather than the 
actual cash collected in the year the charges are raised. Likely bad 
debts are accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision. The 
amount estimated to be collectable is calculated each year by reference 
to the actual council tax base for all domestic properties in the county 
(schedule of all properties, discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for 
non-collection.  

142 Actual cash collected as at 31 December 2020 was £235.254 million 
compared with £241.420 million as at 31 December 2019, however, 
when the Council Tax increases for 2020/21 are factored in this 
represents a year on year real terms reduction of £18.177 million in 
terms of Council Tax income received. 

143 Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and 
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the 
actual amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on 
a day to day basis. In addition, adjustments for previous billing years 
take place during each accounting year. All of these adjustments mean 
that the actual amounts collected will always differ from the estimate.   

144 Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into 
account the calculated change required in the bad debt provision, 
determines whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared 
proportionately between the council and its major preceptors, being 
Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority. 

145 In July 2020 the government announced that repayments to meet any 
collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 will instead be phased over a 
three-year period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to ease immediate pressures on 
budgets. 

146 At 31 December 2020, the estimated in year outturn for the Council Tax 
Collection Fund is a deficit of £5.720 million as shown in the table 
below. The council’s share of the in year deficit is £4.835 million which 
is caused in the main by the impact of COVID-19. As this amount is 
spread over three years the account is credited with two-thirds of the 

Page 587



deficit (£3.814 million), leaving the actual in year deficit as £1.907 
million, of which the council’s share is £1.612 million. The forecast 
position after taking into account the undeclared deficit as at 31 March 
2020 of £0.854 million is a total deficit of £2.760 million. Durham County 
Council’s share of this forecasted deficit is £2.333 million. 

 
£ million 

Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2020/21 354.629 
  

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments -60.770 

Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and 

write offs -6.024 

Net income receivable (a) 287.835 

Precepts and Demands 
 

Durham County Council  234.458 

Parish and Town Councils 13.637 

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner 30.509 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 14.951 

Total Precepts and Demands (b) 293.555 

Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b) -5.720 

Spreading of Deficit Adjustment 3.814 

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from 

2019/20 -0.854 

Estimated year end deficit -2.760 

 

147 Under normal circumstances the council would have declared its 
forecast surplus or deficit position for the year end as part of the tax 
base setting report in November and informing its principal precepting 
bodies (Police and Fire) of their shares of the forecast collection fund 
surplus or deficit position. The tax base setting report to Cabinet in 
November however referenced the significant uncertainty at that point in 
terms of future collection rates due to the impact of the pandemic and 
especially the removal of the furlough. It was determined that 
preceptors would be advised of the 2020/21 collection fund forecast 
outturn position at a later date although it was recognised that 
preceptors must be advised of the position by 15 January 2021 to aid 
their budget setting processes. 

Page 588



148 The taxbase setting report to 18 November 2020 also referenced the 
government intention for the financial impact of any 2020/21 in year 
deficit to be spread over the three years 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 
rather than all being accounted for in 2021/22. At that point details of 
how this scheme would operate were not known. 

149 As part of the local government finance settlement the government 
announced that a 75% grant would be made available to cover the in 
year 2020/21 collection fund losses. Guidance was subsequently 
provided on how the 75% grant is to be calculated for both council tax 
and business rate in-year collection deficits. 

150 The calculation of the council tax element of the 75% grant continues to 
assume a 99% collection of council tax rather than allowing local 
authorities to recover those elements of non-collection due to any 
additional provision for write off of bad debts. On that basis it is unlikely 
that 75% of the current forecast of the collection fund deficit will be 
recovered as the updated forecast assumes an increase in the level of 
bad debt that will ultimately be subject to write off. Detailed below are 
the updated forecasts for the collection fund for 2020/21 along with the 
forecast sums recoverable via the 75% grant and the impact of three 
year phasing of this grant across 2021/22 to 2023/24. 

Business Rates 

151 Business Rates Retention was implemented in 2013/14 and the council 
now has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of business rate 
yield, as income generated from Business Rates is shared between 
Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it is 
not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is 
monitored and audited, but also the level of income anticipated for the 
year is important.  

152 In 2017/18, following consultation, the government implemented the first 
revaluation of Business Rates since April 2010.  

153 The revaluation of the rateable values of all Business Properties was 
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency and, along with national 
changes to Multipliers, Relief Thresholds and Transitional 
Arrangements, came into effect from April 2017. The overall effect of 
the revaluation on the Collection Fund saw a decrease of an estimated 
£9.3 million in rates yield/ liability when compared to 2016/17. The 
revaluation should be cost neutral to Durham County Council and 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority. Therefore, 
compensation arrangements are made through adjustments to Section 
31 grants and Top Ups for their shares of losses of income. 

Page 589



154 Bills raised, exemptions and reliefs awarded are examined together with 
local knowledge of anticipated changes in reliefs such as Mandatory 
Charitable Relief and Discretionary Rate Relief on a monthly basis to 
enable a comparison with the January 2020 estimate of 2020/21 
Business Rates income that was used for budget setting purposes.   

155 On Monday 27 January 2020, the government announced additional 
business rates measures that would apply from 1 April 2020. The 
Budget on Wednesday 11 March 2020 confirmed the measures and on 
17 March 2020 the Chancellor set out a further package of targeted 
measures to support businesses through this period of disruption 
caused by COVID-19: 

(a) increasing the retail discount from one-third to 50 per cent for 
eligible retail businesses occupying a property with a rateable 
value less than £51,000; 

(b) extending the retail discount to eligible music venues and 
cinemas with a rateable value less than £51,000; 

(c) introducing a pub discount of £1,000 to eligible pubs with a 
rateable value of less than £100,000 - this being in addition to the 
retail discount and will apply after the retail discount. 

(d) Extending the £1,500 business rates discount for office space 
occupied by local newspapers for an additional 5 years until 31 
March 2025.     

156 In response to COVID-19, the government went further than previously 
announced and made the following commitments: 

(a) the retail discount will increase to 100% for 2020/21; 

(b) the relief will be expanded to the leisure and hospitality sectors; 

(c) the pub discounts will increase to £5,000. 

157 Further measures announced on 17 March and 18 March 2020 were:  

(a) A 12 month business rates holiday for all retail, hospitality and 
leisure businesses; 

(b) A business rate holiday for non-local authority child care providers 
in 20/21.   

158 In making these series of announcements the government stated that 
local authorities would be fully compensated for these Business Rate 
measures, which have the impact of significantly reducing the business 
rates chargeable/ business rates yield, via a Section 31 grant in 
2020/21.  

159 At 31 December 2020, the estimated outturn for the Collection Fund 
Business Rates is an in year deficit of £49.901 million of which the 

Page 590



council’s 49% share of £24.452 million. This deficit is offset by the 
receipt of additional Section 31 grant of £24.781 million due to the 
additional business rate reliefs. 

160 The in year Business Rates deficit for 2020/21 eligible to be spread over 
three years is calculated by taking the in year deficit and excluding the 
additional reliefs awarded which are fully funded by Section 31 grant. 
Therefore, the deficit eligible to be spread over three years is £1.138 
million (£0.379 million per year), of which the council’s share is £0.558 
million.  

161 The total deficit for 2020/21 taking into account the undeclared surplus 
position as at 31 March 2020 of £8.233 million and the spreading of 
deficit adjustment of £0.758 million (two-thirds of the £1.138 million 
deficit credited to the Collection Fund for 2020/21) is a deficit of £40.910 
million as calculated in the following table. 

Page 591



  £ million 

Net rate yield for 2020/21 including previous year adjustments 67.216 

   

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals -1.532 

    

Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and 

Write-offs 
-0.692 

Net income receivable (a) 64.992 

  

Agreed allocated shares: 
 

Central Government (50%) 55.912 

Durham County Council (49%) 57.053 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%) 1.141 

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to 

Durham County Council) 
0.787 

Total fixed payments (b) 114.893 

  

Net deficit for year (a) – (b) -49.901 

Spreading of Deficit Adjustment 0.758 

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from 

2019/20 8.233 

Estimated year end deficit -40.910 

 

162 The in-year estimated deficit of £49.901 million, the total undeclared 
surplus brought forward from 2019/20, and the spreading adjustment 
leaves an estimated net deficit of £40.910 million at 31 March 2021. 

163 The surplus/deficit at 31 March in any year is shared proportionately 
between Durham County Council, Central Government and County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue, Durham County Council’s 
share being 49%.  Durham County Council’s share of the estimated 
year end deficit will therefore be £20.046 million before we account for 
the receipt of the compensating Section 31 grant of £24.781 million, 
resulting in a forecast net surplus position of £4.735 million. 

164 As with residents, local businesses have also been severely impacted 
by the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly during the national lockdown 
period. The in-year collection rate at 31 December 2020 was 79.12%, 

Page 592



which is 3.89% points below the same position last year. The council 
has made payments to eligible businesses under the national Small 
Business Grant Fund and Retail Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund. 
Circa £99 million of grants have been paid out, with a further circa £5 
million of support also being provided under the Local Discretionary 
Grants Fund. The council is now administering the Local Restrictions 
Support Grants and Additional Restrictions Support Grant and has paid 
out circa £14 million as at 31 December 2020.  As with Council Tax, 
there has been no recovery action for unpaid Business Rates in the 
year to date. The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter three for 
the current and last two financial years, are as follows: 

Billing year Position at 31 

December 

Each Year % 

2020/21 79.12 

2019/20 83.01 

2018/19 83.52 

 

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief 

165 Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values under 
£15,000 benefit from relief on their rates payable. The government has 
awarded local authorities a Section 31 grant to cover their share of the 
shortfall in business rates that these small business ratepayers would 
have paid had the relief scheme not been in place. 

166 Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to 
£12,000 are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable 
values between £12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to 
them ranging from 100% down to 0%.  

167 The government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional 
small business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and 
adjustments thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.  
Any adjustments that relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt 
with as part of the normal rate retention shares.   

168 At 31 December 2020, the gross small business relief awarded against 
2020/21 business rates bills and adjustments to 2013/14 to 2019/20 
bills is £17.807 million, and the council will receive £5.893 million in 
Section 31 grant, including the capping adjustment and threshold 
change adjustments, in this regard. 

Page 593



Other Section 31 Grants 

169 In the Autumn Statement 2016, Spring Budget 2017 and Autumn 
Statement 2018 additional business rate relief schemes were 
announced on which Section 31 grants would be payable. These relief 
schemes include Rural Rate Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs, 
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, Pub 
Relief and Retail Relief Schemes. Funding for these schemes is 
provided through Section 31 grants. 

170 In response to the economic impact of COVID-19, the government has 
introduced the expanded retail discount. The business rates retail 
discount has been increased to 100% and now covers the leisure and 
hospitality sectors. The £51,000 rateable value threshold has also been 
removed. This relief will apply to occupied retail, leisure and hospitality 
properties in the year 2020/21 only, and will be fully funded by way of 
Section 31 grant. 

171 A nursery discount has also been introduced for 2020/21, as a response 
to COVID-19, which will be fully reimbursed by Section 31 grant. 

172 When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due 
regard must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs 
will have on the Section 31 grants.  When the additional Section 31 
grants to compensate for the extended retail, hospitality and leisure 
discounts and the extended nursery discounts are factored in the net 
impact is an increase in Durham County Council’s Section 31 grants of 
£25.276 million of which £24.781 million relates to the additional reliefs 
in response to COVID-19. 

Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings 

173 The delivery of the MTFP(10) savings considers: 

(a) the duties under the Equality Act; 

(b) appropriate consultation; 

(c) the HR implications of the change including consultation with 
employees and trade unions; 

(d) communication of the change and the consultation results; 

(e) sound risk management. 

174 MTFP(10) savings proposals for 2020/21, agreed by County Council on 
26 February 2020 total £8.010 million.  

175  At 31 December 2020, savings totalling £7.403 million, representing 
92% of the £8.010 million total savings target have been delivered  

Page 594



Consultation 

176 There has not been any public consultation on MTFP10 proposals in the 
last quarter.   

HR implications  

177 Equality data relating to the three staff leaving through voluntary 
redundancy, early retirement and ER/VR during quarter three of 
MTFP10 are too low to effectively analyse.  No staff have left through 
compulsory redundancy in quarter three. 

178 Since austerity began in 2011, equality data relating to staff leaving 
through voluntary redundancy, shows that 66% were female and 34% 
were male. The higher proportion of female leavers is likely due to the 
exercises which took place in previous years which focused on 
traditionally female occupied professions. These included the closure of 
care homes, reduction in service in the Pathways and Youth service 
and a restructure and change of working pattern for Care Connect. 

179 Since 2011, 46% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity, with 53% 
stating that they were white British or white English. Regarding disability 
status 3% said they had a disability, 13% had no disability and 84% did 
not disclose their disability status.  

Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) 

180 Services have completed EIA screenings and assessments where 
necessary as part of the decision-making process for 2020/21 MTFP10 
proposals.  

181 Projects to deliver growth proposals will be supported to ensure robust 
planning and that EIA screening are also completed.  

Other useful documents 

• County Council – 26 February 2020 – Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital Budget 
2020/21. 

• Cabinet – 8 July 2020 - 2019/20 Final Outturn for the General 
Fund and Collection Fund. 

• Cabinet – 16 September 2020 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 June 2020 and Update on 
Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings 

• Cabinet – 18 November 2020 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 September 2020 and Update on 
Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings 

Page 595



 

Author(s) 

Jeff Garfoot    Tel: 03000 261946 

  

Page 596



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of 

the council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report 

shows the forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February 

2020 in relation to the 2020/21 financial year. The forecasts contained within 

this report have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting 

policies and procedures. 

Finance 

The report details the 2020/21 updated forecast of outturn position for 

Revenue and Capital and details the updated forecast movement on reserves. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General 

Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information 

supplied by the Service Management Teams and budget holders.  The 

projected outturn has been produced taking into consideration spend to date, 

Page 597



trend data and market intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.  

This, together with the information supplied by Service Management Teams 

and budget holders, helps to mitigate the risks associated with achievement of 

the forecast outturn position. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

Page 598



Appendix 2:  Revenue Summary 2020/21 

  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 129,627 128,188 0 -2,583 -9,372 116,233 126,808 10,575

Chief Executive's Office 1,823 1,984 0 0 -352 1,632 1,675 43

Children and Young People's Services 123,877 129,504 -3 0 142 129,643 137,086 7,443

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 108,622 110,384 1,904 0 -607 111,681 124,162 12,481

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 52,770 55,061 -196 0 -10,425 44,440 53,758 9,318

Resources 25,705 27,205 30 0 -3,374 23,861 26,669 2,808

Cash Limit Position 442,424 452,326 1,735 -2,583 -23,988 427,490 470,158 42,668

Contingencies 8,155 1,853 -1,832 21 1,338 1,317

Corporate Costs 4,498 3,847 0 0 -2,311 1,536 1,524 -12

NET COST OF SERVICES 455,077 458,026 -97 -2,583 -26,299 429,047 473,020 43,973

Capital charges -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 -65,068 0

Interest and Investment income -2,900 -2,900 -2,900 -2,650 250

Interest payable and similar charges 36,614 60,188 97 60,285 60,285 0

Levies 15,991 15,991 15,991 15,996 5

Net Expenditure 439,714 466,237 0 -2,583 -26,299 437,355 481,583 44,228

Funded By:

Council tax -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 -234,458 0

Use of earmarked reserves -7,700 -33,905 26,299 -7,606 -7,606 0

COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 1-use of earmarked reserves 0 0 0 -17,521 -17,521

COVID-19 Support Grant tranches 2-4 0 0 0 -27,081 -27,081

COVID-19 Income Guarantee Grant 0 0 0 -7,965 -7,965

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 -1,740 0

Business Rates -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 -56,083 0

Top up grant -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 -72,780 0

Revenue Support Grant -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 -28,070 0

New Homes Bonus -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 -7,564 0

Section 31 Grant -11,713 -11,713 -11,713 -12,602 -889

Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 -17,652 0

Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve -1,954 -2,272 2,583 311 5,924 5,613

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 0 3,615 3,615
 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Original 

Budget 

2020/21

Proposed Budget 

Revisions, 

including sums 

outside the cash 

limit

Contribution 

to / Use of 

Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to 

/ Use of 

Earmarked 

Reserves

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

Revised 

Budget

P
age 599



Appendix 3:  Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income for the period ended 31 March 2021 

 

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employees 561,387 542,276 -845 0 -14,452 526,979 520,627 338 520,965 -6,014 -6 

Premises 53,923 50,368 13,968 0 -1,035 63,301 64,449 0 64,449 1,148 -1 

Transport 46,738 46,327 230 0 -118 46,439 45,288 0 45,288 -1,151 0

Supplies & Services 130,374 114,981 3,169 0 -586 117,564 118,503 1,323 119,826 2,262 -201 

Agency & Contracted 417,221 425,585 -4,130 -2,583 -8,354 410,518 440,598 5,059 445,657 35,139 2,202

Transfer Payments 163,446 160,843 -18 0 -4,500 156,325 182,568 4,874 187,442 31,117 7,374

Central Costs 106,669 119,407 645 0 -115 119,937 121,814 115 121,929 1,992 0

DRF 2,330 2,439 1,500 0 -498 3,441 4,736 70 4,806 1,365 0

Other 0 0 14 0 16 30 34 0 34 4 0

Capital Charges 65,068 65,068 0 0 0 65,068 65,068 0 65,068 0 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 1,547,156 1,527,294 14,533 -2,583 -29,642 1,509,602 1,563,685 11,779 1,575,464 65,862 9,368

Income

Government Grants 607,033 578,482 -693 0 -6,506 571,283 604,376 10,020 614,396 43,113 -9,312 

Other Grants and Contributions 78,298 80,634 -11 0 302 80,925 96,836 0 96,836 15,911 0

Sales 11,349 6,332 -40 0 -140 6,152 3,386 270 3,656 -2,496 -103 

Fees and Charges 103,391 104,145 350 0 517 105,012 80,252 -35 80,217 -24,795 35

Rents 9,208 8,571 175 0 104 8,850 9,543 0 9,543 693 0

Recharges To Other Services 282,668 287,171 12,978 0 1,060 301,209 291,634 0 291,634 -9,575 0

Other 8,287 5,786 39 0 1,320 7,145 7,500 0 7,500 355 0

Total Income 1,100,234 1,071,121 12,798 0 -3,343 1,080,576 1,093,527 10,255 1,103,782 23,206 -9,380 

NET EXPENDITURE 446,922 456,173 1,735 -2,583 -26,299 429,026 470,158 1,524 471,682 42,656 -12 

Revised 

Budget

Contribution to / 

Use of Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to / 

Use of Earmarked 

Reserves

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Corporate 

Costs

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecast of 

Outturn 

(including 

Corporate 

Costs)

Original 

Budget 

2020/21

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance 

(including 

Corporate 

Costs)

Forecasted 

Variance - 

Corporate 

Costs

Proposed 

Budget 

Revisions, 

including 

sums 

outside the 

cash limit

P
age 600



Appendix 4: Earmarked Reserves Position as at 31 December 2020 

  

EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT 

RESERVES

SERVICE 

GROUPING

OPENING 

BALANCE

USE OF 

RESERVES 

CONTRIBUTION 

TO RESERVES 

TRANSFERS 

BETWEEN 

RESERVES

TOTAL 

MOVEMENT ON 

RESERVES

2020/21 CLOSING 

BALANCE

AS AT 31 DEC 

2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Social Care Reserve AHS -25,671 0 -382 2,220 1,838 -23,833

Public Health Reserve AHS -5,246 1,345 -1,829 70 -414 -5,660

CEO Grant Reserve CEO -86 0 0 0 0 -86

CEO Operational Reserve CEO -119 110 -363 -55 -308 -427

Children's Services Reserve CYPS -1,785 527 -557 145 115 -1,670

Education Reserve CYPS -12,629 659 -808 -1,736 -1,885 -14,514

AAP/Members Reserve NCC -2,033 168 0 -45 123 -1,910

Community Protection Reserve NCC -575 107 -10 19 116 -459

Environmental Services Reserve NCC -1,483 314 -1,418 107 -997 -2,480

NCC Grant Reserve NCC -689 1 0 52 53 -636

NCC Operational Reserve NCC -2,881 426 -28 0 398 -2,483

North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve NCC -1,911 0 0 0 0 -1,911

Technical Services Reserve NCC -802 658 -150 -500 8 -794

Business Growth Fund Reserve REG -604 0 0 150 150 -454

Corporate Property & Land Reserve REG -1,356 245 -728 0 -483 -1,839

Culture and Sport Reserve REG -2,286 71 -9,115 -350 -9,394 -11,680

Economic Development Reserve REG -2,123 134 -2,492 -122 -2,480 -4,603

Employability and Training Reserve REG -276 61 0 0 61 -215

Funding and Programmes Management Reserve REG -506 0 0 0 0 -506

Housing Regeneration Reserve REG -473 0 0 0 0 -473

Housing Solutions Reserve REG -2,199 0 -829 122 -707 -2,906

Planning Reserve REG -862 806 0 0 806 -56

REAL Match Fund Programme Reserve REG -1,214 100 0 150 250 -964

Town and Villages Regeneration Reserve REG -19,767 4 0 -5,000 -4,996 -24,763

Transport Reserve REG -746 367 0 50 417 -329

Resources Corporate Reserve Resources -530 26 -354 350 22 -508

Resources Council Tax Hardship Reserve Resources 0 0 -2,500 0 -2,500 -2,500

Resources Customer Services Reserve Resources -315 0 0 65 65 -250

Resources DWP Grant Reserve Resources -573 0 -668 0 -668 -1,241

Resources Elections Reserve Resources -860 0 0 0 0 -860

Resources Financial Services Reserve Resources 0 0 -73 0 -73 -73

Resources Grant Reserve Resources -154 0 0 0 0 -154

Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve Resources -1,542 0 0 750 750 -792

Resources Human Resources Reserves Resources -323 23 -39 0 -16 -339

Resources ICT Reserves Resources -1,242 212 -165 95 142 -1,100

Resources Internal Audit & Corporate Fraud Reserve Resources -80 0 0 0 0 -80

Resources Legal Reserves Resources -451 116 0 0 116 -335

Resources Operational Reserve Resources -58 0 -45 0 -45 -103

Resources Operations and Data Reserve Resources -38 0 0 0 0 -38

Resources Registrars Trading Reserve Resources -200 0 0 50 50 -150

Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve Resources -854 241 0 140 381 -473

Resources System Development Reserve Resources -354 0 0 0 0 -354

Resources Transformation Reserve Resources -1,277 360 0 0 360 -917

Budget Support Reserve Corporate -19,172 2,733 0 0 2,733 -16,439

Business Support Reserve Corporate -1,032 0 -1,674 726 -948 -1,980

Capital Reserve Corporate -700 0 0 0 0 -700

Commercialisation Support Reserve Corporate -8,376 280 0 0 280 -8,096

Control Outbreak Management Fund Reserve Corporate 0 0 -8,482 0 -8,482 -8,482

COVID-19 Support Grant Reserve Corporate -17,521 17,521 0 0 17,521 0

Equal Pay Reserve Corporate -9,979 0 0 500 500 -9,479

ER/VR Reserve Corporate -3,346 1,292 0 -2,000 -708 -4,054

Feasibility Study Reserve Corporate -500 0 0 0 0 -500

Inspire Programme Reserve Corporate -330 132 0 0 132 -198

Insurance Reserve Corporate -10,070 6 0 500 506 -9,564

Office Accommodation Capital Reserve Corporate -24,739 23,783 0 0 23,783 -956

Total Earmarked Reserves -192,938 52,828 -32,709 -3,547 16,572 -176,366

Cash Limit Reserves

Adult and Health Services -8,354 -624 -3,457 2,000 -2,081 -10,435

Chief Executive's Office 0 16 -105 -126 -215 -215

Children and Young People's Services 0 0 1,879 0 1,879 1,879

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 0 0 -1,206 -197 -1,403 -1,403

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 0 0 -1,761 -164 -1,925 -1,925

Resources -2,758 297 -963 1,387 721 -2,037

Regeneration and Local Services -329 0 0 329 329 0

Transformation and Partnerships -318 0 0 318 318 0

Total Cash Limit Reserves -11,759 -311 -5,613 3,547 -2,377 -14,136

Total Council Reserves -204,697 52,517 -38,322 0 14,195 -190,502

Schools' Balances

Schools' Revenue Balance CYPS -15,949 3,018 0 0 3,018 -12,931

DSG Reserve CYPS 3,807 2,080 -86 0 1,994 5,801

Total Schools and DSG Reserve -12,142 5,098 -86 0 5,012 -7,130

Page 601



This page is intentionally left blank



           

Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Quarter Three, 2020/21  

Performance Management Report  

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework. 

The impact of COVID-19 

2 During 2020, a highly infectious coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) causing the 
respiratory disease COVID-19 spread rapidly across the world and led 
to the declaration of a global pandemic1. 

3 To contain the virus, minimise deaths and prevent our health and social 
care systems being overwhelmed, significant restrictions to our normal 
way of life, travel and business have been put in place. 

4 Increased local restrictions were introduced in County Durham and six 
neighbouring authorities at the end of September and the whole North 
East region was placed into the high alert category when the national 
three tier system was introduced for England in mid-October. At the 
beginning of November, we entered a second national lockdown (for 
four weeks) in response to a second wave of infections. When lockdown 
was lifted, the North East region moved to the very high alert category of 
the national three tier system. However, as infection rates rapidly 

 
1 On 11 March 2020 by the World Health Organisation 

Page 603

Agenda Item 6

https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/news/news/2020/3/who-announces-covid-19-outbreak-a-pandemic


increased due to the emergence of a more transmissible strain of the 
virus, the three tier system was extended to include a stay at home 
category – most of the country, including the North East region, was 
moved to this category. More recently, in January 2021, we entered a 
third national lockdown. 

5 There was positive news at the beginning of December when the UK 
medicines regulator approved the first COVID-19 vaccine and the 
government started rolling out a national vaccination programme. Two 
more vaccines were subsequently approved in December. 

6 The pandemic continues to impact on council services and our ways of 
working. We are continuing in our public health role and are working in 
partnership with other agencies on the local resilience forum (covering 
both County Durham and Darlington) to protect our communities and 
support those affected by the pandemic. We are also developing plans 
for future recovery.  

7 The COVID-19 surveillance dashboard can be accessed here.  

Performance Reporting  

8 This performance report is structured around the three externally 
focused results-based ambitions of the County Durham Vision 2035 
alongside a fourth ‘excellent council’ theme contained within our Council 
Plan2. It also includes an overview of the impact of COVID-19 on council 
services, our staff and residents. 

More and Better Jobs 

9 COVID-19 continues to impact the UK economy. Nationally, between 
July and September, GDP was 8.6% below pre-pandemic levels3. In 
addition, 8% of the workforce remained furloughed (partial or full), and 
both redundancies and unemployment were at an all-time high4.   

10 However, although the impacts of COVID-19 are severe, the UK 
economy is expected to recover over the next eighteen months and is 
unlikely to suffer any long-term effects5. In contrast, although the UK and 
EU have now reached a trade agreement, economists warn that the 
impact of Brexit, expected to emerge slowly and be permanent, will 
hamper the UK economy for years to come5. 

 
2 approved by full council October 2020 
3 Office of National Statistics: GDP quarterly national accounts, UK: July to September 2020  
4 Office of National Statistics: labour market overview, UK: January 2021 
5 Analysis by UK in a Changing Europe, a research organisation funded by the UK government 
 

Page 604

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/coronavirus-vaccination/coronavirus-vaccine/?priority-taxon=774cee22-d896-44c1-a611-e3109cce8eae
https://infogram.com/1pd2r5l2dpend6tmwp5xy9qqj6tkgk0yv61?live
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30079/Durham-2035-Vision-document/pdf/Durham2035-Vision2.pdf?m=637232373293700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2366/Council-Plan-and-service-plans
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2366/Council-Plan-and-service-plans
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/quarterlynationalaccounts/julytoseptember2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/january2021
https://ukandeu.ac.uk/the-uk-economy-brexit-vs-covid-19/


11 Latest data shows our employment rate to be static. However, with the 
national redundancy rate continuing to increase and the government 
continuing to support, across the county, one in nine eligible jobs 
(furlough) and almost six in ten self-employed people (income support 
scheme), we are expecting our employment rate to deteriorate. That 
said, the increase in universal credit claimants we saw in the early part 
of the year has levelled off, at least temporarily, and suggests that local 
and national support measures are helping to create economic 
resilience. 

12 Due to the economic situation, we remain concerned about poverty 
pressures across the county, the increasing number of children eligible 
for free school meals and, although educational attainment is broadly in 
line with performance across the country, the longer-term impacts of 
COVID-19 on the future of our young people. 

13 To mitigate against these economic challenges, we are continuing to 
provide financial support to residents and businesses, are moving 
forward with significant investment projects which will create new 
infrastructure and transform our towns and villages, and are helping 
people back into work particularly through self-employment or by moving 
into job sectors experiencing increasing demand, e.g. food retail, 
delivery.   

Long and Independent Lives  

14 Latest data (pre-COVID) shows that across the county people are living 
longer. Improved working conditions, reduced smoking rates and 
improved healthcare have all contributed to increasing life expectancy 
from generation to generation – our residents are now living on average 
three years longer than 20 years ago with the gap between men and 
women narrowing. 

15 However, although healthy life expectancy (years lived in good health) for 
men across the county has increased over the last ten years, albeit at a 
slower rate than overall life expectancy, the opposite is true for women. 
The steady decline of healthy life expectancy for women across the 
county means that although women are living longer than men, they live 
fewer years in good health. In addition, with the exception of male healthy 
life expectancy, the gap in life expectancies between County Durham and 
England is widening. 

16 We are continuing to support people to live longer healthy lives. Focused 
activity across mental and physical well-being, physical activity for 
children, smoking quitters (particularly pregnant women and new 
mothers) and breastfeeding is continuing to make a difference to the lives 
of our residents. A lower proportion of mothers are smoking at time of 

Page 605



delivery and a greater percentage breastfeeding compared to the same 
period last year.  

17 Throughout quarter three, we continued to successfully improve 
outcomes for vulnerable children and their families with joined-up 
services responsive to their needs. As at the end of December 2020, we 
had achieved our March 2021 target, and since the start of the 
programme have achieved ‘significant and sustained outcomes’ for 
more than 5,200 families as part of our stronger families programme.  

18 However, COVID-19 continues to impact on all our daily lives. The 
emergence of a more transmissible strain of virus and the tighter 
restrictions put in place to slow its transmission are affecting both the 
physical and mental health of people of all ages. 

19 The consequences of the worsening economic situation means that 
poverty pressures remain a major issue and we expect the situation to 
deteriorate over the coming months. Although household spending has 
broadly dropped and savings increased for many, rises in basic living 
costs and additional expenditure incurred due to school closures (meals, 
heating and equipping children for online learning) has hit those with 
little disposable income hard - especially as their normal coping 
strategies are no longer available to them, e.g. eating at friends and 
families, accessing the internet at their local library, buying clothes at 
charity shops. To help mitigate food poverty pressures, we have 
invested more than £2 million to support the increasing number of 
families reliant on free school meals and our programme of holiday 
activities with food.  

20 The detrimental impact on mental well-being of these financial stresses, 
as well as increasing isolation and loneliness as people continue to stay 
at home, is causing great concern and has led to more people (across 
all age groups) to seek support through primary and secondary mental 
health services. 

21 However, a positive picture is starting to emerge from our health 
services. Across our care homes, 3,594 residents (90%) and 4,812 staff 
(81%) have now been vaccinated against COVID-19 and despite the 
second winter wave of COVID-19, the local NHS system has reduced 
the GP referral backlog for inpatient and outpatient care.    

Connected Communities – Safer focus  

22 Although overall crime has fallen, ‘violence against the person’ offences, 
hate crimes and anti-social behaviour have all increased. Although 
much of the increase is COVID-related, we have noted an increasing 
trend in alcohol related domestic violence (although overall domestic 

Page 606



violence has returned to pre-COVID levels following increases between 
April and September).  

23 In relation to keeping children and young people safe, there are many 
positives across this area. We continue to perform well in relation to the 
timeliness of processing statutory referrals (first contact) and single 
assessments (and are carrying out audits to ensure quality of 
assessments remains consistently high).  

24 However, we are continuing to experience budget and placement 
pressures as demand for children’s social care remains high, with a 
comparatively high number of children on a child protection plan and the 
highest recorded number of children looked after (CLA).  Safeguarding 
referrals remain lower than expected, which reflects the national picture.  

25 During quarter three, to ensure our staff can build and maintain effective 
relationships with children and their families by having a reduced 
caseload, we recruited more than 30 newly qualified social workers 
whilst extending agency social worker contracts to support caseloads. 
We also introduced information sharing systems between social care 
and the education system to identify children who are particularly 
vulnerable. 

Connected Communities – Sustainable Communities focus 

26 Overall environmental cleanliness levels remain good (based on a 
sample survey) and reflect the targeted initiatives put in place to improve 
our local environment. Although fly-tipping incidents increased during 
the first national lockdown when our Household Waste Recycling 
Centres were closed, levels have now returned to pre-COVID-19 levels.  

27 Throughout the 12 months ending 30 September 2020, due to people 
spending more time in their homes, we collected more than 7,000 
additional tonnes of household waste compared to the previous year. 
However, the proportion recycled has reduced. This is in part due to the 
closure of the recycling markets, which have now reopened, earlier in 
the year and we expect recycling levels will soon return to normal.  

28 We are progressing towards becoming carbon neutral by 2050 with 
carbon levels that are now almost half the 2008 baseline. We are 
expecting a further significant reduction for 2020/21, partly due to the 
impact of the COVID-19 restrictions which closed businesses, reduced 
levels of road traffic and encouraged more people to stay at home. 

29 Fewer households are accessing our Housing Solutions Service and a 
shortage of suitable accommodation is increasing the length of time 
households are spending in temporary accommodation. Although the 

Page 607



pandemic is impacting on our ability to bring properties back into use, 
more properties are benefitting from energy efficiency improvements. 

30 Having reduced since 2012, our road maintenance backlog is now 
broadly in line with other local authorities – although an issue remains 
with unclassified roads, the severe winter of 2017/18 resulted in a 
deteriorating condition which is worse than the national average.  A 
programme of resurfacing works for both footways and street lighting 
columns which have reached their end of service life is in place. 

An Excellent Council 

31 Since the start of the pandemic, we have continually adapted our 
service provision and ways of working to help slow the spread of 
COVID-19, prevent our health and social care systems being 
overwhelmed, and protect our residents and staff.    

32 To safeguard our employees, all staff continue to work from home where 
possible, and we continue to manage and control transmission risks for 
those essential employees who need to attend the workplace. Recent 
assurance audits, predominately focusing on premise-control measures, 
have returned an overall compliance rate of 96%. 

33 We remain concerned about employee health and well-being, both 
physical and mental. Flu jabs have been offered to all employees and 
COVID-19 vaccinations are being rolled out to eligible employee 
cohorts. We continue to communicate support channels available to 
help staff look after their mental health and emotional resilience, from all 
levels of the organisation, and are working with other organisations to 
identify further supportive actions. Our efforts were recognised in 
December when we attained Better Health at Work’s Continuing 
Excellence status, with assessors highlighting our proactive response to 
the rapid and enforced change in working conditions.   

34 Despite the pandemic, sickness levels have fallen with four in five 
employees recording less than 5 days sickness over the latest 12-month 
period (almost 70% of staff have recorded no sickness over the same 
period). Since 2017, we have invested £6 million in apprenticeships, 
both new starts and upskilling of existing employees, and our work to 
create apprenticeship opportunities was recognised with a place in the 
government’s top 100 apprenticeship employers list. 

35 Although some non-essential services remain closed or are being 
delivered remotely, we are continuing to deliver essential services, with 
further expansion of our online alternatives to face-to-face contact which 
are encouraging more customers to liaise with us digitally. 

Page 608

https://www.betterhealthatworkaward.org.uk/


36 Our community support hub remains in place to help those who are 
clinically vulnerable, experiencing hardship or who need help when self-
isolating, and we continue to provide financial assistance to both 
residents and businesses.  

37 Although we continue to face significant financial pressure resulting from 
the pandemic, latest forecasts have improved since quarter two, with 
additional costs incurred and loss of income forecast to be around £70 
million. Although the impact is being supported by the government, at 
this stage there is a forecast shortfall in funding of around £15 million.  
However, the 2020/21 impact of collection fund loss from reductions in 
council tax and business rate income can be reduced by spreading over 
three years (2021/22 to 2023/24). We, alongside all local government 
representative bodies, are continuing to lobby government for additional 
financial support.   

Risk Management 

38 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects. Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering 
the ambitions and how we are managing them.  

Recommendation 

39 That Cabinet considers the overall position and direction of travel in 
relation to quarter three performance, the impact of COVID-19 on 
performance, and the actions being taken to address areas of 
underperformance including the significant economic and well-being 
challenges because of the pandemic. 

Author 

Jenny Haworth      Tel:  03000 268071 

 

 

 

  

Page 609



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications 

of climate change in our reports and decision-making. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 610



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter Three, 2020/21 

  

Appendix 2 

Page 611



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(a) Do residents have good job prospects?   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

0

5

10

Claimant Count trend
(16-64)

(Jan 2010 – Dec 2020)

Mar-20 

8%
6% 7% 6% 6%

4%

15%
13% 13% 11% 11%

3%

Easington North West
Durham

North
Durham

Sedgefield Bishop
Auckland

Durham City

Claimant Count (Dec-20)

16-64 years 18-24 years

Co. Durham

North East

England

Job Retention 
Scheme (furlough)

11%

22,600 jobs

11%

12%

Self-employment 
income support 

scheme

57%

11,000 claims

59%

58%

Gross jobs created / safeguarded^  

as a result of Business Durham activity 

^ job safeguarded: must be a permanent, paid, full time equivalent 

(FTE) job which is at risk 

total claims  
£28 million 
average claim 

£2,581 

 

Employment Rate 
(APS Oct-19 – Sep-20) 

71.6% 

Employability 
Programmes 

(Jul 20 - Sep 20)

406
referrals

102
progressed into 

employment 

12
progressed 

into education 
or training 

6.5%  Unemployment Rate 
(APS - Oct-19 to Sep-20) 

 

5.6% same period last year  

 

national redundancy rate 
per 1,000 employees  (Sep to Nov) 

14.2  (395,000 people) 

4.2 same period last year 

15.5 men (217,000)   

4.6 same period last year 

12.8 women (178,000)   

3.8 same period last year 
 

 

1,567 1,128 

2,404 

1,066 
1,866 

4,099 

1,193 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
(YTD)

P
age 612



More and Better Jobs  

1 The ambition of More and Better Jobs is linked to the following key questions:   

(a) Do residents have good job prospects? 

(b) Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

(c) How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

(d) Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?  

Do residents have good job prospects?  

2 Latest data shows the employment rate across the county has remained static 

(September 2020) which is in line with both regional and national trends.  

However, employment rate is reported in arrears so we have produced an 

experimental estimate using regional data from the Labour Force Survey (LFS) 

which gives us a more up to date rate. Our estimate for November 2020 is 71.9%, 

showing the picture continues to be static.  

3 Although we have yet to see any significant impact of the pandemic on the 

employment rate, once the government removes its support package (furlough 

and self-employment income schemes), we expect to see a significant impact on 

employment.  

4 Following a significant rise in people claiming employment benefits at the start of 

the pandemic (March to May), the claimant count has remained relatively static 

and now stands at 6.1%. This trend is reflected both regionally and nationally.  

5 It is estimated that 19,400 of the 32,200 self-employed people across the county 

(60%) are eligible for Self-Employment Income Support which was launched in 

August (Tranche 2). The main reason for ineligibility is that people have not been 

self-employed for long enough. Business Durham is continuing to support those 

not eligible through other business grant schemes, for example local authority 

discretionary grant. 

6 Although more people were referred to employment programmes during quarter 

three, COVID-19 continues to impact programme delivery. People are reluctant to 

engage due to uncertainty and concerns about the pandemic, diminishing job 

opportunities which is eroding motivation to actively look for employment, 

Jobcentre Plus no longer mandating participants to complete job search activity 

and programmes only being available digitally.  

7 However, there has been success across the programmes with some participants 

becoming self-employed or moving into job sectors experiencing increase 

demand e.g. food retail, delivery drivers.   

Page 613



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(b) Is County Durham a good place to do business? 

Business Durham 
Activity 

Jul-Sep 
2020 

Compared to  

last year 

inward investments secured 2 +2  

businesses engaged 145 -241  

floor space occupied 83%   -3pp        

GVA from jobs created or 
safeguarded (million) 

£10.6 +£3.1  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
additional information on businesses is available via Durham Insight 

 

4 businesses supported 

through Targeted Business 

Improvement schemes  
 

0 FTEs created / 

safeguarded (2 to be 

created post COVID) 

55 new businesses supported 

by Community Economic 

Development team 

Small to Medium Size 
Business Grant Schemes 

(Sep-20)*

Businesses identified 
by LA

Government 
Allocation £'million

value of grants 
identified

grants paid

County 
Durham

8,924

107

£100m 
/93%

100%

North East

45,769

562

£525m 
/91%

98%

England

960,112

12,322

£11,712m 
/90%

95%

1 Finance 

Durham Fund 

Investment  

3 businesses supported 

through Town and 

Village schemes 

2 businesses supported 

through Seaham 

Townscape schemes 

*covers three COVID-19 schemes: Small Business Grants Fund: Retail, Hospitality 

and Leisure Business Grants Fund: Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund 

£5 million 
Durham Business 

Recovery Grant 

Planning permission 

approved  

Aykley Heads  

£20 million  
Future High Street Fund 

Bishop Auckland 

Festival Walk 
Spennymoor 

Commence on site in 

Jan-21  

P
age 614

https://www.durhaminsight.info/economy-and-employment/related-factsheets-economy-and-employment/businesses/


Is County Durham a good place to do business? 

8 In January, we invested £5 million into the Durham Business Recovery Grant 

Scheme which will offer business grants of up £40,000 and pay 75% of recovery 

plan costs. We expect the scheme will support more than 880 businesses and 

safeguard more than 1,760 jobs.   

9 The planning application for the redevelopment of the Aykley Heads site was 

formally granted by the Planning Authority on the 20 January 2021, as all 

conditions were met and the application was not called in by the Secretary of 

State for Housing, Communities and Local Government. The application is now 

subject to a six week judicial review period.  

10 Although work continues on the targeted Business Improvement Schemes and 

the Towns and Villages Programme, there has been some delay due to clients 

being unable to secure quotes from tradesmen or confirm delivery dates for 

works, and our staff unable to undertake site visits due to COVID restrictions.  

11 Bishop Auckland has secured a Future High Streets Fund grant of almost £20 

million to improve its transport, hospitality and leisure offer, and to bring vacant 

properties back into use. Work is expected to commence in April 2021. 

12 Work to transform Festival Walk, an outdated shopping centre in Spennymoor, is 

underway and will result in a new, free to use town centre car park, a new larger 

ALDI store and refurbishment of the remaining units.  

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local 

economy?  

13 Despite the lifting of national restrictions during the summer months, some core 

tourist attractions did not re-open including Auckland Castle, the Botanic Garden, 

Killhope Lead Mining Museum, the Oriental Museum and Palace Green library. 

The attractions which did re-open did so with reduced capacity to ensure social 

distancing and to meet local tier restrictions introduced in September 2020.  

14 Although our theatres remain closed as social distancing makes it impossible to 

operate the venues safely, we have continued our online offer with events such 

as audio plays and pre-filmed pantomimes during quarter three.  

15 Durham History Centre was granted Planning and Listed Building Consent in 

September and was awarded almost £1.5 million of funding from the European 

Regional Development Fund to install low carbon measures.  

 

Page 615



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(c) How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

COVID-19 Impact Survey*
12 October to 31 October

145 responses

60% experienced drop in income of more than 
50%

8% increased income

52% fully open, 33% open with reduced hours, 
15% closed

79% significantly impacted: mainly from lack of 
demand and cancellations

85% didnt have many enquiries, 32% said 
customers booking less than a week ahead

43% have diversified business in some way -
26% will continue

 45% reduction 

in visitors to core 

attractions 

History Centre 

Planning permissions 

granted, and contractor to 

be appointed Jan-21 
 

Theatres 

Closed but with 

online offer 

 

virtual visits 

promoting the visitor offer; 

videos and online tours; 

interactive quiz about Durham; 

encouraging people to plan 

their next visit to Durham 

attractions 

Explore your door campaign 

Aims to encourage residents to 

explore lesser known ‘hidden gem’ 

walks, rides and beauty spots in their 

local area, while also promoting 

responsible use of the county’s great 

outdoors 

 

Durham Book Festival 

More than 50 online events; producers distributed free 

copies of the Big Read and Little Read titles focusing 

particularly on groups in the county hit hardest by the 

pandemic.  

66% of those who engaged online say they are more 

likely to attend in person in the future, and 74% said 

they would access online events if these were part of a 

future Durham Book Festival.   

main concerns

59% increased government 
restrictions

57% business survival

55% lack of demand

P
age 616



16 Durham County Record Office’s online exhibition initially launched in May 2020 

and has now expanded to four themed exhibitions on its website.6  The Record 

Office also resumed its Third Thursday Talk programme, with more than 100 

participants, and family history workshops via Teams in November.  

Do our young people have access to good quality education and 

training? 

17 The Early Years Foundation Stage Profile was not undertaken at primary school 

level and no standard assessment tasks have been given nationally to assess 

pupil progress. The summer phonics tests, taken by children in year one to 

identify those not meeting the required standard, have also been cancelled. 

Although data from the autumn check will not be used for accountability purposes 

nationally or at local authority level, it will be used by schools. Provisional rates 

(with four schools yet to submit their data) show almost 80% of year two pupils 

are working at the expected level, in line with national data.  

18 GCSE grading (key stage four) for 2020 was determined through Centre 

Assessed Grades (CAGs) which although are not comparable to previous years 

can be compared both regionally and nationally. Although our cohort performed 

favourably regionally, it remains below national outcomes. The performance of 

the disadvantaged cohort follows a similar pattern meaning that the gap between 

our pupils and their non-disadvantaged peers is smaller than regionally, but larger 

than the gap seen nationally. 

19 A-level grading (key stage five) was originally assessed through an algorithm but 

was then changed to a Centre Assessed Grade (CAG). Consequently, some 

young people were awarded lower grades initially and failed to gain entry to their 

first-choice university. This data is also not comparable with previous years, but 

our average point score per A level entry remains in line with national data and is 

above regional levels. 

20 The monitoring of early years settings and schools by Ofsted continues to be a 

changing picture. Although regulatory visits within early years settings are 

continuing, assurance visits have been paused until after the February half-term. 

Schools identified as vulnerable and requiring additional support are given extra 

time.  

21 We continue to support all schools through leadership adviser visits – all of our 

maintained schools receive at least one supportive meeting, and the vast majority 

receive two.  Most vulnerable schools receive an on-site school visit.   

 
6 For more details, please visit http://www.durhamrecordoffice.org.uk/article/23707/Exhibitions 

Page 617



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(d)  do our young people have access to good quality education and training? 

  

 
Educational Attainment 2019/20 academic year 

 

Average attainment 8 score

Average point score per A level entry of state-funded school students

Gap between average Attainment 8 score of Durham disadvantaged 
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils nationally (KS4)

County 
Durham

48.8

39.9

-14.4

North
East

48.4

38.3

-15.1

National

53.1

39.5

-13.5

County Durham performance is better County Durham performance is worse  

5% 4%
3%

1%
1% 4%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

County
Durham

North East England

NEET NK

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

%
 A

tt
en

d
an

ce

% school attendance all CYP - by school type

primary secondary special

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

%
 A

tt
en

d
an

ce

% school attendance all CYP compared to national

Durham National

% of 16-17 year olds Not in Education, 

Employment (NEET) or Training / Not 

known (NK) (December 2020) 

 

P
age 618



22 Personal education planning, extended to children looked after who were 

accessing their nursery education entitlement during the autumn term, will 

continue to be an area of focus during quarter four. 

23 During quarter three, 365 groups of pupils were moved to remote learning due to 

COVID-19 cases in schools. 149 schools had to move some bubbles to remote 

learning over the same period. 

24 More bubble closures during November led to local and national dips in school 

attendance. However, by December, rates of attendance had largely recovered 

with local attendance rates rising to levels above national comparators. 

Attendance rates for vulnerable children, i.e. those with a social worker or an 

Education Health Care Plan, followed the same pattern.  

25 On 28 January 2021, 15.2% of pupils were in attendance at school in County 

Durham overall, compared to 14.8% nationally. There were 24% in primary, 3% in 

secondary and 24% in special schools.  For vulnerable groups, this is 42% for 

those children with a social worker, compared to 43% nationally and 28% for 

pupils with an EHCP compared to 37% nationally.  

26 To support remote learning and facilitate contact between vulnerable children and 

professionals, the Department for Education has provided both chrome books and 

wi-fi routers. 1,400 chrome books and 170 wi-fi routers were given to care leavers 

and children with a social worker across the county, 270 devices and 110 routers 

were provided to disadvantaged children in year 10 to support their education and 

almost 5,000 devices have been allocated to local schools to help children with 

online learning. 

27 During quarter three, local Elective Home Education (EHE) numbers stabilised to 

0.6% of the school aged population. We are considering the options to support 

those wishing to return to school and how we can prevent future increases.  We 

continue to support EHE young people through a multi-agency EHE group, safe 

and well calls and other checks. During quarter three, we facilitated virtual events 

for both primary and secondary EHE pupils. 

28 Our Behaviour and Inclusion Panels continue to address high rates of exclusion 

through early identification and a proactive approach to pupil support. Throughout 

quarter three, 14 pupils at risk of exclusion were supported by the primary panel 

(none were permanently excluded) and the secondary panel supported 95 pupils 

(three were permanently excluded). No pupils from special schools were 

permanently excluded. 

29 The impacts of the pandemic have resulted in a shift, with more 16-17 year olds 

opting to continue with full-time education or training as opposed to being able to 

secure jobs with nationally accredited training (including apprenticeships).   We 

Page 619



have continued to offer virtual support to all NEET young people to assist their 

journey to access education, employment or training, prioritising the most 

vulnerable for support and contact, particularly during the lockdown periods. We 

will continue to work with learning providers to engage all NEET young people 

into appropriate programmes of learning or re-engagement both now and when 

COVID restrictions begin to ease.   

30 During quarter three, we launched DurhamEnable, new programme to help 

individuals who have learning, physical and mental health barriers progress into / 

move closer to employment. The programme will also provide personalised 

support to local employers, to encourage and enable them to provide 

opportunities for DurhamEnable participants. 

Long and Independent Lives  

31 The ambition of Long and Independent Lives is linked to the following key 

questions: 

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services 

appropriately supported?  

(b) Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services 

appropriately supported? 

(c) Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

(d) Are people who need adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives? 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal and 

early help services appropriately supported? 

32 Having gained additional funding until March 2022, our Stronger Families 

Programme, which helps families make ‘significant and sustained outcomes’ in 

areas such as worklessness, school attendance and domestic abuse, will 

continue for another year. 

Page 620



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported and (b) are 

children, young people and families in receipt of early help appropriately supported?   

            Target 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

2,060
workless families progress 

to work following 
intervention

2,496
families reported reduced 

mental health issues 
following intervention

940
families reported reduced 

substance misuse 
following intervention

885 

families achieved 

significant & 

sustained outcomes  
(Apr-Dec 2020) 

5,245 families turned around between 2015 and December 2020 

% EHCP completed within  

20 week time period  

Durham 

(2020)

58%

Durham 

(2019)

70%   

North East

(2019)

70%

England

(2019)

60% 

99%  

Early Help assessments 

completed within 45 

working days 
(Oct-Dec 2020) 

1,618  

cases open to 

One Point  
(as at 31 Dec 2020) 

 

 
Children in 

receipt of 

free school 

meals 

26% 2020 

23% 2019 

3
1

.0

3
0

.1

2
9

.9

2
9

.4

2
6

.0

2
5

.8

2
5

.8

2
4

.9

2
3

.2

2
2

.1

2
1

.6

1
9

.3

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
gh

R
ed

ca
r 

&
 C

le
ve

la
n

d

H
ar

tl
ep

o
o

l

G
at

e
sh

e
ad

N
e

w
ca

st
le

N
o

rt
h

 T
yn

es
id

e

D
ar

lin
gt

o
n

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

am

So
u

th
 T

yn
es

id
e

Su
n

d
er

la
n

d

St
o

ck
to

n
 o

n
 T

e
es

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
an

d

4
0

.0

4
0

.0

3
9

.6

3
9

.4

3
9

.0
0

3
8

.5

3
7

.8

3
7

.6

3
6

.9

3
6

.2

3
4

.8 3
3

So
u

th
 T

yn
es

id
e

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
gh

N
ew

ca
st

le
 u

p
o

n
 T

yn
e

H
ar

tl
e

p
o

o
l

R
ed

ca
r 

&
 C

le
ve

la
n

d

G
at

es
h

ea
d

D
ar

lin
gt

o
n

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

am

Su
n

d
er

la
n

d

N
o

rt
h

 T
yn

es
id

e

St
o

ck
to

n
 o

n
 T

ee
s

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
er

la
n

d
North East – 24.8% England – 23.0% North East – 37.5% England – 35.2% 

% of children (4-5 years)  
classified as overweight or obese 

% of children (10-11 years)  
classified as overweight or obese 

 Healthy Start Vouchers (% take up) Durham 
(Dec-20) 

58% North East - 59% National - 51% 

P
age 621



33 The programme successfully turned round 885 families in the first nine months of 

2020/21 – more than the government agreed target of 730 (the original target was 

1,050 families but was reduced to 730 due to the impact of COVID-19).  To 

maintain our focus, we have replaced the government target with the more 

stretching local target of turning around 1,100 families by March 2021 (80% 

achieved). 

34 Early Help Conversations, a multi-agency group supporting professionals who 

have concerns about families, has now been operating for a year with positive 

feedback – therefore a One Year on review is being drafted. 

35 Our early help provision, such as the Young Adult Support Café (YASC), 

continues to operate online alongside existing online support (such as 

Rollercoaster and Kooth).  

36 Challenges faced by young people accessing YASCs included financial problems 

over the Christmas period, difficulty adapting to home learning, missing day to 

day engagement with peers and family members and being frustrated with people 

not adhering to government guidance thereby putting themselves and others at 

an unnecessary risk. Some young people have arranged to see friends and family 

despite restrictions being in place due to being vulnerable and struggling with 

their mental health.  

37 In November 2020, following a successful funding bid to the National Lottery, we 

launched a third YASC project in the east of the county (complementing projects 

already delivering in the north and south). However, although some young people 

have expressed an interest in accessing YASC provision, they are not 

comfortable engaging online. 

38 Performance of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) has been impacted 

by COVID, and the delays that national lockdown had on all services contributing 

to the formation of the document over the 20 week period. More than 58% of all 

cases were completed in 20 weeks. The Department of Education counting rules 

make allowances for significant disruption to the assessment process. In this 

instance one of the allowances is when a school is closed for a period of four 

weeks or more during the advice gathering stage of the assessment. Given the 

disruption to schools across the country this has been considered for all EHCP 

assessments that have been impacted by the periods of national 

lockdown. Compliance with the 20 week target with the exceptions removed is 

73%. 

Page 622



39 The uptake of Healthy Start Vouchers, which eligible7 families can spend on 

specific food types8, remains low. To help increase take-up, we are promoting 

and raising awareness of the programme with both families and partners. Bitesize 

training sessions for practitioners have been developed to raise awareness of the 

programme (with more than 400 staff trained so far) and we are working with 

partners on a communication and engagement plan.   

Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

40 During quarter three, we continued to promote breastfeeding and provide advice 

and support to parents on infant feeding related issues and concerns. We have 

strengthened the breastfeeding champions role so they are now supporting 

families, alongside their community breastfeeding peer supporter. 

41 Changes made to the Specialist Stop Smoking Service to support remote 

working, including telephone consultations with clients, have helped reduce the 

number of people lost to follow-up. An automated referral of smokers to the 

service, launched in November 2020, is supporting clinical staff to identify and 

treat tobacco dependency on admission, ensuring a seamless pathway to 

specialist community advisors on discharge.  

42 Brief intervention training packages on stopping smoking were developed and 

rolled out to stakeholders, including early years practitioners, school nurses, 

health trainers, midwives and cancer support workers, during quarter three. We 

also implemented new ways of working with midwives which includes providing 

routine feedback to referrers where women do not engage. Monitoring and 

auditing smoking cessation delivery from maternity support workers is now 

routine. 

43 To protect residents and staff we promoted flu vaccination across the county and 

highlighted the dual risk of catching flu and COVID-19. Almost 4,300 council staff 

accepted our offer of a free flu jab, and across our care homes, more than 3,000 

residents and 2,000 staff were vaccinated by the end of quarter three.   

44 Research has shown that restrictions put in place to reduce the transmission of 

COVID-19 have impacted detrimentally on both mental and physical well-being. 

Throughout quarter three, we supported World Mental Health Day (October) and 

International Stress Awareness Week (November) to highlight the issue, have 

been encouraging staff to ‘check in’ with each other, enhanced and promoted our 

Employee Assistance Programme and provided awareness training for managers. 

 
7 Low-income families eligible for Healthy Start Vouchers 
8 milk - fresh, frozen and tinned fruit and vegetables – fresh, dried and tinned pulses – infant formula milk 

Page 623

https://www.healthystart.nhs.uk/


45 In conjunction with partners, we have developed a ‘Framework for good workforce 

mental health and well-being in County Durham businesses’ to help tackle mental 

health stigma and discrimination in the workplace, improve mental health 

awareness and promote the importance of good mental health. Alongside 

Business Durham, we are supporting local businesses as they move into the 

recovery phase of COVID-19. 

Page 624



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

(c) Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

 

 
 

  
 
 

  
 
  

   
   

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

28.4 28.6 28.3 28.5 28.4
25.9

31.4
28.7 30.6

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2019/20 2020/21

17.8
15.7

14.3

14.7

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

18/19 19/20 20/21
County Durham Target

North East – 12.7%* National - 9.9%* 

Life expectancy at birth (2017-19) 

*Q3 2019/20 

North East – 36.0%* National – 48.2%* 

Male Life Expectancy 

78.3 years 

Female Life Expectancy  

81.8 years 

58.3

63.5

County Durham England

Female healthy life 
expectancy at birth

59.6

63.2

County Durham England

Male healthy life 
expectancy at birth

Gap = 3.6 years Gap =  5.2 years 

% Active (150+ mins a week) 

participation in sport and physical 

activity (May 2019-2020)  
52.8% 57.5% 64.9% 55.5% 60.7% 59.9% 67.7% 65.1% 61.0% 61.6% 57.7% 56.3%

National average – 62.8% 

Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery (SATOD) 
 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth 

 

P
age 625



46 During quarter three, the Suicide Prevention Alliance action plan was refreshed to 

reflect new guidance received from Public Health England. This includes a focus 

on self-harm to reflect the government recommendation. Rates of suspected 

suicide in County Durham have not escalated during the pandemic.  

47 Public Health has also been involved in a research project examining the link 

between suicide and debt, as part of a regional sector led improvement scheme. 

This demonstrated a clear link and County Durham was highlighted in the final 

report as an example of best practice due to the work between the Citizens 

Advice Bureau and mental health services.  

48 Consultation with partners identified a number of key themes for the Healthy 

Weight Alliance in 2021 (including communication and marketing, COVID-19, 

partnerships, food, nutrition and physical activity), Our task and finish groups are 

now focusing on these key areas for the action plan.   

49 Latest data from the Active Lives Survey shows a decrease in adult active 

participation9 in sport and physical activity in County Durham. It should be noted 

that the latest data also covers the first national lockdown period (23 March to 

mid-May).   

50 The Active 30 Durham Campaign aims to help schools and parents in County 

Durham to support young people to participate in 30 minutes of moderate to 

vigorous intensity activity every day at school and at home.  Our Active 30 hub 

was launched in October 2020 and now contains a range of resources to 

encourage physical activity at home during the pandemic.  

51 Throughout the pandemic, we have supported informal carers with training and 

support events, including a virtual ‘Making Sense of Caring’ course held by 

Durham County Carers Support. 

Are people who need adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 

and independent lives? 

52 County Durham continues to perform well in relation to overall satisfaction of 

those receiving care and support10, with increasing satisfaction levels currently 

more than five percentage points above national data. The survey also shows 

continued high performance relating to having enough choice over the services 

received. 

 
9 Sport England define active participation is 150+ minutes a week moderate sport and physical activity. 
10 Adult Social Care Survey 

Page 626

https://www.countydurhamsport.com/young-people/active-30/


53 Permanent admissions to residential and nursing care continue to be lower than 

in previous years. Admission rates for the period April to December 2020 are just 

over half the number for the same period last year. 

54 At the end of December, our Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) 

tracker showed that most of our older people care homes had no significant 

issues with either COVID-19 infection, PPE or staffing. We are, however, facing 

the significant challenge of a further wave of COVID-19 infections nationally at the 

start of 2021. 

55 Given the ongoing pressures on systems, NHS England and NHS Improvement 

have agreed that formal Better Care Fund plans will not have to be submitted to 

NHS England and NHS Improvement for approval in 2020/21. Therefore, current 

performance indicators will continue to be monitored without set targets 

  

Page 627



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

(d) Are people who need adult social care supported to live safe, healthy, and independent lives? 

 

 
 
 

  
 
  

  
   

 
 
 
 

 
 

309.3
adults aged 65+ per 100k population 

admitted to residential or nursing care
(Apr-Dec 2020)

83.5%
of patients discharged into 

reablement/ rehabilitation services 
still at home after 91 days (Jan-Sep 2020)

92.7%
of service users receiving an 

assessment or review within the
last 12 months (Jan-Dec 2020)

94.5%
of individuals achieved their desired

outcomes from the adult safeguarding 
process (Apr-Dec 2020)

Adult Social Care 

 
(566.8) 

 

(86.5%) 

 
(94.9) 

 
(94.9%) 

compared  

to last 

year 

 

Overall Satisfaction of people who use services with their 
care and support  

(Adult Social Care Survey) 

69.6%
County Durham

64.2%
National 

67.5%
North East

66.2%
nearest 

statistical 
neighbour

County Durham performance is better  

than all comparators 

P
age 628



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER      

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and 
safeguarded?   
  
 

 

 

 ` 

 

  

1
,5

0
2

 

1
,4

7
7

 

1
,4

8
5

 

1
,5

1
3

 

1
,5

0
9

 

1
,4

9
7

 

1
,5

3
7

 

1
,6

4
8

 

1
,6

1
0

 

3
,4

9
1

 

3
,5

0
9

 

3
,5

7
1

 

3
,5

9
6

 

3
,5

4
7

 

3
,5

4
2

 

3
,5

6
9

 

3
,7

6
2

 

3
,7

7
8

 

Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Early Help Social Care

2020 Referrals (Apr to Dec)  
compared to same period last year 

 

 

J
o

u
rn

e
y
 o

f a
 c

h
ild

 

 

Number of Open Cases 

 

452

541

434 420
459

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

90

82

78

13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19 Apr 19 -
Mar 20

Apr - Sep
20

Apr-Dec
20

Durham nearest statistical neighbour England

% of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 

15 days of Section 47 investigation commencing 

 

Number of children on a Child Protection Plan 

 

 21%  

(-931) 

62% 25%
11% 2%

59% 29%
10% 2%

Under 20 20-24 25-29 30+

Dec-20 Dec-19

Social Worker Caseload 

 

87% social work 

assessments completed within 

45 working days (Apr-Dec 20)  

Quality of case work  
collaborative audits (Oct-Dec 20) 

95% 
case files given a scaling score of 6 or above 

 

P
age 629



Connected Communities - Safer 

56 The ambition of Connected Communities – Safer is linked to the following key 

questions: 

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services 

appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

(b) Are we being a good corporate parent for children looked after?  

(c) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

(d) How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

(e) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

(f) How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 

abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation? 

(g) How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

57 COVID-19 has significantly impacted children’s services with safeguarding 

referrals remaining lower than we would expect (although they have increased 

since the first lockdown). However, more children are open to social care as 

we’ve been unable to close some cases due to not being able to complete actions 

identified on children’s plans e.g. attendance at a domestic abuse perpetrator 

course as the course is not running.  

58 During quarter three, to help identify children who are particularly vulnerable, we 

developed, and incorporated into our standard operating model, information 

sharing systems between social care and the education sector. Protocols are in 

place so any child not attending school, and where there is concern about their 

welfare, is visited. Where there is a specific safeguarding concern and we are 

unable to access a household, we have a protocol which ensures a joint response 

with police colleagues. 

59 To ensure our staff are able to build and maintain effective relationships with 

children and their families we have recruited more than 30 newly qualified social 

workers, whilst extending agency social worker contracts to support caseloads.  

60 We have commissioned Strengthening Practice to provide additional reflective 

space for our staff. Senior managers are maintaining regular virtual contact with 

staff – at recent practitioner briefings more than 400 staff from across children’s 

social care and early help attended. 

Page 630



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

(b) Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After (CLA)?     

 

 
 
 

In-house foster care 42% 

Friends and family 18% 

Independent Fostering Agency  16% 

Placed with parents 7% 

External residential  

(incl. children's homes and res school) 
5% 

Placed for adoption 5% 

Independent living 

(incl. supported lodgings) 
4% 

In-house residential 

(incl. children's homes) 
3% 

Secure 
(incl. YOI and prisons) 

<0.5% 

NHS / Health Trust <0.5% 

 

 In education, 

employment or training 
 

In suitable 

accommodation 

 Aged  

17-18 

Aged  

19-21 
 

Aged  

17-18 

Aged  

19-21 

County Durham 72% 63%  85% 95% 

North East 63% 52%  94% 91% 

England 64% 53%  90% 85% 

 

 

 

8% 9% 6% 5% 7%

18% 17% 17% 14% 16%

23% 23% 22%
18%

22%

37% 37% 38%
39%

40%

13% 13% 16% 24%
16%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Durham Durham North East England Statistical
Neighbours

Dec-20 2019/20

Under 1 1 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 15 16+

666
785 791 835 899

970

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Care 

Leavers  

 

Children Looked After 

 

Where our children in care live 

 

(as at 16 December 2020) 

Age profile for Children Looked After 

 

(as at December 2020) 

P
age 631



Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After (CLA)?  

61 Although there are more Children Looked After (CLA) than ever across the 

county, it remains the third lowest rate11 in the North East. National research has 

linked these increases to areas with higher levels of deprivation, COVID-19 and 

the closure of family courts during lockdown. However, we are now starting to see 

movement through the courts and the number of delayed care proceedings is 

reducing. 

62 The increase in CLA is causing placement and budget pressures, which is 

reflected both regionally and nationally. Although our in-house foster care 

capacity has reduced, due to some carers de-registering or taking a break due to 

COVID-19, we have seen an increase in children being looked after by friends 

and family. 

63 We continue to work towards building enough capacity to meet the needs of all 

CLA. A new three bedroomed residential property, built to accommodate the 

increasingly complex needs of some of the young people that we care for, is now 

open. 

64 Where possible, we are continuing with face to face family time sessions with 

birth parents and are trying to ensure all children have at least one face to face 

session a week where this is line with their care plan. 

65 All children looked after had their statutory Personal Education Plan (PEP) 

meeting during the Autumn term, via Teams. 85% of the 621 meetings were 

quality assured as “Green” (high quality) – the remaining 15% was rated as 

“Amber”, there were no “Red” PEPs. 

66 Reviews for CLA have continued virtually, alongside visits to our CLA and care 

leavers, and are within timescales. Positives to this approach include more young 

people attending their review and more discussions being held between the 

Independent Reviewing Officer, the child or young person and their families. 

67 Durham’s Children in Care Council (CICC) continues to develop remote support 

for children and young people and is keeping connected with all of its members 

through different social media platforms. There has been a continued growth in 

numbers at online meetings. 

 

 
11 Children in care per 10,000 population aged 0-17 

Page 632



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

(c) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and (d) anti-social behaviour?     

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-114 

Sexual offences (-7%) 

-61 

Robbery (-34%) 
+462 

Other crimes (+7%) 

unless stated, data are Jan 2020 to Dec 2020 

compared to same period last year 

32,067 
ASB incidents 

14,651 
council reported 

+1,054 
 (+8%) 

17,416 
police reported 

+3,006 
 (+21%) 

^  Includes more 

categories from 

Community Protection 

Neighbourhood 
Interventions Team active in: 
- Grange Villa  - Pelton  
- Stanley  - Newton Aycliffe 
- Consett  - Peterlee 
- Wingate   - Wheatley Hill 
- Horden  - Seaham 
- Brandon  - Durham City  
- West Auckland - Ludworth 
- Craghead   - Bishop Auckland   

+358  
Violence against the 

person (+2%) 

-3,781 

Theft 

offences (-25%) 

-532 
Criminal damage/ 

arson (-7%) 

49,979 crimes 

 

90.5 per 1,000 population  3,472  (-7%) 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Hate Crimes by quarter 

Q1, 13/14 to Q3, 20/21 

P
age 633



How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and Anti-Social 

Behaviour (ASB)?   

68 The overall increase in Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) reported to the police over 

the last 12 months can be attributed to an increase in COVID-19 related incidents 

early in the pandemic. The number of reported incidents is are now broadly in line 

with pre-COVID levels. 

69 Council reported ASB is showing a similar trend with the number of reports 

returning to nearer pre-COVID levels. 

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

70 Following significant increases during the first half of 2020, police reported alcohol 

related ASB has significantly fallen to below pre-COVID levels. This was most 

noticeable in November and December. 

71 Although domestic related violence against the person offences which are alcohol 

related has reduced compared to the previous quarters there continues to be an 

increase in the longer term trend.  

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 

abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

72 Following increases between April and September, levels of domestic violence 

incidents reported to the police decreased during quarter three and are now 

comparable to the same period last year.  

73 The domestic abuse triage system for incidents continues with daily multi-agency 

screening of all incidents. This is undertaken by children’s services, child health 

and police staff from within the multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH). The 

benefit of using this operational model is the multi-agency oversight of all 

domestic abuse incidents in County Durham, sharing of information and decision 

making on a daily basis which will ultimately reduce any delay for children who 

need to be safeguarded. 

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 

waterways?  

74 Results from the 2020 National Highways and Transport Survey (NHT) indicate 

the satisfaction in relation to highways continues to exceed national levels.  

75 Due to the pandemic and lockdown, traffic levels reduced across the county, 

however as expected, as traffic levels returned to close to normal through the 

Summer and Autumn, the number of traffic collisions and injury on our roads have 

returned to pre-COVID levels. There is no particular pattern to these incidents. 

Page 634



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER      

(e) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol and (f) tackle abuse of vulnerable people?   

 

 

 

 

 

 

*police figures only 

18.5% 18.5% 17.6% 16.8% 16.1% 16.5% 15.4% 13.7%
18.7% 18.5%

10.4%

Q1
18/19

Q2
18/19

Q3
18/19

Q4
18/19

Q1
19/20

Q2
19/20

Q3
19/20

Q4
19/20

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

Alcohol related ASB 

10.4% 
ASB* alcohol related

 5.0% compared to the 
same period last year

1.0% 
ASB* drug related

 0.2% compared to the 
same period last year

31.3%
alcohol related violent 

crime

 0.5% compared to the 
same period last year

658 776 826 738 787 835 839 973 999 1030 917

1323
1573 1506

1353 1383
1636

1961
1666 1631

1887
1472

Q1
18/19

Q2
18/19

Q3
18/19

Q4
18/19

Q1
19/20

Q2
19/20

Q3
19/20

Q4
19/20

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

Domestic related violence against the person offences which are alcohol
Alcohol related violent crime
Linear (Domestic related violence against the person offences which are alcohol)
Linear (Alcohol related violent crime)

Alcohol related DV and violent crime 

Domestic 
Violence 

(Oct-Dec 2020)

 1%
in incidents 

 1.6 pp 
in DV incidents 

classified as crimes 

 5.1 pp
in incidents involving 

alcohol

 1.4 pp
of DV referrals received 

high risk

3,090
3,549 3,603 3,585 3,580

2,000
2,500
3,000
3,500
4,000
4,500

Domestic abuse incidents reported directly to the Police 

P
age 635



76 Although the school crossing patrol service re-commenced in September 

alongside cycling and bikeability programmes, these have again been suspended 

due to the current lockdown. Online road safety resources have been made 

available for staff within Children and Young People’s Service.  

77 Additional activity has been undertaken through the winter maintenance 

programme to ensure safe access to the COVID Mobile Testing Units and 

Vaccination sites. 

 

 

Page 636



 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

(g) How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

4
3

7

2

0

4 4
5

3

5
6

5

2

7

4

Q1 
17

Q2 
17

Q3 
17

Q4 
17

Q1 
18

Q2 
18

Q3 
18

Q4 
18

Q1 
19

Q2 
19

Q3 
19

Q4 
19

Q1 
20

Q2 
20

Q3 
20

Fatalities

Killed

Seriously injured

Slightly injured

All
casualties

Q3 20/21
(Q3 19/20)

4
(6)

39
(52)

91
(185)

Children
Q3 20/21

(Q3 19/20)

0
(0)

3
(4)

10
(14)

Road traffic 

accidents 

Time taken to 
complete 

roadworks

37% (2020)

32% (North East)

31% (National)

Cold weather 
gritting

53% (2020)

55% (North East)

58% (National)

Highway   
enforcement 
/obstructions

47% (2020)

46% (North East)

45% (National)

Condition of 
road surfaces

43% (2020)

37% (North East)

37% (National)

Dealing with 
potholes and 

damaged 
roads

41% (2020)

36% (North East) 

35% (National

National Highways and Transport Survey (NHT) 2020 

Road Safety overall  

54% 

Satisfaction with… 

Safety of 
walking

59%

(2020) 

63% (North 
East)

61% 
(National)

Safety of 
cycyling

50% (2020)

51% (North 
East)

48% 
(National)

52
60

37
24

42 48
40

61 57 58 52

36
22

52
39

Q1 
17

Q2 
17

Q3 
17

Q4 
17

Q1 
18

Q2 
18

Q3 
18

Q4 
18

Q1 
19

Q2 
19

Q3 
19

Q4 
19

Q1 
20

Q2 
20

Q3 
20

Serious injuries

P
age 637



Connected Communities - Sustainability 

78 The ambition of Connected Communities – Sustainability is linked to the 

following key questions: 

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

(b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

(d) Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?  

(e) Is it easy to travel around the county? 

 

How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

79 Although the number of fly-tipping incidents in 2020 was 12% higher than in 

2019, most of the increase occurred between April and June when Household 

Waste Recycling Centres were closed due to COVID-19 restrictions. The 

number of incidents returned to pre-COVID-19 levels between October and 

December. To deter fly-tipping during 2020, almost 2,000 further investigations 

were completed, which resulted in 38 Fixed Penalty Notices and the seizure of 

15 vehicles.  

80 During quarter three, our Find and Fix Teams were active across 34 sites 

undertaking work such as pruning, removing and planting of trees and shrubs, 

removing graffiti, painting benches and play equipment, replacing/repairing 

bins, repairing/removing/replacing fencing, repairing steps, and clearing 

general vegetation and weeds. 

81 During the same period, our Community Action Team was working in Horden 

looking at housing standards, management of privately rented properties, 

empty properties, rubbish accumulations and anti-social behaviour. 366 issues 

of concern were identified and the team served 311 legal notices. Works will 

continue in the area through the Make Every Adult Matter and Safer Streets 

projects.

Page 638



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY  

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

No. reported and responded to fly-

tipping incidents (12 month rolling trend) 

Hotspots 

• Bishop Auckland 

• Shildon 

• Craghead 

• South Moor 

 Mostly household 

waste 

v
is

u
a
l 
s
u
rv

e
y
 3

 t
im

e
s
 a

 y
e
a

r 
(3

 t
ra

n
c
h

e
s
):

 e
a
c
h
 t
ra

n
c
h
e

 

in
v
o
lv

e
s
 s

u
rv

e
y
in

g
 9

0
0
 5

0
m

 t
ra

n
s
e
c
ts

 o
f 
v
a
ry

in
g

 l
a

n
d
 t

y
p
e

s
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 c

o
u

n
ty

 

National Highways and Transport Survey (NHT) 2020 

Satisfaction with… 

Cleanliness of 
pavements

46% (2020)

43%          
(North East)

48% 
(National)

Cleanliness of 
roads

58% (2020)

54%      
(North East)

54% 
(National)

Condition of 
road 

markings

60% (2020)

54%      
(North East)

54% 
(National)

Maintenance 
of highway 

verges / trees 
/ shrubs

50% (2020)

49%      
(North East)

47% 
(National)

Weedkillig on 
pavements 
and roads

48% (2020)

42%      
(North East) 

45% 
(National

Cutting back 
overgrown 

hedges

44% (2020)

43%      
(North East)

42% 
(National)

7,259
6,713

7,541

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

18/19 19/20 20/21

Environmental Cleanliness 
% relevant land/highways assessed as having deposits that fall below an acceptable 

level 

 

Community Action Team  
- Horden – 366 issues of concern identified 

- Shildon - next focus 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Find & Fix  

works undertaken  

at 34 sites across 

the county  in Q3 

D
u
ri
n

g
 

q
u
a
rt

e
r 

3
 7 cameras deployed

0 incidents 
caught on CCTV

475 further investigations

2 prosecutions
13 FPNs

5 vehicle seizures

P
age 639



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY  

 (b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

 

 

 

  

Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP2) 
(Oct-Dec) 

 

26 businesses engaged 

• 10 grant offers accepted (28 to date) 

• 239.5 tonnes CO2 saved by installing a mixture of LED 

lighting, energy efficient heating and compressors in 

the premises 

On-Street Residential 

Charge Point Scheme 

(ORCS) 
 

• 37 vehicle charging points 

installed in Chester-le-

Street, Consett, Seaham 

and Stanley. 

• 10 more to be installed in 

Stanhope 

• A further 50 will be 

delivered across the 

county working in 

partnership with parish 

councils.  

 

National Highways and Transport Survey 

(NHT) 2020 

Satisfaction with… 

Traffic levels & 
congestion

55% (2020)

53% (North East)

46% (National)

Traffic Pollution

52% (2020)

51%  (North East)

45% (National)

Efforts to reduce delay 
to traffic

53% (2020)

52%  (North East)

49% (National)

Phase 1 of EV charging 

infrastructure completed at 

DCC sites. Phase 2 to be 

developed to reflect forecasted 

fleet requirements 

85.7% of all fleet and 

hire vehicles meet Euro 

6 emission standards 

Proportion of EV in fleet 

has increased to 1.3% 

Scaling On-Street 

Charging Infrastructure 

Project (SOSCI)100 charge 

point locations have been 

requested by residents across 

the county in partnership with 

Innovate UK. 

P
age 640



Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate 

change?  

82 We have successfully reduced carbon emissions by 47% from the 2008 

baseline and are now working towards a 70% reduction by 2024/2512. A 

further significant reduction is expected for 2020/21, partly due to COVID-19 

restrictions, the details of which will be included in the year-end report.  

83 During quarter three, we completed the LED lighting replacement programme 

(phase one), installed LED stage lights at the Gala Theatre and replaced an oil 

boiler with an air source heat pump at Annfield Plain Waste Transfer Station.   

84 We also completed phase one of the electric vehicle charging infrastructure 

programme at DCC sites. Phase two is to be developed in line with forecasted 

fleet requirements. 

85 Having achieved silver accreditation in the Investors in the Environment 

scheme, we are now putting in place a new Environmental Management 

system and policy. 

86 During quarter three, we shortlisted 25 entries to the 2020 Environment 

Awards. The event, which is scheduled to take place virtually on 19 February, 

will be broadcast on the Council’s YouTube site. 

87 We have provided funding to help revitalise local green spaces and combat 

climate change through tree planting. Community groups, parish councils, 

schools and individuals can apply for a grant (up to £150) until February 2021. 

88 21 applicants had received a combined total just over £2,500 (86% if the 

budget) as at 31 December. 

 
12 For more details on targets can be found at https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/The-council-s-
carbon-footprint 
 

Page 641

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/The-council-s-carbon-footprint
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/The-council-s-carbon-footprint


CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY      

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

39.0% household waste 

reused, recycled or composted* 

 2.0pp on same period last 

year 

93.5% diverted from 

landfill* 

 2.7pp on same period 

last year 

*Waste data is reported a quarter in arrears, so the latest reported data is 30-Sep-20 

Household waste collected and sent for recycling (tonnes) 

 

 

27.7%

29.0%

31.0% 30.9%

29.4% 29.4%
28.5% 28.9%

30.0%
31.1%

32.5%

25%

30%

35%

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n

-1
8

Se
p

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

M
ar

-1
9

Ju
n

-1
9

Se
p

-1
9

D
ec

-1
9

M
ar

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Se
p

-2
0

% of waste collected for recycling identified as 

contaminated (12 months ending)* 

 

 

Household Waste Recycling Centre Tonnages (average 3 years) 

Q2 data Jul-Sep 2017-20 vs Jul-Sep 2020-21 

 

 

65,328  

garden waste sign ups 

(Jan-Dec 2020)  

6% increase on last year 

20,133  

bulky waste collections  

(Apr-Dec 2020),  

3% increase on last year 

P
age 642



How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?  

89 In January 2021, Stainton Grove Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) 

achieved national recognition at the Awards For Excellence in Recycling and 

Waste Management. Judges were impressed with the innovation and creativity of 

the newly refurbished site which boasts a trade waste facility and a re-use shop. 

The site, alongside our Single Use Plastic project, was shortlisted for an award. 

The awards took place in January and Stainton Grove HWRC was ‘highly 

commended’ in the Recycling Facility of the Year category.  

90 The quantity and type of household waste collected from kerbside continues to be 

impacted by COVID-19 restrictions. Latest data (July-September 2020) shows a 

15% increase in tonnages against the 3-year average for that time of year. The 

increase coincides with COVID-19 restrictions which encourage people to stay at 

home.  

91 Although more household waste has been collected and a greater tonnage has 

been sent for recycling, the proportion of household waste recycled has reduced 

by two percentage points compared to the same period last year. However, glass 

tonnage sent for recycling continues to surpass the three-year average with latest 

data showing a 27% increase. 

92 Although here has been an improvement in the HWRC’s landfill diversion rate 

following the re-opening of recyclable markets and increased capacity within the 

refuse system, it remains below the 3-year average of 89%, with a rate of 76%.  

93 Challenges within the market and resource issues, caused by COVID-19, has 

resulted in our waste contracts being extended. MRF and haulage contracts have 

been extended to March 2022 and the HWRC contract to March 2023. The 

residual contract, which is in partnership with seven other North East local 

authorities, is progressing well and procurement is expected to be completed by 

January 2022 

 

 

Page 643



No. households 
supported 

under Housing 
Revenue Account

156
prevention

159
relief

(within 56 days)

13
main duty 
to secure

accommodation

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY      

(d) Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

 

   

 

 

 
  

Housing advice and support 
(Oct–Dec 20, compared to same period last year) 

675 
properties improved, adapted or brought 
back into use   42% 

2,996 households accessed Housing Solutions   12% 

260 
households helped to move to alternative 
accommodation  12% 

303
households helped to 
stay in their homes

 18% on last year
(Oct-Dec 20)

96
'new' households 

placed in temporary 
accommodation (TA)

 18% on last year

(Oct-Dec 20)

For additional housing information, visit the Durham Insight,  Housing factsheet 

 

Selective Licensing  

• Business case submitted to Secretary of State in December 2020. 

• Covers 42% of the private rented stock in the county.   

• Proposed go live date June 2021 

Average time household is in 

temporary accommodation (days)  

 

Stop B4U Serve 

During quarter three: 

• 27 referrals 
• 98% of cases due to rent arrears 
• 86% success rate 

Eviction Ban 

lifted 11 January 

More presentations with 

a s21 notice and court 

dates 

P
age 644

https://www.durhaminsight.info/housing/


Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

94 Fewer households are accessing Housing Solutions where homelessness could 

be prevented, by either keeping someone in their own home or securing 

alternative accommodation. A shortage of available move on accommodation, 

potentially exacerbated by the eviction ban and the availability of social housing, 

is resulting in fewer preventions.  

95 A shortage of available move on accommodation has also increased the length of 

time households spend in temporary accommodation. Work to prioritise the type 

of accommodation needed, such as single person accommodation, is taking 

place through the County Durham Lettings Agency. 

96 Fewer properties have been brought back into use as a direct result of the impact 

of COVID-19 restrictions which state only essential work should take place. 

However, more properties are benefitting from energy efficiency measures, 

regeneration initiatives and disabled facilities grants as work in this area can be 

completed over the telephone. 

97 Although our proposed Selective Licensing Scheme has been submitted to the 

Secretary of State for approval, we are aware that the pandemic has caused 

significant delays to the decision making process. If the scheme is approved, we 

will be required to place notices advertising the scheme for three months before 

we can issue licences. As such, it is anticipated that our proposed ‘go live’ date 

may be delayed. 

Is it easy to travel around the county?  

98 Having reduced since 2012, our highways maintenance backlog (carriageways, 

footways and streetlighting) is now broadly in line with other local authorities13. 

Key issues remain with unclassified roads, the severe winter in 2017/18 resulted 

in deteriorating condition which is worse than the national average.  We have put 

in place a programme of resurfacing works both footways and street lighting 

columns which have reached their end of service life.  

 
13 based on Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey (ALARM) 2020 

Page 645



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY      

(e) is it easy to travel around the county? 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 
2016 2017 2018 2019 

National 
Average 

A roads 4.1% 2.6% 2.6% 3.0%  
3.4% 

B roads 5.3% 4.7% 4.7% 3.3%  4.6% 

C roads 3.6% 3.7% 3.7% 2.3%  4.6% 

Unclassified 
Roads 

20.0% 20.0% 21.0% 21.3%  15.1% 

National Highways and Transport Survey (NHT) 2020 

Satisfaction with… 

Good park and ride 
schemes

57% (2020)

41% (North East)

45% (National)

Travel less by car

36% (2020)

40% (North East)

40% (National)

Walk, cycle or use 
public transport more

42% (2020)

45% (North East) 

45% (National)

Maintenance Backlog (£million) 

Bridge Stock Condition 

Principal roads

Non-Principal  
roads

2017

80.0

81.0

2018

80.7

79.9

2019

80.7*

79.9*

191.7 187.6
179.7

172.6

2016 2017 2018 2019

*last year’s data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values 

traffic levels are generally  

60-70%* pre-COVID levels. 

compared to 30-40% during the  

first lockdown in March 2020.  

(*measured 5 to 11 January) 

Percentage of roads where maintenance is required 

P
age 646



AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

(a) How well do we look after our people?      

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

3 reasons for  

70% of sickness 

 

▪ 24% of all sickness 
▪  20% (-4,000  

days) 
 

▪ 9% of all sickness 
▪  13% if COVID-19 included (+718 days) 
▪  50% if COVID-19 excluded (-2,500 days) 
▪ 3,500 days lost were COVID-related 

▪ 37% of all sickness 
▪  2% (-573 days) 
▪ almost 7,000 days lost to 

anxiety  70% 
▪ Almost 3,700 days lost to 

work-related stress 33% 
 

 
mental health 

and fatigue

musculo
-skeletal

Infections 
(incl. cold 

& flu)

 
Apprenticeships – 2017 to date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

66,490 days lost to sickness  ( 10%)

9.71 days per FTE  ( 0.94 days)

10.7%
short-term

(5 days or less)

15.1%
medium-term
(6 to 19 days)

74.1%*

long term
(20 days or more)

68%
staff with no 

sickness

14%
staff with 1 to 5 

days sickness

18%
staff with more 

than 5 days sickness

 Staff Turnover (excl. school staff) 
Days lost to sickness 

(12 months trend to 30 December) 

  7%  
Jan- - Dec-19 

 

6.6% 
Jan – Dec-20 

 

better than last 

year

similar to last 

year

worse than 

last year

Not 

comparable

745  

Mental Health Awareness 
(69% of managers) 

Zero Suicide 
(e-learning) 

Mental Health for life 
(e-learning)  

989 343  

614  MECC training 

Mental Health & Well-being Training (to date)

82 

Time to Change Champions

181 

Mental Health First Aiders

62 
Health advocates

 apprenticeship
standards

592 approved

78 in development

 

 

 

 

 

 

New

Upskilling

Total

started

458

460

918

completed

210

241

451

in 
progress

248

219

467

retention 
rate
82%

821 days taken as 

bereavement  leave 

587 days taken as 

compassionate leave 

108 

‘Face to Face’ 

counselling sessions

195 

Telephone structured 

counselling sessions

352 

Calls to Employee Assistance Programme

418 

physiotherapy 

sessions

COVID-19 activity 

(via Occ. Health – Q3 only) 

 

467 queries  

339 screening for testing

All data is Jan - Dec 2020 compared to previous year 

*of 23 people absent for 

6-12 months (Jan-21) 

8 have been dismissed 

P
age 647

https://www.instituteforapprenticeships.org/apprenticeship-standards/?


An Excellent Council  

99 The ambition of an excellent council is structured around the following key 

questions: 

(a) How well do we look after our people? 

(b) Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers? 

(c) How good are our services to customers and the public? 

How well do we look after our people?  

100 During quarter three, we were awarded Better Health at Work’s Continuing 

Excellence Award in recognition of our continued commitment to address and 

improve workplace health and well-being. Our assessor stated that it is apparent 

we have been proactive in our response to the rapid and enforced change to 

working conditions that have presented multiple challenges for all organisations 

but have been a particular challenge for local authorities. 

101 Throughout this period, we maintained our focus on the health and wellbeing of 

our employees. Communication from our leadership and management teams 

continued to highlight support channels available to help staff look after their 

mental well-being and develop emotional resilience. This included our employee 

well-being guide, our Employee Assistance Programme and a range of flexible 

working arrangements to aid those employees working from home with children 

due to school closures.  

102 We also continued to provide tailored support to staff through regular online catch 

ups and structured one to one/supervision meetings. And although Performance 

and Development Reviews (PDRs) remain on hold, existing PDRs can be 

updated. 

103 Actions that protect our employees and reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission 

continued to be implemented. Assurance audits carried out during quarter three, 

predominantly focusing on premise-related control measures such as one-way 

systems, sneeze guards and signage, resulted in an overall compliance rate of 

96%. In addition, having captured the views of our essential workers during 

quarter two, we are now looking at actions that could potentially improve 

experiences and increase resilience going forward.   

104 Almost 4,30014 employees have accepted our offer of a free flu jab and we are 

now identifying employee cohorts eligible for the COVID-19 vaccine. 

 
14 As at 25 January 2021.  3,969 vaccinations through the pharmacy voucher scheme and 299 through our 
onsite occupational health clinics 

Page 648

https://www.betterhealthatworkaward.org.uk/
https://www.betterhealthatworkaward.org.uk/
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/SiteAssets/pages/Coronavirus/Employee%20Wellbeing%20Guide.pdf
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/SiteAssets/pages/Coronavirus/Employee%20Wellbeing%20Guide.pdf
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/Pages/EmployeeAssistance.aspx


105 We are also supporting employees recovering from COVID-19, who have been 

shielding or have been unable to exercise as much due to lockdown to access 

specialist services which will help with their recovery and return to fitness. 

106 Also, during quarter three, to improve the pre-employment experience of newly 

appointed staff, we developed a new employee onboarding module for roll-out 

later this year.  

107 Although recruitment freezes, disruption to training and difficulties inducting and 

supporting our apprentices in a virtual environment have resulted in fewer 

apprentice starts this year, our apprenticeship programme remains an integral 

part of workforce development15. During quarter three, our work to create 

apprenticeship opportunities was recognised with a place in the government’s top 

100 apprenticeship employers list.  

108 We continue to promote upskilling across our workforce, and have mapped all 

suitable apprenticeship standards (including at degree level) to different 

occupational areas and made the information available through our learning and 

development system. 

109 New starters can now attend our corporate Meet and Greet sessions. During the 

virtual session, new starters are welcomed by the Chief Executive and given key 

information to help in their new role by the Head of People and Talent 

Management. 

110 21 people expressed interest in our disability and LGBT+ allies staff networks – 

the purpose of which is to provide support, be a conduit for raising issues with 

senior leadership, drive equality, and act as a sounding board for recovery work 

and new ways of working. Moving forward, we will connect these networks with 

other established networks such as the carers network and Black and Asian staff 

network. 

111 Throughout the pandemic Equality Impact Assessments were carried out to 

identify impact of the furlough scheme, these showed no disproportionate impacts 

on our staff. The furlough scheme may have positive impact on some staff as it 

allowed them to undertake care responsibilities/ home schooling. Furlough affects 

sport, culture and leisure staff. Our flexible working and parental leave policies 

are well established and have been available to all staff for some time and data 

does show a reasonable take up so we would hope that this trend continues.  

112 During quarter three, we identified 91 job placements, and submitted a bid to fund 

them, as part of the government’s kickstart scheme. If approved, the six-month 

 
15 £6 million invested via the apprenticeship levy since May 2017 - £89,000 expired (i.e. not used within 24 
months of entering our digital account) so was transferred to central government to fund apprenticeships 
for small employers – equates to 1.5% of our total fund. 

Page 649

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/top-100-apprenticeship-employers-announced
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/top-100-apprenticeship-employers-announced


job placements will give young people (aged 16-24) the opportunity to build their 

confidence and skills in the workplace, and to gain experience that will increase 

their likelihood of going on to find long-term, sustainable work. We will provide 

additional funding to ensure all kickstart participants receive the Durham Living 

Wage.   

113 Interviews for the placements are scheduled to take place in February/March 

2021. The scheme will continue until December 2021; therefore, a second intake 

of job placements could be considered. 

Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers?   

114 Although our ability to deliver services continues to be impacted by the pandemic 

and some non-essential services remain closed or are being delivered remotely, 

we did reinstate more services during quarter three.  

115 This included elements of the Durham Works Programme, audit services to 

Durham Constabulary, essential HR visits to schools, restoration of The Waves16, 

Area Action Partnership visits and photo shoots17, supporting Amazon recruitment 

by Durham Employment and Skills, support groups for children and young people 

who have experienced domestic abuse, group sessions (outdoors) for young 

victims of crime, pick and deliver contactless service for prisons, preparing and 

selling properties, additional admin resource for Extra Care Schemes. 

116 In addition to our own services, we opened our children’s centres to the NHS so 

children who missed their immunisation in school could receive their vaccinations. 

117 Tightening of COVID-19 restrictions during quarter three also meant we had to 

delay our plans to reopen some services, for example Wolsingham Pool, the 

management of which was recently transferred to ourselves.   

 

 
16 a short-term off-site placement where children at risk of permanent exclusion access various activities 
which help them address the social and emotional aspects of learning. Provided by council staff in 
partnership with schools. 
17 In line with COVID secure guidance 

Page 650



AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

(b) Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?  
 

 

 

  

 -  5,000  10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000 35,000

Garden waste - join the scheme

Waste permits

Bulky waste

Bin (not emptied)

Bin (new/replace/repair)

Council tax account

Account updates

General Enqiry

Fly-tipping

self-serve Telephone Face to face Other contact method

1.18m
(78%)

240K
(16%)

‘Do it online’ self-service portal  Telephone 

487,950 calls

98% answered
(93% within 3 minutes)

Customer Services 
(ACD lines)

696,895 calls

91% answered
(88% within 3 minutes)

Other (ACD lines)

Face-to-Face 

3,038

document 
receipts

1,385
CT/HB 

appointments

670

waste permits

362

bulky waste 
collections

262

bin replace, 
repair

*69% 

 

36k*
(2%)

Top 5 

requests Q3 

Data is Jan-Dec 2020, compared to previous year,  

* Face to Face, data is not comparable, as CAPs were only open until 1st 

national lockdown in March 2020.  

Non Service Request Contact 

We responded to more than 399,000 non-service requests by: 

• providing general policy advice 

• signposting 

• transferring calls  

• booking appointments 

• providing updates  
 

54% 

T
o

p
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 R

e
q

u
e

s
ts

 

b
y
 c

h
a
n

n
e
l 

used for 50% 
of all service 

requests 

200k 
accounts 

represents 

26% of all 

contact 

7% 

4
,4

6
7

 

8
,3

0
7

 

1
2

,5
4

5 

1
7

,0
1

4 

2
1

,4
2

6 

2
5

,8
8

3 

2
9

,6
7

3 

3
2

,5
6

1 

3
3

,3
1

7 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Number of 'do it online' self-service account 
creation requests (YTD)

P
age 651



118 Service suspensions/closures have resulted in some of our employees being 

either furloughed or stood down18. Three quarters of those furloughed (290 of 

385) returned to work during quarter three, and of the 95 employees who 

remained on furlough, 21 continued to work some of their hours (flexible 

furlough)19.  

119 Employees stood down continue to support delivery of other service areas, where 

they have the necessary skills. As at 27 October, 101 employees had been 

redeployed. Other actions taken to maintain service delivery includes short term 

contracts for ex-employees or students across specific areas, for example social 

work, sourcing additional staff to support frontline care services, maintaining a 

pool of casual staff. 

120 Throughout quarter three, we continued to standardise, harmonise and unitise our 

first point of contact (FPOC) customer service offer (our integrated customer 

services initiative). 

121 Further expansion of our online service delivery and alternatives to face-to-face 

contact are continuing to encourage more customers to liaise with us digitally. 

Almost 200,000 residents now have an online account and during quarter three, 

almost 2,500 customers accessed service support and advice through webchat.  

122 However, we are aware that some people are reluctant to use our online services 

and to help us understand why, we have invited residents to take part in a survey 

about digital services.  An update will be provided in the year-end report. 

123 Migrating telephone lines is an important element of our integrated customer 

services initiative, as we can only view demand and performance statistics (and 

thereby identify opportunities to improve the customer experience) for calls 

received through our Automated Call Distribution (ACD) system20. 

124 We have extremely limited data for calls received outside the ACD system.  

Therefore, when viewing our telephone statistics, it is important to remember that 

they only include data from our ACD system.  As we migrate lines from non-ACD 

sources, not only does the overall call volume increase, but as there is no back 

data associated with the transferred lines, any comparisons with previous time 

 
18 It is not possible to access the furlough scheme to subsidise pay for employee groups not deemed to be 
commercial activities/income generating, e.g. library services, school crossing patrols, school-based 
employees etc.  
19 According to a recent LGA survey 24% of councils reported that they had furloughed at least one 
member of staff. In total, responding authorities reported there were 3,150 staff furloughed in the week 
ending 11 December 2020, which was 0.7 per cent of the current workforce. 
20 Broadly speaking, we receive telephone calls either through our Automatic Call Distribution (ACD) 
system, which routes calls to groups of agents in line with ‘first-in-first-answered’ criteria, or directly to a 
telephone extension (non-ACD). 

Page 652

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/24783/Have-your-say-on-digital-services-
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/24783/Have-your-say-on-digital-services-
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/LGA%20Research%20Report%20-%20COVID-19%20Workforce%20Survey%20-%2011%20December%202020.pdf


periods can be misleading as it appears as if telephone calls to the council are 

increasing.  

125 Although latest data shows overall contact via telephone has increased, detailed 

analysis carried out during quarter three shows there has been a  reduction in 

telephone contact – but this has been masked by the additional call volume from 

lines transferred to the ACD system over the last 21 months. We estimate that 

overall call volume is at least 25% lower than we would have expected.   

126 However, some reductions in call volume are due to digital advancements. Our 

general enquiries team is handling fewer calls due to more customers using our 

virtual Interactive Voice Recognition (IVR) system to self-serve. During 2020, 

more than 12,000 customers were automatically transferred to the required 

service, and kept informed by our time bot of their position in the queue and when 

their call will be answered. 13% of customers are offered a text message with 

links to the information they need via our IVR – 60% of these customers accept 

the offer rather than staying on the line, and the remaining 40% have the link to 

use at a later date. 

127 To enable us to gather the views of our residents on a wide range of issues, we 

moved our Area Action Partnership (AAP) consultation meetings online. More 

than 600 people attended the 14 events and we received almost 1,400 

comments. Feedback from the events is currently being collated but early 

indications are positive. 

128 We are also engaging with our communities through our 63 COVID Community 

Champions. Their role is dual-purpose; to help reduce the spread of COVID-19 in 

our communities by sharing the latest information and guidance, and to let us 

know what our communities are thinking.  

129 For example, during December our champions shared information relating to self-

isolation and Christmas bubbles, and fed back that the public were confused by 

local tier rules – which gave us the opportunity to provide further clarification. 

130 During quarter three, we agreed to extend our council tax reduction scheme into 

2021/22. The scheme provides a safety net for our most disadvantaged 

households and we are among a small number of authorities nationally, and the 

only one in the North East, to offer up to 100 per cent exemption from paying 

council tax. We project that total awards will be £5 million higher in 2020/21 than 

2019/20. 

131 Those in arrears with their council tax and business rate accounts will be 

receiving formal reminders in quarter four; however, in line with our ongoing 

support approach, we will continue to offer financial assistance and deferred 

payment arrangements. Between July and October, we encouraged residents 

Page 653

http://www.durham.gov.uk/covidcommunitychampion
http://www.durham.gov.uk/covidcommunitychampion


and businesses struggling financially to engage with us to access support 

mechanisms, for example, potential discounts and exemptions, benefit checks 

and signposting to debt advice.  

132 We continue to support families during school holidays. Using the Government’s 

COVID winter grant funding, we worked with health visitors and educational 

providers to make direct awards of food vouchers to parents and carers of 

children eligible for free school meals. The scheme provided one £40 voucher per 

child.  21,118 vouchers were redeemed over the Christmas period (80% of total) 

and the scheme will run again over the February half term, offering one £20 

voucher per child. 

133 More than 15,000 children21 benefited from our holiday activities with healthy food 

programme, which although universally accessible is targeted at vulnerable 

children on free school meals over the four school holiday periods of Easter, May 

half term, Summer and October half term. This scheme will continue over 

February half-term 2020/21. 

134 We have also provided funding for The Bread and Butter Thing (TBBT), a charity 

that redistributes surplus food. The first hub opened in Horden in November and 

the scheme is being rolled out to locations with the greatest need. Users receive 

£35 of groceries for £7.50. 

How good are our services to customers and the public? 

135 Customers can now provide feedback in relation to 111 different service requests 

(via automated customer satisfaction surveys at CRM closure), 20 more than at 

30 September.  

136 Over the last 12 months, we received just over 11,000 responses to our 

automated customer satisfaction survey (from the CRM closure process), which 

we acknowledge is a relatively small proportion of overall service delivery.  We 

continue to explore options to increase the response rate (including improved 

capture of email addresses and exploration of other contact channels) to expand 

the range of customer feedback and insight received. 

137 Of those who did respond, the main reason for dissatisfaction with service 

delivery continues to be not resolving the issue long-term.  

138 In line with previous reports, half of all corporate complaints received during 

quarter two related to our waste collection service, predominantly missed 

collections (although there are more than 13 million collections each year) and 

correspondence issues surrounding contaminated bins. Less than 1% of the 

 
21 From 115 of the 185 projects allocated funding - some project examples and feedback can be seen in 
the YouTube clip. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xilXRsXttZs&feature=youtu.be 

Page 654

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xilXRsXttZs&feature=youtu.be


9,200 contamination letters issued in the 12 months ending 31 December were 

disputed by the recipient – those upheld mainly arose from difficulties identifying 

the house to which the bin belonged, which is most noticeable in back streets. 

Page 655



 

AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL  

(c) How good are our services to customers and the public?   
 

Customer Satisfaction: 
from the CRM closure process  

(based on 11,030 responses) 

77% 
informed of 

length of time 

to resolve task 

74% 
informed of 

progress 

 

94% 
found it easy 

to contact the 

right service 

87% 
felt they were 

provided with 

clear 

information 

94% 
felt they were 

treated with 

dignity and 

respect 

 

82% 
satisfied with 

service 

delivery 

97% 
felt request was 

knowledgeably 

& effectively  

handled 

88% 
satisfied with 

the handling 

of their initial 

contact 

85% 
satisfied with 

time taken to 

complete their 

task 

Customer Feedback 

1,134
compliments

(+245)

623
suggestions

(-20)

139
comments 

about policies / 
procedures

(-17)

59
objections to 
our decisions 

(-3) 

90
dissatisfied 

with fees and 
charges

(-29)

2,333
corporate 
complaints

(-47)

112
statutory 

complaints

(-18)

186
independent 
investigation 

requests

79
Ombudsman 

decisions
76% investigated 

47% upheld 

Corporate Complaints 

1 in four due to either  

Missed Collections 
507complaints 

72% upheld 

Contamination letters 

103 complaints 

86% upheld 
 

P
age 656



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2020/21 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland.  
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 657

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


MORE AND BETTER JOBS  

Do residents have good job prospects?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

1 
% of working age population in 
employment 

71.9 
Oct 2019- 
Sept 2020 

73 72.5 75.7 71.5 74.1 
 Yes 

RED AMBER RED GREEN RED 

2 
Per capita household disposable 
income (£) 

16,542 2018 
Tracker 15,875 21,609 16,995  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

3 
Number of gross jobs created or 
safeguarded as a result of Business 
Durham activity 

361 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 257    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

4 
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 

4.6 
as at Dec 

2020 

Tracker 6.7 3.3 4.8 4.7 
 Yes 

N/a RED GREEN AMBER AMBER 

 

MORE AND BETTER JOBS  

Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

5 
Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita 
in County Durham (£) 

16,763 2018 
Tracker 16,388 29,356 20,554  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

6 
Number of registered businesses in 
County Durham 

14,105 Mar 2020 
Tracker 13,795    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

7 Value (£M) of new contracts secured 839,017 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 683,439    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

P
age 658



MORE AND BETTER JOBS  

Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

8 
Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs 
created 

10.6 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

12 7.5    
 Yes 

RED GREEN    

9 
Number of Inward Investments 
secured 

2 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

2 0    
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN    

10 
% of Business Durham business floor 
space that is occupied 

82.8 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 85.7    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

 

MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

11 
Number of visitors to County Durham 
(million) 

20.13 2019 
Tracker 19.71    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

12 
Number of jobs supported by the visitor 
economy 

12,133 2019 
Tracker 11,998    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

13 
Amount (£ million) generated by the 
visitor economy 

955 2019 
Tracker 914    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

 

 

 

P
age 659



**not reporting for 2019/20  

MORE AND BETTER JOBS   

Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

14 Average Attainment 8 score 48.8 
2019/20 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 
Not 

comparable 
53.1 48.4  

 Yes 
N/a N/a RED GREEN  

15 
Average point score per A level entry 
of state-funded school students 

39.9 
2019/20 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 
Not 

comparable 
39.5 38.3  

 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN  

16 
% of pupils achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (KS2)** 

65 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 67 65 67 61 
 No 

N/a RED GREEN RED GREEN 

17 
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not 
in education, employment or training 
(NEET) 

5.0 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 4.4 2.5 4.2  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED RED  

18 

Gap between average Attainment 8 
score of Durham disadvantaged 
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils 
nationally (KS4) 

-14.4 
2019/20 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 
Not 

comparable 
-13.5 -15.1  

 Yes 
N/a N/a RED GREEN  

19 
% of children in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage achieving a Good 
Level of Development** 

71.8 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

64 72.8 71.8 71.8  
 No 

GREEN AMBER GREEN GREEN  

20 

Gap between % of Durham 
disadvantaged pupils and % of non-
disadvantaged pupils nationally who 
achieve expected standard in 
reading, writing and maths (KS2)** 

-19.8 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker -15.1 -20 -18 

  No 

N/a RED GREEN RED 

21 
Ofsted % of Primary schools judged 
good or better 

89 
as at  

31 Dec 
2020 

Tracker 91 87 91 
  No 

N/a RED GREEN RED 

22 
Ofsted % of secondary schools 
judged good or better 

64 
as at  

31 Dec 
2020 

Tracker 61 76 60  
 No  

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

P
age 660



MORE AND BETTER JOBS   

Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?    

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

23 
Exclusion from school of all Durham 
children - percentage of children with 
at least one fixed exclusion** 

2.2 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 2.1 2.44 2.78 2.86 
 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

**not reporting for 2019/20 
 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

24 
% of free school meals (FSM) eligible 
pupils taking FSM 

75.8 Jan 2020 
Tracker 79.4 78.7 78.7  

 No 
N/a RED RED RED  

25 
Under-18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17  

26.4 2018 
Tracker 23.7 16.7 24.9 25.0 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

26 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

73.2 2019 
Tracker 74.2 76.6 76.7 71.7 

 No 
N/a AMBER RED RED GREEN 

27 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000)^^ 

54.7 
2016/17-
2018/19 

Tracker 53.1 31.6 60.0 46.8 
 No 

N/a RED RED GREEN RED 

28 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted 
to hospital as a result of self-harm 
(rate per 100,000)^^ 

354.3 2018/19 
Tracker 350.1 444.0 536.5 589.9 

 No 
N/a AMBER GREEN GREEN GREEN 

^^next update due quarter four 

 

 

P
age 661



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

29 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

24.9 2019/20 
Tracker 24.0 23.0 24.8 25.0 

 Yes 
N/a RED RED AMBER GREEN 

30 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

37.6 2019/20 
Tracker 37.7 35.2 37.5 37.2  

Yes 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER AMBER 

31 
% of Education Health and Care 
Plans completed in the statutory 20 
week time period (excl. exceptions) 

73 2020 
Tracker 70.2 60.4 69.8 68.9 

2019 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

** The National Child Measurement Programme collection ended in March 2020 when schools closed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Comparisons to North East and Nearest Statistical 

Neighbour local authorities should be treated with caution as some of the authorities did not submit all of their measurements. 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

32 

% of successful interventions 
(families turned around) via the 
Stronger Families Programme 
(Phase 2) [number] 

121.23% 
[885/730] 

Apr-Dec 
2020 

730* N/a    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

33 

% of children aged 0-2 years in the 
top 30% IMD registered with a 
Family Centre and having sustained 
contact 

88.3 
Apr-Dec 

2020 

80 89.8    
 Yes 

GREEN AMBER    

*target is for March 2021 

P
age 662



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

34 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

14.3 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

14.7 15.8 9.9 12.7 13.4 
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN RED RED RED 

35 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  
[number of quitters] 

600 
[376] 

Apr-Jun 
2020 

Tracker  
771 

[504] 
320 433 586 

 Yes 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

36 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.3 2017-19 
Tracker 78.2 79.8 78.0 78.3 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN GREEN 

37 
Female life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

81.8 2017-19 
Tracker 81.5 83.4 81.8 82.0  

 
Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN AMBER 

38 
Female healthy life expectancy at 
birth (years) 

58.3 2017-19 
Tracker 58.4 63.5 59.0 61.0 

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER RED 

39 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59.6 2017-19 
Tracker 59.3 63.2 59.4 60.5 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN AMBER 

40 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion 
of adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

63.3 2018/19 

Tracker 66.7 62.3 64.9 67.3 

 No 
N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN AMBER 

41 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide 
and injury of undetermined intent) 
per 100,000 population 

13.4 2017-19 

Tracker 12.8 10.1 11.6 12.3 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

42 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth (%) 

30.6 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

31.8 28.4 48.2 36.0 34 Q3 
2019/20 

Yes 
AMBER GREEN RED RED RED 

43 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

17.0 2019 
Tracker 15.0 13.9 15.3 15.2 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

P
age 663



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

44 
Self-reported well-being - people 
with a low happiness score 

9.5 2018/19 
Tracker 8.9 7.8 9.7 9.5 

 No 
N/a RED RED GREEN GREEN 

45 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

58.1 
May 2019/ 
May 2020 

Tracker 61.4 62.8 60.1  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED RED  

46 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

30.6 
May 2019/ 
May2020 

Tracker 28.2 25.5 28.9  
 Yes  

N/a RED RED RED  

 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people who need adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

47 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

309.3 
Apr-Dec 

2020 

N/a 566.8    

 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

48 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

83.5 
Jan-Sept 

2020 

N/a 86.5 82.0 83.5 80.3* 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a RED 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 

49 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

94.5 
Apr-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 94.9 92.2 85.4 92.1* 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a AMBER 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 

P
age 664



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people who need adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

50 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

92.7 
Jan-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 86.8    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

51 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

69.6 2019/20 
Tracker 67.8 64.2 67.5 66.2* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

52 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

51.2 2018/19 
Tracker 43.3** 38.6 47.2 41.8* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

53 
Daily delayed transfers of care beds, 
all, per 100,000 population age 18+ 

2.9 Feb 2020 
Tracker 1.5 11.0 7.0 11.0* 

 No 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

54 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

77.6 2019/20 
Tracker 75.1 66.6 73.0 69.2* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*unitary authorities 

** results from 2016/17 survey  

 

 

 

 

P
age 665



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

55 

% of statutory referrals received by the 
First Contact Team or Emergency 
Duty Team processed within 1 working 
day 

97 
[2,478] 

Apr-Dec 
2020 

Tracker 
94.8  

[4,319] 
   

 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

56 
% of statutory children in need 
referrals occurring within 12 months of 
a previous referral 

24 
[830] 

Apr-Dec 
2020 

Tracker 
31.8 
[904] 

23 22 20 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

57 
% of single assessments completed 
within 45 working days 

87 
[3,097] 

Apr-Dec 
2020 

Tracker 
94.1 

[4,702] 
84 89 87 

2019/20 Yes 
N/a RED GREEN RED GREEN 

58 
Rate of children subject to a child 
protection plan per 10,000 population 
aged under 18 [number of children] 

45.65 
[459] 

as at 
Dec 2020 

Tracker 
41.6 
[420] 

43 70 58 as at 
31 Mar 20 

Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

59 
Rate of children in need per 10,000 
population aged under 18 (statutory L4 
open cases) [number of children] 

378.56 
[3,806] 

as at 
Dec 2020 

Tracker 
363.8 

[3,676] 
324 463 414 as at  

31 Mar 20 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

60 
Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per 
10,000 population aged under 18 (One 
Point open cases) [number of children] 

158.8 
[1,605] 

as at 
Dec 2020 

Tracker 
182.8 

[1,847]     Yes 

N/a N/a 

61 

% of strategy meetings initiated which 
led to an initial child protection 
conference being held within 15 
working days 

90 
[515 of 
575] 

Apr-Dec 
2020 

75 
89 

[508] 
78 83 82 

2019/20 Yes 
GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

62 
% of Social Workers with fewer than 
20 cases 

62 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 59    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

63 
% of Statutory Case File Audits which 
are given a scaling score of 6 or above 

94.9 
[37 of 39] 

Oct-Dec 
2020 

80 85.7      

Yes 
GREEN  GREEN     

 

P
age 666



 

 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

64 
Rate of children looked after per 10,000 
population aged under 18 [number of 
children] 

96.58 
[970] 

as at 
Dec 2020 

Tracker 
89       

[899] 
67 108 99 as at  

31 Mar 20 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

65 
% of children adopted from care (as % 
of total children leaving care) 
[number of children] 

18.2 
[53 of 291]                          

Apr-Dec 
2020 

Tracker 
16 

[43/274]                          
12 12 18 

2019/20 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

66 
% of CLA who are fostered incl. friends 
and family 

74 
[716]  

as at 
6-Jan-21 

Tracker 
78 

[703]  
72 74 73 

2019/20 Yes 
N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

67 % of external residential placements 
5 

[52] 
as at 

6-Jan-21 

Tracker 
4 

[36]     Yes 
N/a N/A 

68 
% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who had a dental 
check 

27 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 74 90 86 86 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a RED RED RED RED 

69 

% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who have had 
the required number of health 
assessments 

88 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 84 90 92 93 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a GREEN Red RED RED 

70 

Emotional and behavioural health of 
children looked after continuously for 12 
months or more (score between 0 to 
40) 

13.5 2019/20 
Tracker 15.5 14.2 14.1 14.0 

2018/19 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

71 
Average Attainment 8 score of Children 
Looked After 

25.6 2018/19  
Tracker 24.8 19.2 20.6 20.5 

 No 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN P

age 667



*provisional data 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

77 
First time entrants to the youth justice 
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000 
population aged 10 to 17)  

176 
Apr 19-
Mar 20 

Tracker 262 220 303 231 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

78 
Overall crime rate per 1,000 
population 

21.18 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 23.63    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER 

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

72 
% of CLA achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (at KS2) 

55 2018/19 
Tracker 39.5 36 47  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

73 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

72 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 60 64 63 65 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

74 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

63 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 68 53 52 53 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

75 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
suitable accommodation 

85 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 95 90 94 100 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a RED RED RED RED 

76 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
suitable accommodation 

95 
as at 

Dec 2020 

Tracker 100 85 91 90 
2019/20 Yes 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

P
age 668



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

79 
Rate of theft offences per 1,000 
population 

4.9 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 7.2    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

80 
Proportion of all offenders who re-
offend in a 12 month period (%) 

30.6 
Apr-Jun 

2019 

Tracker 30.8 31.7 35.7 30.0 
2016/17 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN RED 

81 
Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period (%) 

51.9 2017/18 
Tracker 41.4 38.4 41.8  

 No 
N/a RED RED RED  

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

82 

Satisfaction with the way that the 
council and police are dealing with 
local concerns about ASB and crime 
issues in your area. 

56.4 
Mar  
2020 

Tracker 50.1   53.7 
Jun  

2019 
No 

N/a RED   RED 

83 
Number of police reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 

17,416 2020 
Tracker 14,410    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

84 
Number of council reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour  

14,651* 2020 
Tracker 14,157  

 
 

 
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

*includes other nuisance categories which were not previously included, therefore is not comparable 

 

P
age 669



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

85 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment 

33.9 
Jul 2019- 
Jun 2020* 

Tracker 28.7 35.9 31.2  
 Yes 

N/a RED AMBER AMBER  

86 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.1 
Jul 2019-
Jun 2020* 

Tracker 5.6 5.0 3.9  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN AMBER AMBER  

87 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

33.9 
Jul 2019-
Jun 2020* 

Tracker 27.8 32.6 27.3  
 Yes 

N/a RED AMBER RED  

88 
% of anti-social behaviour incidents 
that are alcohol related   

10.4 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 15.4    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

89 
% of violent crime that is alcohol 
related 

31.3 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 31.8    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

90 Alcohol seizures 194** 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 398    
 No 

N/a GREEN    

*with rep to June 2020  
**under review 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 670



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

91 
Building resilience to terrorism (self-

assessment). Score - level 1(low) to 5(high) 
3* 2017/18 

Tracker 3    
 No 

N/a GREEN    

92 
No of individuals with a referral for 1:1 
CSE Support from Supporting 
Solutions Team** 

37 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker New**    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

*under review     ** New definition – Includes all children - High/Medium/Low Risk (Previously only High-Risk referred to Supporting Solutions) 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

93 
Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

168 

2020 

Tracker 247    
 

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 
- Number of fatalities 18  19    

 
- Number of seriously injured 150  228    

94 
Number of children killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

15 

2020 

Tracker 36 
    

Yes 
N/a GREEN 

 
- Number of fatalities 1  0    

 
- Number of seriously injured 14  36    

 

P
age 671



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

95 
% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of litter 
that fall below an acceptable level  

6.4 
Sep-Nov 

2020 

Tracker 6.9    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

96 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below an acceptable 
level  

10.68 
Sep-Nov 

2020 

Tracker 13.36    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

97 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

1.35 
Sep-Nov 

2020 

Tracker 0.9    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

98 Number of fly-tipping incidents 7,541 2020 
Tracker 6,713     

Yes 
N/a RED    

*not directly comparable 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

99 
% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (carbon neutral by 
2050) 

55.2 2018 
Tracker 54    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

100 
% reduction in CO2 emissions from 
local authority operations compared to 
the 2008/09 baseline, 70% by 2025 

51 2019/20 

Tracker 47    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

 

P
age 672



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

101 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

93.5 
Oct 2019- 
Sept 2020 

95 96.2 89.2 92.9  
2018/19 Yes 

RED RED GREEN GREEN  

102 
% of household waste that is re-used, 
recycled or composted 

39.0 
Oct 2019- 
Sept 2020 

Tracker 41.0 42.7 35.1 
 2018/19 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

103 
Number of properties improved, 
adapted or brought back into use  

675 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 474    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

104 
Number of empty properties brought 
back into use as a result of local 
authority intervention 

35 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

50 48    
 Yes 

RED RED    

105 Number of net homes completed 424 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 425     
 

Yes 
N/a RED    

106 
Number of affordable homes 
delivered 

628 2019/20 
300 532 

    No 
GREEN GREEN 

107 
Number of households accessing the 
Housing Solutions Service 

2,996 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 3,417    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

P
age 673



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

108 
Number of households helped to stay 
in their home 

303 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 368     

Yes 
N/a RED    

109 
Number of households helped to 
move to alternative accommodation 

260 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 295     

Yes 
N/a RED    

  

P
age 674



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Is it easy to travel around the county? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

110 
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

3.0 2019 
Tracker 2.6 3.38 1.92  

2019 Yes 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

111 
% of B roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

3.3 2019 
Tracker 4.7 4.57 2.83  

2019 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

112 
% of C roads where maintenance is 
recommended 

4.3 2019 
Tracker 3.7 4.57 2.83  

2019 Yes 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

113 
% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

21.3 2019 
Tracker 21.0 15.08 16.25  

2019 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

114 
Highways maintenance backlog 
(£millions) 

172.6 2019 
Tracker 179.7 

    Yes 
N/a GREEN 

115 
Bridge Stock Condition – Principal 
Roads* 

80.7** 2019 
Tracker 80.7    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

116 
Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal 
Roads* 

79.9** 2019 
Tracker 79.9    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

* Bridge Stock Condition (>=90 very good condition / >=80 good condition / >=65 fair condition / >=40 poor condition / <40 very poor condition) 
** last year’s data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values 

 

 P
age 675



EXCELLENT COUNCIL  

How well do we look after our people?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

117 
% of performance appraisals 
completed on current posts in rolling 
year period (excluding schools)*** 

N/a* N/a 
N/a N/a    

 No 
N/a N/a     

118 
Days / shifts lost to sickness absence 
(all services excluding schools) 

9.71 2020 
11.20 10.65 9.2**   

2017/18 Yes 
GREEN GREEN RED   

119 
% posts with no absence in rolling 
year (excluding schools) 

68.57 2020 
Tracker 57.42    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

120 
% of sickness absence which is short 
term 

10.7 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 17.86    
 Yes 

N/a N/a     

121 
% of sickness absence which is 
medium term 

15.19 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 14.04    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

122 
% of sickness absence which is long 
term 

74.11 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Tracker 76.76    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

123 
% of employees having five days or 
less sickness per 12 month period 

82.1 2020 
Tracker 78.38    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

*Due to new system introduction 
**includes school support staff but excludes teachers. All single/upper tier councils Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18 
*** Having put all Personal Development Reviews on hold due to COVID-19, we are now reinstating the process, starting with our leaders in October 2020.  Managers will follow in January 2021 and all other 
employees in April 2021. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 676

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/publication%20-%20Local%20Government%20Workforce%20Survey%202017-18.pdf


 

EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

124 % of council tax collected in-year 80.5 
Apr-Dec 

2020 

Not Set 83.7    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

125 % of business rates collected in-year 79.1 
Apr-Dec 

2020 

Not Set 83.3    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

 

EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

How good are our services to customers and the public?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

126 

% of Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Information 
Regulations requests responded to 
within 20 working days 

80 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

90 87    
 Yes 

RED RED    

127 Customer contacts: telephone 1,184,845 2020 
Tracker 1,106,342*    

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

128 Customer contacts: face to face 35,633 2020 
Tracker 114,026**    

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

129 Customer contacts: web forms 239,260 2020 
Tracker 155,039    

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

P
age 677



EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

How good are our services to customers and the public?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

130 Customer contacts:  emails 53,197 2020 
Tracker 46,457    

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

131 Customer contacts:  social media 5,589 2020 
Tracker 2,920    

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

132 % of calls answered 94 2020 
Tracker 95*    

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

133 % of calls answered within 3 minutes 90 2020 
Tracker 92* 

    Yes 
N/a N/a 

*data is not comparable as new telephony lines are continuing to be added to ACD 

** data is not comparable as customer access points have been closed during 2020/21 

 

P
age 678



Appendix 3:  Risk Management  

 

1. Effective risk management is a vital component of the Council’s challenging 

improvement agenda, so that any risks to successful delivery can be identified 

and minimised.  The council’s risk management process therefore sits alongside 

service improvement work and is integrated into all significant change and 

improvement projects.   

2. The key risks to successfully achieving the objectives of each corporate 

ambition are detailed against each ambition in the relevant sections of the 

report.  These risks have been identified using the following criteria: 

a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 

possible. 

b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable. 

c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable. 

 

3. On 31 December 2020, there were 29 risks on the corporate strategic risk register, 

one less than on 30 September 2020. During this period one risk was removed 

and none were added. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks 

according to their net risk evaluation as at 31 December 2020. The number of 

risks as at 30 September 2020 is shown in brackets.  

Corporate Risk Heat Map 

IM
P

A
C

T
 

Critical 1 (1)   4 (4)   1 (1) 

Major   5 (5) 4 (5) 1 (1)   

Moderate     10 (10) 3 (3)   

Minor           

Insignificant           

  Remote Unlikely Possible Probable 
Highly 

Probable 

 Key Risks  LIKELIHOOD 

 

 

4. Key strategic risks to the Council, with their respective net risk evaluations 

shown in brackets, are: 

Page 679



(a) Failure/inability to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, 

leading to high levels of staff absence, overwhelming pressure on services, 

and impacts on the safety and wellbeing of the wider community and 

economy (Critical / Possible); 

(b) If timely and comprehensive savings plans are not in place across the council, 

required savings may not be achieved, necessitating extensive utilisation of 

reserves, which may have been depleted during the COVID-19 outbreak, to 

balance future years budgets (Critical / Possible); 

(c) There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from 

government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive 

Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review (Critical / Highly Probable); 

(d) Risk that the Council fails, in its role as a community leader, to help partners, 

local businesses and communities make the necessary adaptations and 

mitigations in pursuit of the target of being a carbon-neutral County by 2050 

(Major / Probable); 

(e) Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm where service failure is a 

factor or issue (Critical / Possible); 

(f) Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm where service 

failure is a factor or issue (Critical / Possible). 

5. EU Exit 

Potential adverse effects of "EU Exit" on the economy, safety and welfare of the 

County. 

Although this is not a key risk, the impacts are far-reaching. Following the new 

trade agreement between the United Kingdom and European Union, which 

came into effect on 1 January 2021, a re-assessment concluded that the net risk 

evaluation is a moderate impact with a possible likelihood. 

6. The implementation of additional mitigation on several risks has enabled the 

Council to improve performance, decision-making and governance. 

  

Page 680



More and Better Jobs: Overview   

There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.  

 

Long and Independent Lives: Overview 

The key risk to successfully delivering this ambition is: 

a. Risk that the Council fails, in its role as a community leader, to help partners, 

local businesses and communities make the necessary adaptations and 

mitigations in pursuit of the target of being a carbon-neutral County by 2050. 

One of the key mitigations is the Climate Emergency Response Plan 2020-

2022, incorporating over 100 projects. The scale, duration and complexity of the 

programme means that sustained oversight, monitoring and review are 

essential. Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will review performance against the plan and make 

recommendations for the revision of targets.  

b. Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm (where service 

failure is a factor or issue). As the statutory body, the multi-agency 

Safeguarding Adults Board has a Business Plan in place for taking forward 

actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a comprehensive training 

programme for staff and regular supervision takes place.  Procedures are 

reviewed on a regular basis. Following allegations of abuse at Whorlton Hall 

Hospital, an independent review the Council’s safeguarding adults processes 

has been commissioned. Any learning will inform actions to reframe and 

develop practice. 

Connected Communities: Overview   

The key risks to successfully delivering this ambition are: 

c. Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a 

factor or issue). Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership has been 

established in line with the statutory requirements set out in ‘Working Together 

2018’. Partnership learning through scrutiny mechanisms and learning reviews 

underpins training for front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. A 

review of the partnership arrangements is in progress.  

 

 

 

Page 681



Excellent Council: Overview   

The key risks to successfully delivering this ambition are:  

a. ‘Failure/inability to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, 

leading to high levels of staff absence, overwhelming pressure on services, and 

impacts on the safety and wellbeing of the wider community and economy. The 

Council’s response is being led by the Director of Public Health, supported by 

an internal planning group, which is linked to planning arrangements at local, 

regional and national levels. Formal internal governance arrangements to 

oversee and manage risk are in place. 

Longer-term risks will be identified and managed, including recovery of service 

delivery back to business as usual, dealing with the impact on future local 

government funding from central government and the economic impact on 

County Durham. This risk is long term. 

b. If timely and comprehensive savings plans are not in place across the council, 

required savings may not be achieved, necessitating extensive utilisation of 

reserves, which may have been depleted during the COVID-19 outbreak, to 

balance future years budgets.  The Delivery plan implementation will be 

monitored by CMT and Cabinet. This will be a significant risk for at least the 

next 4 years. 

c. There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from 

government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive Spending 

Review and the Fair Funding Review. Management consider it highly probable 

that this risk could occur, and to mitigate the risk, sound financial forecasting is 

in place based on thorough examination of the Government's "red book" plans. 

This will also be a significant risk for at least the next 4 years. 

Page 682



 
             

  Cabinet  
 

17 March 2021 
 

Annual Review of the Constitution 
 
 
 

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 
 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. To present proposals for the revision of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

Executive summary 
 

2. The Council's Constitution describes the four methods by which the 
Council operates: The Council, the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny, 
and the Committees.  It also provides the framework within which each 
must operate by including: 

 
(a) the rules and procedures to be followed by the Council and 

committees when conducting their business; 
(b) the decision-making powers of the Council, Executive, 

Committees and Officers;  
(c) the financial and contract regulations; 
(d) the rights of the public;  
(e) codes of conduct for councillors and employees; 
(f) members' allowances. 

 
3. A fundamental review of the Constitution was undertaken and approved 

at the annual Council meeting in May 2018 followed by a routine review 
in May 2019. The review due in May 2020 was deferred due to 
restrictions on public meetings in place at the time as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  
 

4. This report sets out the proposed updates to the Constitution 
incorporating the changes which were scheduled to be considered by 
Council in May 2020 together with a small number of changes which 
have been identified during this municipal year.  

Page 683

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 

Recommendation 
 

5. The Leader and Cabinet are asked to: 
(a) Approve the delegation of executive powers as set out in the 

proposed amendments to the officer scheme of delegation at 
pagragraphs 25 – 35 of the report; and 

 
(b) Recommend that Council agree to the proposed revisions to the 

Constitution at its meeting on 24 March 2021. 
  

Page 684



Background 
 
6. Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities 

operating executive arrangements to prepare and keep up to date a 
document which contains: 

 
(a) such information as the Secretary of State may direct; 
(b) the authority’s standing orders (i.e. rules of procedure); 
(c) the code of conduct for members; and 
(d) such information as the authority considers appropriate.  

 
7. The Council must ensure that copies of the above are available for 

inspection by the public at all reasonable hours and supply a copy of the 
same upon request (upon payment of such reasonable fee as we may 
determine).  

 
8. Durham County Council’s Constitution is available on the Council’s 

website and is reviewed on an annual basis.  

 
Changes to the Constitution as a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic 
 
9. At the Council meeting in October 2020, the Corporate Director, 

Resources presented a report advising of changes to the Constitution 
which he had authorised using the urgency powers within the Officer 
Scheme of Delegation. These changes were required to amend the 
Council’s Procedure Rules to facilitate remote meetings.  

 
Methodology for the Annual Review 

 
10. Preparations for the annual review of the Constitution due to be 

considered by Council in May 2020 commenced in the autumn of 2019, 
with Directors and Heads of Service being contacted to request that 
they consider what, if any, changes they believed were appropriate to 
the Constitution. Due to the covd-19 pandemic the Council meeting to 
consider the annual Consutution review were not presented in May 
2020 as planned.  
 

11. Those changes are presented within this report together with any 
changes identified by Corporate Directors and Heads of Service as part 
of the 2020-21 review.  
 

12. The proposed changes are summarised below.  The relevant extracts of 
the Constitution showing the proposed changes are shown at 
appendices 2 – 15 of this report.  

  

Page 685



Glossary of Terms 
 
13. The explanation of Overview and Scrutiny has been updated to be more 

succinct which is shown at Appendix 2, this is a simple revision of the 
wording.   

 

Article 5 – Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 
 
14. Following the adoption of the County Durham Vision 2035 the Terms of 

Reference for the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees are to 
be updated to reflect the new vision and emerging Council Plan. There 
are proposed changes to the Terms of Reference at Article 5 to align 
with the County Durham Vision 2035.  

 
15. There is also a proposed update at Article 5.03 (d) to include (that in 

addition to the annual report), half yearly reports on key issues from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Activity will be presented. The proposed 
changes relating to Overview, and Scrutiny arrangements are shown at 
Appendix 3. 

 

Article 8 – Joint Arrangements  
 
16. The County Durham Integrated Care Board has been established and is 

incorporated into the joint arrangements. The purpose of the Board is to 
provide a system wide leadership and accountability for the delivery of 
integrated service models within County Durham’s Health and Care 
economy. 

 
17. It is therefore proposed that Article 8 is updated to reflect the up to date 

Joint Arrangements. The proposed changes to Article 8 are shown at 
Appendix 4 of this report.  

 

Article 9 – Officers 
 
18. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

issued a statement on the role of Chief Internal Auditor  in the public 
sector (the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager within 
Durham County Council), to ensure that the role has sufficient profile 
within the authority and is clearly understood. It is considered good 
practice to reflect the role in promoting and ensuring good governance 
within the Council’s Constitution. It is therefore proposed to include 
reference to the role of Head of Internal Audit within Article 9. These 
changes are shown at Appendix 5. 
 

19. In addition, there are some amendments required to realign functions 
following changes to the Corporate Management Team Structure and to 
reference areas of responsibilities for completeness. These 

Page 686



amendments are considered to be technical and do not require Council 
approval. They are therefore not appended to the report but can be 
summarised as set out below. 
 

20. Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, the functions and 
responsibilities will be updated  to reflect the following areas:  

 

• Older people, physical disability and sensory impairment  

• Learning disability  

• Mental health 

• Adult Protection 

• Integrated Social Work/Health Teams 

• In-House Care provision 

• Community Safety – Counter-Terrorism (Prevent) 

• Commissioning Services  

• Public Health functions 
 

21. Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, the functions and responsibilities 
will be updated to include: 
 

• Environment Protection including Pollution Control, Contaminated 
Land, Air Quality Management, Public Health and Private Sector 
Housing. 

• Health Protection including Food Hygiene and Standards, Animal 
Health and Welfare, Infectious Disease Control, Safety and 
Occupational Health, Health and Safety (Employees). 
 

Article 11 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
 

22. Due to changes in working arrangements and the ambition of the 
Council to reduce paper records, it is proposed that there is a variation 
to the procedure to apply the Common Seal of the Council to permit this 
to be affixed electronically. 

 
23. A seal can be executed electronically which is set out at Section 7A(1) 

of the Electronic Communications Act 2000 which provides that, in any 
legal proceedings: 

 
(a) an electronic seal incorporated into or logically associated with a 

particular electronic communication or particular electronic data, and 
 
(b) the certification by any person of such a seal, 

 
shall each be admissible in evidence in relation to any question as to 
the authenticity of the communication or data, the integrity of the 
communication or data, or both. 

 

Page 687



24. The proposed change is shown at Appendix 6 of this report.  
 

Officer Scheme of Delegation 
 

25. There are a small number of technical changes to the scheme of 
delegations to reflect the organisational changes and the work within the 
respective Directorates. The Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
has delegated authority to make technical changes to the Constitution 
and as such the scheme of delegations will be updated to ensure that 
the work within each Directorate are accurate and reflect the staffing 
structures. These have not been reproduced for the purpose of this 
report but are outlined below at paragraphs 26 - 28 for information.  
 

Table 3 - Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth 
 
26.  A realignment has taken place in respect of the function for 

Communication and Marketing. This has moved from the Chief 
Executive to the Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth. This 
change will be updated in the scheme of delegation to reflect this minor  
change in structure.  

 
Table 6 – Corporate Director for Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

 
27. The executive function which is currently shown in the Adult Health 

Service scheme of delegations is to be inserted to the Neighbourhood 
and Climate scheme of delegation to reflect the work of the Directorate. 
This executive function reads “ensuring that the local authority has a 
panel of persons in place for its area (known as Channel), as required 
under the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015.” The function of 
this panel is to assess the extent to which identified individuals are 
vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism and to develop a support plan 
for that individual. As this is a technical change this has not been 
reproduced for this report.  

 
28. In addition to the technical changes which are set out above there are 

two further changes proposed requiring approval set out below and 
reproduced at Appendix 7 and 8.   

 
Table 4 - Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

 
29. Following the creation of two new posts within Adult and Health 

Services, namely the Director of Integrated Community Services and 
Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning, it is proposed that there 
are updates to the delegations shown in Table 4 to ensure the effective 
running of the service and discharge of functions. The proposed 
changes are shown at Appendix 7. 
 
 

Page 688



30. In conducting this year’s annual review, Officers have noted that the 
whole scheme of delegation requires a review to ensure that powers 
remain under the correct Directorate and that they reflect up to date 
legislation and roles and responsibilities.  The issue of separate 
schemes for statutory Officers could be considered as part of that 
review next year.   

 
Table 7 - Corporate Director of Resources 

 
31. Prior to the annual review of the Constitution in 2018, the Council’s HR 

Committee was responsible for discharging the Council’s functions in 
relation to local government pensions, with the exception of policy 
formulation and review. This included determining the early release of 
pension benefits and approval of Early Retirement/Voluntary 
Redundancy applications where there was a cost to the Council.  

 
32. Following the discontinuance of the Committee in May 2018, these 

functions were delegated to the Corporate Director for Resources in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion (now the 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Resources and Rural Issues).  

 
33. However, there was an error in the drafting and the delegation reads “to 

authorise the termination of employment of staff by reason of early 
retirement and or voluntary redundancy (rather than early 
retirement/voluntary redundancy)”.  
 

34. This has the effect of requiring the Corporate Director for Resources 
having to consult the portfolio holder in relation to all cases of voluntary 
redundancy, which is inconsistent with the principle that Members are 
not involved in employee matters except where the Council’s 
procedures provide for this.  
 

35. It is also inconsistent with the delegation to all Chief Officers to make 
establishment changes up to Head of Service level and what happens in 
practice. It is therefore proposed to amend the delegation to accurately 
reflect the arrangements which have been adopted locally since the 
discontinuance of the HR committee. The proposed changes are shown 
at Appendix 8.  

 

Council Procedure Rules 
 

36. It is proposed to amend the Rules of Debate within the Council 
Procedure Rules to clarify that any motion on a matter relating to 
decisions or functions of the Cabinet will be referred to Cabinet for 
consideration, if the motion is carried. Council cannot overturn or 
change executive decisions of the Cabinet.  

 

Page 689



37. It is also proposed to amend the Council Procedure to reflect the 
custom and practice that nominations to Committees and Outside 
Bodies are voted upon without debate.  
 

38. As part of this year’s review, Officers were asked to consider the rules in 
relation to Members Questions and to make provision for members 
other than the Portfolio Holder to respond.  
 

39. The Council Procedure Rules provide that members can ask a question 
of the Chair, a member of the Executive or the Chair or any committee 
or sub-committee, on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the Council.  
 

40. Where a question is put and appears beyond the remit of the Member to 
which it is directed (e.g. the question put to a Cabinet Portfolio Holder 
references scrutiny), the Chair may invite the relevant Member to also 
provide a brief response.  
 

41. The proposed changes are shown at Appendix 9. 
 

Executive Procedure Rules 
 

42. The Executive Procedure Rules currently provide that where a member 
wishes to ask a question, they must give notice by 2pm, two working 
days before the meeting of the intention to ask a question and the 
reason for the question but not the question itself.  

 
43. A delay between notice of intention to ask a question and receipt of the 

question impacts on the ability to prepare an answer in advance of the 
meeting. It is therefore proposed that the requirement is amended so 
that questions must also be provided by the deadline to ensure that it 
can be answered fully during the meeting. The proposed amendments 
are set out in Appendix 10.  

 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 

44. In May 2019 the Ministry of Housing, Community and Local Government 
issued statutory guidance for overview and scrutiny in local and 
combined authorities.  

 
45. The councils Overview and Scrutiny arrangements have been reviewed 

in light of the new guidance. Generally, the existing arrangements are 
considered to be robust and effective with much of the recommended 
practice already being adopted with a small number of areas for 
development which includes the inclusion of a periodic update from 
Overview and Scrutiny to council in addition to the current annual report 
and minor updates on the terminology.  

Page 690



 
46. It is proposed that the provisions for call-in requests are clarified to 

reflect current practice specifically that the reasons for refusing call-in 
will be provided. The proposed updates are shown at Appendix 11. 

 
Contract Procedure Rules 

 
47. The Procurement Strategy & Planning (PSP) group considered the 

changes to be made to the Contract Procedure Rules to ensure that the 
rules reflect the current practice, guidance and relevant legislation. The 
amendments proposed to the Contract Procedure Rules (and shown at 
Appendix 12):  

 

• Inclusion of additional wording at 1.1.5 to allow for flexibility as 
further Procurement Policy Notes are issued by the Cabinet Office, 
and which we are required to follow. 
 

• Rule 5 – exemptions to the CPRs have been updated and re 
formatted.  Minor changes for clarity, plus additional exemptions for 
statutory payments, and payments for services with regards to 
spend for Communities of Learning (Education Service, Children 
and Young People Services) 
 

• Rule 5(b) –  the change provides clarity that there is an addition to 
the exemption rule regarding statutory government set payments for 
interagency adoption fees.  

 

• Rule 7 – the change is in relation to Risk Assessments, to clarify the 
distinction between the requirement for a project risk assessment 
and a procurement risk assessment.  

 

• Additional section at 9.1.5 regarding the potential to reserve 
competition as included within Procurement Policy Note 20-11. 
 

• Clarity provided at Rule 9.2.2 (a) with regard to the technical 
compatibility. 

 

• Rule 10 - this change shows the additional requirement that where 
Quick Quote is used the service must identify two organisations to 
be invited to the Quick Quotes competition issued via the Council’s 
tendering system. 

  

• Rule 23 - it is proposed to include a requirement that Service Areas 
must seek procurement advice in relation to external grant funding 
applications, which include a third-party supplier.  

 

Page 691



Member Code of Conduct  
 

48. On 4 March 2019, the Standards Committee agreed to review the Code 
and consider revisions taking into account the best practice 
recommendations in the Committee for Standards in Public Life (CSPL) 
report on Local Government Ethical Standards. 

 
49. The CSPL report identifies a series of recommendations, some 

requiring the introduction of primary legislation and others suggested 
best practice. The recommendations requiring changes to primary 
legislation cannot be implemented until the legislation is implemented 
and therefore the proposed updates are linked only to the best practice 
recommendations arising from the CSPL report.  

 
50. On 7 June 2019 the Standards Committee considered and approved the 

proposed changes to the Member Code of Conduct, Local Assessment 
Procedure and Local Determination Procedure. The proposed changes 
to the Member Code of Conduct are incorporated into the constitution 
review with the proposed changes to the Code of Conduct shown at 
Appendix 13. In addition to these changes there will be changes to the 
Local Assessment Procedure and Local Determination Procedure which 
have been agreed by the standards committee.  
 

51. On 3 March 2021, the Standards Committee considered the Model 
Member Code of Conduct which was published by the Local 
Government Association in December 2020. The Committee noted that 
subject to the revisions referred to at paragraph 50, the County 
Council’s existing Code largely reflects the provisions within the model.  
 

52. The Committee agreed to recommend to Council to amend the Code to 
include an express provision for Members not to bring the authority into 
disrepute and also to include examples of what amounts to treating 
others with respect and how to deal with disrespectful behaviour from 
others.  
 

53. The Committee considered that recommending these changes was a 
proportionate response to the model Code rather than a wholesale 
adoption of an entirely new Code. If the changes are adopted, the 
Council’s Code will reflect best practice.  

 

Member Code of Conduct and Code of Practice for Members and 
Officers Dealing with Planning Matters 
 
54. On 17 December 2019, the Standards Committee considered a report 

of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services in relation to Member 
interests, specifically Other Relevant Interests.  

 

Page 692



55. Paragraph 9 of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct provides that:  
 

“Members may have an other relevant interest (which is not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest) in any matter to be considered or being 
considered at the meeting where: 

 
(a) a decision in relation to that matter might reasonably be regarded as 

affecting the wellbeing or financial standing of them or a member of 
their family or a person with whom they have a close association or 
an organisation or body under paragraph 5.1(b), 5.1(c) or 5.1(d) 
above to a greater extent than it would affect the majority of the 
council tax payers, rate payers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral 
area for which they have been elected or otherwise of the authorities 
administrative area; and 
 

(b) the interest is one that a member of the public with knowledge of the 
relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is 
likely to prejudice their judgement of the public interest.” 

 
56. Paragraph 9.2 of the Code goes on to state that where a Member has 

an other relevant interest, they must declare it either at or before 
consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. The Member must not participate in any discussion 
or further discussion of an item or in any vote taken on that item and 
must leave the room whilst the discussion and voting takes place. 

 
57. There are corresponding provisions at paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 of the 

Code of Practice for Members and Officers dealing with planning 
matters. 

 
58. The provisions which prevent Members from speaking on matters where 

they have “an other relevant interest” are quite strict. Other authorities 
allow Members with such interest to speak but withdraw prior to the 
vote. Others do not have provisions relating of other relevant interests at 
all. 

 
59. There have been instances at planning committee where Ward 

Members have been precluded from speaking on matters which relate 
because they have an other relevant interest and the other ward 
councillors have not been able to attend to represent residents’ views. 
This has caused concern at the ability of ward councillors to fulfil their 
duties. Since other relevant interests are provided for under the Member 
Code of Conduct rather than by legislation, there is no reason in law 
why members cannot speak on an item where they have a relevant 
interest but withdraw before the vote is taken. This approach is adopted 
in other local authorities where other relevant interest provisions have 
been retained. 

 

Page 693



60. Standards Committee resolved to recommend that Council amends the 
Code to enable Members with an other relevant interest to speak on a 
matter and withdraw for the vote. Constitution working group were also 
supportive of the proposed changes.  If agreed the Code of Conduct for 
Members will be updated to reflect the changes as well as the Code of 
Practice for Members and Officers Dealing with Planning Matters. The 
proposed are shown at Appendix 14. 

 
Frequency of meetings 
 
61. It is proposed that the wording relating to the number of meetings be 

revised to read “It is aimed that there will be a minimum of [number] 
meetings”. Currently the wording is shown that there “will be a minimum 
of” or “at least [number] meetings will be held”. The proposed change 
will allow greater flexibility on the frequency of the meetings in the event 
of disruption to the meeting schedule. The changes have not been 
reproduced for the purpose of this report in view of this being a slight 
variation to be amended to all meetings referenced in the Constitution. 

 

Code of Values, Behaviours and Conduct 
 

62. The CCE forms for staff to complete in respect of declarations of 
interests have been updated to be available in a digital format. As a 
result of the digitalisation of the former the Code of Values, Behaviours 
and Conduct has been updated, an extract of the code showing the 
changes is shown at Appendix 15  

 

Minor Changes 
 
63. As part of the review other minor amendments to correct typographical 

errors will be undertaken which have not been reproduced for the 
purpose of this report.  
 

Next Steps 
 
64. The proposed revisions were approved by the Constitution Working 

Group for recommendation to Cabinet and then Council on 24 March 
2021.  
 

Background papers  

• DCC’s Constitution document 
 

Contact: Helen Lynch Tel:  03000 269732   
 Ros Layfield 

 
Tel:  03000 269708  
 

 

Page 694



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The Council has a statutory duty to adopt and maintain a constitution pursuant to s37 

of the Local Government Act 2000 as follows:    
(1) A local authority which are operating executive arrangements or alternative 

arrangements must prepare and keep up to date a document (referred to in 
this section as their constitution) which contains — 
(a)     such information as the Secretary of State may direct, 
(b) a copy of the authority’s standing orders for the time being, 
(c) a copy of the authority’s code of conduct for the time being under   

section 51, andconduct 
(d) such other information (if any) as the authority consider appropriate. 

(2) A local authority must ensure that copies of their constitution are available at 
their principal office for inspection by members of the public at all reasonable 
hours. 

(3) A local authority must supply a copy of their constitution to any person who 
requests a copy and who pays to the authority such reasonable fee as the 
authority may determine. 

 
Finance 
The review of the constitution has no financial implications. 
 
Consultation 
As set out in the main body of the report, relevant Council Officers have been 
consulted regarding any amendments to the Constitution, which are relevant to 
them. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
The revision of the Constitution is not considered to have an adverse impact upon 
the public sector equality duty. The constitution is as accessible as possible and is 
regularly reviewed to ensure that equality concerns are addressed.  
 
Climate Change      
None specific within this report.       
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
Human Rights 
None specific within this report. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None specific within this report. 
 
Staffing 
None specific within this report. 
 
Accommodation 
None specific within this report. 
 
Risk  
None specific within this report. 
 
Procurement 
None specific within this report.  

Page 695



Appendix 2:  Extract of Glossary of Terms  

 
Overview &  A Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee providing 
Scrutiny strategic leadership and five thematic Committees A main 

committee and five thematic committees established to 
provide support and advice to the Executive by contributing to 
the review and development of policy; also to hold the Executive 
to account by questioning, challenging and monitoring their 
performance. 

 
Political   A legal principle which dictates that Committees of the Council  
Proportionality   (but not the Executive) must include elected politicians in 

proportion to the size of their groups on the Council as a whole. 
 
Portfolio Holder  A Cabinet Member with responsibility for ensuring the effective 

management and delivery of a particular area of the Council’s 
work. (See Article 6). 

 
Procedure Rules  Detailed rules which govern how the Council operates and how 

decisions are taken. See Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
Proper Officer A senior officer of the Council who has specific responsibilities in 

law. 
 
Protocols  Codes of Practice which set out how, for example, various 

elements of the Council are expected to interact with each other. 
 
Quorum  The minimum number of people who have to be present before 

a meeting can take place. (This is set out in the relevant Rules 
of Procedure in Part 4 of the Constitution) 

 
Scheme of  The document in Part 3 of the Constitution which sets out which 
delegation   officer is responsible for particular functions of the Council. 
 
Substitute Some committees permit councillors to appoint a substitute (or 

reserve) councillor to attend a meeting, which they cannot 
attend themselves (for regulatory committees, the substitute 
must have completed the required training).  

 
Summons   The term used to describe the Agenda for meetings of the full 

Council. 
 
Virement  Moving budget funds from one area of expenditure to another 

within a financial year. 
  

Page 696



 

 

Appendix 3: Extract Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 

 
Article 5 – Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements   
 
5.01 Terms of Reference 
 
The Council will appoint the following Committees to discharge the functions 
conferred by s.21 of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) or 
regulations under s. 32 of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) and 
under the Health and Social Care Act 2001. The terms of reference for the 
Committees are set within the context of the Council Plan, its Notice of Key 
Decisions and the overarching partnership framework. 
 
Neither the Chair of the Council nor members of the Executive or Executive 
Support Members may be members of a Scrutiny Committee. 
 
A. Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
Comprising 26 Members of the Council including the Chair’s and Vice Chair’s 
of the other 5 Scrutiny Committees, this Committee will: 

(i) Oversee and co-ordinate the work of Overview and Scrutiny and its 
Committees. 

(ii) Ensure effective liaison across the work of the committees re: cross 
cutting issues. 

(iii) Be a strategic driver of the Overview and Scrutiny function. 
(iv) Consider as appropriate scrutiny member involvement in regional 

scrutiny arrangements within the context of any regional strategies. 
(v) Establish appropriate liaison with the Executive in the interests of 

achieving common aims and continuous improvement for the Council 
(vi) Encourage appropriate community involvement in the Overview and 

Scrutiny role. 
(vii) Consider the Council Plan and Notice of Key Decisions and to monitor 

performance against these plans. 
(viii) Deal with petitions in accordance with the Council’s Protocol for Petitions. 
(ix) Consider the Council’s annual budget. 
(x) Assist the Executive in the development of the Council’s annual budget 

and to review and scrutinise budgetary management. 
(xi) Assist the Executive in ensuring the provision of efficient and effective 

corporate management and support arrangements. 
(xii) Assist the Executive in the development of asset management. 

(xiii) Promote the Sustainable Communities Strategy and Council Plan 
themes 
a. Putting the Customer First 
b. Working with our Communities 
c. Effective use of Resources 
d. Support our People through Change 
 
Scrutinise delivery of the County Durham Vision 2035 and Council Plan ambition of 
an excellent council and associated objectives of: 

i. Our resources will be managed effectively 
ii. We will create a workforce for the future 
iii. We will design our services with service users  

Page 697



iv. We will use data and technology more effectively 
v. We will actively performance manage our services 
vi. Fewer people will be affected by poverty and deprivation in the County 

 
The Chair and Vice-Chair of this main scrutiny committee, shall be additional 
members of all other Scrutiny Committees In the event of any Educational related 
matter being subject to Call-in, the 7 voting faith and parent governor representatives 
shall be invited to attend the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
that considers that Call in. 
 
B. Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee 
Comprised of 21 Members of the Council including the Chair or Vice Chair of 
Corporate Parenting Panel plus 7 voting faith and parent governor representatives 
and up to 2 non-voting co-optees, including young people, the Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise delivery of the County Durham Vision 
2035 ambitions of More and Better Jobs, People Live Long and Independent Lives 
and Connected Communities in relation to Children and Young People and Council 
Plan objectives of: 

i. Young people will have access good quality education, training and 
employment 

ii. Children and young people will enjoy the best start in life, good health and 
emotional wellbeing 

iii. Children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
will achieve the best possible outcomes 

iv. All children and young people will have a safe childhood 
 
promote the Sustainable Community Strategy and Council Plan themes of:- (i) 
Helping children and young people realise and maximise their potential (ii) Helping 
children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in life (i) 
Ensuring a Think Family approach is embedded in the Council’s support for families 
 
C. Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
This Committee shall be the Crime and Disorder Committee for the purposes of Part 
3 of the Police and Justice Act 2006. and shall be formed of 
 
Comprised of 21 Members of the Council with up to 2 non-voting co-optees, plus co-
opted employees or officers of a responsible authority or of a coopting person or 
body, in accordance with Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 
2009,. The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
scrutinise delivery of the County Durham Vision ambitions of People Live Long and 
Independent Lives and Connected Communities in relation to safer and stronger 
communities and Council Plan objectives of: 
i. Promotion of positive behaviours 
ii. Our villages and villages will be vibrant, well used, clean, attractive and safe 
iii. Communities will come together to accept and support each other. 
promote the Sustainable Community Strategy and Council Plan themes of:- (i) 
Reducing Anti-Social Behaviour (ii) Protecting vulnerable people from harm (iii) 
Reducing re-offending (iv) Alcohol and substance misuse harm reduction (v) Counter 
terrorism and prevention of violent extremism (vi) Casualty reduction (vii) Embedding 
the Think Family approach 
 
D. Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Page 698



Comprised of 21 Members of the Council and up to 2 non-voting co-optees, The 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
scrutinise delivery of the County Durham Vision 2035 ambitions of People Live Long 
and Independent Lives and Connected Communities in relation to the Environment 
and sustainable communities and Council Plan objectives of: 
i. A physical environment that will contribute to good health 
ii. Our towns and villages will be vibrant, well used, clean, attractive and safe 
iii. People will have good access to workplaces, services, retail and leisure 

opportunities. 
The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall be the Flood Risk Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 
purposes of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended by the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 and the Localism Act 2011. Formed of 21 Members of the 
Council and up to 2 non-voting co-optees, it will promote the Sustainable Community 
Strategy and Council Plan themes of:- (i) Delivering a cleaner, more attractive and 
sustainable environment (ii) Maximising the value and benefits of Durham’s natural 
environment (iii) Reducing carbon emissions and adapting to the impact of climate 
change (including Flood or coastal erosion risk management functions) (iv) 
Promoting sustainable design and protect Durham’s heritage 
 
E. Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Comprised of 21 Members of the Council and up to 2 non-voting co-optees, the 
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise delivery of 
the County Durham Vision 2035 ambitions of More and Better Jobs and Connected 
Communities and Council Plan objectives of: 

i. Delivery of a range of employment sites across the county. 
ii. A strong, competitive economy and County Durham will be a premier 

place in the North East to do business. 
iii. A broader experience for residents and visitors to the county. 
iv. People will have good access to workplaces, services, retail and leisure 

opportunities. 
v. Helping all people into rewarding work. 
vi. Standards will be maintained or improved across County Durham’s 

Housing stock. 
vii. Delivery of new high-quality housing which is accessible and meets the 

needs of our residents. 
will promote the Sustainable Community Strategy and Council Plan themes of:- (i) A 
thriving Durham City (ii) Vibrant and Successful Towns (iii) Sustainable 
neighbourhoods and rural communities (iv) Competitive and successful people (v) A 
top location for business 
 
F. Adults Well-Being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
This Committee will be the Council’s designated Health Scrutiny Committee in 
accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  
 
Comprised of 21 Members of the Council plus up to 2 non-voting co-optees, the 
Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise 
delivery of the County Durham Vision 2035 ambitions of People live long and 
Independent Lives and Council Plan objectives in relation to Adults wellbeing and 
Health of: 

i. Better integration of health and social care services 
ii. People will be supported to live independently for as long as possible by 

delivering more homes to meet the needs of older and disabled people 

Page 699



iii. Tackling the stigma and discrimination of poor mental health and building 
resilient communities. 

iv. Promotion of positive behaviours. 
 

And will also: 
v. Lead on the review and scrutiny of NHS Services, Adults social care, 

Health inequalities and improvement and Public Health Service  
 
F. Adults Well-Being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Comprised of 21 
Members of the Council plus up to 2 non-voting co-optees, the Adults, Well-being 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will promote the Sustainable 
Community Strategy and Council Plan themes of:- (i) Reducing health inequalities 
and early deaths (ii) Improving the quality of life, independence and care and support 
for people with long term conditions (iii) Improving the mental and physical wellbeing 
of the population (iv) Supporting people to die in the place of their choice with the 
care and support they need And will also:- (v) Lead on the review and scrutiny of 
NHS Services, Adults social care, Health inequalities and improvement and Public 
Health Services (vi) Consider the Sustainable Community Strategy priorities, Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Clinical Commissioning Groups’ “Clear and Credible” 
plans and the Council Plan actions that relate to thisagenda 
 
5.03 Specific functions 
 

(a) Policy development and review. 
 

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and 
Scrutiny Committees may: 

 
(i) assist the Council and the Executive in the development of its 

budget and policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy 
issues; 
 

(ii) conduct research, community and other consultation in the 
analysis of policy issues and possible options; 

 
(iii) question Members of the Executive and/or Committees and 

Chief Officers from the Council about their views on issues and 
proposals affecting the area; and 

 
(iv) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, 

whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of 
local people are enhanced by collaborative working; and 

 
 (v) consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made a 

difference. 
 

(b) Scrutiny 
 

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and 
Scrutiny Committees may: 
 

Page 700



(i) review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of 
the Executive and/or Committees and council Officers in relation 
to individual decisions and over time; 

 
(ii) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation 

to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular 
service areas; 

 
(iii) question Members of the Executive and/or Committees and 

Chief Officers about their decisions and performance, whether 
generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a 
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or 
projects; 

 
(iv) make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate 

Committee and/or Council arising from the outcome of the 
Scrutiny process; 

 
(v) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in 

the area and invite reports from them by requesting them to 
address the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board or Scrutiny Committee and local people about their 
activities and performance; and  

 
 
(vi) question and gather evidence from any person (with their 

consent). 
 

(c) Finance 
 

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board will exercise 
overall responsibility for the budget allocated to the function. 

 
(d) Annual report 

 
The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board must report 
annually to full Council on their workings with recommendations for its 
future work programmes and amended working methods if appropriate. 
This annual report will be complemented by additional half-yearly 
update reports setting out key issues from Overview and Scrutiny 
activity. 

 
5.04 Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Bodies 

 
The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and Scrutiny Committees 
will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
  

Page 701



Appendix 4: Extract of Joint Arrangements – Article 8 

 
8.07  Existing Joint Arrangements   
 

(a) The Mountsett Crematorium Joint Committee 
 
This Joint Committee operates under an Agreement dated 8 
September 1983 (which was supplemental to earlier Agreements) 
made between Derwentside District Council and Gateshead Borough 
Council. The purpose of the Agreements is to provide and maintain a 
crematorium to serve the areas of the respective councils, known as 
the Joint Crematorium District. On 1 April 2009 Durham County Council 
assumed the rights and liabilities of Derwentside District Council under 
the Agreements referred to above. On 19 June 2019 the Full Council of 
Durham County Council agreed to update/amend the terms of 
reference and its Constitution. 

 
(b) The Central Durham Crematorium Joint Committee 

 
This Joint Committee operates under an Agreement dated 3 May 1983 
made between Durham City Council and Spennymoor Town Council. 
The purpose of the Agreement is to provide and maintain a 
crematorium to serve the areas of the respective councils. On 1 April 
2009 Durham County Council assumed the rights of liabilities of 
Durham City Council under the Agreement referred to above. On 19 
June 2019 the Full Council of Durham County Council agreed to 
update/amend the terms of reference and its Constitution 

 
(c) The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is established in 
accordance with section 244 and 245 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006. This Joint Committee is made up of 12 members, comprising 
1 from each of the 12 constituent Authorities. The purpose of the Joint 
Committee is to scrutinise issues around the planning, provision and 
operation of health services in and across the North-East region, 
comprising for these purposes of the areas covered by all the 
constituent Authorities. A copy of the terms of reference and protocol 
can be obtained from the Scrutiny Officer at County Hall upon request. 

 
(d) Durham Police and Crime Panel 

 
The Police and Crime Panel is established under the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011. The Panel is made up of 7 
members from Durham County Council, 3 members of Darlington 
Borough Council and 2 independent co-opted members. The purpose 
of the Panel is to scrutinise and support the work of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. The terms of reference and rules of procedure 
can be obtained from the Monitoring Officer upon request. 

  

Page 702



 
(e) Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
This Board comprises:- 
(i) Representatives nominated by the Leader (being currently: 

• Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services; 

• Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services; 
and 

• Portfolio Holder for Transformation) 
(ii)    Representation from each Clinical Commissioning Group; 
(iii)     A representative from Local Healthwatch; 
(iv)   Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services; 
(v)    Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services; 
(vi)    Director of Public Health 
(vii) Director of Integration (a joint representative of Durham County  

Council and Health Partners). 
(viii) A representative from the housing section (Housing Solutions) 

 
and nominated representation from each of the following:- 
 
(ix) Chief Executive of Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation 

Trust; 
(x) Chief Executive of County Durham and Darlington Foundation 

Trust; 
(xi)  Chief Executive of City of Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust; 
(xii)  Chief Executive of North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation  
  Trust; 
(xiii)  Chief Executive of Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust; 
(xiv) Office of Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner; 
(xv) County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service; 
(xvi) Housing Service. 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board has the following roles and functions:- 

 
a. Promote integrated working between commissioners of health 

services, public health and social care services, for the purposes of 
advancing the health and wellbeing of the people in its area; 

 
b. Encourage those who provide services related to wider 

determinants of health, such as housing, to work closely with the 
Health and Wellbeing Board; 

 
c. Develop and agree the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (“JSNA”), 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (“JHWS”) and Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment (“PNA”); 

 
d. Be involved throughout the process as CCGs develop their 

commissioning plans and ensure they take proper account of the 
JHWS when developing these plans; 

 
e. Provide advice and assistance or other support as it thinks 

appropriate for the purposes of encouraging the making of 

Page 703



arrangements under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 
2006; and 

 
f. Sign off the Better Care Fund Plan. 

 
(f) Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership.  

Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) was established in 
April 2019 following the dissolution of the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board by the Children Act 2004, as amended by the 
Children and Social Work Act 2017.   
 
There are three Statutory Safeguarding Partners in Durham, namely 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups (North Durham CCG, 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, Easington and 
Sedgefield CCG) County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Durham County Council (Children and Young People’s Service) and 
Durham Constabulary . 
 
The Safeguarding Partners share responsibility for ensuring effective 
local safeguarding arrangements.  
 
The relevant agencies required to provide virtual representation or 
representation at subgroups, development session and agency groups 
are: 
• County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
• Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
• Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust 
• North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 
• City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 
• North East Ambulance Service 
• Durham Voice (Voluntary Sector) 
• Further Education Settings 

o Bishop Auckland College 
o New College Durham 
o East Durham College 
o Derwentside College 

• Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass) 
• Education 
• Independent Schools 
• Schools 
• Public Health 
• National Probation Service Durham 
• Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company 
• County Durham Youth Offending Service 
• Housing Services 
• NHS England 
• The Local Authority Adult & Health Services 
• The Local Authority Early Help, inclusion and vulnerable children 
Services 
• The Local Authority Legal Services 
• The Prison Service 
• County Durham & Darlington Fire & Rescue Service 
• British Transport Police 

Page 704



• Faith Groups 
 
Out of the relevant agencies, there will be 4 agency groups that will be 
expected to meet and provide assurance reports to the Executive 
Group on an annual basis.  Relevant agencies will not be required to 
attend every meeting but will nevertheless have a part to play in the 
business of the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership. 
 

And fulfils the following functions to support and enable local organisations 
and agencies to work together in a system where: 
 

• children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted  

• partner organisations and agencies collaborate, share and co-own the 
vision for how to achieve improved outcomes for vulnerable children 

• organisations and agencies challenge appropriately and hold one 
another to account effectively  

• there is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues 
and emerging threats  

• learning is promoted and embedded in a way that local services for 
children and families can become more reflective and implement 
changes to practice 

• information is shared effectively to facilitate more accurate and timely 
decision making for children and families 

 
In order to work together effectively with local organisations and agencies the 
Safeguarding Partners will develop processes that:  
 

• facilitate and drive action beyond usual institutional and agency 
constraints and boundaries 

• ensure the effective protection of children is founded on practitioners 
developing lasting and trusting relationships with children and their 
families.  
 

(g) County Durham Safeguarding Adults Inter-agency Partnership  
 
The County Durham Safeguarding Adults Inter-Agency Partnership is a 
range of public authorities who share a duty to keep adults in County 
Durham safe from abuse, harm and neglect. It comprises 
representatives from:- 
(i)   Durham Constabulary 
(ii)   Children and Adults Services - Durham County Council 
(iii)   County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, Easington and 

Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group County Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

(iv)   Primary Care - NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning  
  Group 

(v)   Tees, Esk and Wear Valley Foundation Trust 
(vi)   County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
(vii) Age UK Durham 
(viii) Her Majesty's Prison Service 
(ix)   Care Quality Commission 
(x)   National Probation Service 
(xi)   NHS England 

Page 705



(xii) The Fire Service 
(xiii) Higher/Further Education 
 
And fulfils the following functions: 
a.   The promotion of health and wellbeing for adults with needs for  

care and support, and carers. 
b.   Communicating and engaging with wider agencies and  

communities of interest to help to make adults safer, and ensure 
the ‘voice’ of adults is heard. 

c.   Complying with local policy, monitoring that compliance and  
  measuring its effectiveness. 

d.   Reviewing and analysing safeguarding activity across the  
  partnership to identify and action improvements. 

e.   Monitoring the impact safeguarding training provision; 
f.   Maintaining and strengthening links and reporting to relevant  

forums, such as, the Local Safeguarding Children Board, Safe 
Durham Partnership, Health and Wellbeing Board and Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees; 

g.   Working in cohesive and collaborative ways with statutory and  
  non-statutory partners; 

h.   Regularly reviewing the governance arrangements and checking  
  statutory obligations are being complied with. 

 
(h) County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 

 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority is a 
combined authority created by the Durham Fire Services (Combination 
Scheme) Order 1996. Membership comprises of 21 Members from 
Durham County Council and 4 Members from Darlington Borough 
Council (representation from each authority being determined by the 
size of the electoral representation within each authority). The Fire 
Authority’s political balance is also a reflection of that of the two local 
authorities. The Authority is a legal body with statutory duties and 
responsibilities which include:- 
 
(i) Providing a safe and effective operational response to meet a wide 

range of incidents, including fires, road traffic collisions, building 
collapse, water rescue, including flooding, rope rescue, hazardous 
materials incidents and mass decontamination, national and 
international rescue. 

(ii) participating in the National Resilience Programme which prepares 
for and responds to major emergencies and unexpected events 
such as natural disasters or terrorist incidents. The resources 
maintained to support this programme include High Volume Pumps, 
Mass Decontamination Equipment and hazardous materials 
specialists who are trained to detect, identify and monitor 
chemicals. 

 
(i) North East Combined Authority 

 
This body brings together the four councils which serve County 
Durham, Gateshead, South Tyneside and Sunderland. The ambition of 
the Authority is to create the best possible conditions for growth in jobs, 

Page 706



investment and living standards, to make the North East an excellent 
location for business, to prioritise and deliver high quality infrastructure 
and to enable residents to raise their skill levels and to benefit from 
economic growth long into the future.  

 
(j)  County Durham Integrated Care Board 

 
The Board provides system wide leadership and accountability for the 
delivery of integrated service models within County Durham’s Health 
and Care economy. 

  

Page 707



 

Appendix 5 – Extract of Article 9 

 
9.11 Functions of the Head of Internal Audit 
In addition to the statutory officer posts, the Head of Internal Audit provides objective 
assurance on the Council’s internal control arrangements (both financial and non-
financial) and plays a key part in promoting good corporate governance in 
accordance with proper internal audit practices.  
The Head of Internal Audit provides the Council with independent and objective 
assurance that there are strong arrangements in place for controlling its resources 
and for delivering its objectives.  To do this, key roles include: 

(a) Formulating the internal audit strategy, charter and plan  
(b) Providing an annual audit opinion on all aspects of governance, risk 

management and internal control to be used as a primary source of evidence 
for the annual governance statement. 

(c) Championing best practice in governance, objectively assessing the 
adequacy of governance and management of existing risks, commenting on 
responses to emerging risks and proposed developments. 

 
 
 

  

Page 708



Appendix 6 – Extract of Article 11  

 
11.06 Common Seal of the Council 
 

(a) The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of 
the Head of Legal and Democratic Services. A decision of the Council, or of 
any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary 
to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those 
documents which in the opinion of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested 
by the Head of Legal and Democratic Services or some other person 
authorised by them.  

 
(b) Details of every deed and other document to which the Common Seal is to be 

affixed shall be entered prior to the time of its sealing or as soon as 
practicable thereafter by the Head of Legal and Democratic Services in a 
book in a central register maintained for that purpose and the book register 
shall be signed by the person attesting the affixation of the Common Seal. 

 
(c) The Common Seal of the Council may be affixed electronically in accordance 

with the Electronic Communications Act 2000. This is subject to the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services being satisfied that proper arrangements are 
in place for the use and application of an electronic version of the Common 
Seal of the Council.   

  

Page 709



Appendix 7 – Extract of Delegations of the Corporate Director of 
Adult and Health Services 

 
Table 4 
 
Delegations to the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 
 
1. Executive Functions Subject to the requirement set out below and in compliance 

with the provisions of Table 1 above, the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, is authorised to discharge any function of the Executive in relation to:  
 

1.1 The exercise of the Council’s powers and duties in relation to the provision of 
social services so far as those functions relate to:- 

• Adults; or  

• Carers, or:  

• Prisoners and/or people in approved premises within County Durham.  
1.2 Functions exercisable on behalf of an NHS body so far as it relates to adults. 
1.3 Implementing or determining, subject to any right of review or appeal which 

may apply, all matters concerning the provision of mental health services 
including applications to displace nearest relatives and appointment as 
nearest relative and the acceptance and exercise of guardianships under the 
Mental Health Act 1983.  

1.4 To formally approve and authorise Mental Health Professionals who are 
eligible and qualified to be considered as Approved Mental Health 
Practitioners.  

1.5 Implementing or determining, subject to any right of review or appeal which 
may apply, all matters concerning the provision of services provided under the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 including appointment as Deputy and applications 
to the Court of Protection and undertaking Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard 
authorisations (DoLS).  

1.6 Implementing or determining, subject to any right of review or appeal which 
may apply, all matters concerning the statutory and corporate complaints 
procedure.  

1.7 Setting and varying rates for providers of all forms of social care and housing 
support in consultation with the Corporate Director of Resources. 

1.8 Setting and varying fees and charges for delivery of services. 
1.9 Undertaking joint collaborative action as appropriate with the National Health 

Service and other partner organisations for the planning, commissioning, and 
cooperating with the police, the probation service and the prison service to 
assess the risk posed by violent or sexual offenders. and provision of jointly 
operated services within the County, including the development of 
Cooperation Agreements and Partnerships Agreements for joint working 
arrangements.  

1.10 Protection and promotion of the welfare of vulnerable adults including 
vulnerable young people moving into adulthood.  

1.11 To meet the requirements as set down by regulatory bodies in relation to the 
operation of services within Adult and Health Services.  

1.12 The provision, operation, commissioning and variation of payments to external 
providers in respect of services arranged by the Corporate Director of Adult 
and Health Services.  

1.13 Under the Care Act 2014 to discharge any functions in relation to the social 
care duties of the Council including: 

Page 710



• To provide information and advice about care and support services for 
adults and carers.  

• To provide or arrange access to preventative services promoting 
wellbeing and independence.  

• Ensuring that the needs of people continue to be met if their care 
provider becomes unable to carry on providing care because of 
business failure.  

• Carrying out an assessment and applying national eligibility criteria for 
anyone who appears to require care and support, including carers who 
may need support.  

• To provide a personal budget to anyone with ‘eligible needs’. 

• To make enquiries into concerns of abuse and neglect requiring the 
cooperation of partner agencies and led multi agency safeguarding 
investigations. 
 

1.14 Ensuring that the local authority has a panel of persons in place for its area 
(known as Channel), as required under the Counter Terrorism and Security 
Act 2015. The function of this panel is to assess the extent to which identified 
individuals are vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism and to develop a 
support plan for that individual.  
 

In carrying out these delegated functions, the Corporate Director will agree 
arrangements for consultation with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Member(s) and will 
refer to the Executive for consideration and decision those matters directed by the 
said Member(s).  
4.  The matters set out below are delegated to the Director of Integrated 

Community Services: 
(a) To take responsibility for the management of Adult Social Care functions 

in the context of the Integrated Community Services model. 
(b) To protect and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults. 

 
5. The matters set out below are delegated to the Head of Integrated Strategic 

Commissioning: 
5.1  To exercise the Council’s duties and responsibilities in respect of market 

shaping and commissioning adult care and support as outlined in the 
Care Act 2014.  

  

Page 711



Appendix 8 – Extract of Delegations of the Corporate Director of 
Resources  

 
Table 7 
Delegations to the Corporate Director of Resources  
Executive Functions 
 
Subject to the requirement set out below and in compliance with the provisions of 
Table 1 above the Corporate Director of Resources is authorised to discharge any 
function of the Executive in relation to: 
 

• The proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 

• The provision of Legal and Democratic Services to the Council 

• People and Talent Management 

• ICT Services 

• Coroners 

• Land charges 

• The Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages 

• Customer Services 

• Archive and Records 

• Information Management and Governance  

• Service review and Improvement 

• Transformation Programme  
 
In carrying out these delegated functions the Corporate Director will agree 
arrangements for consultation with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Member(s) and will 
refer to the Executive for consideration and decision those matters directed by the 
said Member(s) 
 
Specific and Non-Executive Delegations 
 

 
(i) To authorise the termination of employment of staff by reason of early 

retirement with voluntary redundancy where there is a cost to the Council 
associated with the early release of pension benefits.  This will be in 
consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Member for Corporate Resources and 
Rural Issues.  
 

(ii) To determine the early release of pension benefits on compassionate 
grounds, in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Member for Social 
Inclusion, having regard to any representations received from Opposition 
Group Leaders 

 
 

  

Page 712



 

Appendix 9:  Extract of the Council Procedure Rules 

 
9.17 Asking the question at the meeting 

The Chair will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member named 
in the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to 
be present, they may ask the Chair to put the question on their behalf. The 
Chair may ask the question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written 
reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the 
question will not be dealt with. 

9.18  Response 
An answer may take the form of: 
(a)  a direct oral answer; 
(b)  where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 
(c)  where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 
(d)  If when a question is put, it appears that it is beyond the remit of the 

Member to which it is directed, the Chair may invite the relevant 
Member to also provide a brief response.   

 
9.19 Written answers 

(a) Any question from the public which cannot be dealt with during public 
question time, either because of lack of time or because of the non-
attendance of the Member to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with 
by a written answer. Copies of the questions and responses will be 
available on the Council’s website with the agenda for the relevant 
meeting. 
 

(b) Where a reply cannot conveniently be given orally to a question from 
an  Area Action Partnership or Member, a written answer will be 
circulated later to the questioner. 

 
9.20 Reference of question to the Executive or a committee 

Unless the Chair decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any 
question, but any Member may move that a matter raised by a question be 
referred to the Executive or the appropriate committee or sub-committee. 
Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion. 

 
10.  MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 
10.1  Application of Rules 
 

Rules 10.2 to 10.7 do not apply to motions on notice under rule 10.8. 
 
10.2  Notice  
 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 11, written 
notice of every motion, must be delivered to the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services not later than 5.00 p.m. on the seventh working day 
before the Council meeting at which it is to be considered.   

 
10.3  Motion set out in agenda 

Page 713



 
Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the 
order determined by the Chair. 

 
10.4  Scope 
 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 
which affect the County. 

 
10.5 Motion to remove the Leader 
 
 (a) A motion to remove the Leader cannot be moved unless the notice of 

motion is signed by a number of councillors which is at least equivalent 
to 15% of the total number of councillors on the Council and which 
includes councillors from at least 2 political groups. 

 
(b) In order for such a motion to be carried it must have the support of at 

least two-thirds of those members voting and present in the room at the 
time the question was put. 

 
(c) A motion to remove the Leader cannot be moved more than once in 

any rolling 12 month period. 
 
10.6 One Motion per Member 
 
 No Member may give notice of more than one motion for any Council 

meeting, except with the consent of the Chair. 
 
10.7 Time Allowed for Motions 
 
 The time allowed for consideration of motions submitted under this Rule shall 

not, without the consent of the Council, exceed 30 minutes.  At the conclusion 
of the speech being delivered at the expiry of 30 minutes (or such longer 
period to which the Council has consented) from the commencement of the 
Council’s consideration of the first such motion, the Chair shall put to the vote, 
without further discussion, all the questions necessary to dispose of the 
motion then under debate provided that: 

 
(a) if the speech to be concluded is a speech proposing a motion, the 

Chair shall allow the motion to be formally seconded (without 
comment); 

 
 (b) if the speech to be concluded is a speech moving an amendment, the 

Chair shall allow the amendment to be formally seconded (without 
comment) and the mover of the motion to exercise their right of reply; 
and 

 
(c) otherwise, the Chair shall allow the mover of the motion to exercise 

their right of reply. 
 

Any remaining motions submitted under this Rule shall be deferred to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council and shall be dealt with at that meeting in the 

Page 714



same order and before any other motions of which notice is given for that 
meeting. 
 

10.8 Motions to Amend Budget and Policy Framework 
 
 Written notice of a motion to move an amendment of the Executive’s 

proposals for the Council’s budget and policy framework, subject to the 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, must be delivered to the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services not later than midday 3 working days 
before the Council meeting at which it is to be considered. Motions received 
after that deadline will only be considered in exceptional circumstances and 
with the approval of the Chair, section 151 officer and Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services. 

 
10.9 Motions relating to the Executive Functions 
 A motion on any matter in respect of which the Executive has decision-making 

powers shall only be to refer the matter to the Executive for consideration. 
 
14.  VOTING 
 
14.1  Majority 
 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a 
simple majority of those members voting and present in the room at the time 
the question was put. 

 
14.2  Chair’s casting vote 
 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a 
second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chair chooses 
to exercise a casting vote. 

 
14.3  Method of Voting 
 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 14.4 the Chair will take the 
vote by show of hands, or by use of the Council’s electronic voting system if 
any, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 

 
14.4  Recorded vote 
 

If ten members present at the meeting of full Council (or 5 members present 
at any other meetings of the authority to which these rules apply) request it, 
the names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting 
will be taken down in writing and entered into the minutes. 

 
14.5  Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
 

Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote 
will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against 
the motion or abstained from voting. 

 
14.6 Voting at budget decision meeting 
 

Page 715



Immediately after any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of the 
Council there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that 
meeting the names of the members who cast a vote for the decision or 
against the decision or who abstained from voting. 
 
NOTE -  Budget decision means calculation of the Council tax 

requirement, calculation of the basic amount of Council tax, 
additional calculations where special items relate to part only of 
the area, calculation of Council tax for different variation bands, 
substitute calculations and calculation of the amount payable by 
billing authorities. 

 
14.7  Voting on appointments 
 

If there are more than two people nominated for any appointment and there is 
not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person the name of the person 
with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. 
The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 
Nominations will be voted on without debate. 

 
  

 
  

Page 716



 

Appendix 10:  Extract of Executive Procedure Rules 

 
2. HOW ARE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS CONDUCTED? 
2.1 Who presides? 
 The Leader will preside at any meeting of the Executive or its committees at 

which he is present.  In his absence, the Deputy Leader will preside. 
2.2 Who may attend? 
 These details are set out in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 

Constitution. 
2.3 What business? 
 At each meeting of the Executive the following business will be conducted: 

(i) questions from the public; 
 

(ii) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(iii) declarations of interest, if any; 
 

(iv) matters referred to the Executive (whether by the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board or one of the other 
Scrutiny Committees or by the Council) for reconsideration by 
the Executive in accordance with the provisions contained in the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

 
(v) consideration of reports from the Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board and Scrutiny Committees; and 
 

(vi) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall 
indicate which are key decisions and which are not in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure rules set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
2.4 Consultation 
 All reports to the Executive from any member of the Executive or an officer on 

proposals relating to the budget and policy framework must contain details of 
the nature and extent of consultation undertaken with stakeholders and the 
outcome of that consultation.  Reports about other matters will set out the 
details and outcome of consultation as appropriate.  The level of consultation 
required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration. 

2.5 Who can put items on the executive agenda? 
 (a) The Leader will decide upon the schedule for meetings of the 

Executive.  He may put any matter on the agenda of any Executive 
meeting whether or not authority has been delegated to the Executive, 
a committee of it or any member or officer in respect of that matter. 

(b) Any member of the Executive may require the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services to make sure that an item is placed on the 
agenda of the next available meeting of the Executive for 
consideration. 

 (c) The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 
Finance Officer may include an item for consideration on the agenda of 

Page 717



an Executive meeting and may require that such a meeting be 
convened in pursuance of their statutory duties. 

2.6 Questions by the Public 
 On matters of concern or interest 
2.6.1  Members of the public may ask questions of Members of the Executive on 

matters of concern or interest, during the first formal item of business at every 
ordinary cabinet meeting.  
On reports to be considered by the Executive  

2.6.2  Members of the public may ask questions of Members of the Executive on 
reports that are to be considered by the Executive which are listed on the 
agenda for that meeting. 

 Notice of questions 
2.6.3  A member of the public may ask a question under rules 2.6.1, and  2.6.2 if 

notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by electronic mail to the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services no later than midday 3 working days 
before the day of the meeting.  Each question must give the name and 
address of the questioner. Under rule 2.6.1 questions can be asked informally 
at the meeting if the Leader permits. 

 Order of questions 
2.6.4  Questions in relation to rule 2.6.1 will be asked in the order notice of them 

was received, and for those relating to rule 2.6.2 at the time that the agenda 
item was being considered. The Leader may group together similar questions. 

2.7 Questions by Members 
On reports to be considered by the Executive  

2.7.1  A member of the Council may wish to ask questions of Members of the 
Executive on reports that are to be considered by the Executive which are 
listed on the agenda for that meeting. There is no general right for non- 
Cabinet members to address Cabinet at their meetings, however if the 
decision to be made affects their division, or they have some other relevant 
consideration this may be accepted subject to rule 2.7.2 

 Notice of questions 
2.7.2  A member wishing to ask a question must give notice by delivering it the 

question in writing or by electronic mail to the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services no later than 14.00 hrs 2 working days before the day of the 
meeting, and must indicate their reason for asking the question. The Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services in consultation with the Leader of the Council 
will determine whether the question can be asked. 

 Order of questions 
2.7.3  Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, and at the 

time that the agenda item was being considered.  
 Asking the question at the meeting 
2.7.4  The Leader will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member named 

in the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to 
be present, a written reply will be given after the meeting. A restriction of 5 
minutes per question will be applied, except at the discretion of the Leader. 

2.8  Questions 
 Scope of questions 
2.8.1  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services may reject a question from the 

public if it: 
(a)   does not relate to a matter of concern or interest; or 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services may also reject a question from 
the public or a Member if it: 

Page 718



 
(b) Subject to 2.8.1(a) above, is not about a matter for which the Executive 

is going to consider an item on the agenda for the meeting;  
 

(c) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
 

(d) is vexatious or abusive; 
 

(e) is substantially the same or similar to a question which has been put at 
a meeting of the Executive in the past six months; 

  
(f) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 

 
(g)  is lengthy, or a speech; 
 
(h)  relates to a matter which is of purely personal concern to an individual 

or family members; 
 

(i) relates to court action or threatened court action that the person or  
group are taking against the Council; 

 
(j)  is a request for compensation; 
 
(k)  contains a statement which is untrue; 

 
(l) is an unintelligible question;  

 
 
 Record of questions 
2.8.2  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services will immediately send a copy of 

the question to the Member to whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will 
include reasons for rejection. 
The questions asked at the meeting and the responses will be referred to in 
the minutes of the meeting. 
 

 Written answers 
2.8.3  Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either 

because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the Member to 
whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer.  

 
 Reference of question to the Executive  
2.8.4  Unless the Leader decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any 

question.  
  

Page 719



 

Appendix 11: Extract of Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 
17. Call-in 
 

(a) The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has the 
power to call in decisions made by the Executive (which term shall also 
include a Joint Committee) but not yet implemented.  The purpose is to 
consider whether to recommend that a decision be reviewed by the 
Executive.  This is a power which should only be used in exceptional 
circumstances and cannot be used in respect of day-to-day 
management and operational decisions. 

 
(b) When a decision is made by the Executive, an individual member of 

the Executive with delegated powers or under joint arrangements, 
notice of the decision shall be published, including where possible by 
electronic means, and shall be available at the main offices of the 
Council normally within 2 working days of being made.  All Overview 
and Scrutiny Members will be sent copies of the records of all such 
decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible for 
publishing the decision.  

 
(c) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify 

that the decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, 
on the expiry of 5 working days after the publication of the decision, 
unless the decision is called in under the provisions set out below. 

 
(d) Within that period: 

 
(i) the Chair or, in their absence the Vice-Chair of the Corporate 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board; or  
 
(ii) any five members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board or the Scrutiny Committee within whose 
remit the decision falls  

 
may sign a notice requesting that the decision is called in and submit 
the notice to the Head of Legal and Democratic Services.  The notice 
should give reasons for the request for call-in, having regard to the 
principles of decision making set out in Article 12 of this Constitution. 

 

(e)  On receipt of the notice the Head of Legal and Democratic 

Services will, as soon as possible, seek the views of the Chair or 

in their absence, the Vice-Chair of the Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board, or in the absence of both, a Chair or 

Vice-Chair of another Scrutiny Committee. 

(f)  The Chair or Vice-Chair to whom the request is referred will consider 
whether the request is reasonable.  They will take account of whether a 
case has been made out for calling in the decision and whether 
delaying the implementation of the decision would be likely to cause 
significant damage to the Council’s interests.  They will have regard to 

Page 720



the advice of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer, where 
appropriate, in conjunction with the Scrutiny Officer, on this point.  

 
(g) If it is considered that the request for call-in is reasonable, the Head of 

Legal and Democratic Services will convene a meeting of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board within 7 working 
days, after consulting the Chair of the Board about the date.  The 
Board will then proceed as in sub-paragraph (i) below. 

 
(h) If the Chair or Vice-Chair to whom the request is referred consider that 

the request is unreasonable the decision will not be called in.  The 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services will submit a report to the next 
available meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board giving details of the request and 
Chair’s/Vice-Chair’s reasons for refusing it.If the Chair or Vice-Chair to 
whom the request is referred considers that the request is 
unreasonable the decision will not be called in. The decision of the 
Chair or Vice Chair will be communicated to the signatories to the Call-
in request within 2 working days. The Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services will submit a report to the next available meeting of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board giving details of 
the request and Chair’s/Vice-Chair’s reasons for refusing it. 

 
(i) Where the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

considers a call-in request, the format of the meeting will be as 
follows:- 

 

• after the Chair opens the meeting the members who asked for the 
decision to be called in will be asked to explain their reasons for the 
request and what they feel should be reviewed; 

 

• on matters of particular relevance to a particular electoral division, 
electoral division members who are not signatories to a call-in have 
the opportunity to make comments on the call-in at the meeting, 
such speeches not to exceed five minutes each.   Electoral division 
members will take no further part in the discussion or vote.   
Electoral division members must register their request to speak by 
contacting the Head of Legal and Democratic Services by 12 noon 
on the day prior to the relevant hearing;  
 

• the relevant portfolio holder (or holders if more than one is relevant) 
will then be invited to make any comments; 
 

• the relevant Corporate Director or their representative will advise 
the Board on the background and context of the decision and its 
importance to achieving Service priorities; 

 

• Board members will ask questions of members and officers in 
attendance; 
 

• the portfolio holder(s) will be invited to make any final comments on 
the matter. 
 

Page 721



The Board, after considering the evidence presented to the meeting, will 
make one of the following decisions: 
 

• to take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect 
immediately; 
 

• to refer the decision back to the decision-maker for reconsideration, 
setting out the nature of the Board’s concerns; the decision-maker 
must then re-consider the matter with a further 10 working days, 
taking into account the concerns of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board, before making a final decisions;  
 

• to refer the matter to full Council, in which case paragraph (k) below 
will apply; or 

 

• to refer the matter to a sub group of the Board for further 
consideration and report back to the Board within a specified period 
not exceeding 14 days, in which case the Board will, at its 
reconvened meeting take one of the decisions set out above; if the 
Board does not reconvene within 14 days or does reconvene but 
does not refer the matter back to the decision maker or to the full 
Council, the decision will take effect on the date of the reconvened 
Board meeting or the expiry of that further 14 day period, whichever 
is the earlier. 

 
(j) If, following a request for call-in, the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board does not meet in the period set out above, or does 
meet but does not refer the matter back to the decision maker or to full 
Council, the decision will take effect on the date of the relevant Board 
meeting, or the expiry of that further 7 working day period, whichever is 
the earlier. 

 
 (k) If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not object 

to a decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary 
and the decision will be effective in accordance with the provision 
below. However, if the Council does object, it has no locus to make 
decisions in respect of an Executive decision unless it is contrary to the 
policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget. Unless that is the case, the Council will refer any decision to 
which it objects back to the decision maker, together with the Council’s 
views on the decision. That decision maker shall choose whether to 
amend the decision or not before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it. Where the decision was taken by the Executive, a 
meeting will be convened to reconsider within 10 working days of the 
Council request.  Where the decision was made by an individual, the 
individual will reconsider within 10 working days of the Council request. 

 
 (l) If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the 

decision back to the decision maker, the decision will become effective 
on the date of the Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the 
Council meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier. 

 
 

Page 722



18. Exceptions 
 

In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay, 
certain limitations are to be placed on its use. These are:  
  
 (a) that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board may  

only call-in a maximum of 3 decisions per three month period; 
 
(b)   that call-in can be invoked in respect of a decision only once; 

 
(c)    that call in will not apply to individual decisions made by the Audit 

Committee, the County Planning Committee or Area Planning 
Committees, the Highways Committee, the Statutory Licensing 
Committee, the General Licensing and Registration Committee, the 
Appeals and Complaints Committee, the Chief Officers’ Appointments 
Committee, the Standards Committee or the Human Resources 
Committee, or any Sub-Committee of those Committees.  

 
26.  Consideration of requests to review how a petition has been dealt with 

under the Petitions process. 
 

(a)   Whilst there is no automatic right of review as to how a petition has  
 been dealt with within the Council’s petitions process, if a petitioner 
feels that we have not dealt with their petition properly, the petition 
organiser may request that the Council’s Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board review the response to the petition.  The 
request should be accompanied by a short explanation of the reasons 
why the Council’s response is not considered to be adequate. 
 

(b) The Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, 
in consultation with the Council’s Monitoring Officer and Scrutiny 
Officer will determine if the request is believed to merit consideration at 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board or the 
appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   

 
(c)   If the request to review the Council’s determination of the petition is 

agreed the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board or 
the appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee will endeavour to 
consider the request at the next meeting, although on some occasions 
this may not be possible and consideration will take place at the 
following meeting. 

 
(d)    Should the Board / Committee determine that we have not dealt with 

the petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal with the 
matter. These powers include instigating an investigation, making 
recommendations to the Council’s Executive or referring the matter for 
consideration by full Council. 

  
(e)   Once a request to review the petition response has been considered 

the petition organiser will be informed of the results within 5 working 
days. The results of the review will also be published on the council’s 
website. 

 

Page 723



(f)   Full details of the review mechanism can be found within the Council’s 
petitions process, which can be found on the Council’s website.   

Page 724



 

Appendix 12:  Extract of the Contract Procedure Rules 

 
1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  What are Contract Procedure Rules? 
 
1.1.1 The Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) provide the framework for procurement 

activity across the Council, setting out how contracts for goods, works, 
services and utilities should be put in place and managed, and detailing the 
record keeping and reporting requirements related to procurement activity. 
They apply to all Service Groupings across the Council. 
 

1.1.2 To avoid the need for regular amendment due to changes in post titles 
generic terms are included for officers as follows: 

 
▪ The term “Chief Officers” refers to the Council’s Chief Executive and 

Corporate Directors 
 

▪ The term “Procurement Officer” refers to any officer of the Council 
responsible for carrying out a procurement exercise – not just to officers 
with “Procurement Officer” as their job title. Any Council officer undertaking 
a procurement exercise is a “Procurement Officer” for the purposes of 
these rules. 

 
▪ In addition to the above definitions, the general term “officer” refers to any 

employee of the Council. 
 
1.1.3 The Contract Procedure Rules should not be seen in isolation, but rather as 

part of the overall regulatory framework of the Council as set out in the 
Constitution. 

 
1.1.4 The content of these CPRs is supported by additional guidance and 

documentation contained in the Advice Centre in the “Procurement 
Catalogue” section of the Council intranet (henceforth referred to as the 
“Advice Centre”).   
 

1.1.5 These CPRs observe the requirements of UK legislation namely the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCRs), in addition to ongoing amendments and 
updates as issued by the Cabinet Office in the form of Procurement Policy 
Notes. 
 

2.  BASIC PRINCIPLES 
 
2.1  All procurement procedures must: 
 

▪ Realise value for money by seeking to achieve the optimum combination 
of whole life costs and quality of outcome, 
 

▪ Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity,  
 

▪ Operate in a transparent manner, 
 

Page 725



▪ Ensure fairness in allocation of public contracts, 
 

▪ Support all relevant Council priorities and policies including the Medium 
Term Financial Plan, 

  
▪ Comply with the Council’s Procurement Strategy, the Social Value Policy 

and Sustainable Buying Standards, and: 
 

▪ Comply with all legislative requirements including European Union (EU) 
Treaty principles, which in relation to procurement are as follows: 
 

o transparency - contract procedures must be transparent and 
contract opportunities should generally be publicised; 

 
o equal treatment and non-discrimination - potential suppliers must be 

treated equally; 
 

o proportionality - procurement procedures and decisions must be 
proportionate; 

 
o mutual recognition - giving equal validity to qualifications and 

standards from other Member States, where appropriate. 
 

▪ Be funded through the allocation of an appropriately established budget. 
 

2.2 These Rules shall be applied to the contracting activities of any partnership 
for which the Council is the accountable body unless the Council expressly 
agrees otherwise. 

 
3.  OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
3.1  Officers 
 
3.1.1 Officers will comply with these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), the 

Council’s Constitution and with all relevant legal requirements. Officers must 
ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting on their 
behalf also comply. 

 
3.1.2  Officers will: 
 

▪ Have regard to the guidance in the Advice Centre, 
  

▪ Keep the records required by Rule 19 of these CPRs, 
 
▪ Take all necessary procurement, legal, financial and professional advice, 

taking into account the requirements of these CPRs, 
 
▪ Prior to letting a contract on behalf the Council, check whether: 
 

o the Council already has an appropriate contract in place in the 
Corporate Contracts Register, or: 

 

Page 726



o an appropriate national, regional or other collaborative contract is 
already in place. 

 
Where the Council already has an appropriate contract in place, then 
this must be used unless it can be established that the contract does 
not fully meet the Council’s specific requirements in this particular 
case, and this is agreed following consultation with Corporate 
Procurement. 

 
Where an appropriate national, regional or collaborative contract is 
available, consideration should be given to using this, provided the 
contract offers value for money. 
 

▪ Ensure that when any employee, either of the Council or of a service 
provider, may be affected by any transfer arrangement, then any Transfer 
of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) (TUPE) and Pensions issues 
are considered and legal and HR advice from within the Council is 
obtained prior to proceeding with the procurement exercise. 
 

3.1.3  Failure to comply with any of the provisions of these CPRs, the Council’s 
Constitution or UK or EU legal requirements may be brought to the attention 
of the Monitoring Officer, Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud 
Manager, or relevant Corporate Director as appropriate. Depending on the 
nature of the non-compliance this may result in disciplinary action being 
taken. 

 
3.1.4 In cases of non-compliance with these CPRs, the Chief Procurement Officer 

may, following consultation with the officer’s Head of Service, temporarily or 
permanently suspend any officer’s access to the Oracle system, e-tendering 
system, and use of purchasing cards or other payment mechanisms. 

 
3.1.5 In addition, in cases of serious non-compliance, the Chief Procurement Officer 

may temporarily suspend any officer’s delegated authority to place contracts, 
and refer the matter to the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate 
Fraud Manager for further investigation. 

 
3.2  Chief Officers 
 
3.2.1  Chief Officers will: 
 

▪ Ensure their Service Grouping complies fully with the requirements of 
these CPRs, 
  

▪ Ensure contracts are recorded in the corporate Contracts Register as held 
and maintained by Corporate Procurement, through the use of the 
Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19, 

 
▪ Ensure that their Service Grouping provides the requisite information to 

allow the Council to maintain the Procurement Work Programme, including 
the submission of a Procurement Initial Request Form at as early a stage 
as possible. 

 

Page 727



Copies of the Procurement Acceptance Report and Procurement Initial 
Request Form are available from the Advice Centre. 

 
4.  VARIATIONS TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
4.1  Except where the PCRs (2015) apply, the Executive has the power to waive 

any requirements within these CPRs for specific projects. 
 
4.2  Additionally, and where proceeding under a Variation does not breach the 

Public Contracts Regulations (2015), these Rules may be waived or varied 
where the circumstances are certified by the Corporate Director, Resources 
(advised as appropriate by the Chief Procurement Officer) as meeting any of 
the following criteria: 

 
(a) with an organisation already engaged by the Council for a similar 

and related procurement and where there is significant benefit to 
extending the contract to cover this additional requirement, without 
exposing the Council to unacceptable risk; 
 

(b) involving cases of genuine, unforeseen urgency, where it is not 
possible to comply with the CPRs; 

 
(c) for the purchase of a work of art or museum specimen, to meet the 

specific requirements of an artistic, cultural, or performing arts 
event, or otherwise for the protection of exclusive rights which 
cannot be procured competitively due to the nature of the 
requirement; 

 
(d) in relation to time-limited grant funding from an external body, 

where the time limitations will not allow a competitive procurement 
process to be completed and where the grant conditions allow this; 
or 

 
(e) where relevant UK or EU legislation not otherwise referred to in 

these CPRs prevents the usual procurement process from being 
followed. 

 
4.3  The appropriate Officer must complete an Application for Variation, as 

contained within the Advice Centre, which must be authorised by their Head 
of Service before being submitted to Corporate Procurement. Corporate 
Procurement will review the Application for Variation before obtaining a 
decision from the Corporate Director, Resources (or other officer as 
delegated). 

 
4.4 Committing to expenditure with a supplier, without a valid contract or a 

Variation in place, is a breach of these CPRs. Therefore, where a Variation is 
being sought retrospectively, for expenditure to which a Service Area has 
already, the retrospective application must be authorised by their Corporate 
Director, to make them aware of the breach, before it is submitted to 
Corporate Procurement. 

 
4.5  Every Variation form will be recorded on a master register to be maintained by 

Corporate Procurement. 

Page 728



 
4.6  Where a Variation is being applied for by Corporate Procurement, it must also 

be scrutinised by Internal Audit, to ensure the robustness of the procedure. 
 
4.7  The use of e-procurement does not negate the requirement to comply with all 

elements of these CPRs. The circumstances under which an exemption to the 
use of e-procurement can be requested are detailed in Rule 12. 

 
5. EXEMPTIONS 
 
5.1 The following contracts and/or payments are exempt from these CPRs: 
 

(a) Contracts for the execution of mandatory works by statutory 
undertakers, where the statutory undertaker is the only body which 
can perform the works. Such statutory undertakers include: 

i. British Telecom – specifically for telecoms 
infrastructure works; 

ii. Network Rail – specifically for works affecting the 
railway infrastructure; 

iii. Northern Gas Networks – specifically for gas supply 
infrastructure works; 

iv. Northern Powergrid – specifically for electricity 
infrastructure works; 

v. Northumbria Water – specifically for water and 
sewerage infrastructure works; 

vi. Highways England – specifically for works to the core 
road network under their management; 
 

In addition, certain other organisations may be regarded as 
statutory undertakers in very specific circumstances, where works 
are required, involving disruption to, or re-siting of, existing 
infrastructure which they own and/or operate, particularly: 

 
vii. Any other telecoms provider for works to specifically-

licensed mobile telecoms infrastructure which they 
own; 

viii. Any Independent Distribution Network Operator 
(IDNO) for works to electricity infrastructure they own. 

 
Where fees are payable directly to a sub-contractor appointed by a 
statutory undertaker, and where the Council does not have the 
option of appointing a contractor itself, and where the statutory 
undertaker’s procurement process for selecting the named sub-
contractor complies with any obligations under the Utilities 
Contracts Regulations 2016, then the named sub-contractor shall 
be treated as a statutory undertaker for the purpose of this Rule. 

 
(b) Statutory fees payable 

 
i. to the Driver & Vehicle Licensing Agency and/or Drive & Vehicle Standards 

Agency (formerly VOSA); 
ii. to the Disclosure & Barring Service; 

Page 729



iii. to the Care Quality Commission under section 85(1) of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2008; 

iv. set by government for education or inter-agency adoption funding;  
v. to Ofsted for the inspection of a school, children’s home, or other facility, 
vi. for TV licenses in Council owned or operated premises; 
vii. for Phonographic Performance Ltd or PRS for Music, for the playing of 

recorded music in public, or for the use of the musical composition and lyrics 
in that recording; 

viii. to NHS Business Services Authority for prescription charges. 
 

 
(c) Fees payable to Public Health England with respect to the Child 

Death Notification Service; 
 
(d) Contracts for the carrying out of statutory public health funerals 

under the Part 3 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984; 
 
(e) Contracts for the purchase of broadcasting time, including for the 

placing of radio and television advertising; 
 
(f) Contracts to provide sponsorship to events, awards schemes, or 

other promotional activity being organised by a third party; 
 

(g) Fees payable in advance on an annual basis for publications, 
access to online information and membership fees, only delivered 
by the publishing body, and membership fees of a recognised 
industry body membership programme. 
 

(h) Contracts for actors or performers to meet the specific requirements 
of an artistic, cultural, or performing arts event being organised by 
the council; 
 

(i) Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct 
employee of the authority; 

 
(j) A staff secondment, where an employee of another organisation 

shall work on a Council project, on a temporary basis, but where 
they will not become an employee of the Council; 

 
NB: While the CPRs do not apply to staff secondments, 
authorisation to proceed must be obtained from Human Resources, 
and the terms of the secondment appropriately documented. 

 
(k) Contracts for legal representation by a lawyer (advocate, barrister, 

or solicitor) in arbitration or conciliation proceedings, judicial 
proceedings before the courts, tribunals or public authorities of a 
EU member state or third country or before international courts, 
tribunals or institutions; 
 

(l) Payments for legal advice given by a lawyer, or other expert opinion 
requested, in preparation for, or connected to, any of the 
proceedings mentioned in (j) above; 

 

Page 730



  
(m)Payments for documents, document certification and authentication 

services, which may only be provided by notaries, or from the 
issuing authority, such as the General Registry Office, HM Passport 
Office; 
 

(n) Payments for legal services provided by trustees or appointed 
guardians or other legal services, the providers of which are 
designated by a court or tribunal; 
 

Fees payable to Phonographic Performance Ltd or PRS for Music, for 
the playing of recorded music in public, or for the use of the musical 
composition and lyrics in that recording; 

 
(o) Fees payable to Durham Constabulary to cover the cost of 

additional policing presence at public events or for temporary public 
safety purposes; 
 

(p) Appointment of independent planning inspectors nominated by the 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) under the NPIERS 
scheme; 
 

(q) Examination Fees payable to a qualification awarding body for the 
certification of exam results only, for a professional or vocational 
qualification being undertaken by a Council Officer with the support 
of the Council; 
 
NB: This exemption covers examination fees only, not the cost of 
any training or study materials, which remain subject to these 
CPRs; 

 
(r) Accreditation and membership, fees payable to an awarding or 

professional body for the accreditation or certification, or fees for 
services required to undertake a service being provided by the 
Council; 

 
(s) Fees payable for Royal Mail postage, including franking machine 

credits, and for financial transaction services required by the 
Council; 
 

(t) Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land 
(to which the Financial Procedure Rules apply), or: 

 
(u) The payment of grants to third parties. 

 
NB: While grants are not covered by these CPRs, there are rules 
on the awarding of grants which do need to be observed. The 
Council cannot simply choose to treat a procurement as a grant in 
order to avoid conducting a competitive process. Officers should 
follow any guidance contained in the Advice Centre. 

 
(v) Where the Council is providing a payment processing facility to a 

non-profit body undertaking community projects, and where this 

Page 731



does not make the Council the accountable body for the contracts 
or transactions in question. (For example, where the Council 
provides a payment processing facility to Groundwork North East). 

 
Contracts which have been procured on the Council’s behalf by a 
Central Purchasing Body, where the process followed is in line with the 
Public Contracts Regulations (2015) (e.g. the North East Procurement 
Organisation, another Pro5 Organisation, or Crown Commercial 
Service). 
(w) Payments for services with regard to high needs or special 

education (including maintained schools Communities of Learning 
and Behaviour Panels), social care, health, safeguarding, or urgent 
operational needs, if in the opinion of the relevant Corporate 
Director it is considered to be in the Council’s interests or necessary 
to meet the authority’s obligations under relevant legislation. Use of 
this exemption by the relevant Corporate Director must be followed 
up with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 
(x) Those relating to residential and/or nursing care, or independent living services, 

to a person or persons to whom the Council has a duty or power to provide 
under the Care Act 2014 and other relevant legalisation relating to social care, 
health and safeguarding. Use of this exemption by the relevant Corporate 
Director must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance Report as 
detailed in Rule 19. 

 
6.  RELEVANT CONTRACTS 
 
6.1  All Relevant Contracts must comply with these CPRs. A Relevant Contract is 

any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council for the supply of 
goods, or the carrying out of works or services.  

 
These include arrangements for: 

 
▪ The supply or disposal of goods, 

 
▪ The hire, rental or lease of goods and equipment, 
 
▪ The delivery of services, including (but not limited to) those related to: 

 
- the recruitment of staff 
- land and property transactions 
- financial and consultancy services 

 
6.2 A contract awarded under a Variation to these CPRs (as per Rule 4) remains 

a Relevant Contract in all aspects other than those elements of the CPRs 
which were specifically waived.  

 
7.  RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1  All procurements with a likely total value of £50,000 or greater, as well as 

lower value procurements where appropriate, must be supported by a risk 
assessment. This risk assessment must be carried out by the Service Area 
requesting the procurement, at the start of the procurement process.  

Page 732



 
 Projects of strategic importance, high value, or complexity require appropriate 

risk assessments to be undertaken, in line with Corporate Risk Management. 
The project risk assessment must be undertaken by the Service Area. Any 
procurement activity risks will be managed through the Council’s procurement 
processes.  The project risk assessments will identify where further specialist 
advice should be sought 

 
7.2  The risk assessment process will identify where further specialist advice 

should be sought. 
 
 In order to ensure the Council meets its duties under the Public Services 

(Social Value) Act 2012, the risk assessment will include there must be an 
appraisal of the opportunities to address social value outcomes through the 
proposed procurement, which may include or a separate social value 
opportunity assessment should be carried out. 

 
7.3  Full details of the process to be followed, including the approved risk log, 

matrix, and social value options appraisal, are available in the Advice Centre. 
 
8.  PRE-TENDER MARKET TESTING AND CONSULTATION 
8.1 The Council should seek to consult the potential supplier market, prior to the 

issue of the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation, in general terms 
about the nature, level and standard of the supply, contract packaging and 
other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice any potential 
organisation. 

 
8.2 Sufficient lead-in time must be built into any major procurement project to 

allow for adequate pre-tender market testing. 
 
8.3  When engaging with potential suppliers, the Council must not seek or accept 

technical advice on the preparation of an Invitation to Tender or Quotation 
from anyone who may have a commercial interest in them, and where this 
may prejudice the equal treatment of all potential bidding organisations or 
distort competition.  

 
8.4  In undertaking any market testing activities, the Officer responsible should 

refer to any guidance contained in the Advice Centre. 
 
9.  COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS 
 
9.1  Competition Requirements 
 
9.1.1  The Procurement Officer must establish the total value of the procurement 

including whole life costs and incorporating any potential extension periods 
which may be awarded. 

 
9.1.2  Based on this value, quotations or tenders must then be invited, and 

appropriately advertised, in line with the financial thresholds detailed in the 
Advice Centre. 

 
9.1.3 Where Part 2 of the PCRs applies (i.e. for any contracts likely to exceed the 

relevant PCRs threshold), the Procurement Officer must determine, prior to 

Page 733



advertising, whether the contract is to be divided into lots. If it is decided not to 
subdivide the contract into lots, the reason for this decision must be recorded 
in the Procurement Acceptance Report required by Rule 19. 

 
9.1.4  Where Part 2 of the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) applies (i.e. for any 

contracts likely to exceed the relevant PCRs threshold), the Corporate 
Procurement shall determine the procedure for conducting the procurement 
exercise. 

 
9.1.5  The procurement process and approach set out in 9.1.2 can be varied on an 

exception basis if it is consistent with an approach permitted by a Cabinet 
Office Procurement Policy Note and this is approved by a Procurement Officer 
in advance of any approach to market. 

 
9.2  Negotiation with a Single Supplier (below PCRs) 
 
9.2.1  In exceptional circumstances, a contract which will not exceed the relevant 

PCRs threshold may be awarded without a competitive procurement, via 
direct negotiation with a single supplier, following a similar process to the 
PCRs Regulation 32, Negotiated Procedure without prior publication. 

 
9.2.2  Such an award may only be made directly by, or with written approval from, 

Corporate Procurement, and only in the following circumstances: 
 

(a) for the purchase of goods which are patented or have such special 
technical characteristics that they may be considered unique, and 
where these goods are only available from one supplier; including 
cases where technical compatibility is required with an existing 
requirement that has been previously competitively procured; 

 
(Note that the presence of a patent alone does not permit the use of 
this procedure – many patented products are available from more 
than one supplier); 

 
Or: 
 
(b) for the execution of works or services involving unique, highly 

specialist knowledge or skills and where it can be demonstrated that 
only one organisation possesses the required knowledge or skills: 

 
Or: 
 
(c) for the execution of works or services, where there is considerable 

benefit to the Council in negotiating with a particular proposed 
supplier, and where this does not expose the Council to 
unacceptable risk. 

 
Or: 
 
(d) where an open or restricted Tender, or an openly advertised 

Request For Quotation, has been undertaken, and in which no 
compliant bids were received. 

 

Page 734



 
9.2.3 The use of this process may be invalidated by prior negotiation or discussion 

(of any kind), between a Service Area and a proposed supplier, without the 
involvement of Corporate Procurement, where such negotiation may distort or 
restrict the potential market or otherwise prejudice the Council’s position. 
Corporate Procurement reserves the right to refuse the award of a contract 
via this process where such unauthorised negotiation has taken place. 

 
9.2.4 Contracts awarded under the provisions of this Rule may have a duration of 

no more than three years, unless agreed in writing with the Chief Procurement 
Officer. 

 
NB Note that when using Rule 9.2 above, no contract may be entered into 
until the relevant notification has been issued by Corporate Procurement, as 
set out in Rule 19.3. 

 
 
10.  INVITATION TO TENDER / REQUEST FOR QUOTATION 
 
10.1  Invitations to Tender, Requests for Quotation, Further Competitions and Quick 

Quotes must be issued in accordance with the requirements of these CPRs, 
with particular attention to Rule 7, Rule 9 and Rule 17. The Procurement 
Officer must ensure they are familiar with, and adhere to, the minimum current 
threshold values, as published on the Advice Centre. 

 
10.2  Above the single quotation threshold, all Invitations to Tender, Requests for 

Quotation and Quick Quotes must be issued via the Council’s e-tendering 
system. Procurement documents must be issued via the e-tendering system. 

 
10.3 Where Quick Quotes are used the service area must identify 2 organisations 

to be invited to the Quick Quotes competition issued via the Council’s e-
tendering system. 

 
10.4  In exceptional cases, where specific circumstances mean that a procurement 

process cannot be carried out electronically or, for example, where there is a 
failure of the electronic system, and where the value is below the relevant 
Public Contract Regulations OJEU financial threshold, permission to conduct 
a procurement process by alternative means must be obtained from the Chief 
Procurement Officer using the relevant exemption form. This can be found in 
the Advice Centre. This exemption must be sought before requesting 
quotations or tenders. 

 
10.5 When advertising a contract, the Procurement Officer will also ensure that a 

notice is placed on the Contracts Finder website, as required by Regulations 
106 and 110 of the Public Contracts Regulations (2015). 

 
22.  INTERNAL PROVIDERS  
 
22.1 Where an in-house provider is bidding in competition for the provision of goods, 
works or services, care must be taken to ensure a fair process between the in-house 
provider and external bidding organisations. 
 

Page 735



Where a Service Area intends to procure goods, services or works which could 
potentially be delivered by an in-house provider, the commissioning service shall 
consult with that in-house provider before proceeding to issue any Invitation to 
Tender, Request for Quotation, or Quick Quote. 
 
 
22.2 If the in-house provider has the capability and capacity to meet the 
requirement and can deliver this within the appropriately established budget 
allocated by the commissioning service, then the in-house service shall be used and 
no procurement exercise should take place. A procurement exercise via the e-
tendering system should only be undertaken if it can be established that the in-house 
service cannot meet the requirement (or if it has been previously agreed by the 
appropriate Head of Service that external contractors may be engaged as part of an 
out-sourcing study or project). 
 
22.3 Where an in-house provider is bidding in competition for the provision of 
goods, works or services, care must be taken to ensure a fair process between the 
in-house provider and external bidding organisations. 
 
22.4 The Procurement Officer should follow any additional guidance in the Advice 
Centre. 
 
 
23.  EXTERNAL BODY GRANT FUNDING 
 
23.1  Where a procurement process is funded, in whole or part, by grant funding 

which has been awarded to the Council by an external funding body, the 
Procurement Officer must ensure that any rules or grant conditions imposed 
by the funding body are adhered to, in addition to the requirements of these 
CPRs. 

 
23.2  Where there is any conflict between these CPRs and the rules or conditions 

imposed by the funding body, the stricter requirement should be followed. 
Where there is any doubt over which requirement should be followed, the 
guidance should be sought from Legal & Democratic Services before 
proceeding. 

 
23.3  Where a procurement process is funded, in whole or part, by grant funding, a 

Grant Authorisation Form must be completed as detailed in the Advice 
Centre. 

 
23.4 Where a Service is bidding for external funding, they must seek advice from 

Corporate Procurement before including a third-party supplier in their bid 
application. 

 
  

Page 736



 

Appendix 13: Code of Conduct for Members 

 
 
CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS  
 
The County Council of Durham Code of Conduct for Members  
 
1.   The County Council of Durham (“the Council”) has adopted the following code 

which has effect from XXX and will be reviewed annually. The Code which 
sets out the conduct that is expected of elected and co-opted members of the 
Council when they are acting in that capacity. 

 
2.   This means the code applies whenever you: 
 

(a) conduct the business of the Council (including the business of your  
office as an elected councillor or co-opted member); or  

(b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a  
representative of the Council. 

 
3.  ‘Co-opted member’ means any person who is a member of any committee or 

sub-committee of the Council with a right to vote but is not one of its elected 
members 

 
Part 1 – General Conduct 
 
4.   Members and co-opted Members of Durham County Council (“the Council”) 

are expected to undertake their duties as follows: 
 
4.1  Represent the community and work constructively with employees and   

partner organisations to ensure the area is a safer place to live, work and visit.  
 

4.2 Behave in a manner that is consistent with the following principles to achieve 
best value for residents and maintain public confidence in the Council: 
 
(a)  Selflessness:   act solely in terms of the public interest and not act   
      in such a way as to gain financial or other material  
     benefits for themselves, their family or friends; 

 
(b)  Integrity:    not placing themselves under any financial or other  

obligation to outside individuals or organisations 
that  might seek to influence them in the 
performance of their official duties; 
 

(c)    Objectivity:   make choices on merit, in carrying out public  
     business, including when making public  

appointments, awarding contracts, or  
recommending individuals for rewards and  
benefits; 
 

(d)    Accountability:   be accountable for their decisions and actions to  
the public and must submit themselves to 
whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office; 

Page 737



 
(e)   Openness:    be as open as possible about all the decisions and  

actions they take, and give reasons for decisions 
and restrict information only when the wider public 
interest or the law clearly demands; 

 
(f)  Honesty:     declare any private interests relating to their public   
        duties and take steps to resolve any conflicts  
     arising in a way that protects the public interest. 
 
(g)   Leadership:   promote and support these principles by  
     leadership and example. 
 

4.3  Act in accordance with the principles in paragraph 4.2 and, in particular: 
 
(a)   Champion the needs of residents - the whole community and all  

constituents, including those who did not vote for them - and put the 
public interest first; 

 
(b)   Deal with representations or enquiries from residents, members of our 
  communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially; 
 
(c)   Not allow other pressures, including the financial interests of 

themselves or others connected to them, to deter them from pursuing 
the interests of the Council or the good governance of the Council in a 
proper manner; 

 
(d)   Exercise independent judgement and not compromise their position by 

placing themselves under obligations to outside individuals or 
organisations who might seek to influence the way they perform their 
duties as a Member / Co-opted Member of the Council; 

 
(e)   Listen to the interests of all parties, including relevant advice from  
  statutory and other professional officers, take all relevant information  

into consideration, remain objective and make decisions on merit; 
 
(f)   Be accountable for decisions and cooperate when scrutinised internally 
   and externally, including by local residents; 
 
 
(g)    Contribute to making the Authority's decision-making processes as 

open and transparent as possible to ensure residents understand the 
reasoning behind those decisions and are informed when holding the 
Authority to account but restricting access to information when the 
wider public interest or the law requires it; 

 
(h)   Behave in accordance with all legal obligations, alongside any 

requirements contained within the Council’s policies, protocols and 
procedures, including on the use of the Council’s resources; 

 
(i)   Value colleagues and staff and engage with them in an appropriate 

manner and one that underpins the mutual respect that is essential to 

Page 738



good local government; 
 

(j)   Always treat people with respect, including the organisations and public 
they engage with and work alongside. 
 
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in 
the written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a 
healthy democracy. Members should express, challenge, criticise and 
disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil 
manner. Members must not, however, subject individuals, groups of 
people or organisations to personal attack. 
 
Members should treat members of the public politely and courteously. 
Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and 
confidence in Members. Members equally have a right to expect 
respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the public are being 
abusive, intimidatory or threatening, Members may stop any 
conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the 
local authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This 
also applies to fellow Members, where appropriate action could then be 
taken under the Code of Conduct, and local authority employees, 
where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s 
relevant protocols; 
 

(k)   Provide leadership through behaving in accordance with these  
principles when championing the interests of the community with other 
organisations as well as within this Authority; 

 
(m)Not disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone or  

information acquired, which they believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, 
is of a confidential nature, without express authority and/or unless the law 
requires it. 
 

(n) Not to bully or harass any person (including specifically any council 
employee) and you must not intimidate or improperly influence, or attempt 
to intimidate or improperly influence, any person who is involved in any 
complaint about any alleged breach of the code of conduct. 
 
Bullying may be characterised as: offensive, intimidating, malicious or 
insulting behaviour; or an abuse or misuse of power in a way that intends 
to undermine, humiliate, criticise unfairly or injure someone.  
 
Harassment may be characterised as unwanted conduct which has the 
purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an 
intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for an 
individual. 
 
Bullying and/or harassment may take many forms, it could include but is 
not limited to age, disability, gender reassignment, race, religion, belief, 
sex and/or sexual orientation; 
 
 

Page 739



(o) Not to bring the role of Member or the local authority into disrepute and be 
aware that the actions and behaviour of a Member are subject to greater 
scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public; 
 

(p) To hold the local authority and fellow Members to account and 
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and 
processes undertaken by the Council whilst continuing to adhere to other 
aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

 
 

4.4 It is expected that Members will at all times comply requests as part of Code of 
Conduct investigations and any arising outcomes. Members will not submit 
malicious or trivial complaints.  

 
4.5 Where it is alleged that a Member has failed to act in accordance with the 

Code, a complaint will be presented to the Monitoring Officer for consideration 
in accordance with the Local Assessment Procedure and where necessary the 
Local Determination Procedure. 

 
 

Part 2 - Registration of interests 
 
Register of Interests 

 
5.1 Members must: 

 
(a)   register and, where appropriate, disclose those disclosable pecuniary  

interests that they are obliged to declare under the Localism Act and 
  associated regulations; and 
 
(b)   register any body of which they are a member (or in a position of  

general control or management) to which you were appointed  or 
nominated by the Council; and 
 

(c)   register details of their membership of any organisation or body whose  
rules or requirements of membership could be regarded as suggesting 
a degree of loyalty to that organisation or body. This could arise by 
reason of an organisation having an obligation of secrecy about its 
rules, its membership or conduct and/or a commitment of allegiance or 
support to that organisation or body. Such organisations or bodies may 
or may not be charitable concerns and they may also have a local, 
regional, national or international aspect; and 

 
(d)    register details of my membership of any trade union within the 

meaning  of Section 1 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

5.2 Registration of interests shall be completed by provision of details upon a 
signed prescribed form which is submitted to the Monitoring Officer at Durham 
County Council. Members must ensure they keep the register updated and 
acknowledge that its contents will be published on the Authority's website and 
will be open to the public to inspect. 

 

Page 740



6.  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests Entered on the Register 
 
  If Members are present at a meeting of the Authority and: 

 
(a)   they are aware that they have a disclosable pecuniary interest under  

paragraph 5.1(a) above in any matter to be considered or being 
considered at the meeting; and 
 

(b)   the interest is entered in the Authority's register 
 
they may not participate in any discussion or further discussion of an item of 
business or in any vote or further vote taken on that item which affects or 
relates to the subject matter in which they have such an interest; and they 
must leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion and or 
voting takes place. 

 
7.  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests NOT Entered on the Register 
 
7.1 If Members are present at a meeting of the Authority and: 
 

(a)    aware that they have a disclosable pecuniary interest under paragraph 
   5.1(a) above in any matter to be considered or being considered at the 

meeting; and 
 
(b)    the interest is not entered in the Authority's register, 
 
they must disclose the interest to the meeting. Furthermore, they may not 
participate or further participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 
or participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting 
and must leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion and 
or voting takes place. 

 
7.2  If an interest referred to in 5.1(a) above is not entered on the Authority's 

register and is not the subject of a pending registration, Members must notify 
the Authority's Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the date of 
the disclosure. 

 
7.3  Members with the power to discharge an Authority function acting alone will 

have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be dealt with or being 
dealt with by them in the course of discharging that function: 
 
(a)   they may not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the  

matter (except for the purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with 
otherwise than by them); and 

 
(b)   if the interest is not entered on the Council's register and is not the 

subject of a pending registration, they must notify the Council's 
Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of becoming aware of 
the interest. 

 
8.  Sensitive Interests 
 

Page 741



8.1  This applies to a situation where a Member considers that the disclosure of 
the details of your interest – including that of your spouse or partner – could 
lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or 
intimidation. 

 
8.2  In such circumstances you should share your concerns with the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. If the Monitoring Officer agrees with you, then the details of 
the interest will not be included in the Council’s published Register of 
Interests, but the Register may state that you had registered an interest the 
details of which had been withheld under Section 32 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
8.3  If the Monitoring Officer has accepted that you have a sensitive interest under 

Section 32 of the Localism Act 2011, you should declare the existence of the 
interest at any meeting at which you are present but you need not declare the 
details of the interest. 

 
8.4 If circumstances change and the information excluded from the Register on 

the grounds of sensitivity is no longer sensitive information, the Member must 
notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days. 

  

Page 742



9.  Other Relevant Interests 
 
9.1  Members may have an Other Relevant Interest (which is not a disclosable 

pecuniary interest) in any matter to be considered or being considered at the 
meeting) where: 
 
(a)   a decision in relation to that matter might reasonably be regarded as 

affecting the well-being or financial standing of them or a member of 
their family or a person with whom they have a close association, or an 
organisation or body under paragraph 5.1(b), 5.1(c) or 5.1(d) above, to 
a greater extent than it would affect the majority of the Council Tax 
payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral area for which 
they have been elected or otherwise of the authority's administrative 
area; and 
 

(b)   the interest is one that a member of the public with knowledge of the   
relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely 
to prejudice their judgement of the public interest. 

 
9.2  Members with an Other Relevant Interest as described in 9.1. above: 
 

(a)   must make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that  
interest at or before the consideration of the item of business or as  
soon as the interest becomes apparent; and  

 
(b)   must not participate in any discussion or further discussion of an item 

of business or in any vote or further vote taken on that item which 
affects or relates to the subject matter in which they have an Other 
Relevant Interest  at any meeting at which they are present and will 
leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or 
voting takes place. 

 
10.  Gifts and Hospitality 
 
10.1  Members must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in 

writing of any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 which 
they have been offered as a member from any person or body other than the 
Authority, whether the offer is accepted or declined. 

 
10.2 The Monitoring Officer will place any notification received under paragraph 

10.1 on a public register of gifts and hospitality. 
 
10.3  The duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit 

or hospitality has been approved by the Authority for this purpose.  
  

Page 743



 

Appendix 14: Extract of Code of Practice for Members and Officers 
Dealing with Planning Matters 

 
Code of Practice for Members and Officers Dealing with Planning Matters 
 
This Code of Practice supplements the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and 
where appropriate members should refer to the Code of Conduct which is set out in 
the Council’s Constitution. The Council’s Monitoring Officer’s advice should be 
sought on the interpretation of the Code of Conduct or this Code, where required. 
 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  Planning affects land and property interests, including the financial value of 

land and the quality of their settings. It is not an exact science. It is often 
highly contentious because decisions affect the daily lives of everyone and the 
private interests of members of the public, landowners and developers. 
Opposing views are often strongly held by those involved. A key role of the 
planning process is balancing the needs and interests of individuals and the 
community. 

 
1.2  The planning system can only function effectively if there is trust among those 

involved. There must be trust between members and officers and between the 
public and the council The Third report of the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life (the Nolan Committee) (1997) recommended that  each local 
authority’s practices and procedures were set out in a local code of planning 
conduct to avoid allegations of malpractice in the operation of the planning 
system. 

 
1.3  The general principles that underlie the Council’s Code of Conduct for 

Members and apply to this Code of Practice are: 
 

(a)   Members should serve only the public interest and should never  
  improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person. 
 

(b)   Members should not place themselves in situations where their  
  honesty or integrity may be questioned. 
 

(c)   Members should make decisions on merit. 
 

(d)    Members should be as open as possible about their actions and those  
      of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those  
     actions. 
 

(e)    Members may take account of the views of others but should reach  
  their own conclusions on the issues before them and act in accordance  

with those conclusions. 
 

(f)   Members should respect the impartiality and integrity of officers. 
 

Page 744



1.4  The Council is committed to open, fair and transparent decision-making. 
Planning decisions should be made impartially, with sound judgment and for 
justifiable reasons. 

 
1.5  This Code of Practice sets out practices and procedures that members and 

officers of the County Council shall follow when involved in planning matters. 
Planning matters include the consideration of planning and associated 
applications, the preparation of development plans and other planning policy 
and the enforcement of planning control. 

 
1.6  This code is largely based upon the Local Government Association’s 

Guidance entitled Probity in Planning for councillors and officers published in 
April 2013, which takes account of the ethical framework for local government.  
It takes account of the Royal Town Planning Institute’s Code  of Professional 
Conduct and advice issued by the Audit Commission, the Commissioners for 
Local Administration in England and the National Planning Forum. It 
complements the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. This code is 
consistent with meeting the requirements of Article 6 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights which confers a right to  procedural fairness, 
transparency and accountability in the determination of civil rights and 
obligations. In respect to the advice contained at paragraph 7 regarding 
Member engagement in pre-application advice, account has been taken of 
advice issued by the Planning Advisory Service, the Standards Board for 
England and the LGA advice leaflet ‘Positive Engagement’ issued in 2009. 

 
1.7  Failure to follow this code without good reason, could be taken into account in 

investigations into possible maladministration against the Council, or have 
implications for the position of individual elected members and officers.  
Breaches of this Code may also amount to breaches of the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members. If in doubt about what course of action to take, a 
member or officer should seek the advice of the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
2. THE ROLE AND CONDUCT OF MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 
 
2.1  Members and officers have different, but complementary roles. Both serve the 

public but members are responsible to the electorate, while officers  are 
responsible to the Council as a whole. 

 
2.2  Whilst members have a special duty to their ward constituents, including 

those who did not vote for them, their overriding duty is to the whole 
community. This is particularly pertinent to members involved in making a 
planning decision. A key role of the planning system is the consideration of 
development proposals against the wider public interest. 

 
2.3  Members’ decisions shall not discriminate in favour of any individuals or 

groups and, although they may be influenced by the opinions of others, they 
alone have the responsibility to decide what view to take. Members must, 
therefore, consider all of the material issues in the light of Development Plan 
policies, Government advice and their own individual judgment and make a 
decision in the interests of the County as a whole. 

 

Page 745



2.4  Whilst members should take account of all views expressed, they shall not 
favour any person, company, group or locality, nor put themselves in a 
position where they appear to do so. 

 
2.5  Members should treat with extreme caution any offer of a gift or hospitality 

which is made to them personally; the normal presumption should be that 
such offers must be courteously declined. Similarly, officers shall politely 
decline offers of hospitality from people with an interest in a planning 
proposal. If receipt of hospitality is unavoidable, officers shall ensure it is of a 
minimal level and declare it in the hospitality book as soon as possible. 

 
2.6  Officers who are Chartered Town Planners are guided by the Royal Town 

Planning Institute’s (RTPI) Code of Professional Conduct. Breaches of that 
code may be subject to disciplinary action by the Institute. 

 
2.7  That the Council may not always follow the advice of their professional 

planning officers is perfectly proper. The professional officer too, may have a 
change of opinion, but this must be on the basis of professional judgement, 
and not because an authority, its members or other officers, have prevailed 
upon the officer to put forward their professional view as something other than 
it really is. 

 
2.8  The County Council endorses the statement in the RTPI code that, ‘RTPI 

members shall not make or subscribe to any statements or reports which are 
contrary to their own professional opinions’, and extends it to apply to all 
officers in the authority advising on planning matters. 

 
2.9  The County Council shall have a designated head of the planning service, 

who is qualified for election to membership of the RTPI and who has direct 
access to elected members as their professional adviser on planning matters.  
A superior officer shall not have the power to overrule  the professional advice 
of the head of the planning service. 

 
2.10  Officers shall follow the guidance on their standards of conduct as set out in 

the County Council’s Staff Guidance, the Code of Conduct for Employees in 
the Council’s Constitution and any National Code of Conduct for Local 
Government Officers issued by the Secretary of State  under Section 82 Local 
Government Act 2000 (as amended). 

 
 
3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
3.1  The Council’s Code of Conduct advises members on the disclosure of 

interests and must be followed by Members at all times.  
 
3.2  Where a member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item of business, 

the member shall declare it at the earliest opportunity, must not participate in 
any discussion or vote taken on the matter at the meeting, must leave the 
room where the matter is being considered and must not try to influence those 
making the decision or take any part in the consideration or determination of 
the matter. 

 

Page 746



3.3  Where a member has an Other Relevant Interest in an item of business, the 
member shall declare it at the earliest opportunity. The member may make a 
representation on the item but will not be permitted to participate in any 
discussion or vote taken on the matter at the meeting. The member must 
leave the once the representation has been made to avoid influence on those 
making the decision.  

 
3.4  Rules in relation to bias and predetermination were introduced by section 25 

of the Localism Act 2011. The rules apply if there is an issue about the validity 
of a decision and it is relevant to that issue whether a member had or 
appeared to have a closed mind when making the decision. Under the rules a 
member is not to be taken to have had, or appeared to have had, a closed 
mind when making the decision just because they had previously done 
anything that directly or indirectly indicated the view the member took, or 
would or might take, in relation to a matter relevant to the decision. 

 
3.5  The principle that members must not participate in decisions where they are 

perceived to be biased remains. An example would be a member who was a 
governor of a school which was putting forward a planning application.  

 
3.6  Members should not act as agents for persons pursuing planning matters 

within their authority.  If they submit their own proposal to the authority on 
which they serve, they should play no part in its consideration. When 
submitting proposals on behalf of themselves, the Member shall inform the 
Monitoring Officer of the submission. 

 
3.7  Officers must always act impartially. An officer, who believes they  may be 

seen to have an interest in a planning matter shall declare it at the earliest 
opportunity to the Head of Planning and the Monitoring Officer and have no 
further involvement in the processing or consideration of that matter save for 
those instances set out at paragraph 3.3 above. 

 
3.8  Planning officers shall never act as agents for persons pursuing a planning 

matter within the county or one outside significantly affecting the county. 
 
 
4. ‘DUAL-HATTED MEMBERS’ 
 
4.1  The Council’s Code of Conduct does not automatically prevent members from 

considering the same issue at more than one tier of local government, 
including speaking and voting at both tiers. 

 
4.2  For example, if a member is also a member of a parish council, and the parish 

council is consulted on a planning application to be determined by the 
Planning Committee, the member may participate in the discussion and vote 
at the parish council meeting; but it would be prudent to inform the parish 
council that the member will reconsider the matter taking into account all the 
information that is put before the Planning Committee. At the subsequent 
meeting of the Planning Committee the member should declare that as a 
member of the parish council, they have already expressed a view on the 
matter, but make it clear that this view does not bind the member who will 
consider the matter afresh. The member will be free to participate in the 
debate and vote on the matter.  

Page 747



 
4.3   However, if the Planning Committee considers a planning application by an 

authority or body on which a member serves, then the member should declare 
an other relevant interest, take no part in the discussion and determination of 
the proposal and leave the meeting room while the discussion and voting 
takes place. 

  

Page 748



 

Appendix 15 - Extract of Section 7 of Code of Our Values, 
Behaviours and Conduct 

 
Declaration forms 
The following Dddeclaration forms (CCE1 – CCE4) are to be completed as detailed 
in this Code. All declaration forms will be held by the Corporate Director of each 
service grouping and a copy must be forwarded to the HR Payroll and Employee 
Services (PES) Team for the purpose of logging onto a central register.  
A copy of the completed declaration form will also be placed on an employee’s 
personal file. All forms will be acknowledged and recorded whether approved or 
declined.  
The following declaration forms can be downloaded from the intranet. These forms 
must be completed in full. 
 

Form CCE1  Declaration of Relationships with External Contractor or Supplier 

Form CCE2  Declaration of Personal Interests 

Form CCE3  Request for Approval to Undertake Outside Work 

Form CCE4  Declaration of Offers of Hospitality/Gifts  

 
Declarations are to be made online via MyView and will be authorised by your Head 
of Service. All forms will be recorded on your personal file.  Where a Head of Service 
is required to submit a form, this will go to their line manager for approval. 
 
If you do not have access to MyView, your Manager can complete the required 
form(s) on MyView on behalf of an employee. 
 
All council HR policies and guidance can be found on the HR Policies page on the 
intranet. If you are unable to access the intranet, please speak to your manager. 

Page 749

https://hrselfservice.durham.gov.uk/dcc/dashboard-ui/index.html#/index/main
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/Pages/HRpolicies.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

        

 Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

 County Durham Health and Social Care 

Integration update 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services  

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an update on the integration of health and social care in County 
Durham, and to seek support for the proposed next steps to further embed 
integrated arrangements within the County. 

Executive summary 

2 Cabinet and North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) Governing Bodies received and agreed 
reports in April 2018; March 2019 and October 2019 which set out a pathway for 
further and closer integration of health and social care in County Durham 
including: 

(a) an Integrated Governance Framework which was implemented in 2018; 

(b) an Integrated delivery model for community services which went live on 
1 October 2018 and; 

(c) an Integrated Strategic Commissioning Function which went live on the 
1 April 2020. 

Page 751

Agenda Item 8



 
3 The integrated governance arrangements agreed in 2018, embodied by the 

Integrated Care Board, have served the purpose of implementing the integrated 
community and commissioning arrangements. These arrangements will continue 
to evolve to reflect the integration that takes place within the County and need to 
be able to support ongoing changes to the provision of integrated services in the 
future.  The current structures are set out at Appendix 2. 

4 Whilst significant progress has been made with integrating health and social care 
services across the County, the Chief Officers representing the membership of 
County Durham Care Partnership recognise that further integration, with a 
continued focus on improving services for residents across the County, including 
those for children and young people, will provide more opportunities to improve 
outcomes at a local level – and will place the County in a strong position to be 
able to support wider changes across the health and social care system in future.  

5 The response to COViD-19 has emphasised the importance of services being 
joined up across the County. Throughout the pandemic there has been a shared 
response across partners, working collectively on population health management 
and reducing health inequalities in our local communities. It is essential that the 
learning and joint working from the response to COViD-19 is taken forward as 
part of the next steps of integrating services more closely over the coming 
months and years.   

6 To ensure County Durham is in as strong a position as possible to maximise the 
opportunities that will arise from the proposed NHS Bill and major changes to the 
CCG from April 2022, and as we recover from COViD-19, the next phase of 
integration needs to focus on further embedding the arrangements that have 
been established, strengthening decision making and accountability and 
enabling further opportunities to integrate services to be identified and 
developed.  

7 To facilitate the next steps of our integration, it is proposed to focus on the 
following key areas:  

(a) enhance the governance arrangements that are in place and establish 
the ‘County Durham Care Partnership Executive’ to support the delivery 
of shared aspects of the statutory functions of the Council and CCG; 

(b) create opportunities within the refreshed governance arrangements to 
bring together Elected Members; CCG Governing Body Members and 
Trust Non-Executive Directors with a focus on population health and 
inequalities, linking closely to and strengthening the Health and Well-
Being Board. 

Recommendation(s) 

8 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the progress made in integrating Health and Social Care; 

(b) note that this report is also being presented to the NHS County Durham 
CCG Governing Body;  

(c) support the implementation of the governance arrangements outlined at 
Appendix 3 including the creation of both the Forum and the County 

Page 752



 
Durham Care Partnership Executive for health and social care 
organisations in County Durham;  

(d) approve the Memorandum of Understanding at Appendix 4; 

(e) receive further reports if there are any proposals to change the current   
formal decision-making structures, delegations, and protocols. 

 

Background 

9 In County Durham, there has been a strong and long-standing track record of 
effective partnerships and integrated working which has underpinned our 
approach to integrating community services and strategic commissioning, as 
outlined in reports to both the CCG and Cabinet in April 2018; March 2019 and 
October 2019. 

10 The approach to health and social care integration in County Durham has 
realised a number of benefits including: 

(a) A reduction in admissions to hospital and delayed transfer of care, with 
performance consistently being amongst the best in the country. 

(b) An increase in the number of people with a combined personal health 
budget and direct payment to meet their complex health and social care 
needs giving them greater choice and control over their care and 
support. This integrated approach has had a positive impact on how 
people are supported, two short examples are set out below. 

• The Council and CCG have worked together to support a family 
with a young child with complex disabilities, to develop a unique 
living and bathing solution for the family which has transformed 
family life. As part of this an innovative solution was developed 
jointly to enable the family to stay together when they had to 
move out of the house, whilst renovations took place, ordinarily 
the option would be for the young child to be placed in a hospice 
rather than stay with their family.  The family already have a 
significant Personal Health Budget which has greatly improved 
their quality of life.  The Council and CCG staff are now working 
together to put in place a personal education budget for the child. 

• The Council and CCG are developing a system to enable 
children and young people with an Education, Health and Care 
Plan to have a Personal Health Budget, Personal Education 
Budget and Social Care direct payment (or any mix thereof) as 
one payment, which is then monitored once rather than multiple 
times.   

(c) Continuing Health Care has seen significant changes in its processes 
since March 2020 and the introduction of different hospital discharge 
practices using an integrated approach. To assist patient flow and get 
patients to the next place of care safely and efficiently the Discharge 
Management Team and Social Care Staff have jointly moved all but the 
most complex clients to the next place of care using a trusted assessor 

Page 753



 
model. This is better for the patient who is not delayed in a hospital 
setting and susceptible to any acquired infections. 

(d) Feedback from a range of stakeholder and patient reference groups 
which have been held over the last two years where people report that 
their care and support feels more joined up. This has been achieved 
through the integrated delivery of services across County Durham 
involving the Council, County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust 
and the CCG. This was also evidenced through comments made as 
part of the recent SEND inspection and the Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Partnership case management reviews.  

(e) Clear improvements in outcomes for people with Learning Disabilities 
and autism including a significant reduction in the waiting times for an 
autism diagnosis Pre-COViD-19 the reduction in waiting time for 
assessment went from an average wait of 24 months to an average 
wait of 2 months (through the first wave of COVID the service was 
stood down due the nature of the face-to-face diagnostic assessment 
process). 

(f) Officers have worked together with people who use services to engage 
them in the review of services, to act as a critical friend. Working with 
Investing in Children and Rollercoaster a Children’s Advisory Board has 
been formed. The members of the Advisory Board hold formal paid 
roles to work with us in planning and reviewing services.  People with 
learning disabilities and autism are employed to offer expert by 
experience support into Care, Education and Treatment Reviews.   

(g) A shared approach has been taken to the delivery of flexible local 
services e.g., transport and housing with support. Through integrated 
arrangements health and social care needs are being considered 
holistically in the current review of accommodation services. This is not 
historically something in which the NHS would have been involved.   
Detailed data is being shared across health and social care to 
understand the holistic needs of individuals and to inform the future 
delivery of more joined up care i.e., alternatives to permanent 
residential/nursing care which will improve independence. 

(h) A shared approach to commissioning decisions, with financial savings 
delivered across both health and social care. As a system investment 
has been made in the implementation of Healthcall which has improved 
the quality of care and the skills of those working in care homes and 
reduced admissions to hospital from care homes by 10%.  This has 
also improved relationships with care homes providers who have 
valued the investment in technologies which support their businesses to 
deliver effective care.    

(i) Through the integration of commissioning a joint approach to the 
procurement of domiciliary care services removing perverse incentives 
for providers to give priority to either health or social care clients, 
reducing transactional costs and duplication. 

(j) A shared approach to commissioning care homes, has included the 
development of multi-agency mutual aid arrangements to support care 

Page 754



 
homes during the pandemic.  This has enabled continuity of service for 
a number of services users with complex learning disabilities and 
challenging behaviours without having to move residents and continued 
care for older people with complex health needs. 

(k) An integrated community hub which was established through the 
pandemic to support frail and vulnerable residents. This approach will 
reduce duplication and minimise the numbers of people involved in 
families lives offering a more efficient and effective delivery for 
people.  The longer-term proposals for a more integrated system will 
support system wide buy in to change transform the early help 
workforce and will reduce parallel conversations about health and social 
/ welfare. The proposals within this report will enhance and strengthen 
the work to date by enabling a system wide integrated approach to: 

• Using population health management to effectively understand 
the multi-faceted needs of our communities and targeting our 
interventions together through the County Durham community 
wellbeing hubs 

• Continuing to embed a mental health pathway into the 
community hub to ensure that people can gain access to 
appropriate services in a timely and non-stigmatising way.  Tees, 
Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust have also provided a level of 
supervision and support into the hub to help the staff working 
there. 

• Taking a more holistic approach (mental, physical, social & 
welfare assessment/dialogue) by working with people so they 
can help themselves as much as possible within the context of 
their lives.  

• Shifting our collective approach to working with people and 
families within their communities. By developing local community 
connector roles and teams who can deliver earlier help, with the 
voluntary and community sector at the heart and digital options 
based on learning from the pandemic. 

• Developing multi-disciplinary one stop shops operating at a 
community level.  

(l) As a result of the clear shift of resources from acute services to 
community-based care, an out of hospital diabetes model with most 
people’s care now managed outside of hospital, has been developed.  
As a result of how effective the model has been admissions in Durham 
are much lower than the rate for England, despite having higher rates of 
people with diabetes in County Durham.  The model has a focus on 
diabetes prevention with County Durham colleagues across Health and 
Social Care developed a local programme focussed on diabetes 
prevention. 

(m) Improved health outcomes across whole populations e.g., there is now 
evidence of a reduction in smoking in pregnancy and smoking at time of 
delivery which has reduced from 19.1% to the current (provisional) 
figure for Q2 2020/21 of 15.7%. 

Page 755



 
(n) An improved approach to prevention with a focus on joined up and very 

local community based and owned solutions. Examples include: 

• Shared IT access with GPs using System One to enable an 
exchange of information and reduced duplication of records with 
Community Services. 

• Using the Healthcall System to target resources and reduce un-
necessary visits, avoiding duplication between GPs, care home 
staff and Community Services (HSJ Awards Winner 2021). 

• Implementation of Social Prescribing Link Workers across the 
County and an agreed single voluntary sector support 
organisation to provide governance and oversight.   

• Increased funding for our voluntary and community sector (VCS) 
across Health and Social Care with a single contract for delivery 
through a lead voluntary sector organisation. 

(o) There are a range of examples of how we have been able to maximise 
the impact of the "County Durham pound" by using collective resources 
more efficiently. An integrated approach has enabled a range of new 
investments or developments examples of which are set out below. 

• Absorbed a 4% increase in demand in Community Services 
equivalent to approximately £2million cost. 

• Invested an additional £2.9million in therapy services based on 
invest to save and evidence of strong partnership working linked 
to integrated health and care delivery via the Teams Around the 
Patients. 

• Created Community Specialist Practitioners to work in care 
homes drawn from existing resources. 

• Invested in a range of VCS services as a result of integrated 
commissioning in Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Services. 

• Invested in the full roll out of Kooth, an on-line counselling and 
support service for young people.  

• Developed an intensive support team that has supported care 
homes that are struggling from either a quality or staffing 
perspective. 

• Invested in two autism diagnostic centres across the county, in 
Sedgefield and Stanley.  

• Joint increased investment in Durham Deafened Support to 
provide help to people living with hearing loss. 

• Increased investment in our VCS Local Infrastructure 
Organisation to ensure sustainability and growth in this sector 
supporting the development if a VCS connector model. 

 
(p) A reference group for Shotley Bridge has been established jointly, 

which is helping to support the progress towards redevelopment.  

(q) Many of the examples above have reduced duplication across the 
system, making it easier to navigate for both the public and staff. 

Page 756



 
11 As a local system there is a significant opportunity to continue to improve the 

health and well-being of the local County Durham population by working in an 
increasingly integrated way to maximise our collective impact. 

Current position 

12 In County Durham our integrated approach has been beneficial in responding to 
the COViD-19 pandemic. This has been evident in the way we have respond to 
and supported our most vulnerable residents. There are still clear inequalities 
across our population and improving the health and well-being of our 
communities needs a renewed and shared focus.  

13 So that the integration of our health and social care services continues to 
develop, it is important that the leadership and management of the statutory 
functions and those services that support our statutory functions of the Council 
and CCGs are as streamlined as possible. It is also important that strategic 
decision making is in place that can provide a focus on outcomes for residents 
across the County, considering the resources that are available within both 
organisations.  

14 Cabinet will also be aware of the proposed changes to CCGs.  NHS England 
published proposals in late 2021 which would abolish CCGs in their current form 
from April 2022.  Commissioning responsibilities would be held by an Integrated 
Care System (ICS) working across the North East and North Cumbria.  The ICS 
would then delegate responsibilities to "place" level.  Place will usually be 
defined by local authority boundaries.  Consequently, integrated health and care 
structures need to be well enough established to inspire the confidence of 
partners and the ICS.  This would enable decisions about priorities, outcomes, 
and funding to be delegated to place level partnerships. 

15 The proposed changes to CCGs are still under discussion.  Legislation is likely to 
be introduced into Parliament in Spring 2021 with shadow arrangements in 
Autumn 2021. 

16 It is therefore timely to review and further strengthen governance and 
accountability to ensure further integration maximises the opportunities that exist 
to improve the services and outcomes for residents across County Durham, and 
to focus on embedding work on population health management, further including 
work on integrating children’s services and developing long term plans to 
address health inequalities.  

17 The current governance arrangements agreed by the CCG and Cabinet in April 
2018 have been a key driver for system change through the Integrated Care 
Board. The success of the County Durham Care Partnership and the 
commitment of partners puts us in a strong position for the next phase of 
integration. 

18 It is not proposed to change the statutory decision-making functions or roles of 
the Council or CCG.  However, through delegation arrangements the County 
Durham Care Partnership may be allowed to make decisions on behalf of 
partners and the ICS.  When possible, posts will be aligned to the County 
Durham Care Partnership work programme.   

19 It is important that any revised arrangements enable the council to deliver its 
statutory adult social care responsibilities. For the CCG, as a clinically led 

Page 757



 
organisation, it is also essential that the voice of clinical leaders remains strong 
and central to decision-making and the development of integrated working.  

20 It is likely that local government and the NHS will face significant challenges over 
the coming years and it is important that our system is as well placed as it can be 
to provide improved outcomes for local residents whilst ensuring our approach 
across County Durham reflects the principles of integration – which have and are 
likely to continue to be a focus of how we respond to COViD-19  and financial 
challenges and the Chief Officers of both organisations are confident that by 
working in a collaborative, strong and integrated way this will offer the best 
opportunity to ensure the current and future needs of the County Durham 
population are met effectively. 

Proposals 

21 The proposed County Durham Care Partnership is attached at Appendix 3.  A 
proposed Memorandum of Understanding is attached at Appendix 4. 

22 The key features of the proposals are: 

(a) A strong link with the Health and Wellbeing Board and Cabinet and a 
recognition of the role of Scrutiny Committee. 

(b) Links between the Partnership to the partners governance structures. 

(c) Creation of a forum to bring together councillors, Trust Non-Executive 
Board members and CCG Governing Body members. 

(d) Introduction of a Partnership Executive of senior staff and partners to 
reach shared commissioning decisions and promote provider 
collaboration. 

(e) Bringing people together in thematic partnerships to concentrate on 
delivering better outcomes for residents and patients. 

(f) Focusing the partners on collaboration to improve pathways, reduce 
duplication and share resources. 

(g) Streamlining and strengthening structures in advance of expected 
changes in the NHS. 

23 Subject to Cabinet and CCG Governing Body approval the new structures would 
be implemented from 1 April 2021.  Work will continue after that date to refine 
the arrangements.  This will include the support available to the Partnership 
Executive and the alignment of staff and resources. 

24 Any changes to delegation levels would come back to Cabinet and CCG 
Governing Body for agreement prior to implementation. 

25 As part of the transition to the new arrangements, the supporting management 
arrangements beneath the Partnership Executive will be reviewed to ensure the 
appropriate level of support is in place. 

26 This will include a review of the role, remit, and terms of reference of the current 
Integrated Care Board. Any proposals for governance changes that alter the 

Page 758



 
current decision making or delegation levels would come back to the CCGs 
Governing Body and Cabinet for agreement prior to implementation.  

27 The proposals are made in the context of the principle agreed within the report to 
the CCG and Cabinet in March 2019, that both the CCG and Council would 
retain their statutory responsibilities and decision-making processes.  However, 
Cabinet will note that CCGs are likely to change if the NHS England proposals 
are enacted. 

Conclusion 

28 Since April 2018, considerable progress has been made in moving forward with 
the integration of health and social care in County Durham.  

29 Benefits of this integrated approach that we have seen to date are set out in 
detail earlier in this report. However, through the strengthening of our local 
integration arrangements, we can maximise the collective ability of both the CCG 
and Council to improve the health inequalities faced by our population and to 
improve the health and well-being of all County Durham residents. 

30 It is essential that we recognise, support, and formalise through the governance 
arrangements the role of Governing Body members, elected members and 
clinicians in shaping the direction of travel particularly in terms of tackling the 
challenge of health inequalities which will be an important element going forward. 

31 There are likely to be major changes to CCGs starting in Autumn 2021 and 
leading to the abolition of CCGs in April 2022.  To continue to benefit from 
integration and retain decision making at a place level it is timely to strengthen 
our partnership structures. 

Background papers 

• Cabinet report October 2019. County Durham Health and Social Care 
Plan – Integrated Strategic Commissioning Function. 

• Cabinet report March 2019. County Durham Health and Social Care Plan 
Update. 

• Cabinet report April 2018. Developing a Health and Social Care Plan for 
County Durham. 

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

 

 

Contact: Michael Laing Tel:  07917513348 

 

Page 759



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

In recent years, there have been a number of legislative and policy developments to 
assist the development of integrated health and social care. This report sets out how 
the local authority and CCGs are discharging their respective statutory duties to 
promote the integration of care under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the 
Care Act 2014.  

Finance 

The proposals support the commitment of the council and partners to make best use of 

resources through integration. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality and diversity have been considered in the development of the proposals.  Any 

changes to services will be subject to impact assessments. 

Climate Change 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Human rights are not affected by the recommendations in this report. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Staffing implications will be considered carefully with advice from HR in both the 

Council and CCG and appropriate processes will be followed when staff are aligned to 

work programmes. 

Accommodation 

No Issues at this stage. 

Risk 

A risk share agreement is in place which will be refreshed as part of the governance 

review. 

Procurement 

No issues at this stage. 

Page 760



 

Appendix 2: Current governance structure 

P
age 761



 

 

Appendix 3: Proposed governance structure 

P
age 762



 

 

Appendix 4: Memorandum of Understanding 

 

 
 
 

  

Memorandum of 

Understanding 

Page 763



 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
 
 
Date:  December 2020  
 
Introduction  
 
The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) is to establish a framework 
for the discharge of delegated statutory duties, budgets, and outcomes between the 
following organisations with regard to integrated care in County Durham: 
 

• Durham County Council (DCC) 

• County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CDCCG) 

• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 

• Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) 

• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT) 

• Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 

 

Context  
 
1. With the implementation of the Care Act 2014 and various government initiatives 

across the health and care system since 2013, there has been a commitment from 
statutory organisations in County Durham to progress the integrated care agenda. 
The need to formalise these has been highlighted by the NHS England report 
“Next Steps in Integrated Care” 2020    

 
2. It is now widely acknowledged that a new approach is needed to work towards 

greater levels of integration to bring positive benefits in terms of improving 
people’s health, wellbeing and experience of care, particularly in wrapping 
services around people’s needs and shifting the focus to keeping people well and 
happy at home, with reduced demand for hospital and other health and care 
services.   

 
3. The aim of this MoU is to guide our work at “place” and strengthen our 

arrangements so that the County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP) will be able 
to: 

 

• Discharge statutory functions delegated by the Integrated Care System and 
partners. 

• Allocate and manage budgets delegated by the Integrated care System and 
partners. 

• Through the supporting partnerships, deliver better outcomes for residents. 

 

4. This version of the MoU is an updated version of that agreed in April 2017 to 
reflect the changing landscape and the development of the Strategic Integrated 
Commissioning Approach across County Durham.  

5. Schedule 1 sets out our approach to Strategic Integrated Commissioning. 

Page 764



 

 

 
 
Shared Vison 
 
6. Our vision for integrated care is:  

 
To bring together health and social care and voluntary organisations to achieve 
improved health and wellbeing for the people of County Durham 

 
Our commitment to the people of County Durham is to: 

 

• Deliver the right care to you by teams working together. 

• Help you and those in your community lead a healthy life. 

• Build on existing teams already working together to help you stay well and 

remain independent.  

• Provide improved services closer to your home. 

• Offer a range of services working alongside GP practices which meet your 

needs. 

 
7. We will work together to develop a single comprehensive system delivery plan for 

health and care across County Durham which covers the whole life course.  This 
plan will set out the key objectives for delivery and improvement across County 
Durham. 
 

Structures and Governance 
 
8. Our structures and governance are described in detail below. 

 
Partnership Executive 

9. The Partnership Executive will replace the Integrated Care Board and the System 
Advisory Group. It will take on as many of the current CCG responsibilities and 
budget as possible. The Partnership Executive:    

 

• Is responsible for discharging the statutory duties delegated or identified by 
partners relating to social care and health assessment, commissioning, 
provision, quality and safety, finance, and performance reporting. This includes 
the delegation from the ICS of those activities which are currently the statutory 
duty of the CCG.  

• Is answerable to the partner organisations and will engage with the ICS and 
any ICP style arrangements on behalf of partners. 

• Will negotiate delegated budgets with the ICS. 

• Will set medium, and long-term milestones based on a realistic vision and 
measurable goals. 

• Will agree joint strategies, objectives, and priorities for approval by the partner 
organisations 

• Will work together to align priorities and overcome cultural and performance 
challenges. 

Page 765



 

 

• Will agree and prioritise high level population health and care outcomes based 
on Public Health evidence and establish a shared performance management 
and benefits realisation framework. 

• Will agree a budget, shared financial plan and financial framework and a way 
of sharing any efficiency gains. 

• Will have a specific responsibility to develop leadership across disciplines and 
sectors. 

• Will allocate resources to the Partnership Boards and others to deliver the 
prioritised outcomes, approve the Partnership Boards Transformation Plans, 
hold the Partnership Boards accountable for this delivery and take action when 
outcomes are not delivered. 

• Will promote the County Durham Care Partnership to partners, external 
organisations and residents. 
 

The Partnership Executive will: 
 

• Lead the social care and health system and by example create a culture of 
collaboration, openness and joint working and ensure that the Partnership 
Boards and partner organisations work in the same way. 

• Build commitment ensuring that integration is shared and rooted deeper within 
organisations at tactical and operational levels. 

• Exercise the strategic management of the social care and health system 
respecting the different legislative and regulatory frameworks of partners. 

• Agree, and periodically review, principles and protocols which underpin 
integration. 

• Resolve differences between partners.  

• Facilitate mutual support between partners when needed. 

• Engage with representative bodies across County Durham with an interest in 
social care and health. 

• Ensure that the Partnership Boards co-design services with those who receive 
services. 

• Prefer to integrate senior posts and pool resources as the opportunity arises. 
 

The Partnership Executive will:  
 

• Be led, initially, by the Chief Officers and move towards an integrated senior 
post which incorporates the responsibilities for social care and commissioning 
delegated to the Executive by the partners. 

• Have as members Chief Officers of the Council, Chief Executives of the Trusts, 
the CCG Accountable Officer and Chief Officers of the CCG. The Director of 
Integrated Community Services will attend as the norm. 

• Be supported by a core team of other staff 

• Draw on the expertise set out in the “enablers" box. 

• Be advised when requested by members of the Partnership Boards. 
 
 
 

The Partnership Boards 

 

Page 766



 

 

10. The Partnership Boards will build on our existing joint working groups and 
partnerships for acute services, children’s and young people’s services, mental 
health and learning disabilities and adult social care, primary care and community 
services. The Partnership Boards will: 

• Be answerable to the Partnership Executive. 

• Be responsible for the delivery of the outcomes determined by the Partnership 

Executive. 

• Be accountable for the best use of the resources allocated to them by the 

Partnership Executive. 

• Adopt a shared performance management and benefits realisation framework.   

• Share accountability for the successful delivery of outcomes and resolve 

challenges jointly. 

• Resolve issues between themselves and hold each other accountable. 

• Agree between partners the most effective and efficient way to deliver the 

outcomes regardless of organisational boundaries based on the partnership’s 

principles. 

• Agree lead partners on the delivery of outcomes and activity. 

• Deploy resources jointly to deliver outcomes. 

• Promote partnership working within operational teams. 

• Co-operate with other Partnership Boards. 

The Partnership Boards will: 

• Take a lead their area of work with collaboration, openness and joint working. 

• Agree shared Transformation Plans and projects to facilitate integration. 

• Share resources to deliver the Transformation Plans. 

• Involve residents and the voluntary sector in service development and 

improvement. 

• Develop services which address the needs of localities and PCN areas taking 

account of the needs of the population, the geography and distribution of 

facilities, gaps in services and strengths. 

• Share efficiency gains to further the overall aims of the partnership. 

• Operate on an “open book” basis. 

• Share good practice and innovation. 

The Partnership Boards will: 

• Have as members representatives of partners of enough seniority or 

experience to commit organisations within the bounds of delegated authority. 

• Include advisers with financial, clinical, quality and safety, digital, 

communications and estates expertise. 

• Be supported by an integrated Project Management Team. 

• Link, via their members, with other groups within the system. For example, the 

Primary, Community and Social Care Partnership will link into the Primary 

Care Network Clinical Directors Group and co-produce improvements with 

them. 

• Integrate posts when the opportunity allows across the partnership.  

 

The Partnership Forum 

Page 767



 

 

 
11. The Partnership Forum will bring together, in an informal setting, CCG Governing 

Body Lay Members, Councillors and Trust Non-Executive Directors, Healthwatch, 
the voluntary sector and other partners 3 times per year to focus on shared issues. 
These can range from health inequalities, the needs of particular groups, 
developments in national or regional policies and their impact locally and to foster 
a better understanding of each organisation. The forum will encourage the 
Executive and Partnership Boards to integrate services and highlight areas where 
the system is working well or may need to re-consider our approach. The Forum 
may wish to have themed meetings covering each Partnership or a particular 
condition or geographical area. 

 
The Enablers 

12. The proposed governance arrangements will only work if the “Enablers” adopt a 
co-operative approach. It is not proposed to have a formal “Enablers Group”. 
However, it is expected that the expertise mentioned in the “Enablers” box meet 
regularly and work together to support the Executive and Partnership Boards. It is 
anticipated that over time, shared plans on digital and IT management and estates 
will be developed.  
 

13. All MoU signatory organisations are an integral part of the governance structure 
and are represented at all levels of decision-making.  

 
14. The governance structure is based on the principle that decisions will be taken by 

the relevant partner organisation(s) at the most appropriate level.  
 

15. Partners are committed to delegating functions to the Executive Partnership and 
exercising oversight. It is acknowledged that individual partner organisations will 
retain their responsibility for their statutory duties and governance. 
 

Guiding Principles 
 

16. The following guiding principles underpin the work of the County Durham Care 
Partnership: 

 

• Partners are all of equal status and will work collaboratively and support each 

other in the spirit and intention of this MoU.  

• Partners will be open and transparent and act in good faith towards each other.  

• Partners will commit resources appropriately to support the delivery of the 

agreed objectives. 

• Partners will demonstrate a willingness to put the needs of the public before 

the needs of individual organisations. 

• All partners recognise and acknowledge that integration is an interactive and 

iterative process. 

• The CDCP will review its progress at regular intervals with the aim of 

challenging the level of ambition to enhance the integrated offer further. 

 
 

Objectives 

Page 768



 

 

 
17. Partners agree the following objectives of development, commissioning and 

delivery of integrated care:    
 

• To commission and deliver integrated care at “place” as part of a reformed 

Integrated Care System. 

• To delegate budget and responsibility to the Partnership Executive.  

• A whole system approach, moving from fragmented to integrated care, with a 

willingness to put the needs of the public before the needs of individual 

organisations. 

• Person-focused to promote wellbeing, prevention and independence.  

• Providing the right care and support, in the right place, at the right time, by the 

right person. 

• Delivering a sustainable health and social care system within existing 

resources, using a multidisciplinary team approach. 

• A system built on trust, not only between leaders and organisations but also 

with local people and communities. 

• Supporting and developing staff to develop a shared culture, behaviours and 

ownership. 

• Everyone’s contribution matters – from local people, frontline teams, healthcare 

practitioners, providers, voluntary and community sector leaders and board 

members. 

• The integrated model will be developed to link with the wider system including 

housing, employment, the environment, voluntary and community facilities, in 

order to align priorities for the benefit of local communities.  This evolving 

partnership approach will involve primary care being at the centre of patient 

activity and taking a proactive role in the commissioning of both NHS and 

integrated service provision. 

 

18. Partners have agreed and developed a set of standards which represent the 
ambition to deliver the vision, based on four key principles: 
 

• Prevention 

• Proactive care 

• Responsive and accessible care 

• Coordinated approach 
 

19. The anticipated outcomes of successful delivery of the vision are shown in 
Schedule 2.   

 
Sharing information 

 
20. The partners agree that they will share all information relevant to delivery of the 

vision for integrated care in an honest, open and timely manner.   
 
21. The CDCP will consent to an information-sharing agreement, which will allow the 

partners to manage their relationships and the flow of information between them 

Page 769



 

 

in a confidential manner and with the best interest of the client (service user, 
patient and carer) at its core.    

22. The partners have developed an approach to risk sharing which forms the basis 
of any future formal agreements.  This will be reviewed as required and does not 
negate the need for risks to be reflected in individual partner organisations risk 
management systems as well as the CDCP risk register.     

 

Conflicts of Interest 

23. The partners agree that they will: 
 

• Disclose to each other the full particulars of any real or apparent conflict of 

interest which may arise in connection with this MoU. 

• Not allow themselves to be placed in a position of conflict of interest or duty 

with regard to any of their obligations under this MoU. 

• Use their best endeavours to ensure that all associated partners also comply 

with the guiding principles and aims when acting in connection with this MoU. 

 
Term and Termination 
 
24. This MoU will commence on the date of signature of the partners and shall 

continue for an initial period of one year, to be reviewed at least annually.  
 

25. This MoU, including the Schedules, may only be varied by written agreement of 
all the signatory organisations.  
 

26. This MoU is not intended to be legally binding and no legal obligations or legal 
rights will arise between the partners from this MoU. The partners enter into the 
MoU intending to honour all their mutual obligations.  
 

27. In the event of a partner leaving the CDCP the following will apply: 
 

• The relevant partner will notify the other signatory organisations in writing  

• This MoU will be amended as appropriate  

• The annual review date for this MoU will be revised accordingly 

  

Page 770



 

 

Signatories 
 

Signature   

Date    

John Hewitt, Interim Chief Executive, Durham County Council   

   

    

 
 
Signature 

  

Date    

Neil O’Brien, Accountable Officer County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Signature 

  

Date    

Sue Jacques, Chief Executive, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Signature   

Date    

Brent Kilmurray, Chief Executive, Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Signature   

Date    

Steve Russell, Chief Executive, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 

Signature   

Date    

Primary Care Network Lead, County Durham  

  

  

 
  

Page 771



 

 

Schedule 1 
 
Development of the Strategic Integrated Commissioning Function 
 
The inclusion of local government in integrated care systems represents a significant 
opportunity to include social care, public health and wider population health, bringing 
the relevant skills that they have.  The NHS cannot do this alone. Generally, local 
government has a more direct relationship with its citizens and has a different 
understanding of insight. Bringing these skills together with the work already done in 
the NHS will only increase capacity, capability and understanding in the system 
overall.  
 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/joined-up-listening-integrated-care-and-
patient-insight 

Introduction 

1. We have agreed to develop this annexe to the Memorandum of Understanding to 
help strengthen our joint working arrangements and to support the development of 
our Strategic Integrated Commissioning Function.  It builds on our existing 
collaborative work to establish more robust mutual accountability and break down 
barriers between our separate organisations.   

2. This is not intended to be legally binding and no legal obligations or legal rights 
shall arise between the Partners from this Memorandum. It is a formal 
understanding between the Partners who have entered into this Memorandum 
intending to honour all their obligations under it.  

3. It is based on an ethos that the partnership is for the people of County Durham; it 
does not replace or override the legal and regulatory frameworks that apply to our 
statutory NHS organisations and Council. Instead, it sits alongside and 
complements these frameworks, creating the foundations for closer and more 
formal collaboration. 

 

Background 

4. The focus for partnerships is moving increasing away from simply treating ill health 
to preventing it, and to tackling the wider determinants of health, such as housing, 
employment, social inclusion and the physical environment.  

5. Nationally the agenda is shifting to promote integrated commissioning across 
larger footprints, however, systems are being allowed to put forward local solutions, 
which align to this agenda and are being allowed to proceed if they can 
demonstrate they have a clear plan in place and are already in the process of 
implementation.  

6. The proposed direction of travel to develop a Health and Social Care Plan for 
County Durham has been agreed, including the integration of commissioning 
functions; the Integrated Commissioning Group has been developing options for 
an Integrated Strategic Commissioning function 

7. This is likely to include the commissioning of community-based services for 
children and adults across the County. Acute (hospital based) and other health 
care commissioning would sit outside of this model, being undertaken by CCGs at 
a regional/sub-regional level.  

Page 772

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/joined-up-listening-integrated-care-and-patient-insight
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/joined-up-listening-integrated-care-and-patient-insight


 

 

8. This will allow commissioners to shape the provider market in County Durham, 
whilst recognising that other health care and acute commissioning will best serve 
the local population if it is undertaken by the CCGs at scale. This can be across a 
number of CCGs or for other more specialist areas at a North East level. 

• All acute activity will be commissioned sub regionally except for that delivered 

by CDDFT where the CCGs are the lead commissioners, and this will be 

commissioned locally with the following exceptions: 

o Critical care – this will be commissioned regionally/sub regionally  

o Pathology and radiology – this will be commissioned regionally/sub 

regionally 

o Genetic testing – this will be commissioned regionally 

• Medical pathways will be largely commissioned locally or in some cases at an 

ICP level or with collaboration on the outcomes required across the ICP. 

• There will be collaboration between providers and commissioners on the 

commissioning of surgical pathways at an ICP or ICS level. 

• Emergency ambulances and PTS services will be commissioned at a regional 

level, but transport services specific to Durham will be commissioned locally. 

 

Principles 

9. The following have been proposed as working principles upon which a new model 
for Integrated Commissioning will be developed and have been agreed by Cabinet 
and Governing Body: 

• Function will capture all ages i.e., commissioning for Children and Adults across 
the whole life course. 

• Whilst the initial focus is on Community Services it is acknowledged in line with 
national policy, that the direction of travel is for more hospital-based services to 
be provided in the Community. 

• Any model will need to work with existing and emerging elements on a potential 
Hub and Spoke model i.e., links with Primary Care Networks (including Teams 
Around Patients), the Mental Health and Learning Disability Partnership and 
the five CCGs operating across the Tees Valley. 

• Joint Management arrangements will be required reporting to the Corporate 
Director of Adult and Health Services and the Chief Officer, Durham CCGs. 

• Any integrated team will follow the same approach adopted within the 
Community Services model where staff retain their employment status with their 
own organisation and associated Terms and Conditions.  

• Durham County Council will host an Integrated Function giving opportunities to 
explore support to CCGs, for example in terms of legal support. 

• Existing connections with Primary Care will be enhanced to ensure the local 
influence of clinical leads across the Primary Care Network is maximised  

• Both Durham County Council and the Clinical Commissioning Groups will retain 
their statutory responsibilities and decision-making processes. 

 
 
Local Place Based Partnerships 

10. Local partnerships arrangements bring together the Council, voluntary and 
community groups, and NHS commissioners and providers (including Primary 
Care), to take responsibility for the cost and quality of care for the whole population.  

Page 773



 

 

11. These ways of working reflect local priorities and relationships and provide a 
greater focus on population health management, integration between providers of 
services around the individual’s needs, and a focus on care provided in primary 
and community settings. 

12. Our partnership approach is geared towards performance improvement and 
development rather than traditional performance management. It will be data-
driven, evidence-based and rigorous. The focus will be on improvement, 
supporting the spread and adoption of innovation and best practice.  

 

Governance 

13. The Partnership Executive is the key decision-making body and with membership 
including leaders from all organisations in the system, will be in a position to act as 
a forum where whole-system challenges can be addressed, and solutions identified 
and initiated.  

14. Durham County Council is not subject to NHS financial controls and its associated 
arrangements for managing financial risk, however, through this Memorandum, 
they agree to align planning, investment and performance improvement with NHS 
partners where it makes sense to do so.  Democratically elected councillors will 
continue to hold the partner organisations accountable through their formal 
Scrutiny powers 

15. Partners understand no decision shall be made to make changes to services in 
County Durham or the way in which they are delivered without prior consultation 
where appropriate in accordance with the partners statutory and other obligations. 

 

Financial Framework 

16. All partners are ready to work together, manage risk together, and support each 
other when required. Partners are committed to working individually and in 
collaboration with others to deliver the changes required to achieve financial 
sustainability and live within our resources. 

17. Partners commit to demonstrate robust financial risk management. This will include 
agreeing action plans that will be mobilised in the event of the emergence of 
financial risk outside plans.  

18. A set of financial principles have been agreed and confirm we will: 

• Aim to live within our means, i.e., the resources that we have available to 
provide services 

• Develop a County Durham system response to the financial challenges we face 

• Develop payment and risk share models that support a system response rather 
than work against it. 

19. Partners agree to adopt an open-book approach to financial plans and risks leading 
to the agreement of fully aligned operational plans.  

20. A detailed financial risk share agreement will be developed as part of the Strategic 
Integrated Commissioning Function and will be agreed by all partners. 

 

Page 774



 

 

Schedule 2 

Prevention Responsive & Accessible

Proactive Co-ordinated

Principles

Sta
n

d
a

rd
s

St
a

n
d

a
rd

s

Outcomes

Outcomes

• Health, wellbeing and independence 
should be promoted

• Patients will be supported to self-manage 
their condition and to maintain a healthy 
lifestyle

• A directory of services to be implemented 
of health, care and support services in 
their local community

• Access to GP / Clinician
• Access to  social care support 
• Rapid Response  from a community 

team
• Appropriate services available 7 days 

a week

• We will develop plans to delay or reduce 
the need for care and support

• Provide care closer to home where safe 
and cost effective to do so to meet the 
wider needs of the population

• Connecting and supporting people into 
their own community with voluntary 
sector support

• People will be able to access the 
necessary care and support when  it 
is required

• We will provide co-ordinated Health 
and Social Care delivery to meet 
peoples needs

 
 

P
age 775



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

 Cabinet  

17 March 2021 

Climate Change Emergency Response 

Plan – Year 1 Update 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

Councillor John Clare, Council Climate Change Champion 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an annual update on progress of the Climate Emergency 
Response Plan (CERP), including an assessment of the impact Covid-
19 has had on Council and countywide carbon emissions. 

2 To consider future challenges for new iterations of this plan beyond its 
initial two year scope so that the plan can adapt, and progress to meet 
the long term carbon reduction targets. 

Executive summary 

3 The Climate Emergency Response Plan adopted by Cabinet in 
February 2020 is a costed two year plan detailing over 100 projects that 
the Council with partners need to take towards achieving ambitious 
targets of reducing Council CO2 reductions of 80% by 2030 (2008/9 
baseline) and countywide of being totally carbon neutral by 2050.  It 
was developed from extensive consultation across Council staff, 
community groups, residents, and schools. 

4 Provisional estimates for the Council’s carbon emissions during 2020/21  
are approximately 43,297 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e), 
a reduction of 16% compared with last year’s 51,787tCO2e, this is a 

 

Page 777

Agenda Item 9



significant drop with the year average since 2009/10 being 6%.  It 
achieves a reduction against baseline of 59.1% Council activities. 

5 For all the devastating impact Covid-19 has brought, it has undoubtedly 
had a positive impact on these Council emission figures, and its 
influence felt within weeks of the CERP being agreed.  The “stay at 
home” lockdowns for many office based staff meant reduced usage of 
buildings, as well as reduced business travel and fleet.  The temporary 
closure of some services such as leisure centres, also has meant that 
building energy has reduced, but as these building still need to be 
maintained, not eliminated entirely. 

6 Provisional estimates across the Council estate reveal a 20% reduction 
in electricity from buildings, a 14% reduction in gas for heating and a 
6% reduction in fleet and transportation (which may have been more if 
not for the cold winter).  Whilst these reductions are of course very 
welcome, it is unlikely that these full benefits will remain, as they are 
associated with low occupancy buildings.  Going forward however there 
is opportunity to build on this, for example increased levels of working 
from home, even when normal conditions arise. 

7 Continued implementation of the project’s Climate Emergency 
Response Plan will be crucial if the momentum gained from these short 
term benefits are to be sustained.  The report confirms that the vast 
majority of actions against Council targets have been able to be 
implemented, for instance LED lighting has been installed in 9 further 
buildings, 27 charge points have been installed in anticipation of a 
growing fleet of electric vehicles and projects ranging from the new 
headquarters (including rooftop solar panels), boiler replacements, and 
installation of ground source heat pumps.  The Council has also, during 
the year, moved its electricity tariff to that based on 100% renewables. 

8 What is even more encouraging is that the Council has been successful 
during the year with a number of key funding bids to support its 
reductions.  For example, we have recently been successful in a  
£5 million European Regional Development Fund bid towards a solar 
farm adjacent to Morrison Busty Depot which, alongside building energy 
efficiency measures such as insulation, will transform an aged facility to 
one which will be energy self-sufficient, including eventually powering a 
fleet of front-line vehicles. 

9 The Council has an Invest to Save programme for carbon reductions 
where the capital costs of energy efficiency measures are recouped 
over time by annual savings in utilities and other costs.  The latest  
£5.5 million programme, over 8 projects has already paid back  
£2.9 million, saved 5,378t C O2 and is on course for net financial gain by 

Page 778



2025.  A further £2 million funding will also be available for the next 
phase of projects. 

10 Covid-19 will also undoubtedly have had an impact on the countywide 
emissions too, but the nationally published figures have a two year time 
lag, so that the broad impact can only be speculated.  Increased home 
working, coupled with a cold winter, will have increased carbon 
emissions for heating.  Emissions relating to transport and industry will 
however have reduced, the International Energy Agency estimate that 
overall a decrease of 5.5% in global energy demand with 6.5% 
reduction in CO2 emissions.  It is not certain if this will be reflected in 
County Durham figures. 

11 Work has been undertaken on the ground with a number of countywide 
initiatives, and the majority of actions in the CERP have continued to 
progress.  This has included a scheme commencing on over 100 
community electric charge points across the county, continued support 
for businesses with 97 business audits and grants to reduce carbon 
emissions carried out, and the programme of tree planting continuing, 
for instance through the Urban Tree Challenge Fund (21,000 trees over 
70 locations).  Progress has also been made in securing external 
grants, for instance, £1.8 million awarded for retrofit works to domestic 
properties in Chilton and Dean Bank. 

12 During the last year the Council has received several accolades for its 
work in combatting climate change, including Climate Change Initiative 
of the Year through Association of Public Service Excellence (APSE) 
and Durham City being identified as UKs Greenest City by Solar Cities 
Campaign.  These are not a cause for complacency however, as much 
more work needs to be done in achieving the challenging targets.  It is 
also recognised that future iterations of this plan need to consider the 
opportunities for development of a green economy, to consider how 
already disadvantaged groups are not disproportionately impacted, and 
what the Council and partners can do more in adapting to some of the 
inevitable consequences of climate change. 

13 As the current costed Emergency Response Plan covers the period to 
April 2023, it is suggested that during the course of this year a further 
report is presented detailing the ambitions and measures that would 
take the Council to 2025, just five years away from a time when a 
Council target of 80% reductions will be required. 

Recommendation(s) 

14 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the progress made against delivering the first year of the 
Climate Change Emergency Response Plan, as well as the 

Page 779



forecast drop in Council emissions, magnified by the influence of 
Covid -19 across the estate; 

(b) approve the development of a new action plan to take the Council 
and countywide partners beyond the initial two years of the 
CERP, maximising opportunities for a green economy, and a just 
transition for residents adapting to climate change. 

  

Page 780



Background 

15 On 20 February 2019 the County Council declared a Climate Change 
Emergency and set ambitious targets to reduce its own carbon 
emissions by 60% by 2030 (from a 2008/9 baseline) and to investigate 
what further actions are necessary to make County Durham carbon 
neutral by 2050 (from a 1990 baseline).  In February 2020, given the 
strong performance to date, the Council target was raised to 80% 
reduction, however a reduction of this scale is extremely challenging. 

16 The County Durham Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP) is a 
two year (2020-22) £66 million action plan adopted by Cabinet in 
February 2020.  It was developed as an inclusive plan from extensive 
consultation (over 1,000 respondents) and builds on the considerable 
work to date on energy reduction both from the Council and countywide 
with partners. 

17 Within weeks of Cabinet approving the Plan, the country was in its first 
national lockdown arising from the Covid -19 pandemic and clearly this 
has had a dramatic impact, not just on the plan itself, but of course on 
carbon emissions both from the Council estate and countywide. 

18 The CERP had over 100 specific actions over the two years.  The 
remainder of this report summarises not only the progress made against 
these actions, but also estimates the impact of Covid-19.  Suggestions 
are also made as to issues and opportunities that will need to be 
incorporated into future plans. 

Council Progress and Carbon Emissions 

19 The provisional estimates and forecasts for the year end 2020/21 show 
remarkable reductions from last year’s 51,787 tonnes carbon dioxide 
equivalent (tCO2e) to approximately 43,297CO2e, a fall of a 8,490 tCO2e 
in 2020/21.  Whilst these are forecast only, they will certainly exceed 
(more than double) last year’s reduction which was 3,806 tCO2e. 

 

 

0
20,000
40,000
60,000
80,000

100,000
120,000

To
n

n
es

 C
O

2e

DCC Annual Carbon Footprint

Page 781



20 Much if this performance is attributable to the impact of Covid-19 which 
closed a number of Council facilities (such as leisure centres during 
lockdown), reduced occupancy in buildings, especially offices, reduced 
fleet and transportation, as well as personal business miles on travel. 

21 Energy assessments across buildings taken from April to January, show 
a 20% reduction in electricity use.  Gas reductions have also been 
evidenced, of approximately 14%, and comparisons based around 
“degree days” temperature methodology, reveal this would have been 
greater if it had not been for the relatively cold winter this year 
compared to the year before.  Caution clearly needs to be exercised 
relating to the extent that these reductions can be sustained, and of 
course, some of the emissions may have been transferred to a 
domestic environment for those who worked from home.  Nevertheless, 
opportunity exists in future plans to adopt some of the practices gained 
from Covid-19 to reduce emissions. 

22 The CERP contained 28 Council actions and progress against each is 
detailed in Appendix 2.  The majority of projects and actions have been 
unaffected and summary, performance is detailed below: 

 

23 From the 5 temporarily delayed projects, 4 were directly attributable to 
Covid and include the school LED lighting project which was hampered 
by access, the streetlighting LED scheme related supply chain issues, 
the pool cars (26 electric vehicles) as the need could not be justified at 
the present time, and the replacement gas boilers programme which 
slipped due to wider demands on the building and facilities maintenance 
team.  The good news however is that all 4 can be progressed during 
2021/22.  One of the schemes that slipped is the Louisa Centre 
Minewater Heat scheme, which was dependent on Government 
Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) to match against ERDF funding.  The 
Government announced a phase out of the RHI funding and the 
potential grant provision shared none of the innate risks, so this could 
not be progressed.  The positive however is that the scheme is 
developed to a point where alternative funding bids can be made 
(including most recently to Salix as part of the Government 
Decarbonisation of heat programme). 

Impacts Council Actions 

Actions with significant delays 0 

Actions with delays 5 

Actions unimpacted 20 

Actions complete 3 

Actions no longer required 0 

 

Page 782



24 Progress on actions to reduce emissions from electricity has been 
generally good.  Sites to install further Solar PV have been identified as 
well as a site for a potential wind turbine, whilst the existing solar panels 
continue to outperform expectations.  LED lighting has been installed in 
over 9 DCC buildings in 2020 and a list of a further 20 buildings has 
been identified and surveyed as being suitable.  Two schools have had 
LED lighting installed through 0% loans from the nationally run public 
sector SALIX scheme.  The ECO2 Smart Schools programme is 
continuing despite lockdown disruption with a pilot of ‘Energy Sparks’ 
data portal with selected schools.  All of the Councils electricity is now 
purchased from a supplier providing 100% renewable electricity. 

25 Regarding both electricity and heat carbon reductions, the Zero Carbon 
Depot project at Annfield Plain submitted to ERDF was successful with 
the award of £5 million (to be supported by an additional £3 million 
Council Invest to Save Capital).  This will now pave the way for a 3MW 
solar farm, battery storage, charging posts and energy efficiency 
upgrades to the Council depot offices.  Once operational the solar farm 
is intended to meet all existing and future energy requirements, 
including the expanding fleet of electric vehicles.  CO2 savings are 
projected to be nearly 600t per year. 

26 Regarding heat, work on a new strategic building energy management 
system (BEMS) has begun, which will mean a significant improvement 
in the control of energy and reduce the need to travel.  A new Air 
Source Heat Pump has been installed at the Annfield Plain Waste 
Transfer Station to replace an existing oil system.  Currently efficiency 
and reliability are being analysed. 

27 Regarding transport, whilst the work on the pool cars has not 
progressed, to pave the way for a significant expansion, 27 charge 
points have now been installed at strategic sites across the county.  
Furthermore, all new vehicles are subject to a business case to explore 
the replacement with electric vehicles across various Council services 
and those replaced during 2021/22 will include a number of electric 
vehicles.  The Council has also trialled and now ordered a fully electric 
refuse collection vehicle, which will be available from Summer 2021.  
Finally, business travel has significantly reduced as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and whilst it will increase again when normal 
conditions arise, there is opportunity to build in the best of the recent 
practices, that avoid travel unless essential. 

28 The CERP has also been flexible and opportunistic, for example making 
funding bids when opportunity arises.  The Council for instance, 
submitted to Highways England £2.28 million which would have 
purchased 50 electric vehicles for business use “try before you buy” but 
returned to the Council after 2 years.  Unfortunately, Highways England 

Page 783



paused nationally on the scheme.  In October 2020 the Government 
released £1 billion worth of funding to help decarbonise the public 
sector estate.  The Low Carbon Economy team, working alongside a 
cross section of services, developed a long list of projects that 
potentially fitted the strict criteria (to be heat focused and deliverable by 
Sept 2021).  Working alongside teams and services, a shortlist of seven 
projects has been applied for and we are currently awaiting the outcome 
of these applications. 

29 The Council has an Invest to Save programme for carbon reductions 
where the capital costs of energy efficiency measures are recouped 
over time by annual savings in utilities and other costs.  The latest  
£5.5 million programme, over 8 projects, has already paid back  
£2.9 million, saved 5,378t C O2 and is on course for net financial gain by 
2025, as summarised in the table below.  To support the CERP a 
further £2 million of funding on a self-financing basis is being sought 
through a business case to the Members Officer Working Group on 
capital.  If supported, this will augment the capital programme, which 
will be considered and approved as part of the quarterly budgetary 
control reporting to Cabinet. 

 

Countywide Progress and Emissions 

30 The latest figures for Countywide emissions, have a two year delay, 
consequently the latest figures are for 2018.  By the end of 2018 the 
County’s emissions were 52.6% lower than in the baseline year of 1990, 
showing continued progress. 

Page 784



 

31 Without the figures for 2020, the impact of Covid-19 is less clear.  
Increased home working, coupled with a cold winter, will have increased 
carbon emissions for heating.  Emissions relating to transport and 
industry will however have reduced, the International Energy Agency 
estimate that overall a decrease of 5.5% in global energy demand with 
6.5% reduction in CO2 emissions.  It is not certain if this will be reflected 
in County Durham figures, although with both the industry and transport 
carbon contribution taking nearly two thirds, it is highly likely that they 
will be suppressed more than the domestic sector increases. 

32 If the anticipated reductions in carbon emissions do arise, caution 
needs to be exercised regarding if they can be sustained.  Back in 
2008-09, after the global financial crash, carbon emissions rose by 5% 
as a result of stimulus spending that boosted fossil fuel use.  Clearly 
there is an opportunity for a more sustainable recovery. 

33 CERP identified 85 actions for the Council and partners that would 
benefit countywide emissions rather than being linked solely to the 
Council estate.  Just as with the Council actions, significant progress 
has again been made, as illustrated in the summary below, and detailed 
in Appendix 3. 

Impacts Countywide Actions 

Actions with significant delays 3 

Actions with delays 19 

Actions unimpacted 58 

Actions complete 1 

Actions no longer required 4 

 

34 One of the schemes not progressed was ERDF applications for solid 
wall insulation.  The Housing Solutions team has however worked with 
the North East LEP and has had £1.8 million bid successful for energy 

Page 785



efficiency retrofit projects in Chilton and Dean Bank.  A further bid for 
£3.8 miollion has also been submitted. 

35 Another scheme not progressed was the minewater heat project in 
Horden.  Elsewhere, the prospect of utilising minewater heat continues, 
for example Seaham Garden Village which has a national focus, being 
potentially the first development of it scale in the UK to be heated by 
minewater.  This will make the development carbon neutral for heating 
and ensure residents and business have low cost affordable low carbon 
heat. 

36 Support for community renewable energy schemes is ongoing and a 
community loan scheme will be established in 2021/22.  Work is 
ongoing with partners including, Durham University, Northern 
PowerGrid (NPg) and Energy Catapults, to undertake research and 
development. 

37 Regarding electricity, opportunities for a solar farm and battery storage 
facility at Netpark are being assessed alongside other options for Solar 
Car Ports on park and ride sites.  New electric points will be installed in 
Durham Market Place before April, allowing market traders to use direct 
electricity instead of diesel generators. 

38 The Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP) continues to progress 
despite Covid restrictions and during the last year provided support for 
97 businesses, with a total value of 292,000 for projects that emerged, 
and grant funding of 67,000.  The work carried out utilising these grants 
will save 435 tonnes of CO2 emissions. 

39 There have been a number of Government funding packages released 
at short notice with challenging timescales for delivery   A further bid for 
£3.8 million has also been submitted.  Further work is ongoing to install 
Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs) in off gas communities (43 thus far).  
Support and advice is also ongoing to residents across the County on 
Smart Meters and the Managing Money Better Programme  

40 Regarding heat, funding from the Department Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS), £100,000 has been secured to develop the 
business case for a town centre (Riverside area) district heating 
scheme, potentially based on utilising heat from the River Wear or 
Barkers Haugh Sewerage Treatment works. 

41 For transport, the first three Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plans (LCWIPs) will be complete by January 2021.  Further funding is 
being sought to develop LCWIPs for the remaining 9 main towns.  The 
Park that Bike scheme to deliver 300 stands and 6 secure bike stores 
will commence in January 2021.  Furthermore, a new private e-cargo 

Page 786



service is now operating in Durham City in co-operation with the 
marketplace and various SMEs. 

42 The Durham City bus station is on track to be delivered, whilst the Real 
Time Passenger Information system will be replaced in a regional 
project by December 2021.  Funding for A177 bus lanes has been 
secured, however Covid continues to be a major threat to the viability of 
services.  Further work ongoing investigating land acquisition at 
Stonebridge and for an extension for Sniperley Park and Ride as well as 
an options appraisal for the deployment of electric busses. 

43 Contract 2 of the superfast broadband programme is currently ongoing.  
Delivery under the contract, which includes coverage to other areas in 
the North East, is expected to be completed by Q1 2021/22. 

44 Much of the work in relation to carbon offsetting through improvements 
to the natural environment has continued unabated.  The Council’s work 
on tree planting is the subject of a separate report, but in summary 
includes the completion of the Urban Tree Challenge Fund (21,000 
trees or whips over 70 sites), continued progress with the Woodland 
Renewal project (which aims to plant 60 hectares), as well as a bid 
submission to be part of the North East Community Forest. 

45 Peatlands are a major carbon sink, and their international loss, 
represents a serious climate change concern.  Working with the North 
Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, over 600 hectares of 
peatland in County Durham are being restored this winter, on sites 
ranging from Killhope, Eggleston and Holwick moors.  CERP Funding 
has been utilised at Valance Lodge Ridge for restoration, including the 
reintroduction of sphagnum and cotton grass to seed the restored 
habitat. 

46 The Council is working with the North Pennines AONB to identify sites 
and negotiate with landowners to undertake peatland code verification 
to create opportunities for carbon credit off-setting with businesses.  
The Raby Estate is undertaking a carbon auditing exercise of its land 
assets as a result of the discussions in this project so that when a 
suitable peatland site is made ready, investment will be sought from 
County Durham businesses wishing to off-set their residual CO2.  Such 
a project would be the first of its kind in England. 

47 A regional Blue Carbon/Marine Habitat Restoration Group has formed.  
Currently this includes Environment Agency, Natural England, the Tees 
Rivers Trust and the Council, bringing together current activity and 
sharing knowledge, experience and skills.  There are a small number of 
pilot projects underway. 

Page 787



48 Schools’ educational work through Eco2Smart Schools was curtailed in 
March 2020, with staff moving onto furlough.  New arrangements for the 
new school year are in place and activities are progressing, together 
with new home energy awareness schemes.  Children 4 Climate 
Change, in collaboration with Durham University and OASES, is 
working with schools across County Durham to understand climate 
science and provide active citizenship opportunities to raise awareness 
in communities through interactive website. 

49 The development of a specific website and branding for the Climate 
Emergency in County Durham will be developed over the next few 
months.  In addition, there is a programme of communications and 
engagement activities being developed which will look at internal and 
external audiences. 

Key Post-Covid Influences and New Iterations of the Plan 

50 During the last year the Council has received a number of accolades for 
its work.  This includes Climate Change Initiative of the Year through 
Association of Public Service Excellence (APSE) and Durham City 
being identified as UKs Greenest City by Solar Cities Campaign.  The 
Council has also been commended by the national food growing charity 
Sustain, for having one of the only action plans in the UK that 
recognised food as a significant contributor to the challenges of carbon 
reduction.  Clearly none of this should be a cause for complacency and 
there is a continued need to modify and adapt the plan. 

51 Covid-9 may have given a short term benefit for reduction in carbon 
emissions but there is a clear need to build on this and for sustainability 
to be built into the recovery.  The UK president of COP26 and 
Government Business Secretary, Alok Sharma MP, has called on 
governments around the world to submit enhanced climate action plans 
and to put clean technologies at the heart of their post-coronavirus 
economic recovery strategies.  They suggested that more emphasis, 
and ambition is needed towards the following measures as part of the 
recovery: 

• Green Deals; 

• Green transition in industry; 

• Investment in clean technologies and innovation; 

• Raising ambition on renewable energy; 

• Importance of nature-based solutions; 

• Adaptation to avoid future shocks. 
 

Page 788



52 The briefing comes after the UK Committee on Climate Change1 called 
for low carbon and resilient policies to be put in place to build a green 
and sustainable recovery.  The UK CCC highlighted the following five 
core measures: 

• investments in low-carbon and climate-resilient infrastructure; 

• supporting reskilling, retraining and research for a net-zero, well-
adapted economy; 

• upgrades to our homes ensuring they are fit for the future; 

• making it easy for people to walk, cycle, and work remotely; 

• tree planting, peatland restoration, green spaces and other green 
infrastructure. 

53 Considering these and other national drivers, as well as local needs, the 
priorities emerging going forward will therefore consider more emphasis 
on:  

• New Green Deal; working with the business community in 
creating new carbon-based jobs market; 

• Adaptation; Council responses needing more work (community 
resilience to extreme weather, align to initiatives by Health and 
Wellbeing board to assist the vulnerable in dealing with Covid); 

• More focus on the concept of achieving a Just Transition; that 
climate change activity must support and not hinder people in 
moving forward in terms of accessing green energy, EVs and 
wider power sharing; 

• Carbon budgeting – exploring use of this to ensure all policy and 
practices achieve carbon savings through service delivery 
(making integrating carbon normal practice); 

• Governance; embedding the mechanisms for stakeholder and 
community engagement as outlined to Cabinet at its February 
meeting.  This also extends to fostering new partnerships, and 
continuing the awareness raising and collaborative work with our 
communities. 

 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/CCC-to-Prime-Minister-Boris-Johnson-Covid-

19-recovery-002.pdf 

 

Page 789

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/CCC-to-Prime-Minister-Boris-Johnson-Covid-19-recovery-002.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/CCC-to-Prime-Minister-Boris-Johnson-Covid-19-recovery-002.pdf


54 It is suggested that a new plan be written during 2021 and submitted for 
approval that will continue the progress made, and build in the above 
issues, as well as any others that emerge during the year. 

Conclusion 

55 Despite Covid, considerable progress has been made on 
implementation of the Climate Change Emergency Response Plan.  
Conversely, Covid has had a significant impact on temporarily 
magnifying the reduction in Council emissions, more than would 
normally be anticipated, and the same is anticipated for County figures 
when they become available. 

56 There is an opportunity now to build on this success and ensure a 
sustainable recovery, making full use of any national climate change 
initiatives, and continue to forge innovative partnerships in delivering for 
the communities of County Durham 

Background papers 

• Full Council 20 February 2019 Climate Change Emergency 
Declaration 

• Full Council 17 July 2019 Climate Change Emergency Update 
Report 

• Full Council 20 February 2020 Climate Emergency Response 
Plan 

• Cabinet 10 February 2021 Environmental Statement and 
Management System 

Other useful documents 

• County Durham Climate Change Strategy and Delivery Plan 
(2015-20) 

• Durham County Council Carbon Management Plan (2015-20) 

• Committee on Climate Change Net Zero: The UKs contribution to 
stopping global warming 

Author(s) 

Oliver Sherratt Tel: 03000 269259 

Steve Bhowmick Tel: 03000 267122 

Stephen McDonald Tel: 03000 265537  

Page 790



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Climate Change Act 2008 established a UK commitment to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050 from 1990 levels and the Paris 
Agreement (to which the UK is a signatory) which aims to keep the increase in 
global average temperature to well below 2oC above pre-industrial levels; and 
to limit the increase to 1.5o C to prevent dangerous climate change.  On 12 
June Government announced plans to legislate to revise the Climate Change 
Act and adopt a target of net zero carbon emissions by 2050 which is now in 
law. 

Finance 

A wide range of projects are described in this scheme.  They fall broadly into a 

mix of overlapping categories: 

(a) invest to save projects where capital funding is available for schemes 

(such as LED lighting or more efficient boilers) and the cost is paid back 

over a period of time, not typically exceeding twelve years.  However, 

this report suggests that a more flexible approach (such as longer 

payback periods) should be considered; 

(b) partnership funded schemes, where external finance supports Council 

costs in delivery.  Examples in this report includes European Regional 

Development Funding (supporting potential schemes at the Louisa 

Centre for Minewater and zero carbon plans at Morrison Busty Depot) 

or Heritage Lottery Fund that support the Woodland Revival Project; 

The Public Sector Decarbonisation scheme; 

(c) one off corporate funding provided in MTFP(10) and MTFP(11) of  

£3 million - £1.5 million in 2020/21 and a further £1.5 million in 2021/22. 

Consultation 

Consultation on the CERP was undertaken in 2019. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None identified. 

Climate Change 

This is a key issue addressed throughout the report. 

  

Page 791



Human Rights 

None identified. 

Crime and Disorder 

None identified. 

Staffing 

Climate Change is now a key responsibility for all staff as it is now included in 

Job Descriptions. 

Accommodation 

Considerable progress has been made in introducing renewable energy (solar 
panels) across Council buildings and depots as well as making offices more 
energy efficient. 

Risk 

Key risks to achieving the targets are identified in the Appendix 2 report and 
include Government support and policy, resources and the greater challenge 
posed for carbon reductions in rural areas such as County Durham. 

Procurement 

There are major opportunities through procurement to influence carbon 
reductions.  This may be in public transport contracts or purchase of fleet and 
equipment.  The role of procurement is detailed in the Appendix 2 report. 
  

Page 792



Appendix 2:  Climate Change Emergency Response 

                         Action Plan 2020/1 and 2021/22 

 

Attached. 

 

  

Page 793



Appendix 3:  Countrywide Progress Table 

 

Attached. 

 

Page 794



Appendix 2: Council Action Plan Update 

 

     

Progress 
Colour Key 
(use format 
painter) 

Complete 3  

On track / progressing 20  

Some difficulty/delay to progress 5  

Progress stopped     

Action no longer required      

       

Priority Area Project Description 
Project Cost 
(Thousand 

£) 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2e) 

Funding 
Secure? 
(Source) 

Progress So Far Action to 2030 

Electricity 
Solar PV 
Install solar panel arrays on suitable 
council buildings. 

£180 
                          
43  

 Pending 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Project growing: 
There is potential to install solar PV on sites 
across the County, 10 sites have been 
identified that would meet invest to save 
criteria 

Renewable electricity 
generation installed on all 
financially appropriate 
buildings and land. 

Electricity 

LED Lighting Replacements 
Installing LEDs in nine council 
owned buildings. (second phase of 
project) 

£400 
                        
200  

 Yes 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Complete - More buildings have been 
identofied 

More LEDs - no lights in 
Council properties are to be 
less efficient than LED by 
2030. 

Electricity 
LED Lighting Replacements 
(third phase of project) 

    
 Yes 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Further buildings identified. 4 sites completed. 
2 sites being programmed in. 

More LEDs - no lights in 
Council properties are to be 
less efficient than LED by 
2030. 

Electricity 
Enlighten 
Installing LED lighting in schools. 

£500 
                        
120  

 Yes 
(Invest to 
Save)  

First two schools compelete. Significant list of 
further schools identified. 

More LEDs - no lights in 
Council properties are to be 
less efficient than LED by 
2030. 

Electricity 
Gala Theatre Theatrical LED 
Lighting 
Installing LED stage lights. 

£133 
                          
20  

 Yes 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Complete 

More LEDs - no lights in 
Council properties are to be 
less efficient than LED by 
2030. 

P
age 795



Electricity 

LED Street Lighting 
Continuing the replacement of old 
inefficient street lights with LEDs. 
(Two years of the next phase of the 
project, which should take three 
years in total.) 

£6,000 
                     
1,100  

 Pending 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Project delayed due to supply chain disruption 
due to Covid-19 pandemic. 

All street lights to be LED by 
2030. 

Electricity 

LED Lighting Replacements 
Continued 
Where invest to save cannot be 
used, other funds will be used to 
provide LED lighting. 

£50 
                          
50  

 Pending 
(Other Council 
Fund)  

One building complete. One further building 
identified. 

More LEDs - no lights in 
Council properties are to be 
less efficient than LED by 
2030. 

Electricity 

Electric Bin Hoists 
Install electric motors on 6 bin lorries 
so that engines do not need to run 
while bins are being lifted. 

£8  TBC   Yes  
Electric bin hoists to be installed on new 
RCVs 

All bin hoists to be electric 
by 2030. 

Electricity 

Depot Renewable Generation 
Our depots use a lot of electricity 
and this will increase with the 
addition of electric vehicle charging 
points. Investigations are underway 
to find suitable places for renewable 
electricity generation and storage at 
our depots. 

TBC  TBC  
 Pending 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Depots are part of the solar PV installation 
project. 

More renewable electricity 
generation to be installed at 
appropriate locations across 
the council's estate. 

Electricity 
Electricity Grid Decarbonisation 
National effort to reduce the carbon 
footprint of the electricity grid. 

£- 
                     
3,500  

 N/A  

The grid factor of the National Grid continues 
to fall as more renewable electricity sources 
are added. The annual carbon saving is an 
estimate based on the last five years. 

It is expected that the 
carbon factor of the national 
grid will be reduced 
significantly by 2030. Our 
estimate is based on 
previous years' data. 

Electricity 

ECO2 Smart Schools 
Programme of engagement in 
schools as well as assistance with 
energy monitoring. 

£80 
                        
354  

 Yes  

Project continues despite lockdown 
disruption. 
New for 2020-21: pilot of Energy Sparks data 
portal, virtual support for schools from 
OASES Team. 

All schools to have the 
opportunity to access energy 
management services and a 
sustainability education 
programme. 

Electricity 

Freemans Quay Leisure 
Installation of solar PV array on the 
roof alongside some improvements 
to insulation. 

£140 
                          
20  

 Pending 
(Salix)  

New Project to install solar PV and upgrade 
major plant at FQ 

  

P
age 796



Electricity 
Durham Sixth Form 
Installation of solar PV array on the 
roof alongside better glazing. 

£600 
                          
15  

 Pending 
(Salix)  

New Project 
solar PV, window upgrade and LED retrofit 

  

Electricity, Heat, 
& Transport 

Zero Carbon Depot 
Transform the whole site at Morrison 
Busty Depot to be zero carbon, 
including all buildings and vehicles. 

£4,000 
                        
590  

 Pending 
(ERDF)  

Stage 3 design complete, ERDF full 
application complete, Planning application in, 
procurement for main contractor to begin 

Learn from this project and 
carry out more whole site 
actions. 

Electricity & Heat 

Louisa Centre 
Mine water heat pump to provide low 
carbon heat with solar PV to 
generate the necessary electricity. 
Also other energy efficiency 
measures in the building. 

£3,500 
                        
503  

 Pending 
(Salix)  

Funding is being sought to allow this project 
to continue. Other essential work at the 
Louisa Centre may continue without the 
minewater element. 

Learn from this project to 
inform future mine water 
heating projects. 

Electricity & Heat 

New Headquarters 
We are leaving the old County Hall 
and moving to a much lower carbon 
building in the City Centre. The 
building will be very well insulated 
and includes low carbon lighting and 
ventilation, as well as rooftop solar 
panel generation (subject to 
planning). 

TBC  TBC   Yes  

The New HQ is under construction. The 
rooftop solar PV will be installed. Future 
occupancy of the building may be lower than 
expected to allow for physical distancing. 

The building is prepared to 
be added to a district 
heating scheme in the city 
centre, through which it will 
receive low carbon heat. 

Electricity & Heat 

Crimdon Coastal Hub 
Installation of a heat pump and solar 
PV array to ensure new building is 
low carbon. 

   N/A  
 Pending 
(Salix)  

New Project 
Funding is being sought. 

All new buildings to be low 
carbon by 2030. 

Electricity & Heat 

Building Energy Management 
Systems 
Install BEMS in appropriate council 
buildings to better control heating 
and lighting, and reduce need to 
travel. 

£200 
                          
20  

 Partial 
(Other Council 
Fund)  

A feasibility study has been commissioned to 
find the best way forward for the whole estate. 

All large council buildings to 
have BEMS by 2030. 

Elecctricity & 
Heat 

Abbey Leisure Heat Pump 
Install a heat pump at Abbey Leisure 
Centre, along with renewabl 
electricity generation including solar 
PV panels. 

£300 
                          
45  

 Pending 
(Salix)  

New Project to install a ground source heat 
pump and solar PV alongside leisure 
transformation projects 

No gas boilers less 
than 90% efficient to be 
used in Council properties 
by 2030. 

P
age 797



Heat 

Depot Heat Pump 
Removal of fossil fuel boiler to be 
replaced with an air source heat 
pump at Annfield Plain Waste 
Transfer Station. 

£18 
                          
30  

 Yes 
(Invest to 
Save)  

Complete 
 
Monitoring ongoing to optimise compliance, 
efficiency & reliability. 

Learn from this project and 
aim to replace more fossil 
fuel boilers with heat pumps 
if successful. 

Heat 

Away from Oil 
Replacing oil boilers with low carbon 
heating alternatives. Investigations 
are underway to complete this at 
some rural schools that have no 
access to the gas network, and 
some council depots. 

£250 
                          
68  

 Pending 
(Salix)  

Hybrid concepts at two schools being 
developed that should reduce oil by around 
70-80%. Other schools to follow once models 
and process refined. 

Complete removal of all oil 
boilers from all council 
properties. 

Heat 
Improving Gas Use 
Replacing older gas boilers with 
more efficient models. 

£250 
                          
20  

 Pending 
(Other Council 
Fund)  

Investigations underway at a number of 
buildings. 

No gas boilers less 
than 90% efficient to be 
used in Council properties 
by 2030. 

Heat 

Comeleon Heaters 
Replace outdated gas heaters with 
low carbon heat source in Comeleon 
Warehouse 

TBC  TBC  
 Pending 
(Salix)  

New Project 
Feasibility underway to find the best way to 
heat the building. 

No gas boilers less 
than 90% efficient to be 
used in Council properties 
by 2030. 

Heat 
Teesdale Leisure refurbishment 
Extension of solar PV array, upgrade 
of glazing throughout the centre 

£100 
                            
8  

 Pending 
(Salix)  

New Project 

No gas boilers less 
than 90% efficient to be 
used in Council properties 
by 2030. 

Transport 

Low Carbon Fleet 
Installation of necessary 
infrastructure to begin transition to 
electric fleet vehicles in the first two 
years. Evaluate options for refuse 
lorries to be fuelled by biogas. 

£150  N/A  
 Pending 
(Other Council 
Fund)  

27 charge points installed at strategic sites 
across the county to facilitate fleet transition 

Significant proportion of 
Council fleet to be electric by 
2030. Remaining fleet may 
be fossil fuel, hybrid, or 
other alternative fuel. 

Transport 

Electric Refuse Lorries 
Trial use of electric refuse collection 
vehicles and implement them where 
possible. 

£900 
                          
36  

 Pending 
(Other Council 
Fund)  

New Project to procure 2 electric RCVs 

Fossil fuel fleet vehicles to 
be in the minority by 2030, 
with majority being low or 
zero carbon alternatives. 

P
age 798



Transport 

Reduce Business Miles 
Encourage remote meetings and 
working at most appropriate location 
by working with the Inspire 
programme and internal 
management. 

£- 
                        
120  

 N/A  
Business travel has significantly reduced as a 
result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Efforts will 
be made to ensure this continues. 

Greater use of remote 
meeting tools, such as video 
conferencing, webinars, or 
telephone meetings, to 
reduce the need to travel. 

Transport 

Pool Cars 
Transition to electric vehicles for our 
staff pool cars and the chair of the 
council's vehicle. Aiming to have 26 
electric pool cars and 40 electric 
vans in this period. 

TBC  TBC   TBC  
This is on hold (as pool cars aren’t being used 
during pandemic) 

No fossil fuel only pool cars 
to be in use by 2030. Some 
could be hybrids. 

TOTAL 
At least 6861 tonnes saved of 8012 tonnes of CO2e required to be saved by 

March 2023. 
Work is progressing. 

Save a further 17,071 
tonnes by 2030. 

 

P
age 799



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3: Countywide Progress Table 

 

Key        
Progress Complete 1        

On track / 
progressing 58        
Some 
difficulty/delay 
to progress 19        
Progress 
stopped 3        
Action no 
longer 
required 4        

Action 
Type 

Investment 
priority         
New Project 
since CERP 
was adopted         

       Progress Notes Nov 2020 

Priority 
Area 

Project Description Cost 
Funding 

confirmed? 
Partners 

  

Progress Update Comments 
Funding 
Spent to 

Date 

Amount 
of 

Carbon 
Saved 
where 
known 

R
e

n
e

w
ab

le
 

En
e

rg
y 

Renewable 
Energy 

RE1: Develop and safeguard 
a portfolio of Council owned 
land suitable for renewable 
energy developments. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

Review of land is ongoing. Shortlist of 
sites have been identified and we are 
progressing our investigations. Speaking 
to GIS teams about adding suitable land 
as a layer.  

n/a n/a 

P
age 801



RE2: Establish a Special 
Purpose Vehicle(SPV) to 
enable DCC to install 
renewable energy 
technologies onpartners’ 
land and buildings and 
become a green electricity 
provider 

£40,000 No Northum
brian 
Water 

No further progress 

n/a n/a 

RE3:Promote and support 
community renewable 
energy schemes through the 
Neighbourhood Planning 
process, partnership 
working, repowering and 
any other mechanisms 
including a new climate 
change loan scheme 

£500,000 Yes n/a Report drafted, LEP research underway 
and due to complete Feb 21. need to 
replrofile spend to £40k in 2020/21 and 
£460k in 21/22 

5000 n/a 

New 
technology 

and 
innovation 

NT1: Set up joint research 
and business development 
with Durham University, 
NETPark, Energy Catapults 
and local businesses to 
develop and exploit new 
energy technologies 

£50,000 Yes Durham 
Universit
y 

  

Ongoing exploration of opportunities 

    

NT2: With partners explore 
sites and new technologies 
for electricity generation, 
storage and management 
across different end uses 
(EVs, heat, industry, 
hydrogen, etc.) 

n/a n/a n/a On track, continuing to explore sites 
and technologies, including for different 
uses - hydrogen etc. 

    

NT3: Install electric power 
points in 3 main market 
places to replace diesel 
generators 

£30,000 Yes n/a 3 new electric power points in Durham 
City market place. Not cost effective to 
do Bp Auckland. Once installation is 
complete we will review how they are 

    

P
age 802



utilised in order to decide upon future 
investment. 

NT4: Solar Car Ports (with 
batteries) on car parks 
including park and ride and 
other public car parks to 
power electric buses and 
vehicles 

£5 million No n/a Minimal progress. Land acquisition 
nearly complete for 1 site. Waiting for 
draft inernal report. Further 
development of PV generation output 
and used. Escalated through EVWG. 

   

B
u

ild
in

gs
 a

n
d

 H
e

at
 

Business 
Support 

BS1: Projects to support 
SMEs to reduce their energy 
use including Business 
Energy Efficiency Project 

ERDF 
funded 

Yes n/a 

  

Close to target for Q3 businesses 
assisted with five grants also provided. 
Q4 number of businesses coming 
foward slowing down but this quarter is 
already proving to be a record quarter 
for grants awarded.     

BS2: Network of larger 
businesses to support SMEs 
with energy efficiency  

n/a n/a n/a No progress 

    

BS3: Shared business 
clustering - Bishop Auckland 

£200,000 Yes n/a No progress 
    

BS4. Increase in the 
proportion of local food 
grown and sold in the 
County. A thriving local 
agricultural sector supplying 
food to local markets 

n/a n/a Durham 
Food 
Group 

Local Food strategy in development. 
Funding yet to be found for CERP 
projects by partnership. DCA having a 
restructure.  

    

BS5.Work with BEIS and 
other partners to help 
develop a national process 
to support SMEs on energy 
efficiency. BASEE Project 

£20,000 Yes BEIS Meeting due early Dec 2020 to discuss 
progress.  

    

P
age 803



BS6. Pilot research to 
explore changes to 
application of Business Rates 
to remove disincentives to 
installation of renewable 
energy or efficiency 
measures 

£40,000 Yes n/a Invoiced Nov 2020 

    

Sustainable 
Tourism 

ST1. Develop a project to 
support energy efficiency in 
smaller tourism and food 
related businesses, learning 
from international best 
practice through SME Power 
and support the work of the 
Durham Food group  

n/a part funded 
through 
Interreg 
Europe 

n/a 

  

SME Power has started looking at Good 
Practice from other partners and one 
has delivered a hospitality project which 
we will investigate.  Lack of direction 
from national Government on Shared 
Prosperity Fund or other support 
mechanisms will delay any scoping and 
implementation.     

Domestic D1. Advice - currently 
provided through DCC’s DCC 
- Durham County Council 
Managing Money Better 
service to private sector 
tenants and owners. 

£60,000 Yes (Warm 
Homes Fund 
and DCC 
funding) 

? 

  

Ongoing 

    

D2. Solid wall insulation 
scheme (250 homes) 

£500,000 No (ERDF 
bid) 

? Low Carbon ERDF Programme funding 
withdrawn April 2020 due to COVID – 
No bid possible     

D3. HEET project (Energy 
friends) 

£22,000 No (Interreg 
bid) 

? Horizon 2020 bid submitted 30th 
September 2020 – awaiting decision 
Dec 2020     

D4. Domestic Retrofit 
Measures 

£2,765M 
(estimate
d) 

No ? 
BEIS LAD1a bid successful £1.8M retrofit 
properties in Chilton and Dean Bank. 

    

D5. Work with landlords to 
improve building quality / 
energy efficiency / higher 

£100,000 Yes Private 
Landlord
s and 
Social 

LAD1b bid submitted Decemeber 20 for 
further 350 homes £3.8M 

    

P
age 804



standards and improve 
enforcement actions 

Housing 
Provider
s 

D6. Supporting low carbon 
heating in off gas homes 

£2M Yes (Warm 
Homes 
Fund) 

? 43 Renewable Air Source Heat pumps 
and first time central heating 
systems   have been installed in off gas 
grid homes across the County     

D7. Home energy efficiency 
loan scheme 

£150,000 
(pilot) 

In part? ? £75K  funding has been used to 
underwrite 25 Green Homes Grant top 
up loans     

NEW: SMART Metering ? ? NEA, UK 
Smart 
Meters 

Information, support and advice to 65+ 
residents across Durham  

    

NEW: Decarbonisation 
Pilot - 100 social homes 
with ASHPs, Battery and 
PV with EWI 

130,000   Believe; 
Livin; 
Karbon 

  

  

    

Geothermal 
Projects 

G1. Further develop a 
district heating scheme for 
Durham City including 
Freemans Reach, Passport 
Office, 

£150,000 No n/a 

  

Funding from BEIS has been secured to 
advance project to the business case. 

    

P
age 805



G2. Support and enable a 
deep geothermal district 
heat scheme for Bishop 
Auckland  

£4,810M ?? 
£2,886,000E
RDF 
application 
submitted 

Aucklan
d Castle 
Trust 

Extensive preparatory work has been 
completed on behalf of both The 
Auckland Project and BEIS by some of 
the UK’s leading geothermal experts. 
A recent techno-economic appraisal 
completed by Arup/BEIS confirmed 
viability and concluded that the scheme 
has the potential to deliver significant 
carbon savings and wider social benefits 
for the local population. TAP continue 
to seek funding to progress with more 
detailed development and for capital 
funding for the construction of the deep 
geothermal doublet well system and 
accompanying heat network. ERD bid 
not submitted 

    

G3. Undertake research to 
identify opportunities for 
mine-water and other 
sustainable heat (and 
cooling) schemes across 
County Durham – includes 
heat storage  

HeatHub 
(£15,000)
Durham 
university 
joint 
post,(£50,
000) 
Earth 
Sciences 
students 
free 
except for 
staff 
 time 

In part. 
Durham Uni 
contributed 
£15,000 

Durham 
Universit
y, Coal 
Authorit
y 

Students completed research on 
proximity of pumping stations to 
centres of population but concluded - 
limitied, financially viable opportunities. 
Ongoing review and research required. 

    

NEW: Hawthorn/Jade 

£25,000 No Coal 
Authorit
y 

Funding confirmed. Feasibility to 
progress in 2021. 

    

P
age 806



G4.Support a mine-water 
district heating scheme for 
Seaham Garden Village 

£3M Yes (HNIP 
confirmed) 

Coal 
Authorit
y 

HNIP funding received, project 
progressing to build out. 

    

G5. Assessment for use of 
pumped mine-water heat in 
Horden  

£25,000 Yes Coal 
Authorit
y 

Limited progress, Feedback from the 
TCA (a key partner) awaited.  

    

Tr
an

si
ti

o
n

 t
o

 E
V

 a
n

d
 S

u
st

ai
n

a
b

le
 T

ra
ve

l 

EV 
Infrastructure 

EV1. Install at least 100 
community backed EV 
charge points in more rural 
areas of County Durham 
within 5 minutes’ walk of 
properties without off-street 
parking (SOSCI Project) 

£1.25M Yes Commun
ity 
groups / 
organisa
tions 

  

First 50 EVCP units are ordered, 37 
expected to be fitted November for 
batch 1a. Progress is being made to 
identify batch 2 and 3 from the 246 
sites mapped out. 

    

EV2. Community EV 
infrastructure in more urban 
areas of the County 
(complements SOSCI) 

£200,000 No n/a Successful in bids outcomes WEVA and 
DOCs projects.  WEVA procurement 
tender going out for a contractor in next 
week. 10 EVCP to be fitted in the 
Stanhope area. Awaiting response from 
OLEV on the DOCs project.  

    

EV3.Facilitate the provision 
of ultra- rapid EV charging 
and EV filling stations where 
appropriate 

staff time n/a Commeri
cal 
Partners 

Rapid EVCPs planned for batch 1b in 
Belmont and Nevilles Cross. 

    

P
age 807



EV4. Encourage and 
incentivise commercial 
organisatio7ns to switch to 
EVs – especially taxis, fleet 
and delivery firms 

staff time n/a   SOSCI have received emails from 
businesses requesting charge points to 
enable them to change their fleet to EV. 
SOSCI is currently looking into 3 
locations  to assist a company car 
change. These are included in batch 3. 
Although the EVCP wont be solely 
designated to the business they will be 
for public to use as well. Car parks being 
used have 24-7 access to support 
business and over night charging. Also 
Highways England Bid - Try before you 
buy (Helen Grayshan) 

    

EV5. Explore two-way EV 
charging infrastructure as 
the technology develops 
(V2Street project) 

£4,500 Yes   Meeting held with Nissan and E-on to 
explore their V2G offer. A programme 
of site audits is to be undertaken, free 
of charge, on our depots and other 
suitable buildings to assess the 
potential.      

EV6. Investigate gaps in the 
network and opportunities 
for additional installations, 
including tourism hotspots 

staff time n/a Visit 
County 
Durham 

SOSCI continues to look into locations 
for best positions of EVCPs. Batch 1a 
includes Bowlees centre in Barnard 
Castle. Potential EVCPs in Crimdon dene 
caravan park.      

Alternative 
Fuels 

AF1.Work with partners to 
research new technologies 
for vehicle fuel such as 
hydrogen, bio gas, etc. 

staff time n/a NELEP, 
Regional 
Transpor
t Team, 
INTEGRA
L 

  

DCC not currently in a place to pursue 
funding hydrogen infrastructure in the 
County as the technology, nor demand, 
is not at the required level. Costs 
associated with this kind of technology 
are prohibitive at this time 

    

P
age 808



Cycling and 
Walking 
Strategy 

C1. Completion of Local 
Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans for 12 
main towns (LCWIPs) 

£280,000 Yes   

  

First 3 LCWIPs for DHM, CLS and NA will 
be complete by Jan 2021 (£70,000). 
Funding to be sought (ongoing) 

70,000   

C2. Park that Bike (2 years 
cost) 

£65,000 ?   New contract (£50K)  due to commence 
Jan 2021 and be complete by April 
2024. to deliver 300 stands and 6 secure 
bike stores     

C3. Construction of priority 
routes identified in LCWIPs 
and associated 
infrastructure 

£500,000 No   LCWIPs to be completed by end of Jan 
for 3 towns. Funding sought as 
mentioned 

    

C4. Complete construction 
of Great North Cycleway 
(NCN 725) 

£500,000 No   

 Construction continues in phases 
    

C5. Construct Cycling Super 
Routes linking key 
settlements within 5 miles of 
Durham City 

£500,000 No   

Brief for LCWIP Lite study  being drafted 

    

C6. Support the use of e-
bikes and e-cargo bikes 
especially for last mile 
deliveries 

? n/a   Support ongoing. New service on offer 
in Durham City working with various 
small businesses. 

    

Integrated 
Public 

Transport 

PT1. Comprehensively 
redesign / develop Durham 
City’s bus station as the 
County’s main bus 
interchange 

8M 
10.4M 

Yes   

  

£3.6m DfT funding (towards the 
estimate), is due to be drawn down at 
the Regional JTC on 19th Jan. No 
comms or publicity before then. 
Demolition to then start 15th Feb. 
Construction of new build in June 21, 
and opening in August 22.     

P
age 809



PT2. Extend real time 
information, journey 
planning software and 
interactive mapping 
information 

3.2M ? 
(Transformi
ng Cities 
Fund bid) 

  Existing County Durham Interactive 
Public Transport map to be retendered 
during 2021 with new contract starting 
April 2022. Enhancements made to 
Traveline North East journey planner 
July 2020.  Existing North East Real Time 
Passenger Information (RTPI) system to 
be replaced as part of regional project 
by December 2021.     

PT3. Identify and introduce 
bus priority measures in 
areas of need 

35000                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
£349,000 

? (TCF bid - 
2 projects) 
Yes £198K 
DfT Funding 

  This is Gilesgate and Shincliffe A177 bus 
lanes. £349k in total. £198k DfT funding 
contribution is due to be drawn down in 
September 2021.   Construction 
commencement in November 21 after 
New Elvet Bridge is complete. Open in 
Spring 22. 

    

PT4. Continue the 
commitment to underwrite 
a comprehensive bus 
network for the County 

£2.5M Yes   Covid emergency continues to be a 
major threat to viability of services due 
to distancing suppressing travel by bus. 
Covid Bus Service Support Grant 
assisting with increased net spend up to 
the end of social distancng measures. 
Work ongoing with major operators and 
regional colleagues on post-CBSSG 
network scenarios     

PT5. increased P&R 
provision 

£4.5M ? (Part of 
TCF bid - 
one 
additional 
site) 

  Investigating land aquisition at 
Stonebridge  
Commenced Land acquisition for 
extension at Sniperley  
Design of extra site 

    

P
age 810



PT6.  Bring in electric buses 
for the Durham City park 
and ride routes (cost per 
bus) 

£250,000 
per bus 

?   Options appraisal for bus/charging 
method Financial comparison of diesel 
versus E-bus options 
Identification of potential suppliers and 
technical discussions 
Assessing options for renewable energy 
provision through solar car ports 

    

PT7. Support a transition to 
ultra-low emission buses 
across the County (cost per 
bus) 

£25,000 
per bus 

? Bus 
compani
es 

National bus strategy delayed until 
around February 2021. Need to be seen 
whether previous government 
aspirations in respect of local bus 
services remains the same in the face of 
the impacts of covid-19     

Broadband B1. Reduce the need to 
travel through IT including 
increased roll out of high- 
speed broadband 
connectivity, especially in 
rural areas 

£8.54M Yes Digital 
Durham 

  

Contract 2 of the superfast programme 
is currently ongoing. Delivery under the 
contract, which includes coverage to 
other areas in the North East, is 
expected to be completed by Q1 21/22. 
Delivery to County Durham is expected 
to be completed during Q4 20/21. Note 
the budget has now increased due to 
additional work that was contracted for 
Tees Valley (original figure £8.54m) 

£8.4M 

  

Transport 
Behaviour 

TB1. Support a programme 
of sustainable travel 
awareness campaigns across 
all sectors and geographies 
in the county 

staff time No   

  

Campaign calendar developed for 
council staff. Measure delivered to 
promote & encourage sustainable travel 
choices 

    

P
age 811



TB2. Run a campaign to raise 
awareness of and prevent 
the pollution resulting from 
vehicle engines left idling 
(e.g. taxis, buses, school pick 
up etc) 

staff time No   We have liaised with local campaign 
groups about this but Covid has 
prevented any progress towards a wider 
campaign. In the interim we have 
established that DCC drivers are 
expected to turn their engines off when 
idling. Climate change awareness is now 
part of all staff job descriptions and this 
can be part of the future behaviour 
change programme     

TB3. Explore opportunities 
for an increase in car clubs 

staff time No   Currently exploring the potential for a 
model to develop additional car clubs 
with community groups across the 
county     

TB4. Support sustainable 
transport research projects 
with partners such as 
Decarbonate, etc. 

staff time n/a   We have supported urban foresight on 
an EV project in the North east. We are 
providing old EVCP units to Durham 
university.  

    

P
age 812



N
at

u
ra

l E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t/

A
gr

ic
u

lt
u

re
 

Policy Pol1.Explore the 
implementation of a Carbon 
Offsetting Fund for use by 
developers, businesses and 
their carbon and choose to 
support the programme of 
carbon storage schemes 
below 

£40,000 Yes North 
Pennines 
AONB, 
Forest 
Carbon 

  

1. DCC is working with AONB to identify 
sites and negotiate with land-owners to 
undertake Peatland code verification to 
create opportunities for carbon credit 
off-setting with businesses. The Raby 
estate is undertaking a carbon auditing 
exercise of it’s land assets as a result of 
the discussions. Two other land-owners 
have declared an interest in the 
Peatland code for the development of 
their Peatland assets. If/when a suitable 
site is made ready investment will be 
sought from Co Durham businesses 
wishing to off-set their residual CO2. 
Such a project would be the first of it’s 
kind in England. 
Projects and carbon credit off-setting 
opportunities expected to be available 
from Q3 2021. 
 
2. A new Woodland code opportunity 
has arisen close to Bishop Auckland. 13 
Hectares of farmland will be planted 
with 2000+ trees, mostly broad-leafed, 
from early in 2021. Once the quantity 
and mix of trees has been established 
the initiative will be measured and 
validated for carbon credits during the 
spring of 2021. Off-setting investment 
will be available from Q2/3 2021.  
The intention is to create a community 
woodland hub with investment from 
local businesses and enterprises. Local     

P
age 813



schools will be involved in the 
development, practically and 
educationally, together with local 
charities and the community in general. 

P
age 814



Peatland Peat1.  Enhance the rate of 
peatland restoration 
through the Peatland 
Programme with the AONB 
Partnership. 

£50,000 Yes 
(£50,000) 

North 
Pennines 

AONB  

  

On course to restore peatland 
identified. 

    

Harwood £173,771   

Holwick £259,708   

Valance Lodge £750,718   

Blue Carbon BC1. Blue carbon: off- shore 
oyster / mussel bed creation 
and kelp eco-system 
development (stores three 
times as much carbon as 
tree planting but Durham’s 
seabed has been badly 
damaged) 

£40,000 Yes Heritage 
Coast 
Partners
hip 

  

A regional Blue Carbon/Marine Habitat 
Restoration Group has formed. At the 
moment this includes EA, NE, DCC and 
the Tees Rivers Trust given their 
IMMERSE project. 
 
Initially this is bringing together current 
activity and sharing knowledge, 
experience and skills. There is a small 
number of pilot projects underway. 
 
Govt now have a marine strategy that 
supports this type of activity. 

  

Tree Planting TP1. Major tree planting and 
habitat creation schemes 
across the County to 
maximise carbon storage, 
working with partners, 
communities, AAPs, schools 
and landowners. 

£300,000 Yes Commun
ities, 
AAPS, 
Schools, 
Landown
ers 

  

Officer in post.  First batch of potential 
planting sites growd-truthed and sent to 
CPaL to check deeds and site 
constraints.  Report to Corporate 
Property Board to agree this procees, 
leading to a portfolio of planting sites 
has been approved. £15,421   

TP2. Support the Durham 
Woodland Revival project to 
manage and plant 
woodlands with partners, 

£820,000 
(4 years) 

Yes   Ongoing 

    P
age 815



landowners and 
communities  

TP3. Durham Hedgerow 
Partenrship 

£20,000/
pa 

Yes Durham 
Hedgero
w 
Partners
hip 

Hedge planting planting and 
management schemes now underway, 
to be completed by end of March 

    

TP4. Managing DCC 
woodland estate . 2000ha of 
DCC woodland under 
management, with Forestry 
Commission approved plans 

n/a n/a   Ongoing 

    

TP5. Tree Week grants for 
small projects in community 
and landowners 

£6,000/p
a Yes   

The scheme is now open and 
applications are coming in.  Planitng to 
be complete by end of March 2021 

    

TP6. Urban Tree Challenge 
Fund, to plant larger 
specimen trees in towns and 
villages £1M Yes 

Karbon 
Homes 
& 
Believe 

Yr 2 of the UTCF 1 is almost complete.  
UTCF 2 is also underway.  Several 
thousand whips currently being planted 
along with remianing standards.  This 
phase will be complete by the New Year 
then we will be on to the maintenance 
phase for the next 3 years. 

290,000   

Land 
Management 

LM1. With Durham 
University and other 
partners undertake a 
programme of research into 
the effectiveness of different 
natural carbon storage 
systems 

staff time n/a Durham 
Universit
y 

  

Once the new Environment and Climate 
Change Partnership is established this 
will become one of the areas of action 

    

P
age 816



LM2. Promote existing 
guidance for land managers 
across the County on 
maximising carbon storage 
(includes large land owners, 
T&P Councils, allotment 
holders, tourist destinations, 
etc) 

staff time n/a   Ongoing 

    

LM3. Implement an urban 
street tree replacement 
scheme including urban fruit 
trees 

? No   Ongoing 

    

LM4. Promote green 
infrastructure and green wall 
schemes alongside reduced 
mowing regimes and 
managed urban rewilding 
through the Planning 
process 

funded 
through 
S106 

n/a   No delivery in 2020, due to COVID 
issues.  Planning for work for 2021 
delivery has continued. 

    

AGR1. Consider how soil 
conservation, soil 
regenerative farming, and 
agro-ecology can be 
promoted with farmers and 
landowners 

staff time n/a Durham 
Food 
Group, 
NFU 

Discussions ongoing on various fronts -
including  NECCC partnership working 
groups and UK 100 coalition. Progress is 
expected once the new Climate 
Emergency Strategic Board is 
established, with this as a priority area 

    

W
as

te
 R

ed
u

ct
io

n
, R

eu
se

 a
n

d
 

R
ec

yc
lin

g 

Waste 
Management 

WM1. Consider the 
introduction of a food waste 
collection scheme to 
households across County 
Durham. 

? No   

  

Consultation round 2 indicated as still 
happening despite COVID and as early 
as January 2021. Strategic Waste 
continue to network with Defra and 
LARAC over this and await release of 
the consultation documents. 
Increasingly 2025 looks the more likely 
introduction date and not 2023 as 
originally envisaged.     

P
age 817



WM2. Promote and 
encourage home 
composting with carbon 
management guidance. 

? Yes   DCC actively promote and encourage 
residents to purchase subsidised home 
compost bins. See: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/composting 

    

WM3. Promote the uptake 
of garden waste collections 
to households across County 
Durham. 

? No   The start of the 2020 chargeable garden 
waste scheme was delayed this year by 
4 weeks to the current pandemic. 
Collections are being provided on 
Saturdays and Mondays in order to 
ensure resources are available for 
refuse and recycling collections from 
households to take place. There are 
currently approximately 61,000 
subscriptions to the service (£35 per bin 
subscription).  DCC have in-housed the 
operation and processing of the garden 
waste from this season at the Joint 
Stocks site at Coxhoe. The service is 
operating well and is well received by 
customers.      

WM4. Provide information 
and advice to residents, 
schools, businesses and 
community groups in order 
to facilitate awareness and 
behavioural change towards 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

? No   The strategic waste management team 
have carried out 71 number of 
community, school and business 
roadshow events in relation to 
sustainable waste management 
practices during April 2019 – March 
2020. This aspect of community 
engagement is currently on hold.      

P
age 818



Plastics Plas1. Continue to promote 
sign ups to the Single Use 
Plastics Pledge across 
Durham in order to 
encourage the reduction of, 
and seek alternatives to, the 
use of single use plastics 

? No   

  

The dedicated task group continues to 
promote the reduction of SUPs across 
DCC and County Durham. To date there 
are 272 sign ups from schools, 
community groups, businesses and 
individuals from across County Durham. 
There are 271 sign ups across County 
Durham to the Northumbrian Water 
Refill Scheme. A dedicated action plan is 
available for this area of work which 
links into the County Durham Climate 
Emergency Response Strategy.      

Procurement Proc1. Sustainable 
procurement – research and 
produce guidance on carbon 
reduction in procurement 
across all sectors 

staff time n/a NEPO? 

  

A short series of webinars with NEPO 
for SMEs on using environmental TOMs 
properly to increase chances of 
success..  NEPO are keen to do more on 
the environmental side.  
Work within DCC to select and improve 
the TOMs we use 

    

A
w

ar
en

e
ss

 R
ai

si
n

g 

Schools Sch1. Continue and grow 
schools work through OASES 
to include home energy 
awareness 

£20,000 
per 
annum 

? OASES 

  

Base contract has been extended for 
next year.  This will enable additional 
services such as home energy to be 
incorporated into it.  Initial scope 
drafted, undergoing review. Aim to start 
home energy project in first half of 
2021.  Programme start has been 
delayed due to Covid and furlough but 
plan to begin in early 2021 0   

P
age 819



Sch2. Children 4 Climate 
Change. In collaboration 
with Durham University 
OASES are working with 
schools across County 
Durham to understand 
climate science and provide 
active citizenship 
opportunities to raise raise 
awareness in communities 
through interactive website 

? ? OASES, 
Durham 
Universit
y 

The programme will work with 25 
schools in total. First six schools have 
completed: Crook Primary; Esh Winning 
Primary; Ribbon Academy; Timothy 
Hackworth Primary; Cockfield Primary; 
Cleves Cross Academy. Another 4 to 
complete by March 21. Programme 
involves awareness raising and climate 
research and production of green 
screen films by pupils to view on 
programme website http://c4cc.org.uk/  

zero from 
CERP TBC 

Communities Com1. Set up a revolving 
loan scheme to support 
carbon reduction projects 
across the community 

£500,000 No     HG been speaking to others in the 
Council on how they do it e.g. Housing - 
bringing homes back into use - existing 
models. Going to look at an external 
model too. Potentially 3 examples on 
how to administer it. Can we ask for a 
minimum carbon return - what is our 
criteria going to be? What are other 
local authorities doing? Putting a draft 
paper together for circulation round our 
team     

P
age 820



Com2. Large scale 
programme of awareness, 
involvement, to support 
behavioural change, and 
promote community 
grants/opportunities. 
Working with AAPs, Town 
and Parish Councils and 
other community 
organisations 

£50,000 ?   A number of challenges encountered 
internally due to the covid pandemic 
have had an impact on the delivery 
elements of this project. However we 
are now beginning development of the 
website, content material and branding, 
looking at internal and external 
practices on raising awareness 
(workshops, events etc) that will help 
communicate Climate Change. In 
addition there is a programme of 
communications and engagement 
activities being developed which again 
will look at internal and external 
audiences which entails working with 
corporate comms, AAP's and partners. 

  

Com3. Set up and manage 
an online interactive website 
for the climate emergency 

staff time n/a   Falls under Comm2 

    

Com4. What you can do 
section for Website 

staff time n/a   Falls under Comm2 
    

Com5. Engage with local, 
technical expert 
organisations in order to 
align research, development 
and investment priorities 

staff time n/a   Falls under Comm2 

    

Com6. Work in partnership 
with public health bodies on 
shared goals such as active 
travel and wellbeing 

staff time n/a Public 
Health 

Falls under Comm2 

    

Com7. Promote the 
Environment Awards, in 
particular the Innovation 

staff time n/a   Some delay, but progressing  

    P
age 821



and Climate Change 
categories 

Research and 
Innovation 

RES1. Engage in multiple 
joint research projects with 
Durham University and 
Energy Institute to actively 
engage students on our 
work and add extra research 
capacity to our work.  

staff time n/a Durham 
Universit
y 

  For the third year in succession an 
excellent group of Earth Sciences 
students are undertaking research for 
us on technical mine water heat 
challenges.The INCLUDE project is 
providing us with a researcher for one 
year to explore social inclusion in our 
work. A Masters student has just 
completed a detailed assessment of 
carbon opportunities for Durham. 
Partners from the DEI Board are 
working with us on a range of technical 
issues.     

RES2. Work across the 
region with Local Authority 
partners and the NELEP in 
order to develop regional 
projects and to learn from 
regional best practice. 

staff time n/a NELEP  Work continues to progress. Best 
practice being shared amongst local 
authorities (provide examples). 

    

 

P
age 822



 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

17 March 2021 
 
Woodland Management Overview 

and Tree Planting Opportunities 

with Young People 

 

Ordinary Decision 

 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Service 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Education 

 
Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. To outline the range of measures underway in managing the 
County Council’s woodlands and expanding tree cover across the 
County. 

 
2. To seek approval to a scheme designed to maximise young 

people’s involvement with tree planting activities. 
 

Executive Summary 
 

3. The Council owns approximately 1800ha of woodland across 170 sites 
throughout the county, which is 10% of the County’s total woodland 
resource.  Over 300ha of this woodland is ancient.  These woodlands 
have generally existed since 1600 and have considerable wildlife and 
historical value, which if lost is irreplaceable. 

Page 823

Agenda Item 10



 

 

4. Appropriate management of these sites offers a major opportunity for 
improving the carbon performance of woodlands and their role in 
tackling climate change.  It will also increase amenity value, benefit 
wildlife conservation and enhance the quality and range of timber 
products and other ecosystem services that woodlands can provide. 

5. Since 2000, the Council, with partners, has planted nearly a million 
trees on over 500ha of land as well as planting or restoring nearly 200 
miles of hedgerow.  Over 500 ha of woodland have been in UKWAS 
(UK Woodland Assurance Scheme, standard for verifying sustainable 
woodland management) since 2007. 

6. There are also several more recent improvements and initiatives now in 
place that are continuing to build on this work.  This includes Durham 
Woodland Revival, the Urban Tree Challenge Fund, the Durham 
Woodland Creation Programme, the North Pennines A68 Corridor 
Project and the proposed North East Community Forest. 

7. The Council approved a Climate Change Emergency Response Action 
Plan which identified woodland creation and tree planting as being a 
priority area of activity.  In response, the Durham Woodland Creation 
Programme was established last August to establish new woods whilst 
maximising opportunities for community engagement in tree planting.  
The programme has ambitious aims to plant 10,000 trees in each of the 
14 Area Action Partnerships. 

8. There is now opportunity within this programme to plant, over the next 
three years, a tree for every school child across the county, equivalent 
to 69,000 trees, working in partnership with the charity OASES, County 
Durham’s Outdoor And Sustainability Education Specialists.  
Experience from schools, including the Children and Young People’s 
Forum, reveals a strong interest in climate change, and this initiative 
affords an opportunity from an early age, to make a contribution, as well 
as learn more about the valuable role of trees in the environment of the 
County. 

Recommendations 
 
9. Cabinet is recommended to: 

 
(a) note the range of measures underway in managing the County 

Council’s woodlands and expanding its tree cover, 
 

(b) support the commitment to plant the equivalent of a tree for every 
school child, to be achieved through a combination of the Council’s 
Woodland Creation Programme in collaboration with OASES.  

Page 824



 

 

Background 
 
10 The Durham Woodland Revival programme is led by Durham County 

Council and is supported by National Lottery Heritage Fund and other 
partners.  The programme is now established and will run for another 
three years with the aim of restoring and reconnecting woodlands in 
County Durham. 

11 A dedicated team has been working to give landowners and people 
opportunities to learn about, enjoy and re-imagine a purpose for their 
woodlands.  It also includes the establishment of 60ha of new woodland 
across three sites.  Planting has started this winter at a 10.5 ha site at 
West Cornforth. 

 
12 Management of Council-owned woodland is now being coordinated by 

an internal cross-service Trees and Woodland Workstream chaired by 
Head of Environment.  This provides clear direction and coordination of 
woodland management and operations across the Council. 

 
13 All of the woodlands owned by the Council now have Forestry 

Commission approved management plans, unique for councils in the 
region and possibly nationally.  As such, they are eligible for the 
Woodland Improvement Grant Scheme, a DEFRA grant which will fund 
a five-year work programme to bring neglected woodlands back into 
management and improve the condition of ancient woodland.  A forestry 
consultant is assisting with the application, which is timetabled for a 
September 2021 submission.  The funding will be in the region of  
£0.5 -1 million, and more importantly, secure improved woodland 
management. 

 
14 The thinning programme that began in 2013 is ongoing.  This has 

generated an income of around £70,000 for the Council as well as 
releasing timber onto local markets and stimulating the forest economy. 

 
15 The Council was successful in Urban Tree Challenge Fund (UTCF) both 

rounds one and two, with almost £500,000 being awarded.  This work is 
now fully complete, with 1,200 large trees and 12,000 small trees across 
towns and villages being planted this and last winter.  All are either 
located well away from houses or are of a low growing species, not to 
cause future problems. 

 
16 The Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP) is supporting a four-

year countywide Woodland Creation Programme to establish 10,000 
trees in each of the 14 AAPs.  As part of this, a Woodland Creation 
Officer was appointed in August 2020 to work with the Corporate 
Property and Land and local communities to identify and plant up 
suitable Council-owned sites. 

Page 825



 

 

17 The North Pennines AONB & A68 Corridor is a joint project with the 
Council and the North Pennines AONB, Woodland Trust and Forestry 
Commission.  The area to the west of the A68 has been identified in the 
County Durham Landscape Strategy as one of the few areas in the 
county suitable for large scale woodland creation.  The project officer is 
working to engage with private landowners to advise on woodland 
creation schemes and management plans using funding mechanisms to 
secure results. 

18 The north east has been targeted by the Government to create a 
Community Forest (CF).  Newcastle City Council is leading the bid to 
establish the CF with England’s Community Forests (ECF).  If 
successful the Forest Partnership Team will comprise of six local 
authorities: Newcastle, Durham, South Tyneside, North Tyneside, 
Gateshead and Sunderland.  County Council officers have been 
involved with the core working group since the initial draft bid was 
released by Newcastle City Council last August.  A final submission was 
made at the end of February 2021, with the outcome expected by early 
April 2021. 

19 England Community Forests has already been successful with its ‘Trees 
for Climate’ bid to Defra to access £640 million from the national Nature 
for Climate Fund for a 5-year programme of planting which will secure 
£17k/ha for new woodland within CFs.  This fund will also match 
revenue posts raised by the partners in the proposed North East 
Community Forest. 

20 If successful, the forest staff and plan will be in place next year and the 
first trees will go in the ground over winter 2021/22.  In County Durham, 
these are likely to be Council-owned sites identified under the Woodland 
Creation Programme. 

Tree Planting Opportunities for Young People 

21 The Woodland Creation programme will be the main vehicle to achieve 
a ‘Tree for Every Child’ ambition, announced at County Durham 
Environment Partnership awards 2020.  The idea is to plant a tree for 
each of the 69,000 school children of County Durham to help tackle 
climate change.  This will be done in collaboration with OASES 
(Outdoor and Sustainability Education Specialists), to enable school 
planting activities over the next four years. 

22 Ideally each of the county’s 69,000 school children would physically 
plant a tree but given financial and logistical constraints, a more 
pragmatic approach has been proposed by allocating a proportion of the 
planting target across five schools from each of the county’s 14 AAPs, 
with the remainder being planted through the  Woodland Creation 
programme and the Heritage Lottery-funded Durham Woodland Revival 

Page 826



 

 

(DWR) project.  Discussions are underway with the Woodland Trust to 
plan opportunities at the three new woodland sites at Frankland, 
Thornley and West Cornforth, once Covid restrictions allow. 

23 OASES is a charity, based in Esh Winning, that has been successfully 
delivering and promoting outdoor learning and global sustainability for 
over 20 years with excellent links with County Durham schools.  It has 
agreed to develop educational resources and deliver an educational 
programme of practical tree planting events to enable pupils to 
appreciate their contribution towards meeting the carbon reduction 
target of the CERP. 

24 The costs of engaging OASES and for all items such as trees and 
educational materials is £74,000 and will be funded through the CERP.  
This will enable whole school planting activities to take place over the 
next 4 years and involve as many children as possible. 

25 Planting will be across a range of sites, the majority being on Council 
owned land which has approval for tree planting through the Woodland 
Creation programme.  The remainder will be on participating school 
sites with enough land to accommodate planting as appropriate to the 
availability of space and maintenance regime.  The scheme is 
programmed to continue until July 2024. 

26 The OASES team will plan and coordinate all activity, ensuring all 
appropriate risk assessments are in place.  In addition to tree planting, 
OASES will work with younger school age children to collect and plant 
local tree seeds to create small tree nurseries that can be planted out at 
a later date. 

27 The approach of working across all AAPs is intended to achieve the 
broadest engagement opportunity across the whole county and it is 
anticipated that approximately 10,500 school children will be directly 
engaged from the 70 schools during the four year programme.  To 
ensure we are as inclusive as possible the project will involve Year 5 
and 6 children who are looked after by Durham LA as part of a transition 
programme that reflects their hopes and dreams for the future.  This will 
involve about 85 children from 55 different primary schools across 
County Durham. 

28 Each participating child will plant at least one tree (ideally more) and 
every tree is to be recorded.  There will be a variety of species being 
introduced to sites comprising small whips which generally take well 
once introduced and offer the best value for money.  It is likely that 
further interest in small scale tree planting projects by additional schools 
can be accommodated using trees from the Woodland Trust or other 
sources such as The Orchard Project.  The educational resources will 
be phased in appropriately and provide extension learning activities to 
be used before and after the tree planting sessions. 

Page 827



 

 

29 A trial planting day took place at South Stanley Junior School on 26 
November 2020.  The Woodland Creation Officer along with OASES 
staff and most of the pupils, staff and parent helpers, planted over 400 
small whip trees around the perimeter of the school grounds.  It worked 
well, incorporating social distancing rules, and the school was delighted 
with the outcome. 

30 Each site and precise location of tree planting will be carefully assessed 
to ensure suitability for planting, and checks made to ensure that it does 
not conflict with other future planned uses, including development.  
Furthermore, the exact location of planting and species will be selected 
to ensure they do not pose problems as they grow, thereby avoiding 
issues (especially in urban areas) such as shading to housing or 
damage to drainage that might arise.  The Council sites will be 
maintained by the Clean and Green team, drawing down resources for 
day to day maintenance for forestry and other grants when available.  
Under the guidance of the Council’s Civic Pride Teams there may also 
be opportunity for volunteer involvement with these developing 
woodlands. 

Conclusion 

31 The Council has an excellent track record in woodland creation, with 
nearly a million trees planted since 2000.  Furthermore, we are one of 
few local authorities nationally that have a Forestry Authority approved 
management plan for all of its woodland sites, paving the way for grant 
income towards maintenance programmes. 

32 The Council has had recent success in obtaining funding for a range of 
schemes including Durham Woodland Revival (with support from 
National Lottery Heritage Fund), and the Urban Tree Challenge (with 
support from Defra).  A bid to Government has recently been submitted 
for establishment of a North East Community Forest, covering six local 
authorities, including County Durham, which would bring increased 
incentives for tree planting. 

33 A key opportunity for engagement is with young people, many of whom 
are interested in the natural environment and keen to make a difference 
in tackling climate change.  A specific project has therefore been 
developed involving schools and each of the Area Action Partnerships, 
which over the next three years, would afford opportunity for tree 
planting, and a contribution to the future environment of our county. 

Authors 

Sue Mullinger Tel: 03000 267033 

Rich Hurst Tel: 03000 265089 

 

 

Page 828



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 
 
 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP) funding will cover the amount 
required to deliver the project (£74,000).  The remaining costs will be met 
through time allocated to the project by the Woodland Creation Officer, who 
will be working with OASES to identify and assess suitable planting sites.  This 
is work that the post holder is currently undertaking in order to reach planting 
targets for the Woodland Creation programme and as such, there will be no 
additional costs to the Council. 

Future management and maintenance costs which exist for DCC are to be 
identified and subject to external grant funding, such as Forestry Commission 
grant which is available for certain sites.  In some cases, where the planting is 
on mown amenity grassland, maintenance costs will be reduced through the 
planting of trees. 

Consultation 

The consultation on the CERP carried out in 2019 revealed that 52% of 
respondents (out of 1,025 responses) identified tree planting as a priority in 
tackling climate change. 

70 schools will be recruited which will involve around 12,600 pupils.  This will 
result in the establishment of approximately 8,400 trees, plus local tree seed 
nurseries established. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

No impact. 

Climate Change 

A woodland area of 70 ha has the potential to store almost 30,000 tonnes of 
carbon, based on Woodland Trust figures. It will provide an important 
contribution towards the newly agreed Climate Emergency target of achieving 
carbon neutrality for County Durham by 2050. 

Human Rights 

No impact. 

  

Page 829



 

 

Crime and Disorder 

No impact. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

Appointment of OASES is being finalised by Corporate Procurement in line 

with the Council’s contract procedure rules. 

 

Page 830



 

  

 Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Durham County Council Chargepoint 

Delivery Plan 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

County Wide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To adopt the Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan 
(CPDP) as an internal delivery plan.  It sets out 5 Key Actions which will 
facilitate the uptake of Electric Vehicles (EVs) across County Durham 
for residents, business and the Council’s own fleet and complement the 
Council’s Climate Emergency Response Plan. 

Executive summary 

2 The Government has made a commitment through legislation that the 
country will reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050.  A series of policy 
documents repeatedly highlights transport as the most carbon intensive 
sector of the UK economy, and proposes that electric vehicles (EVs) are 
the greatest opportunity to significantly reduce road transport emissions.  
Ahead of the UK hosting the Conference of the Parties (COP) in 2021, 
the Government has announced that new petrol, diesel and some 
hybrid cars and vans will be phased out by 2030, confirming the role of 
EVs in decarbonising road transport. 

3 Durham County Council itself declared a climate emergency in February 
2019.  The national award winning Climate Emergency Response Plan 
(CERP) was agreed by the Council, and the accompanying Climate 

Page 831

Agenda Item 11



Emergency Action Plan (CEAP) outlined specific areas that the Council 
will focus on to reduce its carbon emissions in the short term, which 
includes the decarbonisation of transport.  

4 The Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan (CPDP) follows 
on from the CERP and sets out 5 key actions the Council will undertake 
to facilitate EV take up.  

5 Working to improve chargepoint access at this relatively early stage in 
the switch to EVs will ensure that County Durham has the infrastructure 
in place to support increasing demand for chargepoints as more and 
more people switch to EVs, thereby making the transition as smooth as 
possible. 

6 The actions in this plan form one part of a much broader national and 
global shift towards decarbonising vehicles.  In addition to work being 
done locally, this shift will require the Government to invest in the rapid 
charging network along our strategic roads, implement a range of 
promotional campaigns and fiscal stimulants to lower the price of EVs, 
and reinforce the national grid so it provides sufficient capacity to supply 
chargepoints in an integrated and flexible manner.  Research and 
innovation will also improve the efficiency of EVs and increase the 
range of battery storage.  Ultimately, these broader national initiatives 
will make purchasing EVs more attractive, affordable and attainable for 
Durham residents. 

Key Actions of the Chargepoint Delivery Plan 

7 The CPDP has 5 key actions which will help facilitate the 
decarbonisation of transport in line with the CERP: 

• Action 1 - Leading by example; 

• Action 2 - Develop a network of public chargepoints; 

• Action 3 - Provide charging infrastructure for the Council's fleet; 

• Action 4 - Support appropriate private sector proposals for 
charging infrastructure; and 

• Action 5 - Other EV opportunities: pursuing partnership, funding 
and education. 

Recommendations 

8 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree the adoption of the Durham County Council Chargepoint 
Delivery Plan as an internal delivery plan. 

  

Page 832



Background 

9 The Government has made a commitment through legislation that the 
country will reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050.  A series of 
national policy documents including the Clean Growth Strategy (2017), 
the UK Industrial Strategy (2017) and the Road to Zero Strategy (2018) 
repeatedly highlights transport as the most carbon intensive sector of 
the UK economy.  They all identify the take up of electric vehicles (EVs) 
as a great opportunity to significantly reduce road transport emissions. 

10 Durham County Council declared a climate emergency in February 
2019.  A Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP) has since been 
produced by the Council, which outlines specific areas that the Council 
will focus on to have the greatest impact on reducing its carbon 
emissions in the short term.  Transport, and the decarbonisation of the 
Council’s fleet vehicles in particular, are identified by the CERP as a key 
action area. 

11 Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan (CPDP) identifies 
specific actions the Council will undertake to increase the chargepoint 
network in County Durham to facilitate the take up of EVs. 

The Ultra-Low Emissions Vehicle Working Group (ULEV WG)  

12 To deliver the fundamental national and local policy shift outlined above, 
the Council created an officer led Ultra-Low Emissions Vehicle Working 
Group (ULEV WG).  The ULEV WG has been meeting once a month 
since the beginning of 2019.  The group includes officers from across 
the Council including Spatial Policy, Legal, Transport, Low Carbon 
Team, Corporate Property and Land, Procurement, Funding and 
Programmes and Fleet. 

13 The purpose of the group is to ensure the Council is working in a joined-
up manner when developing workstreams linked to the roll out of EV 
infrastructure.  The group reports to the interim Head of Transport and 
Contract Services following each meeting.  Workstreams are varied but 
are focused around research, funding bids and the practicalities of 
delivering chargepoints on the ground. 

14 This CPDP sets a clear delivery plan and working framework for this 
DCC cross-departmental working group. 

Summary of Chargepoint Delivery Plan 

15 The 5 key actions of the CPDP are summarised below and they 
describe practical actions which will enable the Council and its partners 
to help decarbonise transport.  All subsequent actions in the CPDP are 

Page 833



underpinned by Action 1 which sets the principal that the Council should 
lead by example when facilitating the take up of EVs across the county. 

Action 1 – Leading by Example 

16 The first priority for the Council in the CPDP is to lead by example.  This 
action underpins the Council’s attitude and response to the following 
four actions contained in the delivery plan.  The Council will ‘lead by 
example’ when we provide chargepoints at Council sites, use EVs in our 
Council fleet, improve public chargepoint access for residents, facilitate 
appropriate private sector proposals and bring partners together for EV 
innovation, funding, EV awareness and learning opportunities. 

17 This sector is evolving quickly so it is anticipated that the Council may 
need to review the Chargepoint Delivery Plan on a regular basis.  Action 
1 states the CPDP will need to be updated regularly to take into account 
changes to national policy, technology and the market for low emission 
vehicles. 

Action 2 – Develop a Network of Public Chargepoints 

18 Durham is a large, predominantly rural county where many households 
do not have access to off-street parking.  A big barrier for people in 
considering an EV for the first time is range anxiety and concern about 
access to charging, and in a county where 40% of households are 
terraced and so not likely to have access to off-street parking, the 
Council has a major role to play.  This action therefore aims to set up a 
countywide charging network to enable equal opportunity for everyone 
to access charging infrastructure in a safe and convenient location, so 
that more residents feel confident making the switch to an EV.  Related 
to this action, the Council will also produce a complimentary guidance 
note that sets out the safety and licensing conditions for those residents 
that want to charge on-street outside their homes and who don’t benefit 
from having off-street parking. 

19 This action recognises that many residents do not own homes with off-
street parking.  Some residents will be concerned about the affordability 
and upfront costs of purchasing new electric vehicles, which are 
generally higher than for a comparable petrol or diesel vehicle.  The car 
manufacturing industry has yet to develop the same range and variety 
of electric vehicles for the market as are available with fossil fuel 
engines.  There is also a lack of a second-hand market for electric 
vehicles which serves to discourage the take up. 

20 However, this situation is changing quickly as manufacturers bring new 
models to the market, prices reduce and battery life increases.  There 
are already ‘whole life’ affordability and cost benefits of buying an EV.  

Page 834



They are cheaper to fuel and maintain and currently there is no charge 
for road tax.  Providing more charging options for those without off-
street parking, will encourage residents to buy electric. 

21 The Council, often working in partnership with other organisations, has 
led the way and has won funding from multiple sources to put 160 new 
public chargepoints in some of our less commercially viable areas to 
improve charging access.  Several projects are now underway, with the 
first batch of 35 public chargepoints already installed across the County, 
on Council land.  These 35-brand new chargepoints replaced 21 of the 
Council’s ageing existing stock and provided an additional 14 new 
chargepoints to boost the existing public supply.  These charge points 
were installed in January 2021 in Chester-le-Street, Consett, Seaham 
and Stanley.  There are three chargepoints from the Council's original 
network remaining, which will be replaced by the end of March 2021.  
These three final installations will complete the Council's renewal of our 
own charging network with brand new, up to date chargepoints. 

22 The locations of the remaining batches are being informed by 
discussions with elected members, AAP’s, Town and Parish Councils 
and members of the public who have registered interest on the project’s 
webpage.  The next batch of 8 chargepoints due to be installed in April 
2021 will include new 2 new rapid chargepoints at Belmont Park and 
Ride and Nevilles Cross.  Later in 2021, the Weardale Electric Vehicle 
Accelerator (WEVA) project will see 10 new chargepoints installed in 
Stanhope. 

23 This leaves a clear role for the Council in the short term in providing 
chargepoints in more challenging, less commercially viable areas, and 
in its own car parks to encourage and enable people to switch to an EV.  
These include town and larger village centres and employment and 
retail destinations where there are no existing alternatives and 
achieving better provision across rural and terraced areas around the 
county, beginning with areas where existing car ownership rates are 
relatively high. 

Action 3 – Provide Charging Infrastructure for the Council's Fleet  

24 The Council operates a substantial fleet of vehicles for officer use, a 
working fleet of vans and refuse collection vehicles.  Replacing these 
vehicles with EVs when they are due for renewal will make a significant 
contribution to reducing the Council’s own carbon emissions and 
improve the visibility of EVs in the county.  The Council recently 
purchased its first fully electric refuse collection vehicle. 

25 The Council has provided increased charging options at 8 depots when 
it installed 27 new EV posts in 2020 and will continue to increase 

Page 835



provision at other locations in the county while continuing to replace 
vehicles with EVs where appropriate.  The Council has costed plans to 
redevelop the Morrison Busty depot as a low carbon site.  The Council 
will also explore options to provide charging solutions for essential DCC 
vehicles that are required to be kept at officers’ homes overnight. 

Action 4 - Support appropriate private sector proposals for charging 
infrastructure 

26 Many private sector chargepoints fall under permitted development 
rights and so the Council does not have control over where they should 
be located.  Where permission is required, such as for purpose-built EV 
charging stations, the Council will work in a proactive way with private 
operators to facilitate an appropriate location.  This will help support a 
greater range of charging options around the county. 

27 Businesses are increasingly interested in switching to EVs due to their 
lower running costs and environmental benefits.  The Council will work 
with interested businesses to share information and support them to 
make the switch.  

Action 5 – Other EV Opportunities: Pursue partnerships, funding and 
education 

28 As the Government is keen to facilitate the switch to EVs nationally, it 
has offered financial support through loans and grants for vehicles, 
chargepoints, and trials of new charging solutions.  The Council, 
working in partnership with multiple private and public sector 
organisations, has been successful in bidding for these funds, with 
funding secured for 160 chargepoints to support people without access 
to off-street parking, to redevelop the Morrison Busty depot as a low 
carbon site and a to provide a rapid chargepoint for taxis in Chester-le-
Street.  The Council will continue to monitor relevant funding 
opportunities and prepare bids where appropriate. 

29 Greater knowledge about the benefits of EVs and financial help 
available will help to increase EV uptake in County Durham.  Many 
people are not aware of how EV’s work and the benefits of EVs.  People 
are unfamiliar with where to charge; how much it will cost and how often 
they will need to charge EVs.  More information should be provided on 
the potential benefits in reducing noise and air pollution in our towns 
and villages and the potential ‘whole life’ affordability costs of buying an 
EV. 

30 The Council is therefore committed to disseminating the latest 
information and best practice on Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs), 
including via the Council's website for the benefit of its partners, 

Page 836



residents and businesses.  The following information will be continually 
updated:  

• information related to ULEV innovation, research, projects and 
events; 

• funding initiatives to help residents and business access funding 
opportunities for new EV infrastructure; and 

• locational information and links on where residents and business 
can access chargepoints in the county. 

31 Though the Council has bid for funding for both taxis and buses too, the 
Council's ability to influence change is reduced for these sectors.  The 
role of the Council in these sectors is mainly working in partnership with 
the Joint Transport Committee and private bus and taxi companies to 
help them co-ordinate funding opportunities.  Working within the region 
is also covered in Action 5. 

Conclusion 

32 By pursuing and implementing these 5 Key Actions, the Council will 
increase the number and quality of chargepoints across the county.  
This will help achieve local and national de-carbonisation targets, 
improve air quality, and make financial savings for the Council in the 
long term. 

33 Working to improve chargepoint access at this relatively early stage in 
the switch to EVs will ensure that County Durham has the infrastructure 
in place to support increasing demand for chargepoints as more and 
more people switch to EVs, thereby making the transition as smooth as 
possible. 

Next steps 

34 Once adopted by Cabinet, the ULEV working group will use the CPDP 
as an internal delivery plan, implementing the 5 Key Actions to facilitate 
the delivery of the necessary chargepoints in the County in the short to 
medium term. 

35 This sector is evolving quickly so it is anticipated that the Council may 
need to review the Chargepoint Delivery Plan on a regular basis.  Action 
1 states the CPDP will need to be updated regularly to take into account 
changes to national policy, technology and the market for low emission 
vehicles. 

  

Page 837



Authors 

Peter Ollivere Tel: 03000 261915 

Rebecca Winlo Tel: 03000 263402 

 

  

Page 838



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Planning applications and traffic regulation orders to be processed for 
respective projects where required. 

Legal, Corporate Land and Property and Procurement attend the ULEV WG 
so have an oversight of all workstreams related to the Chargepoint Delivery 
Plan.  They have all been involved in all procurement contracts relating to the 
chargepoint installation. 

Finance 

The Council was awarded £263,000 as part of a £3.5 million project that has 
the potential to deliver 100 new EV charging posts in Durham as part of the 
Scaling on Street Charging Infrastructure (SOSCI) fund.  Finance from this 
project enabled the Council to appoint an EV Officer who has now been in 
post for 10 months and is leading in delivering this and other EV projects on 
behalf of the Council. 

Ongoing maintenance costs for the new infrastructure, will be paid by 
suppliers of chargepoints and will be taken from ongoing revenues.  The 
charge posts will be cost neutral for the Council. 

The Council has now installed Chargepoints at its key depot sites and this 
provision will need to be increased rapidly to enable the Council to electrify the 
fleet.  The Low Carbon team is currently working out detailed business plans 
to predict the likely financial impact of these additional chargepoints.  These 
costs will need to be considered against the maintenance and fuel saving 
costs that going electric will achieve. 

Early work has demonstrated that fuel savings would vary for different vehicle 
types.  However, a saving of 50% on fuel savings across the different fleet 
vehicle types would be a reasonable assumption. 

Consultation 

The requirement for a public consultation was screened out by COG who 
classified the CPDP as a category two project so there was no requirement to 
undertake public consultation as it has been developed to support the Climate 
Emergency Response Plan that was subject to a full public consultation. 

Specific site consultations for new infrastructure are occurring as part of the 
SOSCI (Scaling on street Charging infrastructure) project, where the lead 
project officer is engaging with the Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) elected 
members and local Town and Parish Councils. 

Page 839



At the recent online AAP events, access to EV chargepoints was raised on a 

number of occasions as a key issue for local communities. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The document has been subject to EQIA (Appendix 2) with accessibility 
groups targeted for consultation.  The Chargepoint Delivery Plan has potential 
to have impacts on all protected characteristic groups but the actions should 
have a particularly positive impact on all groups.  The Council, via the 
Chargepoint Delivery Plan, has a major role to play in enabling residents who 
live in terraced properties equal opportunity to accessing chargepoints. 

Issues were raised in the EQIA, the Equalities team about running charging 
cables across the footway.  This issue will inform a separate but 
complimentary Council guidance note that sets out the safety and licensing 
conditions for those residents that want to charge on-street outside their 
homes and who don’t benefit from having off-street parking.  This safety 
guidance should ensure that there is no detrimental impact on any groups. 

Climate Change 

The project has significant carbon saving potential and will positively 
contribute to both Council and countywide carbon reduction targets. 

The Chargepoint Delivery Plan responds to the Council’s declaration of a 
climate emergency, the Climate Emergency Response Action Plan and how 
the Council has ambitions to switch to more sustainable transport modes, 
including Electric Vehicles.  The Council recognises that switching to zero 
carbon buses and taxis could also help support the reduction of carbon 
emissions in the county. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

All officers including specialist EV officer are already in post. 

  

Page 840



Accommodation 

A key way to help ensure Council buildings become carbon neutral is through 
the development of onsite chargepoints to promote the electrification of the 
fleet and pool cars as well as encouraging Council staff to purchase EVs. 

Risk 

There is a risk of not complying with carbon reductions targets in the Climate 
Emergency Response Plan if the CPDP is not adopted and implemented. 

Procurement 

Officers from procurement are active members of the ULEV WG have been 

working on procurement and contract issues related to both the SOSCI project 

and other projects developing as part of the ULEV WG. 

 

  

Page 841



Appendix 2:  Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Regeneration and Economic Growth 

Lead Officer 
 

Peter Ollivere  

Title 
 

EV Chargepoint Delivery Plan 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

N/A 

Start Date 
 

17th November 2020 

Review Date 
 

Prior to adoption 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

The delivery plan has been produced to guide and support the decarbonisation of 
road transport in County Durham.  It is a priority of this plan to encourage the 
uptake and use of electric vehicles. In order for people to be willing to choose an 
electric vehicle there needs to be sufficient chargepoints in the county to ensure 
confidence in the move from petrol and diesel vehicles.   
 
As part of the plan DCC aims to replace its own vehicles with electric vehicles 
(EVs) and so sufficient charging infrastructure will be needed around the county to 
support this transition. Much of the county’s housing is terraced streets with no off-
street parking, so provision for these households is also essential if petrol and 
diesel cars are to be phased out as early as 2030, as proposed by government.  
 

Page 842



The document sits under the Council’s Climate Emergency Response Action Plan, 
which sets out how the Council will decarbonise key areas, including transport, in 
the short term (2020-22). 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

General public, Council officers (particular those who regularly use a DCC vehicle 
or who drive to work), businesses  

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N N 

Disability 
 

Y Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N N 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

N N 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N  

Transgender 
 

N N  

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The impact of the installation of the charging units may have implications for 
disabled access – disabled parking bays should not be lost to provide EV 
chargepoints, but equally blue badge holders should be able to access vehicle 
charging. 
 
Action 2 refers to the requirement for some separate Council guidance for 
resident’s home charging where they don’t have off-street parking. This may result 

Page 843



in charging cables being ran across footpaths. This has the potential to have 
adverse impacts on wheelchair users or those with visual impairments, which will 
be addressed in the forthcoming safety and licensing guidance for residents. 
 
The plan suggests that training could be required for staff on how to drive an 
electric vehicle more efficiently. This could have a greater impact on officers who 
have learning difficulties or mental health problems. To mitigate this, reasonable 
adjustments will be incorporated into any training provided. 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The plan’s aim is to make electric vehicles more accessible with the goal of 
decarbonisation of road transport. The long term impacts will have positive health 
impacts for all groups, specifically those with disabilities or health conditions 
related to respiratory systems. 
 
The plan identifies that there is disparity in access to electric vehicles due to the 
upfront costs and scattered access to charging facilities, the plan includes actions 
to address these. These specific actions will have equality considerations also, 
e.g. proposals to improve access for areas of terraced housing and other parts of 
the county where there is currently less demand for electric vehicles due to socio-
economic factors. Work carried out under the plan will provide a chargepoint in 
each county to ensure roughly equal provision countywide. 
 
One of the Actions refers to the production of a separate but complimentary 
Council guidance note that sets out the safety and licensing conditions for those 
residents that want to charge on-street outside their homes and who don’t benefit 
from having off-street parking.  This safety guidance should ensure that there is no 
detrimental impact any groups. 
 
The proposal to help staff to get their own EV through the Council’s salary sacrifice 
scheme may disadvantage women, as they are more likely to work part time and 
so have a lower salary and therefore less disposable income to use on a new 
vehicle.  

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The Chargepoint Delivery Plan aims to improve chargepoint access in the county 
and therefore help its communities, economy and environment. It aims for equality 

Page 844



of opportunity across all equality protected characteristics. There is national, 
regional and local evidence available which shows that people from protected 
groups can face barriers in employment, access to services and information, 
participation in decision making and in consultation. 
 
Data on the type and distribution of housing around the county shows that many 
households will be unable to install a chargepoint due to lack of a designated 
parking space.   
 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 
 

Date: 18th November 2020 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
Ruth Ashton  
 

Date: 
 
19.11.20 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 845

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your 
conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and 
consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

The Chargepoint Delivery 
Plan will increase provision 
of chargepoints for all 
groups, including disabled 
people. Accessibility of CPs 
to disabled people will be 
addressed in a separate 
document, the Parking & 
Accessibility SPD.  
 
If training on efficient driving 
of EVs is provided to 
Council officers as vehicles 
are replaced over time, staff 
with learning difficulties etc 
may need more support. 
 
 
 
 
 

County Durham has 
a higher percentage 
of permanently sick 
and disabled people 
than the North East 
average, 
representing nearly a 
quarter of the overall 
population. 

1. Reasonable 
adjustments will be 
made where required 
 

2. Extra support with 
training on efficient 
use of EVs should be 
provided to staff who 
have disclosed a 
learning difficulty. 
 

3. Highlight the need to 
consider those with 
visual and mobility 
impairments in 
guidance for 
residents  

 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

Page 846



What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

Page 847



What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

This is an equality impact assessment of the Chargepoint Delivery Plan which has 
been produced in line with Government policy. The Plan aims to provide a 
significant increase in chargepoint numbers in the county, and will sit under the 
County’s Climate Emergency Response Plan. It aims to promote equality through 
its actions and improve access to chargepoints for electric vehicles in the county 
and therefore make communities more sustainable with greater options for how 
they travel.  
 
The Chargepoint Delivery Plan has potential to have impacts on all protected 
characteristic groups but the actions should have a particularly positive impact on 
all groups. This EQIA sets out potential negative impacts on disabled people, with 
specific actions suggested as to how these impacts will be addressed or mitigated.  
 

 
 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

Better chargepoint access will make communities more sustainable. Sustainable 
communities are communities in which people wish to live work and spend time - 
“They meet the diverse needs of existing and future residents, are sensitive to their 
environment, and contribute to a high quality of life. They are safe and inclusive, 
well planned, built and run, and offer equality of opportunity and good services for 
all.” 
 

Page 848



 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Cross-reference the 
Parking and Accessibility 
SPD in the Plan, to clarify 
that the SPD will address 
the issue of chargepoint 
access for disabled 
people.  

Spatial Policy 
Team 

2021 Parking & 
Accessibility SPD 

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

N 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

Prior to adoption 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
 

 
 
 

Date: 
19.11.20 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Ruth Ashton  
 

Date: 
19.11.20 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 849

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Durham County Council

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

2021

Page 851



Page 852



Introduction

2Executive Summary1

4Introduction2

Action Plan: 5 Key Actions

5Action Plan: 5 Key Actions1

51.1 Action 1: Leading by example
71.2 Action 2: Develop a network of public chargepoints
101.3 Action 3: Provide charging infrastructure for the Council's fleet

121.4 Action 4: Support appropriate private sector proposals for charging
infrastructure

141.5 Action 5: Other EV opportunities: pursuing partnerships, funding and
education

171.6 Conclusion

18Appendix: Policy Context2

182.1 Timeline
202.2 National Policy
232.3 Local Policy

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Contents

Page 853



Executive Summary

Policy Context

1.1 The Government has made a commitment through legislation that the country will reach net
zero carbon emissions by 2050. A series of policy documents repeatedly highlight transport as the
most carbon intensive sector of the UK economy, and propose that electric vehicles are the greatest
opportunity to significantly reduce road transport emissions. The Government have announced that
petrol, diesel, and some hybrid cars and vans will be phased out by 2030, confirming the role for
electric vehicles (EVs) in decarbonising road transport.

1.2 Durham County Council itself declared a climate emergency in February 2019. A Climate
Emergency Response Action Plan (CERP) has since been produced by the Council, which outlines
specific areas that the Council will focus on for the greatest impact on its carbon emissions in the
short term. Transport, and decarbonisation of the Council’s fleet of vehicles in particular, are identified
by the plan as a key area to act on. This Chargepoint Delivery Plan (CPDP) will sit under the CERP
to set out actions the Council will take to facilitate transport decarbonisation through encouraging
electric vehicle uptake in greater detail.

1.3 The CPDP is an internal delivery plan which sets out how 5 key actions will facilitate the uptake
of electric vehicles for residents, business and the Council’s own fleet.

5 Key Actions

Action 1– Leading by Example

1.4 This action sets out the Council’s main priorities for electric vehicles. The market for EVs is still
relatively new, so actions should focus on helping the market to become more established.

1.5 The first priority for the Council in the CPDP, is to lead by example. This action underpins the
Council's attitude and response to the following four actions. The Council will 'lead by example' when
we provide chargepoints at Council sites, use EVs in our fleet, improve public chargepoint access
for residents, facilitate appropriate private sector proposals and bring partners together for EV funding,
awareness and learning opportunities.

Action 2 – Develop a Network of Public Chargepoints

1.6 Durham is a large, predominantly rural county where many households do not have access to
off-street parking. A big barrier for people in considering an EV for the first time is range anxiety and
concern about access to charging, and in a county where 40% of households are terraced and so
not likely to have access to off-street parking, the Council has a major role to play.

1.7 This action therefore aims to set up a countywide charging network to enable everyone to
access charging in a safe and convenient location, so that more people feel confident making the
switch to an EV in the first place. The Council has an existing charging network, but it is now ageing
and in need of replacement. Together with other partners, Durham County Council has won funding
from multiple sources to put 160 chargepoints in these more challenging areas to improve charging
access. We have also worked with NECA to develop a regional approach, including winning funding
for taxi charging infrastructure. This work will be continued to further develop our network as EVs
become more common on our roads.

Chargepoint Delivery Plan2

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 854



Action 3 - Provide charging infrastructure for the Council's fleet

1.8 The Council operates a substantial fleet of vehicles for officer use and working fleet of vans,
refuse collection vehicles, etc. Replacing these vehicles with EVs when they are due for renewal will
make a significant contribution to reducing the Council’s own carbon emissions, and improve the
visibility of EVs in the county. The Council will therefore provide increased charging options, continue
to replace vehicles with EVs where appropriate, and pursue funding options to provide charging
solutions for vehicles kept at officers’ homes overnight.

Action 4 - Support appropriate private sector proposals for charging infrastructure

1.9 Many private sector chargepoints fall under permitted development rights and so the Council
does not have influence over where they are located. Where permission is required, such as for
purpose-built EV charging stations, the Council will work with private operators to source an appropriate
location. This will help support a greater range of charging options around the county.

1.10 Businesses are also increasingly interested in switching to EVs due to their lower running
costs and environmental benefits. The Council will work with interested business to share information
and support them to make the switch.

Action 5 - Other EV opportunities: pursue partnerships, funding and education

1.11 As the Government is keen to facilitate the switch to EVs nationally, it has offered financial
support through loans and grants for vehicles, chargepoints, and trials of new charging solutions.
The Council, working in partnership with many private and public sector organisations, has been
successful in bidding for these options, with funding secured for 1600 chargepoints around the county,
funding to redevelop the Morrison Busty depot as a low carbon site and a grant to provide a rapid
chargepoint for taxis in Chester-le-Street. The Council will continue to monitor relevant funding
opportunities and prepare bids where appropriate.

1.12 Greater knowledge about the benefits of EVs and financial help available will help to increase
EV uptake in County Durham. The Council is therefore committed to disseminating the latest
information and best practice on EVs, including via the Council's website for the benefit of its partners,
residents, and businesses. The following information will be continually updated:

Information related to EV research, projects and events;
Funding initiatives to help residents and business access funding opportunities for new EV
infrastructure; and
Locational information and links on where residents and business can access chargepoints in
the county.

1.13 By pursuing and implementing the objectives above, the Council will increase the number and
quality of chargepoints across the county. This will help achieve local and national decarbonisation
targets, improve air quality, and save people money in the long term.

3Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 855



Introduction

2.1 The Chargepoint Delivery Plan (CPDP) has been produced to guide and support the
decarbonisation of road transport in County Durham. The Council declared a Climate Emergency in
2019 with transport representing a key opportunity to significantly reduce carbon emissions across
the county. In order to do this, it is necessary to move away from fossil-fuel powered vehicles. The
Government's ambition is for no new petrol, diesel, and some hybrid cars or vans to be sold by 2030.

2.2 By declaring a climate emergency, the Council committed to reducing the county's carbon
emissions to zero by 2050. The Council's plan for this is set out in the Climate Emergency Response
Plan. One priority for the CERP is to encourage uptake and use of electric vehicles (EVs) in the
county.

2.3 In order for people to be willing to choose an electric vehicle, there needs to be sufficient
chargepoints in the county so that EV drivers are confident that they can access a chargepoint when
they need one. The purpose of this document is to set out the Council's actions which will deliver
chargepoints where they are needed, for residents, businesses, visitors, and the Council's own fleet.

2.4 The significant growth of EV ownership in the UK in 2020 was suppressed by the coronavirus
pandemic, with a significant drop off in sales from March to April. Despite this, overall it has been an
extremely positive 2020 to date for the EV market. September's figures saw a 184% increase in
pure-electric registrations compared to the previous year, and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs)
grew 139%. That is compared to hybrids (+56%), petrol (-21%), and diesel (-38%), which have an
overall decline. Growth in 2020 is highlighted by the following graph: (1)

Picture 1 EV UK Registrations

1 Source: https://www.nextgreencar.com/electric-cars/statistics/

Chargepoint Delivery Plan4

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 856

https://www.nextgreencar.com/electric-cars/statistics/


Action Plan: 5 Key Actions

1.1 In response to the national and local policy documents outlined in the Appendix, the Council
have set out 5 key actions to enable greater EV uptake across the county.

1.1 Action 1: Leading by example

1.2 The Government has made it clear that electric vehicles are to be the focus of its efforts in
decarbonising transport. The Council recognises as part of its climate emergency response that EVs
alone are not a complete answer to the problem of reaching net zero carbon as a county by 2050, but
that they are are a key priority for action and an area on which the Council must take a lead.

1.3 This plan sets out actions to be taken to facilitate the uptake of electric vehicles in County
Durham, both within the Council itself and across the wider county, to support the goal of achieving
carbon neutrality by 2050.

1.4 The CPDP will be reviewed and updated regularly. Regular updates will be required to account
for changes to national policy, technology and the market for low emission vehicles.

Action 1 - Leading by example

The first priority for the Council is to lead by example. This action underpins the Council’s attitude
and response to the following four actions contained in the CDPD.

The Council will lead by example by:

Providing chargepoints at Council sites and use EVs in our fleet;

Improving public chargepoint access for residents, businesses, and visitors;

Facilitating appropriate private sector proposals; and,

Bringing partners together for EV innovation funding, awareness and learning opportunities.

1.5 Industry experts Zero Carbon Futures predict that ownership of EVs will not increase significantly
until 2025 and onwards. This is because, for the car industry, the Government's commitment to phase
out petrol, diesel, and some hybrid cars and vans by 2030 is still relatively new. Many car manufacturers
are still producing a majority of petrol and diesel cars, with old combustion engine stock to sell before
resources are reallocated to EVs. As the surety provided by Government commitment to EVs is still
recent, there are still relatively few models of EVs being produced, although that is changing rapidly.
The number of EVs available to purchase is expected to rise as manufacturers deplete their existing
stock of combustion engine cars and develop new EV models.

1.6 The secondhand market is somewhat constrained, as EVs' engines have far fewer moving
parts than combustion engines, so they can do more miles without serious fault than a combustion
engine car. Battery degradation as the vehicle is repeatedly charged over time is proving less of an
issue than anticipated, with the batteries on an original Nissan Leaf lasting 10 or more years with
little degradation. Newer battery designs will likely fare even better. Where batteries are degrading,
only the failing part would need to be replaced as EV batteries are modular. As a result, EVs are less
likely to be sold on, so that although there are more affordable second hand EVs for sale, there is

5Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 857



insufficient supply to meet demand. Finally, many people will not look to replace their vehicle until it
is at or approaching the end of its working life. This means that would-be demand for EVs is somewhat
suppressed as potential purchasers continue to use their existing car.

1.7 The Council will therefore lead by example by replacing its own vehicles with appropriate EVs
where possible, and improving the network of chargepoints. At the time of writing, the Council has
purchased its first electric refuse collection vehicle, as well as replacing 21 of our own outdated
chargepoints with newmodels, and further expanding the network with 14 additional new chargepoints.
Ongoing work is being undertaken by the Council to deliver more chargepoints around the county,
which will be detailed in later sections of this Plan.

1.8 The actions in the CPDP will help to raise the profile of EVs in the county, demonstrating the
Council's commitment to EVs and increasing awareness of EVs as a viable alternative to combustion
engine vehicles. As the Council improves its own carbon budget by beginning to renew its fleet with
EVs, and more people begin to consider making the switch thanks to increased availability of
chargepoints around the county, the market for EVs will continue to develop. Increased range (in
terms of choice and potential distance travelled), availability, and affordability of vehicles will drive
momentum in electric vehicle uptake as people shopping for a new car increasingly see EVs as a
workable choice.

1.9 The CPDP will be reviewed when necessary to reassess the status of the market and specific
issues facing County Durham at that time.

Chargepoint Delivery Plan6

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 858



1.2 Action 2: Develop a network of public chargepoints

Action 2 - Develop a network of public chargepoints

To achieve public confidence in the goal of EV chargepoint provision across the county, the
Council and its partners will:

Ensure that the current Council network is upgraded and then maintained efficiently
thereafter; and

Facilitate the delivery of chargepoints across rural areas and within close proximity to
terraced housing and major employment sites around the county.

Priority for new provision will be given to town and larger village centres and retail and employment
destinations where there are no existing alternatives. Current car ownership rates will be taken
into consideration in residential areas.

1.10 As the market for EVs is still in its early stages, with just over 10% of new vehicle
registrations being represented by battery EVs, it will be necessary to ensure that the market continues
to be monitored so that an appropriate type and number of chargepoints can be provided.

1.11 It is clear that many more chargepoints will be required across the county if we are to achieve
net zero emissions by 2050. This may mean that chargepoints will need to be located where they
are not currently commercially viable. Therefore, there is a need for the Council to lead by example
by facilitating the provision of chargepoints in the early years. It is essential that these are maintained
effectively so they do not fall into disrepair.

1.12 Private sector chargepoint operators are currently focussing on areas where there will be clear
demand for charging, e.g. close to motorways and heavily trafficked main roads, and where little to
no upfront investment will be required in the grid or connection. In addition, early adopters of EVs are
more likely to be wealthier, with their own driveways or garages where they can install their own
chargepoint.

1.13 This leaves a clear role for the Council in the short term in providing chargepoints in more
challenging, less commercially viable areas, and in its own car parks in key locations to encourage
and enable people to switch to an EV. These include town and larger village centres and employment
and retail destinations where there are no existing alternatives, and achieving better provision across
rural and terraced areas around the county, beginning with areas where existing car ownership rates
are relatively high. Currently, EVs are more expensive than petrol or diesel vehicles, so it would not
be practical to begin delivering chargepoints in low-income areas where people are less likely to own
a vehicle of any type.

Monitoring

The market (including private sector led chargepoints) will be closely monitored as this work
progresses, ensuring that in areas where there is a reasonable alternative, no public money will
be invested in chargepoints, and so that more areas are covered. This approach is necessary
to ensure that public money is spent wisely whilst also providing for the widest coverage possible
across the county.

7Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 859



The Existing Council Charging Network

1.14 Durham County Council has an existing network of EV chargepoints, however, they are now
ageing and have not been well-maintained as their warranties have now expired and the cost of
repairing them through the current operator is prohibitive. Currently, over 50% of the network of 27
chargepoints are malfunctioning. This is an issue in itself because if people cannot be confident that
they can charge their car even where they do have access to a chargepoint, they are less likely to
purchase an EV, or may choose to exclusively charge at home. This situation therefore risks favouring
those who have off-street parking access over other residents of the county, having an adverse effect
on social inequality in the county. The existing ageing network therefore needs to be replaced as a
priority to address these issues and demonstrate that there are charging options available to those
who cannot host their own chargepoint.

1.15 The Council has therefore been working with partner organisations to replace the existing
charging network. We have now replaced 21 of our existing chargepoints and have installed an
additional 14. There are three chargepoints from the Council's original network remaining, which will
be replaced by the end of March 2021. These three final installations will complete the Council's
renewal of our own charging network with brand new, up to date chargepoints.

1.16 Once the immediate issue of the functionality of the existing network has been addressed, it
will be necessary to monitor the market to ensure that opportunities to expand the network are taken
where appropriate, e.g. in areas not being served by the private sector, and at public sites.

Tariffs

Tariffs will be set at a rate that takes account of market conditions. They will also need to be set
at a rate which covers the cost of electricity and maintenance of the chargepoint. Tariffs will be
subject to change when appropriate to reflect the changing market for EVs and vehicle charging
and any changes to the cost of maintenance and electricity moving forward.

Improving charging access in areas with limited off-street parking and rural
areas

1.17 County Durham has a number of specific challenges in moving toward greater EV ownership
due to its specific geography and the nature of its built environment. Much of the county is rural, with
43% of the population based in rural areas. Furthermore, 40% of properties in the county are terraced
houses, which generally do not have driveways. These areas present a particular challenge in providing
for EVs as there is often not a commercially viable location for a chargepoint in such areas, particularly
at present as the market is still relatively new. If people cannot access charging within a reasonable
distance of their homes, they are not likely to purchase an EV. A study conducted by students from
Durham University for the Council found that, whilst range anxiety is lower than anticipated amongst
people who own EVs, it is a major concern for people who are looking to buy one for the first time.
(2)

1.18 Therefore, there is a role for the Council in improving access to chargers in these rural and
terraced areas, which are less likely to be served by the private market. The Council has already
worked with partners to win funding on projects including the Scaling On-Street Charging Infrastructure
(SOSCI) project, the DurhamOther Chargepoints (DOCs) on-street parking project and theWeardale
Electric Vehicle Accelerator (WEVA) project. These 3 projects aim to provide chargepoints in areas

2 More information about the People Project can be found here:
http://people-project.net/people-centered-learning-cycles/4-case-studies-learning-cycle-2

Chargepoint Delivery Plan8

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 860



with limited access to off-street parking, with each exploring different solutions for providing
chargepoints in more challenging areas. These projects alone will deliver a total of 160 22kw fast
chargers in County Durham. The first of these chargepoints, two rapid chargers and two fast chargers,
are due for installation in April 2021.

1.19 To progress these projects, the Council will liaise with communities to establish where there
is demand for chargepoints, and where they might best be placed. The Council is currently working
to provide at least one chargepoint to each of the county's 63 wards. The chargepoints, once installed,
will be monitored for the duration of the project, to provide Innovate UK with data about how successful
the project is in terms of how well used the chargepoints are. A single operator, GronnKontakt, has
been awarded the contract to install and maintain the chargepoints following a procurement exercise.

1.20 The Council acknowledges that there will likely be an eventual need for more than 160
chargepoints across less viable areas of the county, particularly as the industry begins to change
more significantly from 2025 onwards and EV ownership become increasingly widespread. The
Council will therefore monitor the market alongside the SOSCI project, taking account of where public
chargers are located, for example at supermarkets, and reassess the need for chargepoints across
the county once the SOSCI project is drawing to a close. Further funding will be pursued to meet the
need for future chargepoints.

1.21 Related to this action, the Council will also produce a complimentary guidance note that sets
out the safety and licensing conditions for those residents that want to charge on-street outside their
homes and who don’t benefit from having off-street parking.

1.22 Standards for accessibility of chargepoints to disabled people will be set out in a Parking and
Accessibility SPD, which is being developed by the Council.

9Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 861



1.3 Action 3: Provide charging infrastructure for the Council's fleet

Action 3 - Provide charging infrastructure for the Council's fleet

To further facilitate uptake of EVs in the Council's own fleet, we will:

1. Deliver additional charging capacity at Council depots;

2. Continue to replace Council vehicles with EVs through the procurement process where
appropriate; and

3. Pursue funding options for home charging of Council vehicles.

1.23 The Council operates a diverse fleet of over 1000 specialised vehicles, plant machines and
other equipment to meet its service requirements. During 2018/19 the Council's fleet and plant
produced emissions totalling 10,344,958kg of CO2, or 10,344 tonnes. There is therefore a significant
opportunity to reduce the Council's overall carbon emissions through decarbonising the fleet.

1.24 The Council's fleet as of January 2020 comprised:

NumberVehicle
437Cars / vans (up to 3.5T GVW including 3 EVs and 1 hybrid)

31Vans (over 3.5T GVW)
157Tippers / pick ups (up to 3.5T GVW)
64Tippers / pick ups (over 3.5T GVW)
62Minibus / bus
32Dedicated gritters
13Road sweepers
4Gulley cleaning vehicles
87RVCs
42Tractors / plant machines

88Ride-on mowers
1017Total road legal vehicles

1.25 The Fleet Management System leases vehicles in order to achieve the best value for money
for the Council. EV technology has advanced significantly in recent years for the majority of vehicles,
to the point that cars and vans could now viably be replaced with EVs. However, the market for
commercial vehicles over 3.5T GVW is not currently at the same stage of development.
Notwithstanding, replacing cars and vans with EV's should be a key consideration for service users
as part the procurement process and should be the expectation when leasing smaller cars and vans.

1.26 The key issue for the purposes of this delivery plan, is providing chargepoints in the correct
locations to allow vehicles to travel around the county and access chargepoints efficiently. In 2020,
eight depots have been provided with chargepoints (27 posts providing 54 sockets, all 7-22kW), but
greater provision is needed outside of our depots as we transition our fleet to EVs.

Chargepoint Delivery Plan10

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 862



1.27 177 of the Council's fleet vehicles are also routinely parked at officers' residences overnight.
These officers will need to be able to access charging for their vehicles to enable them to be replaced
with EVs when their current petrol or diesel vehicles are due to be renewed. The Council will therefore
consider options and funding sources to facilitate this as efficiently and effectively as possible.

1.28 The Council also has 26 pool cars, 25 diesel vehicles and one petrol hybrid, which are due
to be replaced with EVs through the Fleet Management System in 2020/21. Chargepoints have
already installed at eight Council depots including the locations where pool cars are based. Site
surveys have been undertaken on charging posts to be installed for charging the pool cars. Based
on the 2019/20 annual mileage of 245,768, this would result in a reduction of 37,575kg (37.5 tonnes)
of CO2annually, assuming mileage stays consistent.

1.29 Other work to replace combustion engine vehicles is ongoing. DCC have ordered their first
fully electric RCV which is arriving in 2021. This comes with considerable upfront costs at the time
of writing with ongoing fuel savings unable to recoup this upfront cost during the life of this vehicle.
However, their will be substantial carbon savings and the cost of this technology is expected to reduce
over time. Within the next decade, there will be a ‘tipping point’ where an fully electric RCV will have
lower ‘life-time costs’ than the diesel equivalent.

1.30 As the mileage EVs can cover is affected by driving technique, telematic units will be installed
to all Council vehicles during 2020/21 to promote and monitor efficient operation of vehicles. The
Council will offer training to staff who will use ULEVs on how to drive them efficiently, supported by
telematics from September 2020.

11Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 863



1.4 Action 4: Support appropriate private sector proposals for charging infrastructure

Action 4 - Support appropriate private sector proposals for charging infrastructure

To support a diverse and effective charging network, the Council will support private sector
chargepoints and filling stations where appropriate for the local area.

The Council will also work with businesses to support them to switch to EVs, for example by:

Sharing knowledge and information through BEEP;(3) and
Assisting businesses who enquire about EVs or chargepoints.

1.31 The Council will support and facilitate the private sector to deliver charging infrastructure to
help achieve our net zero emission targets. There is increasing interest from the private sector in
establishing charging networks, with a number of different operators providing chargepoints across
the country. Zapmap currently list sixteen providers as 'major charging networks'.

1.32 Competition in the market can be a good thing as it helps to refine products offered and gives
consumers choice. However, currently there is significant variety in accessing these networks. Some
require an app or a fob to charge with that particular network, and some are contactless, so they are
not all equally accessible. The expectation is that industry will lead on developing a roaming solution
across all networks to allow EV drivers to access any chargepoint without the need for multiple apps
and membership cards. The Department for Transport have stated that they will intervene using
powers in the Automated and Electrical Vehicle Act if the industry is unable to roll out inter-operability
across all providers and platforms themselves.

1.33 It is likely that the market for chargepoints offered by the private sector will soon becomemore
standardised as the market itself becomes more established. It is essential that the Council continue
to positively liaise with private sector operators with an interest in hosting or providing a chargepoint.

1.34 Many chargepoints are installed under permitted development rights, so the Council does not
need to be consulted on their installation. However, some proposals do fall under the Council's
development management powers, for example where the operator's preferred site is on Council
land, or where the proposal no longer falls under permitted development rights (e.g. rapid charging
stations require planning permission). In these cases, the Council will work to secure the most
appropriate provision for the county to ensure an area can be well served by chargepoints. This could
be by working to fill gaps in the county's charging network or by working with providers of rapid
charging stations to diversify and improve the county's charging offer. It is acknowledged that rapid
chargers are more expensive to install and so where they are installed by the private sector they are
likely to be located along the major road network where they will be used more.

Supporting Businesses to Switch to EVs

1.35 Businesses stand to benefit from the switch to EVs, which have lower operating costs, and
different company car tax (benefit in kind) rates compared to combustion engine vehicles. (4) An
increase in businesses using electric vehicles will also help increase proliferation and visibility of EVs,
particularly as business and fleet vehicles tend to be on the road more than private cars, further
demonstrating that they are a viable choice to people looking to buy a new car.

3 Durham County Council's Business Energy Efficiency Project;
4 More information on this is available here: https://pod-point.com/guides/business/company-electric-car-tax

Chargepoint Delivery Plan12

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 864

https://pod-point.com/guides/business/company-electric-car-tax


1.36 The Council has an existing Business Energy Efficiency Project, in which Council officers
work with SMEs to help them save money through improving their energy efficiency and awareness
of their energy use. (5) The Council has also already received enquiries from businesses about how
to go about switching to EVs, including concerns about the future location and accessibility of
chargepoints. It should be noted that BEEP is a fixed term project although the Council is working
to extend it.

5 More information on BEEP is available here http://www.durham.gov.uk/beep

13Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 865

http://www.durham.gov.uk/beep


1.5 Action 5: Other EV opportunities: pursuing partnerships, funding and education

Action 5 - Other EV opportunities: pursing partnerships, funding and education

The Council will monitor available funding opportunities in collaboration with partners and, where
appropriate, officers will bid for funding to support chargepoint provision and other ultra-low
emission vehicle (ULEV) ambitions, e.g. hydrogen production and storage or hydrogen-powered
vehicles.

The Council is committed to disseminating the latest information and best practice on ULEVs,
including via the Council's website for the benefit of the county's residents. The following
information will be continually updated:

Information related to ULEV research and innovation, projects and events;
Funding initiatives to help residents and business access funding opportunities for new EV
infrastructure; and
Locational information and links on where residents and business can access chargepoints
in the county.

1.37 There are many ways the Council, working with its partners, can help co-ordinate and facilitate
the uptake and awareness of the transition to EVs. Action 5 is about the many ‘softer’ ways the Council
works with partners to support this transition.

Partnership and Funding

1.38 Working with partners, the Council has been successful in bidding for funding to supply public
chargepoints in areas around the county which are unlikely to be served by the private sector or
individual homeowners. As a significant increase in EV ownership is anticipated, it will become essential
for the Council to continue to pursue relevant funding opportunities in order to support the rollout of
sufficient charging infrastructure to meet the need for these facilities.

1.39 There is potential for further funding sources to be announced in the near future; the
Government has announced its commitment that all new cars and vans should be electric or hybrid
by as early as 2030. To support this, he Government announced £500m of funding to deliver a fast
charging network in his 2020 budget, to ensure that everyone is within 30 miles of a rapid charging
station. This will drastically improve access to chargepoints across the country.

1.40 The Council, working effectively with partners, has successfully capitalised on funding
opportunities, including the Scaling on-street charging infrastructure (SOSCI) and the Weardale
Electric Vehicle Accelerator (WEVA) projects and the Council is preparing a bid for £5.5m of European
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) funding to redevelop its Morrison Busty depot as a low carbon
depot, and a bid to the Transforming Cities Fund for new bus infrastructure and an extension to the
Park and Ride. This is part of a package of transport measures to improve sustainable transport in
Durham City. Bus electrification, linked to this bid is being considered: electric buses would be cheaper
to fuel but a greater number of buses may be required to allow for charging time.

Partnership and Education

1.41 The emergence of EVs as a viable technology and the challenge of decarbonising
transport shows that technology and innovation is evolving at an exponential rate. The Council has
a role to play in sharing its knowledge and increasing awareness of EVs. With this in mind, the Council
has undertaken a project with Durham University in which students conducted surveys of EV drivers

Chargepoint Delivery Plan14

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 866



to try to better understand driver behaviour and potential barriers to increased uptake of EVs.(6)Most
notably, the project found that range anxiety is more of an issue for people considering purchasing
an EV than it is for people who actually own and use one regularly. It also found that the poor condition
of existing chargepoints in the north east was a barrier to increased takeup of EVs. This work has
been used to inform this CPDP, particularly in making the replacement of our existing charging network
a greater priority. There is potential for further work with the University to be done in the future.

1.42 Where appropriate, the Council is also committed to learning and understanding the latest
emerging evidence on EVs and taking part in pilots and trials for new and innovative technology. The
Council will also be learning lessons from other authorities about best practice and their experiences
with rolling out charging infrastructure.

1.43 In addition to research studies, the Council has also hosted a number of high-profile events
showcasing EVs and giving residents opportunities to experience driving an EV. In 2018, the Council
in partnership with Greenfleet Northeast hosted an EV Roadshow in Durham City market place and
in 2019, the event was replicated in Bishop Auckland market place. In addition to these events, the
Council has also hosted events at County Hall in relation to the Climate Emergency Response Plan.
These events have created opportunities to work with partners in the private sector so we can learn
as much as we can about this emerging industry. The Council have also been working in partnership
with partners such as Energy Savings Trust and Northern Powergrid to accrue expertise relating to
growing the chargepoint network.

1.44 The Council will continue to host and update its ULEV webpage with relevant information on
chargepoint locations. It is vital that residents are provided the correct data and knowledge so they
know where to access chargepoints . It also crucial that residents and businesses are able to access
information about funding for chargepoints, or purchasing electric cars. The Council currently hosts
a webpage on EVs here.

Partners in the Region

1.45 The North East Combined Authority (NECA) has in the past bid collectively for funding for
electric vehicle charging. The Council will continue to work within NECA on appropriate schemes to
enable wider access to chargepoints regionally. Acting regionally can help to deliver a more cohesive
network over a greater area and increases the bidding power of the authorities involved. Most recently,
NECA successfully bid for funding for taxi chargers in different local authority areas, with one to be
located in Chester-le-Street. Initially, the rapid charger will be available to members of the public as
well as to taxis. The chargepoint will be installed in 2021 once legal agreements have been finalised.

1.46 The Go Ultra Low North East programme (GULNE) has made significant progress, most
notably with the opening of the UK’s first EV filling station in Sunderland and the installation of six
rapid charging hubs across the North East. Five more hubs have been installed in 2020. As of March
2020, the project has successfully engaged with 50 local SMEs, awarded £100k to five regional SMEs
in order to bring new low carbon products to the market, and saved 128 tonnes of Green House
Gases. An additional filling station, also installed and operated by Fastned, is located at Newcastle

6 More information about the People Project with Durham University is available here
http://people-project.net/people-centered-learning-cycles/4-case-studies-learning-cycle-2

15Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 867

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3508/Electric-vehicles-and-charging-points


Helix. This station is wholly owned by Newcastle University, with installation to commence early 2020.
Funding for GULNE has been extended to the end of 2020 to help promote more sustainable transport
choices as part of the green recovery from the coronavirus pandemic.

Taxis and Buses

The objectives set out in this CPDP are primarily focused on charging provision for private cars.
Though the Council has been key partners within the Joint Transport Committee when bidding
for funding for both taxis and buses too, the Council's ability to influence change is less for these
sectors. The Government has announced that it intends to create a national network of rapid
chargers, which will likely be more suited to meet the needs of taxis than the chargepoints the
Council is currently working to install, although taxis are welcome to use these in the interim as
the rapid charging network is being constructed.

With regard to buses, the Council is supportive of bus companies who wish to electrify their bus
fleet and has contributed to regional funding bids for buses. However, it is predominantly the
responsibility of commercial bus operators to electrify their fleet, although this transition is likely
to be led by a national bus strategy that is expected in the near future.

Hydrogen Vehicles

There has been a significant amount of investment in EV charging technology, with car
manufacturers increasing their EV offer as the Government has committed to phasing out
combustion engines. However, EVs are not the only ULEV option available: hydrogen-powered
vehicles are also considered ULEVs as they emit only water. At the time of writing, the offer in
terms of hydrogen vehicles is more limited, with fewer manufacturers pursuing this option.

Hydrogen can be made from all fuel sources, making it relatively simple to produce, and would
not result in the impact on the electricity grid anticipated from a significant increase in EV
ownership. Furthermore, there has been discussion about using hydrogen for larger vehicles
which typically use diesel, such as buses, trains, aeroplanes and HGVs. County Durham may
therefore need refuelling and possibly electrolysis facilities (electrolysis produces hydrogen from
renewable sources) to meet the need for this type of fuel. The Council will monitor the market
for this type of vehicle and work with providers if hydrogen fuelling is required in future.

Chargepoint Delivery Plan16

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 868



1.6 Conclusion

1.47 By pursuing and implementing the Actions in the CPDP, the Council will increase the number
and quality of chargepoints across the county. This will help achieve local and national decarbonisation
targets, improve air quality, and save people money in the long term. Working to improve chargepoint
access at this relatively early stage in the switch to EVs will ensure that County Durham has the
infrastructure in place to support increasing demand for chargepoints as more and more people switch
to EVs, thereby making the transition as smooth as possible.

17Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 869



Appendix

2.1 Timeline

Timeline of Key Dates

Clean Growth Strategy publishedOctober 2017

Industrial Strategy publishedNovember 2017

Clean Air Strategy publishedJanuary 2019

Durham County Council declares a climate emergencyFebruary 2019

TfN's Strategic Transport Plan published2019

DurhamCounty Council Climate Emergency Response
Plan publishedFebruary 2019

Government vision for the rapid chargepoint network
in England publishedMay 2020

Government announced that the phase out of fossil fuel
cars, vans, and hybrids would be brought forward to
2030

November 2020

Government to publish a Transport Decarbonisation
Plan2020

25% of gov cars to be ULEVs2022

Rapid Charging Fund to have delivered at least six rapid
chargers at each motorway services in England2023

Phase out date for petrol, diesel, and some hybrid cars
and vans2030

80% of Durham County Council's emissions to be cut
by this year, based on 2009 levels2030

100% of the central Government car fleet to be ultra
low emission2030

At least 50% of new car sales and up to 40% of new
van sales to be ULEVs by this year2030

2,500 rapid chargers to be in place across England's
motorways and major A roads2030

6000 rapid chargers to be in place across England's
motorways and major A roads2035

Current date for phase out of internal combustion
engine cars and vans (likely to be brought forward)2040

UK to reach net zero carbon by this year2050

Chargepoint Delivery Plan18

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 870



19Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 871



2.2 National Policy

Clean Growth Strategy (October 2017)

2.1 Regarding cutting greenhouse gas emissions in the UK, the strategy notes significant progress
made to date, but transport was identified as a key opportunity area. 24% of UK carbon emissions
in 2015 were from this sector.

2.2 The strategy therefore set out 50 key policies and proposals to further decarbonise the UK
economy, 10 of which relate directly to transport, 8 directly to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs):

1. End the sale of new conventional petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2040;(7)

2. Spend £1 billion supporting the take-up of ultra low emission vehicles (ULEVs), including helping
consumers to overcome the upfront cost of an electric car;

3. Develop one of the best electric vehicle charging networks in the world;
4. Accelerate the uptake of low emission taxis and buses;
5. Work with industry as they develop an Automotive Sector Deal to accelerate the transition to

zero emission vehicles;
6. Announce plans for the public sector to lead the way in transitioning to zero emissions vehicles;
7. Invest £1.2 billion to make cycling and walking the natural choice for shorter journeys;
8. Work to enable cost-effective options for shifting more freight from road to rail, including using

low emission rail freight for deliveries into urban areas, with zero emission last mile deliveries;
9. Position the UK at the forefront of research, development and demonstration of Connected and

Autonomous Vehicle technologies, establishing the Centre for Connected and Autonomous
Vehicles; and

10. Innovation: Invest around £841 million of public funds in innovation in low carbon transport
technology and fuels

2.3 The Clean Growth Strategy made clear that ULEVs were to be the main focus in decarbonising
transport.

UK Industrial Strategy (November 2017)

2.4 The strategy sets out that infrastructure is 1 of 5 'foundations of productivity', with 'clean growth'
and the 'future of mobility' as 2 of the 4 'grand challenges' that the country aims to become a world
leader in addressing.

2.5 On EVs specifically, the aim is to build on the UK's existing world-leading capabilities in electric
vehicle manufacture. Electric vehicles are a priority, with investment in charging infrastructure and
the plug-in car grant (which helps people to purchase an electric car) announced . Other measures
to promote electric vehicles include:

An update to building regulations to ensure that new developments are ready for EVs
A commitment to 25% of the cars in central Government department fleets to be electric by 2022.

2.6 The Industrial Strategy builds on the Clean Growth Strategy with a focus on investment in
sufficient infrastructure to enable the transition to electric vehicles, with support for early adopters
looking to buy an electric car, and efforts to lead by example from the Government in committing to
electrifying a quarter of their fleet.

7 the Government has consulted on bringing this date forward to 2035 or as early as 2030. The consultation is available here:

Chargepoint Delivery Plan20

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 872

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consulting-on-ending-the-sale-of-new-petrol-diesel-and-hybrid-cars-and-vans


Road to Zero (July 2018)

2.7 The Road to Zero is the main document which sets out the Government's next steps towards
decarbonisation of transport, as part of delivering the Industrial Strategy. The document sets out a
series of policies which will be reviewed by 2025. The headline announcement related to phasing out
the sale of new petrol and diesel cars. It stated that all new cars and vans should be effectively zero
emission by 2040. In November 2020, the Government announced that the ban on sales of new
petrol, diesel, and some hybrid cars and vans would be brought forwards to 2030. (8) Second hand
petrol, diesel, and hydrogen vehicles can still be sold after the ban.

2.8 The document also sets out methods for reducing emissions from existing vehicles and a
number of measures are included to drive uptake of ULEVs, including:

Maintaining or exceeding existing vehicle emissions regulation after Brexit;
Continuing to offer some incentive to purchase plug-in cars, vans, taxis and motorcycles;
Consulting on reforming Vehicle Excise Duty to incentivise van drivers to choose ULEVs when
purchasing a new van;
Leading the way by ensuring 25% of the central Government car fleet is ultra low emission by
2022, and committing to 100% by 2030;
Legislating to enable Government to compel vehicle manufacturers to recall vehicles for an
environmental nonconformity or failure;

2.9 The document also sets out a series of measures to help the UK develop its electric vehicle
infrastructure network:

Launching a £400 million Charging Infrastructure Investment Fund to help accelerate charging
infrastructure deployment;
All new homes, where appropriate, should have a chargepoint available;
Future proofing streets by including chargepoints in new street lights;
Increasing the grant level of the Workplace Charging Scheme;
Ensuring local planning policies incorporate facilities for charging electric vehicles;
Launching an R&D programme of up to £40 million by summer 2018;
Future proof the Strategic Road Network for EVs;
Reduce emissions from heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) and road freight; and
Monitoring market developments to determine whether any significant gaps in charging
infrastructure provision appear.

2.10 A number of key challenges were also set out:

Adequate vehicle supply: only 38 cars were eligible for the plug-in car grant, of hundreds of
different makes and models available. Only 9 vans were eligible for the grant;
A strong consumer base and the right market conditions: 38% of consumers would consider an
electric car, but only 2% of new car sales are of ULEVs;
A fit for purpose infrastructure network: efficient, reliable, and affordable charging infrastructure
will be required across the country.

Clean Air Strategy (January 2019)

2.11 The strategy notes that £3.5bn has been committed to tackle poor air quality through cleaner
road transport. One of the measures included is ongoing work by Highways England to improve air
quality on the Strategic Road Network by ensuring that 95% of the road network will have a chargepoint
for electric vehicles every 20 miles.

8 Ban on new petrol and diesel cars from 2030

21Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 873

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-54981425


2.12 The document also set out measures to empower local government to tackle air quality issues
in their area. In County Durham, there are currently two AQMAs, one in Durham City and one in
Chester-le-Street. Air quality in Chester-le-Street has improved sufficiently that this AQMA may be
removed, but it is still in place at time of writing.

2.13 Electric vehicles emit no emissions from their engines, with only particulate emissions from
wear and tear to brakes and tyres. There is therefore potential for the county to feel benefits beyond
a reduction in carbon emissions from a switch to EVs.

National Zero Carbon 2050 Target (2019)

2.14 On 27 June 2019, the Government became the first major economy in the world to pass laws
committing to net zero carbon by 2050. This replaces the previous target of at least an 80% reduction
in carbon emissions by 2050, based on 1990 levels. Net zero carbon means that any emissions would
need to be offset by removing an equivalent amount of carbon from the atmosphere, for example
through carbon capture and storage or tree planting.

2.15 Significantly decarbonising transport, which is now one of the most polluting sectors as energy
and industry have decarbonised, will be a necessary part of this.

Government vision for the rapid chargepoint network in England (2020)

2.16 In May 2020, the Government published a policy paper on its ambitions for creating a rapid
charging network in England. This set out that drivers are never more than 25 miles from a chargepoint
anywhere along England's motorways and major A-roads, with 809 rapid chargers along these roads
as of January 2020.

2.17 The fund will help to deliver at least six rapid chargers at each motorway services in England
by 2023, with 2,500 rapid chargers across England's motorways and major A roads by 2030, rising
to 6,000 by 2035.

Transport Decarbonisation Plan (2020)

2.18 In March 2020 the Government published a document entitled 'Decarbonising Transport:
Setting the Challenge'. This sets out the Government's plans to work with others to create a plan for
how the Government will decarbonise transport, reviewing existing policy and its likely effects, and
setting out where more needs to be done.

2.19 The document also set out emissions levels by type of transport, both now and projected
based on different policy ambitions. A consultation will be held in 2020 for evidence and ideas of what
more needs to be done to meet the net zero carbon ambition for transport, with a Transport
Decarbonisation Plan following the consultation.

Summary: National Policy for ULEVs

These national policy documents all developed between 2017 and 2020, highlight the UK policy
requirement to decarbonise transport to significantly reduce overall carbon emissions. They also
demonstrate that the UKGovernment is committed to rolling out charging infrastructure nationwide,
as a means of supporting the switch to electric vehicles.

Chargepoint Delivery Plan22

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 874



2.3 Local Policy

Durham County Council Climate Emergency (February 2019)

2.20 Durham County Council declared a climate emergency in February 2019. As a result, the
Council aims to cut 80% of its own emissions by 2030, based on 2009 levels, and achieve carbon
neutrality by 2050. A Climate Emergency Update Report has since been prepared and consulted on,
and the feedback from this consultation was used to develop the Climate Emergency Response Plan,
published in 2020.

2.21 The report identified three main areas of priority for decarbonisation: electricity, heat, and
transport. The reduction in transport emissions will be delivered through greater uptake of low carbon
vehicles and by reducing the overall need to travel.

2.22 Transport and heat are considered to be areas where the Council's interventions can have
greater impact as the Council has more potential to influence them, for example, by providing new
chargepoints, through replacing its own fleet and through bidding for funding for public transport
decarbonisation.

Climate Emergency Response Plan (2020)

2.23 The County Durham Climate Emergency Response Plan was adopted in February 2020. The
document sets out three key priorities for reducing the county's carbon emissions: electricity, fuel,
and transport. The actions relating to transport are primarily focussed on increasing the proportion
of low carbon vehicles within the Council, and reducing the need to travel. The overarching goal of
the Climate Emergency Response Plan is to achieve net zero carbon by 2050, with a subsidiary goal
that no fossil fuel vehicles be in use in County Durham by 2050. The document sets out a clear initial
focus on EVs as a means on reducing emissions from transport.

2.24 A number of projects are outlined within the document which will help the Council to decarbonise
its transport, many of which relate to EVs:

EV
Actions

Outcome
for 2050Action to 2030

Expected
Completion Date
(Month-Year)

Project
Description

Replace all
vehicles

withULEVs

All
Council
sites are
carbon
neutral.

Learn from this project and carry out
more whole site actions.June -2022

Low
Carbon
Depot

Transform
the whole
site at

Install and
maintain
sufficient

Morrison chargepoints
Busty to facilitate

Depot to
be low
carbon.

operation
of the
depot.

Install and
maintain
sufficient

No
Council
vehicles

Significant proportion of Council fleet
to be electric by 2030. Remaining
fleet may be fossil fuel, hybrid, or

other alternative fuel.

March-2021

Low
Carbon
Fleet

23Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 875



Begin
transition
to electric

chargepoints
to facilitate
use of EVs
for Council
vehicles.

to use
any fossil
fuels.

fleet
vehicles in
the first

two years.

Replace
pool cars
and vans

By 2050
no fossil
fuel

No fossil fuel only pool cars to be in
use by 2030. Some could be hybrids.March 2022

Pool Cars

Transition
to electric
vehicles

with
suitable
electric
vehicles.

vehicles
should be
in use in
County
Durham

for our
staff pool
cars and
the chair

Install
chargepoints

where

of the
Council's

Council

vehicle.

EVs will be

Aiming to

stationary

have 26

or

electric

strategically
to allow

recharging.

pool cars
and 40
electric
vans in
this

period.

2.25 Additional actions will also be carried out without clear carbon reduction figures:

Outcome for 2050Action for 2030Project Description

No fossil fuel vehicles will be
needed to travel within County
Durham by 2050. Infrastructure
will be in place to support this.

A significant reduction in the
number of fossil fuel vehicles
will be seen in County Durham

by 2030.

LowCarbonPublic Transport

Solar Car Ports to be installed
at Council car parks which
could be used to provide the
electricity to charge electric
vehicles, including buses.

Improvements are also planned
for DurhamCity's park and ride
schemes, to make it easier to
keep cars out of the city. These
are likely to start by 2022 and
could save 500 tonnes of

carbon per year.

Chargepoint Delivery Plan24

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 876



By 2050 no fossil fuel vehicles
should be in use in County

Durham.

The new lease scheme will run
from April 2020 for four years
until March 2024. From 2024

Low Carbon Staff Cars

Review/re-provide the staff car
lease salary sacrifice scheme
so as to make low emission to 2030 a new scheme should

be in place to encourage
further use of low carbon

vehicles.

vehicles a more affordable
option than standard petrol or

diesel.

2.26 Other actions are set out which will decarbonise the wider county's transport, centred around
the transition to ULEVs, increasing walking, cycling, and public transport, integrating public transport,
and encouraging changes to people's transport behaviour.

Transport for the North: Strategic Transport Plan (2019)

2.27 Transport for the North (TfN)'s Strategic Transport Plan recognises the importance of reducing
carbon emissions from transport, but notes that significant action and funding will be required to
progress this aim. The document gives support to ULEVs more generally, including low or zero
emission rail and buses. TfN highlight the need for charging infrastructure that is 'affordable, efficient,
and reliable' in particular to allow current and future electric vehicle drivers to easily locate and access
charging. At time of publication of the Strategic Transport Plan, the North had only 2,971 public
chargepoints, 17% of all those in the UK. TfN predict that this will need to increase tenfold by 2030
to help meet demand for top up charging.

Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document

2.28 Policy 21 of the County Durham Plan (CDP) sets out a series of general principles for parking
on new development, and states that a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) based on those
principles will be prepared to provide more detailed guidance. One of the principles set out in the
CDP is that the Council can require new development to provide electric vehicle charging through
planning requirements.

2.29 A Parking and Accessibility SPD is being prepared by the Council to replace the existing
Parking and Accessibility Standards. While this SPD is being prepared, the existing Parking and
Accessibility Standards 2019 still apply. These state that each new dwelling should provide a minimum
of one passive chargepoint (cabling to enable a chargepoint to be installed) per dwelling, and a
minimum of 5% active (a full chargepoint) and 10% passive chargepoints at most other types of
development, with the exception of hot food takeaways and supermarkets below 1,000m2. This
document is used to inform parking requirements of new developments across County Durham.

2.30 The Government is also currently consulting on changes to the building regulations around
provision of chargepoints at car parks. The Council's parking standards will take account of these
building regulations if they are finalised in advance of the SPD being adopted.

Box 1

Summary: Regional and Local Policy for ULEVs

Regional and local policy emphasises the role of local authorities in decarbonising transport and
on providing charging infrastructure. With local authority intervention, the documents are clear
that the number of chargepoints could be dramatically increased.

25Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Chargepoint Delivery Plan

Page 877

https://https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings


Braille Audio Large print

03000 260 000
spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

Page 878



 

 

 

 Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

County Durham Housing Strategy 
Targeted Delivery Plans 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Housing and Assets 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Annfield Plain Ward; Shildon and Dene Valley Ward; Blackhalls Ward; 
Deneside Ward; and Stanley Ward. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 Targeted Delivery Plans are an integral part of the County Durham 
Housing Strategy and relate to maintaining and improving the existing 
housing stock and the wider housing environment.  Targeted Delivery 
Plans have been developed as an approach to deliver an intensive, 
focused and coordinated programme of activities by the Council and its 
partners in areas most in need across the county.  This report seeks 
Cabinet approval for the content of the first phase of the Housing 
Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans including the programme to deliver 
future phases. 

Executive summary 

2 Targeted Delivery Plans (TDPs) are a mechanism to direct and 
coordinate housing regeneration activities in those communities most in 
need.  The Council has developed an evidence base to understand 
which locations would benefit from an intensive and targeted 
intervention.  The TDPs serve to bring together complementary actions 
from the Council and its partners to address the identified issues in a 
locality.  TDPs will focus existing activities in areas of need, as well as 
identifying new actions and putting the Council in a stronger position to 

Page 879

Agenda Item 12



 

 

capitalise on any future funding opportunities to support estate 
regeneration objectives. 

3 The TDPs have their origin in the County Durham Housing Strategy and 
relate to the objective of maintaining and improving the existing housing 
stock and the wider housing environment.  The TDPs also support the 
delivery of other housing priorities in the county, including delivering 
homes to meet the needs of older people. 

4 The actions in the TDPs reflect and recognise other housing activities, 
such as selective licencing and Council house building and include a 
range of related and complementary activities.  The TDPs are focussed 
on the most disadvantaged communities in line with Towns and Villages 
and form part of the Towns and Villages Investment Plan. 

5 The Council has developed an evidence base to understand which 
communities are most in need of intervention.  This evidence base has 
informed both the locations that are subject to a TDP and also the focus 
of the interventions in the individual TDP documents.  

6 The evidence base has been gathered at a localised scale and 
considers the types of issues that communities face and that the TDPs 
will look to address.  The evidence base includes information on 
housing market indicators, issues of low demand and stock condition.  
The evidence base gives consideration to wider issues facing 
communities, such as crime, and information which assists in 
understanding the impact of poor stock, such as data on fuel poverty.  
The evidence also includes contextual indicators which have an impact 
in determining people’s housing options and ability to sustain a tenancy. 

7 In line with this approach, data was gathered at Lower Super Output 
Area (LSOA) level for the 324 LSOAs across County Durham.  These 
individual rankings were then brought together to create a cumulative 
ranking list, which provides an understanding of those areas across the 
county which rank relatively poorly across multiple issues and are most 
in need of intervention. 

8 This cumulative rank has assisted the prioritisation of the following 
LSOA areas to be subject to a TDP (the TDP documents are set out at 
Appendix 5): 

(a) New Kyo;  

(b) Coundon Grange; 

(c) Blackhall Colliery South; 

(d) Thickley; 

Page 880



 

 

(e) Deneside East; and 

(f) Stanley Hall West. 

9 The TDPs have been developed to support delivery.  Therefore, each 
document provides a summary of the issues in the area, as determined 
by the localised evidence base.  It is these issues that the identified 
actions seek to address. 

10 The TDPs serve to bring together actions from across the Council’s 
range of functions to provide an intensive, focussed and coordinated 
approach to addressing issues in a locality.  Registered Providers of 
Social Housing operating in the TDP areas have also contributed and 
shaped the actions in the respective delivery plan.  This serves to 
ensure that the Council and its partners coordinate approaches and 
combine capacity and resources to address issues in the identified 
areas. 

11 The TDPs provide certainty for communities and for partners as to the 
interventions to be undertaken in their area.  The TDPs will be taken to 
the relevant Area Action Partnership meeting for discussion.  
Consultation will be undertaken, as appropriate, at project delivery 
stage when actions in the TDP are implemented. 

12 Once approved, the TDPs will be subject to an annual review.  It is 
proposed that these reviews will include highlighting further areas to be 
subject to future TDPs.  It is also recognised that there is an opportunity 
for the location of future TDPs to be informed by Registered Providers 
on the Council’s Housing Forum, by identifying areas where there are 
particular issues or opportunities that would benefit from being 
addressed by a coordinated approach, through the use of TDPs. 

13 As part of bringing together the evidence themes for the TDPs, the 
Council has developed a Housing Strategy ‘look up’ tool.  A ‘look up’ is 
an interactive evidence base, which serves to ensure evidence and 
information is more accessible.  The look up tool is also a way to make 
evidence and policy designations more accessible to a wider range of 
users, supporting discussion and aiding understanding of issues across 
the county. 

Recommendation 

14 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) endorse the evidence based approach to identifying areas to be 
subject to a Targeted Delivery Plan; 

Page 881



 

 

(b) approve the content of the Targeted Delivery Plans at Appendix 
5; 

(c) agree that the Targeted Delivery Plans are taken to the relevant 
Area Action Partnership meetings for discussion; 

(d) approve the proposed approach to the future monitoring and 
review of the Targeted Delivery Plans and agree that as part of 
future monitoring and review, the Targeted Delivery Plans can be 
updated under delegated powers by the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth in consultation with the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Housing and Assets; 

(e) approve the approach to the identification of locations to be 
subject to future Targeted Delivery Plans and the extension of the 
Targeted Delivery Plan programme and agree that as part of the 
future programme, Targeted Delivery Plans can be approved 
under delegated powers by the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth in consultation with the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Housing and Assets, or by 
Cabinet where appropriate; and 

(f) note the scope and content of the County Durham Housing 
Strategy look up tool. 

  

Page 882



 

 

Background and context to Targeted Delivery Plans  

15 Targeted Delivery Plans (TDPs) are a mechanism to direct and 
coordinate housing regeneration activities and measures to support 
residents in those communities most in need.  The Council has 
developed an evidence base to understand which locations would 
benefit from more intensive interventions.  The TDPs serve to bring 
together complementary actions from the Council and its partners to 
address the identified issues in a locality.  TDPs will focus existing 
activities in areas of need, as well as identifying new actions and putting 
the Council in a stronger position to capitalise on any future funding 
opportunities. 

16 The role of TDPs is set out in the County Durham Housing Strategy.  As 
context, the Durham Housing Strategy was adopted by Durham County 
Council Cabinet in July 2019.  The Housing Strategy was developed to 
consider housing issues across County Durham and provides a 
strategic framework to inform the actions and investment of the Council 
and its partners. 

17 The Housing Strategy brings together all housing related policy and 
activity in County Durham.  This is reflected in the objectives which 
relate to the following areas: 

(a) providing advice, assistance and support for people in their 
homes; 

(b) improving access to housing; 

(c) delivering more homes to meet needs; and 

(d) maintaining and improving the existing stock in the County and 
the wider housing environment. 

18 The TDPs relate primarily to the final objective and bring together 
actions to maintain and improve the existing housing stock and the 
wider housing environment. 

19 The Housing Strategy also contains a series of ‘key messages’ which 
set out the housing priorities within County Durham.  The TDPs provide 
a means to deliver on a number of these key messages as follows: 

(a) seeking to improve the quality of the existing housing stock and 
the wider residential environment;  

(b) raising standards in the private rented sector; and 

(c) working within those communities most effected by long term 
empty properties. 

Page 883



 

 

20 In addition, and in recognition that the key messages reflect the 
Council’s housing priorities, the TDPs seek to realise opportunities in 
respect of other housing key messages including: 

(a) delivering homes to meet the needs of our older people; and 

(b) maximising the delivery of affordable housing. 

21 The Housing Strategy contains a section on ‘Supporting Mixed and 
balanced Communities’.  This section reflects upon issues with the 
existing housing stock in parts of County Durham and notes past 
regeneration activities.  The relevant actions associated with this 
element of the Housing Strategy can be summarised as follows: 

(a) develop and monitor evidence to understand issues associated 
with balance and potential decline; 

(b) where appropriate, develop a localised and targeted delivery plan 
to consider issues and responses; and 

(c) these will be developed with input from key partners and the local 
community. 

22 The TDPs are therefore firmly grounded in the County Durham Housing 
Strategy and provide a means to deliver on a number of the Council’s 
housing priorities.  Appendix 2 sets out a diagram demonstrating the 
strategic context for the TDPs within the framework of the Housing 
Strategy Aims, Objectives and Key Messages. 

23 As well as having origins in the County Durham Housing Strategy, 
TDPs are also aligned with, and complementary to, a number of other 
Council proposals and programmes.  In this context, the TDPs reflect 
the work on selective licencing, with relevant TDP areas including 
reference to the proposed designation.  This serves to demonstrate that 
selective licencing is proposed to be introduced alongside a range of 
complementary interventions. 

24 The TDPs also reflect the opportunity for the development of Council 
housing.  In this context and in line with Cabinet’s September 2020 
decision to agree to begin a Council house building programme of up to 
500 homes over the period 2021-26, the TDPs note the intention to 
explore opportunities for Council housing within the identified areas. 

25 Finally, the TDPs form part of the Council’s commitment to our 
disadvantaged communities through Towns and Villages and indeed, 
form part of the Towns and Villages Investment Plan.  Towns and 
Villages is underpinned by a comparable evidence base, albeit the 
TDPs factor in housing specific indicators and consider data at a more 

Page 884



 

 

localised geography, relevant to the scale of intervention.  This ensures 
that the TDP activities sit within the context of the Towns and Villages 
work and are part of the Council’s approach of accelerating the delivery 
of projects to address issues in communities. 

Targeted Delivery Plan Evidence Base 

26 The Housing Strategy notes that, in order to continue to support and 
maintain mixed and balanced communities, the Council will make use of 
evidence to understand, on a localised basis, the extent to which 
communities are ‘unbalanced’.  The Housing Strategy recognises that 
that there is no single indicator which can be used to assess whether an 
area is unbalanced and issues can present themselves at different 
geographies.  It was an action of the Housing Strategy for the Council to 
develop an evidence base in this context. 

27 The Council has fulfilled this action and developed an evidence base to 
understand which communities are most in need of intervention.  This 
evidence base has informed both the locations to be subject to a TDP 
and also the focus of the interventions in the individual TDP documents, 
with actions being developed to respond to specific issues in each 
locality.  An overview of the approach to the development of the 
evidence base and the key findings are set out at Appendix 3. 

28 The data has been collated at Lower Super Output Area (LSOA).  This 
is a nationally standard geographical area.  Whist the LSOAs vary in 
area, they are based on a broadly consistent population size.  The use 
of LSOAs ensures that the TDPs represent a community level 
geography, which is important in considering housing issues.  The use 
of LSOAs also ensures that datasets are available to monitor change in 
an area over time, as well as to inform future interventions and 
activities. 

29 In identifying data to inform the TDPs, consideration has been given to 
the types of issues that communities face and that the TDPs will look to 
address.  Therefore, data has been used to understand housing market 
indicators, particularly those which assist in highlighting issues of lower 
demand.  In addition, data has been factored in to understand stock 
condition.  The evidence base also seeks to understand wider issues 
facing communities, such as crime and antisocial behaviour. 

30 The Housing Strategy emphasises that the Council will ‘put people first’.  
This is an important principle, as it ensures that housing activities 
always look beyond ‘bricks and mortar’ approaches towards supporting 
residents.  In this context, the evidence seeks to understand the impact 
of poor stock on issues such as fuel poverty.  The evidence also 

Page 885



 

 

includes contextual indicators which have an impact in determining 
people’s housing options and ability to sustain a tenancy. 

31 The list of themes below has been considered as part of the TDP 
evidence base.  A full description of these themes and the relevant data 
sets is set out in Appendix 3.  The themes are as follows: 

(a) Long-term empty homes. This refers to homes that have been 
empty for six months or more.  Empty homes are an inevitable 
part of churn in a functioning housing market.  However, there are 
concerns when homes have been empty for a long time, as they 
are not contributing to meeting housing needs and they can be 
associated with crime and anti-social behaviour to the detriment 
of local residents; 

(b) The median price paid for a house. Low house prices can be 
indicative of low demand in an area which can be related to, or 
signify other issues, such as empty homes, poor housing stock or 
wider environmental areas that impact the community; 

(c) Fuel poverty. A household is considered to be fuel poor if it has 
higher than typical energy costs to provide an indoor environment 
that does not adversely affect their health and wellbeing, and 
would, as a result, be left with a disposable income below the 
poverty line if it spent the required money to meet those costs; 

(d) Solid walls. Housing with solid walls can let twice as much 
energy escape than housing with cavity walls.  Solid walls are 
also more difficult to insulate.  This means that housing with solid 
walls are more expensive to heat if they are not insulated.  Solid 
walls could therefore be a cause fuel poverty; 

(e) Average household income. Income deprivation impacts on the 
affordability of living, including acquiring or continuing to live in 
suitable housing, fuel poverty, other costs of living and, 
potentially, the quality of housing stock a household has access 
to; 

(f) Children in low income families. There are increasing 
pressures on low income families following welfare reforms.  This 
indicator could flag issues for families such as affordability of 
suitable housing, living in overcrowded homes and the wider 
costs of living; 

(g) Employment. Exclusion from the labour market, and an 
increased reliance on the welfare system, can result in limited 
and low income.  This can impact on the accessibility to, and 

Page 886



 

 

affordability of, housing, utilities and the cost of living.  
Vulnerability to homelessness can also be an issue; 

(h) Crime. Crime can cause wider housing and environmental 
concerns and be indicative of wider issues in a locality.  In some 
cases, areas that have become ‘unbalanced’ through issues such 
as poor housing stock quality or empty homes, can be associated 
with higher levels of crime and environmental decline.  People will 
likely to be less willing to live in these areas and so a cycle of 
decline can continue; 

(i) Health. Health is a cross cutting theme of the Housing Strategy.  
The homes and the places in which people live is a key 
determinant of their overall health and wellbeing, impacting their 
risk of illnesses, quality of life and access to appropriate support 
services. 

32 Data was gathered at LSOA level for each of the above themes for the 
324 LSOAs across County Durham.  This has enabled an 
understanding of the relative ranking of the LSOAs in relation to each 
evidence theme.  These individual rankings were then brought together 
to create a cumulative ranking list.  This process did not involve 
weighting of any of the data themes.  A core intention of the TDPs is to 
coordinate actions in response to multiple issues in a locality and target 
those areas in most need of intervention.  Therefore, it was considered 
important to understand those areas which performed poorly in respect 
of multiple indicators.  Any approach to weighting specific sets of data 
may have elevated those locations performing relatively poorly against 
weighted single issues in the cumulative ranking list, and potentially 
may have obscured those areas in greater need of intervention across a 
range of themes.  

33 The cumulative ranking list therefore provides an understanding of the 
areas across the county which rank relatively poorly across multiple 
issues.  This cumulative rank has assisted the prioritisation of LSOA 
areas to be subject to a TDP. 

34 Each TDP also contains information on population cohorts for that 
location, as well as a breakdown of housing stock by type.  Whilst this 
has not informed the cumulative ranking process, it does serve to 
further aid the understanding of an area including opportunities to 
support older people in a locality. 

Targeted Delivery Plans Areas 

35 The development of a robust and up to date evidence base has enabled 
the Council to develop TDPs for those areas most in need of 

Page 887



 

 

intervention.  In identifying areas which score relatively poorly across a 
number of issues, it was noted that some of those areas already have 
existing large scale interventions proposed or ongoing.  It is considered 
that a TDP would not be appropriate for these areas at this stage.  This 
is on the basis that a TDP would not add further value beyond the 
ongoing or proposed strategic interventions, which have been 
developed to provide a comprehensive response to specific issues and 
opportunities for these areas.  It is also in recognition of the respective 
stage of these projects which have either commenced, or have recently 
been subject to public consultation. Information on those areas in the 
cumulative ranking list but not subject to a TDP is set out in Appendix 3. 

36 Therefore, following the development of the evidence base and the 
cumulative ranking exercise, a number of LSOAs have been identified 
as being subject to a TDP.  These areas are identified by the LSOA 
name.  The location of these areas is set out on the map at Appendix 4.  
The areas are as follows: 

(a) New Kyo; 

(b) Coundon Grange; 

(c) Blackhall Colliery South; 

(d) Thickley; 

(e) Deneside East; and 

(f) Stanley Hall West. 

37 TDPs have been prepared for each of the above locations.  These 
TDPs are set out at Appendix 5 of this report. 

38 The TDPs are based on LSOA boundaries, as it is at this geography 
that the evidence base has been developed to identify those areas most 
in need of intervention across the county.  However, whilst the LSOA 
boundaries are defined and fixed, the TDPs will be more flexible in 
delivery on the ground.  In this regard interventions and actions will not, 
in practice, be limited to the TDP boundary if there is a rationale and 
opportunity to extend interventions to adjacent sites and nearby streets 
across a wider estate.  Indeed, the intention is that the TDP actions will 
be replicated and rolled out across adjoining areas in subsequent 
rounds of TDPs. 

Targeted Delivery Plans Scope and Content 

39 The TDP documents set out their origins in the context of the Housing 
Strategy and identify the area to which the actions relate.  The TDPs 

Page 888



 

 

draw upon the evidence, issues and opportunities within each area and 
set out a statement on what the Council and its partners are trying to 
achieve in each locality, but also what the expected outcome for each 
TDP area will be.  The TDPs also contain a summary of past and 
ongoing interventions in the area, as delivered by the Council and its 
partners.  This is in recognition that the TDPs, whilst a new approach, 
build on past and current interventions in these locations. 

40 The TDPs have been developed to support delivery.  Therefore, each 
document provides a summary of the issues in the area, as determined 
by the evidence base.  It is these issues that the identified actions seek 
to address.  The Action Plan is the key element of the TDPs and sets 
out a series of actions in line with the relevant Housing Strategy section.  
The TDPs have been developed on a standardised format but are 
responsive to the evidence of issues in each location and set out 
tailored actions accordingly. 

41 The Action Plan contained within each of the TDPs sets out actions 
related to the issues identified.  TDPs serve to bring together a range of 
actions to provide an intensive, focused and coordinated approach to 
addressing issues in a locality.  In response to the issues identified in 
each area, the TDPs contain actions from teams across the Council’s 
range of functions. 

42 Furthermore, the TDPs include actions from the Council’s partners.  
Registered Providers of social housing operating in the areas have 
contributed and shaped the actions in the respective TDP.  The 
documents have also been discussed at the County Durham Housing 
Forum partnership group and partners have provided information to 
supplement the TDPs.  This serves to ensure that the Council and its 
partners coordinate approaches and combine capacity and resources to 
address issues in the identified areas. 

43 The Action Plans in the TDPs reflect the range of mainstream activities, 
which are activities that the Council and its partners have undertaken 
and will continue to undertake.  However, the approach means that 
these can be concentrated in the identified locations, which would be 
subject to a more intensive approach to delivery.  The TDPs highlight 
new ‘short term’ actions, to be undertaken in the next 2 years, ‘medium 
term’ actions over a longer time horizon up to 5 years and ‘long term’ 
actions, which reflects larger scale interventions and projects which may 
be developed or delivered over a number of years. 

44 Some of the actions in the TDPs are presently being undertaken or 
have funding in place, whereas other actions do not presently have 
funding.  In this context, the TDPs provide an evidence base and 
approach to improve areas which will assist the Council, and its 

Page 889



 

 

partners, in accessing future funding opportunities to deliver 
improvements in the identified locations. 

45 The Action Plan is supported by a map of the TDP area which has been 
annotated to identify where specific actions will take place and which 
parts of the TDP area will be subject to focused interventions.  The map 
provides an understanding of opportunities for intervention and overlays 
evidence, specific actions and development opportunities to direct the 
delivery of the Action Plan.  The TDP maps have been developed on a 
geographic information system (GIS), which enables regular updating 
and monitoring. 

Public consultation on actions at project delivery stage 

46 The TDPs provide certainty for communities and for partners as to the 
interventions to be undertaken in their area.  Consultation will be 
undertaken, as appropriate, at project delivery stage when actions in the 
TDP are implemented.  In order to support community and stakeholder 
involvement in the delivery of the TDPs, the documents will be taken to 
the relevant Area Action Partnership for discussion. 

47 The TDPs contain a range of actions and projects from both the Council 
and its partners.  Consultation will be undertaken on actions identified in 
the TDPs at project delivery stage, in accordance with established 
processes.  Some of the projects identified in TDPs have already been 
subject to consultation, such as the selective licencing proposals. 

Monitoring and review of Targeted Delivery Plans 

48 Once approved, the TDPs will be subject to an annual review.  This will 
consist of both monitoring the evidence base but also updating the 
action plan and associated map to reflect changing evidence, ongoing 
delivery and potential future opportunities.  As part of this process, there 
will be an opportunity to further refine actions as well as supplementing 
the TDPs with additional actions. 

49 The evidence base which has informed the actions in the TDPs will also 
be updated and monitored over time. 

Programme for future rounds of Targeted Delivery Plans 

50 As part of the development of the first six TDPs, the Council has 
established an evidence base to understand the issues of specific 
locations across the county and to prioritise areas for intervention.  The 
development of the first six TDPs has also shaped a standard template 
for the documents.  As part of developing the first round of documents, 
evidence and actions have been mapped on a GIS layer which can be 
updated and expanded as required. 

Page 890



 

 

51 It is proposed that following adoption by Cabinet of the first six TDPs, 
the TDP programme is expanded beyond the first round of documents 
to other communities.  As part of determining which areas will be 
subject to a TDP in the future, the Council will continue to make use of 
evidence to identify those areas most in need of intervention.  There is 
also scope to expand the coverage of the existing TDPs to nearby or 
adjacent areas to formally extend the effective area of intervention.  
This will be particularly relevant where the LSOAs which have 
underpinned the identification of the TDP areas, sit within a wider built 
up area. 

52 It is also recognised that there is an opportunity for the location of future 
TDPs to be informed by Registered Providers of Social Housing on the 
Council’s Housing Forum, by identifying locations where there are 
particular issues or opportunities that would benefit from being 
addressed by a coordinated approach, through the use of TDPs. 

53 52 It is proposed that the future programme of TDPs would build on 
the first six documents and scale up the number and coverage of TDPs 
across the county.  Cabinet are asked to agree that as part of this future 
programme, TDPs can be approved under delegated powers.    
However, it is recognised that it would be appropriate to present future 
TDPs to Cabinet for consideration where the identified issues, scope of 
interventions or scale of the programme merits specific Cabinet 
consideration and approval.  

County Durham Housing Strategy ‘look up’ tool 

53 As part of bringing together the evidence themes for the TDPs, the 
Council has developed a Housing Strategy ‘look up’ tool.  A ‘look up’ is 
an interactive evidence base, which serves to ensure evidence and 
information is more accessible. 

54 The Housing Strategy look up tool brings together housing evidence 
and policy designations into a single system, linked to spatial 
geographies such as Middle Super Output Areas (MSOAs), LSOAs and 
other geographies.  Bringing it together also allows it to be searched by 
postcode.  This means that a range of information can be brought up 
pertinent to a given area.  The look up tool is available to view at 
Appendix 6 of this report. 

55 A look up tool is a way to make evidence and policy designations more 
accessible to a wider range of users.  In this context, local members, 
members of the public, partners and other stakeholders can access 
information in a quick and easy way.  This supports discussion and 
aides understanding of issues across the county. 

Page 891



 

 

56 The look up tool has been developed by the Research and Intelligence 
Team and the Spatial Policy Team.  Its origins are in the look up tool 
used to support the consultation on the Council’s proposals for selective 
licencing.  The evidence base used to inform the TDPs is contained on 
the look up tool.  The look up tool also includes other housing related 
indicators and policy designations. 

57 It is proposed that the look up tool is hosted on the Council’s website.  
The look up tool will be updated as datasets are published.  There will 
be opportunities to expand the data and policy information on the look 
up tool. 

Next Steps 

58 Following approval by Cabinet, the TDPs will be utilised to coordinate 
an intensive, focussed and coordinated programme of activities by the 
Council and its partners to maintain and improve the existing housing 
stock and the wider housing environment in the identified areas. 

59 The adopted TDPs will be monitored annually to assess the progress of 
interventions and to monitor the evidence base.  In monitoring the 
evidence base, the Council will scope and develop future TDPs, in 
discussion with the Registered Providers of Social Housing who attend 
the County Durham Housing Forum to extend the coverage of activities 
across the county. 

60 The housing look up tool will be published on the Council’s website and 
the Council will explore opportunities to expand the information on this 
tool. 

Conclusion 

61 This report has provided an overview of the strategic context for TDPs, 
the evidence base developed to inform the selection of TDP areas and 
the identified areas to be subject to the first round of TDP documents.  
The report has set out the scope of TDPs, including the range of actions 
from across Council services and the role of partners in developing the 
TDPs. 

62 The report sets out next steps for the TDPs including future monitoring 
and review including scoping future TDPs. 

63 The report has introduced the Housing Strategy look up tool, which will 
serve to ensure evidence and information is accessible to a wide range 
of users.  This supports discussion and aides understanding of issues 
across the county.  

Authors 

Page 892



 

 

Graeme Smith Tel: 03000 263610 

Alan Hunter  Tel: 03000 262024 

 

 

  

Page 893



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications associated with the approval of the TDPs.  
However, legal implications will be considered at project stage where they 
involve exercising the Council’s powers. 

Finance 

There are no financial implications associated with the TDPs.  The funding to 
deliver projects as set out at the documents would be confirmed at a project 
stage.  The TDPs reflect projects that form part of a range of programmes, 
each will have been subject to its own financial approval process. 

Consultation 

The projects and activities as set out in the TDPs have been subject to 
consultation as part of their development where appropriate.  Consultation will 
be undertaken on future projects in line with established processes.  The 
report recommends that the TDPs are taken to the relevant Area Action 
Partnership meetings for discussion. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council acknowledges that, in exercising its functions, it has a legal duty 
under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  This 
duty applies to all people defined as having protected characteristics under 
that legislation. 

An Equalities Impact Assessment was been undertaken for the County 
Durham Housing Strategy, which identified the scope and role of Targeted 
Delivery Plans.  This Equalities Impact Assessment confirmed that the 
Housing Strategy would have a potential positive impact across all of the 
protected characteristics, in particular for age (younger and older people), 
disability and sex (both male and female). 

Climate Change 

The TDPs contribute towards Durham County Council’s response to the 
climate emergency.  The evidence base which has determined the locations to 
be subject to TDPs, included information on solid walls.  It is recognised that 
housing with solid walls can let twice as much energy escape than housing 
with cavity walls.  Solid walls are also more difficult to insulate.  This means 

Page 894



 

 

that housing with solid walls are more expensive to heat if they are not 
insulated. 

Where solid walls are identified within a TDP area, the TDPs contain actions 
to improve energy efficiency of properties to ensure County Durham has a 
stock of warm, healthy and energy efficient homes. 

This approach conforms with the Durham County Council Climate Emergency 
Response and Action Plan 2020 to 2022 (February 2020) and specifically the 
approach to tackling County Durham’s emissions under the Buildings and 
Heat Priority Area. 

Human Rights 

Protocol 1 Article 1: Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions, including their property.  Any interference with 
landowners’ rights must be balanced against the wider public.  Any 
implications of any works to properties, the wider housing environment or 
compulsory purchase will be considered in detail in the context of specific 
proposals. 

Article 8: provides a Right to respect for private and family life.  Everyone has 
the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence.  There shall be no interference by a public authority with the 
exercise of this right except such as is in accordance with the law and is 
necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public 
safety or the economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder 
or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the 
rights and freedoms of others.  Any implications will be considered in detail in 
the context of specific proposals. 

Crime and Disorder 

Crime is one of the indicators included in the cumulative ranking process to 
determine the TDP areas.  It is recognised that crime can cause wider housing 
and environmental concerns and be indicative of wider issues in a locality. 

Staffing 

No additional staff resource has been identified.  The TDPs serve to bring 
together a range of actions to provide an intensive, focused and coordinated 
approach to addressing issues in a locality.  In response to the issues 
identified in each area, the TDPs contain actions from teams across the 
Council’s range of functions  

  

Page 895



 

 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Individual projects will have risks assessed and managed as part of project 
management processes. 

Procurement 

When required, projects may require additional expertise commissioned to 
deliver projects in accordance with the Council’s procurement 
rules/procedures. 

 

Page 896



Housing Strategy Key Messages include:

• Seeking to improve the quality of the existing 
housing stock and the wider residential 
environment 

• Raising standards in the private rented sector
• Working within those communities most effected 

by long term empty properties
• Delivering homes to meet the needs of our older 

people
• Maximising the delivery of affordable housing

• The Housing Strategy provides a 
strategic framework which sets 
out aims and objectives to 
inform actions and investment.

• The framework reflects all 
housing related activities and 
issues to address in County 
Durham.

• This diagram notes which aims 
and objectives are relevant to 
the TDPs

• The County Durham Housing 
Strategy was adopted by 
Cabinet in 2019

• Housing Strategy contains a 
series of ‘key messages’ which 
set out the priorities of the 
Council and its partners.

• In line with the objective to maintain and 
improve standards across the housing 
stock, the Strategy notes the Council will 
develop evidence to understand issues 
associated with balance and potential 
decline. 

• This evidence has informed the areas to 
be subject to TDPs and the issues to be 
addressed in the TDPs. 

Better 
Housing 

Support for 
County 
Durham 

Residents

More and 
Better Homes

Maintain and improve 
standards across County 

Durham’s housing stock and 
wider housing environment

Delivery of more homes to 
meet needs and demand

Improve access to housing

Housing advice support and 
assistance for older and 

vulnerable people

Housing Strategy Framework

Aims Objectives

• Through the 
TDPs there is 
an opportunity 
to support 
those in need 
in an housing 
context. 

• The TDPs reflect and provide an approach 
to deliver on a number of these key 
messages as highlighted.

P
age 897



T
his page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Targeted Delivery Plan Process Paper 

1. Introduction 
 
This paper sets out the process taken to develop the evidence base to inform the identification 
of areas to be subject to a Targeted Delivery Plan (TDP). TDPs are identified in the Housing 
Strategy as a mechanism to support mixed and balanced communities. This paper provides 
an overview of the evidence used to inform the TDPs and detail the steps taken to formulate 
the evidence data base, including the areas selected for the first tranche of TDPs and rationale 
for selection.  
 

2. Context 
 
The County Durham Housing Strategy was subject to consultation in early 2019 and adopted 
by the Council’s Cabinet on the 10th July 2019. It has been developed to consider housing 
and wider residential environment issues in the County and as one component of the wider 
strategy, issues relating to mixed and balanced communities. This includes issues such as:  
improving standards in the private rented sector; long-term empty homes; affordable 
housing; housing to meet the needs of older people; fuel poverty. It is also recognised these 
issues can accumulate to cause multiple problems in a community. 
 
The Housing Strategy provides a strategic framework to inform actions and investment to 
result in positive outcomes for these issues.  As part of the solution to the issues identified in 
the Housing Strategy, localised and Targeted Delivery Plans (TDPs) have been developed to 
consider a joined-up approach and address appropriate responses to the housing and 
environmental issues and to support the creation and maintenance of mixed and balanced 
communities.  
 
Each TDP covers a localised area based on a Lower Super Output Area (LSOA). LSOAs are 
areas with an average population of 1600 people or 650 households.  

3. Lower Super Output Areas in County Durham  

Lower-Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are a statistical geography created for the 2011 
Census of England and Wales based on population, which recorded 32,844 LSOAs in 
England and Wales. They have been created to improve how people based, or 
demographic, statistics are reported and presented. The population of each LSOA ranges 
from around 900 to 4200 and with an average of 1600 in County Durham (as of mid-2018 
ONS estimates). 

The number of LSOAs in a local authority depends on the population of the area and in 
County Durham there are 324 LSOAs.  A more rural LSOA in County Durham, for example 
would cover a larger geographic area but still have a similar population to an LSOA in a 
more built up area in the County. All the LSOA boundaries lie within the local authority 
boundary. 

LSOA’s can be aggregated up to a larger statistical geography called Middle-Layer Super 
Output Areas (MSOAs) which follow the same premise but for larger populations. LSOAs 
always fit within the MSOA boundary that they belong to, this makes the analysis of the 
wider and surrounding communities consistent and easier to report and present.  

Using LSOA level data is the most appropriate statistical geography to use for the Targeted 
Delivery Plans (TDP) as it provides detail at a localised level which is consistent, whilst 

Page 899

https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/ukgeographies/censusgeography
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census


identifying the issues faced within the communities. Being a fixed geography, LSOAs are 
particularly suitable for keeping track of statistics over time and to understand change within 
areas 

The ability to analyse, report and present data at this scale for areas in County Durham 
makes it easier to identify the right types of issues and any related or cumulative issues 
more accurately at a localised level, that may have been missed if larger or smaller 
geographies were used.  

Each LSOA has a unique code, the name given to each LSOA has been determined at a 
Local Authority Level. The code and the names allow this LSOA level data to be easily 
presented. The names given to LSOAs are different to the names given to Electoral Wards, 
whose population varies substantially across the country. Sometimes LSOA boundaries 
align with ward boundaries and other times they are different, so different names are 
needed. To avoid confusion between LSOAs and other geographical boundaries, the names 
are not identical. They use of different names ensure data based on other boundaries can be 
distinguished and to avoid confusion. 
 
Each TDP plan will be tailored to the various identified needs of the LSOA based on an 
evidence base that draws together data on issues identified in the Housing Strategy.  
 

4. Evidence overview  
 

In developing the TDPs an evidence base relating to mixed and balanced communities has 

been developed. The evidence base takes account of nine indicators that relate to some of 

the issues identified in the Housing Strategy pertaining to mixed and balanced communities. 

These indicators align with the relevant issues identified in the Housing Strategy. The 

indicators in the evidence base can help inform TDPs and ensure that tailored and 

coordinated actions can be developed to address issues in specific areas. The indicators 

which form the evidence base are as follows: 

Long-term Empty Homes - (Source- DCC 2017) 

This refers to homes that have been empty for six months or more. 

Empty homes are an inevitable part of churn in a functioning housing market. However, 

there is a concern when homes have been empty for a long time, as they are not 

contributing to meeting housing needs and they can be associated with crime and anti-social 

behaviour to the detriment of local residents.  

Example of delivery in action - Housing regeneration projects to bring empty homes back 

into use including insulation improvements and streetscaping in areas such as South Moor 

have benefited 150 houses in the South Moor community. 

Median Price Paid for a House - (Source - Land Registry 2017)  

This indicator refers to the median house price within an LSOA. Low house prices can be 

indicative of low demand in an area which can be related to, or signify other issues, such as 

empty homes, poor housing stock or wider environmental areas that impact the community.  

Fuel Poverty - (Source- Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy 2017)  

Fuel poverty is measured using Low Income High Cost calculations. 

A household is considered to be fuel poor if it has higher than typical energy costs to provide 

an indoor environment that does not adversely affect their health and wellbeing, and would 

Page 900



as a result be left with a disposable income below the poverty line if it spent the required 

money to meet those costs.  

 

It captures the fact that fuel poverty is distinct from general poverty: not all poor households 

are fuel poor, and some households would not normally be considered poor but could be 

pushed into fuel poverty if they have high energy costs.  

 

Fuel poverty is therefore an overlapping problem of households having a low income and 

facing high energy costs. Fuel poverty has also been identified as key risk area in health, 

leading in part to over 20,000 excess winter deaths each year. 

Example of delivery in action - The Council’s award-winning Warm Homes Campaign co-
ordinates delivery of the County Durham Affordable Warmth Strategy and Action Plan by 
raising awareness, uptake and delivery of all local and national energy efficiency and fuel 
poverty programs to residents in County Durham. The Council’s Managing Money Better 
Service provides free and impartial advice to save money on energy bills and to keep 
residents homes warm. 
 
Solid Walls – (Source - DCC) 

This indicator sets out LSOAs with the highest proportion of households with solid walls. 

Housing with solid walls let twice as much energy escape than housing with cavity walls. 

Solid walls are also more difficult to insulate as they do not contain the cavities within the 

walls to insulate. This means that housing with solid walls are more expensive to heat if they 

are not insulated. Solid walls could therefore be a cause fuel poverty.  

Example of delivery in action - Energy efficiency and regeneration programmes have 

benefitted areas such as Craghead Stanley; 154 properties were improved via external brick 

render insulation systems and group repair. This regeneration encouraged a private housing 

development on the derelict school site and house prices in the improved streets from 

£30,000 to £60,000. 

Average Household Income - (Source - IMD 2019) 

The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing 

deprivation relating to low income. The definition of low income used includes both those 

people that are out-of-work, and those that are in work but who have low earnings (and who 

satisfy the respective means tests). 

Income deprivation impacts on the affordability of living, including acquiring or continuing to 

live in suitable housing products, fuel poverty, other costs of living and, potentially, the 

quality of housing stock one has access to. 

The Council’s Housing Solutions team report that the main reason for people presenting to 

them as homelessness or being at threat of being homes is due to the end of private rent 

assured shorthold tenancy, which includes rental arrears, with the majority being single 

households. 

Example of delivery in action- A Poverty Action Steering Group was established in 2013 with 

an action plan to address poverty in County Durham. The Council’s Housing Solutions team 

continue to work closely with housing providers across County Durham to understand the 

welfare changes and the potential impact and to coordinate a joined-up approach. Action 

includes assistance to clients in financial difficulties and struggling to meet rent repayments; 

Page 901



review of Council’s Finance Assistance Policy; review existing performance information 

regarding rent arrears, housing demand and empty properties. 

Children in low income families – (Source - IMD 2019) 

This indicator represents households where there are children under 16, who are in receipt 

of Child Tax Credit whose reported household income is less than 60% of the median 

income, or in receipt of either Income Support or Income-Based Jobseekers Allowance.  

There are increasing pressures on low income families following welfare reforms mentioned 

above. This indicator could flag issues for families such as affordability of suitable housing 

products, living in overcrowded homes, issues regarding fuel poverty and wider costs of 

living, and health and wellbeing issues as a crosscutting consideration. 

Example of delivery in action- As part of Poverty Action Steering Group action plan a key 

theme is a focus on child poverty with the goal to ensure poverty does not prevent young 

people reach their potential. Actions include engagement with existing forums and 

organisations to understand the impact of child poverty; early years interventions; resource 

initiatives aimed at preventing poverty and supporting children affected by utilising the pupil 

premium funding within schools.  

Employment – (Source - IMD 2019) 

This indicator measures the number of working age people who are involuntarily excluded 

from the labour market and in receipt of unemployment and worklessness related benefits 

including Jobseekers Allowance, Employment and Support Allowance, Incapacity Benefit, 

Severe Disablement Allowance and Carer’s Allowance. 

Exclusion from the labour market, and so an increased reliance on the welfare system, can 

determine limited and low income. This can impact on the accessibility to and affordability of 

housing products, utilities and the cost of living.  

Precarious employment and so periods where one is excluded from the labour market can 

also impact ability to maintain housing as incomes changes. This includes through 

interaction with the reformed welfare system where weekly or monthly income is subject to 

change. Vulnerability to homelessness as well as quality of housing product could also be 

issues. 

Example of delivery in action - The Council’s economic development team continue to work 

closely with internal teams, partners, and existing organisations to understand and address 

wider barriers to unemployment and impact of unemployment. 

Crime - (Source - IMD 2019) 

The Crime indicator measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at local level. 

Crime can cause wider housing and environmental concerns and be indicative of wider 

issues in a locality. In some cases, areas that have become ‘unbalanced’ through issues 

such as poor housing stock quality, empty homes, can be associated with higher levels of 

crime and environmental decline. People will be less willing to live in these areas and so a 

cycle of decline can continue. 

Example of delivery in action- The Council works in partnership with Durham Constabulary, 

and Neighbourhood Officers to understand and address crime and differing types of crime in 

areas and communities across the County.   

Page 902



Health – (Source - IMD 2019) 

This indicator measures premature death and the impairment of quality of life from poor 
physical and/or mental health. It also considers underlying indicators measuring years of 
potential life lost, comparative illness and disability ratio, acute morbidity and mood and 
anxiety disorders. Health is a cross cutting theme of our Housing Strategy because we know 
that the homes and the places in which people live is a key determinant of their overall 
health and wellbeing - impacting their risk of illnesses, quality of life and access to 
appropriate support services. 

The relationship between poor environment (deprived neighbourhoods) and risk of ill health 

is well known. Poor physical housing conditions (including homelessness and temporary 

accommodation) contribute to health risks – both physical and mental. 

The Marmot Review 2020 further supports the view that stable housing positively impacts on 

health and wellbeing of residents as does wider environmental and neighbourhood 

determinants. This should enable housing policy to play a strengthened and more visible role 

in tackling health inequality within local communities.  

Example of delivery in action - The Housing Strategy and action plan have undergone a 
Health Impact Assessment and further assessment through a Wellbeing Approach toolkit. As 
a result of this process, areas for development were identified as well as positive work 
already underway. This includes the Making Every Contact Count (MECC) approach to 
support workforce connectivity with the health and wellbeing agenda. Through continued 
joint working with the Health and Wellbeing Group, Housing Support Group and Public 
Health England, the Housing Strategy can deliver the Health and Wellbeing aspect of the 
strategy and Action Plan. 

5. Data collection and process 

The data on these nine indicators have been collected and compiled for the 324 LSOAs in 
the County. This dataset provides an evidence base to identify those areas which are 
relatively poor against each of the nine indicators. Furthermore, by undertaking a cumulative 
ranking across the issues, the evidence base provides an understanding of which LSOAs 
are associated with and perform relatively poorly across multiple issues.  

This process has enabled the Council to prioritise interventions in those areas most in need 
of intervention. The evidence base also serves to identify the issues faced in individual 
communities. This enables TDPs to be tailored to address identified issues and include a 
range of actions specific to the issues identified in each LSOA.   

An overview of the process of developing the evidence base has been set out below. This 
sets the approach to bringing together the data sets to identify the LSOA areas to be subject 
to the first tranche of TDPs.   

 

 

 

 

Page 903



Process in developing evidence data base for the TDP 

 

 

 

6. Future Review  
 

Data will be subject to appropriate updates and will inform future iterations of the cumulative 

ranking process and future rounds of TDPs. As noted in the process chart above, there is an 

Data 
collection

•The types of data selected for the evidence base were considered.

- Data selection was based on relevance to the issues identified in the Housing   
Strategy regarding the outcome of 'Mixed and Balanced Communities' and the 
delivery in strategic action plan. Nine idicators were identified (as described aove).

•Data was gathered on the nine indicators for all of the LSOAs in the County Durham.

Ranking

•Each LSOA was ranked by its performance against other LSOAs forn each indicator. 
In this process, number 324 being the best performing and rank 1 being the relative 
worst peforming. For example, regarding Health, Horden Central ranked 1- relative 
worst in the county for health, Neville’s Cross South ranked 324- relative best in the 
county for health.

•All LSOAs were organised and listed for each indicator in one database

Anaysis

•A 'rank of ranks' was created based on the cumulative rankings of each LSOA across 
all indicators to allow comparative analysis.

•This showed areas that were repeatedly ranking high (close to rank 1) for multiple 
indicators, this signposted that there are several issues in these areas and could 
warrant a localised targeted delivery plan to coordinate a joint up response to these 
issues.

Further 
Analysis

•The LSOAs in the top 10 rank of ranks were analysed further to consider which 5 LSOA's 
should be the first tranche to have TDPs developed. This was based on knowledge of 
projects already in place in areas. See 'Appendix 2'.

•The top ten rank of ranks can be seen in the table below in 'Appendix 1':

LSOA 
Selection

•Selection of LSOAs for first tranche of localised TDP's :-

•New Kyo;

•Coundon Grange;

•Blackhall Colliery South; 

•Thickley; 

•Deneside East.

Evidence for 
focused single 
interventions

The LSOAs ranked 1-15 for each indicator were also used identify any singular issues in 
locations where focused interventions would be appropriate. See table below in 
'Appendix 3'.

Page 904



opportunity to both address areas with cumulative issues and singular issues in future 

rounds of TDPs. 

 

7. Conclusion 
 

This paper has provided an overview of the process of developing the evidence base to 

inform the areas to be subject to a TDP. The paper provides an overview of the LSOA 

geography used and at which data is presented and the specific data which has been 

identified to understand issues in localities. The paper sets out the approach to bringing the 

data together into a cumulative ranking in order to target those locations across the County 

most in need. It is this evidence base which has informed areas to be subject to the first 

round of TDPs. Given the intention is to expand the TDP programme, information is provided 

on the future review of data. The data set, including any future updates, would inform future 

TDPs to address cumulative or singular issues.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 905



Appendix 1: Output of cumulative ranking process 

1 Horden Central* 

2 Easington Colliery North* 

3 Ferryhill Dene Bank North* 

4 Horden East* 

5 New Kyo 

6 Coundon Grange 

7 Blackhall Colliery South 

8 Thickley 

9 Deneside East 

10 Stanley Hall West 

 

* These LSOAs are not to be subject to a TDP. See Appendix 2 for background and reasoning.  

  

Page 906



Appendix 2: Reason for not selecting the LSOAs in the rank of ranks to be subject to 

a TDP-  

The cumulative ranking process identified LSOAs that were repeatedly ranking high across 

multiple indicators (Appendix 1). As well as considering the data, consideration was given to 

past or ongoing regeneration-based activity in the top ten ranking LSOAs. This was 

considered important to understand whether a TDP would be of benefit to a locality, having 

regard to ongoing programmes or existing masterplans being in place. 

It was noted that there were some LSOAs that ranked highly but have ongoing regeneration 

activity, or already have a masterplan in place. It was determined that these LSOAs, would 

not be included in this first tranche of TDPs. This was to avoid an overlap of service delivery, 

the risk of identifying additional actions in an area that may not complimentary to work 

already underway in that location or creating any confusion with existing masterplan 

approaches. The LSOAs that have not been selected will still be considered for future 

rounds of TDPs.  

The specific reasons for not including the first four ranking LSOAs are outlined below. 

Horden Central and Horden East- The Horden masterplan has been adopted, which 

provides a range of long-term actions for the area. It will be used to make bids for central 

government funding to deliver improvements in housing and the environment within the 

'numbered streets' area. 

Easington Colliery North- A consultation on the Easington Colliery School site in Easington 

Colliery North has recently taken place. The Council has taken onboard suggestions and 

feedback from the community regarding proposals for the site and will submit planned next 

steps for action in this area soon. 

Ferryhill Dean Bank North- Activity is already underway to regenerate the Dean Bank area, 

which also involves controlled demolition. 

Page 907



Appendix 3: Table of LSOA ranks by Indicators  

 

 

 

P
age 908



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2020

Key
Coundon Grange
Blackhall Colliery South
Thickley
Deneside East
Stanley Hall West
New Kyo

P
age 909



T
his page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Housing Strategy: 
Targeted Delivery Plan

New Kyo

March 2021

P
age 911



Context
The County Durham Housing Strategy sets out that the Council will seek to improve the quality of the 
existing housing stock and the wider residential environment. The Strategy notes that the Council will 
develop localised and Targeted Delivery Plans (TDP) to outline activities to support the creation and 
maintenance of mixed and balanced communities. 

This TDP for New Kyo has been developed by Durham County Council with input from Karbon Homes, 
the Registered Housing Provider, who own 38 homes in this area, 32 of which are retirement living units. 

Location
This TDP relates to New Kyo, an area near Stanley in North Durham. It is situated close to the A693 road 
between Annfield Plain and Stanley. This area is defined on the map set out on page 8. This boundary is 
based on the Lower Super Output Area, however in practice, actions will not be limited at the boundary if 
there is a rationale to extend interventions to adjacent sites and nearby streets. 

What are we trying to achieve in New Kyo?
New Kyo is associated with a relatively high proportion of long term empty homes, which will impact 
upon the character of the area and perpetuate low demand for homes. There is an opportunity to focus 
on addressing the empty homes to reduce the proportion of empty properties in the area. This work will 
be coordinated alongside general improvements to the public realm. The intention is that combined with 
a reduction in empty homes this will bring about a perceptible change in New Kyo, improving the living 
environment for residents and increasing confidence in the housing market.

Almost a third of properties in New Kyo are of solid wall construction or have narrow cavities. New Kyo also 
experience levels of fuel poverty higher than the County average.  Through the TDP, the Council and its 
partners will tailor energy efficiency measures to properties in the area ensure residents have warm homes. 
This will be of benefit to the health and wellbeing of residents. 

What will be the outcome for New Kyo?
Delivering the TDP will have a positive impact on the housing market and the wider sense of place for 
New Kyo. By reducing the proportion of long term empty homes and improving the appearance of wider 
environment, the TDP will stem issues associated with low demand. Improvements in the street scene will 

be complementary to the reduction in empty homes having an overall improvement in the appearance of 
the area and would result in an improved living environment for residents.

Focused interventions with the intention of addressing fuel poverty and improving the energy efficiency 
of properties will have a direct benefit for the residents of the area, by improving financial and 
health wellbeing.

Past and ongoing interventions
The Council and its partners have undertaken a series of interventions in this area including: 

• Facilitating new housing development with Gleeson Homes on the Former Greencroft school site.

• Working alongside the owners of empty homes to bring their properties back into use.

• Supporting private landlords and tenants to improve housing standards.

• Supporting tenants and home owners reduce fuel bills and debt through Managing Money Better
and Energy Company Obligation grants.

• Addressing environmental issues through action by the Council’s Community Action Team.

• Providing a regular neighbourhood PACT forum for the local policing team and wardens team
to address community priorities and concerns.

• In 2017/18 Karbon Homes undertook structural works in a part of South View Gardens at a cost
of around £70k.

Evidence base

The Council has developed an evidence base to identify which communities would benefit from 
intervention to maintain and improve the existing housing stock and the wider housing environment and to 
inform the actions in those areas.  

In addition, the Housing Strategy notes that the Council will ensure that housing is provided specifically 
to meet the needs of the older people within our communities. It is recognised that the population of 
County Durham is already ageing and over the next few decades, there will be a ‘demographic shift’ with 
the number (and proportion) of older people increasing. This TDP therefore contains an action to identify 
opportunities to deliver accommodation for older people.

Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo

2

P
age 912



Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo

Evidence and monitoring 
New Kyo is in the top 10-20% of deprivation, the data shows there are issues in this  Lower Super Output Area regarding long term empty homes, fuel poverty, solid walls and crime.

The percentage of long-term empty homes is 1.9%, compared with the County average of  1.7% (2018). This indicates lower demand for houses in this area. Furthermore, long term empty homes can blight areas which 
can compound any demand issues in an area. Areas with high proportions of empty homes can suffer from issues relating to  environmental health and anti-social behaviour which have a negative impact on an area and 
the community. 

Fuel poverty in New Kyo is relatively high at 16.4% which is above the county average of 14%. The data suggests that it is related to the proportion of homes with solid walls which is ranked in the worse performing 10% of 
the county. Solid wall housing is also an issue in this area, homes with solid walls are not as energy efficient as they do not benefit from cavity wall insulation and makes them more expensive to heat and keep warm and 
intensify the issue for those on low incomes.

Crime is ranked in the worse performing 10% of the county. Crime is an issue in itself to be addressed; it can also have wider reaching impact on the area such as leading to low housing demand.

The Council will continue to develop and monitor evidence to understand issues associated with balance and potential decline across the County.

Issue Context New Kyo

Long term empty homes Long term empty homes are those which have been empty for 6 months or more. The 
county average is 1.7% of stock as Long term empties (2018).

1.9% of stock are long term empties (2018).

Fuel Poverty Fuel poverty is measured using Low Income High Cost calculations. 14% of households 
across county Durham are in fuel poverty.

16.4% of households are in fuel poverty.

Solid Walls Households with solid walls are unable to benefit from cavity insulation to make the 
household more energy efficient and to reduce fuel costs. Solid walls can therefore be an 
indicator of fuel poverty.

30% of homes in New Kyo were built before 1918 and are of solid 
wall construction or have narrow cavities.

Crime The crime domain includes recorded crimes around violence, burglary theft and criminal 
damage. 

Within County Durham New Kyo is ranked 9th out of 324 LSOA’s 
with 1 being the most deprived.

Demographics and housing stock profile In County Durham, 20.6% of the population is aged 65 and over. County Durham has a 
relatively low proportion of bungalows (13.7%) compared to other housing stock. This highest 
proportion of housing stock in terraced at 36.9%. (MHCLG 2017).

Within New Kyo 15.2% of the population are aged 65 and over. 
6.1% of the housing stock are bungalows and 69.5%  are terraced.

3

P
age 913



Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo

Action Plan
The TDP action plans bring together actions from across the Council’s range of functions and that of partners to address the issues identified in the evidence base. In TDPs, the actions are identified as having the 
following timescales:

• Mainstream activity / core offer: These are Council or partner activities that are undertaken routinely, but opportunities will be sought to focus these within the TDP area to bring an intensive approach to addressing issues.

• Short term: New actions which will be undertaken within 2 years. Some of these actions will be delivered in a substantially shorter timeframe, depending on their nature.

• Medium term: New actions to be undertaken within 5 years

• Longer term: New actions to be undertaken over a period longer than 5 years, in recognition of the scale of the intervention.

The Action Plan notes the status of individual actions, to note some of these will be undertaken as ongoing actions, others will be associated with existing funding streams, however, others will require funding. The Council 
and its partners will make use of the TDPs to support applications for funding.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A1 Selective licencing low demand, anti-social behaviour and deprivation area designation. DCC Selective Licencing team. Mainstream Activity. DCC Designation 
and application submitted. 

A2 Monitor, update and develop evidence at a localised level to understand stock condition, 
demand and supply and associated issues.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

A3 Work with Registered Providers to encourage use of their ‘buy back’ option to bring former 
right to buy stock back into the market as affordable housing and to assist in supporting and 
maintaining mixed and balanced communities, where appropriate. 

DCC Housing Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

A4 Work with DCC Community Action Team to programme regular targeted interventions such 
as ‘Clean and Green’ walk abouts to address environmental issues; including additional bins, 
introduction of sustainable planting in open areas, walkway improvements.

DCC Environmental Health team. Short term.

A5 Continuous liaison with private landlords. DCC Private Landlords team. Mainstream activity.

A6 In line with Cabinet’s September 2020 decision to agree to begin a Council house building 
programme of up to 500 homes over the period 2021-26 opportunities will be explored for 
homes across the county, including this TDP area (see action ref A7).

DCC Housing Development. Long term. Project to progress in line with 
Cabinet approval.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham

4

P
age 914



Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A7 Work to deliver potential development site identified at Land at Shield Row Lane, New Kyo. Part 
of phase 1 of council homes building programme.

DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term. 10 homes.

A8 Planning permission in place for former playing fields associated with Greencroft Lower School. DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term.

A9 Scoping and recommending specific recommendations to street scene such as walkway repairs 
improvements, transport infrastructure such as bus stop repairs and upgrades and wider 
housing environment.

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Short term. Identified following Autumn 
2020 initial scoping.

A10 Scoping and recommending specific recommendations for options for empty commercial 
buildings and sites, such as the former Sandhole club site and the opportunity for potential 
physical improvements to operational units. 

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Short term. Identified following Autumn 
2020 initial scoping.

A11 Promote County Durham Lettings Agency and leasehold scheme. DCC County Durham Lettings Agency Team. Mainstream activity.

A12 Karbon Homes undertaking continued planned maintenance and improvement of homes. 
Allocated spend of almost £1m

Karbon Homes. Long term, over the next 30 years.

A13 Develop and implement an evidence based approach to manage housing high support need 
clients in areas with an existing relatively high incidence of crime.

DCC Housing Solutions. Medium term. 

A14 Work with owners of the Croft building to develop an approach to address anti-social 
behaviour issues. 

DCC Housing Regeneration team. Short term. 

A15 Facilitating new housing development including the opportunity for the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people.

DCC Planning and Housing Development and Regeneration team. Mainstream activity. 

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham (continued)

5

P
age 915



Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

B1 Ensure integration between various advice schemes and programmes. DCC Housing Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

B2 Raise awareness for warm homes campaign using area based promoting.  DCC Housing Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

B3 Promote DCC’s External Wall Insulation ECO ‘Top UP’ loan fund. DCC Housing Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

B4 Solid wall stone and brick terraces predominate opportunity for BEIS GHG/LAD funding. DCC Housing Regeneration team. Short term.

B5 Energy Performance Certificate survey to be undertaken for all solid wall streets. This will further 
develop evidence base inform future funding opportunities.

DCC Housing Regeneration team. Short term.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

C1 Working with property owners to help them sell or rent properties (via Durham Key Options). DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

C2 Financial assistance loans and grants to potential purchasers and empty home owners of long 
term empty properties. 

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

Improve energy efficiency of properties to ensure County Durham has a stock of warm, healthy and energy efficient homes

Improve energy efficiency of properties to ensure County Durham has a stock of warm, healthy and energy efficient homes

6

P
age 916



Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

D1 Consider requirement for support packages to meet needs in County Durham. DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers. 

Short / medium term.

D2 Continue to widen wrap around support to support vulnerable people to achieve 
and sustain tenancies.

DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers.  

Short / medium term.

D3 Encourage uptake of Disabled Facilities Grants in order to enable individuals to remain 
in their home. 

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

Provide care and support for older and vulnerable people 

7

P
age 917



Targeted Delivery Plan: New Kyo map of evidence and interventions

 

Context
This map confirms the boundary of the New 
Kyo Lower Super Output Area. The map 
complements the action plan and provides 
an overview of evidence and issues to be 
addressed in the area, as well as highlighting 
future opportunities.

This boundary is based on the New Kyo Lower 
Super Output Area, however in practice, actions 
will not be limited at the boundary if there is a 
rationale to extend interventions to adjacent sites 
and nearby streets.

8

P
age 918



spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

03000 260 000P
age 919



T
his page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Housing Strategy: 
Targeted Delivery Plan

Coundon Grange

March 2021

P
age 921



Context
The County Durham Housing Strategy sets out that the Council will seek to improve the quality of the 
existing housing stock and the wider residential environment. The Strategy notes that the Council will 
develop localised and Targeted Delivery Plans (TDP) to outline activities to support the creation and 
maintenance of mixed and balanced communities.

This TDP has been developed by Durham County Council with input from Believe Housing, 
the Registered Housing Provider who own stock in the wider area.

Location
Coundon Grange is an area to the east of Bishop Auckland, South Durham. This TDP relates to 
Coundon Grange as defined on the map on page 8. This boundary is based on the Lower Super Output 
Area,however in practice, actions will not be limited at the boundary if there is a rationale to extend 
interventions to adjacent sites and nearby streets. 

What are we trying to achieve in Coundon Grange? 

Coundon Grange experiences a relatively high proportion of long term empty homes, which will impact 
upon the character and perception of the area and perpetuate low demand for homes. There is an 
opportunity through the TDPs to focus on addressing the empty homes to reduce the proportion of empty 
properties in locality. This work will be coordinated alongside general improvements to the built fabric of the 
area, including addressing graffiti and fly tipping. The intention is that combined with a reduction in empty 
homes, this will bring about a perceptible change in Coundon Grange, increasing confidence in the 
housing market and improving the living environment for existing and future residents.

Coundon Grange is associated with higher than average levels of unemployment and lower than average 
incomes. This will impact on residents in a number of ways, but in a housing context, this has resulted in 
higher than average levels of fuel poverty, with people being unable to heat their homes.

Through the TDP, the Council and its partners will tailor energy efficiency measures to properties in the 
area ensure residents have warm homes. This will be coordinated alongside a number of measures to 
address poverty and support tenancy sustainment. This will be of benefit to the health and wellbeing of 
residents.

What will be the outcome for Coundon Grange?
The targeted intervention through the TDP will have a positive impact on the housing market and the wider 
sense of place for Coundon Grange. By reducing the proportion of long term empty homes and improving 
the housing environment the TDP will stem issues associated with low demand. This will be apparent in the 
street scene and will result in an improved living environment for residents.

Focused interventions with the intention of addressing poverty, will have a direct benefit for the residents of 
the area improving financial and health wellbeing.

Past and ongoing interventions
The Council and its partners have undertaken a series of interventions in this area this includes:

Past interventions

• Community Action Team intervention in 2019 to address fly tipping – ongoing monitoring of sites.

• Discussions with Accent Homes about stock in St Mark’s Court.

• Ongoing interventions

• Energy Company Obligation boiler and insulation grants for low income and fuel poor households.

• Warm and Healthy Homes project with GP surgeries to provide warmer homes for patients with a cold
related illness.

• Managing Money Better service providing energy bill saving and fuel debt advice and support.

• Warm Homes Fund providing grants for first time central heating measures.

• Green Homes Grant Fund targeting fuel poor homes for insulation retrofit and renewable
heating installations.

Evidence base
The Council has developed an evidence base to identify which communities would benefit from 
intervention to maintain and improve the existing housing stock and the wider housing environment and to 
inform the actions in those areas.

In addition, the Housing Strategy notes that the Council will ensure that housing is provided specifically to 
meet the needs of the older people within our communities. It is recognised that the population of

County Durham is already ageing and over the next few decades, there will be a ‘demographic shift’ 
with the number (and proportion) of older people increasing. This TDP therefore contains an action 
to identify opportunities to deliver accommodation for older people.

Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange

2

P
age 922



Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange

Evidence and monitoring 
Coundon Grange is in the top 10% of deprived areas in County Durham. The data shows that there are issues in this Lower Super Output Area regarding long term empty homes, fuel poverty, income, employment and crime 
which are all in the worst performing 10% of LSOA areas in the County. It is recognised that there are interrelationships between these issues. 

The percentage of long-term empty homes is 8.5%, compared with the County average of 1.7% (2018). This indicates lower demand for houses in this area. Furthermore, long term empty homes can blight areas which can 
compound any demand issues in an area. Areas with high proportions of empty homes can suffer from issues relating to  environmental health and anti-social behaviour which have a negative impact on an area and the 
community. 

Crime in Coundon Grange is ranked 11th out of 324 LSOAs. Crime is a serious issue in itself, but it can also trigger other issues such as driving demand in this area down, which can exacerbate issues such as empty homes.

Employment is ranked in the worst performing 10% of the County. There is a likely relationship between data on relatively low levels of employment, low average income and a higher percentage of income deprivation affecting 
children. Fuel poverty is high in Coundon Grange and the data suggests that it is related to low income rather than factors relating to the housing stock and the proportion of homes with solid walls. If households must spend a 
higher proportion of a fixed or low income on heating their homes or cannot keep their homes warm, this can have a negative impact on health and wellbeing, particularly in the winter months. 

Addressing these multiple issues can therefore have positive knock on affects as well as addressing specific issue themselves.

Issue Context Coundon Grange

Long-term empty homes Long term empty homes are those which have been empty for 6 months or more. The county 
average is 1.7% of stock as Long term empties (2018).

8.5% of stock are long term empties (2018).

Fuel Poverty Fuel poverty is measured using Low Income High Cost calculations. 14% of households 
across county Durham are in fuel poverty.

18.7% of households are in fuel poverty.

Income deprivation IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing 
deprivation relating to low income.

Within County Durham Coundon Grange is ranked 14th out of 324 
LSOA’s with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation affecting children IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the proportion of all 
children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families.

Within County Durham Coundon Grange is ranked 3rd out of 324 
LSOA’s with 1 being the most deprived.

Crime IMD 2019 The crime domain includes recorded crimes around violence, burglary theft and criminal 
damage. 

Within County Durham Coundon Grange is ranked 11th out of 324 
LSOA’s with 1 being the most deprived.

Demographics and housing stock profile In County Durham, 20.6% of the population is aged 65 and over. County Durham has a 
relatively low proportion of bungalows (13.7%) compared to other housing stock. This highest 
proportion of housing stock in terraced at 36.9%. (MHCLG 2017).

Within Coundon Grange 13.1% of the population are aged 
65 and over. 10% of the housing stock are bungalows and 
63.3% are terraced.

3

P
age 923



Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange

Action Plan
The TDP action plans bring together actions from across the Council’s range of functions and that of partners to address the issues identified in the evidence base. In TDPs, the actions are identified as having the following 
timescales:

• Mainstream activity / core offer: These are Council or partner activities that are undertaken routinely, but opportunities will be sought to focus these within the TDP area to bring an intensive approach to addressing issues. 

• Short term: New actions which will be undertaken within 2 years. Some of these actions will be delivered in a substantially shorter timeframe, depending on their nature.

• Medium term: New actions to be undertaken within 5 years

• Longer term: New actions to be undertaken over a period longer than 5 years, in recognition of the scale of the intervention. 

The Action Plan notes the status of individual actions, to note some of these will be undertaken as ongoing actions, others will be associated with existing funding streams, however, others will require funding. The Council 
and its partners will make use of the TDPs to support applications for funding.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A1 Selective Licencing Area Designation multiple criteria. DCC Selective Licencing team. Mainstream activity.

A2 Monitor, update and develop evidence at a localised level to understand stock condition, demand 
and supply and associated issues. Consider options for targeted demolition.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

A3 Work with Registered Providers to encourage use of their ‘buy back’ option to bring former right to 
buy stock back into the market as affordable housing and to assist in supporting and maintaining 
mixed and balanced communities, where appropriate. 

DCC Housing Regeneration team, Believe Evidence to be gathered and options 
to be developed.

A4 Work with DCC Community Action Team to programme regular targeted interventions to address 
environmental issues.

DCC Environmental Health team. Mainstream activity.

A5 Continuous liaison with private landlords. DCC Private Landlords team. Mainstream activity.

A6 In line with Cabinet's September 2020 decision to agree to begin a Council house building 
programme of up to 500 homes over the period 2021-26 opportunities will be explored for homes 
across the county, including this TDP area. 

DCC Housing Development. Mainstream activity.

A7 Work to deliver potential housing site at Former Terraces at Eldon Lane area (SHLAA 3/DV/21). DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Long term. Project to progress in line 
with Cabinet approval.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham

4

P
age 924



Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A8 Work to deliver potential housing site at Former Terraces at land east of St Phillips Close 
(SHLAA DV/04).

DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term. Site deemed suitable 
but not currently achievable.

A9 Work to deliver potential housing site at the South Church, Dene Valley School Site 
(SHLAA 3 DV/21).

DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term. Planning permission 
for a care home.

A10 Delivery of housing site allocated at East Bracks Road for up to 50 homes. Allocated site (H29) 
under Policy 4 of the County Durham Plan.

DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term. Site deemed  
deliverable in next 5 years.

A11 Outline planning permission in place for Auckland Park (500 homes). DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term. Site deemed 
deliverable in the next 5 years. 

A12 Localised graffiti removal in areas such as St Mark’s Court and removal of fly tipping in areas 
such as Arthur Street.

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Short term. Issues identified following 
Autumn 2020 initial scoping.

A13 Scoping targeted business improvements to support shop front improvements, benefiting the 
wider street scene along areas such as Eldon Lane and Spencer Street.

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Medium term. Identified following Autumn 
2020 initial scoping.

A14 Promote County Durham Lettings Agency and leasehold scheme. DCC County Durham Lettings Agency Team. Mainstream activity.

A15 Address legacy issues associated with remaining infrastructure on former clearance sites. DDCC Housing Regeneration team. Long term. 

A16 Facilitating new housing development including the opportunity for the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people.

DCC Planning and Housing Development and Regeneration team. Mainstream activity. 

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham (continued)

5

P
age 925



Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

B1 Stock Condition Survey of St Phillip’s Park Traveller Site underway. DCC Regeneration and Local Services. Long term. DCC to respond to outputs of 
this survey.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

C1 Ensure integration between various advice schemes and programmes. DCC Housing Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

C2 Raise awareness for warm homes campaign using area based promoting. DCC Housing Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

C3 Solid wall stone and brick terraces predominate opportunity for BEIS GHG/LAD funding. DCC Housing Regeneration team. Short term.

C4 Energy Performance Certificate survey to be undertaken for all solid wall streets. This will further 
develop evidence base inform future funding opportunities.

DCC Housing Regeneration team. Short term.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

D1 Work with landlords to enable greater understanding of the impact of poverty. DCC Housing Regeneration team, Head of Transformation 
and Partnerships and Children’s Services 

Mainstream activity.

D2 Poverty Action Group and WRT financial support for tenants to sustain their homes. DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

E1 Working with property owners to help them sell or rent properties (via Durham Key Options). DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

E2 Financial assistance loans and grants to potential purchasers and empty home owners of long 
term empty properties.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

Meeting the needs of our residents

Improve energy efficiency of properties to ensure County Durham has a stock of warm, healthy and energy efficient homes

Addressing poverty in a housing context and the impacts of welfare reform in a housing context

Address empty homes to support communities

6

P
age 926



Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange 

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

F1 Consider requirement for support packages to meet needs in County Durham. DCC Head of Development and Housing, DCC Head of 
Commissioning, Registered Housing providers.

Short/medium term.

F2 Continue to widen wrap around support to support vulnerable people to achieve 
and sustain tenancies.

DCC Head of Development and Housing, DCC Head of 
Commissioning, Registered Housing providers.

Short/medium term.

F3 Encourage uptake of Disabled Facilities Grants in order to enable individuals to remain in their 
home.

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

F4 Work with those residents whose homes are unable to be adapted via Disabled Facilities Grants 
to consider how to improve their homes or work towards energy efficiency measures.

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

F5 Work to join up approaches to support families including through children’s services, health and 
substance misuse.

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

Provide care and support for older and vulnerable people 

7

P
age 927



Targeted Delivery Plan: Coundon Grange map of evidence and interventions

 

Context
This map confirms the boundary of the Coundon 
Grange Lower Super Output Area. The map 
complements the action plan and provides 
an overview of evidence and issues to be 
addressed in the area, as well as highlighting 
future opportunities.

This map is based on the built up area 
of the Coundon Grange Lower Super 
Output Area, however in practice, actions 
will not be limited at the boundary if there 
is a rationale to extend interventions to 
adjacent sites and nearby streets.

8

P
age 928



spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

03000 260 000P
age 929



T
his page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Housing Strategy: 
Targeted Delivery Plan

Blackhall Colliery South

March 2021

P
age 931



Context
The County Durham Housing Strategy sets out that the Council will seek to improve the quality of the existing housing 
stock and the wider residential environment. The Strategy notes that the Council will develop localised and Targeted 
Delivery Plans (TDP) to outline activities to support the creation and maintenance of mixed and balanced communities. 

This draft TDP has been developed by Durham County Council with input from Believe Housing, the Registered 
Housing Provider. 

Location
Blackhall Colliery South is an area in south east Durham, south of Horden.  This TDP relates to Blackhall Colliery South 
as defined on the map on page 8. This boundary is based on the Lower Super Output area, however in practice, 
actions will not be limited at this boundary if there is a rationale to extend interventions to adjacent sites and nearby 
streets. 

What are we trying to achieve in Blackhall Colliery South?
Blackhall Colliery South experiences a relatively high proportion of empty homes, this is indicative of low demand 
in the area. There is an opportunity through the TDPs to undertake a range of measures to focus on addressing the 
empty homes to reduce the proportion of empty properties in locality to improve the living environment for existing and 
future residents.

Blackhall Colliery South is also associated with a relatively very high proportion of stock with solid walls this reflects the 
property type in the area. Through interventions, the intention is to undertake energy efficiency improvements to 
properties where this is possible. This will have the benefit of providing warm and healthy homes for residents which are 
more cost effective to heat. 

The TDP seeks to improve the appearance of the public realm and street scene. The intention is to further increase the 
confidence in the housing market and improve the wider amenity of the area for existing and future residents.

Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South

2continued overleaf . . .

P
age 932



What will be the outcome for Blackhall Colliery South?
Delivering the TDP will have a positive impact on the housing market and the wider sense of place for 
Blackhall Colliery South. By reducing the proportion of long term empty homes and improving the wider 
environment, the TDP will stem issues associated with low demand. Improvements in the street scene will 
be complementary to the reduction in empty homes having an overall improvement in the appearance of 
the area and would result in an improved living environment for residents.

The focused interventions with the intention of addressing poverty, will have a direct benefit for the 
residents of the area improving financial and health wellbeing. Furthermore, it is recognised that the 
residents of Blackhall Colliery South are susceptible to fuel poverty. This is on the basis that there is a 
higher proportion of properties with solid walls combined with a high proportion of households experiencing 
economic deprivation. The measures implemented as part of the TDP will reduce the future incidence of 
fuel poverty.

Past and ongoing interventions

The Council and its partners have undertaken a series of interventions in this area including: 

• Warm Front and Warm up North fuel poverty grant programmes providing home energy efficiency
measures to low income households.

• Community Action Team intervention programme.

• Discussions with Accent around its stock disposal programme.

• In a health context, Blackhall Colliery South benefits from a range of general and specialist health
services, which are available across the County. Full details of these are available on the Locate portal.
In addition to these services:

• Black Hall Community Centre provides Men’s and Women’s CREES and a variety of advice
organisation provide support.

• The East Durham Trust covers the whole of the East to support the local community.

• A specialist stop smoking advisor is available in Blackhall Community Centre.

• Energy Company Obligation boiler and insulation grants for low income and fuel poor households.

• Warm and Healthy Homes project with GP surgeries to provide warmer homes for patients with a cold
related illness.

• Managing Money Better service providing energy bill saving and fuel debt advice and support.

• Warm Homes Fund providing grants for first time central heating measures.

Evidence base

The Council has developed an evidence base to identify which communities would benefit from 
intervention to maintain and improve the existing housing stock and the wider housing environment and to 
inform the actions in those areas.  

In addition, the Housing Strategy notes that the Council will ensure that housing is provided specifically 
to meet the needs of the older people within our communities. It is recognised that the population of 
County Durham is already ageing and over the next few decades, there will be a ‘demographic shift’ with 
the number (and proportion) of older people increasing. This TDP therefore contains an action to identify 
opportunities to deliver accommodation for older people. 

Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South

3

P
age 933



Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South
Evidence and monitoring 
Blackhall Colliery South is in the top 10% for deprivation, the data shows that there are issues in this LSOA 
regarding empty homes, solid walls, income, employment and health.

The percentage of long-term empty homes is 3.1% compared with the county average of 1.7% (2018). 
This indicates low demand for houses in this area, long term empty homes can blight areas which can add 
to the problem of low demand. There are also associated issues regarding environmental health, and anti-
social behaviour which have a negative impact on an area and the community.

There is a relatively very high proportion of stock with solid walls in this area, homes with solid walls are not 

Issue Context Blackhall Colliery South 
Long-term empty homes Long term empty homes are those which have been empty for 6 months or more. The county 

average is 1.7% of stock as Long term empties (2018).
3.1% of stock are long term empties (2018).

Solid Walls Households with solid walls are unable to benefit from cavity insulation to make the 
household more energy efficient and to reduce fuel costs. Solid walls can therefore be an 
indicator of fuel poverty.

Within County Durham Blackhall Colliery South is ranked 4th out 
of 324 LSOAs with 1 having the highest proportion of households 
with solid walls.

Employment IMD 2019 The Employment Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the working-age population 
in an area involuntarily excluded from the labour market.

Within County Durham Blackhall Colliery South is ranked 6th out 
of 324 LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing 
deprivation relating to low income.

Within County Durham Blackhall Colliery South  is ranked 22nd 
out of 324 LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation affecting children IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the proportion of all 
children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families.

Within County Durham Blackhall Colliery South is ranked 17th out 
of 324 LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Health IMD 2019 The Health Deprivation and Disability Domain measures the risk of premature death and the 
impairment of quality of life through poor physical or mental health.

Within County Durham Blackhall Colliery South  is ranked 28th out 
of 324 LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Demographics and housing stock profile In County Durham, 20.6% of the population is aged 65 and over. County Durham has a 
relatively low proportion of bungalows (13.7%) compared to other housing stock. This highest 
proportion of housing stock in terraced at 36.9%. (MHCLG 2017)

Within Blackhall Colliery South 27.2% of the population are aged 
65 and over. 17.7% of the housing stock are bungalows and 
64.6%  are terraced.

4

as energy efficient as cannot benefit from cavity wall insulation which makes them more expensive to heat 
and keep warm. This can have an impact on the health of residents. 

Employment is ranked in the worst performing 10% of the County. The area is also associated with lower 
than average incomes and a high percentage of income deprivation affecting children. Poor health can also 
have an impact upon the ability to participate in work. 

The Council will continue to develop and monitor evidence to understand issues associated with balance 
and potential decline across the County.

P
age 934



Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South

Action Plan
The TDP action plans bring together actions from across the Council’s range of functions and that of partners to address the issues identified in the evidence base. In TDPs the actions are identified as having the 
following timescales:

• Mainstream activity / core offer: These are Council or partner activities that are undertaken routinely, but opportunities will be sought to focus these within the TDP area to bring an intensive approach to addressing issues.
• Short term: New actions which will be undertaken within 2 years. Some of these actions will be delivered in a substantially shorter timeframe, depending on their nature.
• Medium term: New actions to be undertaken within 5 years
• Longer term: New actions to be undertaken in over than 5 years, in recognition of the scale of the intervention.

The Action Plan notes the status of individual actions, to note some of these will be undertaken as ongoing actions, others will be associated with existing funding streams however others will require funding. The Council and 
its partners will make use of the TDPs to support applications for funding.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A1 Selective licencing Low Demand, Anti-Social Behaviour, Deprivation Area Designation. DCC Selective Licencing team. Mainstream activity.

A2 Monitor, update and develop evidence at a localised level to understand stock condition, 
demand and supply and associated issues.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

A3 Work with Registered Providers to encourage use of their ‘buy back’ option to bring former 
right to buy stock back into the market as affordable housing and to assist in supporting and 
maintaining mixed and balanced communities, where appropriate. 

DCC Housing Regeneration team, Believe Housing. Mainstream activity.

A4 Work with DCC Community Action Team to programme regular targeted interventions to address 
environmental issues, identified in areas such as the Pit Wheel area of Middle Street.

DCC Environmental Health team. Mainstream activity.

A5 Continuous liaison with private landlords. DCC Private Landlords team Mainstream activity.

A6 In line with Cabinet’s September 2020 decision to agree to begin a Council house building 
programme of up to 500 homes over the period 2021-26 opportunities will be explored for 
homes across the county, including this TDP area. 

DCC Housing Development Long term. Project to progress in line with 
Cabinet approval.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham

5

P
age 935



Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A7 Work to deliver potential development site identified on the Blackhall Colliery South boundary, 
land south of Hesleden road (SHLAA 5/BC/14). 

DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long-term. Site deemed 
developable in 6-10 yrs.

A8 Scoping targeted business improvements to support shop front improvements, benefiting the 
wider street scene along areas such as Middle Street.

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Medium term. Identified following Autumn 
2020 initial scoping.

A9 Scoping improvement to retail area including street furniture and cleaning of public realm in 
areas such as Middle Street including the Pit Wheel area.

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Medium term. Identified following Autumn 
2020 initial scoping.

A10 Promote County Durham Lettings Agency and leasehold scheme. DCC County Durham Lettings Agency Team. Mainstream activity.

A11 Facilitating new housing development including the opportunity for the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people.

DCC Planning and Housing Development and Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

B1 Work with landlords to enable greater understanding of the impact of poverty. DCC Housing Regeneration team, Head of Transformation 
and Partnerships and Childrens Services.

Mainstream activity.

B2 Enable delivery of the Council’s Poverty Plan and Child Poverty Plan, within a housing context. DCC Housing Regeneration team, Head of Transformation 
and Partnerships and Childrens Services.

Mainstream activity.

B3 Review and extend and raise awareness of the Financial Assistance Programme. DCC Housing Regeneration team, Head of Transformation 
and Partnerships and Childrens Services.

Short/Medium term.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham (continued)

Addressing poverty in a Housing context and the impacts of welfare reform in a housing context

6

P
age 936



Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

C1 Consider requirement for support packages to meet needs in County Durham. DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered 
Housing providers.

Short/Medium term.

C2 Continue to widen wrap around support to support vulnerable people to achieve and 
sustain tenancies.  

DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered 
Housing providers. 

Short/Medium term.

C3 Encourage uptake of Disabled Facilities Grants in order to enable individuals to remain 
in their home. 

DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered 
Housing providers.

Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

D1 Ensure integration between various advice schemes and programmes. DCC Housing  Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

D2 Raise awareness for warm homes campaign using area based promoting. DCC Housing  Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

D3 Promote DCC’s External Wall Insulation ECO ‘Top UP’ loan fund. DCC Housing  Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

Provide care and support for older and vulnerable people 

Improve energy efficiency of properties to ensure County Durham has a stock of warm, healthy and energy efficient homes

7

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

E1 Working with property owners to help them sell or rent properties (via Durham Key Options). DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

E2 Financial assistance loans and grants to potential purchasers and empty home owners of long 
term empty properties.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

Address empty homes to support communities

P
age 937



Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South map of evidence and interventions

8

Targeted Delivery Plan: Blackhall Colliery South map of evidence and interventions

Context
The map confirms the boundary of the Blackhall 
Colliery South Lower Super Output Area. The 
map complements the action plan and provides 
an overview of evidence and issues to be 
addressed in the area.

This boundary is based on the Lower Super 
Output Area, however in practice, actions will 
not be limited at this boundary if there is a 
rationale to extend interventions to adjacent 
sites and nearby streets.

P
age 938



spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

03000 260 000P
age 939



T
his page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Housing Strategy: 
Targeted Delivery Plan

Thickley

March 2021

P
age 941



Context
The County Durham Housing Strategy sets out 
that the Council will seek to improve the quality 
of the existing housing stock and the wider 
residential environment. The Strategy notes that 
the Council will develop localised and Targeted 
Delivery Plans (TDP) to outline activities to 
support the creation and maintenance of mixed 
and balanced communities. 

This TDP has been developed by Durham 
County Council with input from Livin, who own 
and manage approximately 380 homes in 
the area. 

Location
Thickley is an area in the eastern part of 
Shildon in South Durham. This TDP relates to 
Thickley as defined on the map on page 8. This 
boundary is based on the Lower Super Output 
Area, however in practice, actions will not be 
limited at this boundary if there is a rationale 
to extend interventions to adjacent sites and 
nearby streets. 

Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley

2continued overleaf . . .

What are we trying to achieve 
in Thickley?
Thickley experiences a relatively high proportion 
of empty homes, this is indicative of low demand 
in the area. There is an opportunity through the 
TDPs to undertake a range of measures to focus 
on addressing the empty homes to reduce the 
proportion of empty properties in locality and to 
improve the living environment for existing and 
future residents.

Thickley is associated with higher than average 
levels of unemployment and lower than average 
incomes. This will impact on residents in a 
number of ways, but in a housing context, 
Income deprivation impacts on the affordability 
of living, including acquiring or continuing to 
live in suitable housing products and other 
costs of living. The Council and its partners will 
coordinate a number of measures to address 
poverty  in a housing context and support 
tenancy sustainment. This will be of benefit 
to the health and wellbeing of residents in the 
most need in County Durham.

P
age 942



What will be the outcome 
for Thickley?
Delivering the TDP will have a positive impact 
on the housing market and the wider sense of 
place for Thickley. By reducing the proportion 
of long term empty homes and improving the 
appearance of wider environment, the TDP 
will stem issues associated with low demand. 
Improvements in the street scene will be 
complementary to the reduction in empty 
homes having an overall improvement in the 
appearance of the area and would result in an 
improved living environment for residents.

Focused interventions with the intention of 
addressing poverty, will have a direct benefit 
for the residents of the area supporting tenancy 
sustainment and improving financial and 
health wellbeing. 

Past and ongoing 
interventions

The Council and its partners have undertaken 
a series of interventions in this area including: 

• Energy Company Obligation boiler and
insulation grants for low income and fuel
poor households.

• Warm and Healthy Homes project with
GP surgeries to provide warmer homes
for patients with a cold related illness.

Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley

3

• Managing Money Better service providing
energy bill saving and fuel debt advice
and support.

• Warm Homes Fund providing grants for
first time central heating measures.

• Green Homes Grant Fund targeting fuel
poor homes for insulation retrofit and
renewable heating installations.

• In December 2017 Livin commenced a
regeneration programme for the Jubilee
Fields Estate.

• The Livin Plan A interventions have included:

• Supporting Jubilee Fields Community
Centre to develop their management
committee and volunteers, employed a
community facilities manager.

• Working with residents groups to start
environmental improvements to estate.

• Asset management programme.

• Supporting sustainable tenancies,
providing quality homes, enabling strong
communities & maintaining strong finance.

• Livin Futures, Financial wellbeing and Livin
well target zone.

• Livin Futures to deliver and employability
programme on the Estate.

• Managing Money Better energy saving
advice programme on estate.

• Support Shildon Alive to deliver foodbank
access and Credit Union support.

Evidence base

The Council has developed an evidence base 
to identify which communities would benefit 
from intervention to maintain and improve the 
existing housing stock and the wider housing 
environment and to inform the actions in 
those areas.  

In addition, the Housing Strategy notes 
that the Council will ensure that housing is 
provided specifically to meet the needs of 
the older people within our communities. It 
is recognised that the population of County 
Durham is already ageing and over the next 
few decades, there will be a ‘demographic 
shift’ with the number (and proportion) of older 
people increasing. This TDP therefore contains 
an action to identify  pportunities to deliver 
accommodation for older people.

P
age 943



Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley

Evidence and monitoring 
The Council will continue to develop and monitor evidence to understand issues associated with balance and potential decline across the county. In identifying areas to be the subject of a TDP, the Council has considered 
a range of issues. Thickley features as one of the poorest performing 10% in the County in respect of long term empty homes and is relatively poor across a range of other issues.

Issue Context Thickley
Long-term empty homes Long term empty homes are those which have been empty for 6 months or more. The county 

average is 1.7% of stock as long term empties (2018).
 4.5% of stock are long term empties (2018).

Employment IMD 2019 The Employment Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the working-age population 
in an area involuntarily excluded from the labour market.

Within County Durham Thickley is ranked 35th out of 324 LSOAs 
with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing 
deprivation relating to low income.

Within County Durham Thickley is ranked 46th out of 324 LSOAs 
with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation affecting children IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the proportion of all 
children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families.

Within County Durham Thickley is ranked 38th out of 324 LSOAs 
with 1 being the most deprived.

Demographics and housing stock profile In County Durham, 20.6% of the population is aged 65 and over. County Durham has a 
relatively low proportion of bungalows (13.7%) compared to other housing stock. This highest 
proportion of housing stock in terraced at 36.9%. (MHCLG 2017).

Within Thickley 19.1% of the population are aged 65 and 
over. 13.3% of the housing stock are bungalows and 
55.6% are terraced.

4

Livin as part of its work to develop a community regeneration action plan has made use of desk top research, community engagement and 
stakeholder feedback to identify the Jubilee Field Estates key issues and challenges. Alongside considering indicators such as those set out above, 
the following challenges were identified:

• Support for vulnerable residents;

• Selective Licencing;

• Improving health and wellbeing;

• Providing safer neighbourhoods;

• Financial inclusion and wellbeing;

• Community buildings – community cohesion and activity;

• School Holiday support; and

• Open space and environmental sustainability.

P
age 944



Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley

Action Plan
The TDP action plans bring together actions from across the Council’s range of functions and Partners to address the issues identified in the evidence base. In TDPs the actions are identified as having the 
following timescales:

• Mainstream activity/core offer: These are Council or Partner activities that are undertaken routinely, but opportunities will be sought to focus these within the TDP area to bring an intensive approach to addressing issues.

• Short term: New actions which will be undertaken within 2 years. Some of these actions will be delivered in a substantially shorter timeframe, depending on their nature.

• Medium term: New actions to be undertaken within 5 years

• Longer term: New actions to be undertaken over a period longer than 5 years, in recognition of the scale of the intervention.

The Action Plan notes the status of individual actions, to note some of these will be undertaken as ongoing actions, others will be associated with existing funding streams however others will require funding. The Council 
and its partners will make use of the TDPs to support applications for funding.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A1 Selective licencing Area Designation based on deprivation. DCC Selective  Licencing team. Mainstream Activity. DCC Designation 
and application submitted.

A2 Monitor, update and develop evidence at a localised level to understand stock condition, 
demand and supply and associated issues.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

A3 Work with DCC Community Action Team to programme regular targeted interventions to address 
environmental issues.

DCC Environmental Health team. Mainstream activity. Programme for 2021 
in discussion.

A4 Continuous liaison with private landlords. DCC Private Landlords team. Mainstream activity.

A5 In line with Cabinet's September 2020 decision to agree to begin a Council house building 
programme of up to 500 homes over the period 2021-26 opportunities will be explored for 
homes across the county, including this TDP area. 

DCC Housing Development team. Long term. Project to progress in line with 
Cabinet approval.

A6 Promote County Durham Lettings Agency and leasehold scheme DCC County Durham Lettings Agency team. Mainstream activity.

A7 Facilitating new housing development including the opportunity for the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people.

DCC Planning and Housing Development and Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham

5

P
age 945



Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A8 Regeneration of housing to address demand and need from community. Livin. Core offer (Neighbourhood Standard).

A9 Estate Management. Livin. Core offer (Neighbourhood Standard).

A10 Jubilee Field Estate Community Regeneration Action Plan. Plan A intervention (£15K allocated 
from Community Regeneration Budget 2020/21).

Livin. Long term.

A11 Supporting Jubilee Fields Community Centre to develop their management committee and 
volunteers, employed a community facilities manager.

Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

A12 Working with residents groups to start environmental improvements to estate. Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

A13 Asset management programme. Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham (continued)

6

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

B1 Work with landlords to enable greater understanding of the impact of poverty.  DCC Housing Regeneration team, Head of Transformation and 
Partnerships and Childrens Services.

Mainstream activity.

B2 Housing and Tenancy Support, including ASB, tenancy sustainment and housing management.  Livin. Core offer (Neighbourhood Standard).

B3 Supporting sustainable tenancies, providing quality homes, enabling strong communities & 
maintaining strong finance.

Livin. Plan A intervention. Long term.

B4 Livin Futures, Financial wellbeing and Livin well target zone. Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

B5 Livin Futures to deliver and employability programme on the Estate. Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

B6 Managing £ Better energy saving advice programme on estate. Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

B7 Support Shildon Alive to deliver foodbank access and Credit Union support. Livin. Plan A intervention. Ongoing.

Addressing and the impacts of welfare reform in a housing context

P
age 946



Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

C1 Working with property owners to help them sell or rent properties (via Durham Key Options). DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

C2 Financial assistance loans and grants to potential purchasers and empty home owners of long 
term empty properties.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

D1 Consider requirement for support packages to meet needs in County Durham. DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers.

Short/Medium term.

D2 Continue to widen wrap around support to support vulnerable people to achieve and sustain 
tenancies.

DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers. 

Short/Medium term.

D3 Encourage uptake of Disabled Facilities Grants in order to enable individuals to remain in their 
home. 

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

D4 Use of common rooms and facilities for community groups and older people (Note: currently 
suspended currently due to Covid-19).

Livin. Core offer (Neighbourhood Standard). 
Note Covid-19 restriction.

Address empty homes to support communities 

Provide care and support for older and vulnerable people 

7

P
age 947



Targeted Delivery Plan: Thickley map of evidence and interventions

 

Context
The map below confirms the boundary of the 
Thickley Lower Super Output Area. 

This map is based on the built up area of the 
Thickley Lower Super Output Area, however in 
practice, actions will not be limited at the boundary 
if there is a rationale to extend interventions to 
adjacent sites and nearby streets.

8

P
age 948



spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

03000 260 000P
age 949



T
his page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Housing Strategy: 
Targeted Delivery Plan

Deneside East

March 2021

P
age 951



Context
The County Durham Housing Strategy sets out that the Council will seek to improve the quality of the 
existing housing stock and the wider residential environment. The Strategy notes that the Council will 
develop localised and Targeted Delivery Plans (TDP) to outline activities to support the creation and 
maintenance of mixed and balanced communities. 

This draft TDP has been developed by Durham County Council with input from, Believe the Registered 
Housing Provider. 

Location

Deneside East is an area in Seaham, East Durham. This TDP relates to the area as defined on the map 
on page 7. This boundary is based on the Lower Super Output Area, however in practice, actions will not 
be limited at this boundary if there is a rationale to extend interventions to adjacent sites and nearby 
streets. 

What are we trying to achieve in Deneside East?
Deneside East is associated with higher than average levels of unemployment and lower than average 
incomes. This will impact on residents in a number of ways, but in a housing context, income deprivation 
impacts on the affordability of living, including acquiring or continuing to live in suitable housing products 
and other costs of living. The Council and its partners will coordinate a number of measures to address 
poverty in a housing context and support tenancy sustainment. This will be of benefit to the health and 
wellbeing of residents in the most need in County Durham.

What will be the outcome for Deneside East?

Focused interventions with the intention of addressing poverty, will have a direct benefit for the residents of 
the area supporting tenancy sustainment and improving financial and health wellbeing. 

Furthermore, through the TDP, older residents will receive support to stay in their home maintaining the 
wellbeing of the individual and the community. 

Past and ongoing interventions
The Council and its partners have undertaken a series of interventions in this area this includes:

Past interventions

• Warm Front and Warm up North fuel poverty grant programmes for home energy efficiency measures.

Ongoing interventions

• Energy Company Obligation boiler and insulation grants for low income and fuel poor households.

• Warm and Healthy Homes project with GP surgeries to provide warmer homes for patients with a cold
related illness.

• Managing Money Better service providing energy bill saving and fuel debt advice and support.

• Warm Homes Fund providing grants for first time central heating measures.

• Green Homes Grant Fund targeting fuel poor homes for insulation retrofit and renewable heating
installations.

• Deneside East benefits from a range of general and specialist health services, which are available across
the County. Full details of these are available on the Locate portal.  In addition to these services the East
Durham Trust covers the whole of the East to support the local community.

Evidence base

The Council has developed an evidence base to identify which communities would benefit from intervention 
to maintain and improve the existing housing stock and the wider housing environment and to inform the 
actions in those areas.  

In addition, the Housing Strategy notes that the Council will ensure that housing is provided specifically 
to meet the needs of the older people within our communities. It is recognised that the population of 
County Durham is already ageing and over the next few decades, there will be a ‘demographic shift’ with 
the number (and proportion) of older people increasing. This TDP therefore contains an action to identify 
opportunities to deliver accommodation for older people.

Targeted Delivery Plan: Deneside East

2

P
age 952



Targeted Delivery Plan: Deneside East

Evidence and monitoring 
Deneside East is in the top 10% for deprivation, the data shows that there are issues in this Lower Super Output Area regarding employment and health, which are in the worst performing 10% of the county and income which 
is in the worst performing 15% of the county.

Employment and health are ranked in the worst performing 10% of the county. Employment is a determinant of health, it has direct and indirect effects on individuals, families and communities. Ill health has an impact on 
participation in work and unemployment is linked to poor health.  

Low employment in the area will also be related to low average income and high percentage of income deprivation affecting children, which are both ranked in the worst performing 15% of the county. 

Employment is ranked in the worst performing 10% of the County. The area is also associated with lower than average incomes and high percentage of income deprivation affecting children which are ranked in the worst 
performing 15% of the County. Deneside East is ranked in the worst performing 10% for health. It is recognised that poor health can have an impact upon the ability to participate in work. 

The Council will continue to develop and monitor evidence to understand issues associated with balance and potential decline across the county. 

Issue Context Deneside East
Employment IMD 2019 The Employment Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the working-age population 

in an area involuntarily excluded from the labour market.
Within County Durham Deneside East is ranked 8th out of 324 
LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived

Income deprivation IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing 
deprivation relating to low income.

Within County Durham Deneside East is ranked 37th out of 324 
LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived

Income deprivation affecting children IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the proportion of all 
children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families.

Within County Durham Deneside East is ranked 39th out of 324 
LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Health IMD 2019 The Health Deprivation and Disability Domain measures the risk of premature death and the 
impairment of quality of life through poor physical or mental health.

Within County Durham Deneside East is ranked 6th out of 324 
LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived

Demographics and housing stock profile In County Durham, 20.6% of the population is aged 65 and over. County Durham has a 
relatively low proportion of bungalows (13.7%) compared to other housing stock. This highest 
proportion of housing stock in terraced at 36.9%. (MHCLG 2017).

Within Deneside East 37.2% of the population are aged 65 
and over. 76.6% of the housing stock are bungalows and 22.1% 
are terraced.

3

P
age 953



Targeted Delivery Plan: Deneside East
Action Plan
The TDP action plans bring together actions from across the Council’s range of functions and that of 
partners to address the issues identified in the evidence base. In TDPs, the actions are identified as having 
the following timescales:

• Mainstream activity / core offer: These are Council or partner activities that are undertaken routinely, 
but opportunities will be sought to focus these within the TDP area to bring an intensive approach to 
addressing issues. 

• Short term: New actions which will be undertaken within 2 years. Some of these actions will be delivered 
in a substantially shorter timeframe, depending on their nature.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A1 Monitor, update and develop evidence at a localised level to understand stock condition, 
demand and supply and associated issues.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity.

A2 Work with Registered Providers to encourage use of their ‘buy back’ option to bring former 
right to buy stock back into the market as affordable housing and to assist in supporting and 
maintaining mixed and balanced communities, where appropriate. 

DCC Housing Regeneration team, Believe. Long term / ongoing.

A3 Work with DCC Community Action Team to programme regular targeted interventions to address 
environmental issues, such as improvements to works bollards, weeding of footpaths and flag 
paving repairs.

DCC Environmental Health team. Mainstream activity. Programme for 2021 
in discussion.

A4 Continuous liaison with private landlords. DCC Private Landlords Team. Mainstream activity.

A5 In line with Cabinet's September 2020 decision to agree to begin a Council house building 
programme of up to 500 homes over the period 2021-26 opportunities will be explored for 
homes across the county, including this TDP area (see action A6). 

DCC Housing Development. Long term. Project to progress in line with 
Cabinet approval.

A6 Work to deliver potential development site identified at Land North of Portland Avenue, 
Seaham The site is to the north west of the TDP area. Part of phase 1 of council homes 
building programme.

DCC Housing Development, Spatial Policy, Development 
Management.

Medium/Long term. 45 homes in total. 
20/30 DCC homes

A7 Facilitating new housing development including the opportunity for the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people.

DCC Planning and Housing Development team. Mainstream activity. 

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham

4

• Medium term: New actions to be undertaken within 5 years

• Longer term: New actions to be undertaken over a period longer than 5 years, in recognition of the scale 
of the intervention. 

The Action Plan notes the status of individual actions, to note some of these will be undertaken as ongoing 
actions, others will be associated with existing funding streams, however, others will require funding. The 
Council and its partners will make use of the TDPs to support applications for funding.

P
age 954



Targeted Delivery Plan: Deneside East

 

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham (continued)

Addressing poverty in a housing context and the impacts of welfare reform in a housing context

5

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

B1 Scoping targeted business improvements to support shop front improvements, benefiting the 
wider street scene.

Scoped and coordinated by Community Economic Development. Medium term. Identified following  Autumn 
2020 initial scoping.

B2 Promote County Durham Lettings Agency and leasehold scheme. DCC County Durham Lettings Agency Team. Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

C1 Work with landlords to enable greater understanding of the impact of poverty.  DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers. 

Mainstream activity.

C2 Enable delivery of the Council’s Poverty Plan and Child Poverty Plan, within a housing context.  DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers. 

Mainstream activity.

C3 Review and extend and raise awareness of the Financial Assistance Policy.  DCC Housing Solutions. Short term/Mainstream Activity.

C4 Raise awareness of support and services are available to support residents. Scope community 
engagement methods to achieve this and to provide a ‘one stop shop’ approach to join up 
services and information.

DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Housing Regeneration. Short term/Mainstream Activity.

C5 Scope and implement tenancy management training sessions for residents. DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Housing Regeneration. Short term/Mainstream Activity.

P
age 955



Targeted Delivery Plan: Deneside East

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

D1 Consider requirement for support packages to meet needs in County Durham. DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers.  

Short/medium term.

D2 Continue to widen wrap around support to support vulnerable people to achieve and 
sustain tenancies.

DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, Registered Housing 
providers.

Short/medium term.

D3 Encourage uptake of Disabled Facilities Grants in order to enable individuals to remain in 
their home. 

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

Provide care and support for older and vulnerable people

 

6

P
age 956



Targeted Delivery Plan: Deneside East map of evidence and interventions

 

Context
This map confirms the boundary of the Deneside 
East Lower Super Output Area. The map 
complements the action plan and provides an 
overview of evidence and issues to be addressed 
in the area.

This map is based on the Deneside East Lower 
Super Output Area, however in practice, actions 
will not be limited at the boundary if there is a 
rationale to extend interventions to adjacent sites 
and nearby streets.

7

P
age 957



spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

03000 260 000

P
age 958



County Durham Housing Strategy: 
Targeted Delivery Plan

Stanley Hall West

March 2021

P
age 959



Context
The County Durham Housing Strategy sets out that the Council will seek to improve the quality of the 
existing housing stock and the wider residential environment. The Strategy notes that the Council will 
develop localised and Targeted Delivery Plans (TDP) to outline activities to support the creation and 
maintenance of mixed and balanced communities. 

This TDP has been developed by Durham County Council with input from Karbon Homes the Registered 
Provider who own 301 homes in Stanley Hall West, of which 191 are retirement living units. 

Location
Stanley Hall West is an area of South Stanley in the North of County Durham. This TDP relates to the area 
as defined on the map on page 8. This boundary is based on the Lower Super Output Area, however in 
practice, actions will not be limited at this boundary if there is a rationale to extend interventions to adjacent 
sites and nearby streets. 

What are we trying to achieve in Stanley Hall West?
Stanley Hall West experiences a relatively high proportion of empty homes, this is indicative of low demand 
in the area. There is an opportunity through the TDPs to undertake a range of measures to focus on 
addressing the empty homes to reduce the proportion of empty properties in locality and to improve the 
living environment for existing and future residents.

Stanley Hall West is also associated with a relatively very high proportion of stock with solid walls, this 
reflects the property type in the area.  The area is also associated with higher than average levels of 
unemployment and lower than average incomes. This will impact on residents in a number of ways, but in 
a housing context, this has resulted in higher than average levels of fuel poverty

Through the TDP, the Council will tailor energy efficiency measures to properties in the area to ensure 
residents have warm homes. This will be coordinated alongside a number of measures to address poverty 
in a housing context and support tenancy sustainment. This will be of benefit to the health and wellbeing 
of residents. 

The TDP seeks to improve the appearance of the public realm and street scene. The intention is to bring 
about a noticeable change in the overall appearance of the area, increasing confidence in the housing 
market and improving the wider amenity of the area for existing and future residents. 

What will be the outcome for Stanley Hall West?

Delivering the TDP will have a positive impact on the housing market and the wider sense of place for 
Stanley Hall West. By reducing the proportion of long term empty homes and improving the appearance of 
wider environment, the TDP will stem issues associated with low demand.

Improvements in the street scene will be complementary to the reduction in empty homes having an 
improvement in the overall appearance of the area and would result in an improved living environment 
for residents.

Focused interventions with the intention of addressing poverty in a housing context and improving the 
energy efficiency of properties will have a direct benefit for the residents of the area improving financial 
and health wellbeing.

Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West

2

P
age 960



3

Past and ongoing 
interventions

The Council and its partners have undertaken 
a series of interventions in this area including: 

• Warm Front and Warm up North fuel poverty
grant programmes providing home energy
efficiency measures to low-income households.

• In terms of stock investment,  since 2016/17
Karbon Homes have invested almost £0.5m,
mainly in roofs and heating upgrades. Karbon
have also invested in kitchens, structural works
and fencing.

• In terms of community investment, since
Karbon’s inception almost £100k has been
invested in community and voluntary groups
and projects. This includes RSACC Supporting
Survivors, Snow Angels, the Breathing
Space project, C&AP Environmental Project,
Craghead Development Trust Youth Club,
the Cree Project, Headway Stanley, the Just
for Women Garden, Mini Explorers, Music as
Therapy, and St Stephens Lunch Club.

• Karbon’s Silver Talk telephone befriending
service operates from the community.

• Energy Company Obligation boiler and
insulation grants for low income and fuel
poor households.

• Warm and Healthy Homes project with GP
surgeries to provide warmer homes for
patients with a cold related illness.

• Managing Money Better service providing
energy bill saving and fuel debt advice
and support.

• Warm Homes Fund providing grants for first
time central heating measures.

• Green Homes Grant Fund targeting fuel poor
homes for insulation retrofit and renewable
heating installations.

• In response to the Covid 19 initial lockdown,
almost £900 provided by Karbon Homes  to
local community to assist in food collection
services and prescription collection services.

• Stanley Hall West benefits from a range of
general and specialist health services, which
are available across the County. Full details
of these are available on the Locate portal.

• In addition to these services a number of
facilities are local to the area including PACT
House Stanley, Just for Women Support
Group (and women’s CREE) and a Money
Advice Centre.

Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West

Evidence base

The Council has developed an evidence base 
to identify which communities would benefit 
from intervention to maintain and improve the 
existing housing stock and the wider housing 
environment and to inform the actions in 
those areas.  

In addition, the Housing Strategy notes that 
the Council will ensure that housing is provided 
specifically to meet the needs of the older people 
within our communities. It is recognised that 
the population of County Durham is already 
ageing and over the next few decades, there 
will be a ‘demographic shift’ with the number 
(and proportion) of older people increasing. 
This TDP therefore contains an action to identify 
opportunities to deliver accommodation for 
older people.

P
age 961



Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West

Evidence and monitoring 
Stanley Hall West is in the top 10% for deprivation, the data shows that there are issues in this LSOA regarding empty homes, fuel poverty, solid walls, income, employment and health.

Fuel poverty is high in Stanley Hall West and the data suggests that this is likely related to the proportion of homes with solid walls and households with lower incomes. Homes with solid walls are not as energy efficient as 
they do not benefit from cavity wall insulation and makes them more expensive to heat and keep warm. 

Employment is ranked in the worst performing 10% of the County. The area is also associated with lower than average incomes and high percentage of income deprivation affecting children. Poor health can also have an 
impact upon the ability to participate in work. 

If households must spend a higher proportion of a fixed or low income on heating their homes or cannot keep their homes warm, this can have a negative impact on health and wellbeing. Health is ranked in the worst 
performing 10% of the county. Health can be a signifier for wider socio-economic issues as well as a cross cutting theme for housing.

The Council will continue to develop and monitor evidence to understand issues associated with balance and potential decline across the county.

Issue Context Stanley Hall West
Fuel Poverty Fuel poverty is measured using Low Income High Cost calculations. 14% of households 

across county Durham are in fuel poverty.
15.3% of households are in fuel poverty.

Solid Walls Households with solid walls are unable to benefit from cavity insulation to make the 
household more energy efficient and to reduce fuel costs. Solid walls can therefore be a 
contributing factor to of fuel poverty.

Within County Durham, Stanley Hall West  is ranked 15th out of 
324 LSOAs with 1 having the highest proportion of households 
with solid walls.

Employment IMD 2019 The Employment Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the working-age population 
in an area involuntarily excluded from the labour market.

Within County Durham Stanley Hall West is ranked 17th out of 324 
LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing 
deprivation relating to low income.

Within County Durham Stanley Hall West  is ranked 17th  out of 
324 LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Income deprivation affecting children IMD 2019 The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the proportion of all 
children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families.

Within County Durham Stanley Hall West is ranked 20th out of 324 
LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Health IMD 2019 The Health Deprivation and Disability Domain measures the risk of premature death and the 
impairment of quality of life through poor physical or mental health.

Within County Durham Stanley Hall West  is ranked 20th out of 
324 LSOAs with 1 being the most deprived.

Demographics and housing stock profile In County Durham, 20.6% of the population is aged 65 and over. County Durham has a 
relatively low proportion of bungalows (13.7%) compared to other housing stock. This highest 
proportion of housing stock in terraced at 36.9%. (MHCLG 2017).

Within Stanley Hall West 22.2% of the population are aged 65 and 
over. 33.7% of the housing stock are bungalows and 49.4%  are 
terraced.

4

P
age 962



Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West

Action Plan
The TDP action plans bring together actions from across the Council’s range of functions and that of partners to address the issues identified in the evidence base. In TDPs, the actions are identified as having the 
following timescales:

• Mainstream activity / core offer: These are Council or partner activities that are undertaken routinely, but opportunities will be sought to focus these within the TDP area to bring an intensive approach to addressing issues.

• Short term: New actions which will be undertaken within 2 years. Some of these actions will be delivered in a substantially shorter timeframe, depending on their nature.

• Medium term: New actions to be undertaken within 5 years

• Longer term: New actions to be undertaken over a period longer than 5 years, in recognition of the scale of the intervention.

The Action Plan notes the status of individual actions, to note some of these will be undertaken as ongoing actions, others will be associated with existing funding streams, however, others will require funding. The Council 
and its partners will make use of the TDPs to support applications for funding.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A1 Selective licencing Multiple Criteria Area Designation. DCC Selective  Licencing team. Mainstream Activity. DCC Designation 
and application submitted.  

A2 Monitor, update and develop evidence at a localised level to understand stock condition, demand 
and supply and associated issues.

DCC Empty Homes team. Mainstream activity. 

A3 Work with Registered Providers to encourage use of their ‘buy back’ option to bring former right to 
buy stock back into the market as affordable housing and to assist in supporting and maintaining 
mixed and balanced communities, where appropriate. 

DCC Housing Regeneration team, Karbon Homes. Mainstream activity.

A4 Work with DCC Community Action Team to programme regular targeted interventions to address 
environmental issues.

DCC Environmental Health team. Mainstream activity. Programme for 2021 
in discussion

A5 Continuous liaison with private landlords. DCC Private Landlords team. Mainstream activity.

A6 In line with Cabinet's September 2020 decision to agree to begin a Council house building 
programme of up to 500 homes over the period 2021-26 opportunities will be explored for homes 
across the county, including this TDP area. 

DCC Housing Development. Long term. Project to progress in line with 
Cabinet approval.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham

5

P
age 963



Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

A7 The Former Stanley School of Technology site, is a housing commitment with planning permission 
for 110 new homes.

Development Management. Medium Term. Planning permission 
granted on 110 new homes.

A8 Promote County Durham Lettings Agency and leasehold scheme DCC County Durham Lettings Agency team. Mainstream activity.

A9 Karbon Homes undertaking continued planned maintenance and improvement of homes. 
Allocated spend of almost £10m

Karbon Homes Long term – over the next 30 years.

A10 Facilitating new housing development including the opportunity for the delivery of homes to meet 
the needs of older people.

DCC Planning and Housing Development and Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

B1 Ensure integration between various advice schemes and programmes. DCC Housing  Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

B2 Raise awareness for warm homes campaign using area based promoting. DCC Housing  Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

B3 Promote DCC’s External Wall Insulation ECO ‘Top UP’ loan fund. DCC Housing  Regeneration team. Mainstream activity.

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

C1 Work with landlords to enable greater understanding of the impact of poverty. DCC Housing Regeneration team, DCC Transformation and 
Partnerships and Children’s Services.

Mainstream activity.

C2 Enable delivery of the Council’s Poverty Plan and Child Poverty Plan, within a housing context. DCC Housing Regeneration team, DCC Transformation and 
Partnerships and Children’s Services.

Mainstream activity.

Support and maintain mixed and balanced communities across County Durham (continued)

Improve energy efficiency of properties to ensure County Durham has a stock of warm, healthy and energy efficient homes

Addressing poverty in a Housing context and the impacts of welfare reform in a housing context

6

P
age 964



Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West 

 

Ref What Lead (and Partners) Timescale / Notes

D1 Consider requirement for support packages to meet needs in County Durham. DCC Housing Solutions, DCC Commissioning, 
Registered Housing providers.

Short/medium term.

D2 Continue to widen wrap around support to support vulnerable people to achieve and 
sustain tenancies.

DCC Head of Development and Housing, DCC Head 
of Commissioning, Registered Housing providers.

Short/medium term.

D3 Encourage uptake of Disabled Facilities Grants in order to enable individuals to remain 
in their home.

DCC Housing Solutions. Mainstream activity.

Provide care and support for older and vulnerable people 

7

P
age 965



Targeted Delivery Plan: Stanley Hall West map of evidence and interventions

 

Context
The map confirms the boundary of the Stanley 
Hall West Lower Super Output Area. The map 
complements the action plan and provides an 
overview of evidence and issues to be addressed 
in the area.

This map is based on the Stanley Hall West 
Lower Super Output Area, however in practice, 
actions will not be limited at the boundary if there 
is a rationale to extend interventions to adjacent 
sites and nearby streets.

8

P
age 966



spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

03000 260 000P
age 967



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Contents

Datasets

Housing Market Indicators Source Date
Empty properties (more than 6 months, 2019) DCC 2019
House Price Land Registry Dec-19
Privately Rented Properties Rightmove data Oct-19
Social Housing to rent Housing Solutions Apr-20
Affordable Housing Viability indicator (High, Medium, Low) Data to follow

Area in detail
Fuel Poverty DCC 2018
Solid Walls DCC 2018

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government Sep-19

Selective Licencing Designation DCC Apr-20

Health Inequalities
Premature Mortality Data to follow

Population (5 year age breakdown) ONS -2018 Population Estimates Aug-19

Background

Methodology
MSOA Geography

Median Calculations

The look up tool seeks to understand our housing evidence base we have at a local level and provides a way to bring data together and to understand it at a detailed spatial 
scale 

This evidence base was developed using Middle Super Output Areas, providing the best understanding of issues within a community. There are 66 MSOA geographies across 
County Durham which are reported using 9 digit codes, have been labled with place names as places that communities can recognise.   
Of the 242,112 residential properties within County Durham, 2,716 (1.1%) sit across two MSOA's therefore these data are 98.9% accurate to postcode.

Median calucation has been used where possible in order to address issues associated with any outliers witin the data that might skew the average of the values. The median is 
the middle number in a sorted, ascending or descending, list of numbers and can be more descriptive of that data set than the average. 

P
age 969



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Type your post code in the box below Example postcode

SR8 4AR

All data relates to the following MSOA:
MSOA Name
MSOA Code
Population- 2018 (see table below for 5 year age breakdown)
Number of Residential Addresses 

Housing Market Indicators

Empty properties (more than 6 months, 2019)
(as a proportion of residential addresses)
County Durham average: 2.6% / North-East average 1.4%
Empty Home Rank (of 324)

Median House Price (April 2019)
County Durham: £109,000 / North-East: £133,000

Rank of Median Price Paid (1 being lowest, 66 being highest)

Estimated median monthly rental charge for Private Properties (2019)
County Durham: £450.00

Median weekly rental price of Social Housing to rent (as at April 2020) ((based on 
larger social housing providers)) County Durham: £78.20

Estimated percentage of Social Housing to rent (2019) ((based on larger social 
housing providers))
(percentage of total residential properties)
County Durham average: 16.5%

Definition

P
age 971



Affordable Housing Viability indicator (High, Medium, Low)

Area in detail
% HH in Fuel Poverty
Fuel Poverty Rank 

Solid Walls
Solid Walls Rank

Selective Licencing Designation

Designation Area
Designation Description

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019
The MSOA with the rank of 1 is most deprived

The MSOA with the rank of 6791 is least deprived in England (66 for County Durham)

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 - Overall Decile 
(of most deprived nationally)
Overall Score
Overall Rank

Income Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Income Rank IMD (MSOA) (County Durham)
Income Rank IMD (MSOA) (England)

Employment Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Employment IMD (MSOA) Rank (County Durham)
Employment IMD (MSOA) Rank (England)

Education Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Education IMD (MSOA) Rank (County Durham)
Education IMD (MSOA) Rank (England)

Definition Illustration

P
age 972



Health Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Health IMD (MSOA) Rank (County Durham)
Health IMD (MSOA) Rank (England)

Crime Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Crime IMD (MSOA) Rank (County Durham)
Crime IMD (MSOA) Rank (England)

Housing Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Housing IMD (MSOA) Rank (County Durham)
Housing IMD (MSOA) Rank (England)

Environment Overall Score IMD (MSOA)
Environment IMD (MSOA) Rank (County Durham)
Environment IMD (MSOA) Rank (England)

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) Overall Score IMD

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) Rank (County Durham)

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) Rank (England)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) Overall Score IMD

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) Rank (County Durham)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) Rank (England)

Health Inequalities
Premature Mortality Data to follow

Population ONS Estimates 2018 (5 year age breakdown) 
County Durham Population All ages

526,980
Number of MSOA Working Age (County Average - XXXXX) Working age population

Proportion of MSOA of Working Age (County Average - XXXX) 0-4 yrs

P
age 973



5-9 yrs

10-14 yrs

15-19 yrs

20-24 yrs

25-29 yrs

30-34 yrs

35-39 yrs

40-44 yrs

45-49 yrs

50-54 yrs

55-59 yrs

60-64 yrs

65-69 yrs

70-74 yrs

75-79 yrs

80-84 yrs

85-89 yrs

90+ yrs

P
age 974



AAP Name (accurate to postcode and LSOA only)

LSOA Names within this MSOA
LSOA Codes within this MSOA

P
age 975



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Housing Demand

Empty properties (more than 6 months, 2019) Many of these homes are in good condition and only remain empty while their owners decide what to do next with them. Others are in poor condition or remain empty 
for longer periods and these properties can have a negative effect on neighbouring properties, both visually and in terms of property value

House Price
Median House Prices are calculated using Price Paid Data which contains the sale prices of properties in England and Wales submitted to HM Land Registry for 

registration

Estimated Privately Rented Properties
The median rental price of properties offered for rent through Rightmove. This is an estimated figure based on private landlords that chose to advertise via Rightmove 

during the one year time period

Social Housing to rent (as at April 2020) ((based on larger 
social housing providers)) 

The median rental charge based on properties held by the major social housing providers: Believe Housing; Bernicia Homes; Karbon Homes; Karbon Homes; North Star 
homes and Livin

Affordable Housing Viability indicator (High, Medium, Low) Proportions of affordable housing will be sought as part of planning applications for more than 10 units: Highest 25%; High: 20%; Medium: 15% and low: 10%

Fuel Poverty
A household is considered to be fuel poor if it has higher than typical energy costs to provide an indoor environment that does not adversely affect their health and 

wellbeing and would as a result be left with a disposable income below the poverty line if it spent the required money to meet those costs

Solid Walls
Households occupying solid wall homes have energy bills typically 25% higher than households in cavity wall properties. Fuel poverty is therefore more highly 

concentrated in solid wall households and streets

Selective Licencing Designation
Selective licensing gives powers to regulate landlords and managing agents of private rented property in areas that suffer from low housing demand and/or high levels of 

anti-social behaviour. Designation is based on; low demand for housing; a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour; poor property conditions; 
high levels of migration; high levels of deprivation and high levels of crime

Return to Look-

P
age 977



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 - Overall Decile 
(most deprived nationally)

See 'Weighting' below (row 42)

Income Overall Score IMD
Income Rank IMD (County Durham)
Income Rank IMD (England)

Employment Overall Score IMD
Employment IMD Rank (County Durham)
Employment IMD Rank (England)

Education Overall Score IMD
Education IMD Rank (County Durham)
Education IMD Rank (England)

Health Overall Score IMD
Health IMD Rank (County Durham)
Health IMD Rank (England)

Crime Overall Score IMD
Crime IMD Rank (County Durham)
Crime IMD Rank (England)

Housing Overall Score IMD
Housing IMD Rank (County Durham)
Housing IMD Rank (England)

Environment Overall Score IMD
Environment IMD Rank (County Durham)
Environment IMD Rank (England)

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) Overall 
Score IMD
Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) Rank 
(County Durham)
Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) Rank 
(England)

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) 
Overall Score IMD
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) 
Rank (County Durham)
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) 
Rank (England)

Weighting
. The domains were combined using the following weights to produce the overall Index of Multiple Deprivation:

Income Deprivation (22.5%)

Employment Deprivation (22.5%)

Education, Skills and Training Deprivation (13.5%)

Health Deprivation and Disability (13.5%)

Crime (9.3%)

Barriers to Housing and Services (9.3%)

Living Environment Deprivation (9.3%)

·The Living Environment Deprivation Domain measures the quality of the local environment. The indicators fall into two sub-domains. The ‘indoors’ living environment 
measures the quality of housing; while the ‘outdoors’ living environment contains measures of air quality and road traffic accidents.

The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the proportion of all children aged 0 to 15 living in income deprived families. It is a subset of the 
Income Deprivation Domain which measures the proportion of the population in an area experiencing deprivation relating to low income. The definition of low income 

used includes both those people that are out-of-work, and those that are in work but who have low earnings (and who satisfy the respective means tests).

The Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) measures the proportion of all those aged 60 or over who experience income deprivation. It is a subset of 
the Income Deprivation Domain which measures the proportion of the population in an area experiencing deprivation relating to low income. The definition of low 
income used includes both those people that are out-of-work, and those that are in work but who have low earnings (and who satisfy the respective means tests).

·The Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the population experiencing deprivation relating to low income. The definition of low income used includes 
both those people that are out-of-work, and those that are in work but who have low earnings (and who satisfy the respective means tests).

·The Employment Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the working-age population in an area involuntarily excluded from the labour market. This includes 
people who would like to work but are unable to do so due to unemployment, sickness or disability, or caring responsibilities.

·The Education, Skills and Training Deprivation Domain measures the lack of attainment and skills in the local population. The indicators fall into two sub-domains: one 
relating to children and young people and one relating to adult skills. 

·The Health Deprivation and Disability Domain measures the risk of premature death and the impairment of quality of life through poor physical or mental health. The 
domain measures morbidity, disability and premature mortality but not aspects of behaviour or environment that may be predictive of future health deprivation.

·The Crime Domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at local level. 

·The Barriers to Housing and Services Domain measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services. The indicators fall into two sub-domains: 
‘geographical barriers’, which relate to the physical proximity of local services, and ‘wider barriers’ which includes issues relating to access to housing such as 

affordability.

Return to Look-

P
age 979



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Agnes Street, Stanley – Proposed 

Compulsory Purchase Order 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Housing and Assets 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Tanfield 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek authority from Cabinet to make a Compulsory Purchase Order 
(CPO) pursuant to section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (“the Order”) in relation to a site known as Agnes Street in 
Stanley. 

2 To seek authority from Cabinet to take all ancillary steps necessary in 
order to secure the confirmation of the Order and purchase of the Land. 

3 To agree to the principle of the acquisition of land required for the CPO 
by agreement in advance of CPO should this be possible. 

4 To agree to the Council paying required compensation as appropriate. 

Executive summary 

5 Development on the site known as Agnes Street has been a long-term 
aspiration for Durham County Council (“the Council”) and is identified in 
the Stanley Masterplan as a site that requires improvement, due to its 
negative impact on the locality.  This regeneration focus on an 
undeveloped site is consistent with the recently approved Towns and 
Villages strategy with one of its key priorities around addressing vacant 
buildings and derelict or underused land.  The full site being considered 

Page 981

Agenda Item 13



for development is shown edged in red on the plan attached at 
Appendix 2 (“the Development Site”).  Almscliffe Properties (Agnes St) 
Ltd (APL) has secured options over the majority of the Development 
Site, including Council owned land, and pre-lets from occupiers in a 
process commenced in 2019.  Planning permission was granted in 
respect of the Development Site on 1 July 2020.  The development 
approved is for the erection of three retail units, including one drive-thru 
(Class A1, A3 and A5 use) with associated landscaping, parking and 
access. 

6 The Council owns four parcels of land within the Development Site.  
These are coloured yellow (ref DU313012), light blue (ref DU312924), 
bright green (ref DU312039) and dark green (ref DU227842) on the plan 
attached to this report at Appendix 3 (“the Council’s Land”). 

7 That part of the Development Site coloured dark blue on the plan 
attached to this report at Appendix 3 (ref DU243218) is owned by 
Whitehall Executive Developments Ltd (WEDL) and is subject to an 
option granted to APL (“WEDL’s Land”). 

8 The parcel of land shown red on the plan attached to this report at 
Appendix 3 (ref DU343266) is owned by Northern Gas Networks Ltd 
and will remain in situ and unaffected by the proposed development. 

9 The hatched areas shown on the plan attached to this report at 
Appendix 3 are not registered at Land Registry, and despite repeated 
attempts, it has not been possible to trace the owners or any person 
with an interest in these hatched parcels of land.  These hatched areas 
of land are required in order to provide the necessary car parking and 
utility areas associated with the proposed development.  It is proposed 
to make a compulsory purchase order in respect of this unregistered 
land (“the CPO Land”). 

10 That part of the Development Site shown coloured dark green on the 
plan attached to this report at Appendix 3 has been marketed by DCC, 
most recently in 2018, alongside the land coloured dark blue (and which 
is owned by WEDL).  After marketing, WEDL agreed to dispose of its 
land (via way of an option) to APL on condition that APL acquires an 
unencumbered freehold interest in further land to facilitate their 
development. 

11 APL’s development requires the Development Site to allow enough area 
for its proposals to be deliverable.  In summary this includes all the land 
parcels described at paragraphs 6-7, plus the CPO Land.  The CPO 
Land which currently forms part of the unadopted highway known as 
Agnes Street, is proposed to form the only access into the development. 

12 The Council has searched paper records and Land Registry data to try 
to establish any person with an interest in the CPO Land.  Direct 

Page 982



approaches have also been made to previous landowners to ascertain 
any knowledge of potential ownerships but with no success.  In addition, 
site and press notices were issued by APL as part of the planning 
application process with no person coming forward to claim a legal 
interest in the CPO Land. 

13 The Council and APL have considered options in how to bring the 
development forward without recourse to acquiring the CPO Land, but 
none are acceptable for securing development finance, nor 
unconditional pre-lets. 

14 Officers are satisfied that no option other than the freehold purchase of 
the whole of the Development Site is likely to result in the delivery of the 
scheme.  Given that significant efforts have been made unsuccessfully 
to trace any person with a legal interest in the CPO Land and no person 
has been identified, the Council considers that the only realistic option 
available to ensure delivery of the scheme is to make a Compulsory 
Purchase Order (“CPO”) in respect of the CPO Land.  The CPO Land is 
shown in greater detail on the Order Map attached to this report at 
Appendix 4. 

15 Powers exist under section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to compulsorily purchase land if the acquiring authority is 
satisfied that it is necessary in order to deliver the development 
redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to land and that it is 
likely to contribute to the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of their area. 

16 Subject to legal and other issues being resolved, the Council is 
satisfied, as acquiring authority, that there is a compelling case in the 
public interest in favour of making a CPO pursuant to section 226(1)(a) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to acquire the CPO Land. 

Recommendation(s) 

17 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) resolve that the use of Compulsory Purchase powers under 
section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
any necessary powers in relation to new rights under Section 13 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 are 
justified in order to facilitate the carrying out of development, re-
development or improvement on or in relation to the Development 
Site by the compulsory acquisition of the CPO Land; 

 
(b) approve the draft County Council of Durham (Agnes Street) 

Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 as attached at Appendix 5, 
the Order Map comprising the CPO Land as attached at 

Page 983



Appendix 4 and the draft Statement of Reasons made in support 
of the Order and attached at Appendix 6 (‘the Statement of 
Reasons”); 

 
(c) resolve to authorise the making of the County Council of Durham 

(Agnes Street) Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 under section 
226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 

 
(d) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to make 

such changes to the draft Order, the Order Map (within the red 
line boundary as shown on the Order Map) and Statements of 
Reasons as considered necessary; 

 
(e) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to take all 

necessary steps to secure confirmation of the Order, to confirm 
the Order as an unopposed order if authorised to do so and to 
secure the acquisition of all third party interests in the CPO Land 
and any new rights and the removal of any occupants from the 
Land (noting that there are none identified); 

 
(f) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, following 

confirmation of the Order, to publish and serve all appropriate 
notices of confirmation of the Order and to make one or more 
general vesting declarations or serve notices to treat and notices 
of entry (as appropriate) in respect of the CPO Land; 

 
(g) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to initiate or 

take part in any arbitration or proceedings before the Upper 
Tribunal (Lands Chamber) or the Courts in order to resolve any 
disputes as to compensation or other payments payable for any 
interests in the CPO Land or arising from the making or 
confirmation of the Order or securing possession of any part of 
the CPO Land or title to any part of the CPO Land or the removal 
of any occupants or apparatus of statutory undertakers or 
communication code operators; 

 
(h) authorise the Head of Corporate Property and Land to acquire 

any of the land, currently in unknown ownership should the 
ownership become established before any CPO is confirmed.  
Such acquisitions will be on effective CPO terms. 

  

Page 984



Background 

18 Regenerating our Towns and Villages has been a long-standing priority 
of the Council, as we seek to maximise investments to create 
employment opportunities and improve the built and natural 
environment.  Vacant buildings and derelict and underused land can 
have a negative impact on our towns and villages by attracting anti-
social behaviour, fly tipping, becoming overgrown or simply unsightly.  
This can be at the detriment to the quality of life of our residents and a 
barrier to private investment. 

19 The strategic approach to regeneration across Stanley has been 
established through masterplan documents, first adopted by Cabinet in 
March 2012 with a Masterplan update report following in December 
2016.  These documents set out the main actions that will help to create 
a revitalised, accessible and attractive town centre and provide the 
policy context for regeneration across Stanley town centre. 

20 The proposed actions for the Masterplan are grouped under six key 
themes: 

(a) creating development and inward investment opportunities, 
Including specific reference to the Agnes Street site as a 
development opportunity; 

(b) improving permeability; 

(c) improving the town centre offer; 

(d)  improving town centre facilities; 

(e)  improving the appearance of the town centre; 

(f)  supporting local businesses. 

21 Potential actions agreed through the masterplan process included the 
preparation of Development Briefs for each site in conjunction with 
owners, pro-active marketing of Council owned sites, and provision of 
pre-application advice.  This led to the marketing of the Council’s Land 
with WEDL’s Land. 

22 The proposed development of the Development Site is also in line with 
the emerging Strategy for the Regeneration of the County’s Towns and 
Villages.  The Towns and Villages approach to regeneration was first 
approved by Cabinet in 2018 with the Strategy and Investment plan 
following in October 2020 and February 2021.  These documents 
highlight the changing needs of town and village centres and the need 
for a toolbox of approached to progressing Regeneration opportunities.  
The pilot work undertaken since the approach was agreed has 

Page 985



consistently identified significant instances of vulnerable, vacant or 
redundant land and buildings, which currently detract from the built 
environment.  With appropriate intervention such sites can support 
prosperity in our towns and villages through utilising their economic 
potential, allowing for opportunities for redevelopment and investment, 
ensuring community and social value by addressing issues of anti-social 
behaviour and by creating an attractive appearance and safe local 
environment. 

Stanley – Market Position 

23 Retail property demand in Stanley had been low for a number of years, 
compounded by the failure to deliver a consented supermarket 
development within the town.  However, the sale of the Clifford Centre 
land holdings and subsequent redevelopment of a new Home Bargains 
store in 2018 and the development of a McDonalds store in 2019 
complemented investment by Aldi in the development of a new store on 
the former DCC Bus station site, has led to an upturn in retail demand 
across Stanley.  Vacancy rates across Stanley town centre have 
stabilised and despite challenging market conditions, occupancy rates 
across the town centre have increased between 2019 and 2020, 
alongside the overall increase in units. 

24 Stanley benefits from having a regionally significant road network within 
close proximity to its centre, and as such is able to command “roadside” 
uses adjacent to its town centre.  There have been consistent levels of 
enquiries for these “roadside” uses, but there has generally been a low-
level demand for town centre retail units in the area, despite the road 
networks’ proximity to the Town Centre.  The Agnes Street site is well 
located in proximity to the road network and development would form a 
gateway to the north of the town. 

25 It is therefore felt in regeneration terms that development of this site will 
not only help the general economy of Stanley, but also direct future 
demand towards the town centre. 

26 From a regeneration perspective, now the scheme has secured 
planning consent, the delivery of such a scheme will secure the 
investment and new jobs associated with this site. 

The Site 

27 The Council owns various parcels of land within the Development Site.  
These are described in the table below: 

  

Page 986



Colour on 
the plan at 
Appendix 3 

Summary Details 

Yellow 

(DU313012) 

Lying to the North East of Agnes Street, this area is currently 
informal highway verge, and has an adopted footpath running 
across part of it. It amounts to approximately 284m2. It was 
compulsory purchased as part of the Stanley Town Centre 
Bypass in 1972/3 and is held as Highway.     

Dark Green 

(DU227842)   

Lying to the South of Agnes Street and amounts to 
approximately 833m2 It is held as Surplus. 

Light Blue 

(DU312924) 

Lying to the East is highway verge west of the A693 
Roundabout. It amounts to approximately 74m2. It is held as 
Highway, though not adopted.  

Bright Green 

(DU312039) 

To the east of the site off the A693 roundabout, amounting to 
75m2.  This is held as adopted highway. 

28 In addition to the Council Land the other land parcels within the 
Development Site boundary are as detailed in the table below: 

  

Page 987



Colour on the 
plan at 
Appendix 3 

Summary Details 

Dark Blue 

(DU243218) 

Centrally located within the site boundary and extending to 
907m2.  The land is owned by WEDL.  An option was granted 
to APL on 8 April 2019 which has been extended to December 
2022.    

Red  

(DU343266) 

This land houses a Gas Governor House and is shown at 
Appendix 2 as being excluded from the development.  Rights 
and access to the Gas Governor House will to be incorporated 
in the scheme.  

Bright Blue / 
Hatched area 
( 

(unregistered) 

This land extending to 97m2 is unregistered but remains 
subject to a highway dedication agreement dated 14/02/1974 
linked to the development of the Stanley Town Centre bypass.  
It is currently laid out as informal highway verge.   

Hatched Area 

(unregistered) 

This land lies to the east and west of the site, within the 
proposed development boundary and extends to 1001m2 
(including the bright blue area as well)  It is a mix of unadopted 
highway and informal highway verge.  

Development Site History 

29 The Dark Green and Dark Blue sites have individually and as a 
combination of the two, been marketed and had planning permission on 
various occasions as per the table below.  Further details are not 
known. 

Planning Proposal Permission Date 

Drive thru restaurant (Class A3) 17.06.1998 

Food supermarket  0.2.06.2000 

Erection of six dwellings 06.07.2007 

Application to extend the time limit for 
implementation of the erection of six 
dwellings from previous planning 
application 1/2007/0498 

29.09.2010 

Two storey fast food restaurant  28.02.2012 

Page 988



30 In 2018 the Dark Green site, owned by the Council was marketed 
alongside the Dark Blue site owned by the adjacent landowner WEDL, 
which led to number of bids being received including one from APL. 

31 Initially, WEDL did not wish to proceed with any of the bids, so the site 
was held in abeyance.  In due course APL managed to negotiate with 
WEDL and now hold an option in respect of WEDL’s Land.  This option 
is in place until December 2022. 

32 APL then approached the Council to acquire / option the Dark Green 
land in early 2019. 

33 After due diligence, APL advised that additional land, which had not 
been included in the marketing exercise, was required to create a 
development envelope.  This comprises the orange, light blue and light 
green land in the Council’s ownership.  This is required to enable 
development of sufficient number of units and associated car parking. 

34 In addition, further land, not in the Council’s ownership, is required to 
make the development envelope.  This land is unregistered and is 
shown hatched in Appendix 3. 

35 The Council’s Land has been optioned to APL until December 2022 
(“the Council’s Option Agreement”).  The Council’s Option Agreement 
also includes an obligation for the Council to transfer the CPO Land to 
APL in the event the CPO is confirmed. 

36 Given the overall regeneration aspirations and emerging delivery 
strategy within Stanley, the Council entered into a dialogue with APL 
following the marketing exercise, to consider various options which may 
prove effective in creating the required site area. 

37 It is unlikely that the Council would achieve any meaningful 
development on its residual land holdings in isolation. 

38 The only scheme available to the Council, which is satisfactory to the 
adjoining landowner WEDL, is that being proposed by APL. 

39 The Council is comfortable that the full land envelope is required for 
APL’s development, as it relates to the quantum of land required to 
achieve pre-let needs and planning requirements. 

Options 

40 The options available to the Council are either agree to make a CPO or 
refuse to make a CPO. 

  

Page 989



Main implications 

41 If a CPO is to be made, the relevant power to make such an order is 
contained in section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.  This provides that a local authority shall, on being authorised to 
do so by the Secretary of State, compulsorily acquire any land in their 
area if the authority thinks that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying 
out of development, re-development or improvement on or in relation to 
the land and that it is likely to contribute to the promotion or 
improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of 
their area. 

42 In order to make a CPO, the Council must be satisfied that there is a 
compelling case in the public interest in favour of compulsorily acquiring 
the CPO Land which would justify the interference with the private rights 
of any person with a legal interest in the CPO Land and that there are 
no other impediments to delivery of the scheme. 

43 It is not a trivial matter for a council to compulsorily acquire land.  CPO 
powers should only be exercised as a last resort and where there is a 
clear justification for doing so.  The Council must be satisfied that there 
is a compelling case in the public interest which justifies depriving the 
landowners of their interest in the CPO Land. 

44 Compulsory acquisition of land also has Human Rights implications 
which must be carefully considered.  The following articles of the 
European Convention on Human Rights are considered to be relevant. 

45 Article 6 entitles those affected by the powers sought in the Order to a 
fair and public hearing by an independent and impartial tribunal. 

46 Article 8 protects the right of the individual to respect for his private and 
family life, his home and his correspondence.  A public authority cannot 
interfere with these interests unless such interference is in accordance 
with the law and is necessary in the interests of, inter alia, national 
security, public safety or the economic wellbeing of the country. 

47 Article 1 of the First Protocol protects the right of everyone to peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions.  No one can be deprived of their 
possessions except in the public interest and subject to the relevant 
national and international laws.  As with Article 8, any interference with 
possessions must be proportionate and in determining whether a 
particular measure is proportionate a fair balance must be struck 
between the public benefit sought and the interference with the rights in 
question. 

48 The CPO has the potential to infringe the human rights of persons with 
an interest in the CPO Land. 

Page 990



49 The scheme has been designed to minimise interference with the 
peaceful enjoyment of a person's possessions under article 1 of the 
First Protocol of the Human Rights Act under which no one is to be 
deprived of their possessions except in the public interest.  Any 
interference with the right has to be provided for by law and strike a fair 
balance between the public interest and the protection of the rights of 
the individual.  The Council is satisfied that the land proposed to be 
compulsorily acquired is limited to the minimum required to result in a 
viable regeneration scheme.  The Council believes that the regeneration 
of the Development Site is clearly in the public interest and that this 
outweighs the harm caused by the use of compulsory purchase powers 
to acquire the CPO Land for the scheme.  It is not considered that there 
would be any unlawful interference with any person’s human rights 
under Article 8. 

50 In addition, the Council has a statutory duty under Section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 when exercising its functions, to have regard to the 
need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimization and any 
other conduct that is prohibited under the Equality Act 2010; (b) 
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and (c) foster 
good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

51 The Council has considered its public sector equality duty and it is not 
considered that any factors have been identified which would mean that 
it would be inappropriate for the Council to proceed with the making of 
the CPO from an Equalities perspective. 

52 In order to establish a compelling case in the public interest, one of the 
first things which needs to be established is whether the making of a 
compulsory purchase order in respect of the CPO Land would facilitate 
the carrying out of development, re-development or improvement on or 
in relation to the CPO Land and that it is likely to contribute to the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental 
well-being of their area. 

53 The Council is satisfied that APL is committed to delivering the 
development of the Development Site (including the CPO Land).  In this 
regard, APL has obtained full planning permission to develop the 
Development Site.  There are therefore no impediments from a planning 
perspective to the delivery of the scheme. 

54 In addition, the Council has assessed the pre-let agreements which 
demonstrate occupier demand and commitment to the units to be 
provided by the development in this location.  Further due diligence has 
confirmed the developers have the necessary funds in place to deliver 
the development scheme, and the Council has agreed to  fund the 

Page 991



administrative costs of the CPO process together with any land 
acquisition or compensatory costs arising following confirmation of the 
CPO.  The compensation payable has been assessed as likely to be a 
maximum of £50,000.  However, it is considered that the £100,000 
receipt from the sale of the Council’s Land and the CPO Land should be 
ringfenced against such compensation claims, to provide a sufficient 
contingency fund. 

55 It is noted that such actions are considered value for money in creating 
uplift in the receipt attributable the Council’s existing land holding in 
Agnes Street. 

56 Council officers are satisfied that there is sufficient investment and 
commitment to the development from APL.  The only significant 
impediment to delivery is likely to be the required acquisition of the CPO 
Land. 

57 Having established that the only impediment to delivery of the Scheme 
is the purchase of the CPO Land, it is necessary to consider whether 
there is any suitable alternative land upon which the proposed 
development could be located.  In this regard, APL has undertaken a 
sequential assessment of development sites across Stanley to ascertain 
if these could facilitate the development scheme as proposed.  These 
sites have been assessed in terms of their, availability, suitability and 
viability. 

58 Under this assessment, 14 sites or properties across the town were 
identified and excluded through their size and inability to accommodate 
the scheme.  A further four sites were the subject of more detailed 
considerations due to their potential development footprint.  However, 
this highlighted deliverability issues, principally not meeting the visibility 
and accessibility required by the end users. 

59 Officers have assessed APL’s sequential assessment and are satisfied 
that there are no other available suitable or developable sites within or 
adjacent to the town centre.  In addition, officers have considered 
whether the scheme would be deliverable without making a CPO.  
Other options including claiming adverse possession of the eastern 
parcel of the CPO Land and seeking a highway declaration on the land 
in unknown ownership on Agnes Street have been considered.  These 
alternative options have been dismissed as not achieving sufficient title 
guarantees to meet the requirements of the proposed retail operators 
for the site.  Officers are satisfied that these alternative options would 
be extremely unlikely to result in the delivery of the regeneration 
scheme. 

  

Page 992



60 Having established that: 

(a) the making of a compulsory purchase order in respect of the CPO 
Land would facilitate the carrying out of development, re-
development or improvement on or in relation to the CPO Land,  

(b) there are no deliverable suitable alternative sites within the 
locality upon where the development could be located, 

(c) no other option but a CPO is likely to result in the delivery of the 
regeneration scheme and  

(d) there are no impediments from a financial, planning or other 
perspective to the delivery of the scheme.  

it is necessary to consider whether there is a compelling case in the 
public interest for making the CPO. 

61 Officers are satisfied that the proposed development fits the Council’s 
regeneration aims set out in the Stanley Masterplan and the approved 
strategy for the Regeneration of the County’s Towns and Villages.  
Officers are also satisfied that significant efforts have been undertaken 
to identify any person with an interest in the CPO Land.  Both the 
Council and APL have examined land registry information, spoken with 
adjacent owners and neighbours and those with the benefit of historical 
covenants, but have not been able to trace any person with an interest 
in the CPO Land. 

62 APL has achieved planning permission for the site at considerable 
expense and achieved formalised pre-let and agreed build specification 
agreements with two national quality fast food outlets.  These 
agreements demonstrate the benefits to be secured from the proposed 
development which include 65 net new job opportunities created upon 
completion of the scheme alongside 21 full time equivalent construction 
jobs and indirect support to a further 31 jobs through the development 
phase.  APL has also optioned all other land required outside that in 
unknown ownership.  None-land ownership potential rights over the 
land are to be dealt with by the APL.  These could include current 
established access rights via Agnes Street and existing utility services 
within the land. 

63 If Cabinet authorises the making of a CPO in respect of the CPO Land, 
there are a number of formal documents which must be drawn up in 
support of the CPO (in addition to the Order itself).  These documents 
are the Order Map and the Statement of Reasons.  These documents 
are attached to this report at Appendix 4 and Appendix 6. 

64 In addition, it should be noted that the Council will receive a receipt for 
its land parcels under option from APL. 

Page 993



65 The key factors to consider in relation agreeing the principle of taking 
forward a CPO are: 

(a) the Development Site is considered to be undevelopable without 
securing freehold ownership of the CPO Land; 

(b) a viable development site is likely to only be achieved through 
inclusion of the WEDL Land.  An option between APL and WEDL 
has been entered into in respect of the WEDL Land and is the 
first time a “deal” has been agreed with WEDL; 

(c) APL has recently secured planning permission to develop the 
Development Site; 

(d) achieving development of this site is very much in line with the 
emerging Strategy for the County’s Towns and Villages and the 
Stanley Masterplan; 

(e) the land assembly options outlined in this report detail the 
reasoning as to why a CPO is the only way to satisfactorily deal 
with the unregistered land, in order to bring forward the proposed 
development, 

(f) in the event that the Council decides not to make a CPO, re-
development of the Council’s Land is unlikely to be possible. 

66 APL has submitted an application to stop up highway rights over the 
CPO Land pursuant to section 247 of the Town and Country Act 1990.  
The application is progressing with one standard objection having been 
submitted by Northern Gas Networks to the stopping up order.  It is not 
considered that this is likely to represent an impediment to the delivery 
of the scheme, as it is considered that the standard objection is capable 
of being resolved through negotiation between Northern Gas Networks 
and APL. 

Conclusion 

67 The Development Site has been vacant for a number of years and is 
situated on a gateway site in Stanley. 

68 It is very unlikely that without securing ownership of the CPO Land that 
any development would come forward. 

69 The other conditions associated with the development such as securing 
the site in known ownership by way of option, and securing a critical 
level of pre-lets have been achieved, and should the CPO be confirmed 
and possession of the subject land obtained, then conditions on pre-lets 
and options become unconditional.  Therefore, there is no reason to 
believe the scheme will not come forward. 

Page 994



70 There is budgetary provision for the making of the CPO and any inquiry 
as a result of such. 

71 Compensatory and land acquisition matters will be underwritten by the 
Council.  It should be noted that if required, such monies will need to be 
held on account, pending any claims for compensation coming forward. 

72 The scheme will bring forward the appropriate redevelopment of the 
area, and generate 65 jobs, and provide required local retail and food 
amenities.  Officers are satisfied that confirmation of a CPO in respect 
of the CPO Land will facilitate the carrying out of development, re-
development or improvement on or in relation to the Development Site.  
It is therefore considered that making a CPO is justified as being 
compelling justification in the public interest and that the making of a 
CPO will clearly improve the economic well-being of the area. 

73 Having established that there is a compelling case in the public interest, 
it is considered that having regard to Human Rights considerations, the 
public interest in delivering the scheme through the making of the CPO 
outweighs the private interests of any person with an interest in the 
CPO Land.  In addition, there are no identified issues from an Equalities 
perspective. 

Background papers 

• None. 

Other useful documents 

• Map of the land (Draft) 

• Documentation submitted by the APL  

• Statement of Case (Draft)  

• Schedule of land (Draft)  

• Stanley masterplan 2012  

Author(s) 

Susan Robinson Tel: 03000 267332 

Helen Lynch Tel:  03000 269732 

Stuart Timmiss Tel: 03000 267334 

  

Page 995



Appendix 1: Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council must determine whether or not to exercise its powers to 

compulsorily purchase the CPO Land on behalf of and in order to facilitate the 

development of the Development Site.  The full implications of this decision 

are outlined within the body of this report.  The report recommends the making 

of a CPO and the delegation of ancillary powers the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services to take such other actions as are necessary to obtain the 

transfer of the CPO Land to the developer. 

Finance 

There will be a cost to the Council in making a CPO.  Such costs are, as yet, 

unquantifiable but are likely to be significant.  There is budgetary provision 

from within the Towns and Villages project to support the costs of a CPO 

Inquiry if required.  It should be noted that the Council will receive a receipt for 

its land holdings once APL’s option on the land is exercised.  In addition, it 

should be noted that the Council will need to pay any land acquisition and 

compensation costs, arising in the event the CPO is confirmed, and any 

person comes forward to successfully claim a legal interest in the CPO Land.  

Required funding could be needed to be held on account.  The compensation 

figure has been considered to be a maximum of £50,000, but the full £100,000 

receipt should be ringfenced against such claims.  This is to offset the risk of 

such compensations being determined by lands tribunal. 

Consultation 

Local Ward Councillors Cllrs Charlton and Cllr Milburn and Cabinet Portfolio 

Holder for Economic Regeneration are supportive of the proposals contained 

in this report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None identified.  The issues relating to Human Rights and PSED are set out 

within the body of the report. 

Climate Change 

Making a CPO is unlikely to have any negative impact upon climate change.  

Matters relating to the subsequent development are dealt with via the planning 

permission. 

Human Rights 

Human rights implications are set out within the report. 

Page 996



Crime and Disorder 

None identified. 

Staffing 

There will be implications on staff capacity, as County Council officers will be 

required to spend a significant amount of time on this project should the 

Council resolve to make the CPO. 

Accommodation 

None identified. 

Risk 

None identified. 

Procurement 

None identified. 

 

Page 997



This page is intentionally left blank



Church

Shelter

Catholic (VA)

7

Primary School

ROYAL ROAD

(PH)

Christ

Hibernian
Club

11

The

5

1

Church

13a

3

St Joseph's
RC Church

7

8

Shelter

21

St Andrews Mews

49

4

Terrace
JOICEY GARDENS

THORNEYHOLME TERRACE

Presby

Hotel

House

St Joseph's

The Royal

LB

3

2

1

St Joseph's Roman

El Sub Sta

15
31

214.9m

9

3 to
 7

1
Of

fic
e

1
2

Re
gis

tra
r's

1 t
o 1

8

31

St Andrews Institute

50217.3m

Benton

AGNES STREET

215.8m

St Josephs Court

11

JOICEY GARDENS

1
7

AMY HARHOFF
REGENERATION, ECONOMY AND
GROWTH
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
TEL 03000 260 000
CORPORATE PROPERTY AND LAND

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

Based Upon O.S Map: NZ1953.  Date: 10/02/2021.
UPRN : n/a

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

STANLEY, AGNES STREET - APPENDIX 2.

Total Area Coloured Red: 3189.17 m², 0.788 Acres or thereabouts.
Plan Ref: ARC-21-041. Paper Size: A4.  Scale:  1:1,250

Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055W

´

0 60 12030 Metres
Page 999



This page is intentionally left blank



Benton

AGNES STREET

215.8m

4

Terrace
DU313012

DU227842

DU243218
DU312039

DU312924

DU343266

75m2

16m2

97m2

284m2

907m2
454m2

547m2

832m2

74m2

AMY HARHOFF
REGENERATION, ECONOMY AND
GROWTH
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
TEL 03000 260 000
CORPORATE PROPERTY AND LAND

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

Based Upon O.S Map: NZ1953.  Date: 23/07/2020.
UPRN : DIS00149

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

Stanley, Agnes Street
Plan Ref: ARC-20-237. Paper Size: A4.  Scale:  1:500

Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055W

´

0 25 5012.5 Metres

Note:
- Area to be aquired under CPO.

- Dedicated Highway land, area totals 97 sqm or thereabouts 
 & is included in CPO area calculation.

Appendix 3

Page 1001



This page is intentionally left blank



House

St Joseph's

The Royal

LB

3

2

1

St Joseph's Roman

El Sub Sta

15
31

214.9m

9

3 to
 7

1
Of

fic
e

1
2

Re
gis

tra
r's

1 t
o 1

8

31

St Andrews Institute

50217.3m

Benton

AGNES STREET

215.8m

St Josephs Court

11

JOICEY GARDENS

1
7

Church

Shelter

Catholic (VA)

7

Primary School

ROYAL ROAD

(PH)

Christ

Hibernian
Club

11

The

5

1

Church

13a

3

St Joseph's
RC Church

7

8

Shelter

21

St Andrews Mews

49

4

Terrace
JOICEY GARDENS

THORNEYHOLME TERRACE

Presby

Hotel

AMY HARHOFF
REGENERATION, ECONOMY AND
GROWTH
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
TEL 03000 260 000
CORPORATE PROPERTY AND LAND

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

Based Upon O.S Map: NZ1953.  Date: 01/02/2021.
! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

Map referred to in the County Council of Durham
(Agnes Street, Stanley) Compulsary Purchase Order 2021.
Total Area Coloured Red 1002 m², 0.248 Acres or thereabouts

Plan Ref: ARC-21-014. Paper Size: A4.  Scale:  1:1,250

Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055W

¯

0 60 12030 Metres

Appendix 5

Page 1003



This page is intentionally left blank



THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF DURHAM (AGNES STREET STANLEY) COMPULSORY 
PURCHASE ORDER 2021 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 

ACQUISITION OF LAND ACT 1981 

The County Council of Durham (in this Order called “the Acquiring Authority”) makes the following 

order: 

1 

Subject to the provisions of this order, the acquiring authority is under section 226(1)(a) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 hereby authorised to purchase the land described in 

paragraph 2 for the purposes of the development, re-development or improvement of that land 

by the erection of three retail units. 

2 

The land authorised to be purchased compulsorily under this order is the land described in the 

Schedule and delineated and shown edged in red on a map prepared in duplicate, sealed with 

the common seal of the acquiring authority and marked “Map referred to in the County Council 

of Durham (Agnes Street Stanley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2021.” 

  

Page 1005



SCHEDULE 

Table 1 

               

  Extent, description and 

situation of the land 

Qualifying persons under section 12(2)(a) of the 

Acquisition of Land Act 1981—name and address 

(3)  

  

   

 

Owners or 

reputed 

owners 

Lessees or 

reputed 

lessees 

Tenants or 

reputed 

tenants 

(other than 

lessees)  

Occupiers   

  1. All freehold and 

leasehold 

interests in 454 

square metres of 

land to the east 

of Benton 

Terrace, Stanley  

 Unknown Unknown Unknown  

 

  

 2.  All freehold and 

leasehold 

interests in 547 

square metres of 

land to the west 

of the 

unclassified road 

known as 

Thorneyholme 

Terrace North, 

the A693 

roundabout and 

the A6076, 

Stanley 

Unknown Unknown Unknown   

   

 
      

Page 1006

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/enhRunRemoteLink.do?linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23sect%2512%25num%251981_67a%25section%2512%25&A=0.19801089227289903&backKey=20_T3256106&service=citation&ersKey=23_T3256112&langcountry=GB


 

             

  

 

Page 1007



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF DURHAM (AGNES STREET STANLEY) 
COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2021 

 
 

STATEMENT OF REASONS  
  

Page 1009



STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR MAKING THE COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1  This is the Statement of Reasons of the County Council of Durham (the "Acquiring 

Authority") for making the County Council of Durham (Agnes Street Stanley) 

Compulsory Purchase Order 2020 (the "Order"). The Order proposes to acquire 

the three parcels of land shown edged in red on the plan attached to this Statement 

of Reasons at Appendix 1 (“the Order Land”). 

1.2  In preparing this statement, the Acquiring Authority has endeavoured to provide 

sufficient information so that its reasons for making the Order can be properly 

understood. The Acquiring Authority has prepared this statement pursuant to and 

in accordance with the “Guidance on Compulsory purchase process and The 

Crichel Down Rules” issued by The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government in July 2019. 

1.3  This Statement of Reasons:  
 

1.  Identifies the powers under which the Order is made (Section 2);  

2.  Sets out the background to the Order (Section 3);  

3.  Provides a general description of the "Scheme" (Section 4)  

4.  Sets out the Acquiring Authority’s reasons and justification for making the 

Order (Section 5); 

5.  Sets out the alternatives to the scheme that have been considered (Section 

6); 

6. Describes current negotiations with landowners (Section 7);  

7. Describes the current planning position (Section 8);  

8. Sets out how the Scheme is to be financed (Section 9);  

9.  Deals with Human Rights and Equalities issues (Section 10); 

10. Sets out the arrangements for the inspection of documents (Section 11); 

and  

11. Sets out contact details for further information (Section 12).  

 

Page 1010



2. POWERS UNDER WHICH THE ORDER IS MADE  

 

2.1  The Order is made under section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (the "1990 Act"). The powers in the 1990 Act enable the Acquiring Authority 

to acquire land compulsorily if; 

(i) the Acquiring Authority considers that the acquisition will facilitate the 

development, re-development or improvement on or in relation to the land 

and  

(ii) that this is likely to contribute towards the promotion or improvement of 

the economic, social or environmental well-being of its area.   

3. BACKGROUND TO THE ORDER  

3.1 Development of land on the site known as Agnes Street has been a long-term 

aspiration for the Acquiring Authority. The Agnes Street site was first identified in 

the Stanley Masterplan, approved by the Acquiring Authority’s Cabinet in March 

2012 and updated in November 2016, as a site that requires improvement, due to 

its negative impact on the locality. The site is visible from the main A693 road 

through Stanley and is currently vacant and derelict. The site is made up of land 

owned by the Acquiring Authority, land owned by Whitehall Executive 

Developments Limited (“WEDL”) and land in unknown ownership. 

3.2 Agnes Street would appear to have originally led to a Gas Riser. When the Stanley 

Town Centre bypass was built the road was truncated. Some of the former route is 

within the land owned by the Acquiring Authority.  The remnants of Agnes Street 

are mainly in unknown ownership except for some land owned by the Acquiring 

Authority to the north of Agnes Street 

3.3 The Acquiring Authority acquired its land holdings in this area for works in 

conjunction with the Stanley Town Centre Bypass scheme, in the early 1970s.  

Since the original acquisition of the land by the Acquiring Authority  its character 

has materially changed  with the demolition of  buildings and creation of elements 

of highway infrastructure.  

3.4  In an attempt to bring forward the regeneration of the Agnes Street site, the land 

owned by the Acquiring Authority was marketed alongside the land owned by 

WEDL. After marketing WEDL agreed to option their land to an interested party; 

Almscliffe Property (Agnes St) Limited (“APL”). The Acquiring Authority has also 

entered into an option agreement with APL in respect of its land. The option 

Page 1011



agreement between the Acquiring Authority and APL also includes that part of the 

Agnes Street site which is in unknown ownership (subject to the condition that this 

land is successfully acquired pursuant to a compulsory purchase order). The 

respective landownership areas are shown on the plan attached to this Statement 

of Reasons at Appendix 2 and the land owned by the Acquiring Authority, WEDL 

and that land in unknown ownership (i.e. the Order Land) are referred to within this 

Statement of Reasons as “ the Development Site”.   

3.5 Pursuant to a planning application submitted by APL, planning permission was 

granted in July 2020 for the erection of 3 retail units including 1 drive through unit 

with associated landscaping, parking and access on the Development Site.    

3.6  In order to facilitate the economic regeneration of the area, the Acquiring Authority 

proposes to acquire the 1001 sq m of Order Land at Agnes Street which is currently 

undeveloped and used as informal highway verge and unadopted highway to 

facilitate the redevelopment of the site being that part of the Development Site 

which is unregistered and in unknown ownership. 

4.  GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHEME  

4.1 The Order Land is located to the north east of Stanley town centre and adjacent to 

the A6076 and is considered to be an edge of centre site given it’s within 300m of 

the defined town centre boundary. The site has been vacant for over 20 years with 

its last known use being a bus storage depot. 

4.4 The wider Development Site (including the Order Land) is currently undeveloped 

except for a Gas regulator located to the eastern side of the Development Site.  

The site is adjacent to a residential care home (Benton Terrace) to the west as well 

as St Joseph’s Catholic Primary School. The Grade II listed Roman Catholic 

Church of St Joseph is located to the south west of the site. To the north of the 

site, on the opposite side of the A6076 is a Co-operative store and Stanley Town 

Centre is to the south west.  The development site is accessible via public 

transport, car, foot and bicycle. The main bus station in Stanley is also 450 m 

distant from the site 

4.5  The proposed development of the Development Site will comprise three single 

storey retail units in Class A1/A3/A5 use (“the Proposed Development”). In terms 

of layout, the site will be accessed from the west, off Agnes Street which will lead 

into the main parking area. Units 1 and 2 will be located to the north of the site, 

Page 1012



providing an active frontage onto the A6076 whilst Unit 3, the drive-thru will be 

located to the south of the site. 

5.  REASONS FOR MAKING THE ORDER  

5.1 The Acquiring Authority considers that it is necessary to make a CPO in this case, 

as despite repeated attempts, it has not been possible to ascertain the identity of 

any person or body with any legal interest in the Order Land. The Acquiring 

Authority has searched paper records, Land Registry data and contacted the 

previous adjacent owners, the Gas Board and other parties with the benefit of 

restricted covenants over other parts of the Development Site.  In addition, APL,  

as part of the planning process issued site and press notices and no parties came 

forward identifying themselves as having any legal interest in the Order Land. 

5.2 The Acquiring Authority has carefully considered whether all of the Order Land is 

required for the provision of the three consented retail units and is satisfied that this 

is the case. The land sought to be compulsorily acquired is limited to the two 

identified parcels which are necessary to achieve the quantum of vehicular parking 

for the scheme and to facilitate safe access egress and circulation between the 

retail units. 

5.3 Alternatives to the making of a CPO are considered below but the Acquiring 

Authority is satisfied that there are no suitable alternatives to the scheme and that 

there are no impediments from a financial, planning or any other delivery 

perspective. The Acquiring Authority has taken into account the benefits to be 

secured from the proposed development which include 65 net new job 

opportunities created upon completion of the scheme alongside 21 full time 

equivalent construction jobs and indirect support to a further 31 jobs through 

the development phase. The Acquiring Authority is therefore satisfied that the 

making of a CPO will meet the requirements of section 226(1)(a) and 226(1A) of 

the 1990 Act by improving the economic well-being of the area.  

5.4  Having carefully considered all relevant factors, the Acquiring Authority considers 

that there is an overriding public interest in making a compulsory purchase order 

in respect of the Order Land to facilitate the effective development of the 

Development Site.  

 

 

Page 1013



6.  ALTERNATIVES TO THE SCHEME  

6.1  In order to justify the making of a compulsory purchase order, the Acquiring 

Authority must be satisfied that there are no alternatives available to the scheme. 

6.2 APL’s requirements for the Development Site require sufficient units to be provided 

to make the scheme viable, which in turn require sufficient area for the 

development and parking.  

6.3 The site requirements in relation to the Proposed Development are as follows: 

i. A minimum site size of 0.3ha (+/- 10% for robustness and flexibility) capable 

of accommodating three buildings comprising a combined floorspace of 

449sqm (GEA), with appropriate car parking and circulation space;  

ii. Capable of accommodating 40 proposed car parking spaces (+/- 10% for 

robustness and flexibility); and  

iii. Located within Stanley. 

6.4 Based on these criteria, fourteen Stanley Town Centre/edge of centre sites have 

been identified and discounted as they are below the minimum site size threshold. 

6.5 A further four sites were identified within the town centre which in size terms could 

feasibly accommodate the proposed scheme. These sites have also been 

dismissed largely on the grounds of lack of vehicular access or circulation for the 

proposed drive through unit. 

6.6 Within the Development Site, various configurations of unit and a reduction in the 

number of proposed units have been considered. The scheme as proposed 

maximised the available site in delivering vehicular access and parking to support 

the three proposed units. A scheme based upon two units only is considered to be 

unviable and would still require access across the unregistered and unadopted 

parcel of land at Agnes Street. 

6.7 Stanley benefits from having a regionally significant dual carriageway road network 

within proximity to its centre, and as such is able to command “roadside” uses 

adjacent to its town centre. There have been consistent levels of enquiries for these 

“roadside” uses, but there has generally been a low-level demand for town centre 

retail units in the area, despite the road networks proximity to the Town Centre. 

The Agnes Street site is well located in proximity to the road network and 

development would form a gateway to the north of the town. 

Page 1014



6.8 With good proximity to the town centre and Stanley Bus Station the employment 

opportunities associated with the development are well located and considered to 

be accessible to local residents 

6.9 Officers have considered the information submitted by APL and are satisfied that  

the development proposed is the minimum necessary to secure a viable scheme 

and that there are no suitable alternative sites upon which the Proposed 

Development could be located.  

6.10 In addition, officers have considered whether the scheme would be deliverable 

without making a CPO. Other options, including claiming adverse possession of 

the eastern parcel of the CPO Land  and seeking a highway declaration on the land 

in unknown ownership on Agnes Street have been considered.  These alternative 

options have been dismissed as not achieving sufficient title guarantees to meet 

the requirements of the proposed retail operators for the site. Officers are satisfied 

that these alternative options would be extremely unlikely to result in the delivery 

of the regeneration scheme.  

6.11  It is therefore felt in regeneration terms that development of the Development Site 

will not only help the general economy of Stanley, but also direct future demand 

towards the town centre. The Acquiring Authority is satisfied that there is a 

significant demand for retail development of the type proposed within Stanley and 

that there are no suitable alternatives both in terms of whether the Proposed 

Development could be located elsewhere and in terms of whether there are any 

alternatives to making a CPO in respect of the CPO Land. 

7.  NEGOTIATIONS WITH LANDOWNERS  

7.1 In respect of the Order Land, the Acquiring Authority and APL have individually 

and collectively searched land registry information, undertaken investigations with 

parties such as neighbouring landowners, the Gas Board, and those with  the 

benefit of restricted covenants over the wider Development Site to try and identify 

any parties with interest in the CPO land, but without any success. Site notices and 

press notices were also issued as part of the planning application process and no 

person has been identified with any legal interest in the Order Land. 

7.2 In terms of the other parts of the Development Site, the land owned by WEDL has 

been secured  by APL by way of an option agreement until December 2022 and 

Page 1015



the Acquiring Authority has entered into an option agreement with APL in respect 

of that part of the Development Site which is within its ownership.  

7.3 The option agreement between APL and the Acquiring Authority also includes the 

Order Land (subject to successful confirmation of the CPO).  

8. THE PLANNING POSITION  

8.1 the proposed retail scheme comprising of the erection of three retail units, including 

one  drive-thru (Class A1, A3 and A5 use) with associated landscaping, parking 

and access, benefits from full planning consent granted on 1 July 2020. All impacts 

of the proposed development were considered as part of the planning application 

process and the development was judged to be acceptable. 

8.2 Having secured full planning consent there are no impediments to implementing 

this scheme from a planning perspective.  

9.  FINANCE OF THE SCHEME  

9.1 The Acquiring Authority has agreed to fund the CPO process as part of its 

commitment to the regeneration of Stanley. Sufficient budgetary provision has 

been ringfenced by the Acquiring Authority to fund the cost of making the CPO, 

any public inquiry and any compensation or land acquisition costs which might 

arise. A Compulsory Purchase Order Conduct Agreement is in place between the 

Acquiring Authority and APL to  formalise responsibilities and confirm all aspects 

of progressing the Compulsory Purchase process. 

9.2 The development will either be self-funded by the developer or through disposal to 

an investor once the scheme has de-risked the site acquisition through the 

exercising of the CPO. Officers have assessed the Proposed Development and 

are satisfied that it is a financially viable scheme. APL has secured pre-lets with 

two tenants and has secured an option agreement over the Development Site and 

is in negotiations with a third tenant. The Acquiring Authority is therefore satisfied 

that the scheme is likely to be delivered and that there are no financial impediments 

to delivery of the scheme.  

10.  HUMAN RIGHTS AND EQUALITIES 

10.1  The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporated into domestic law the European 

Convention on Human Rights ('the Convention') .The Convention includes 

Page 1016



provisions in the form of Articles, the aim of which is to protect the rights of the 

individual.  

10.2 The following articles of the Convention are relevant to the determination as to 

whether the Order should be confirmed:  

10.3 Article 6 entitles those affected by the powers sought in the Order to a fair and 

public hearing by an independent and impartial tribunal.  

10.4 Article 8 protects the right of the individual to respect for his private and family life, 

his home and his correspondence. A public authority cannot interfere with these 

interests unless such interference is in accordance with the law and is necessary 

in the interests of, inter alia, national security, public safety or the economic 

wellbeing of the country.  

10.5 Article 1 of the First Protocol protects the right of everyone to peaceful enjoyment 

of possessions. No one can be deprived of their possessions except in the public 

interest and subject to the relevant national and international laws. As with Article 

8, any interference with possessions must be proportionate and in determining 

whether a particular measure is proportionate a fair balance must be struck 

between the public benefit sought and the interference with the rights in question.  

10.6 The Order has the potential to infringe the human rights of persons with an interest 

in the Order Land.  

10.7 The Scheme has been designed to minimise interference with the peaceful 

enjoyment of a person's possessions under article 1 of the First Protocol of the 

Human Rights Act under which no one is to be deprived of their possessions except 

in the public interest. Any interference with the right has to be provided for by law 

and strike a fair balance between the public interest and the protection of the rights 

of the individual. The Acquiring Authority is satisfied that the land proposed to be 

compulsorily acquired is limited to the minimum required to result in a viable 

regeneration scheme. The Acquiring Authority believes that the regeneration of the 

Development Site is clearly in the public interest and that this outweighs the harm 

caused by the use of compulsory purchase powers to acquire the CPO land for the 

scheme. It is not considered that there would be any unlawful interference with any 

person’s human rights under Article 8.  

10.8 In processing the Order the Acquiring Authority will comply with all relevant 

legislation and regulations which provide an opportunity for those affected to object 

Page 1017



to the Orders and have their representations considered at a public inquiry. It is not 

considered that there would be any unlawful interference with any person’s human 

rights under Article 6. 

10.9 The Acquiring Authority has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

when exercising its functions to have regard to the need to (a) eliminate 

discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other condition that is prohibited 

under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  and (c) foster 

good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it.  Protected characteristics include age, disability, sex, 

race and religion. 

10.10 The Acquiring Authority is not aware of any circumstances which would suggest 

that the making of a CPO would have any effect on any persons with a protected 

characteristic for the purposes of the Act.   

10.11 Having considered all the factors in this matter, the Acquiring Authority has 

considered its public sector equality duty in respect of this matter, and it is 

considered that the exercise of the Acquiring Authority’s powers under s.226(1)(a) 

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) would not breach the 

Council’s public sector equality duty.   

10.12 In conclusion, it is not considered that there are any issues relating to Human 

Rights or Equalities which would prevent the CPO from progressing. However, this 

issue will be kept under review. 

11.  INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS  

11.1  The following documents are available for public inspection during normal office 

hours at:  

i. Reception, County Hall, Durham, DH1 5UL:  

 

11.2  The documents are:  

 

i.  the Order and accompanying plan; and 

ii. this Statement of Reasons;  

11.3  The documents can also be viewed on the County Council's website at 

www.durham.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 1018

http://www.durham.gov.uk/


12.  CONTACT DETAILS FOR FURTHER INFORMATION  

 

12.1 Interested parties affected by the Order who wish to discuss matters with the 

Council should contact Clare Cuskin by one of the following means:  

 

i. by telephone on 03000 269723  

ii. by e-mail to clare.cuskin@durham.gov.uk;  

iii. by post to Durham County Council, Legal and Democratic Services,    

County Hall, Durham, DH1 5UL marked for the attention of Clare Cuskin. 

Page 1019



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 Cabinet 

 17 March 2021 

 Towns and Villages Place Shaping - 

Approach to Regeneration of Buildings 

and Land  

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Housing and Assets 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 Significant transformation is taking place across our towns and villages 
through an enhanced approach to regeneration.  As an integrated 
approach to place-based regeneration, Towns and Villages has 
identified a conservative estimated investment programme of more than 
£750 million.  As part of Towns and Villages Investment Plan, agreed by 
Cabinet in February 2021, there is a commitment to address vacant 
buildings and, where possible, bring them back into a viable use. 

2 To ensure this priority is addressed, the purpose of the report is to set 
out the existing powers and arrangements which are in place to tackle 
the many buildings which can cause a blight on an area. 

Executive summary 

3 Given the pace of change in our Towns and Villages, it is essential that 
vitality and growth is maintained in our local communities and 
improvements are targeted in locations where land or buildings are 
having a detrimental impact on our communities and are of cause for 
significant concern.  The locality of these buildings suggests that this is 

Page 1021

Agenda Item 14



especially apparent in our most disadvantaged communities where 
private sector intervention is unwilling or market failure is apparent. 

4 In line with established priorities, the Council is committed to driving 
forward a consistent approach to dealing with empty properties and 
derelict land to ensure that their economic and social potential can be 
unlocked as a driver for regeneration ensuring a sustainable, long term 
future for these buildings and land.  This report highlights the proactive 
approach across the county as a means of transforming our Towns and 
Villages and improving the quality of life of residents within those 
communities. 

5 Following the agreement of the Towns and Villages Strategy in October 
2020, engagement with communities took place through a series of 
AAP events.  Feedback from all 14 AAPs identified the need to tackle 
vulnerable and often vacant buildings.  Utilising the economic potential 
of vulnerable buildings and enabling opportunities for redevelopment 
and investment can increase community and social value by addressing 
issues of anti-social behaviour and by creating an attractive appearance 
and safe local environment. 

6 A series of pilot projects have already taken place and has resulted in 
the successful demolition or repurposing of a range of properties.  Such 
pilots have included in buildings in Seaham and Sacriston which have 
resulted in significant improvements in the built environment.  In 
addition, recent work undertaken across the County has identified the 
scale of the empty home challenge and the demands for smaller scale 
local residential development opportunities.  Addressing long term 
empty properties in communities most effected by them is a key 
outcome identified by the Housing Strategy and sets out the Council’s 
involvement in a range of activities to bring empty properties back into 
use. 

Recommendation(s) 

7 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the contents of this report and acknowledge the success of 
the pilot initiatives undertaken to date; 

(b) endorse the approaches set out in the report to bring empty 
properties back into use, which support the priorities within the 
Council’s Town and Villages Strategy; 

(c) agree a commitment to disadvantaged areas that require 
enhanced intervention through the Empty Property Protocol in line 
with the Housing Strategy and Towns and Villages.  

Page 1022



Background 

8 The county's dispersed settlement pattern of towns and villages is a 
legacy of the rise and fall of the mining, steel and other heavy 
industries.  This has left us with a built environment which reflects this 
industrial past with settlements experiencing low demand, resulting high 
vacancy rates and buildings which no longer serve the needs and 
aspirations of their communities.  Despite their attractive setting, many 
of the county’s settlements suffer from high levels of deprivation, 
compounded by a range of accessibility and infrastructure issues.  The 
scale and speed of reductions in funding in recent years has hit the 
most deprived areas hardest.  Despite dealing with enormous financial 
pressures including austerity and the loss of the regional funding 
streams, the Council continues to prioritise economic development and 
regeneration of the county to support our communities. 

9 Cuts to public sector budgets and the loss of Regional Development 
Agencies have meant there is less regeneration investment available.  
The 2008 banking crisis also hit the county hard as banks and investors 
sought to limit their financial risks and maximise returns, therefore our 
most disadvantaged communities have seen limited private investment. 

10 As a consequence of this and the growth of the Internet and e-
commerce, many of our town and village centres have suffered from the 
loss of shops, banks, pubs, and public services.  This has led to an 
increase in vacant buildings which have increasingly deteriorated in 
condition and some buildings have become a target for anti-social 
behaviour thus blighting those areas.  Many of these buildings have not 
been able to secure a viable and sustainable solution and in the 
absence of national funding programmes for community based renewal, 
it is therefore for the Council to intervene in order to resolve the 
associated issues faced by our communities. 

11 Towns and Villages are a long-standing priority of the Council.  In the 
context of the impact of the economic recession induced by the 
restrictions required due to the Covid-19 pandemic, our towns and 
villages face increased challenges.  This significant boost to investment 
across the county will provide vital stimulus to support our towns and 
villages to revive and recover. 

12 As highlighted within Towns and Villages Cabinet report (February 
2021), the need to tackle vulnerable and often vacant buildings was 
raised by the public during consultation with the AAPs.  By utilising the 
economic potential of vulnerable buildings and enabling opportunities 
for redevelopment and investment, this can also increase community 
and social value by addressing issues of anti-social behaviour whilst 
creating a more attractive appearance and safer local environment.  

Page 1023



Tackling such buildings will support our communities and improve their 
resilience as part of wider economic recovery efforts. 

13 Business rates data indicates that there are around 1,500 vacant 
commercial properties across the county as at January 2020.  
Commercial buildings can become vacant for a variety of reasons and 
can often occur in town centre locations.  These buildings provide 
challenges in terms of their detrimental appearance in our towns and 
villages but can also present opportunities in terms of the ability to bring 
them back into a long-term economic use.  In some circumstances they 
can also provide the potential to acquire them as part of the assembly of 
larger sites which can be attractive to private investment. 

14 Records indicate that there are approximately 10,500 residential 
properties that are empty (6,400 of which have been empty for 6 
months or more).  Empty homes are an inevitable part of churn in a 
functioning housing market such as they are for sale or to let or awaiting 
renovation.  However, there is a concern when homes have been empty 
for a long time, as they are not contributing to meeting housing needs, 
may have fallen into disrepair, may be unsightly and may cause 
neighbourhood nuisances as well as present a target for anti-social 
behaviour.  A large proportion of these properties tend to be 
concentrated in disadvantaged areas, where the housing market is 
weak and demand is low. 

15 The quality of the local environment is at the heart of the way that 
people experience where they live and where businesses invest.  
Vacant buildings and derelict and underused land can have a negative 
impact on our towns and villages by attracting anti-social behaviour, fly 
tipping, becoming overgrown or simply unsightly.  This can be at the 
detriment to the quality of life of our people and a barrier to private 
investment. 

16 There are significant benefits to bringing vacant buildings and sites back 
into use.  This can enable prosperity in our towns and villages through 
utilising their economic potential, allowing for opportunities for 
redevelopment and investment, ensuring community and social value 
by addressing issues of anti-social behaviour and, by creating an 
attractive appearance and safe local environment. 

Vacant Commercial Properties and Underused Land 

17 There are a range of mechanisms which are available to the Council in 
order to support businesses and owners bring empty commercial 
properties back into a positive use.  These can include specialist officer 
advice, links to relevant Partner organisations and financial support 
through relevant business loans and grants.  However, there are some 

Page 1024



circumstances where the Council is left with no further option but to 
utilise its enforcement powers and as a last resort the Council can opt to 
use its powers under Compulsory Purchase Orders.  When a problem 
building is first identified to the Council, a series of steps is first 
undertaken which in turn informs the level of intervention necessary.  
These include: 

Identification 

18 The identification of vacant buildings and vacant sites can come about 
from a variety of sources.  This could include through planning 
enforcement, complaints from the public, from potential investors, 
businesses, county councillors or from our other partners such as 
Durham Constabulary.  An online reporting system is being developed 
to ensure that there is an easily accessible means for the public to 
report such buildings and thus ensuring a consistent approach.   
Property and land that is of concern to residents can also be reported 
via townsandvillages@durham.gov.uk.  

Establish 

19 It is necessary to collect as much information about the buildings or land 
as possible to inform the prioritisation and to establish the potential for a 
satisfactory outcome.  This enables officers to understand the state and 
condition of the building and also helps to determine any likely 
challenges to the successful repurposing of the building or land.  This is 
important at an early stage as this helps identify future end uses or 
issues to be overcome.  Such information can include any planning or 
environmental constraints, for example flood risk. 

20 Opportunities to bring commercial buildings back into use will be driven 
by a number of key considerations including: the location of the building; 
the condition of the building; ownership and market demand for an 
alternative use. 

21 In determining any future opportunity for repurposing the building or 
land, it is imperative that the market demand and the future viability of 
the resulting end-use is fully understood.  In some instances, 
conversion will not be appropriate, structurally possible or financially 
sound and demolition may be the most appropriate solution.  In such 
circumstances, a temporary end-use may need to be considered such 
as grassed areas until a viable longer-term solution can be secured. 

Engage / Educate 

22 The appointment of a case officer will enable the successful 
engagement with the property owner or landowner.  This enables one 
consistent point of contact and opens up discussions to identify whether 

Page 1025

mailto:townsandvillages@durham.gov.uk


there are barriers to bringing the building or land back into use.  Any 
opportunities for support will be discussed at an early stage. 

23 The case officer will assemble a multi-disciplinary project team to 
enable the identification of key deliverables.  The project team will be 
assembled on the basis of individual property or site circumstances.  In 
some situation it will be necessary to include Partner or other external 
organisations. 

Encourage 

24 In many instances, support can be provided by the Council to determine 
an end use for the building or site.  The case officer will work alongside 
the property or landowner to signpost to any further support or external 
funding opportunities or loans.  A collaborative approach across the 
Council and other organisations can maximise the effectiveness of 
interventions, reduce blight and develop solutions for building which 
have reached the end of their viable or physical existence. 

25 There are some proven support packages to encourage property 
owners to take positive actions with regards to commercial properties.  
The Targeted Business Improvement Grant Scheme is aimed at 
improving the overall environmental quality of an area and commercial 
vitality.  The scheme offers businesses up to 70% of external 
improvement costs up to £20,000, although this is discretionary and 
larger / multiple premises could be offered more.  The scheme supports 
anything from new start-up businesses to major developers.  From April 
2019 to February 2020, 12 schemes have been completed on vacant 
properties and a further 6 schemes are currently undergoing works. 

26 The Property Reuse Loan Scheme is a new venture and to be 
integrated as a wider programme of works.  The scheme seeks to 
support poor commercial building stock that contributes to an area’s 
decline in order to encourage diversification of use.  It is an interest free 
loan scheme to support the purchase or works to a building.  Loans of 
up to £50,000 are available to be paid back within 10 years.  Once the 
loan payments are repaid, this is then reused to support further 
properties. 

Enforce 

27 The intention is that there will be a successful resolution to any problem 
building or site without the need for any formal action.  There will 
however be some instances where formal powers will need to be 
actioned in order to enable a satisfactory outcome.  There are a number 
of tools available to officers to tackle such issues such as through the 
provision of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  This can be 

Page 1026



used in situations where the amenity of the area is adversely affected 
by the condition of a vacant site, there is a justifiable public complaint 
and a lack of confidence that the owner will resolve the problem 
satisfactorily.  Enforcement powers can be used effectively on a wide 
range of sites including large vacant industrial sites, town centre 
frontages, rural sites, derelict buildings and semi complete 
development. 

28 Other enforcement powers include those under the Building Act 1984, 
sections 77 & 78 and Environmental Protection Act 1990.  These can be 
used where a building or structure is considered to be dangerous or 
dilapidated or causing a statutory nuisance or premises which can affect 
health.  In these circumstances, the Council can order an owner to 
make a property safe or allow the Council to take emergency action to 
make it safe. 

29 Under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, if a 
local authority is satisfied that a building is unoccupied and the owner is 
temporarily absent, the local authority can take steps to secure that 
building against unauthorised entry or to prevent that building from 
becoming a danger to public health. 

30 Compulsory Purchase Orders are an important tool to use as a means 
of assembling land needed to deliver social, environmental and 
economic change and, used properly, can contribute towards effective 
and efficient regeneration, essential infrastructure, the revitalisation of 
communities and the promotion of business.  Compulsory purchase is 
intended as a last resort, however negotiations can be ongoing in 
parallel.  Compulsory purchase must only be made where there is a 
compelling case in the public interest.  A guide to the use Compulsory 
Purchase Powers is provided in Appendix 2. 

Empty Homes 

31 In July 2019, Cabinet adopted the Housing Strategy which sets out 
housing issues across the county and provides a strategic framework to 
inform actions and investment to result in positive outcomes for housing 
related themes across the county.  Addressing long term empty 
properties in communities most effected by them is a key outcome 
identified by the Housing Strategy and sets out the Council’s 
involvement in a range of activities to bring empty properties back into 
use.  In this context, Targeted Delivery Plans (TDPs) are an integral 
part of the County Durham Housing Strategy and relate to maintaining 
and improving the existing housing stock and the wider housing 
environment.  TDPs have been developed as an approach to deliver an 
intensive, focused and coordinated programme of activities by the 
Council and its partners in areas most in need across the county.  

Page 1027



Amongst other things, as part of the delivery of the TDPs, the Council 
will work to bring empty homes back into use wherever possible. 

32 The approach to Empty Homes complements the approach of Selective 
Licensing.  The aim is to raise the standard and quality of housing 
available in the Private Rented Sector and introduces quality standards 
to be met by landlords.  Both approaches seek to achieve the same 
housing and community outcomes. 

33 The Housing Strategy also identifies the potential to bring empty non-
residential properties into use as residential properties.  The Council 
has four approaches for addressing empty properties that mirror the 
themes identified above: 

Identification 

34 There is also an online web form that can be utilised by anyone wishing 
to report an empty property, particularly where there is the potential for 
concern: http://www.durham.gov.uk/emptyhomes.  Empty property data 
is also recorded by the Council for the purposes of council tax and is 
shared regularly with the Empty Homes team for the purposes of 
establishing property owners and to help identify where there are large 
concentrations of empty homes. 

Establish 

35 In some cases, confirming who owns the empty property is straight 
forward, however this is not always the case.  The Empty Homes Team 
will seek to identify ownership via various means including through 
council tax data; electoral register; the land registry; utility companies; 
paper advertisement and enquiries with neighbouring occupiers.  If 
property owners cannot be traced and attempts have been exhausted, 
or the property is subject to a deceased estate with no living blood 
relatives, then proactive enforcement action will need to be taken. 

36 Once ownership is established, the Empty Homes Team will work 
proactively with the owner(s) providing advice and practical support to 
assist and negotiate to bring properties back into use through property 
inspections, project management of refurbishment, financial assistance 
and support with selling / renting the property. 

Engage / Educate 

37 The appointment of case officers will enable the successful engagement 
with the property owner or landowner.  This enables one consistent 
point of contact and opens up discussions to identify whether there are 
barriers to bringing the building or land back into use.  Any opportunities 
for support can be discussed at an early stage.  In complex cases the 

Page 1028

http://www.durham.gov.uk/emptyhomes


case officer will assemble a multi-disciplinary project team to enable the 
identification of key deliverables. 

38 There are many deceased estates across the County which require 
intervention.  In these instances, the team works to establish links with 
family members and the next of kin to identify long term solutions for 
any property which has been left behind by a deceased owner. 

39 If property owners cannot be traced and attempts have been exhausted, 
then proactive enforcement action will need to be considered.  In 
situations where there is no family member of a deceased estate found, 
Bona Vacantia will become involved with properties. 

Encourage 

40 In many instances, support can be provided by the Council to bring an 
empty property back into use.  The Empty Homes Loan is designed to 
provide financial assistance in order to help the owners of long-term 
empty homes (in council tax band A or B) to bring them back into use.  
It offers an interest free loan of up to £15,000 subject to qualification 
and conditions. 

41 In addition to the above, the Financial Assistance Policy also makes 
provision for the Empty Homes Move in Grant, this product is designed 
to encourage the purchase of long term empty properties (in council tax 
band A or B) for owner occupation and is a grant of £2,500 subject to 
qualification. 

Enforce 

42 The Empty Homes team analyses and monitors notifications of empty 
buildings and categorise them as long term/short 
terms/exemptions/social properties and deceased estates using a 
matrix which ensures a consistent approach for prioritisation.  The 
matrix is used to determine the level of intervention required and 
enables a benchmark for consistency.  Where necessary, details of 
empty properties of concern will be shared with partner organisations as 
part of our data sharing arrangements. 

43 A range of information, advice and practical support is provided to assist 
in returning property back into use.  The approach will follow 
established principles of engagement, education and encouragement.  
However, there are many properties where all reasonable negotiations 
have failed, or the property is subject to a deceased estate, where 
proactive enforcement action is required such as through an Enforced 
Sale Procedure; Empty Dwelling Management Order; Compulsory 
Purchase Orders. 

Page 1029



44 To progress any of the above enforcement powers, statutory notice 
under other legislation must be served and contravened in the first 
instance, therefore long-term enforcement to bring a property back into 
use requires a corporate approach. 

Empty Property Protocol 

45 The processes identified above are also supplemented by a Partnership 
approach to considering empty properties through the Empty Properties 
Joint Working Protocol.  This is routed in wider partnership working 
linked to our Multi-Agency Problem Solving Groups (MAPs). 

46 The purpose of this protocol is to establish a framework for joint working 
between the Council, Durham Constabulary (DC) and the County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service (CDDFRS) in tackling 
issues associated with empty properties, particular incidents of 
antisocial behaviour, arson, fire risk and nuisance behaviour. 

47 This partnership protocol sets out how problem properties will be 
tackled and focuses our powers and approach as detailed in Appendix 
3.  There is an opportunity through this Protocol to provide an escalated 
and enhanced response for certain high-risk areas in need of 
intervention.  This will be data driven and it is proposed that more 
scoping work is done to identify these areas across the County which 
links into the Towns and Villages and Targeted Delivery Plan evidence 
base and County Durham Together. 

Prioritisation of action 

48 An integrated approach to tackling empty properties as part of 
comprehensive regeneration opportunities will be actively explored as a 
means of achieving wider improvements.  This will be delivered through 
a programme of targeted investment that focus on areas of local 
concern. 

49 To ensure a consistent approach to prioritising resources, a series of 
considerations will be taken to consider the following issues: 

(a) whether active marketing is on-going to establish an alternative 
use; 

(b) whether there is any debt which has been acquired against the 
property or site; 

(c) any reports or known social issues such as reports of crime, anti-
social behaviour or arson, linked to the Empty Property Protocol; 

Page 1030



(d) the condition of the building or land, including security and 
whether there are any environmental health issues such as the 
presence of vermin; 

(e) whether the disrepair is affecting / damaging adjacent properties; 
and 

(f) the location and whether there are any potential regeneration 
opportunities and / or links to any other on-going programmes of 
works. 

Pilot Projects 

50 The Council has successfully undertaken positive action on a site in 
Seaham after the owners of the property failed to comply with legal 
notices requiring them to carry out the work.  The owners were issued 
with a notice in August 2018 to remove and cease storage of vehicles at 
the back of the building; demolish the buildings and remove all waste; 
and leave the site free from rubble and other materials.  It followed 
concerns about the condition of the building, which is in a conservation 
area.  The owners failed to comply and following legal action, the 
building has been demolished and the site cleared.  Future 
opportunities for the site are now being explored. 

51 Significant progress has been made in recent years in returning long 
term empty homes back into use.  Since 2014/15 over 1,200 properties 
have been brought back into use through a number of methods 
including proactive work in areas where there are ongoing efforts by 
other Council services and external partners aimed at improving 
communities and the immediate environment.  The majority of 
properties have been brought back into use through a combination of 
negotiation and financial assistance.  The latter utilises the Council’s 
Financial Assistance Policy (FAP) to provide grants and loans to owners 
of empty properties in Council Tax bands A and B with a view of leading 
to increased sustainability in areas suffering with low demand. 

Feedback Loop and Communication 

52 To ensure that the potential of these buildings can be unlocked as a 
driver for change in our towns and villages, it is necessary that a 
consistent approach is developed to deal with these issues.  The 
prioritisation of the identified buildings and sites will be reported through 
the governance arrangements established through the Towns and 
Villages Programme.  Any key messages will be delivered in a timely 
and consistent manner and local Members will receive regular feedback 
regarding on-going prioritisation in their areas. 

  

Page 1031



Conclusion 

53 There are significant benefits to bringing vacant buildings and sites back 
into use whether they be vacant commercial buildings, derelict land or 
empty homes.  This can enable prosperity in our towns and villages 
through utilising their economic potential, allowing for opportunities for 
redevelopment and investment, ensuring community and social value 
by addressing issues of anti-social behaviour and by creating an 
attractive appearance and safe local environment. 

54 This report highlights the powers that we have as a Council and how we 
are working through the alignment of services and with key partner 
organisations to Identify, Engage, Educate and if necessary, Enforce, to 
overcome issues with vacant buildings and derelict land.  Where all 
alternatives have been exhausted, it may be necessary to utilise 
enforcement powers and explore the use of Compulsory Purchase 
Powers including the use of Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) in 
priority situations.  This needs to be managed appropriately and 
prioritised as this process is time consuming and needs to be seen as a 
last resort after other avenues have been explored.  A more detailed 
guide to the CPO process is contained in Appendix 2 of the report. 

Background papers 

• Cabinet Report, Towns and Villages Strategy, October 2020 

• Cabinet Report, Towns and Villages Investment Plan, February 

2021 

• Durham County Council’s Housing Strategy, July 2019 

Author(s) 

Susan Robinson Tel: 03000 267332 

Michelle Robinson 

Andrew Megginson 

  

Page 1032



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This report highlights a range of initiatives which the Council has the legal 

powers to tackle.  Legal officers will be involved to advise on the formal steps 

which will need to be taken in order to action the initiatives. 

Finance 

The proposals represent an additional demand on capital directed towards 

town and village regeneration.  The proposals as identified seek to maintain 

the town centre capital programme at its current level while widening work to 

include support for further regeneration in towns and villages aligned to local 

priorities. 

Consultation 

No identified implications at this stage.  Individual project consultations to be 

undertaken in line with established processes. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council acknowledges that, in exercising its functions, it has a legal duty 

under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  This 

duty applies to all people defined as having protected characteristics under 

that legislation. 

Climate Change 

No implications identified. 

Human Rights 

The Council will need to ensure when exercising any of its legal powers that 
human rights implications are considered.  There are a number of powers 
which, if exercised, have the potential to interfere with human rights.  Any 
implications of any works to properties, legal restrictions on the use of 
properties, enforced sales or compulsory purchase (etc) will be considered in 
detail in the context of specific proposals. 

Crime and Disorder 

The prioritisation of intervention will consider any reports or known issues 
including crime.  Where necessary, liaison will be had with Durham 
Constabulary. 

Page 1033



Staffing 

The current delivery of town centre regeneration activity is undertaken by 
established teams in liaising with colleagues across the Council.  The scale 
and scope of the proposals identified will have staffing implications in terms of 
both programme and project management. 

Accommodation 

No implications identified. 

Risk 

Individual projects will have risks assessed and managed as part of project 
management processes. 

Procurement 

No implications identified. 

 

Page 1034



 

 

Appendix 2 

             

 

  

 

A Guide to Compulsory Purchase Powers 

Executive summary 

1 Compulsory Purchase Powers are a recognised tool to help acquiring 
authorities achieve social, environmental and economic change to 
improve the quality of life of communities. 

2 The Council is an ‘authorised body’ granted powers to acquire land 
compulsorily to carry out a function which is in the public interest.  

3 The law and procedures relating to compulsory purchase are complex 
and the use of such powers interfering with the rights of landowners / 
occupiers must be managed carefully. As a result local authorities are 
often reluctant to use compulsory powers. 

4 However, used correctly compulsory purchase powers can be used for 
a wide range of purposes offering wide ranging opportunities to deliver 
improvements.  

5 By understanding the complexities of compulsory purchase and the 
correct procedures, the Council will be able to more strategically 
consider if the use of these powers could help facilitate or act as a 
catalyst for the delivery of specific projects such as through 
regeneration, revitalisation of communities, the promotion of business 
and protection of historic assets.    

6 Preparing and submitting a compulsory purchase order for approval is 
very process driven, and the statutory requirements and prescribed 
procedures must be adhered to and met. It is not a process that the 
Council will routinely undertake for all problem buildings and they can 
take time to complete.  

 

  

 

Page 1035



 

 

Background 

7 A constant element of the Council’s work in recent years has been in 
supporting the improvement and regeneration of the county’s towns and 
villages and addressing issues of local concern. The initial Town and 
Villages strategy, approved by Cabinet in December 2018, set out a 
series of guiding principles for town and village regeneration. Of 
particular relevance to the potential to use compulsory purchase powers 
are:  

• Targeted work to address empty and/or poor quality and wrongly 
configured property through support, conversion, acquisition and 
assembly. This may lead to demolition of problem local buildings.  

8 Many of the challenges identified in the Town and Villages strategy 
relate to retail and the high street, a challenge that will now be even 
greater going forward as a result of the impact of COVID 19 pandemic. 
The 2018 report identified various ways in which the Council can 
achieve greater impact in addressing these and other more diverse 
issues, including specific reference to using compulsory purchase 
powers:  

• Utilising the capital programme, disposals and CPO powers 
where appropriate to bring forward new development proposals 
or to address local regeneration opportunities  

• Targeting empty properties, particularly residential properties to 
seek to bring such properties back into productive use  

9 Within the five key themes of the Towns and Villages Strategy, specific 
references are made to supporting the accelerated delivery of the 
County Durham Housing Strategy. The Housing Strategy contains a 
series of 'key messages' including working with communities most 
affected by long term empty properties and working with property 
owners and landlords with the aim of bringing empty properties back 
into use wherever possible. The key themes of the Towns and Villages 
Strategy also promote finding innovative solutions to underused / 
derelict land and buildings to drive and support regeneration activities 
within towns and villages. 

10 Some local authorities routinely implement compulsory purchase 
procedures to encourage active engagement with property owners of 
empty or derelict land and buildings to enable them to achieve 
successful outcomes. Whilst initially this may necessitate resource to 
develop skills and processes, it can be used as another tool to deliver 
strategic objectives in respect of individual buildings as well as larger 
scale projects.   

Page 1036



 

 

 

11 Delivering against various strategic programmes and priorities requires 
a long term commitment in terms of land acquisition, partnership 
working, capital investment. Land and property negotiations by 
agreement are notoriously protracted and time consuming, particularly if 
the landowners are reluctant to engage. This can stall or completely 
stifle schemes or regeneration opportunities if terms cannot be agreed 
within a reasonable timescale.  

12 Whilst the use of compulsory purchase powers is not always 
appropriate and is the route of last resort, it can be expedient and 
prudent to plan a compulsory purchase timetable and initiate formal 
procedures whilst negotiations are still ongoing rather than waiting for 
them to break down completely. 

13 This twin tracking approach provides a clear signal to landowners and 
those affected that the Council is serious and committed to a scheme, 
which may encourage more meaningful negotiations. It also helps 
provide a focus to limit ‘open ended’ negotiations which can often be 
protracted over many years without a positive result.          

14 Many authorities take this approach and the purpose of this report is to 
ensure that appropriate consideration is given to the potential to utilise 
compulsory purchase powers as part of the planning and development 
of strategic schemes to help bring improvement projects to fruition.  

What are compulsory purchase powers?  

15 Simplistically, compulsory purchase powers are a legal function allowing 
public bodies on which they are conferred to acquire an interest in land 
if the landowner is not willing to sell. As a local authority, the Council 
has compulsory purchase powers.   

16 A compulsory purchase order (CPO) will be granted if all legal and 
procedural requirements are fully met. Each CPO must be for a specific 
purpose which presents as a compelling case in the public interest and 
each purpose must be granted by the power of what is referred to as an 
enabling Act of Parliament with the approval of the specified 
government minister.  

When can the Council use compulsory purchase powers? 

17 The use of compulsory purchase powers is not always appropriate, and 
a CPO will not be approved by the confirming government minister if 
he/she is not satisfied that all statutory procedures have been followed 
correctly or that the project is in the public interest. The Council needs 

Page 1037



 

 

to consider the appropriateness of using compulsory purchase powers 
for each individual project.  

18 A CPO should only be made where there is a compelling case in the 
public interest. The use of compulsory purchase powers is a sensitive 
and emotive issue and may well be challenged and objected to. The 
Council must be sure that the purposes for which it is making the CPO 
can justify interfering with the rights of people with an interest in the land 
affected.  

19 The Council may be required to defend the proposal so will need to 
prepare a thorough and robust justification. As part of the justification, 
the Council will have to show that it has a clear plan for the use of the 
land (supported by any planning policies), and that it has appropriate 
resources in place to undertake the project. This includes identifying 
sources and timing of funding. There is a lot of preliminary work 
involved in preparing for a CPO, so it should only be considered as a 
tool to help deliver projects that the Council is committed to in all 
respects.  

20 Compulsory purchase powers should be used where it is expedient to 
do so.  However, they should only be used as a last resort and the 
Council will be required to comprehensively demonstrate that it has 
taken all reasonable steps to acquire the interests in the land by 
agreement first. This is an important principle, not only in terms of land 
negotiations but also in terms of ensuring that appropriate and 
prescribed procedures have been followed to try and get empty homes, 
derelict or at-risk properties back into use (see 30).  

21 However, negotiations can become (sometimes deliberately) very 
protracted and projects often stall completely. It is well recognised that  
valuable time can be lost if the compulsory purchase procedure is not 
started until negotiations formally break down. As such, it is accepted 
practice for acquiring authorities to take a twin track approach as a 
contingency measure and initiate compulsory purchase procedures 
during the course of negotiations.   

22 The Council should consider when land is required for each project and 
if there is a real likelihood that the land or interests will not be acquired 
by agreement to the detriment of the scheme, it should plan the 
compulsory purchase timetable as part of the project development and 
initiate formal procedures accordingly.   

23 Whilst acquisitions by agreement are to be preferred, the ability and 
willingness of the Council to use compulsory purchase powers makes 
clear the Council’s intent and commitment to a scheme which may be 

Page 1038



 

 

sufficient to encourage reluctant landowners to enter meaningful 
negotiations.   

What can the Council use compulsory purchase powers for? 

24 The Council can use compulsory purchase powers for a wide range of 
purposes using a large number of acts of Parliament referred to as 
‘enabling powers’. The purpose for which the Council wants to acquire 
the land will determine the enabling power which it must use to seek the 
CPO.   

25 It is essential to use the most specific enabling power for the purpose 
proposed as use of the wrong power could result in a delay in the 
process or at worst the CPO application being rejected. There are some 
general enabling powers, but these should only be used where a 
specific power is not available. Specialist advice should be sought to 
identify which enabling power should be used and to ensure all specific 
legislative and procedural requirements are met.   

26 The following paragraphs outline some of the more common purposes 
for which the Council is likely to want to use compulsory purchase 
powers and for which there are enabling powers. It is not intended to be 
comprehensive and cover every situation. Specialist advice should be 
sought to determine if compulsory purchase powers can be used in 
other specific situations.   

Wider planning objectives  

27 The Council may need to use compulsory purchase powers to help 
assemble land where this is necessary to implement proposals in the 
County Durham Plan. This is most likely to involve assembling land for 
regeneration through the provision of new retail, employment, leisure 
and housing for larger scale schemes. It could also however acquire 
individual properties which are detrimentally impacting on an area which 
could be regenerated to provide affordable housing, improve the 
appearance of the surrounding area or reduce anti-social behaviour.  

28 If the Council proposes to use compulsory powers for these purposes, it 
is essential that any programme of land assembly is set within a clear 
strategic framework and that the development, re-development or 
improvement is likely to contribute to the achievement of the promotion 
or improvement of the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of 
the area.  

Housing  

Page 1039



 

 

29 The Council may need to use compulsory purchase powers to help 
assemble land for the provision or improvement of housing and ancillary 
development (whether by itself or someone else).  

30 It may also want to use compulsory purchase powers to help bring 
empty properties into housing use and improve substandard or 
defective properties. In these cases, as the use of compulsory purchase 
powers is a route of last resort, the Council must have tried all other 
avenues before making a CPO.  

31 In respect of empty or underused properties, the use of compulsory 
purchase powers will only be appropriate where there appears to be no 
other prospect of a property being brought back into residential use or 
full occupation, or where the owner cannot be traced.  

32 In respect of properties where the owner has failed to maintain or bring 
it to an acceptable standard, the use of compulsory purchase powers 
will only be appropriate where other statutory measures (eg the service 
of statutory notices) have not achieved the provision of acceptable 
housing accommodation. There are limitations in respect of owner 
occupied housing but compulsory purchase powers could be used 
where the defects in the property adversely affect other housing 
accommodation. 

33 In all cases, the Council will have to demonstrate what steps it has 
taken to encourage the owner to bring it into acceptable use and the 
outcome, and what works have been carried out by the owner towards 
its reuse for housing purposes. However, making it clear that as well as 
taking formal enforcement action the Council is prepared to use 
compulsory purchase powers as part of its standard process to bring 
properties back in to use may help bring about the desired outcomes.   

Highways 

34 The Council may need to use compulsory purchase powers to help 
acquire land compulsorily to construct or improve highways. This is 
most likely to involve the construction of new lengths of highway, 
improvement of an existing highway, construction of new ancillary roads 
to connect the new road with the existing highway system, the provision 
of car parking and means of entry/exit and new rights over land for 
various purposes such as drainage.  

35 The use of compulsory purchase powers for highway projects is 
probably the most common application.   

 

 

Page 1040



 

 

Listed buildings 

36 The Council may need to use compulsory purchase powers to acquire a 
listed building in need of repair and long-term preservation. However, a 
CPO will only receive ministerial approval in exceptional circumstances, 
and the Council would have to be confident that the building would be 
better off in its or in the ownership of somebody else that the Council 
intends to hand it to.  

37 As in other situations, the use of compulsory purchase powers are a 
route of last resort and the Council would first have to have to go 
through all possible actions and serve statutory notices for repair and 
urgent works as appropriate.   

Schools 

38 The Council may need to use compulsory purchase powers to help 
acquire land which is required for the purposes of its educational 
functions. This is most likely to involve needing land for a new school or 
to enable proposals to accommodate changes in school provision 
including alterations to an existing maintained school.   

Countryside Improvement 

39 In certain circumstance, there may be the potential for the Council to 
use compulsory purchase powers to acquire land to improve its 
appearance or condition. This is most likely to involve the planting of 
trees to preserve or enhance the natural beauty of the land or to carry 
out works to reclaim, improve or bring back into use land in the area that 
the Council believes to be derelict, neglected or unsightly. This is not a 
commonly used power and there is an element of subjectivity in 
interpreting the enabling power, but the powers cannot be used solely 
because the Council believes it can provide a better use than the 
present one. 

Other Acquisitions 

40 The compulsory purchase process requires the use of specific enabling 
powers to reflect the specific purpose for which the Council wants to 
acquire the property. However, there may be occasions when the 
Council can use general enabling powers. This is usually when the 
Council has specific statutory powers to acquire land for a statutory 
purpose by agreement (such as for public conveniences, cemeteries 
and refuse disposal sites), but that specific power doesn’t include the 
power of using compulsory purchase powers. In such situations, the 
Council can use general powers to enable them to acquire the land 
compulsorily for defined statutory purposes.  

Page 1041



 

 

Can anyone else initiate a compulsory purchase procedure that will 
affect the Council?  

41 There may be occasions when the Council receives requests from third 
parties to use their compulsory purchase powers on their behalf. This 
could include voluntary and community organisations or local bodies 
such as lower tier councils or commercial groupings like Business 
Improvement District bodies.   

42 The Council should consider all requests from third parties who put 
forward a scheme for a particular asset which would require compulsory 
purchase to take forward, and provide a formal response. Consideration 
should include consideration of the benefits of the scheme to ensure it is 
in the public interest. It should also consider how the costs of the 
scheme including the compensation and the compulsory purchase order 
process are to be covered, either with by those making the request or 
by the Council. If the Council decides to use compulsory purchase 
powers on behalf of a third party, it will have to produce a robust 
justification in the same way it would as if it had initiated the process 
itself, as set out earlier in this report.  

43 Cabinet has recently approved the Council making a Compulsory 
Purchase Order in respect of the land at Witton Gilbert allotments on 
behalf of Witton Gilbert Parish Council (14 October 2020).  This includes 
the Council taking all ancillary steps necessary in order to secure the 
confirmation of the CPO and purchase of the land. The Council is 
making the CPO on the basis that the land is to be transferred to the 
parish council in the event the order is confirmed and the parish council 
must meet all of the expenses incurred by the county council in making 
the order.  

Costs and timescales 

44 The costs and timescale to successfully seek and implement a CPO will 
vary with each project and be subject to numerous variables, not least 
whether or not there are any objections to the proposal which result in a 
lengthy and complex inquiry or court case.  

45 Preparing and submitting a CPO for approval is very process driven, 
and the statutory requirements and prescribed procedures must be 
adhered to and met. It is not a process that the Council will routinely 
undertake, and experience and knowledge within the Council may be 
limited. As such, the idea of using compulsory purchase powers can be 
daunting and is often discounted as being too complex and costly. 
However, much of the detail required to produce the initial justification 
for a CPO will need to be produced as part of the Council’s own 
business plan development and consideration.  

Page 1042



 

 

46 Any decision by the Council to acquire land and buildings for a strategic 
objective will be subject to robust internal challenge and require 
strategic and financial justification, irrespective of the route of 
acquisition. There will be however be additional resource required to 
comply with the specific requirements of the compulsory purchase 
legislation, prescribed procedures and the format for presentation. 

47 Whilst the Council may not have routine experience of what is involved, 
the recent work undertaken to prepare and submit the CPO for the 
Witton Gilbert allotments will have provided an opportunity for officers 
and members to become more familiar and confident with the 
technicalities of the compulsory purchase procedure.  

48 Costs  

49 Costs can be split between process costs and the costs of the 
acquisition itself. There will be a cost to the County Council in making a 
CPO, over and above the costs of the acquisition of the land or building. 
The process costs will depend to some extent on the type of scheme 
and will need to be assessed a part of the business case development.  

50 However, there may be cases where the Council can be reimbursed all 
costs incurred or enter an indemnity agreement with a third party to 
cover associated costs and transfer this risk. Any such agreement will 
need to be secured through appropriate legal documentation before any 
CPO is made.  

51 This type of reimbursement and indemnity arrangement forms part of 
the current agreement with Witton Gilbert Parish Council where the 
Council is making the CPO on their behalf for the acquisition of an 
allotment site (see para 54).  In that case, as well as reimbursing all 
costs and expenses incurred in making the order, the Parish Council will 
indemnity the Council against any costs incurred in the eventuality that 
a CPO is progressed but is not successful. 

52 Indemnity agreements with developer partners will tend to form part of 
larger more complex land assembly projects where the Council can 
work with developers to use its compulsory purchase powers to enable 
complex regeneration projects to come to fruition. CPO indemnity 
agreements can be very complicated and need to reflect the different 
stages of the process, the resources required for each and how these 
will be borne.  Again, any such agreement will need to be secured 
through appropriate legal documentation before any CPO is made to 
ensure the Council’s interests are appropriately protected.   

53 Timescale 

Page 1043



 

 

54 In terms of timescales, there have been changes in legislation in recent 
years with a view to simplifying and speeding up the compulsory 
purchase process. This was particularly aimed at strategic 
neighbourhood planning but also helps schemes where there are no 
objections when acquiring authorities may now be able to confirm their 
own orders if they are unopposed and certain other criteria are fulfilled.  

55 Even if objections are received, there is the potential to follow the more 
straightforward written representations procedure as a quicker 
alternative to holding a public inquiry, and inspectors are also now able 
to use delegated confirmation to confirm CPOs instead of the Secretary 
of State. All these procedural options give potential to speed up the 
CPO process and enable development to be brought forward more 
quickly. 

56 However, the compulsory purchase procedures are quite prescriptive 
and even if the project is straightforward and uncontentious it must still 
follow a strict programme of activities and stages.   

57 Whilst some stages in a compulsory purchase procedure have defined 
timescales (such as the time required to allow responses to public 
notices, periods of notice to prepare for public inquiry etc), the time 
taken to work through many of the stages will be dependent on 
numerous factors. These include the complexity and contentiousness of 
the project, the number of landholdings involved, the availability of 
required information and the skills and resources available. As such, it is 
not possible to provide a guide timetable as there is no typical CPO.  

58 Simplistically, the process will go through the following process stages, 
all requiring time and resource input. Some of these stages will be 
undertaken sequentially, but some can be undertaken concurrently 
(particularly negotiations and acquisitions): 

• Preparing for and making the CPO – the process whereby the 
Council would consider its support for the CPO and thereafter 
prepare, publish an make the CPO. This is a very resource 
hungry part of the process.  

• Confirmation of the CPO – this may involve the Council but will 
culminate in the CPO being either confirmed, modified or 
rejected. 

• Implementing the CPO - assuming the CPO is confirmed, the 
Council will acquire the land. 

• Compensating – the Council will negotiate and pay 
compensation to interested parties. It should be noted that 
negotiations and acquisitions should be progressing throughout 

Page 1044



 

 

the whole process. The ideal situation is to acquire by 
agreement rather than use a CPO.  

• Miscellaneous matters that may form part of the process, 
depending on the individual CPO. This would include public 
inquiries and Tribunals and responding to issues such a blight. 

Use of compulsory purchase powers as part of the strategic 
process  

59 Whilst the use of compulsory purchase powers is not something the 
Council should enter into lightly and they will certainly not be 
appropriate in many cases, there may be situations where their use 
could provide an expedient, or the only solution to help meet the 
Council’s strategic objectives.  

60 This guide provides a brief summary of the context in which this might 
be the case, but the appropriateness of the use of compulsory purchase 
powers should be considered for each scheme individually. 

61 It is proposed that there should be more formal recognition of the 
potential to use compulsory purchase powers as a tool to deliver 
strategic objectives on smaller as well as larger scale projects, and that 
the Council should routinely consider the potential to use compulsory 
purchase powers in the development of wider corporate initiatives.  

 

Contact: Susan Robinson Tel:  03000 267332 

   

 

Page 1045



This page is intentionally left blank



Version 2.2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TACKLING EMPTY PROPERTIES 

A PRACTICAL GUIDE FOR OFFICERS 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Working Protocol  

April 2018 

Revised 2021 

 

 

 

Page 1047



Version 2.2021 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Understanding the problem with empty properties 

Buildings need appropriate protection at all stages of their life, from construction 
through to eventual demolition. Although empty buildings are always at risk from 
various forms of criminal activity and deterioration, the risks increase if the building 
is left empty for any length of time. 

There are over 6500 long term empty properties within County Durham. Many of 
these properties are empty for valid reasons such as for sale or to let, awaiting 
renovation or subject to probate etc. Some of these properties however have been 
vacant for long periods of time, have fallen into disrepair, may be unsightly and may 
cause neighbourhood nuisance as well as present a target for anti-social behaviour. 

Apart from the loss of rental income and the cost of repairs for property owners, the 
presence of a vandalised building can be detrimental to the neighbourhood, often 
leading to further vacant properties. Areas with high numbers of empty properties 
have higher incidences of crime and disorder and can deter prospective buyers or 
tenants, creating areas of low housing demand. 

The potential danger also posed by empty buildings to intruders, neighbours and the 

wider community must also be taken into account. In particular, children and young 

people are often attracted to empty buildings as an interesting and exciting 

playground and can easily gain access through very small gaps in the fabric of the 

building.  

Arson, deliberate fires, vandalism, graffiti and other anti social behaviour is a 

common feature around empty properties and can present public safety risks, 

neighbourhood nuisance and increases the fear of crime, which generates regular 

reports to the Police, Fire and Rescue Service and Local Authority services to respond 

to and remedy.     

Our collective aim is to ensure that problems associated with empty properties are 
effectively resolved in a timely manner ensuring that risks to public safety are 
minimised and empty properties are effectively managed by their owners.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 1048



Version 2.2021 
 

Why we have created this protocol? 

The purpose of this protocol is to establish a framework for joint working between 
Durham County Council (DCC), Durham Constabulary (DC) and the County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service (CDDFRS) in tackling issues associated with 
empty properties.  

This document is intended to assist all parties in the development of a problem 
solving approach using their relevant powers as well as innovative solutions to 
protect the public and bring empty properties back into use. 

Who is this protocol for?  

This protocol provides practical guidance to Officers working in DCC, CDDFRS and DC 
and other relevant enforcement agencies. 

What is the scope of the protocol? 

This protocol is designed to work alongside existing policy, procedures and 
partnership arrangements.  
 
The scope of this protocol primarily deals with empty properties/buildings both 
residential and commercial. Some of these buildings may be temporarily vacant but 
still seen by their owners as having a viable future, others may be long term empty 
properties where future is less certain.  
 
Whilst it is not possible to highlight every type of situation in detail within this 
document, the guidance presented, if adopted pragmatically, will reduce public 
safety risks, arson and deliberate fires, anti social behaviour, neighbourhood 
nuisance, environmental crime and blight.  
 

SECTION ONE    The regulatory framework and our enforcement approach.   

SECTION TWO    Key roles and responsibilities of each partner organisation; 

SECTION THREE Information and intelligence exchange 

SECTION FOUR     Our empty property intervention strategy.     

SECTION FIVE   Communications, Implementation  
 
 

 

 

Page 1049



Version 2.2021 
 

SECTION ONE  

The Regulatory Framework  
 
The best outcome of any enforcement approach is to ideally bring empty properties 
back into use or demolish the building thereby removing any risks to public safety 
and providing a long term sustainable solution to address community concerns. 
 
There are a wide range of statutory duties and legislative powers available to deal 
with empty properties which focus primarily on removing dangers to public safety, 
preventing unauthorised access and / or removing defects which may be causing 
nuisance within the local neighbourhood.  
 
More recent legislation has also been introduced which seeks to address wider           
anti-social and/or unreasonable behaviour and prevent the crime and disorder that 
is often centred around properties that have been abandoned, neglected and left in 
a ruinous and dilapidated state.  
 
Further detail on the range of enforcement powers we can use to tackle problems 
associated with empty properties can be found in Annex 1  

 
Our enforcement approach  
 
The approach taken by individual enforcement authorities when tackling problems 
associated with empty properties is governed by their respective enforcement 
policies and they must have due regard to the legal process, ensuring that the law is 
enforced in a transparent, proportionate, consistent, fair and helpful manner.   
  
The first step in our enforcement approach is to help prevent contravention of the 
law by raising awareness and promoting good practice. We will provide, advice 
guidance and support to property owners to help them meet their legal obligations 
without unnecessary expense or time and will maintain a focus on prevention rather 
than cure. 
 
There will inevitably be situations where owners refuse to engage or meet their 
responsibilities and as a consequence we will need to escalate our enforcement 
approach. In such cases we will take firm and expedited action against those who 
flout the law or act irresponsibly. 
 
Where owners cannot be traced, formal action may be the only approach available 
to remedy reported problems. 

  

Page 1050



Version 2.2021 
 

 
SECTION TWO  
 
Identifying key roles and responsibilities for each organisation is fundamental to 
effective joint working practice and partners should adhere to the following 
principles:- 

• Accountability – Each organisation must be accountable for its actions by 
ensuring that they adhere to clear and well defined responsibilities. 
 

• Transparency – Each organisation should recognise each other’s responsibility 
and enforcement practices  
 

• Avoid Duplication – Clearly defined roles and responsibilities will ensure that 
there is no duplication of effort and that the most relevant and appropriate 
powers are used to ensure effective use of resources as well as avoid potential 
challenge and enforcement failure. 
 

• Share Information –  Effective channels of communication will be established 
to ensure that intelligence, evidence and actions taken are shared amongst 
partners in accordance with established data sharing arrangements. To 
support these arrangements this document provides  key contact information 
for each partner organisation. 
 

• Consistency - Any departure from the agreed joint working arrangements 
must be exceptional, capable of justification and be fully considered by the 
relevant enforcement authority before taking alternative action.  
 

• Sustainability – Focus on delivering sustainable solutions by effectively and 
efficiently targeting available resources. Costs associated with default works / 
enforcement interventions should be recovered by the relevant service area 
taking the action.   

 

• Outcome focussed – working strategically with partners to achieve better 
regulatory outcomes for local communities.     
 

 

 

 

  

Page 1051



Version 2.2021 
 

Key Roles and Responsibilities  

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Development & Housing  (DH) 
 

Planning & Development (PD) regulation / enforcement responsibilities 
including:- 

• Planning & Development Control / consents and permissions 

• Building control 

• Planning enforcement  

• Demolition of buildings 

• Dangerous structures 
 

Economic Development (ED) 

• Business Support 

• Town Centre Management  

Empty Homes Team(EHT), Private Sector Initiatives, Housing Solutions 

• Lead on the development and delivery of the Council’s Empty Homes 
Strategy 

• Provide advice, support and financial assistance to owners to help bring 
empty homes back into use. 

• Maintain a record of long term empty properties within County Durham  

• Share information and intelligence across partner organisations regarding 
problem properties / empty buildings. 

• Enforced sale, Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) and 
Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) 
 

Community Protection Service (CP)  
Public health & Private Sector Housing enforcement including:- 
 

• Protection of buildings which are not secured against unauthorised entry or 
likely to become a danger to public health  

• Anti-social behaviour and Community Protection   

• Statutory nuisance including accumulations, odour and noise 

• Repairs to private sewers, drainage and sanitary conveniences 

• Removal of noxious matter  

• Filthy or verminous premises 

• Defective premises 

• Ruinous and dilapidated buildings 

• Housing Standards and disrepair of private dwellings 

Page 1052



Version 2.2021 
 

 
Environment Services (ES) 

Neighbourhood Protection enforcement including:- 

• Refuse and Waste Management 

• Pest Control Enforcement  

• Abandoned Vehicles 
 
Corporate Property and Land (CPL) 

• Compulsory purchase / acquisition of land and property  

• Immediate protection of buildings (within 24 hours only) 
 
DCC Revenues and Benefits (R&B) 

• Collection of Council tax and; 

• Long term empty property premium  

• Charging orders / enforced sales orders for unpaid council tax / rates   
 

DURHAM CONSTABULARY (DC) 

Responsible for the prevention, detection and investigation of crime and disorder 
to protect the public and maintain law and order including:-   

• Emergency responder to reports of crime and disorder  

• Safeguarding neighbourhoods 

• Anti social behaviour and community protection  

• Criminal Justice and Public Order (including trespass) 

• Advice and guidance on crime prevention 
 
 
COUNTY DURHAM AND DARLINGTON FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE (CDDFRS)  
 
Responsible for delivering a range of activities to make our communities safer 
and stronger including:- 

• Emergency responder to incidents of fire including extinguishing fires and 
protecting life and property 

• Emergency responder for incidents other than fire 

• Investigate incidents of arson and deliberate fires 

• Promote fire safety  
  

Page 1053



Version 2.2021 
 

 

SECTION THREE  
 
Information and Intelligence Exchange 
 
Data Handling and Processing 
 
Information concerning empty properties is received from a variety of sources and 
may be processed by a number of Council services and partner organisations.  

 
  

As a consequence empty property data is held on a number of different databases 
within individual organisations as well as across the partnership as a whole.  These 
databases have restricted access for non users and are subject to record 
management controls. 
 
The Data Protection Act 2018 and Freedom of Information Act 2000 requires public 
authorities to control the way they handle any information about identifiable 
individuals to ensure that it is obtained, processed and released in a lawful way.  

Under the Data Protection Act 2018 ‘relevant authorities’ such as the police, 
government departments and local authorities with regulatory powers are able to 
request access to personal data without the consent of the data subject for the 
purposes of: 

• The prevention or detection of crime 
• The apprehension or prosecution of offenders 
• The assessment or collection of tax or duty 

 

Empty 
Homes Team  

Civica 

Council 
Tax 

Records 

Planning 

Portal 

CP 

Civica

DC

Police 
Incidents

Env 
Services 
Orcuma

CDDFRS

Fire 
Incidents

DCC 
Asset 

Register 

Econ. 
Dev

Business 

Page 1054



Version 2.2021 
 

It is recognised that information exchange is essential to identify on going concerns 

and promote collaborative working to achieve shared outcomes. A multi-agency 

information sharing agreement exists for the North Region (Nov 2018) to enable 

information to be shared subject to consideration and agreement of a request made 

under Schedule 2 Part 1 Paragraph 2 of the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR 

Article 6 (1) (d). 

All disclosures of information should be appropriately recorded and authorised 

according to each Agencies’ own Data Protection policies. At the very minimum the 

record should indicate: 

 

▪ the purpose of disclosure, 
▪ the lawful basis for disclosure, 
▪ why non-disclosure would prejudice the stated purpose, 
▪ any other restrictions on use of the data. 
 

Information exchanged between authorities/organisations via e-mail shall only take 
place via a secure e-mail service.  

There are four ways that we will exchange information and intelligence:- 
 

1.  Routine information sharing  
 
Empty Property Notifications  

The Empty Homes Team will maintain the central empty property database for all 
commercial and non commercial buildings. To ensure that there is up to date 
information on the location of empty properties particularly where there be 
potential for concern, partners as well as members  of the public can notify the 
Council directly using their web form:- 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/emptyhomes 

The Empty Homes Team analyse and monitor notifications of empty properties and 
categorise them as long term/short term/exemptions/social properties & deceased 
estates.   Empty property data is also recorded by the Council for the purposes of 
Council tax and business rates and is shared with the Empty Homes Team on a 
weekly basis. Relevant details will be recorded on the Civica central database and 
details of problem empty properties will be shared with partner organisations on a 
monthly basis as part of our data sharing arrangements. 
 

 

 

 

Page 1055

https://www.durham.gov.uk/emptyhomes


Version 2.2021 
 

Recording of individual complaints/ incidents/requests for service  

Individual organisations should record on their own databases any reports / requests 
for service concerning an empty property. Where possible records should include:- 

• Address of the property 

• Nature of report / request for service  

• Date of report received 

• Source of report / complainant  

• Any owner details (if known) 

• Action taken / outcome of investigation. 

Information on empty properties will be readily shared between partner 
organisations upon request as part of our routine information sharing arrangements.    
 

2. Emerging and urgent concerns (non-routine)  
 
Emerging or urgent concerns that present a risk to public safety need to be shared 
more quickly than through routine channels.  
 
Given the role and responsibilities of the three partner organisations, it is inevitable 
that there will be different concerns identified by the various teams / organisations 
which may place conflicting demands on services and their priorities.   
 
Whilst every attempt will be made to respond to emerging and urgent concerns as 
soon as possible, it is for each individual organisation to determine the appropriate 
level of response given.  
 

How to make a referral  
 
It is essential when referring emerging and/or urgent concerns to the relevant 
enforcement service that detailed information and evidence is provided at the 
referral stage.  
 
In making the referral the officer will need to decide which key contact should 
receive the referral depending upon the circumstances involved.  
 
Officers should use the assessment form provided in Annex 2 to identify the main 
concerns with the empty property. Upon completion, the total score will give an 
indication of the level of risk involved and provide an indication of the appropriate 
key contact (details found on the reverse of the form) and the level of response that 
may be required.   
 
Please note that the risk assessment is a guide only and will be used to assist the 
appropriate enforcement team in their investigation. Photographic evidence (if 

Page 1056



Version 2.2021 
 

available) would provide useful supporting evidence to the investigating officers and 
assist them in determining the level of action required.  There are 4 levels of risk:- 
 
Level 1 – Immediate action required (response within 24 hours) 
Level 2 – High Risk (response within 1-5 days) 
Level 3 – Medium Risk (response within 5-20 days) 
Level 4 – Low Risk (response within 20 days) 
 

If there is not sufficient evidence to support the existence of any immediate dangers 
to public health which would warrant urgent works, then the matter will be                   
re-evaluated by the Property Helpdesk and referred to CP as requiring a level 2 
response.  

Page 1057



Version 2.2021 
 

3. Local Liaison Arrangements and priority setting 

There are 3 Local Multi Agency Problem Solving Groups (LMaps) within County 
Durham.  

These groups have representation from Durham County Council, Durham 
Constabulary and DDFRS as well as other agencies and task and co-ordinate multi 
agency activities to tackle crime and disorder including anti-social behaviour.  

To assist scanning for new and emerging priorities, those empty properties with a 
high incidence of reported problems /concerns will be shared with the group on a 
monthly basis to inform any future programmes of work.  

LMaps will be specifically tasked with identifying any empty properties or specific 
locations within their respective areas for priority action and targeted interventions.  

Priority empty properties and areas will be reported to the Safer Communities group 
to organise and co-ordinate multi agency actions. A list of priority properties and 
areas should be disseminated to key contacts within relevant partner organisations 
to initiate an escalated response. 

 

4. Co-ordination of ongoing activities.  

Area initiatives e.g. Community Action Team programme, and other Time Limited 

Projects (TLPs) involve the use of data sets for specific geographical locations to help 

inform priorities for their intervention programme and action planning.  

As well as making empty property data available to assist in the development of  

these area based initiatives, it is expected that any area profiles, local data sets 

detailing empty property notifications and concerns, enforcement actions taken and 

problems solved are shared with key partners during ongoing activities as well as 

part of the feedback and evaluation phase at the end of each area programme.         

 

  
 
 
 
  

Page 1058



Version 2.2021 
 

SECTION FOUR  
 
Our Intervention Strategy  
 
We will adopt an early intervention strategy wherever possible which will be risk 
based and intelligence led to ensure that available resources are effectively targeted 
at the highest priority properties and priority areas. 
 
Tackling issues associated with empty properties will require the use of a range of 
different interventions which will be determined on a case by case basis using the 
OSARA model as a guide to developing a problem solving approach. 

Objective, Scanning, Analysis, Response and Assessment (OSARA) 

 
 
The incidence of crime and disorder around empty properties occurs when three 
things happen:- 

• An empty property is available. 

• There is an absentee landlord / owner or 
occupant to prevent the crime from 
happening. 

• A perpetrator is present. 

 
In identifying appropriate interventions to address recurring problems, we will need 
to identify our objective and undertake further analysis to fully understand how and 
why certain crime and disorder occurs and seek to develop an appropriate response 
using both existing and new interventions which will influence and control one or 
more of the three elements of the problem solving triangle. 

Escalation response for Priority Properties and Priority Areas  

Where our general enforcement approach has not sufficiently addressed the risks 
associated with an individual or group of empty properties, they may be classified as 
‘priority properties’ or ‘priority areas’ and an escalated enforcement approach may  
be taken. The trigger for escalation should be clear and capable of justification if 
alternative measures or formal enforcement action is involved.  

  

Page 1059



Version 2.2021 
 

Range of Interventions  
 

1. Advice, Guidance and Financial Support  

 
Whenever possible empty property owners should be encouraged to make 
adequate arrangements to protect their property and prevent it from becoming a 
target for anti-social behaviour, theft, arson and trespass. 
 

The Occupiers’ Liability Acts of 1957 and 1984 impose on property owners a duty of 

care to visitors and trespassers. Depending upon the circumstances of the incident, 

the owner may be liable for any death or injury suffered by a visitor or trespasser in 

an empty building.  

 

Property owners should be advised to carry out regular checks of their empty 

property and consider taking the following measures: 

 

• removing sources of ignition; 

• minimise the amount of combustible materials present, both inside and outside 

the building; 

• remove, as far as possible, any contents, fixtures or fittings which may be of value 

or architectural interest; 

• maximise physical security on windows and doors; 

• maintain existing protective equipment such as fire/intruder alarms and sprinkler 

systems; 

• seal any letter box openings and if this is not possible regularly remove 

accumulations of post that may build up.  

• remove graffiti and carrying out repairs to broken windows etc. on a regular and 

prompt basis; 

• retain internal and external lighting; 

• remove unused or derelict vehicles and skips from the curtilage. 

• ask for assistance from neighbours to make prompt contact with them should 
there be any incidents 

 
  

Page 1060



Version 2.2021 
 

2. Financial Support: 
 
Private landlords or prospective owner occupiers may qualify for an interest free 
loan, or grant to help bring a long term empty residential property in council tax 
band A or B back into use.  
 
Owners of empty commercial property may also qualify for financial assistance to 
support business start up and development and bringing commercial property back 
into use.  
 

 Escalated response for priority empty properties and priority areas: 

Durham Constabulary and County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service    
will contact property owners offering crime prevention advice and fire safety advice 
respectively, on protecting their property and the local community. 
 
3. Community Protection 

 
When responding to a complaint of anti-social behaviour consideration will be given 
to the impact that the behaviour is having on the lives of victims and communities.   
 
In relation to unreasonable behaviour associated with empty properties, it should 
be recognised that the property owner may be a perpetrator as well as a victim of 
anti social behaviour.  
 
Early intervention especially through informal approaches, in response to local 
concerns may often be all that is necessary to stop incidents of anti-social behaviour 
and protect communities.  
 
This guidance should be read in conjunction with the Anti Social Behaviour Protocol  
which provides further details on escalation procedures. 
 
The decision on type of interventions to use is often taken collaboratively between 
partner organisations and in the main we will use informal methods initially when 
dealing with young people as a means of preventing poor behaviour from escalating. 
 
Interventions including verbal / written warnings, community resolutions, mediation 
acceptable behaviour and parent contract can establish clear standards of behaviour 
and reinforce the message that anti-social behaviour will not be tolerated.  
 
Such interventions may be included in local action plans to deal with anti-social 
behaviour but should not replace formal interventions where these are the most 
effective means of dealing with anti-social behaviour. 

Page 1061



Version 2.2021 
 

 
Where a report or complaint is made to one organisation, the lead enforcement 

service should consider the potential role of other partners and engage with the 

wider community in finding specific interventions to address anti-social behaviour 

issues. 

Where issues are persistent, continuing and unreasonable an informal approach is 
not considered appropriate and a more formal action will be taken.   
 
Community Protection Notices (CPN) may be used to stop a person (aged 16 or 
over), business or organisation committing anti-social behaviour which spoils the 
community’s quality of life.  
 
Behaviour has to:  

• have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality;  
• be of a persistent or continuing nature; and  
• be unreasonable.  
 
The Community Protection Notice (CPN) can deal with a range of anti social 
behaviours; can include requirements to ensure that problems are rectified and that 
steps are taken to prevent the anti-social behaviour occurring again.  
 
A written warning will be issued informing the perpetrator of problem behaviour, 
requesting them to stop, and the consequences of continuing. A CPN can then be 
issued including requirement to stop things, do things or take reasonable steps to 
avoid further anti-social behaviour.  
 

 Escalated response for priority empty properties and priority areas: 

Persistent anti social behaviour surrounding priority empty properties and priority 
areas will be considered by LMAPS and referred to the Safer Communities  strategic 
group to target available resources and co-ordinate local action as part of a time 
limited project. 
 
4. Protection of buildings  

Glazing is often the most vulnerable to breakage and often constitutes the first entry 
point for intruders. It can be difficult to protect glazing adequately without some 
external or internal secondary barrier being present, such as bars or grilles. Unless 
secondary measures are already fitted, boarding up is the most cost effective option. 

In the event that a property becomes open to access, the owner will be given notice 
by the council that they will secure any accessible openings on the outside fabric of 

Page 1062



Version 2.2021 
 

the building within 48 hours from the date the notice was served and recover the 
costs in default.  

Generally buildings will be boarded using a substantial, exterior grade plywood of 
adequate strength (at least 18mm thick) to resist attack. Alternatives to plywood are 
the use of close gauge wire mesh, shutters or proprietary hired in boarding security 
systems. 

There are ways in which the visual impact of boarding up can be softened by painting 
or coverings which blend in with local streetscape. It is unlikely however that the 
cost of such applications would be recoverable as part of any default works and as 
such any additional costs incurred would need to met from other sources of funding, 
if available.   

Immediate boarding up 

Where the building is likely to become a danger to public health, the council has 
powers to carry out any works to remove the danger.  

Whilst reasonable steps should be taken to contact the property owner, a notice of 
intention to undertake the necessary work is not required.     

The works undertaken will depend upon the circumstances and type of danger 
involved. Where immediate boarding up of the property is required these works 
should be undertaken immediately and not more than 24 hours after the referral 
has been made to DCC’s Property Helpdesk.   

 

 Escalated response for priority empty properties and priority areas: 

For properties that have been open to access and boarded up on at least 2 separate 
occasions in any 4 week period, Durham County Council will consider more robust 
methods of protection. In such cases, some doors and windows at an accessible level 
may be bricked up or metal shutters fitted to prevent unauthorised access. This will 
inevitably involve more cost and will need to be fully justified as part of legal 
proceedings on appeal, or for the cost recovery of any default works. 

Page 1063



Version 2.2021 
 

Demolition of Buildings  

The condition of an empty property may be in such a state that it is deemed 
dangerous or ruinous and dilapidated. Whilst the owner may wish to repair or 
restore the building and remove any dangers, enforcement notices can be served to 
bring about repair or demolition of the property, if appropriate.  

In cases, where immediate action is required to remove a dangerous structure, the 
Council where reasonably practical would give notice to the property owner before 
taking steps to remove the danger. 

If immediate action is not required, then the Council would need to apply to the 
Magistrates’ court for an order to execute the works. 

Where dangerous buildings have an open boundary, consideration could also be 
given to installing perimeter fencing.  

 
5. Repair, Restoration and Redevelopment  

Enforcement action can be served on property owners to effectively bring the 
condition of their empty property to an acceptable standard.  

These interventions range from dealing with minor repairs which cause nuisance to 
neighbouring properties such as drainage, roof repairs etc. to more serious disrepair 
which is detrimental to amenities of the neighbourhood or is a blight.   

Enforcement notices can require works to rectify any defective premises or to 
improve the external appearance of the property within a reasonable time period. If 
the work is not carried out within the timescale then DCC can carry out the work in 
default.    

Often property owners have acquired the empty property for further development 
and applications may have been submitted to DCC for planning and/or building 
regulation approval to redevelop or demolish the building.  

Such proposals would bring about a longer term solution and should be encouraged. 
Current approvals however may specify timescales of around 3 years for the 
development to commence. The Council has the discretion to reduce timescales to 
expedite the development of the site, if appropriate.    

The Planning & Assets Teams will only consider sale or disposal of Council land and 
property subject to relevant planning permission being granted. In addition, the 
Council will consider applying a pre-emption clause within the sale agreement which 
gives the council the right to buy back the property if development has not 
commenced within a 12 months of the date of sale and may exercise their right buy 
back the property if the development has not reached practical completion within 
36 months.  
 

Page 1064



Version 2.2021 
 

 Escalated response for priority empty properties and priority areas 

Subject to the nature and type of planning approval sought, Durham County Council 
will consider applying a reduced timescale of one year from the date of consent to 
the commencement of development in relation permissions for ‘priority properties’ 
and ‘priority areas’.   
 

6. Enforced Sales of empty properties 
Enforced sale is a procedure that enables the council to recover outstanding debts, 

following actions that have created a land charge against a property. Those   

enforcement powers which may give rise to the relevant recoverable charges  works 

undertaken in default are detailed in Annex 1.   

The procedure may ultimately be thwarted by payment of the outstanding debt but 
in any event use of the enforced sales procedure would focus property owners on 
their meeting responsibilities as well as impose a financial impact.  

This procedure can be followed even where the owner cannot be traced and even 
where the property has changed hands – so long as the relevant debt remains.  

The following criteria will be applied when considering whether to instigate the 

procedure: - 

• The principle sum of the original work carried out in default must be sufficient to warrant 
the enforced sales action. 

• The relevant statutory notices must have been served correctly .   

• The serving officer must complete a ‘Record of Service of Notice’ form on service of the 
statutory notice.  

• There should be no proposed Compulsory Purchase action intended within a 2-year 
period. 

• The property must not be the subject of any bankruptcy action.   

 
7. Simple Caution / Prosecution 
For serious, deliberate or persistent breaches of legislation the use of simple 
cautions or prosecution may be considered appropriate enforcement action. 
Enforcement decisions will be made having regard to the Crown Prosecution Service  
“Code for Crown Prosecutors” and must satisfy the evidential and public interest 
tests.  If there is no realistic prospect of conviction, a simple caution or prosecution 
will not be pursued.   
 
8. Management and acquisition of empty properties 

The use of enforcement powers to take over the management of an empty property 
and / or acquire an empty property using compulsory purchase procedures will 
normally only be considered as a last resort, in the absence of any other 
enforcement powers being effective.  

Page 1065



Version 2.2021 
 

 
SECTION FIVE 
 
Communications, implementation and review of the protocol  
 
Effective communications are essential to good partnership working.  
 

Key Contact Information  
 
Key contact information for each partner organisation is provided in Annex 3.  
 
It is the responsibility of each organisation to ensure that their key contact 
information is kept up to date and available to all partners to assist notification and 
referral of empty property concerns.  
 
It is intended that an electronic version of this document be made available to 
partner organisations and will be subject to version control. 
   

Press and publications 
 
All partner organisations should share in advance any press or public 
communications where is a potential for further media enquiries across the 
partnership. 
 
A communication plan and media campaign including the use of promotional 
literature and advisory information will be developed to raise awareness amongst 
empty property owners, residents and local communities to support 
implementation of our multi agency approach and intervention strategy for tackling 
empty properties. 
 

Implementation  
 
The joint working protocol was  implemented as from 1st April 2018 and last revised 
in Feb 2021 
 
It is expected that the intervention strategy will evolve in future iterations as we 
work together more strategically and develop new and innovative solutions to tackle 
empty properties.   
 
This Protocol may be amended at any time by agreement between the relevant 

parties to reflect any legislative or operational changes and will be subject to 

annual review.  

Page 1066



Version 2.2021 
 

Annex 1 

Statutory Duties and Legal Powers 

Community Protection 

Sections 43 to 58 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

This power is used to tackle a wide range of issues that have a negative impact on 
the quality of life of the community. 
 
Local councils have traditionally taken the lead in dealing with the sort of issues that 
can be addressed through the use of Community Protection Notices, but the police 
are also able to issue these Notices, as are social landlords (where they have been 
designated to do so by the relevant local authority). 
 
Use of community protection notices is intended to deal with particular, ongoing 
problems or nuisances which negatively affect the community’s quality of life by 
targeting the person responsible. The notice will direct the individual, business or 
organisation responsible to stop causing the problem and it could also require the 
person responsible to take reasonable steps to ensure that it does not occur again.  
 
Enforcement Lead by Environment Services, DCC and Durham Constabulary. 
 

Unsightly Property and Land  

Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

A notice can be served under this act where the appearance of a property or land is 
causing significant blight to an area and loss of amenity, such as overgrown and 
untidy gardens, or untidy run down buildings. The scope of works that can be 
required in s215 notices is wide and includes planting, clearance, tidying, enclosure, 
demolition, re-building, external repairs and repainting. Again if the works are not 
carried out the Council may carry out the works in default. All costs associated with 
doing the work will be registered against the property, recoverable through 
enforced sale of the property. 

 Enforcement lead by Development & Housing , DCC 

 

 

 

 

Page 1067



Version 2.2021 
 

Protection of Buildings 

Section 29 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

The local authority may undertake any works necessary to prevent unauthorised 
entry if the works are immediately necessary to prevent it becoming a danger to 
public health.  

Enforcement lead by Corporate Property & Land   

Section 29 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

If an empty property is insecure and open to access, the Council can serve a notice 
on the owner giving them 48 hours notice of the Council’s intention to carry out 
works in default to secure the property. The cost of this would then be reclaimed 
from the property owner. 

Enforcement lead by Community Protection Service, DCC  

Sections 77 of the Building Act 1984 

Enables the council to deal with buildings that it considers to be dangerous. It can 
apply to a Magistrates’ Court for an order requiring the owner to make the building 
safe or demolish it. 

Enforcement lead by Building Control Service, Development & Housing DCC 

Sections 78 of the Building Act 1984 

Allows the council to deal with buildings that pose an immediate danger. This 
emergency measure allows the local authority to carry out remedial works itself 
without giving the opportunity to deal with it himself. The Council is only entitled to 
carry out works that remove the danger. 

Enforcement lead by Building Control Service, Development & Housing DCC 

Sections 79 of the Building Act 1984 

If a building is considered to be ruinous and dilapidated and seriously detrimental to 
the amenities of the neighbourhood the Council can serve a notice on the owner 
requiring them to demolish or repair the building within a set timescale. If the works 
are not carried out the Council may carry out the works in default. The cost of this 
would then be reclaimed from the property owner or costs  may be registered 
against the property, recoverable through enforced sale of the property. 

Enforcement lead by Community  Protection Service, DCC 

 

Page 1068



Version 2.2021 
 

Neighbourbood Nuisance 

Section 59 of the Building Act 1984 

If the empty property has defective drainage, for example gutters, which are 
affecting the neighbouring properties, the Council can serve a notice requiring the 
owner to repair them. If the notice is not complied with the Council can prosecute 
the owner and/or carry out the works in default. The cost of this would then be 
reclaimed from the property owner or costs  may be registered against the property, 
recoverable through enforced sale of the property. 

Enforcement lead by Community Protection Service, DCC 

Section 79 of the Public Health Act 1936 

The Council can serve a notice on the owner to remove noxious accumulations. It 
allows 24 hours notice of the Council’s intention to carry out the work and recharge 
the debt to the owner. All costs associated with doing the work will be registered 
against the property, recoverable through enforced sale of the property. 

Enforcement lead by Community Protection Service, DCC and Environment Services 
(Neighbourhood Warden services) 

Section 83 of the Public Health Act 1936 

Filthy or verminous premises are properties that are considered verminous or in 
such a filthy condition as to be prejudicial to health.  This would not include premises 
which are merely unsightly, untidy or in a bad state of repair. The Council can serve 
a statutory notice requiring the property to be cleansed and all rubbish and filthy 
articles removed. Failure to comply with the notice may result in the Council 
executing the work specified in the notice and recovering the costs from the 
property owner. 

Enforcement lead by Community  Protection Service, DCC 

Section 79-80 Environmental Protection Act 1990  

Where a premise is in such a state as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance the 

local authority can serve notice requiring steps or works to be undertaken to abate 

the nuisance or make it safe. Failure to comply with the notice may lead to criminal 

prosecution and conviction for failure to comply with an Abatement Notice. 

Enforcement lead by Community Protection Service Protection Service, DCC 

  

Page 1069



Version 2.2021 
 

Pest Control  

Section 4 and 6 Prevention of the Damage by Pests Act 1949 

If a property, or a garden, provides harbourage for pests, the Council can serve a 
notice on the owner requiring them to remove any accumulations that provide this 
harbourage. 

Enforcement lead by Environment Services, DCC 

Management and Acquisition of Empty Properties   

Empty Dwelling Management Orders  

The Housing Act 2004 made provision for local authorities to apply to the residential 
property tribunal for an empty dwelling management order (EDMO) for properties 
that have been empty for a period of two years  or more 

Enforcement lead by Empty Homes Team, Development & Housing, DCC 

Enforced Sale Procedure  

Under the Law of Property Act 1925, if there is a debt registered against a property, 
in favour of the Council, the Council can enforce the sale of the property in order to 
recoup the outstanding debt.  

When using enforcement action, if the statute under which default works were 
carried out allows a charge to be placed on all estates and interests in the property, 
then the enforced sales procedures can be used to recover the debt owed.      

If the statutory powers under which the debt has arisen do not confer the             
above-mentioned rights, then it will be necessary to consider whether Section 7 of 
the Local Land Charges Act 1975 

Enforcement lead by Empty Homes Team, Development & Housing, DCC 

Compulsory Purchase  

Section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 gives Local Authorities have the power to 
compulsorily acquire buildings and land to provide housing accommodation The 
power can be used to bring empty private homes back into use when all other means 
have failed and where owners cannot be found. 

Enforcement lead by Empty Homes Team, Development & Housing, DCC 

Section 226 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as well as Highways legislation also 
provides powers to compulsory purchase property and land that is causing a serious 
nuisance or blight to an area. 

Page 1070



Version 2.2021 
 

Enforcement lead by Planning Services,  Development & Housing, DCC 

Page 1071



Version 2.2021 
 

  

Page 1072



Version 2.2021 
 

ANNEX 4  Annex 2 
PROPERTY ADDRESS DATE REPORTED 

    

  OFFICER NAME 

    

  DCC /DDFRS /DC / OTHER Please Specify 

Property Details (score one only) RATE SCORE COMMENTS 

Flat 5     

Terraced 5     

Semi Detached 5     

Detached 0     

Other please specify 0     

Occupation Details (score one only)       

Long Term Empty Property Vacant > 6 months 5     

Short Term Empty Property Vacant < 6 months  5     

Owner/Occupier Temporarily Absent  0     

LOCATION (score >1 if applicable)       

Rural /Remote location  0     

Prominent Site (Town /Village  Centre / Main Road) 5     

Priority Area / Priority Property Type 10     

Neighbouring Empty Properties > 2 in close proximity 5     

NEIGHBOURHOOD IMPACT        

ACTIVELY MARKETED       

For Sale/To Let (Provide agent details) 0     

EXTERNAL DISREPAIR (score >1 if applicable)       

Ground Floor Open to Access 50     

Above Ground Floor Open to Access 10     

Ground floor other opening boarded/screened 10     

    

First floor other openings boarded/screened 5     

Front/Rear elevations damaged/defective 
windows/doors 5     

Front/Rear elevations damaged/defective 
roof/chimney/guttering/downcomers 0     

Front/Rear elevations structural damage visible 0     

GARDENS/YARDS (score >1 if applicable)       

Refuse/Combustibles in situ 10     

Open Boundary 5     

Overgrown (min 1m /impacting public right of way)  0     

Anti Social Behaviour (score >1 if applicable) 

Reported arson incidents 10     

Vandalism  5     

Flytipping 5     

Other please specifiy 5     

PUBLIC HEALTH DANGERS (score >1 if applicable)       

Recent arson incidents within last 24 hours 50     

Voids / open shafts 50     

Dangerous structures 50     

Toxic / hazardous substances/ exposed electrics / gas 50     

TOTAL SCORE  
Max 
350     

Other Comments 

 

Page 1073



Version 2.2021 
 

REFERRAL OF EMPTY PROPERTY CONCERNS 

SERVICE 

REQUEST /REPORTED INCIDENT/LOCAL INTELLIGENCE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOTAL RISK SCORE / KEY CONTACT INFORMATION 

0-25 (LOW) 30-45 (MED) 50- 150 (HIGH) 155+ (URGENT) 

EMPTY HOMES TEAM CP PROPERTY HELPDESK 

TEL: 03000 268000 T: 03000 260016 TEL: 03000 269112 

EMAIL 

privatesectorhousing@durham.go.uk 

EMAIL 

 EHCP@durham.gov.uk 

EMAIL 

propertyhelpdesk@durham.gov.uk 

RESPONSE (working days) 

LOW MEDIUM HIGH URGENT 

20+ 5-20 1-5  WITHIN 24 HRS 

SERVICE REQUEST /REPORTED INCIDENT/LOCAL INTELLIGENCE 

 
 

RECORD RELEVANT DETAILS ON SERVICE DATABASE 

COMPLETE RISK ASSESSMENT FORM 

REFER DETAILS INCLUDING SUPPPORTING EVIDENCE TO KEY CONTACT                              

(IDENTIFIED FROM TOTAL RISK SCORE MATRIX BELOW) 

URGENT REFERRALS SHOULD BE MADE BY TELEPHONE 

ALL COMPLETED RISK ASSESSMENTFORMS INCLUDING SUPPORTING EVIDENCE                  

SHOULD BE EMAILED TO KEY CONTACT VIA EMAIL ASAP 

INFORMATIONEXCHANGE 

Property Helpdesk will 

provide details of URGENT 

action EHCP for 

INFORMATION ONLY  

CP will record onto Civica 

Database any Boarding up 

work including URGENT case 

details  

Empty Homes Team will 

retrieve any data sets 

using Civica reporting 

tool on a monthly basis

Page 1074

mailto:privatesectorhousing@durham.go.uk
mailto:EHCP@durham.gov.uk
mailto:propertyhelpdesk@durham.gov.uk


Version 2.2021 
 

ANNEX 3 

KEY CONTACT INFORMATION  

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service  
Headquarters  
Belmont Business Park 
Durham,                   DH1 
1TW 

HTTPS://WWW.DDFIRE.GOV.UK/CONTACT-FORM 

Main Tel: 0845 305 8383 

Fire Safety Section 
 

Tel:       0191 375 5675 

Email : firesafety@ddfire.gov.uk 

 
Durham Constabulary   

Police 
Headquarters  
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TT 

Email : durhampolice@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Main Tel: 101 

Crime Prevention  
Advice  
 

Tel: Rona Stocks 07855 270334,                                    

Derek Sirett  07736 084341 or                                      

Fiona Parker 07595 011500    

Email:CrimePreventionOfficers@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Neighbourhood 
Teams  

 

Barnard Castle  BarnardCastle@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Bishop Auckland  BishopAuckland@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Chester-le-Street chesterlestreet@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Consett Consett@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Crook Crook@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Durham Durham@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Newton Aycliffe NewtonAycliffe@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Peterlee Peterlee@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Seaham Seaham@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Spennymoor Spennymoor@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Stanley Stanley@durham.pnn.police.uk 

 

Page 1075

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/contact-form
mailto:firesafety@ddfire.gov.uk
mailto:durhampolice@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:CrimePreventionOfficers@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:BarnardCastle@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:BishopAuckland@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:chesterlestreet@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Consett@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Crook@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Durham@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:NewtonAycliffe@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Peterlee@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Seaham@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Spennymoor@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Stanley@durham.pnn.police.uk


Version 2.2021 
 

Durham County Council 
County Hall  Main Tel: 03000 260000 

Property Helpdesk Tel:       03000 269112 

Email :  propertyhelpdesk@durham.gov.uk 
 

Neighbourhood 
Wardens  Area 
Teams  

NeighbourhoodWardenTeamLeaderNorth@durham.gov.uk 

NeighbourhoodWardenTeamLeaderSouth@durham.gov.uk 

Economic 
Development 
(Business Support) 

Email :  ced@durham.gov.uk  

Empty Homes 
Team 

Tel:       03000 268000 

Email :  privatesectorhousing@durham.gov.uk 

 

Community 
Protection (CP) 

Tel:       03000 261016 
Email :  ehcp@durham.gov.uk 

Development & 
Housing  

Tel:       03000 262830 

Email :  planning@durham.gov.uk 
 

Building Control 
(Dangerous Structures) 

Tel:      03000 262832 or 03000 262195 (out of hours) 

Email :  buildingcontrol@durham.gov.uk 

  

Page 1076

mailto:propertyhelpdesk@durham.gov.uk
mailto:NeighbourhoodWardenTeamLeaderNorth@durham.gov.uk
mailto:NeighbourhoodWardenTeamLeaderSouth@durham.gov.uk
mailto:ced@durham.gov.uk
mailto:privatesectorhousing@durham.gov.uk
mailto:ehcp@durham.gov.uk
mailto:planning@durham.gov.uk
mailto:buildingcontrol@durham.gov.uk


 

Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Council Homes Delivery- 

Purchase of Affordable 

Housing units at Gilesgate 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Assets 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek authorisation from Cabinet for the purchase of six bungalows 
for rent at Gilesgate, Durham from Chapter Homes for the purpose of 
providing Council homes.  This purchase will complement the 
construction of new Council housing as previously agreed by Cabinet. 

2 These affordable properties are being constructed by Chapter Homes 
as required within the Gilesgate scheme’s Section 106 agreement and 
are offered for sale to a Registered Provider. 

Executive summary 

3 There is a gap in the number of affordable homes for rent being built in 
Durham and the numbers that are required to meet need.  As a result, 
the Council has agreed to become directly involved in provision of 
homes for rent.  In March and October 2020 Cabinet approved a 
development programme to build 500 new Council homes for affordable 
rent over the next five years.  In February 2021 Cabinet approved 
Phase 1 of the five-year programme. 

4 This report highlights an opportunity to add to the emerging property 
portfolio by purchasing a number of bungalows that are being built by 
Chapter Homes at Gilesgate Durham under the Section 106 agreement 
for the site. 

5 As part of planning applications for schemes over 15 units, affordable 
housing may be required to be provided on site.  These units come in 

Page 1077

Agenda Item 15



 

the form of affordable home ownership or affordable rentals. The homes 
for rent are sold to a Registered Provider (RP) to own and manage.  

6 An approach has been made to Chapter Homes expressing an interest 
in the Council purchasing the bungalows.  Any offer for the bungalows 
would be in line with valuations and at a level that ensured financial 
viability for the Council, bearing in mind the requirement for the future 
Housing Revenue Account to not be in deficit. 

7 Cabinet has previously agreed to a £12.5 million investment in the 
coming years to finance the development of 500 new Council houses at 
an average contribution of £25,000 per property.  The initial capital 
budget of £4.516 million was approved by Council on 24 February 2021.  
The forecast purchase price net of the £25,000 capital contribution per 
property results in a self financing position over a thirty year period. 

8 The purchase of the properties will be in excess of any officer 
delegation level and the report therefore seeks specific delegated 
authorities to negotiate and complete the purchase. 

Recommendation 

9 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth and the Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources, in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holders of 
Strategic Housing and Assets and Finance to enter into 
negotiations and agree terms relating to the acquisition of six 
homes at Gilesgate, Durham on the basis of a self financing 
position over a thirty year timeframe. 

  

Page 1078



 

Background 

10 In October of 2020, Cabinet approved a development programme to 
bring forward 500 new Council Homes over the next five years. 

11 In February 2021 members considered the first sites selected for direct 
delivery of these homes.  This will give the Authority the first pipeline of 
homes over the next 5 years.  The first phase of delivery will see around 
155 homes constructed on 7 sites across the county.  Phases 2 and 3 
will be considered by Cabinet later in 2021. 

12 In October 2020 Cabinet was advised that a number of methods of 
delivery would to be explored including direct delivery, purchase of 
Section 106 units and purchase of ‘off the shelf’ products.  This offers 
the Council the opportunity to own homes in locations which we as an 
Authority have limited land holdings.  The bungalows are currently being 
constructed at Gilesgate and have an anticipated completion date of 
December 2021.  If successfully purchased, this would see the first 
Council tenants being given keys to their new homes in early 2022. 

13 These units would complement the homes that will be constructed as 
part of the Council Homes delivery programme. 

Proposed homes at Gilesgate 

14 The strategic rationale behind the Council new build programme has 
previously been considered by Cabinet.  In summary, there is an annual 
gap between the number of new affordable (for rent) homes being built 
compared to the numbers that are required.  The Council new build 
programme will help bridge that gap. 

15 Durham City was identified as an area of both high need and demand, 
especially in respect of older persons’ provision.  Due to high land 
values, coupled with demand for other forms of development, affordable 
housing is often hard to achieve within close proximity to the city. 

16 The acquisition of bungalows to rent in this location would meet the 
criteria that have been used to prioritise new developments.  There is a 
known need for older person accommodation and the location provides 
good access to services and transport.  Appendix 3 provides details of 
the site and bungalows compared to the criteria that Cabinet has 
previously been advised of.  In summary: 

(a) Need / Demand – Pass : This ensures that there is unmet 
demand for the type of properties being constructed / purchased 
in the specific location; 

Page 1079



 

(b) Location – Pass : The development is in a location with good 
access to amenities and services that older people expect; 

(c) Quality – Pass : The construction of the properties are built to 
national standards and in accordance to the polices in the Local 
Plan; 

(d) Property Type - Pass : The property type is designed to meet the 
needs of older people and the location within the scheme design 
is good. 

17 This is an opportunity for the Council to make a positive start to creating 
a significant portfolio of homes for affordable rent and would lead to the 
first Council tenants being in their new homes in early 2022. 

18 The bungalow elevations showing external design details, together with 
a floor plan showing the relative locations of the living room, kitchen and 
bedrooms is provided at Appendix 2. 

19 Appendix 2 also provides the site layout including the location of the six 
bungalows. 

Finance 

20 In line with previous Cabinet reports, the Council is able to manage up 
to 200 properties in the General Fund before being legally required to 
introduce a Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  Consideration is being 
given at this time to determine the optimum timing of opening the HRA.  
In the meantime, the Council is able to purchase or construct new 
properties and account for these in the General Fund.  It is imperative 
however that the schemes are viable in HRA terms on the basis that the 
new properties will transfer into the HRA at some point in the future. 

21 Detailed financial modelling has been undertaken to ensure that the 
scheme is viable and self financing.  Modelling has included the cost of 
purchase, ongoing management and future maintenance of the 
properties.  The forecast capital purchase price is offset by the £25,000 
capital contribution for each property totalling £0.150 million contribution 
for the six bungalows. 

22 The modelling highlights that rental income will be sufficient to meet the 
loan repayments and the ongoing costs of management and 
maintenance over a 30 year period.  It is forecast that over the 30 year 
period a £0.191 million surplus will be generated. 

23 As the homes are being provided as part of a Section 106 planning 
agreement, they are not eligible for Homes England grant funding as 
they do not meet the test of additionality.  Regardless of this, the 

Page 1080



 

investment would still be self financing.  In addition, whilst not additional 
homes, they are homes which are in the right place for older persons in 
need.  The six bungalows offer the Authority an early opportunity to gain 
valuable stock in a prime location. 

Next Steps 

24 The bungalows would be completed by late 2021/early 2022 and 
subject to being able to agree the disposal with Chapter Homes, the first 
new Council tenants will be able to move in shortly after this. 

25 Following negotiation with Chapter Homes, a further delegated report 
outlining the Heads of Terms agreed, together with an approved 
valuation, will be prepared to enable the acquisition of these units to be 
completed. 

26 Housing management and maintenance is currently being addressed 
and formal measures, policies and procedures would be in place, in 
advance of the completion date. 

Equalities Implications 

27 An Equality Impact Assessment will be produced as part of any 
feasibility work in association with the project. 

Background papers  

• None. 

Other useful documents 

• Cabinet paper of 14 October 2020 

• Cabinet paper of 11 February 2021 

Author 

Laura Martin Tel: 03000 261260 

 

  

Page 1081



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council remains a Registered Provider of Social Housing and may acquire land 
for housing purposes under s17 of the Housing Act 1985. 

Finance 

The Council has identified funding of £12.5 million to support this programme 
with an average capital contribution of £25,000 per property.  Detailed 
financial modelling indicates that, based upon the forecast purchase price net 
of the £0.150 million contribution, the investment will be self-financing over a 
30-year period generating a forecast surplus of £0.191 million. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

It is expected that the properties will be transferred into the HRA at some point 

in the future.  Investment will need to be closely monitored to ensure the HRA 

is balanced financially. 

  

Page 1082



 

Procurement 

None 

 

Page 1083



 

Appendix 2 

 

P
age 1084



 

 

P
age 1085



 

Appendix 3 : Site selection criteria analysis 

Site Need/Demand Location Quality Property 
type 

Gilesgate, 
Chapter 
Homes 

Area of high demand and 
need. Difficult to gain 
sites in this location for 
affordable homes due to 
land values.  

Excellent access to 
existing services and 
amenities within the 
area.  Transport 
linkages to Durham 
city, and level site.  

Designed in 
accordance with 
NDSS and required 
amenity standards as 
per planning policy.  

6 no. 2b3p 
bungalows located 
in a good position 
within the site 

 

Page 1086



 

  

 Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Covid Recovery and Town Centre 

Parking Charges 

Ordinary Decision 

  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To review the provision of subsidised or free parking for centres across 
County Durham for both on street and off street parking as a stimulus to 
support the economic recovery from the global pandemic. 

Executive summary 

2 The national and local lockdown restrictions required in response to the 
coronavirus pandemic, have impacted on trade and footfall across all of 
our town centres. 

3 All of the usual functions within our town centres have been affected, 
from retail, leisure and hospitality to the many events that would have 
taken place effectively being cancelled during 2020.  This has created a 
cumulative impact, having a major effect on footfall and the city, town 
and village high street economies in County Durham. 

4 The recent announcements from Government on 22 February included 
a broad roadmap for the country’s route out of lockdown including 
guidance on the tests that would need to be met for town centres uses 
to open gradually and with phased conditions in terms of social 
distancing requirements. 

 

Page 1087

Agenda Item 16



5 During 2020/21 there have been a range of financial support measures 
put in place, most notably in terms of national retail rate relief and 
business rates grant schemes, but also the Council’s Business 
Recovery Grants scheme to assist businesses.  However, it will be 
essential in the coming months, in line with national guidance, that all 
efforts are taken to ensure our town centres can become sustainable 
and accessible locations for both shopping and leisure use and that the 
county receive appropriate national funding to address these many 
needs. 

6 As we look to move to safely drive forward our economic recovery, the 
vibrancy of centres will be key, not only to our economic revival and 
recovery as a county, but culture, health and environment.  There is a 
number of aspects that are key to a vibrant town centre, from the quality 
of the built and natural environment, to the offer from leisure, retail, 
hospitality and the staging of events. 

7 One issue often raised in terms of town centre access and footfall is the 
role played by parking charges.  Such charges have been used for 
many years to address issues of demand and ensure that parking 
spaces are available for those wishing to visit.  Measures for parking 
charges need to be applied with careful consideration in order to 
balance a number of objectives including inclusivity, economy, 
availability of spaces and environment. 

8 The current demand for parking in our town centres is low due to the 
impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and it is unclear how this will change 
and how quickly demand will return to pre-pandemic levels once 
lockdown measures are eased.  In balancing the different objectives, 
this report puts forward proposals for a time limited period of free 
parking as a short-term measure to encourage people to return to retail 
and leisure destinations in a time frame in line with government health 
advice. 

9 It is important that we provide broad and sustainable accessibility to our 
city, town and village centres.  This includes investment in walking and 
cycling, investment in our park and rides as well as working in 
partnership with bus operators to ensure that the public transport 
services can meet the needs of communities. 

Recommendations 

10 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree that parking charges are suspended from 2 pm each day in 
both on and off-street town centre carparks until end December 
2021 to support the initial recovery from the global pandemic; 

Page 1088



(b) note that this policy will be reviewed regularly every 3 months to 
ensure its effectiveness and make any amendments where 
required. 

  

Page 1089



Background 

11 The county has been heavily affected by the economic impact of the 
global pandemic.  Our leisure, hospitality, culture and retail sectors have 
effectively been closed down for a significant amount of time over the 
last 12-month period.  This is having an effect on employment and 
economic resilience overall; we know for example that in parts of our 
County young persons make up 16% of claimant counts which is in 
comparison to a national average of 6%. 

12 A clear and visible manifestation can be seen by our high streets, 
although here we see a varied picture across the County where some 
areas including Bishop Auckland have seen higher occupancy rates 
between 2019 and 2020 as had Seaham, Crook and Consett.  It is also 
important to highlight that in the case of Bishop Auckland, this area has 
seen relatively high rates over time, which reflect a number of complex 
factors.  Spennymoor has seen an increase in vacancy from 2019 to 
2020.  However, the investments in Festival Walk will address this issue 
and this is also the case with planned investments in Newton Aycliffe 
and Durham City. 

13 There are many measures that will be required to support our overall 
response to the pandemic, more capital investment, ensuring our skills 
programmes meet the needs of our labour market, business support 
and inward investment.  We will deliver a significant investment 
programme including at our strategic sites such as Aykley Heads in 
Durham City and NETPark at Sedgefield. 

14 Our city, town and village centres will be key to recovery and rely on a 
number of measures to ensure success, including an attractive built 
environment, a strong offer for visitors and accessible centres for all 
transport modes particularly public transport.  It will also be important 
that we consider a strong events programme balanced with the public 
health guidance, attracting visitors safely and with confidence. 

15 It is important that we provide broad and sustainable accessibility to our 
city, town and village centres to ensure we support not only increased 
footfall for the town centre economies, but to ensure that accessibility is 
sustainable to balance our clear environmental objectives.  We also 
have a duty to ensure that our policies and investments are inclusive, 
particularly in the case of accessibility where we consider many of our 
residents do not own a private car. 

16 This includes investment in walking and cycling for our centres, 
investment in our park and rides which helps to avoid congestion in the 
main centres, as well as working in partnership with bus operators to 

Page 1090



ensure that the public transport services can meet the needs of 
communities and provide a viable alternative to car use. 

17 The use of parking charges to support vibrancy in town centres has also 
been the subject of much debate in recent years.  Some view parking 
charges as an essential tool to reduce the reliance on the private car, 
whilst others see the imposition of parking charges and availability of 
spaces as the reason for a move to out of town shopping.  Whatever the 
merits of each side of the debate, the travel choice and the volume of 
people accessing our town centres in the coming months will play a 
significant part in the post Covid economic recovery. 

18 Parking charges have been widely used for many years to control 
parking availability and ensure access for all.  The introduction of 
charges has been established as an effective way to control the 
demand for parking ensuring that the available spaces are well used 
and visitors can feel confident they can find a suitable space. 

19 The vast majority of parking in County Durham is for periods of two 
hours or less (78%).  Our current charges, which remain regionally 
relatively low, ensure a turnover of spaces throughout the day.  The 
income from parking also helps to maintain facilities to a good standard, 
welcoming people to our town centres. 

20 Prior to the restrictions brought in by the Covid pandemic, our car park 
occupancies remained generally high, suggesting that a good balance 
was being achieved between cost and availability.  However, recent 
changes in travel behaviour as a consequence of local and national 
restrictions and the impact of consumers using online shopping means 
that this balance needs to be re-examined in the short term to aid the 
economic recovery process. 

21 More widely when considering parking charges, we must balance the 
intended and unintended consequences of any policy.  Particularly 
important to parking is ensuring a balanced availability that results in 
increased footfall for the town centres, inclusivity but without any 
detriment to the environment, that policies which appear to encourage 
increased car use could otherwise create. 

22 The issue of parking in our town centres was considered by the 
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (2018) 
which concluded that free parking initiatives should only be considered 
when they are of genuine benefit to retailers to ensure a turnover of 
spaces. 

  

Page 1091



The impact of Covid-19 on travel behaviour 

23 Travel behaviour during the pandemic has obviously changed.  More 
people are working from home and there has been a significant decline 
in the number of people using public transport especially.  Offset 
against this the summer months saw increases in the number of people 
walking and cycling. 

24 Interpeak car use returned to near normal levels prior to the recent 
national lockdown and even during the first week in February daytime 
car use was up to 80% of normal whilst peak levels remain subdued. 

25 This would suggest that the public remains very keen to use the private 
car for discretionary trips especially those associated with recreation 
and leisure.  Whilst we will strive to ensure that alternatives to the car 
form a central part of our thinking going forward, it remains the case that 
for all of our population, both car and non-car users, the survival of our 
town centres is an essential component to a more sustainable future. 

26 As the current lockdown continues with the closure of non-essential 
retail and the growth in on-line shopping, footfall and car parking 
occupancy levels in our town centres remains very low.  The traditional 
use of charges to limit over demand, at least in the short-term, needs to 
be questioned.  As we consider how the gradual process of normal life 
returning will evolve, we should also consider the role of parking 
charges against this background. 

27 By contrast the number of people visiting some of our recreational areas 
such as Hardwick Park and Chester-le-Street Riverside have in some 
instances increased.  This has in turn created challenges in preventing 
full carparks overspilling onto nearby roads and verges with resultant 
safety issues.  There is therefore a strong rationale to retain parking 
charges for these facilities as a way of ensuring turnover and managing 
supply. 

Options 

28 It has been suggested that one way to aid recovery is to make all 
parking in our town centres free, indeed this was initially introduced 
during the first lockdown when demand was very low.  However, this is 
likely to cause significant difficulties as demand for parking increases as 
the restrictions are lifted and demand gradually returns to pre-pandemic 
levels. 

29 Previous experience of offering free parking on “Small Business 
Saturday” was that people simply park all day.  People who work in our 
town centres are naturally attracted to free all day parking as an 

Page 1092



alternative to public transport which reduces the amount of space and 
turnover for shoppers. 

30 In recent years we have tried to remedy these issues by offering free 
parking after 10 am, however this simply causes people who wish to 
park all day to pay on arrival for say 2 hours and then parking is free 
thereafter.  Again, this actually limits the amount of parking available 
and is a deterrent to people visiting our town centres for future shopping 
and leisure. 

31 The offer of free all day parking in Durham City is likely to be more 
pronounced with commuters likely to fill residential streets which offer 
pay and display rather than using Park and Ride.  Not only would this 
be to the detriment of residents and visitors, it would also undermine 
City Centre commercial carpark operators who will equally be keen to 
see their businesses recover as usage returns to pre-pandemic levels. 

32 One recognised way of offering an element of free parking to support 
town centres is the pre-Christmas “free after three” initiative.  This is 
considered to be more suitable as it prevents all day parking but targets 
the hours which tend to be naturally quieter for traders.  Such an offer 
could be implemented from April and run through the summer until the 
usual period in the run up to Christmas to give a consistent message.  
The offer could also be extended to provide free parking from 2 pm 
rather than 3pm. 

33 It is considered that such an offer gives the right balance between 
assisting recovery whilst not abstracting City and town centre workers 
from more sustainable forms of transport. 

34 As we enter the recovery phase alongside parking changes, it will be 
essential to continue our investment in more sustainable modes.  
Previous success in attracting emergency walking and cycling funding is 
continuing with a regionally funded ambitious project in Newton Aycliffe 
out for consultation, with more routes to be consulted upon in the 
summer months. 

35 In addition, regional funding is set to be agreed in the coming weeks 
which will allow promotion and walking and cycling both for leisure and 
access to town centres. 

Financial Implications 

36 As part of the Government’s response to the pandemic, the Council has 
been able to access the Sales, Fees and Charges Income Guarantee 
Scheme, to recover a proportion of the income lost as a direct result of 
the pandemic.  The scheme has been extended to 30 June 2021. 

Page 1093



37  In 2020/21 the Council is forecast to have lost £1.4 million of car 
parking income and will recover £1.0 million under the Income 
Guarantee Scheme.  It is unclear how any Government assistance 
under this scheme could be extended to offset additional income that 
would be lost if the Council voluntarily foregoes part of the potential 
income, therefore this element would be a call on the Covid-19 grant 
funding provided next year, which totals £15.6 million. 

38 It is uncertain what the exact extent of the ongoing Covid-19 costs will 
be next year, given uncertainties regarding the extent of restrictions that 
will be in place and the pace of recovery to pre-pandemic levels.  The 
Council will undoubtedly face ongoing unbudgeted costs in areas such 
as refuse collections, waste disposal, household recycling centres, 
within culture and sport etc.  The Covid-19 funding provided will be held 
corporately and used to fund these pressures through service groupings 
treating such cost and implications as outside the cash limit.  Providing 
free parking would be another pressure that would need to be counted 
against this funding. 

39 When considering the financial implications of offering free parking, 
there are a number of factors that need to be estimated.  Firstly, whilst it 
is easy to understand the impact on the expected budget in a normal 
year, it is more difficult to forecast the expected parking income in a 
post Covid recovery period, with and without further discounts being 
provided. 

40 In considering the likely impact of Covid-19 in 2021/22 and the likely 
need to draw on the £15.6 million of Government Covid-19 support, it is 
forecast that parking income during April and May could reach 30% of 
normal levels, extending to 50% in June and July, then 70% in August 
and September.  It is then assumed that normal parking income levels 
could be reached from October and beyond.  These estimates are 
merely working assumptions and could be considered to be highly 
speculative.  Whatever the eventual outcome, it is accepted that the 
normal budgeted levels of parking income will not be achieved in 
2021/22 and there will be a need to call upon the financial support 
provided by government for Covid-19. 

41 It is forecast the in 2021/22 off street parking income will be reduced by 
£290,000 and on street by £247,000. 

42 In terms of offering free parking after 2:00 pm it is assumed that this will 
reduce potential income by a further 40%.  Rather than simply reducing 
hourly income across the day, it is assumed that the offer will have 
some minor impacts on the time of day people visit our towns. 

Page 1094



43 Assuming a further 40% reduction in income from offering free parking 
after 2 pm in our town centre carparks and on-street in Durham City up 
to 31 December, this will see a further reduction of potential income of 
£430,000.  Further details in terms of modelling these assumptions are 
set out in Appendix 2. 

44 Should the free parking period be extended to the end of the financial 
year, the potential additional loss of income rises to £644,500.  For the 
reasons set out earlier, non town centre and recreational parking 
charges are assumed to remain unchanged and that free parking would 
not apply to these car parks. 

45 The potential loss of income above does however, need to be 
considered alongside the longer term prosperity of our town centres 
which should be improved by this measure.  Free parking is not viewed 
as a sustainable long term answer as it does not assist in moving 
towards more sustainable methods of transport, has significant issues in 
terms of displacement and has long term significant financial 
implications for the Council’s budgets. 

Timescales 

46 Currently the demand for people to travel in our town centres remains 
low and the extent of restrictions that will be in place across 2021 will be 
phased in line with the recent Government announcements and subject 
to ongoing review.  It is also the case that the introduction of free 
parking will take a short period to organise in terms of the necessary 
signage, communication and messaging.  It is however suggested that 
the free parking after 2 pm offer could be introduced from 1 April. 

47 As well as the usual press notifications and the use of social media, 
temporary signs will be placed in our off-street carparks together with 
information on every pay and display machine.  In addition, people 
using the pay by phone app will be automatically notified of the free 
period.  At some point parking levels in all town centres will hopefully 
return to pre pandemic levels and when this occurs it may be necessary 
for the normal parking charges to be reintroduced.  This will ensure we 
can affectively deal with the issues of supply and demand. 

48 It is initially suggested that the free parking offer extends until the end of 
December and that this is reviewed regularly every 3 months to ensure 
its effectiveness and make any amendments where required. 

49  As stated, the purpose of introducing a period of free parking is to 
encourage people to return to town centre shopping and leisure in a 
time frame in line with Government health advice.  The measure of the 
effectiveness of the proposal and future monitoring will therefore focus 
on carpark occupancy and turnover. 

Page 1095



Conclusion 

50 In order to assist with the recovery of our town centres, it is concluded 
that free parking should be offered in both on and off-street car parks 
from 2:00 pm each afternoon.  This offer should initially be introduced 
from 1 April until the end of December with regular monitoring and 
review to understand the success of the scheme against clear 
objectives of increasing town centre footfall and supporting town centre 
vibrancy. 

51 Such an offer would not be extended to recreational car parks where 
demand has remained high. 

Background papers 

• None. 

Author(s) 

Dave Wafer Tel: 03000 263577 

  

Page 1096



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The provision of parking is a non-statutory service.  Whilst the setting of 

charging levels requires due notice to be given, the temporary suspension of 

charges does not. 

Finance 

It is currently forecast that in 2021/22 off street parking income will be 

£290,000 lower than budget, whilst on street will be £247,000 lower than 

budget due to reduced footfall in our town centres. 

If free parking after 2:00 pm was introduced, it is assumed that this will reduce 
potential income by a further 40%. 

Assuming free parking after 2:00 pm in our town centre carparks and on-street 
in Durham City up to 31 December, this will see a further reduction of potential 
income of £430,000. 

Should the free parking period be extended to the end of the financial year the 
potential additional loss of income rises to £644,500. 

The cost of the recommendation will be financed from Government financial 
support provided for Covid-19. 

Consultation 

Suitable notice of the change will be given prior to implementation. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

It is not considered that the temporary suspension of parking charges during 

part of the day will have any consequential equality or diversity impacts. 

Climate Change 

Whist the measures suggested in the report give benefits to cars owners only, 
it is considered that the longer term benefits of ensuring a sustainable future 
for our town centres, our most accessible locations, outweighs any short term 
issues. 

Human Rights 

None specific in this report. 

  

Page 1097



Crime and Disorder 

None specific in this report. 

Staffing 

None specific in this report. 

Accommodation 

None specific in this report. 

Risk 

Parking levels and occupancy rates in our carparks will be monitored to 

ensure that the intentions of the report are being met.  The risks of 

displacement will be offset by not introducing the free parking until after 2 pm. 

The policy will not be popular with private car park operators, who could view 

this initiative as undermining their recovery.  There will be reputational risks 

and issues when the free parking initiative is withdrawn and there is a tension 

between attracting car users into our town and city centres and our climate 

change / environmental ambitions in terms of promoting more sustainable 

forms of transport and improving air quality. 

Procurement 

None specific in this report. 

Page 1098



Appendix 2: Income Forecasts 

 

 

 

 

Total

Do Nothing Free After 2 

Full year

Free After 2 

until 

Christmas

Budgeted Income 2021/22 £2,148,383

Covid Effect £537,096

Forecast Income 2021/22 £1,611,287 £966,772 £1,181,611

Forecast Lost Income 2021/22 £644,515 £429,677

Budgeted Income 2021/22 £988,820 Budgeted Income 2021/22 £1,159,563

£82,402 £96,630

Reduced incomeNo. months Reduced income No. months

Apr/May Reduced to 30% £24,721 2 £49,441 Apr/May Reduced to 30% £28,989 2 £57,978

Jun/Jul Reduced to 50% £41,201 2 £82,402 Jun/Jul Reduced to 50% £48,315 2 £96,630

Aug/Sep Reduced to 70% £57,681 2 £115,362 Aug/Sep Reduced to 70% £67,641 2 £135,282

100% £82,402 6 £494,410 100% £96,630 6 £579,782

Forcast Income 2021/22 £741,615 Forcast Income 2021/22 £869,672

Free after 2 all year Reduced income Free after 2 all year Reduced income

Apr 30% £24,721 1 £24,721 Apr 30% £28,989 1 £28,989

May 30% £24,721 1 £24,721 May 30% £28,989 1 £28,989

Jun 50% £41,201 1 £41,201 Jun 50% £48,315 1 £48,315

Jul 50% £41,201 1 £41,201 Jul 50% £48,315 1 £48,315

Aug 70% £57,681 1 £57,681 Aug 70% £67,641 1 £67,641

Sept 70% £57,681 1 £57,681 Sept 70% £67,641 1 £67,641

100% £82,402 6 £494,410 100% £96,630 6 £579,782

Income £741,615 Income £869,672

Free after 2 (40% reduction) £444,969 Free after 2 (40% reduction) £521,803

Free after 2 until Christmas Reduced income Free after 2 until christmas Reduced income

Apr Reduced to 30% £24,721 1 £24,721 Apr Reduced to 30% £28,989 1 £28,989

May Reduced to 30% £24,721 1 £24,721 May Reduced to 30% £28,989 1 £28,989

Jun Reduced to 50% £41,201 1 £41,201 Jun Reduced to 50% £48,315 1 £48,315

Jul Reduced to 50% £41,201 1 £41,201 Jul Reduced to 50% £48,315 1 £48,315

Aug Reduced to 70% £57,681 1 £57,681 Aug Reduced to 70% £67,641 1 £67,641

Sep Reduced to 70% £57,681 1 £57,681 Sep Reduced to 70% £67,641 1 £67,641

Oct 100% £82,402 1 £82,402 Oct 100% £96,630 1 £96,630

Nov 100% £82,402 1 £82,402 Nov 100% £96,630 1 £96,630

Dec 100% £82,402 1 £82,402 Dec 100% £96,630 1 £96,630

£494,410 £579,782

Free after 2 (40% reduction) £296,646 Free after 2 (40% reduction) £347,869

Jan to Mar (No 40% reduction) 100% £82,402 3 £247,205 Jan to Mar (No 40% reduction) 100% £96,630 3 £289,891

Income £543,851 Income £637,760

Do Nothing Free After 2 

Full year

Free After 

2 until 

Christmas

Do Nothing Free After 2 

Full year

Free After 

2 until 

Christmas

Budgeted Income 2021/22 £988,820 Budgeted Income 2021/22 £1,159,563

Covid Effect £247,205 Covid Effect £289,891

Forecast Income 2021/22 £741,615 £444,969 £543,851 Forecast Income 2021/22 £869,672 £521,803 £637,760

ON STREETOFF STREET

last 6 months last 6 months

Oct/Mar Oct/Mar

OFF STREET ON STREET
Forcast Income Forcast Income

Approx monthly income Approx monthly income

Page 1099



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 Cabinet 

17 March 2021 

Economic Recovery and Prosperity: 

Levelling up and Investment for County 

Durham  

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report sets out an overview of the County Durham economy, 
considering the baseline conditions prior to March 2020 and additional 
challenges faced by the Covid pandemic and Brexit.  This includes 
consideration to subsequent impacts on business and communities. 

2 The report sets initial strategic priorities and objectives to support the 
levelling up for our economy and communities and provides a starting 
point with a view to further work with across the council, businesses, 
and communities. 

3 Further proposals, including an economic statement to support our 
ambition to deliver 30,000 jobs by 2035, will come forward to Cabinet as 
part of a wider economic and recovery plan in 2021. 

Executive summary 

4 County Durham is the 8th largest local authority area in the UK and 
largest local authority in the North East.  County Durham’s economy is 
strategically important regionally and nationally and is home to over 
14,000 businesses employing 183,000 people.  Prior to the pandemic 
County Durham faced challenges across the economy, with a high 
proportion of residents in lower skilled and lower paid occupations, a 

Page 1101

Agenda Item 17



small proportion of residents with degree-level qualifications and with 
areas in the east, north and south Durham with high levels of 
deprivation.  The lower land and property values also reflect lower 
wages and areas of market failure evident in many parts of the county.  
The county also has high levels of unemployment, high proportions of 
people with work-limiting health conditions and low levels of 
productivity. 

5 Had the UK stayed in the EU, the county’s EU structural funding would 
have more than doubled to at least 300 million euros in investment up 
to 2027 to fund major programmes, for skills, the environment and 
business support.  This compares to more than 150 million euros under 
the previous programme, which included the £33 million Durham Works 
Programme, investment in business support of £42 million, £18.5 million 
for innovation projects, and £5 million for digital engagement amongst a 
range of other activities. 

6 Despite the challenges faced, County Durham has seen significant 
investment over the last decade and the Council has provided a 
proactive approach to development including enabling direct investment 
in infrastructure and development partnerships as well as wider support 
to enable business with investments. 

7 As a result, hundreds of millions of pounds of private investment have 
been secured in key sites such as Milburngate, Durham riverside, the 
Durham University estate, Auckland Castle and Bishop Auckland town 
centre, Amazon at Integra 61, and Hitachi at Newton Aycliffe.  The 
Council is also continuing to attract public sector investments to 
NETPark, Horden Rail Station and other sites across the county to 
support strategic transport improvements and open up new business 
parks such as Forrest Park and Jade Business Park. 

8 The pandemic has affected all areas across the county and the 
challenges for those areas which faced a pre-existing low baseline for 
the economy across the North of England and including County Durham 
have been widely reported.  County Durham’s recovery from the impact 
of Covid-19 and delivering long-term sustainable growth is therefore a 
central key priority objective for the Council. 

9 To support growth and recovery, significant further investment is 
planned.  Most recently the Council has established and funded an 
innovative £5 million Business Recovery Grant scheme, £70 million has 
been earmarked for a new Council Homes Programme, £25 million 
additional investment has been agreed for Towns and Villages and 
plans are being progressed for £75 million of regeneration and health 
focused Leisure Investment across the County. 

Page 1102



10 Beyond local spending, it is important that the County realises 
significant benefit and direct investment from any nationally available 
schemes, proportionate to the challenges faced, the scale of the 
population and economy and the many opportunities that County 
Durham offers.  This report sets out a number of priorities for national 
schemes and funding including: 

(a) The Shared Prosperity Fund; 

(b) The Levelling Up Fund; and 

(c) Regional Covid-19 Recovery Asks. 

(d) Devolution  

11 County Durham is the largest economy in the North East.  In 2018, 
County Durham contributed Gross Value Added (GVA) of £8.8 billion to 
the UK economy, accounting for 16% of the North East total (compared 
to 17% of the employment base and 20% of the regional population).  
The County attracts over 20 million visitors per annum, has 
considerable strategic investment opportunities available and delivers 
circa 1,500 new homes each year. 

12 The County Durham economy has a GVA gap of £12,259 per head 
when compared to the UK average, this means that whilst the economy 
in County Durham is the largest economy in the North East at  
£8.8 billion, the size of the economy would be £12 billion (36% larger) if 
it met the national average.  This demonstrates the opportunity that is 
available. 

13 For the past 12 months, Covid-19 and the resulting ‘lockdowns’ have 
resulted in a traumatic shock to the whole economy, further 
undermining the economic position for the county and compounding 
historic challenges for low paid workers, skills and education, with the 
most vulnerable in society being the hardest hit. 

14 As a direct consequence of the pandemic and the subsequent 
restrictions, many businesses have endured significant revenue 
downturns, underlying unemployment has increased and the number of 
job seekers and universal credit claimants has increased by 50% since 
March 2020; and by 70% amongst younger people.  The travel, 
accommodation, food and beverage, and leisure sectors have been hit 
particularly hard and there is a high risk of significant employment 
losses and business failures, with increasing risk of this occurring after 
Government support and the furlough scheme end. 

Page 1103



15 In addition to dealing with the economic impact of Covid-19, businesses 
have also had to contend with the impact of operating in a post Brexit 
trading environment from January 2021. 

16 To provide a foundation on which to build a strategic plan for long term 
sustainable and inclusive economic growth, an external independent 
economic analysis has been commissioned to make recommendations 
on key priorities for future investment areas. 

17 Identifying and realising opportunities locally and at regional and 
national levels to secure investments, support inclusive economic 
growth and deliver a pipeline of investment projects, will be crucial to 
maximising the opportunity across County Durham. 

18 The Council’s key regeneration projects are under continual  
development and review to ensure they can provide the robust business 
case needed to secure funding, including programmes for housing, 
culture and tourism, transport and connectivity, property and land, skills 
and education, alongside clear priorities to support existing businesses, 
inward investments, communities, health and the environment. 

19 The main body of the report identifies a selection of projects that are 
being developed.  These projects and programmes are subject to 
change but provide an initial total estimated financial ask of the 
Council’s recovery  investment proposals.  A summary of these 
investment by theme is set out below with further detail set out later in 
the report: 

Priority Theme Financial Ask 

£m 

Housing 150m  

Culture & Tourism 25m  

Transport & Connectivity 150m  

Strategic Sites and Inward Investment 85m  

Rural Economic Growth 40m  

Skills Education & Training 50m  

Total £500m  

 

20 The priorities set out above cover the initial investment expected over 
the initial investment allocations from potential recovery  funds, over 
time there would be additional opportunities and scope that County 
Durham would expect full benefit from.  It is also important to note that 

Page 1104



we highlight funds only and full devolution also includes potential fiscal 
reforms outside of direct investment.  

21 The initial funds are outside of the additional funds required through 
UK Prosperity expectation and The Levelling Up Fund.  
Furthermore, some of the asks relate to the delivery of national 
infrastructure where associated funding such schemes is not included -
for example the Leamside Line or wider improvement schemes such as 
the re-opening railways schemes the Council is currently developing. 

Recommendation(s) 

22 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the work in progress to produce a County Durham Economic 
Statement and the emerging projections of the impact of Covid19 
and Brexit, with a report to follow in Spring 2021; 

(b) note the external opportunities for strategic funding and the 
importance of County Durham receiving significant government 
investment to ensure levelling up is delivered; and 

(c) support the development of an ambitious and innovative thematic 
pipeline of projects and interventions and agree to further work to 
further develop proposals across the county  

 

  

Page 1105



 

Background 

23 The County Council is the 8th largest local authority in England.  The 
County Durham economy, its recovery from the impact of Covid-19 and 
its long-term sustainable growth are central to the wider North East 
economy. 

24 The County boasts a world heritage City, rural county side communities, 
stunning landscape and a breath-taking coastline, as well as a diversity 
of towns and villages across the county providing an offer to be proud 
of. 

25 With a population of 530,100 and an employment base of 183,000 and 
over 20 million tourists spending nearly £1 billion a year, County 
Durham is a key contributor to the North East economy.  The County is 
home to 14,105 businesses. 

26 In 2018, County Durham contributed Gross Value Added (GVA) of  
£8.8 billion to the UK economy, accounting for 16% of the North East 
total (compared to 17% of the employment base and 20% of the 
regional population).  However, as a symptom of historic structural 
decline and under investment centrally in critical infrastructure, the GVA 
for the economy per head of the population is £12,259 below the 
national average. 

27 This means a gap of £3.2 billion in the annual value of the economy and 
when considered over time this gap is £32 billion over a ten year period. 

28 The County includes areas that have some of the highest rates of 
deprivation in the country.  Deprivation is a particular issue in those 
communities that suffer from a number of challenges such as access to 
employment, access to education, health and crime.  Long-term illness 
amongst people of working age is high in the county and those with 
additional needs such as disabilities, find it particularly hard to find work 
and access local services.  The number of children living in households 
claiming out of work benefits is 50% higher in the County than the UK 
average. 

29 The County is diverse in nature and has a significant rural economy, 
which is highlighted within the thematic projects and interventions 
proposed.  Rural requires distinct priorities to reflect both the distinct 
challenges and opportunities for those communities. 

30 When considering the Government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda in the context 
of County Durham, there is an overwhelming need to ensure that every 
County Durham resident and business should see the investment from 

Page 1106



the national programmes that ensures the equality of opportunity for 
education, skills, health and growth and that no person should ever be 
left behind. 

31 It is clear that the economic infrastructure of the County has faced many 
challenges over a sustained period of time.  For the past 12 months 
Covid-19 and the resulting ‘lockdowns’ have resulted in a traumatic 
shock to the whole economy further compounding inherent issues and 
fragilities in the economy of the county.  Historically, areas like County 
Durham and more broadly, the North of England, have seen lower 
levels of investment in critical infrastructure that enables economic 
growth than other areas of the UK.  This limits opportunities such as the 
potential to create new jobs. 

32 As a direct consequence of the pandemic and the subsequent 
restrictions, many businesses have endured significant revenue 
downturns, underlying unemployment has increased and the numbers 
of job seekers and universal credit claimants has increased (most 
notably in younger people).  The travel, accommodation, food and 
beverage, and leisure sectors have been hit particularly hard and there 
is a high risk of significant employment losses and business failures, 
happening after Government support and the furlough scheme cease. 

33 The pandemic has also impacted on transport arrangements with public 
transport operators experiencing major customer reductions.  In normal 
times the County benefits from a network of bus routes which connect 
residents throughout County Durham, Teesside and Tyne and Wear.  
Given the dispersed and ageing population and the 27% of households 
in County Durham who do not have access to a car, the bus network is 
highly important, particularly within rural communities and the most 
used form of public transport in the county.  There is an extensive 
network of services with around 175 services and over 3,000 stops. 

34 In addition to dealing with the economic impact of Covid-19, businesses 
have had to deal with the impact of operating in a post Brexit trading 
environment from January 2021. 

35 These pressures on the County Durham economy are in addition to the 
challenges that have developed over many years and the body of the 
report summarises the current nature of the economy. 

Impact of Covid 19 and Brexit to the County Durham Economy 

36 Although nationally levels of unemployment at November 2020 were at 
a five year high, the numbers in County Durham have remained 
relatively static over the period of the pandemic.  The same applies to 
levels of employment which have risen slightly over the past year.  More 

Page 1107



analysis will need to be undertaken, however the success of the Council 
in attracting major inward investments across the County has resulted in 
significant new job opportunities. 

37 The number of people claiming universal credit has increased by 50% 
over the period of the pandemic with the increase being more prevalent 
with young people 16 -24 years old.  It is worth also noting that East 
Durham has the highest rate of claimants amongst 16- 24-year olds / 
young people in the NE (including Tees Valley). 

38 A more detailed analysis of the impact of Covid-19 has been 
undertaken using intelligence from businesses in different sectors and 
data relating to the actual impact on different sectors.  This work is 
emerging and more detail will be provided in Spring 2021. 

39 The impact on businesses can be summarised as: 

• Various protection measures and home working have reduced 
the immediate impact on many sectors, however the end of the 
protection measures will see business failures and loss of jobs; 

• Significant employment pressures are likely in travel, 
accommodation, food and beverage, performance and leisure 
venues; 

• Loss of customers / cash flow for hospitality, retail, leisure and 
creative sectors and high street closures, with online shopping 
are all accelerating the impacts; 

• Limited government support for self-employed people; 

• Likely strong bounce back, from lower base, with new starts and 
re-configured businesses; 

• Tourism likely to lead recovery, but lockdowns have already 
resulted in company closures and job losses; 

• Government support likely, but directed through national delivery 
programmes; 

• Jobs growth in health services and logistics; 

• Growth in pharmaceutical, PPE. 

40 The impact on people is summarised as 

• The number of job seekers and universal credit claimants rose by 
50% between March 2020 and January 2021; 

Page 1108



• Loss of recruitment will affect young people, people with lower 
skills, in lower paid jobs, in areas of deprivation.  It will also 
impact disproportionately on women; 

• The need to promote training, retraining, support for those with 
poor digital skills, and encourage people to stay in training and 
education; 

• Major impact on children and schools, likely to be affected for 
several years; 

• Government support likely but directed through national 
programmes; 

• Increasing redundancies and limited support for self-employed 
people. 

41 As the current restrictions are eased and the national and local 
protection interventions are removed, the Council will be able to 
articulate the specific impacts on both businesses and people in County 
Durham. 

42 During the pandemic the Government had to deal with the exit from the 
European Union and the UK / EU Trade Deal that came into effect on 1 
January 2021. 

43 Some implications are emerging for County Durham businesses, which 
will be considered as a more detailed economic strategy for the County 
is developed.  Early issues relate to: 

• Problems accessing markets; 

• Additional red tape and costs for exporters / importers / goods-
based industries (e.g. retail, manufacturing, construction); 

• Shortages of some goods and foodstuffs; 

• Foreign workers returning home (impact on seasonal industries, 
lower wage professions – e.g. nursing and care staff, transport). 

44 The next two years are likely to be the most challenging that the 
economy has faced since the turn of the century and the Council needs 
to position itself to best respond. 

45 Further policy focus in the future will need to include: 

Page 1109



• Increasing the County’s working age population over the next 
twenty years, increasing its employment rate and increasing 
household and workforce incomes; 

• Creating more and better jobs in sectors where investment and 
employment are sustainable; 

• Considerably strengthening the private sector and enterprise 
base; 

• Delivering another major shift from old economy to new economy; 

• Capitalising on the strengths, developing under-performing 
assets, introducing new investment locations and capitalising on 
anchor institutions. 

46 These policy areas should be supported by an economic focus across a 
number of sectors including logistics, advanced manufacturing, 
sustainable energy, green economy, health innovation and health 
economy, digital and business services, tourism and leisure, creative 
industries, new starts, small companies, and scale ups.  The 
manufacturing sector is a particular strength for the County as it 
provides for more than 14% of jobs in the county, compared to 8% 
nationally and has one the highest levels of productivity per job 
(£89,000; almost twice the average GVA per job). 

47 The emerging economic analysis identifies a strong local track record 
for County Durham with significant investment secured and a number of 
strategic employment sites, community regeneration and skills and 
employability schemes alongside a clear approach to social value being 
core to the notable successes of investment. 

48 The importance of the County being able to access opportunities for 
growth that will present themselves at regional and national levels will 
be critical to provide substantial strategic investment beyond the local 
authority’s investment capacity. 

49 Central Government has set out areas of policy that will present 
opportunities for access to funding and powers to help deliver our 
economic strategy. These include: 

• devolution; 

• the levelling up funding; 

• the shared prosperity fund; 

• other discrete opportunities such as Future Towns Fund. 

Page 1110



50 There are significant investments required to ensure the county delivers 
on latent demand, tackles the challenges of deprivation for health and 
inequality, including investment in economic and social infrastructure. 

Regional and national opportunities 

51 The delivery of the County’s ambition will in part be determined by 
successfully positioning the County’s plans at the centre of any regional 
economic growth initiatives and securing investment from national 
initiatives.  This report identifies a number of these opportunities 
although there is a wider list of national policy initiatives that could help 
drive sustained growth in the County’s economy. 

Devolution 

52 County Durham is part of the North East Combined Authority (NECA), 
along with Gateshead MBC, South Tyneside MBC and Sunderland City 
Council.  NECA does not have access to devolved powers and funding 
as is the case for authorities in the North of Tyne Combined Authority 
area to the north and Tees Valley Combined Authority to the South. 

53 In 2020, the Government announced that it would bring forward a white 
paper on English devolution and local recovery.  At the time of writing 
this report, it is unclear when the white paper will be issued. 

54 Given the issues set out in this report, it is vitally important that County 
Durham gains maximum benefit from any devolution of powers and 
financial resources.  The Government’s preference may be for a wider 
multi-local authority mayoral devolution agreement in the northeast in 
line with devolution arrangements that have been agreed in other areas. 

55 It is however unclear whether any future Government policy may 
include, for example, County devolution deals as have been promoted 
by the County Councils Network.  Such a deal could see powers and 
resources devolved to a county area such as County Durham to support 
local recovery as opposed to focusing on a wider footprint across a 
regional geography. 

56 Until the Government’s white paper is issued on English devolution and 
local recovery, it is difficult to determine the most beneficial option for 
County Durham.  However, it is important for local communities and 
businesses that consideration is given to all of the options that are 
available prior to agreeing to take forward any particular course of 
action on devolution. 

57 Devolution across England has evolved around a number of standard 
thematic areas.  These are: 

Page 1111



(a) Long term devolved investment fund; 

(b) Skills / Inclusive Growth / Employability / Adult Education Budget; 

(c) Housing; 

(d) Transport; 

(e) Rural; 

(f) Bespoke local initiatives (e.g. Culture Funds); 

(g) Wider public reform. 

58 Should the Council decide to pursue any form of devolution deal, it is 
important that it has an evidence-based argument for priority 
interventions and investment in the County. 

Shared Prosperity and Levelling Up Funds 

59 Announcements on both funds were made in the 3 March Budget. 

60 The County’s economic growth ambitions can be significantly influenced 
by the use of two ‘new’ funds and ultimately the extent to which these 
funds come forward for the County: 

• The Shared Prosperity Fund £1.5 billion per annum – the 
commitment from Central Government is that this fund should be 
at the same level of previous EU funding, which for County 
Durham would mean receipt of; 

• The exit from the European Union will result in the loss of  
2.4 billion Euros of EU structural funding.  At an early stage in the 
Brexit timetable, the Government announced that a Shared 
Prosperity Fund of a similar size would be put in place to replace 
the EU structural funding. 

61 Over many years County Durham has benefitted from EU structural 
funding as a consequence of the high levels of relative deprivation in 
the County and the Shared Prosperity Fund is an essential funding 
stream to ensure that deprived communities can grow and be 
prosperous. 

62 The main objective of the Shared Prosperity Fund is to reduce 
inequalities between communities and if it is to ensure that all areas 
within the UK are able to prosper, then funding should be targeted at 
those areas that need extra support. 

Page 1112



63 Had the UK stayed in the EU, the County was forecast to receive over 
300 million euros in investment to 2027 to fund major programmes, for 
skills, the environment and business support.  This compares to more 
than 150 million euros under the last programme which included the 
£33 million Durham Works programme, business support worth  
£42 million, £18.5 million for innovation projects, and £5 million for 
digital engagement amongst a range of other activities. 

64 The Shared Prosperity Fund will be worth £1.5 billion per annum to 
support employability programmes, communities and local businesses.  
The fund is due to be launched in 2022 as predominantly revenue 
funding, similar to the EU funding programmes, with more details due in 
late 2021.  In the interim, the Government has launched the UK 
Community Renewal Fund which will offer £220 million to 100 places, 
including County Durham, to support short-term and pilot projects up to 
the value of £3 million and offer capacity funding to work up projects 
that will be supported by the Share Prosperity Fund. 

65 In the 2021 Budget, the Chancellor announced details of the new 
‘levelling up fund’ to boost the economic prosperity of areas outside 
London and the south-east of England.  The fund for England is  
£4 billion and will look to provide capital funding for local transport, town 
centre regeneration, and cultural and heritage assets.  County Durham 
is identified as a Tier 1 area and this should mean priority for funding. 

66 County Durham is identified as one the areas of greatest need in the 
UK.  Local areas will be able to apply for up to £20 million each from the 
fund to spend on projects which command local support, including from 
local MPs. 

LA7 Regional Collaboration / Covid Recovery asks 

67 The North East Region has worked collaboratively to make specific 
asks of Government in relation to Covid-19 recovery ambitions. 

68 In September 2020, the North East Covid-19 Economic Response 
Group, made up of the North East Local Enterprise Partnership, the 
North East Combined Authority, the North of Tyne Combined Authority, 
the Confederation of British Industry and Newcastle University, 
published a ‘Recovery and Renewal Deal for the North East’. 

69 The plan within the proposed deal sought to: 

o keep people in jobs and training; 

o support businesses and sectors to restart and recover; 

Page 1113



o support the transition of communities and places as they adapt to 
Covid-19; 

o build the future economy by maximising the potential of existing 
assets and exploring new opportunities; and 

o invest in digital and transport connectivity. 

70 The ask of Government was: 

o significant devolution of resources and powers to reflect the scale 
of Covid 19; 

o £2.8 billion to directly unlock half of the required 100,000 
additional jobs quickly; 

o accelerated confirmation of existing business cases including 
Transforming Cities Funding; 

o commitment to joint working in areas where the NE can lead the 
national recovery, specifically low carbon energy; and 

o flexibility within national programmes to allow for maximum 
leverage local and national resources. 

71 In addition to the above, on 9  February, the LA7 Leaders agreed a joint 
statement to Government.  The statement asked that in addition to the 
September ask: 

o £100 million invested in transport projects each year; 

o £100 million invested in supporting digital connectivity each year; 

o devolve further powers to provide for integrated management of 
our transport network; 

o sustain revenue funding to support public transport services; 

o invest and upgrade our national infrastructure assets for our 
region, including the East Coast Main Line and major roads 
schemes. 

72 The work currently ongoing in County Durham and covered earlier in 
this report would be used to make the case for investment in Durham 
should the region be successful in securing additional funding for  
Covid-19 economic recovery / growth. 

  

Page 1114



Priority Economic Interventions 

73 In anticipation of future opportunities, a pipeline of projects that fit within 
a long-term economic strategy is being developed.  This will be 
significant investment when all fund requirements are considered, both 
locally and when reviewing national investment requirements such as 
Devolution, UK Prosperity and Levelling Up Investments. 

74 We are developing a substantial pipeline of investments that will form 
the basis of an investment programme and submissions into the 
respective funding bids, which we are guided will be competitive.  We 
will also consider this alongside the resulting private sector investments 
which is forecast will deliver over £3 billion investment for the County. 

75 The following projects are listed across several ‘themes’ that have been 
agreed in devolution deals entered into by other regions with the 
Government.  They can also be promoted within other funding 
opportunities.  This is not an exhaustive list, but provides a clear 
indication of the level of ambition and core thematic priorities across the 
County, when considering any ask into Devolution: 

Housing 

(a) Delivering Affordable Homes Council House Building (ask 
£35m): Specifically using brownfield land and also including a 
rural programme, the proposal is to expand the existing 
programme to deliver 500 homes by 2025 by delivering an 
additional 1,000 new homes by 2032; 

(b) Brownfield Housing Fund: including Horden regeneration 
(ask £34m): Delivery of 440 homes by delivering masterplan to 
regenerate Horden through demolition, new build and enhance 
rail station/employment sites connectivity.  This will also present 
sustainable heating via minewater extraction.  The start of a long 
term programme of investment that will regenerate towns and 
villages facing high levels of multiple deprivation across the 
County; 

(c) Strategic Housing Growth (ask £80m) :  Embedding a strategic 
plan to develop high quality housing within the development of the 
Durham Economic Growth Corridor.  Supporting housing delivery 
beyond the County Durham Plan delivery timescales through 
enabling infrastructure sustainable energy innovation and new 
green economic growth opportunities. 

  

Page 1115



Culture and Tourism 

(d) Tourism Tax Relief Pilot (ask £10m): Scheme to provide tax 
relief on eligible spend for new visitor accommodation and tourism 
asset development; 

(e) Knowledge Based Culture Hub (ask £12.5m): Durham City - 
Millennium Place development in partnership with Durham 
University.  Refurbishment of Gala Theatre, library, public realm, 
plus hospitality and retail. Knowledge exchange, creative industry, 
making spaces; 

(f) Growing Light (ask £2.8m): Expansion of the successful 
Lumiere event to become most sustainable light festival in the 
world; 

Transport and Connectivity 

(g) Reopening of the Stillington Line (ask £25m): Development of 
a new station at Ferryhill, reopening the Stllington Line to 
passengers connecting the area South of Durham City to 
Teesside.  This will provide sustainable access to employment, 
health and leisure opportunities.  Reduction in traffic off the A689 
and A1(M) corridors which suffer from congestion; 

(h) North Durham Economic Corridors (ask £50m): All user 
enhancements on the A693, A691, A167 and A692 corridors 
facilitating economic growth at key employment and housing sites 
in the North of the County.  Improved journey times and reliability 
also towards Durham and Tyneside, including public transport. 
Dedicated provision also for non-motorised users; 

(i) Localised improvements (ask £50m): Local schemes such as  

• environmental, road safety, and air quality benefits within 

Toft Hill, £15 million; 

• reopening of Whorlton Bridge to NCN 165 and local 

connectivity £ 6 million; 

• road safety, capacity and pedestrian connectivity 

improvements at J60 A1(M), £ 3 million; 

• active mode connectivity, public transport reliability and 

capacity improvements at A693 Stanley, £6 million; 

• Burnigill Bank ECML Maintenance £ 6 million; 

• Stockton to Darlington active mode route £ 6 million; 

• A689 Sedgefield to Wynyard active mode route 

improvements £3 million; 

Page 1116



(j) Leamside Line (Support) : The reinstatement of the Leamside 
Line is a strategically important infrastructure for the North East 
relieving the existing two track railway between Darlington and 
Newcastle.  It would also enable a number of potential new 
stations at Ferryhill, Belmont Park and Ride and Fencehouses.  
The Council fully supports the re-opening of the Leamside Line 
and would expect to see the regional commitment to the delivery 
of this strategic investment; 

Strategic Sites and Inward Investment 

(k) Industrial Property Development Fund (ask £25m) : Industrial 
Property Development Fund – provision of gap funding for public 
and private industrial new build across the County including sites 
at Drum and Stella Gill (Chester le Street), Jade (Murton), South 
Church (Bishop Auckland)  and Merchant Park (Newton Aycliffe) . 
Total build cost £55 million with gap fund request for £16.5 million 
(30%) to provide 550,000 sq ft of new industrial space with match 
funding from public and private sector supporting 2,000 jobs over 
10 years; 

(l) NETPark Central (ask £20m) : NETPark Central to provide 
60,000 sq ft iconic building at new entrance gateway providing 
incubation and office space including amenity hub and to provide 
physical location for North East Space Hub.  Total build cost of 
£25 million with grant funding request for £10 million (40%); 

(m) Aykley Heads (ask £40m):  New central business quarter in 
partnership with Durham University linking research and 
development with the digitally enabled business sector creating 
more and better jobs in county Durham with fintech specialisms; 

Rural Economic Growth 

(n) Bridging the Digital Divide (ask £25m): Working with the private 
sector to bring cutting edge broadband services to rural parts of 
the County to enable more people to work and access services 
from home, supported with digital education and training schemes 
(building on the 'Digital Drive' programme) and access to 
hardware (in shared / community buildings) in some cases.  
Innovative solutions and pilot projects will be sought and tested; 

(o) Rural Business Internationalisation Programme (ask £7.5m) : 
Bespoke programme that aims to support rural businesses 
wanting to start importing or exporting or those having problems 
doing so in light of the exit from the European Union; 

Page 1117



(p) Minewater Heat Commercialisation Programme (ask £7.5m) : 
Supporting the development of technology that exploits the 
County's rural mines and geology to make minewater heating a 
commercial opportunity; 

Skills, Education and Training 

(q) Young and Willing (ask £25m) : range of interventions to 
support young people gain skills and take opportunities presented 
by County and Regional economic growth.  Projects include. 
Establishment of Employment/ Youth Hubs in areas of high 
unemployment, initially Bishop Auckland, Peterlee and Stanley.  
Communicating information on support available across the 
provider base in the county.  Enhanced marketing and 
communication of support available through DurhamWorks, 
DurhamAdvance, L!NKCD, National Careers Service and ROAD. 
Marketing of Jobs Fuse County Durham; 

(r) Older and Bolder (ask £13.5m) : Adult employment Support 
service providing wrap around support and progression 
opportunities for residents 25+; 

(s) Adult Education Budget (ask £11.5m) :  Localised 
commissioning framework better supporting the training needs of 
residents.  Elements of devolved AEB to be aligned or co-finance 
employment and skills initiatives. 

76 It is important to highlight that there will be a wide range of initiatives 
and investments that could be funded from the above beyond the 
project specifically identified.  It is also important to highlight that any 
investment would be ongoing and we would expect further funds to 
follow, in the case of devolution, the programmes are defined by 
government as ‘deals’ because they reflect a significant element of 
negotiation between Government and the local authorities, this 
ultimately effects the overall levels of investments available. 

Wider Public Sector Reform 

77 In addition to the above, there may be opportunities for the Council and 
partners to explore wider public sector reform.  For example, greater 
devolved powers and funding relating to health and social care may be 
considered to integrate, adapt and tailor services to more localised 
geographies.  This could include accountability to be devolved and new 
formal frameworks implemented to cover regulation and performance. 

78 As part of the development of the economic statement, there will be a 
requirement to further enhance and evolve the county pipeline to ensure 
a clear suite of proposals across the respective themes.  This will be 

Page 1118



developed in a County partnership environment and include key 
stakeholders such as the Area Action Partnerships. 

Conclusion 

79 The current economic climate is exceptional and the Covid-19 
pandemic has delivered a traumatic shock to the County’s economy.  
The Council is taking active steps to understand both the immediate 
impact and the inherent economic challenges and opportunities to 
produce an economic strategy that delivers long term, sustainable 
economic growth and successfully matches employment opportunity 
with local residents. 

80 Positioning the Council to make evidence based propositions to access 
opportunities at both regional and national level is important if we are to 
secure significant funding to deliver the strategy. 

81 The proposals set out strategic opportunities for County Durham with a 
view to further enhancement and engagement to develop and expand 
proposals further. 

82  The proposals set out the Council’s initial asks and form the basis of 
any discussions that may take place with Government in relation to 
devolution of powers and resources. 

Background papers 

• Chancellors Budget Statement 3 March 2021 

• Levelling Up Fund : Prospectus 3 March 2021 

Other useful documents 

• None 

Author(s) 

Amy Harhoff Tel: 03000 267330 

  

Page 1119



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

At this stage there are no legal implications although this may change as 

regional or national initiatives develop. 

Finance 

None at this stage although future reports may have financial implications.  

The report sets out the challenges and compelling arguments that will support 

the ask on Central Government and form the basis of bids for funding. 

Consultation 

The development of an economic strategy will involve significant stakeholder 

and partner engagement and consultation. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None at this stage. 

Climate Change 

This will be a significant theme of the emerging economic strategy. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The Economic Statement and Strategy will identify the various risks to the 

economy and communities of lack of strategic investment. 

Procurement 

None. 

Page 1120


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2021
	4 Leisure Transformation & New Build Site Selection Update - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth [Key Decision: REG/02/21]
	Leisure Appendix 2
	Leisure Appendix 3
	Leisure Appendix 4
	Leisure Appendix 5
	Leisure Appendix 6

	5 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 - Period to 31 December 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings - Report of Interim Corporate Director of Resources
	6 Quarter Three, 2020/21 Performance Management Report  - Report of Interim Corporate Director of Resources
	7 Annual Review of the Constitution - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer
	Constitution Appendices 1 -15 (v23.02.2021) LN

	8 County Durham Health and Social Care Integration update - Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
	9 Climate Change Emergency Response Plan - Year 1 Update - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	CERP Appendix 2
	CERP Appendix 3

	10 Woodland Management Overview and Tree Planting Opportunities with Young People - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change and Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	11 Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth and Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	Chargepoint Delivery Plan 2021

	12 County Durham Housing Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Appendix 2 Housing Strategy and TDP structure diagram
	Appendix 3 TDP Process Paper
	Appendix 4 County Durham Map of TDP areas
	Appendix 5a TDP New Kyo
	Appendix 5b TDP Coundon Grange
	Appendix 5c TDP Blackhall Colliery South
	Appendix 5d TDP Thickely
	Appendix 5e TDP Deneside East
	Appendix 5f TDP Stanley Hall West
	Appendix 6a Housing Evidence Look Up Contents
	Appendix 6b Housing Evidence Look Up Tool
	Appendix 6c Housing Evidence Look Up Housing Demand Description
	Appendix 6d Housing Evidence Look Up MD

	13 Agnes Street, Stanley - Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Agnes Street Appendix 2 Red Line boundary
	Agnes Street Appendix 3 land ownership
	Agnes Street Appendix 4 CPO map
	Agnes Street Appendix 5
	Appendix 6 Draft SOR

	14 Towns and Villages Place Shaping -  Approach to Regeneration of Buildings and Land - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Towns and Villages Appendix 2 CPO Guide
	Towns and Villages Appendix 3 Tackling Empty Properties Protocol

	15 Council Homes Delivery - Purchase of Affordable Housing units at Gilesgate - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	16 Covid Recovery and Town Centre Parking Charges - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	17 Economic Recovery and Prosperity: Levelling up and Investment for County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth



